
 

Page 1 of 745 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, JUNE 03, 2019 
7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of May 20, 2019. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing on a proposed Agreement for Private Development and conveyance of certain city-
owned real estate to Owen 5, L.L.C. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published May 24, 2019) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

3. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development and 
Minimum Assessment Agreement with Owen 5, L.L.C., and approving and authorizing execution of a 
Quit Claim Deed conveying title to certain city-owned real estate to Owen 5, L.L.C. 

Old Business 

4. Pass Ordinance #2940, amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
reorganization of City operations, upon its third & final consideration. 

5. Pass Ordinance #2941, amending certain sections of the Code of Ordinances relative to the 
renaming of the Department of Municipal Operations and Programs to the Department of Public 
Works, in conjunction with the reorganization of City operations, upon its third & final consideration. 

6. Pass Ordinance #2942, amending Chapter 15, Nuisances and Chapter 17, Parks and Recreation, of 
the Code of Ordinances relative to the renaming of the Public Works and Parks Division Manager to 
the Operations and Maintenance Division Manager, in conjunction with the reorganization of City 
operations, upon its third & final consideration. 

7. Pass Ordinance #2943, amending certain sections of the Code of Ordinances to be in conformance 
with the Code of Iowa and consistent with current City operations, upon its third & final consideration. 

8. Pass Ordinance #2944, amending Chapter 2, Administration, and Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor 
Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances relative to updating terminology, in conjunction with the 
implementation of recommendations from the Downtown Parking Study, upon its second 
consideration. 

9. Pass Ordinance #2945, amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to establishing parking regulations, in conjunction with the implementation of 
recommendations from the Downtown Parking Study, upon its second consideration. 

1



 

Page 2 of 745 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

10. Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to 
Boards and Commissions: 
a) Kate Brennan Hall, Art & Culture Board, term ending 07/01/2023.  
b) Matthew Wilson, Art & Culture Board, term ending 07/01/2023.  
c) Lauren Finke, Art & Culture Board, term ending 07/01/2021. 

11. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of May 20, 2019 relative to the following items: 
a) Downtown Parkade and Streetscape. 
b) Bills & Payroll. 

12. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of April 2019. 

13. Approve the following special event related requests: 
a) Parking variances, College Hill Arts Festival, June 21-22, 2019. 
b) Street closures, Sturgis Falls Celebration, June 26-30, 2019. 
c) Parking variance, Teacher Festival, July 25, 2019. 

14. Approve the following applications for cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor permits:  
a) Bani's, 2128 College Street. 
b) Fareway Stores, 4900 South Main Street. 
c) Fareway Stores, 214 North Magnolia Drive. 
d) Murphy USA, 518 Brandilynn Boulevard. 

15. Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses:  
a) Kwik Star, 2019 College Street, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal. 
b) Kwik Star, 7500 Nordic Drive, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal. 
c) Chuck E. Cheese's, 5911 University Avenue, Class B beer - renewal. 
d) Los Cabos Mexican Restaurant, 112-114 Main Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
e) Montage, 222-224 Main Street, Class C liquor, Class B wine & outdoor service - renewal. 
f) The Other Place, 2214 College Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
g) Target, 214 Viking Plaza Drive, Class E liquor - renewal. 
h) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class A liquor & outdoor service - temporary expansion of outdoor 
service area. (June 15-16, 2019 & June 28-30, 2019) 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

16. Resolution approving and adopting the City's FY20 Payroll Resolution. 

17. Resolution approving and adopting amendments to the City's Accounting Policies and Procedures 
and Purchasing Manual. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service Agreement with Praetorian Digital 
relative to Fire and EMS training. 

19. Resolution approving and authorizing designation of certain streets for operation of all-terrain 
vehicles. 

20. Resolution designating the dates and locations for the annual Sturgis Falls Celebration and Cedar 
Basin Jazz Festival Inc. 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Memorandum of Understanding with the Black 
Hawk County Pheasants Forever & Quail Forever Chapter relative to the Youth Pollinator Habitat 
Project for the North Cedar Natural Reserve Project. 

2



 

Page 3 of 745 

22. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of pavement sealing 
equipment. 

23. Resolution approving and authorizing final acceptance of the Partial Demolition & Exterior Wall 
Rebuild of 4418 University Avenue, in conjunction with the University Avenue Reconstruction 
Project, Phase II. 

24. Resolution approving and accepting a Temporary Construction Easement, in conjunction with the 
Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement - University Branch of Dry Run Creek Project. 

25. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of Peterson Contractors, Inc. for the 
Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement - University Branch of Dry Run Creek Project. 

26. Resolution approving and accepting the contract and bond of Lodge Construction, Inc. for the 100 
Block Alley Reconstruction Project. 

27. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 6 to the 
Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for 2019 Engineering Services 
relative to the Clay Street Park Water Quality Improvements Project. 

28. Resolution approving and authorizing Change Order No. 1 to the contract with Peterson Contractors, 
Inc. for the 2019 Street Construction Project. 

29. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Transportation Services Agreement with 
Metropolitan Transit Authority (MET) for downtown shuttle services from June 6, 2019 thru August 
31, 2019. 

30. Resolution approving a College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District site plan for a mixed-use 
development at 2119 College Street. 

31. Resolution approving a Mixed Use Zoning District site plan for a residential development on Lot 2, 
Pinnacle Ridge First Addition. 

32. Resolution approving a Highway 20 Commercial Corridor Overlay Zoning District site plan for 
construction of a restaurant and convenience store/gas station/automobile service station to be 
located on Lot 2 of Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I. 

33. Resolution approving the preliminary plat of Replat of Lot 16 and Tract "B," West Viking Road 
Industrial Park Phase IV. 

34. Resolution approving the final plat of Replat of Lot 16 and Tract "B," West Viking Road Industrial 
Park Phase IV. 

35. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 7 to the 
Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. relative to extension of 2019 
Engineering Services. 

36. Resolution setting June 17, 2019 as the date of public hearing on a proposal to undertake a public 
improvement project for the Cyber Lane-2018 Street Construction Project and to authorize 
acquisition of private property for said project. 

37. Resolution setting June 17, 2019 as the date of public hearing on the proposed rezoning from R-3, 
Multiple Unit Residential, to C-2, Commercial District, of property located at 2600 Grove Street. 

Ordinances 

38. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances to 
be consistent with parking regulations being established, in conjunction with the implementation of 
recommendations from the Downtown Parking Study, upon its first consideration. 

Allow Bills and Payroll 

3



 

Page 4 of 745 

39. Allow Bills and Payroll of June 3, 2019. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Adjournment 

  

4



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, MAY 20, 2019 
REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 

MAYOR JAMES P. BROWN PRESIDING 
  

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, in the City Hall at Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. 
Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. 
Absent: None. 

 
52329 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by deBuhr that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of May 6, 2019 be approved as presented and ordered of record. Motion 
carried unanimously. 

 
52330 -     It was moved by Green and seconded by Darrah that Ordinance #2940, 

amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
reorganization of City operations, be passed upon its second consideration. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. 

 
52331 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr that Ordinance #2941, 

amending certain sections of the Code of Ordinances relative to the renaming of 
the Department of Municipal Operations and Programs to the Department of 
Public Works, in conjunction with the reorganization of City operations, be 
passed upon its second consideration. Following due consideration by the 
Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, 
Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
52332 -     It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that Ordinance #2942, amending 

Chapter 15, Nuisances and Chapter 17, Parks and Recreation, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to the renaming of the Public Works and Parks Manager to 
the Operations and Maintenance Division Manager, in conjunction with the 
reorganization of City operations, be passed upon its second consideration. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. 

 
52333 -     It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Blanford that Ordinance #2943, 

amending certain sections of the Code of Ordinances to be in conformance with 
the Code of Iowa and consistent with current City operations, be passed upon its 
second consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, 
Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 

5



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

52334 - It was moved by Green and seconded by Kruse that the following items and 
recommendations on the Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 

 
 Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment 

of members to Boards and Commissions:  
 a) Isaak Espersen, Board of Rental Housing Appeals, term ending 05/01/2021.  
 b) James White, Health Trust Fund Board of Trustees, term ending 12/31/2024.  
 c) Carol Lilly, Parks & Recreation Commission, term ending 06/30/2022.  
 d) Marvin Mattfeld, Parks & Recreation Commission, term ending 06/30/2022.  
 e) Leslie Nixon, Parks & Recreation Commission, term ending 06/30/2022. 

 
Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of May 6, 2019 relative to 
the following items:  
a) Panther Lane No Parking Request.  
b) River Gauge and Gates.  
c) Red Cedar Update.  
d) Bills & Payroll. 

 
Receive and file the City Council Work Session minutes of May 6, 2019. 

 
Approve a request for temporary signs for the College Hill Arts Festival, June 18-
23, 2019. 

 
  Approve the following special event related requests:  
  a) Street closure, East 10

th
 Street, June 7, 2019.  

  b) Street closure, Hearthside Drive, July 3, 2019. 
 

Approve the following applications for cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor permits:  
a)  Casey's General Store, 2425 Center Street.  
b)  Casey's General Store, 5226 University Avenue.  
c)  Casey's General Store, 5908 Nordic Drive.  
d) Casey's General Store, 601 Main Street.  
e) Casey's General Store, 1225 Fountains Way.  
f)   King Star, 2228 Lincoln Street.  
g) Kwik Star, 7500 Nordic Drive.  
h) Kwik Star, 2019 College Street.  
i)   Metro Mart, 103 Franklin Street.  
j)   Music Station, 1420 West 1st Street.  
k)  SUDS, 2223 1/2 College Street.  
l)   Thunder Ridge Ampride, 2425 Whitetail Drive.  
m)Tobacco Outlet Plus, 4116 University Avenue.  
n) Walgreens, 2509 Whitetail Drive. 

 
Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses:  
a) Dollar General Store, 2921 Center Street, Class C beer & Class B wine - 

renewal.  
b) Carlos O'Kelly's Mexican Café, 6507 University Avenue, Class C liquor & 

outdoor service - renewal.  
c) Harry's Five and Dime, 123 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal.  
d) Mulligan's Brick Oven Grill & Pub, 205 East 18th Street, Class C liquor & 

6



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

outdoor service - renewal.  
e) Suds & Suds Circle Pizza, 2223 1/2 College Street, Class C liquor & outdoor 

service - renewal.  
f) Hy-Vee Food Store, 6301 University Avenue, Class E liquor - renewal.  
g) Prime Mart, 2323 Main Street, Class E liquor - renewal.  
h) Mary Lou's Bar & Grill, 2719 Center Street, Class C liquor - adding outdoor 

service.  
i)  Hurling Hatchet, 100 East 2nd Street, Class B beer - new.  
j)  Casey's General Store, 5226 University Avenue, Class E liquor - new. 

 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52335 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Green that the following resolutions be 

introduced and adopted: 
 

Resolution #21,536, approving and authorizing execution of a Request for Group 
Insurance Amendment to the City's Group Life and Accidental Death & 
Dismemberment policy with Standard Insurance Company. 
 
Resolution #21,537, approving and authorizing execution of a Dark Fiber and 
Electric Agreement with Municipal Electric and Communications Utilities of the 
City of Cedar Falls (CFU) relative to cameras in the College Hill area. 
 
Resolution #21,538, approving and authorizing execution of a Telephone 
Services Agreement with Cedar Falls Utilities relative to Session Initiation 
Protocol (SIP) service. 
 
Resolution #21,539, approving and authorizing execution of an agreement with 
RDG Planning & Design relative to the Cedar Falls Recreation Center Operations 
and Needs Study. 
 
Resolution #21,540, approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of a wheel loader. 
 
Resolution #21,541, approving and accepting an Owner's Temporary 
Construction Easement, Warranty Deed and Quit Claim Deed, in conjunction with 
the Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction Project. 
 
Resolution #21,542, receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting 
the low bid of Peterson Contractors, Inc., in the amount of $788,375.05, for the 
Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement - University Branch of Dry Run Creek 
Project. 
 
Resolution #21,543, receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting 
the low bid of Lodge Construction Inc., in the amount of $271,063.80, for the 100 
Block Alley Reconstruction Project. 
 
Resolution #21,544, receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting 
the low bid of Peterson Contractors, Inc., in the amount of $1,849,429.16, for the 
Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction Project - Chancellor Drive to Nordic Drive. 

7



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

Resolution #21,545, approving and accepting the contract and bond of Peterson 
Contractors, Inc. for the Ridgeway Avenue Reconstruction Project - Chancellor 
Drive to Nordic Drive. 
 
Resolution #21,546, approving a Major Thoroughfare Planned Commercial 
(MPC) zoning district site plan for construction of a storage shed at 5601 
University Avenue. 
 
Resolution #21,547, approving a Professional Office (PO-1) zoning district site 
plan for construction of a medical office on Lot 2 of the Schofield Stevenson 
Office Park, located in the 1000 block of Hudson Road. 
 
Resolution #21,548, approving the preliminary plat of Western Home 
Communities Ninth Addition. 
 
Resolution #21,549, approving form and authorizing execution of an Application 
for Voluntary Annexation of real estate to the City of Cedar Falls relative to 
expansion of the West Viking Road Industrial Park. 
 
Resolution #21,550, approving and accepting the low bid, and approving and 
authorizing execution of two Rehabilitation Contracts with Kirvan Enterprises 
LLC, relative to Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) housing 
rehabilitation projects. 
 
Resolution #21,551, approving and authorizing execution of a contract with 
Peterson Contractors, Inc. for 2019 Hazard Mitigation Services. 

 
Resolution #21,552, setting June 3, 2019 as the date of public hearing to 
consider entering into a proposed Agreement for Private Development and to 
consider conveyance of certain city-owned real estate to Owen 5, L.L.C. 

 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #21,536 through #21,552 duly 
passed and adopted. 

 
52336 -     It was moved by Wieland and seconded by Miller that Ordinance #2944, 

amending Chapter 2, Administration, and Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, 
of the Code of Ordinances relative to updating terminology, in conjunction with 
the implementation of recommendations from the Downtown Parking Study, be 
passed upon its first consideration. Engineering Technician Ray provided a brief 
summary of the proposed amendments. Following comments by Tim Schilling, 
3434 Tucson Drive, and Larry Wyckoff, 4241 Eastpark Road, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, 
Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
52337 -     It was moved by Miller and seconded by Green that Ordinance #2945, amending 

Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 

8



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

establishing parking regulations, in conjunction with the implementation of 
recommendations from the Downtown Parking Study, be passed upon its first 
consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, 
Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
52338 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Blanford that the bills and payroll of 

May 20, 2019 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer be 
authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper funds in 
payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. 
Motion carried.  

 
52339 - Councilmember Green announced the Rails-to-Trails Conservancy Group 

recently approved ‘The Great American Rail Trail’ bike route that stretches 3,700 
miles from Washington DC to Olympic National Park that will include the Cedar 
Falls and Waterloo areas. Public Works and Parks Manager Heath also 
commented. 

 
 Public Works and Parks Manager Heath provided an update on the Place to Play 

Playground and announced upcoming tree planting of approximately 160-200 
trees throughout the City by city staff, volunteers, AmeriCorps, College Hill 
Partnership and Green Scene.  

 
 Public Safety Services Director Olson provided an update on Public Safety 

Officers attending Fire Fighter I training and EMT training classes. 
 
52340 - Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, commented about the upcoming School Bond 

issue and City Council meeting agendas and votes.  
 
 Community Main Street Director Carol Lilly provided clarification regarding the 

parking changes coming to the Downtown area. 
  
 Rosemary Beach, 5018 Sage Road, expressed appreciation for the improved 

audio in the Council Chambers, commented on the condition of the parking area 
across from the dog park and requested a consistent 35mph speed limit on 
South Main Street. 

 
52341 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Green that the meeting be adjourned at 

7:28 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
  ________________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

9



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: May 30, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Owen 5, LLC (Cunningham Construction) Economic Development 
Project 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
For the past several months, staff has been working with Joe Owen of Owen 5, LLC 
toward the construction of a new 10,000 square foot shop/office facility. The proposed 
project will occur on Lot 16 of Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I (3.90 acres 
total of which approximately 3.5 acres is buildable after setback and open space 
requirements). This new facility will be built and owned by Owen 5, LLC and will have a 
minimum building valuation and permit valuation of $450,000 and a total project 
minimum assessed valuation of $700,000 (including land). 
 
Mr. Owen has been working with Mr. Cunningham, the current owner of K. Cunningham 
Construction, to acquire the company. Cunningham Construction is currently located at 
1025 Center Street, just south of the Brown Bottle restaurant. As part of the acquisition 
of the company, Mr. Owen would like to move the company to a new location that is 
located outside of the floodplain and where there is room to grow the business. The site 
that he has identified within the North Cedar Falls Industrial Park satisfies those 
objectives. 

DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT 

 
As noted in the Introduction, the proposed building will be constructed and owned by 
Owen 5, LLC, and will consist of a 10,000 square foot building to be located along Rail 
Way, just west of Standard Distribution in the Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park. The 
building will be a pre-engineered metal building with an attractive exterior meeting all 
applicable Deed of Dedication requirements. The proposed project will have a minimum 
building valuation of $450,000, and a total project valuation including land of $700,000. 
The project will commence construction this summer/fall with completion anticipated 
within 12 months.  

 

10



COMPANY PROFILE 
 

Owen 5, LLC (K. Cunningham Construction) 
 
K. Cunningham Construction Co., Inc. was incorporated in Cedar Falls in 1979 and has 
experienced steady growth ever since.  We specialize in the following concrete paving 
services: municipal and city streets, heavy highway & road construction, subdivisions, 
commercial & industrial parking lots, curb and gutter, recreational trails/sidewalks, 
airport runways, taxiways & aprons, and other custom specialty projects.  We have 
approximately 50 employees. 
  
Our company is currently entering a 2nd generation of leadership, and because of 
steady growth, we are looking forward to moving the business to this new location within 
the North Cedar Falls Industrial Park.  
  
Please feel free to visit our website at http://www.kcunninghamconstruction.com for 
more information. 

 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE (LAND ONLY) 

Land Incentive 

 

For the Owen 5, LLC project, they would receive at no cost, Lot 16, Northern Cedar 
Falls Industrial Park Phase I (3.90 acres total of which approximately 3.50 acres is 
buildable after setback and open space requirements). The new shop/office facility will 
meet all applicable Deed of Dedication requirements. The proposed land incentive is 
consistent with other comparable economic development projects that the City has 
approved.  No other incentives will be provided for this project. 

Conclusion 

 
As this memorandum indicates, Owen 5, LLC is looking to construct a new 10,000 
square foot shop/office facility on Lot 16, Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I.  
The proposed new construction building project will have a minimum building permit 
valuation of $450,000 and a total Minimum Assessed Valuation of $700,000 including 
land.  Construction would commence this summer/fall with completion anticipated in the 
summer/fall of 2020. 
 
The Agreement for Private Development by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
and Owen 5, LLC has been reviewed by Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, and is attached 
for your review and approval. 
 
 
 

11



RECOMMENDATION 

 
The Community Development Department recommends that the City Council adopt and 
approve the following: 
 
 1. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 

Private Development and a Minimum Assessment Agreement by and 
between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and Owen 5, LLC, and approving 
and authorizing execution of a Quit Claim Deed conveying title to certain 
real estate to Owen 5, LLC. 

 
If you have any questions regarding the proposed Owen 5, LLC economic development 
project, please contact the Community Development Department. 
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
           Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 
 Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 
   
           

12



No
rth

ern
 D

r

Le
ve

rse
e R

d

Hwy 218

Rail Way

I

East Central Iowa
Cooperative

Standard Distribution

Project Location

Owen 5, LLC
10,000 sq. ft.
Shop/Office

13



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  Shane Graham, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5160    

 
RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF AN 
AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT AND A MINIMUM 
ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, IOWA, AND OWEN 5, L.L.C., AND APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING 
EXECUTION OF A QUIT CLAIM DEED CONVEYING TITLE TO CERTAIN 
REAL ESTATE TO OWEN 5, L.L.C. 

 
 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 8196 approved and adopted on November 12, 1990 
(Ordinance No. 1923), amended a first time by Resolution No. 10,224 on November 13, 1995 
(Ordinance No. 2122), amended a second time by Resolution No. 13,862 on November 17, 
2003 (Ordinance No. 2461), amended a third time by Resolution No. 18,377 on December 10, 
2012 (Ordinance No. 2785), amended a fourth time by Resolution 19,263 on November 3, 2014, 
amended a fifth time by Resolution No. 19,963 on April 18, 2016, and amended a sixth time by 
Resolution No. 21,079 on May 7, 2018 (Ordinance No. 2923), and amended a seventh time by 
Resolution No. 21,368 on December 17, 2018, the City Council has approved and adopted an 
urban renewal plan designated as the “Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal 
Plan” (the “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Urban Renewal Plan be developed 
as part of the overall development area covered by said Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has received a proposal from Owen 5, L.L.C.  ("Developer"), in the 
form of a proposed Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement") by and between the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") and the Developer, pursuant to which, among other things, 
the Developer would agree to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined in the 
Agreement) on certain real property located within the Urban Renewal Plan as legally described 
in the Agreement attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (defined in the 
Agreement as the "Development Property"), consisting of the construction of a Shop/Office 
Facility totaling at least 10,000  square feet of finished space, together with all related site 
improvements, as outlined in the proposed Development Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City provide certain financial 
incentives for the urban renewal project under the terms and following satisfaction of the 

14



 2 

conditions set forth in the Agreement, consisting of conveyance of title to the Development 
Property to the Developer, the Development Property being legally described as follows: 
 

Lot 16, Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I Addition, City of Cedar Falls, 
Black Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 3.90 acres more or less). 

 
WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Law") authorize 

cities to make loans and grants and to convey real property to developers for economic 
development purposes in furtherance of the objectives of an urban renewal project and to 
appropriate such funds, make such expenditures and convey such real property as may be 
necessary to carry out the purposes of said Chapters, and to levy taxes and assessments for 
such purposes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City, the Developer and the 
Assessor of Black Hawk County, Iowa, enter into a Minimum Assessment Agreement (the 
"Minimum Assessment Agreement"), whereby the minimum actual taxable value of the 
improvements to be constructed thereon would be established at an amount not less than 
$700,000.00 for a period through December 31, 2031; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Council hereby finds and determines that the Agreement is in the best 
interests of the City and the residents thereof, and that the performance by the City of its 
obligations thereunder is a public undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the Urban 
Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the Agreement and the City's 
performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development activities and 
objectives of the City within the meaning of Chapters 403 and 15A of the Iowa Code, taking into 
account the factors set forth in Chapter 15A, to-wit: 
 

a) Businesses that add diversity to or generate new opportunities for the Iowa 
economy should be favored over those that do not. 

 
b) Development policies in the dispensing of the funds should attract, retain, or 

expand businesses that produce exports or import substitutes or which generate 
tourism-related activities. 

 
c) Development policies in the dispensing or use of the funds should be targeted 

toward businesses that generate public gains and benefits, which gains and 
benefits are warranted in comparison to the amount of the funds dispensed. 

 
d) Development policies in dispensing the funds should not be used to attract a 

business presently located within the state to relocate to another portion of the 
state unless the business is considering in good faith to relocate outside the state 
or unless the relocation is related to an expansion which will generate significant 
new job creation.  Jobs created as a result of other jobs in similar Iowa 
businesses being displaced shall not be considered direct jobs for the purpose of 
dispensing funds; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Council hereby finds and determines that the requirements of Iowa 

Code Section 403.8 with respect to the transfer of property in an urban renewal area are 
satisfied insofar as the Development Property is being disposed of for the purpose of 
development of an industrial building (see Iowa Code Section 403.8(2)(b)), and because the 

15



 3 

terms of the Minimum Assessment Agreement satisfy the safe harbor contained in Iowa Code 
Section 403.8(3). 

 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 Section 1.  That the performance by the City of its obligations under the Agreement, 
including but not limited to conveyance of the Development Property to the Developer in 
connection with the development of the Development Property under the terms set forth in the 
Agreement, be and is hereby declared to be a public undertaking and purpose and in 
furtherance of the Urban Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the 
Agreement and the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic 
development activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of chapters 403 and 15A of 
the Iowa Code, taking into account the factors set forth therein. 
 
 Section 2.  That the form and content of the Agreement, the provisions of which are 
incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby are in all respects authorized, 
approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are hereby authorized, 
empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Agreement for and on behalf of 
the City in substantially the form and content now before this meeting, and that from and after 
the execution and delivery of the Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such 
documents as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Agreement 
as executed, including but not limited to execution and delivery of a Quit Claim Deed conveying 
title to the Development Property to the Developer. 
 
 Section 3.  That the form and content of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, the 
provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference, be and the same are hereby in all 
respects authorized, approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are 
hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Minimum 
Assessment Agreement for and on behalf of the City in substantially the form and content now 
before this meeting, and that from and after the execution and delivery of the Minimum 
Assessment Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby authorized, empowered and 
directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents as may be necessary 
to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, as 
executed. 
 
 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of ________________, 2019. 
 
 

     
 _________________________________________ 

      James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

16



 4 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA   ) 
     ) SS: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 
 
 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution 

No. _____ duly and legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of 

____________________, 2019. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the 

official seal of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 

2018. 

   

  
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

17



 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
 

BY AND BETWEEN 
 
 
 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
 

AND 
 
 

OWEN 5, L.L.C. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

18



2  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 

ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS………………………………………………..  6 

Section 1.1.  Definitions……………………………………………… 6 

 

ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES………………  8 

Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City……………  8 

Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of Developer.….……..  9 

 

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS…..  12 

Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements………………. 12 

Section 3.2. Building Permit Valuation Amount…………………….  12 

Section 3.3.  Construction Plans……………………………………… 12 

Section 3.4.  Commencement and Completion of Construction……… 13 

Section 3.5.  Certificate of Completion………………………………  13 

 

ARTICLE IV.  RESTRICTIONS UPON USE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 14 

Section 4.1.  Restrictions on Use……………………………………… 14 

 

ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE………………………………………………… 15 

Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements………………………………… 15 

Section 5.2. Condemnation………………………………………….. 17 

Section 5.3. Reconstruction or Payment…………………………….. 17 

 

ARTICLE VI.  ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT AND OTHER COVENANTS 17 

 Section 6.1. Execution of Assessment Agreement………………….  17 

Section 6.2. Maintenance of Properties……………………………..  18 

Section 6.3. Maintenance of Records……………………………….  18 

Section 6.4. Compliance with Laws………………………………...  18 

Section 6.5. Real Property Taxes….……………………………….  18 

Section 6.6.   Sales Tax………………………………………………  19 

Section 6.7.   Utility Usage…………………….…………………….  19 

Section 6.8.   Annual Certification………………..………………….  19 

Section 6.9. Use of Tax Increments…………………………………  19 

Section 6.10. Opinion of Counsel……………………………………  20 

 Section 6.11. Provisions To Be Included In Leases Covering Development 

   Property……………………………………………….  20 

 Section 6.12. Relocation .......................................................................  20 

 

19



3  

ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITIONS AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND 

TRANSFER………………………………………………………………….  21 

Section 7.1.  Representation As to Development……………………  21 

Section 7.2.  Prohibition Against Transfer of Property and 

          Assignment of Agreement……………………………...  22 

Section 7.3.  Approvals………………………………………………  24 

Section 7.4. Transfer of Interest in Developer or Transfer of 

  Interest in Development Property to Permitted  

  Transferees .......................................................................  24 

 

ARTICLE VIII.  CONVEYANCE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY; 

CONDITIONS……………………………………………………………….. 24 

Section 8.1.   Conveyance of Development Property………………  24 

Section 8.2.   Form of Deed…………………………………………… 24 

Section 8.3.   Condition of Property; Care and Maintenance…………. 25 

Section 8.4.   Environmental Matters…………………………………. 25 

Section 8.5.   Survey and Platting…………………………………….. 25 

Section 8.6.   Time and Place for Closing and Delivery of Deed……... 25 

Section 8.7.   Recordation of Deed……………………………………. 25 

Section 8.8.   Abstract of Title………………………………………… 25 

Section 8.9.   Conditions Precedent to Conveyance of Property……… 25 

Section 8.10.   Failure to Commence Construction….……………...  26 

Section 8.11.   No Property Tax Exemption…………………………  26 

 

ARTICLE IX.  DEVELOPER’S OPTION……………………..……………           26 

 Section 9.1. Grant of Option………………………………………….  26 

 Section 9.2. Option to Acquire Option Property……………………..  27 

 Section 9.3. Expiration of Option…………………………………….. 28 

 Section 9.4. Option Personal to Developer…………………………… 29 

 Section 9.5. Resale of Option Property Within Five Years…………..  29 

 

ARTICLE X.  INDEMNIFICATION………………………………………..  29 

Section 10.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants………………. 29 

 

ARTICLE XI.  REMEDIES……………………………………………….  30 

Section 11.1.  Events of Default Defined…………….………………  30 

Section 11.2.  Remedies on Default………………………………….  31 

Section 11.3.  No Remedy Exclusive………………………………..  33 

Section 11.4.  No Implied Waiver……………………………………  33 

Section 11.5.  Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses…….  33 

 

ARTICLE XII.  MISCELLANEOUS………………………………………..  34 

Section 12.1.  Conflict of Interest……………………………………  34 

20



4  

Section 12.2.  Non-Discrimination…………………………………… 34 

Section 12.3.  Notices………………………………………………...  34 

Section 12.4.  Titles of Articles and Sections………………………… 35 

Section 12.5.  Provisions Not Merged With Deed……………..……  35 

Section 12.6.  Governing Law………………………………………… 35 

Section 12.7.  Entire Agreement……………………………………… 35 

Section 12.8.  Successors and Assigns……………………………….  35 

Section 12.9.  Termination Date……………………………………… 35 

Section 12.10.  Memorandum of Agreement………..……………….. 35 

Section 12.11.  Immediate Undertaking……………………………… 35 

Section 12.12.  No Partnership or Joint Venture……………………… 35 

Section 12.13.  Captions……………………………………………… 35 

Section 12.14.  Number and Gender of Words………………………  35 

Section 12.15.  Invalid Provisions……………………………………  35 

Section 12.16.  Multiple Counterparts… ……………………………  36 

Section 12.17.  Authorization………… ……………………………..  36 

Section 12.18.  Time of the Essence… ………………………………  36 

Section 12.19.  Survival…………… … ……………………………..  36 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A-1 Development Property…………………………………  38 

EXHIBIT A-2 Option Property………………………………………… 39 

EXHIBIT B   Minimum Improvements………………………………. 40 

EXHIBIT C  Certificate of Completion……………………………… 41 

EXHIBIT D  Minimum Assessment Agreement…………………….. 43 

EXHIBIT E  Form of Legal Opinion………………………………… 47 

EXHIBIT F  Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development... 49 

EXHIBIT G  Form of Deed…………………………………………..  52 

  

21



5  

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 THIS AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT (hereinafter called 

"Agreement"), is made on or as of the _____ day of __________________, 2019, by and 

between the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called "City"), 

established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the authorization of 

Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2019 (Chapter 403 hereinafter called "Urban 

Renewal Act"); and OWEN 5, L.L.C,  (hereinafter called the "Developer"),  an Iowa 

limited liability company having its principal place of business at 3318 Apollo Street, 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. 

 

 WITNESSETH: 

 

 WHEREAS, in furtherance of the objectives of the Urban Renewal Act, the City 

has undertaken a program for the development of an economic development area and, in 

this connection, is engaged in carrying out urban renewal project activities in an area 

known as the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area (“Area” or 

“Urban Renewal Area”) as set forth in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor 

Urban Renewal Plan, as amended (“Plan” or “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, a copy of the foregoing Urban Renewal Plan, as amended, has been 

recorded among the land records in the office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County, 

Iowa; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Developer desires to acquire certain real property located in the 

foregoing Urban Renewal Plan and as more particularly described in Exhibit A-1 annexed 

hereto and made a part hereof (which property as so described is hereinafter referred to as 

the "Development Property"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Developer is willing to develop the Development Property for and 

in accordance with the uses specified in the Urban Renewal Plan and in accordance with 

this Agreement by constructing certain Minimum Improvements (as hereafter defined) on 

the Development Property; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City believes that the development of the Development Property 

pursuant to this Agreement and the fulfillment generally of this Agreement, are in the vital 

and best interests of the residents of the City, and in accord with the public purposes and 

provisions of the applicable State and local laws and requirements under which the 

foregoing project has been undertaken and is being assisted, including but not limited to 

Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa. 

 

22



6  

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual obligations of 

the parties hereto, each of them does hereby covenant and agree with the others as 

follows: 

 

ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS 

 

 Section 1.1.  Definitions.  In addition to other definitions set forth in this Agreement, 

all capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the following 

meanings unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context: 

 

 Agreement means this Agreement and all appendices hereto, as the same may be 

from time to time modified, amended or supplemented. 

 

 Assessment Agreement means the Minimum Assessment Agreement substantially in 

the form of the agreement contained in Exhibit D attached hereto and hereby made a part 

of this Agreement, among the Developer, the City and the Assessor for the County, 

entered into pursuant to Article VI of this Agreement. 

 

 Assessor's Minimum Actual Value means the agreed minimum actual taxable value 

of the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property for 

calculation and assessment of real property taxes as set forth in the Assessment 

Agreement.  

 

 Certificate of Completion means a certification in the form of the certificate attached 

hereto as Exhibit C and hereby made a part of this Agreement. 

 

 City or Cedar Falls means the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any successor to its 

functions.   

 

 Code of Iowa means the Code of Iowa, 2019, as amended. 

 

 Commencement Date means the date of the issuance by the City of a City issued 

building permit for the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 Construction Plans means the plans, specifications, drawings and related documents 

of the construction work to be performed by the Developer on the Development Property; 

the plans (a) shall be as detailed as the plans, specifications, drawings and related 

documents which are submitted to the building inspector of the City, and (b) shall include 

at least the following: (1) site plan; (2) foundation plan; (3) basement plans; (4) floor plan 

for each floor; (5) cross sections of each (length and width); (6) elevations (all sides); and 

(7) landscape plan. 

 

 County means the County of Black Hawk, Iowa. 

23



7  

 

 Deed means the form of Quit Claim Deed substantially in the form contained in 

Exhibit G attached hereto, by which the City shall convey the Development Property to 

the Developer. 

 

 Developer means OWEN 5, L.L.C.  

 

 Development Property means that portion of the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 

Corridor Urban Renewal Area of the City described in Exhibit A-1 hereto. 

 

 Event of Default means any of the events described in Section 11.1 of this 

Agreement. 

 

 Minimum Improvements shall mean the construction of a Shop/Office Facility 

totaling at least 10,000 square feet of finished space, together with all related site 

improvements described in the Construction Plans, as outlined in Exhibit B hereto, 

including the land.  

 

 Mortgage means any mortgage or security agreement in which the Developer has 

granted a mortgage or other security interest in the Development Property, or any portion 

or parcel thereof, or any improvements constructed thereon. 

 

 Net Proceeds means any proceeds paid by an insurer to the Developer under a policy 

or policies of insurance required to be provided and maintained by the Developer pursuant 

to Article V of this Agreement and remaining after deducting all expenses (including fees 

and disbursements of counsel) incurred in the collection of such proceeds. 

 

 Option Property means that portion of the Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park 

Urban Renewal Area of the City described in Exhibit A-2 hereto. 

 

 Ordinance shall mean Ordinance(s) of the City under which the taxes levied on the 

taxable property in the Urban Renewal Area shall be divided, with a portion of said taxes 

to be paid into the Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund, referred to and 

authorized by Section 403.19(2) of the Code of Iowa. 

 

 Project shall mean the construction and operation of the Minimum Improvements, as 

described in this Agreement and the Exhibits hereto. 

 

 Shop/Office Facility means the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 State means the State of Iowa. 

 

24



8  

 Tax Increments means the property tax increment revenues on the Minimum 

Improvements and Development Property divided and made available to the City for 

deposit in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Tax Increment 

Revenue Fund, under the provisions of Section 403.19 of the Code of Iowa and the 

Ordinance. 

 

 Termination Date means the date of expiration of the Assessment Agreement, as 

provided in Section 12.9 of this Agreement. 

 

 Unavoidable Delays means delays resulting from acts or occurrences outside the 

reasonable control of the party claiming the delay including but not limited to storms, 

floods, fires, explosions or other casualty losses, unusual weather conditions, strikes, 

boycotts, lockouts or other labor disputes, delays in transportation or delivery of material 

or equipment, litigation commenced by third parties, or the acts of any federal, State or 

local governmental unit (other than the Party claiming the delay). 

 

 Urban Renewal Area means the area included within the boundaries of the Cedar 

Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area, as amended. 

 

 Urban Renewal Plan means the Urban Renewal Plan approved in respect of the 

Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Urban Corridor Renewal Area, described in the 

preambles hereof. 

 

ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 

 Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City.  The City makes the 

following representations and warranties:  

 

 (a) The City is a municipal corporation and political subdivision organized under 

the provisions of the Constitution and the laws of the State and has the power 

to enter into this Agreement and carry out its obligations hereunder. 

 

(b) This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered 

by the City and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the 

Developer, is in full force and effect and is a valid and legally binding 

instrument of the City enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as the 

same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws 

relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally. 

 

 (c) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with 

the terms and conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in 

conflict with, nor will they result in a breach of, the terms, conditions or 

25



9  

provisions of any contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement 

or instrument of whatever nature to which the City is now a party or by which 

it is bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 

 

 (d) The City has not received any notice from any State or federal official that the 

activities of the Developer with respect to the Development Property may or 

will be in violation of any environmental law or regulation (other than those 

notices, if any, of which the Developer has previously been notified in 

writing).  The City is not currently aware of any State or federal claim filed or 

planned to be filed by any party relating to any violation of any local, State or 

federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure applicable to the 

Development Property, and the City is not currently aware of any violation of 

any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure 

which would give any person a valid claim under any State or federal 

environmental statute with respect thereto. 

 

 (e) The City will cooperate fully with the Developer in resolution of any building, 

traffic, parking, trash removal or public safety problems which may arise in 

connection with the design, construction and operation of the Minimum 

Improvements, including but not limited to any problems which may arise 

with respect to traffic at the intersections where access drives on the 

Development Property meet roadways or streets owned by the City. 

 

 (f) The City would not undertake its obligations under this Agreement without the 

consideration being made to the City pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

 (g) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the City 

contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, 

agreements and obligations of the City, and not of any governing body 

member, officer, agent, servant or employee of the City in the individual 

capacity thereof. 

  

 (h) The Development Property is zoned “M-1, Light Industrial District”.  The “M-

1, Light Industrial District” zoning classification permits by right the 

construction, equipping and operation of the Minimum Improvements.  

 

 Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of the Developer.  The Developer 

makes the following representations and warranties: 

 

(a) The Developer is a limited liability company duly organized and validly 

existing under the laws of the State of Iowa, is properly authorized to conduct 

business in the State of Iowa, and has all requisite power and authority to own 

and operate its properties, to carry on its business as now conducted and as 

26



10  

presently proposed to be conducted, and to enter into and perform its 

obligations under the Agreement. 

  

(b) The Developer desires to construct a Shop/Office Facility (“Minimum 

Improvements") on the 3.9 acre Development Property, which is to be 

acquired by the Developer pursuant to this Agreement, and which is more 

particularly described in Exhibit A-1.  

 

(c) This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered 

by the Developer and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by 

the other parties hereto, is in full force and effect and is a valid and legally 

binding instrument of the Developer enforceable in accordance with its terms, 

except as the same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization 

or other laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally. 

 

 (d) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with 

the terms and conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in 

conflict with, nor will  they result in a violation or breach of, the terms, 

conditions or provisions of the certificate of organization and operating 

agreement, together with all amendments thereto, of the Developer or of any 

contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement or instrument of 

whatever nature to which the Developer is now a party or by which it or its  

properties are bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the 

foregoing. 

 

 (e) There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or threatened against or 

affecting the Developer in any court or before any arbitrator or before or by 

any governmental body in which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse 

decision which could materially adversely affect the business (present or 

prospective), financial position or results of operations of the Developer or 

which in any manner raises any questions affecting the validity of the 

Agreement or the ability of Developer to perform its obligations under this 

Agreement. 

 

 (f) The Developer will cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Urban Renewal Plan and all 

local, State and federal laws and regulations, except for variances necessary to 

construct the Minimum Improvements contemplated in the Construction Plans.  

 

 (g) The Developer will use its best efforts to obtain, or cause to be obtained, in a 

timely manner, all required permits, licenses and approvals, and will meet, in a 

timely manner, all requirements of all applicable local, State, and federal laws 

27



11  

and regulations which must be obtained or met before the Minimum 

Improvements may be lawfully constructed. 

 

 (h) The construction of the Minimum Improvements will require a total 

investment of not less than Four Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars and no/100 

Dollars ($450,000.00), and a taxable valuation of Seven Hundred Thousand 

Dollars and no/100 Dollars ($700,000) is reasonable for the Minimum 

Improvements and the land that together comprise the Development Property. 

 

 (i) The Developer has not received any notice from any local, State or federal 

official that the activities of the Developer with respect to the Development 

Property may or will be in violation of any environmental law or regulation 

(other than those notices, if any, of which the City has previously been notified 

in writing). The Developer is not currently aware of any State or federal claim 

filed or planned to be filed by any party relating to any violation of any local, 

State or federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure applicable 

to the Development Property, and the Developer is not currently aware of any 

violation of any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review 

procedure which would give any person a valid claim under any State or 

federal environmental statute with respect thereto. 

 

 (j) The Developer has equity funds and/or has commitments for financing in 

amounts sufficient to successfully complete the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements, in accordance with the Construction Plans contemplated by 

this Agreement. 

 

 (k) The Developer will cooperate fully with the City in resolution of any traffic, 

parking, trash removal or public safety problems which may arise in 

connection with the construction and operation of the Minimum 

Improvements, including but not limited to any problems which may arise 

with respect to traffic at the intersections where access drives on the 

Development Property meet roadways or streets owned by the City. 

 

 (l) The Developer expects that, barring Unavoidable Delays, the Minimum 

Improvements will be substantially completed by the
 
31

st
 day of August, 2020.  

 

 (m) The Developer would not undertake its obligations under this Agreement 

without the consideration being made to the Developer pursuant to this 

Agreement. 

 

 (n) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the 

Developer contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, 

promises, agreements and obligations of the Developer, and not of any 

28



12  

member, officer, agent, servant or employee of the Developer in the individual 

capacity thereof. 

 

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements. The Developer agrees that it 

will cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property in 

conformance with the Construction Plans submitted to the City.  The Developer agrees 

that the scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements to be constructed shall not be 

significantly less than the scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements as detailed and 

outlined in the Construction Plans, and shall in no event require a total investment of less 

than Four Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars and no/100 Dollars ($450,000.00). 

 

 Section 3.2  Building Permit Valuation Amount.  The Developer shall apply to the 

City for a building permit, and shall pay all necessary permit fees in connection with the 

construction of the Minimum Improvements on the Development Property, based upon a 

building permit valuation amount (hereinafter the "Building Permit Valuation Amount") 

of a minimum of Four Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars and no/100 Dollars ($450,000.00), 

by no later than the 30
th

 day of August, 2019. 

 

 Section 3.3.  Construction Plans.  The Developer shall cause Construction Plans to 

be provided for the Minimum Improvements which shall be subject to approval by the 

City as provided in this Section 3.3.  The Construction Plans shall be in conformity with 

the Urban Renewal Plan, this Agreement, and all applicable federal, State and local laws 

and regulations, except for variances the Developer and the City agree are necessary to 

construct or operate the Minimum Improvements.  The City shall approve the 

Construction Plans in writing if: (a) the Construction Plans conform to the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement; (b) the Construction Plans conform to the terms and 

conditions of the Urban Renewal Plan; (c) to the best of City's knowledge, the 

Construction Plans conform to all applicable federal, State and local laws, ordinances, 

rules and regulations and City permit requirements; (d) the Construction Plans are 

adequate for purposes of this Agreement to provide for the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements and (e) no Event of Default under the terms of this Agreement has 

occurred; provided, however, that any such approval of the Construction Plans pursuant to 

this Section 3.3 shall constitute approval for the purposes of this Agreement only and shall 

not be deemed to constitute approval or waiver by the City with respect to any building, 

fire, zoning or other ordinances or regulations of the City, and shall not be deemed to be 

sufficient plans to serve as the basis for the issuance of a building permit if the 

Construction Plans are not as detailed or complete as the plans otherwise required for the 

issuance of a building permit.  The site plans submitted by the Developer to the building 

official of the City for the Development Property shall be adequate to serve as the 

Construction Plans, if such site plans are approved by the building official. 

 

29



13  

 Approval of the Construction Plans by the City shall not relieve the Developer of 

any obligation to comply with the terms and provisions of this Agreement, or the 

provisions of applicable federal, State and local laws, ordinances and regulations, nor shall 

approval of the Construction Plans by the City be deemed to constitute a waiver of any 

Event of Default. 

 

 Approval of Construction Plans hereunder is solely for purposes of this Agreement, 

and shall not constitute approval for any other City purpose nor subject the City to any 

liability for the Minimum Improvements as constructed. 

 

 Section 3.4.  Commencement and Completion of Construction.  Subject to 

Unavoidable Delays, the Developer shall cause construction of the Minimum 

Improvements to be undertaken by no later than the 30
th

 day of August, 2019, and 

completed (i) by no later than the
 
31

st
 day of August, 2020, or (ii) by such other date as the 

parties shall mutually agree upon in writing.  Time lost as a result of Unavoidable Delays 

shall be added to extend the completion date by a number of days equal to the number of 

days lost as a result of Unavoidable Delays.  However, an extension of the completion of 

the Minimum Improvements shall not affect the date upon which the Assessor's Minimum 

Actual Value shall become effective.  All work with respect to the Minimum 

Improvements to be constructed or provided by the Developer on the Development 

Property shall be in conformity with the Construction Plans as submitted by the Developer 

and approved by the City.  The Developer agrees that it shall permit designated 

representatives of the City to enter upon the Development Property during the 

construction of the Minimum Improvements to inspect such construction. 

 

 Section 3.5.  Certificate of Completion.  Upon written request of the Developer after 

issuance of an occupancy permit for the Minimum Improvements, the City will furnish the 

Developer with a Certificate of Completion in recordable form, in substantially the form 

set forth in Exhibit C attached hereto.  Such Certificate of Completion shall be a 

conclusive determination of satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions of 

this Agreement with respect to the obligations of the Developer to cause construction of 

the Minimum Improvements.  

 

 The Certificate of Completion may be recorded in the Black Hawk County 

Recorder's office at the Developer's sole expense.  If the City shall refuse or fail to provide 

a Certificate of Completion in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3.5, the City 

shall, within twenty (20) days after written request by the Developer, provide to the 

Developer a written statement indicating in adequate detail in what respects the Developer 

has failed to complete the Minimum Improvements in accordance with the provisions of 

this Agreement, or is otherwise in default under the terms of this Agreement, and what 

measures or acts it will be necessary, in the opinion of the City, for the Developer to take 

or perform in order to obtain such Certificate of Completion.  

 

30



14  

ARTICLE IV.  RESTRICTIONS UPON USE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 

 Section 4.1.  Restrictions on Use.  The Developer shall: 

 

(a) Use the Development Property for any lawful use, and devote the 

Development Property to, and only to and in accordance with, the uses 

specified in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan 

until the Termination Date; and 

 

(b) Not discriminate upon the basis of race, creed, color, sex, gender, sexual 

orientation, gender identity, religion, age, disability or national origin in the 

sale, lease, or rental or in the use or occupancy of the Development Property or 

any improvements erected or to be erected thereon, or any part thereof. 

 

(c) It is intended and agreed that the agreements and covenants provided in this 

Section shall be covenants running with the land and that they shall, in any 

event, and without regard to technical classification or designation, legal or 

otherwise, and except only as otherwise specifically provided in this 

Agreement, be binding, to the fullest extent permitted by law and equity, for 

the benefit and in favor of, and enforceable by, the City, its successors and 

assigns, as against every successor in interest to the Development Property, or 

any part thereof or any interest therein, and as against any party in possession 

or occupancy of the Development Property or any part thereof.  It is further 

intended and agreed that the agreements and covenants provided in 

subdivisions (a) and (b) of this Section shall remain in effect only through the 

Termination Date. 

 

(d) It is intended and agreed that the City and its successors and assigns shall be 

deemed beneficiaries of the agreements and covenants provided in this 

Section, both for and in its own right and also for the purposes of protecting 

the interests of the community and other parties, public or private, in whose 

favor or for whose benefit such agreements and covenants have been provided.  

Such agreements and covenants shall run in favor of the City, until the 

Termination Date, during which time such agreements and covenants shall be 

in force and effect, without regard to whether the City has at any time been, 

remains, or is an owner of any land or interest therein to or in favor of which 

such agreements and covenants relate.  The City shall have the right, in the 

event of any breach of any such agreement or covenant, to exercise all the 

rights and remedies, and to maintain any actions or suits at law or in equity or 

other proper proceedings to enforce the curing of such breach of agreement or 

covenant, to which it or any other beneficiaries of such agreement or covenant 

may be entitled. 

 

31



15  

ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE AND CONDEMNATION 

 

 Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements. 

 

 (a) The Developer will provide and maintain or cause to be maintained at all times 

during the process of constructing the Minimum Improvements (and, from 

time to time at the request of the City, furnish the City with proof of coverage 

or payment of premiums on): 

 

  (i) Builder's risk insurance, written on the so-called "Builder's Risk -- 

Completed Value Basis", in an amount equal to one hundred percent 

(100%) of the insurable value of the Minimum Improvements at the 

date of completion, and with coverage available in nonreporting form 

on the so-called "all risk" form of policy;  

 

  (ii) Comprehensive general liability insurance (including operations, 

contingent liability, operations of subcontractors, completed operations 

and contractual liability insurance), together with an Owner's 

Contractor's Policy, with limits against bodily injury and property 

damage of at least $2,000,000.  The City shall be named as an 

additional insured for the City's liability or loss arising out of or in any 

way associated with the Minimum Improvements and arising out of any 

act, error, or omission of the Developer, its members, managers, 

officers, contractors and subcontractors or anyone else for whose acts 

the City may be held responsible (with coverage to the City at least as 

broad as that which is provided to the Developer and not lessened or 

avoided by endorsement).  The policy shall contain a "severability of 

interests" clause and provide primary insurance over any other 

insurance maintained by the City. The policy shall also contain a 

Governmental Immunities endorsement. 

 

  (iii) Worker's compensation insurance, with statutory coverage. 

 

 (b) Upon completion of construction of the Minimum Improvements and at all 

times prior to the Termination Date, the Developer shall maintain, or cause to 

be maintained, at its cost and expense  (and from time to time at the request of 

the City shall furnish proof of coverage or the payment of premiums on) 

insurance as follows: 

 

  (i) Insurance against loss and/or damage to the Minimum Improvements 

under a policy or policies covering such risks as are ordinarily insured 

against by similar businesses, including (without limiting the generality 

of the foregoing) fire, extended coverage, vandalism and malicious 

32



16  

mischief, explosion, water damage, demolition cost, debris removal, 

and collapse in an amount not less than the full insurable replacement 

value of the Minimum Improvements, but any such policy may have a 

deductible amount of not more than $25,000.  No policy of insurance 

shall be so written that the proceeds thereof will produce less than the 

minimum coverage required by the preceding sentence, by reason of co-

insurance provisions or otherwise, without the prior consent thereto in 

writing by the City.  The term "full insurable replacement value" shall 

mean the actual replacement cost of the Minimum Improvements 

(excluding foundation and excavation costs and costs of underground 

flues, pipes, drains and other uninsurable items) and equipment, and 

shall be determined from time to time at the request of the City, but not 

more frequently than once every three years, by an insurance consultant 

or insurer selected and paid for by the Developer and approved by the 

City. 

 

  (ii) Comprehensive general public liability insurance, including personal 

injury liability for injuries to persons and/or property, including any 

injuries resulting from the operation of automobiles or other motorized 

vehicles on or about the Development Property, in the minimum 

amount for each occurrence and for each year of $2,000,000. 

 

  (iii) Such other insurance, including worker's compensation insurance 

respecting all employees of the Developer, in such amount as is 

customarily carried by like organizations engaged in like activities of 

comparable size and liability exposure. 

 

 (c) All insurance required by this Article V to be provided prior to the 

Termination Date shall be taken out and maintained in responsible insurance 

companies selected by the Developer which are authorized under the laws of 

the State to assume the risks covered thereby.  The Developer will deposit 

annually with the City copies of policies evidencing all such insurance, or a 

certificate or certificates or binders of the respective insurers stating that such 

insurance is in force and effect.  Unless otherwise provided in this Article V, 

each policy shall contain a provision that the insurer shall not cancel or modify 

it without giving written notice to the Developer and the City at least thirty 

(30) days before the cancellation or modification becomes effective.  Not less 

than fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration of any policy, the Developer  shall 

furnish the City evidence satisfactory to the City that the policy has been 

renewed or replaced by another policy conforming to the provisions of this 

Article V, or that there is no necessity therefor under the terms hereof.  In lieu 

of separate policies, Developer may maintain a single policy, or blanket or 

umbrella policies, or a combination thereof, which provide the total coverage 

33



17  

required herein, in which event the Developer shall deposit with the City a 

certificate or certificates of the respective insurers as to the amount of 

coverage in force upon the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 (d) Developer agrees to notify the City immediately in the case of damage 

exceeding $25,000 in amount to, or destruction of, the Minimum 

Improvements or any portion thereof resulting from fire or other casualty.  Net 

Proceeds of any such insurance shall be paid directly to the Developer, and 

Developer will forthwith repair, reconstruct and  restore the Minimum 

Improvements to substantially the same or an improved condition or value as 

they existed prior to the event causing such damage and, to the extent 

necessary to accomplish such repair, reconstruction and restoration, the 

Developer will apply the Net Proceeds of any insurance relating to such 

damage received by Developer to the payment or reimbursement of the costs 

thereof.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply to casualties that occur 

prior to the Termination Date. 

 

 (e) The Developer shall complete the repair, reconstruction and restoration of the 

Minimum Improvements, whether or not the Net Proceeds of insurance 

received by Developer for such purposes are sufficient.   

 

 Section 5.2.  Condemnation.  In the event that title to and possession of the 

Minimum Improvements or any other material part thereof shall be taken in condemnation 

or by the exercise of the power of eminent domain by any governmental body or other 

person (except the City), so long as the Assessment Agreement shall remain in effect, the 

Developer or his successor shall, with reasonable promptness after such taking, notify the 

City as to the nature and extent of such taking. 

 

 Section 5.3. Reconstruction or Payment.  Upon receipt of any Condemnation 

Award or property insurance proceeds, the Developer shall use the entire Condemnation 

Award to reconstruct the Minimum Improvements (or, in the event only a part of 

Minimum Improvements have been taken, then to reconstruct such part) upon the 

Development Property or elsewhere within the Urban Renewal Area. 

           

ARTICLE VI.  ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT AND OTHER COVENANTS 

 

 Section 6.1. Execution of Assessment Agreement.  The Developer shall agree to, 

and with the City shall execute, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, an 

Assessment Agreement pursuant to the provisions of Section 403.19, Code of Iowa, 

substantially in the form and content of Exhibit D attached hereto, specifying the 

Assessor's Minimum Actual Value for the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on 

the Development Property for calculation of real property taxes.  Specifically, the 

Developer shall agree to a minimum actual taxable value for the Minimum Improvements 

34



18  

and the land that together comprise the Development Property, which will result in a 

minimum actual taxable value upon substantial completion of the Minimum 

Improvements, but no later than January 1, 2021, of not less than Seven Hundred 

Thousand Dollars and no/100 Dollars ($700,000.00) (such minimum actual taxable value 

at the time applicable is herein referred to as the "Assessor's Minimum Actual Value").  

Nothing in the Assessment Agreement shall limit the discretion of the Assessor to assign 

an actual taxable value to the Minimum Improvements or the land, in excess of such 

Assessor's Minimum Actual Value nor prohibit the Developer or its successors from 

seeking through the exercise of legal or administrative remedies a reduction in such actual 

taxable value for property tax purposes; provided, however, that the Developer or its 

successors shall not seek a reduction of such actual taxable value below the Assessor's 

Minimum Actual Value in any year so long as the Assessment Agreement shall remain in 

effect.  The Assessment Agreement shall remain in effect until the 31st day of December, 

2031 (the "Termination Date").  The Assessment Agreement shall be certified by the 

Assessor for the County as provided in Section 403.19 of the Code of Iowa, and shall be 

filed for record in the office of the County Recorder of the County, and such filing shall 

constitute notice to any subsequent encumbrancer or purchaser of the Development 

Property (or part thereof), whether voluntary or involuntary, and such Assessment 

Agreement shall be binding and enforceable in its entirety against any such subsequent 

purchaser or encumbrancer, as well as any prior encumbrancer consenting thereto. 

 

 Section 6.2.  Maintenance of Properties.   The Developer will maintain, preserve and 

keep the Minimum Improvements in good repair and working order, ordinary wear and 

tear excepted, and from time to time will make all necessary repairs, replacements, 

renewals and additions, until the Termination Date. 

 

 Section 6.3 Maintenance of Records.  The Developer will keep at all times proper 

books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries will be made of all 

dealings and transactions of or in relation to the business and affairs of the Developer in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied throughout 

the period involved, and Developer will provide reasonable protection against loss or 

damage to such books of record and account.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply 

for all periods prior to the Termination Date. 

 

 Section 6.4. Compliance with Laws.  The Developer will comply with all laws, 

rules and regulations relating to the Minimum Improvements, other than laws, rules and 

regulations the failure to comply with which or the sanctions and penalties resulting 

therefrom, would not have a material adverse effect on the Developer’s business, property, 

operations, or condition, financial or otherwise.  The provisions of this paragraph shall 

apply for all periods prior to the Termination Date. 

 

35



19  

 Section 6.5. Real Property Taxes.  The Developer shall pay, when due, all real 

property taxes and assessments payable with respect to all and any parts of the 

Development Property acquired and owned by it.  

 

 The Developer and its successors agree that prior to the Termination Date: 

 

 (a) It will not seek any tax exemption (except as may be granted under Section 8.8 

of this Agreement), either presently or prospectively authorized under any 

State or federal law with respect to taxation of real property contained on the 

Development Property between the date of execution of this Agreement and 

the Termination Date.  The foregoing shall not impair any rights to appeal the 

valuation set by the Black Hawk County Assessor as provided by law, but 

subject to the terms of the Assessment Agreement. 

 

 (b) It will not seek administrative review or judicial review of the applicability or 

constitutionality of any tax statute relating to the taxation of real property 

contained on the Development Property determined by any tax official to be 

applicable to the Development Property, Minimum Improvements or to the 

Developer or raise the inapplicability or constitutionality of any such tax 

statute as a defense in any proceedings, including delinquent tax proceedings. 

 

 (c) It will not seek any tax deferral or abatement, except abatement, if any, that is 

specifically provided for in this Agreement, either presently or prospectively 

authorized under Iowa Code Chapter 403 or 404, or any other local, State or 

federal law, of the taxation of real property contained on the Development 

Property between the date of execution of this Agreement and the Termination 

Date. 

 

 Section 6.6.   Sales Tax.  The Developer shall pay all sales tax payable with respect 

to the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 Section 6.7.  Utility Usage.  The Developer agrees for itself and its successors and 

assigns, specifically including all commercial tenants and all other persons, firms or other 

entities operating any business on the Development Property or any portion thereof, that 

for all periods up to the Termination Date that all utility needs for the Shop/Office Facility 

shall be furnished from City-owned utilities, including electricity, natural gas, water, 

sanitary sewer, cable television, internet and other fiber-optic communications, including 

telephony (if and when telephony is available through City-owned utilities).  Although 

this shall be the sole source for such utility services, the Developer and its successors and 

assigns, as defined and described in this section, shall not, however, have any obligation 

or duty to use or take any minimum amount, and shall have no obligation to pay any 

amount in excess of the generally applicable rates for like users based upon actual use. 

  

36



20  

 Section 6.8.  Annual Certification. To assist the City in monitoring and performance 

of Developer hereunder, a duly authorized officer of the Developer shall annually provide 

to the City: (a) proof that all ad valorem taxes on the Development Property have been 

paid for the prior fiscal year; and (b) certification that, to the best of such officer’s 

knowledge during the preceding twelve (12) months, the Developer  was not  in default in 

the fulfillment of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that no Event of 

Default (or event which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would 

become an Event of Default) is occurring or has occurred as of the date of such certificate 

or during such period, or if the signer is aware of any such default, event or Event of 

Default, said officer shall disclose in such statement the nature thereof, its period of 

existence and what action, if any, has been taken or is proposed to be taken with respect 

thereto.  Such statement, proof and certificate shall be provided not later than November 1 

of each year, commencing November 1, 2021, and ending on November 1, 2032, both 

dates inclusive. 

 

 Section 6.9. Use of Tax Increments.  The City shall be free to use any and all Tax 

Increments collected in respect of the Development Property for any purpose for which 

the Tax Increments may lawfully be used pursuant to the provisions of the Urban Renewal 

Act; and the City shall have no obligations to the Developer with respect to the use of 

such increments. 

 

 Section 6.10.  Opinion of Counsel.  Concurrent with execution of this Agreement, 

Developer shall cause its counsel to execute and deliver to City an Opinion of Counsel 

substantially in the form and of the content of Exhibit E attached hereto. 

  

 Section 6.11.  Provisions To Be Included In Leases Covering Development 

Property.  The Developer agrees to include provisions in each commercial lease 

agreement the Developer enters into with any tenant that will occupy the Development 

Property or operate a business thereon, for all periods up to the Termination Date, which 

provide as follows: (a) that tenant acknowledges that the leased premises are part of the 

Development Property and are subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement; (b) 

that this Agreement is binding upon Developer’s successors and assigns, specifically 

including all commercial tenants; (c) that certain of the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement specifically impact the tenant’s use of and conduct of its business operations 

on the Development Property, which terms and conditions include, but are not necessarily 

limited to, Sections 4.1, 5.1(b), 6.2, 6.7, 7.2, 7.3 and 12.2; and (d) that the tenant agrees to 

operate its business and conduct its operations on the Development Property in a manner 

consistent with all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 

 Section 6.12.  Relocation.  Developer agrees and covenants that it shall not, absent 

written consent from the City, sell or lease the Minimum Improvements or Development 

Property to any enterprise that is relocating (“Relocating”) to the City from another part of 

Black Hawk County or a contiguous county during the term (the “Term”) of this 

37



21  

Relocation provision (the “Relocation Provision”).  “Relocating” or “Relocation” means 

the closure or substantial reduction of an enterprise’s existing operations in one area of the 

State and the initiation of substantially the same operation in the same county or a 

contiguous county in the State.  The Term of this Relocation Provision will expire on the 

Termination Date as described in Section 12.9.  In general, urban renewal incentives 

cannot be used for projects that involve a Relocating enterprise (whether the relocating 

enterprise is the developer, land owner, tenant, or otherwise) unless there is a written 

agreement regarding the use of economic incentives between the city where the business 

is currently located and the city to which the business is Relocating, either specific to this 

Project or in general (i.e., a fair play or neutrality agreement), or if the City finds that the 

use of tax increments in connection with the Relocation is in the public interest, which 

means that the business has provided a written affirmation that it is considering moving 

part or all of its operations out of the State and such action would result in either 

significant employment or wage loss in Iowa.  Developer understands and agrees that if it 

sells or leases to a Relocating enterprise in violation of the Relocation Provision, as 

determined by the City in its sole discretion, such action shall be deemed an Event of 

Default under this Agreement, and, in addition to any remedies set forth in Section 11.2: 

 

(i) Developer shall be ineligible to receive any future property tax abatements that are 

provided for under Section 8.11 of this Agreement; 

 

(ii) Developer shall be responsible for paying the City an amount equal to the property 

tax abatements received by Developer under Section 8.11 of this Agreement, with interest 

thereon at the highest rate permitted by State law; and 

 

(iii) If Developer received all or a portion of the Development Property from the City 

for less than the full fair market value of the Development Property (“Full Value”), then 

the Developer shall pay the City the difference between the Full Value of the 

Development Property and what the Developer actually paid the City for such property.  

At the request of the City (which request need not be in writing), the Full Value of the 

Development Property shall be established by a licensed, certified appraiser to be selected 

by the City.  Developer shall be responsible for paying any fees or costs associated with 

obtaining such appraisal. 

 

ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITIONS AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 

 

 Section 7.1.  Representation As to Development. The Developer represents and 

agrees that the purchase and improvement of the Development Property, and the other 

undertakings pursuant to this Agreement, are, and will be used, for the purpose of 

development of the Development Property and not for speculation in land holding.  The 

Developer further acknowledges: 

 

38



22  

(a) the importance of the development of the Development Property to the general 

welfare of the community; 

 

(b) the substantial financing and other public aids that have been made available 

by law and by the City for the purpose of making such development possible; 

and 

 

(c) the fact that any act or transaction involving or resulting in a significant 

change of control of the development, is for practical purposes a transfer or 

disposition of the Development Property then owned and operated by the 

Developer, and the qualifications and identity of the Developer are of 

particular concern to the community and the City.  The Developer further 

recognizes that it is because of such qualifications and identity that the City is 

entering into this Agreement with the Developer. 

 

 Section 7.2.  Prohibition Against Transfer of Property and Assignment of 

Agreement.  Except as otherwise expressly provided for in Section 7.4, Transfer of 

Interest in Developer or Transfer of Development Property to Permitted Transferees, for 

the foregoing reasons the Developer represents and agrees for itself, and its successors and 

assigns, that in addition to the provisions of Section 6.12 of this Agreement, prior to 

termination of the Termination Date: 

 

 (a) Except only for (i) the purpose of obtaining financing necessary to enable the 

Developer to perform its obligations with respect to making the Minimum 

Improvements under this Agreement, (ii) leases to commercial tenants for all 

or a portion of the Minimum Improvements, and (iii) any other purpose 

authorized by this Agreement, the Developer (except as so authorized) has not 

made or created, and that the Developer will not, prior to the Termination 

Date, make or create, or suffer to be made or created, any total or partial sale, 

assignment, or conveyance, or any trust or power, or transfer in any other 

mode or form of or with respect to this Agreement or the Development 

Property, or any part thereof or any interest therein, or any contract or 

agreement to do any of the same, without the prior written approval of the 

City. 

  

(b) The City shall be entitled to require, except as otherwise provided in this 

Agreement, as conditions to any such approval that: 

 

(1) Any proposed transferee shall have the qualifications and financial 

responsibility, as determined by the City, necessary and adequate to 

fulfill the obligations undertaken in this Agreement by the Developer 

(or, in the event the transfer is of or relates to part of the 

39



23  

Development Property, such obligations to the extent that they relate 

to such part). 

 

(2) Any proposed transferee, by instrument in writing satisfactory to the 

City and in form recordable among the land records, shall, for itself 

and its successors and assigns, and expressly for the benefit of the 

City, have expressly assumed all of the obligations of the Developer 

under this Agreement and shall have agreed to be subject to all the 

conditions and restrictions to which the Developer is subject (or, in 

the event the transfer is of or relates to part of the Development 

Property, such obligations, conditions, and restrictions to the extent 

that they relate to such part):  Provided, That the fact that any 

transferee of, or any other successor in interest whatsoever to, the 

Development Property, or any part thereof, shall, whatever the 

reason, not have assumed such obligations or so agreed, shall not 

(unless and only to the extent otherwise specifically provided in this 

Agreement or agreed to in writing by the City) relieve or exempt such 

transferee or successor of or from such obligations, conditions, or 

restrictions, or deprive or limit the City of or with respect to any 

rights or remedies or controls with respect to the Development 

Property or the construction of the Minimum Improvements; it being 

the intent of this provision, together with other provisions of this 

Agreement, that (to the fullest extent permitted by law and equity and 

excepting only in the manner and to the extent specifically provided 

otherwise in this Agreement) no transfer of, or change with respect 

to, ownership in the Development Property or any part thereof, or any 

interest therein, however consummated or occurring, and whether 

voluntary or involuntary, shall operate, legally or practically, to 

deprive or limit the City of or with respect to any rights or remedies 

or controls provided in or resulting from this Agreement with respect 

to the Development Property and the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements that the City would have had, had there been no such 

transfer or change. 

 

(3) Except leases to commercial tenants for all or a portion of the 

Minimum Improvements as provided in subsection (a)(ii) of this 

section, there shall be submitted to the City for review all instruments 

and other legal documents involved in effecting transfer; and if 

approved by the City, its approval shall be indicated to the Developer 

in writing. 

 

Provided, further, that in the absence of specific written agreement by the City to the 

contrary, no such transfer or approval by the City thereof shall be deemed to relieve the 

40



24  

Developer, or any other party bound in any way by this Agreement or otherwise with 

respect to the construction of the Minimum Improvements, from any of its obligations 

with respect thereto. 

 

 Section 7.3.  Approvals.  Any approval of a transfer of interest in the Developer, 

this Agreement, or the Development Property required to be given by the City under this 

Article VII may be denied only in the event that the City reasonably determines that the 

ability of the Developer to perform its obligations under this Agreement and its statutory 

duty, as owner, to pay ad valorem real property taxes assessed with respect to the 

Development Property, or the overall financial security provided to the City under the 

terms of this Agreement, or the likelihood of the Minimum Improvements being 

successfully constructed and operated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, will be 

materially impaired by the action for which approval is sought. 

 

Section 7.4.  Transfer of Interest in Developer or Transfer of Interest in 

Development Property to Permitted Transferee. Notwithstanding the provisions of 

Sections 7.2 and 7.3, the City and the Developer agree that a transfer of ownership of the 

Development Property to a newly established corporation or limited liability company the 

ownership of which consists solely of the members of Developer (the “Permitted 

Transferee”), shall not trigger the provisions of Section 7.2 or Section 7.3, provided, 

however, that any transfer of the Development Property to the Permitted Transferee shall 

require the Permitted Transferee to agree in writing with the City (a) to expressly assume 

all of the obligations of the Developer under this Agreement, and (b) to agree to be subject 

to all of the conditions and restrictions to which the Developer is subject (or, in the event 

the transfer is of or relates to only part of the Development Property, such obligations, 

conditions, and restrictions to the extent that they relate to such part). Upon execution of 

an agreement in writing by the Permitted Transferee that (a) assumes all of the obligations 

of the Developer under this Agreement and (b) agrees to be subject to all of the conditions 

and restrictions to which the Developer is subject, the transfer of the Development 

Property, or the part thereof, shall be deemed approved upon delivery of such written 

assumption agreement to the City Clerk of the City.  

 

ARTICLE VIII.  CONVEYANCE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY; CONDITIONS 

 

 Section 8.1  Conveyance of Development Property.  Subject to hearing and 

authorization required under law, the City shall make a conveyance of title to the 

Development Property to Developer without any additional consideration other than the 

Developer’s covenants as contained in this Agreement. 

 

 Section 8.2  Form of Deed.  The City shall convey clear title to the Development 

Property to the Developer by Quit Claim Deed (hereinafter called the “Deed”).  Such 

conveyance and title shall be subject to the conditions, covenants and restrictions 

contained in the Urban Renewal Plan and this Agreement, shall be subject to restrictive 

41



25  

covenants, ordinances, and limited access provisions of record, if any, and to existing 

easements of record, but shall otherwise be free and clear of all other liens and 

encumbrances of record. 

 

 Section 8.3. Condition of the Property; Care And Maintenance.  As of Closing, 

Developer agrees to take the Development Property "As Is."  The City makes no 

warranties or representations as to the condition of the Development Property.  The City 

and Developer acknowledge and agree that City has undertaken no investigations with 

respect to the suitability of the Development Property for Developer’s proposed uses, 

including but not limited to subsurface investigations regarding the soil conditions of the 

Development Property. Any geological or other inspection of the Development Property is 

the sole responsibility of the Developer (at its own cost). Developer waives all claims 

against the City as to the condition of the Development Property.  

 

 Section 8.4. Environmental Matters. At Closing, although not required by law, the 

City may file with the County Recorder’s office a properly executed Groundwater Hazard 

Statement.  Developer takes the property "As Is" with regard to any environmental 

matters.  The City makes no warranties and representations as to the environmental 

condition of the Development Property, other than the information provided in any 

Groundwater Hazard Statement filed by the City at Closing.  Developer shall be 

responsible for securing and paying for all inspections, remediation efforts, or 

documentation required by the county board of health in order to lawfully transfer the 

Development Property to Developer.  Developer agrees to indemnify, release, defend and 

hold harmless the City for all claims, damages or costs relating to the Development 

Property that arise after the Closing Date. 

  

 Section 8.5. Survey and Platting.  Developer shall be responsible for all survey and 

platting of the Development Property.  The City authorizes Developer and/or its agents 

and contractors access to the Development Property for survey and platting purposes. 

 

 Section 8.6  Time and Place for Closing and Delivery of Deed.  The City shall 

deliver the Deed and possession of the Development Property to the Developer on or 

before the
 
1

st
 day of June, 2019, or on such other date as the parties hereto may mutually 

agree in writing (the “Closing Date”). 

 

 Section 8.7  Recordation of Deed.  The Developer shall promptly file the Deed for 

recordation among the land records in the office of the Recorder of the County.  The 

Developer shall pay all costs for so recording the Deed. 

 

 Section 8.8  Abstract of Title.  The City shall provide an abstract of title continued 

only to the date of filing of the plat.  It shall be the Developer’s responsibility to pay to 

have the abstract updated.  This abstract shall become the property of the Developer at the 

time of delivery of the Deed. 

42



26  

 

 Section 8.9  Conditions Precedent to Conveyance of Property.  The City’s obligation 

to convey title and possession of the Development Property to the Developer on the 

Closing Date shall be subject to satisfaction of the following conditions precedent: 

 

(a) The Developer shall be in material compliance with all the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement; 

 

(b) The Developer shall have furnished the City with evidence, in a form 

reasonably satisfactory to the City (such as a letter of commitment from a 

bank or other lending institution), that the Developer has firm commitments 

for financing for the Project in an amount sufficient, together with equity 

commitments, to complete the Project in conformance with the Construction 

Plans, or the City shall have received such other evidence of the Developer’s 

financial ability as in the reasonable judgment of the City is required for the 

Project; 

 

(c) Execution of an Assessment Agreement by the City, the County and the 

Developer pursuant to Section 6.1 of this Agreement; and 

 

(e) Receipt of an opinion of counsel to the Developer in the form attached hereto 

as Exhibit E.  

   

 Section 8.10 Failure to Commence Construction of Minimum Improvements.  In the 

event the Developer has not made substantial progress towards commencement of 

construction of the Minimum Improvements on the Development Property by no later than 

August 30, 2019, and commencement of construction does not appear imminent by no 

later than August 30, 2019, then Developer shall have committed an Event of Default 

within the meaning of Article XI and Section 11.1 of this Agreement, and shall convey 

title to the Development Property to the City as provided in Section 11.2(d) of this 

Agreement by no later than October 30, 2019. 

 

 Section 8.11.  No Property Tax Exemption. In consideration of the covenants of the 

City as contained in this Agreement, Developer agrees that it shall not seek from the 

County or from the City, any partial or other exemption from taxation of industrial 

property as may be provided by Sections 25-36 through 25-45 of the Cedar Falls Code of 

Ordinances, and/or by Chapter 427B, Code of Iowa, with respect to any portion of the 

Development Property, or the Minimum Improvements located on the Development 

Property.  

 

 

 

 

43



27  

ARTICLE IX.  DEVELOPER’S OPTION 

 

 Section 9.1.  Grant of Option. As additional consideration for Developer’s covenants 

as contained in this Agreement, and upon performance by Developer of all of its 

obligations to the City under the terms and conditions of this Agreement, but only for so 

long as Developer is not in default under this Agreement, the City hereby grants 

Developer an irrevocable option (hereinafter the “Option”) to acquire the property 

described in Exhibit A-2 attached to this Agreement (hereinafter the “Option Property”), 

on the terms and conditions set forth in this Article. 

 

 Section 9.2.  Option to Acquire Option Property. The Developer’s option to acquire 

the Option Property under this Article shall be on the following terms: 

 

(a) The Option shall commence on the effective date of this Agreement set forth 

on page 5 hereof (the “Effective Date of this Agreement”). 

 

(b) The Option shall be irrevocable until December 31, 2022 (hereinafter the 

“Option Expiration Date.”). 

 

(c) The Option shall be effective only if the Developer shall have performed all of 

its obligations to the City as set forth in this Agreement and any agreements 

referenced in this Agreement, including without limitation the Minimum 

Assessment Agreement, and only for so long as Developer shall not be in 

default thereunder. 
 

(d) To exercise its option to acquire the Option Property, Developer shall send a 

notice in writing to the City that it desires to exercise its Option to acquire the 

Option Property and that it will do so in the following way: 

 

1) By purchasing the Option Property for a purchase price of One 

Hundred Eighty Five Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($185,000.00) (the 

“Option Cash Purchase Price”), and on terms as are provided for in 

subsection 9.2(f) of this Agreement. 

 

(e) The following procedure shall apply in the event that Developer exercises its 

Option under subsection 9.2(d)(1), after proper notice has been given by 

Developer: 

 

1) The City shall provide the Developer with a complete abstract of title 

to the Option Property, continued to a date subsequent to the date of 

Developer’s notice of exercise of the Option by the Developer, that 

shows that title to the Option Property is vested in the City, free and 

44



28  

clear of all liens and encumbrances of record as provided in subsection 

(2), all at the City’s sole cost and expense. 

 

2) The City shall convey clear title to the Option Property to the 

Developer by Quit Claim Deed upon compliance with legally required 

public proceedings, and upon payment to the City by the Developer of 

the Option Cash Purchase Price. Such conveyance and title shall be 

subject to restrictive covenants, ordinances, and limited access 

provisions of record, if any, and existing easements of record, but shall 

otherwise be free and clear of all other liens and encumbrances of 

record, other than compliance with the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement. 

 

3) The City shall deliver the Quit Claim Deed of the Option Property to 

the Developer within sixty (60) days of the date the City receives 

Developer’s notice of Developer’s intent to exercise its Option to 

acquire the Option Property. 

 

4) The Developer shall promptly file the Quit Claim Deed for recordation 

among the land records in the Office of the Recorder of the County. 

The Developer shall pay all costs for recording the Quit Claim Deed. 

Any revenue stamps or transfer tax on the Quit Claim Deed shall be 

paid for by the City. 

 

 

 Section 9.3.  Expiration of Option. If the Developer fails to notify the City in a 

timely manner of the exercise of its Option to acquire the Option Property by the means 

described in subsection 9.2(d)(1) by the Option Expiration Date, Developer’s Option shall 

expire on the Option Expiration Date, and Developer shall have no further rights in and to 

the Option Property. The City shall thereafter own the Option Property free and clear of 

any right, title, interest or claim of the Developer. 

 

 Section 9.4.  Option Personal to Developer.  The rights of Developer as described in 

this Article IX are personal to Developer, and may not be assigned or transferred to any 

third party under any circumstances. Any attempted assignment, transfer, or conveyance 

of the rights of Developer under this Article without the express written consent of the 

City shall cause an immediate termination of all of the Developer’s rights described in this 

Article. 

 

 Section 9.5.  Resale of Option Property Within Five Years.  In the event that 

Developer, having acquired the Option Property by payment of the Option Cash Purchase 

Price under subsection 9.2(d)(1), sells the Option Property to any third party at any time 

within five (5) years of the date of the City’s delivery of the Quit Claim Deed conveying 

45



29  

the Option Property to the Developer, the Developer shall pay to the City an amount equal 

to fifty percent (50%) of the amount by which the sale price of the Option Property 

exceeds the Option Cash Purchase Price of $185,000.00, which amount shall be paid in 

cash in full to the City immediately upon the happening of the sale of the Option Property 

by the Developer. Failure to pay said amount shall constitute a default under this 

Agreement. For purposes of this subsection, the term “sell” shall include any voluntary of 

involuntary sale, exchange, or transfer of title to the Option Property, or any part thereof, 

to any person or entity whatsoever other than the City; provided, however, that Developer 

may grant a mortgage on the Option Property as security for a loan made to or guaranteed 

by the Developer, and the same shall not, in and of itself, constitute a sale of the Option 

Property within the meaning of this subsection. 

 

ARTICLE X.  INDEMNIFICATION 

 

 Section 10.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants. 

 

 (a) The Developer releases the City and the governing body members, officers, 

agents, servants and employees thereof (hereinafter, for purposes of this 

Article X, the "indemnified parties") from, covenants and agrees that the 

indemnified parties shall not be liable for, and agrees to indemnify, defend and 

hold harmless the indemnified parties against, any loss or damage to property 

or any injury to or death of any person occurring at or about or resulting from 

any defect in the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 (b) Except for any willful misrepresentation, or any willful or wanton misconduct, 

or any unlawful act, or any negligent act or omission of the indemnified 

parties, Developer agrees to protect and defend the indemnified parties, now or 

forever, and further agrees to hold the indemnified parties harmless, from any 

claim, demand, suit, action or other proceedings whatsoever by any person or 

entity whatsoever arising or purportedly arising from any violation of any 

agreement or condition of this Agreement by the Developer, including but not 

limited to claims for the construction, installation, ownership, and operation of 

the Minimum Improvements. 

 

 (c) The indemnified parties shall not be liable for any damage or injury to the 

persons or property of the Developer or its officers, agents, servants or 

employees or any other person who may be about the Minimum Improvements 

due to any act of negligence, including a negligent failure to act, of any person, 

other than any act of negligence on the part of any such indemnified party or 

its officers, agents, servants or employees. 

 

 (d) The provisions of this Article X shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement. 

46



30  

 

ARTICLE XI.  REMEDIES 

 

 Section 11.1.  Events of Default Defined.  The following shall be "Events of 

Default" under this Agreement and the term "Event of Default" shall mean, whenever it is 

used in this Agreement, any one or more of the following events: 

  

 (a) Failure by the Developer to cause the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements to be commenced and completed pursuant to the terms, 

conditions and limitations of Article III of this Agreement, subject to 

Unavoidable Delays; 

 

 (b) Failure by the Developer or its successors to cause the Minimum 

Improvements to be reconstructed when required pursuant to Article III of this 

Agreement; 

 

 (c) Failure by the City to cause the Development Property to be conveyed to the 

Developer pursuant to the terms, conditions and limitations of Section 8.1 of 

this Agreement, subject to Unavoidable Delays; 

 

 (d) Transfer of the Developer's ownership interest in the Development Property or 

any interest of Developer in this Agreement, or the assets of Developer in 

violation of the provisions of Article VII of this Agreement, until the 

Termination Date; 

 

 (e) Failure by the Developer until the Termination Date, to pay ad valorem taxes 

on the Development Property;  

 

 (f) Failure by the Developer until the Termination Date to substantially observe or 

perform any other covenant, condition, obligation or agreement on its part to 

be observed or performed under this Agreement; 

 

 (g) The holder of any Mortgage on the Development Property, or any 

improvements thereon, or any portion thereof, commences foreclosure 

proceedings as a result of any default under the applicable Mortgage 

documents; 

 

 (h) Sale or lease of the Minimum Improvements or Development Property in 

violation of the provisions of Section 6.12, Relocation, of this Agreement; 

 

 (j) The Developer shall: 

 

47



31  

  (i) file any petition in bankruptcy or for any reorganization, arrangement, 

composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief 

under the United States Bankruptcy Act of 1978, as amended, or under 

any similar federal or state law; or 

 

  (ii) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or 

 

  (iii) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become 

due; or 

 

  (iv) be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent; or if a petition or answer 

proposing adjudication as a bankrupt or reorganization under any 

present or future federal bankruptcy act or any similar federal or state 

law shall be filed in any court and such petition or answer shall not be 

discharged or denied within ninety (90) days after the filing thereof; or a 

receiver, trustee or liquidator of the Developer or the Minimum 

Improvements, or part thereof, shall be appointed in any proceedings 

brought against the Developer and shall not be discharged within ninety 

(90) days after such appointment, or if the Developer shall consent to or 

acquiesce in such appointment; or 

 

 (k) Any obligation, representation or warranty made by any party to this 

Agreement, any Exhibit hereto, or made by any party in any written statement 

or certificate pursuant to this Agreement, shall prove to have been incorrect, 

incomplete or misleading in any material respect on or as of the date of the 

issuance or making thereof.   

 

 Section 11.2.  Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in 

Section 11.1 of this Agreement occurs and is continuing, any party not in default may take 

any one or more of the following actions after the giving of thirty (30) days' written notice 

to the party in default, and the holder of the Mortgage, of the Event of Default, but only if 

the Event of Default has not been cured within said thirty (30) days, or if the Event of 

Default cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) days and the party in default does 

not provide assurances reasonably satisfactory to the party giving notice that the Event of 

Default will be cured as soon as reasonably possible: 

 

 (a) The party giving notice may suspend its performance under this Agreement 

until it receives assurances from the party in default, deemed adequate by the 

party giving notice, that the party in default will cure the default and continue 

performance under this Agreement; 

 

 (b) The party who is not in default may withhold the Certificate of Completion;  

 

48



32  

 (c) The party who is not in default may take any action, including legal, equitable 

or administrative action, which may appear necessary or desirable to recover 

damages proximately caused by the Default, or to enforce performance and 

observance of any obligation, agreement, or covenant, under this Agreement. 

 

 (d) In the event the Developer fails to perform any one or more of the material 

obligations described in Article III of this Agreement in a timely manner, 

Developer shall thereupon immediately convey title to the Development 

Property to the City, free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, but subject 

to restrictive covenants, ordinances, and limited access provisions of record, if 

any, and to existing easements, if any.  Developer shall also establish to the 

satisfaction of City and its legal counsel that no labor has been performed and 

no materials have been furnished by any contractor, subcontractor, or any 

other person, firm or entity, in connection with any improvements made to the 

Development Property within the ninety (90) days immediately preceding the 

date of said conveyance.  Developer shall also deliver to City an abstract of 

title covering the Development Property, certified to a date subsequent to the 

date of said conveyance, showing that marketable title to the Development 

Property is vested in Developer and complies with the requirements of this 

subsection.  Developer shall pay to City all general property taxes and special 

assessments, if any, due or to become due with respect to the Development 

Property, continuing until the Development Property is assessed to the City 

and is exempt from assessment for general property taxes by reason of its 

conveyance to and ownership by the City as a tax-exempt governmental body.  

Developer shall pay for all costs associated with conveyance of the 

Development Property to the City, including, but not limited to, abstracting, 

recording fees, and reasonable attorneys' fees.  In the event the Developer fails 

to comply with the terms and conditions of this subsection (d) within the thirty 

(30) day period described in Section 11.2 of this Article, then the City may 

proceed as provided in Section 11.2(c) of this Article, to obtain a decree of 

specific performance against Developer for the conveyance of the 

Development Property to the City or, in lieu thereof, at the City’s sole 

discretion, to obtain a judgment for monetary damages to compensate the City 

for the Developer’s default, plus attorneys’ fees and expenses as provided in 

Section 11.5. 

 

 Section 11.3.  No Remedy Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved 

to the parties is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but 

each and every remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy 

given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.  

No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall 

impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such 

49



33  

right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed 

expedient.   

 

 Section 11.4.  No Implied Waiver.  In the event any agreement contained in this 

Agreement should be breached by any party and thereafter waived by any other party, 

such waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to 

waive any other concurrent, previous or subsequent breach hereunder. 

 

 Section 11.5.  Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses.  Whenever any 

Event of Default occurs and a party not in default shall employ attorneys or incur other 

expenses for the collection of payments due or to become due or for the enforcement or 

performance or observance of any obligation or agreement on the part of a party in default 

herein contained, the party in default agrees that it shall, on demand therefor, pay to the 

party not in default the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other expenses as may 

be reasonably and appropriately incurred by the party not in default in connection 

therewith. 

 

ARTICLE XII.  MISCELLANEOUS 

 

 Section 12.1.  Conflict of Interest.  Developer agrees that, to its best knowledge and 

belief, no member, officer or employee of the City, or its designees or agents, nor any 

consultant or member of the governing body of the City, and no other public official of the 

City who exercises or has exercised any functions or responsibilities with respect to the 

Project during his or her tenure, or who is in a position to participate in a decision-making 

process or gain insider information with regard to the Project, shall have any interest, 

direct or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be 

performed in connection with the Project, or in any activity, or benefit therefrom, which is 

part of this Project at any time during or after such person's tenure. 

 

 Section 12.2.  Non-Discrimination.  In carrying out the construction and operation 

of the Minimum Improvements, the Developer shall not discriminate against any 

employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed, color, gender, sexual 

orientation, gender identity, religion, sex, national origin, age or disability.  The Developer 

shall insure that applicants for employment are employed, and the employees are treated 

during employment, without regard to their race, creed, color, gender, sexual orientation, 

gender identity, religion, sex, national origin, age or disability.   

 

 Section 12.3.  Notices.  Whenever this Agreement requires or permits any consent, 

approval, notice, request, proposal, or demand (collectively, "Notice") from one party to 

another, the Notice must be in writing and shall be effective upon actual receipt by the 

intended recipient, at the following addresses:    

 

50



34  

DEVELOPER:  Mr. Rodney Joe Owen 

    Manager 

    OWEN 5, L.L.C.  

    3318 Apollo Street 

    Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613    

 

With a copy to:  Steve Daniels 

    Dutton, Braun, Staack & Hellman, PLC 

    3151 Brockway Road 

    Waterloo, IA 50701 

     

CITY   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

    City Administrator 

    220 Clay Street 

    Cedar Falls, IA  50613 

 

or to such other designated individual or officer or to such other address as any party shall 

have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith.  Any party entitled to 

receive a Notice hereunder may change the address which it previously had specified for 

receiving the same, at any time and from time to time, by delivering a written change 

notice in accordance with the above provisions to the other parties at least five (5) 

business days prior to the effective date of such change. 

 

 Section 12.4.  Titles of Articles and Sections.  Any titles of the several parts, 

Articles, and Sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only 

and shall be disregarded in construing or interpreting any of its provisions. 

 

 Section 12.5.  Provisions Not Merged With Deed.  None of the provisions of this 

Agreement shall be merged by reason of the delivery of the Deed, and the Deed shall not 

be deemed to affect or impair the provisions and covenants of this Agreement. 

 

 Section 12.6.  Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa. 

 

 Section 12.7.  Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the exhibits hereto reflect the 

entire agreement between the parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and supersedes 

and replaces all prior agreements, negotiations or discussions, whether oral or written.  

This Agreement may not be amended except by a subsequent writing signed by all parties 

hereto. 

 

 Section 12.8.  Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement is intended to and shall 

inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective 

successors and assigns. 

51



35  

 

 Section 12.9.  Termination Date of Assessment Agreement.  This Agreement shall 

terminate and be of no further force or effect with respect to the Minimum Improvements 

on the termination of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, as provided in Section 6.1 of 

this Agreement and in the Minimum Assessment Agreement, the form of which is 

attached hereto as Exhibit D. 

 

 Section 12.10.  Memorandum of Agreement.  The parties agree to execute and 

record a Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development, in substantially the form 

attached as Exhibit F, to serve as notice to the public of the existence and provisions of 

this Agreement, and the rights and interests held by the City by virtue hereof.  Developer 

shall pay all costs of recording. 

 

 Section 12.11.  Immediate Undertaking.  All parties agree to undertake immediately 

upon execution of this Agreement all of those obligations which require immediate action. 

 

 Section 12.12.  No Partnership or Joint Venture.  The relationship herein created 

between the parties is contractual in nature and is in no way to be construed as creating a 

partnership or joint venture between the Developer and any or all of the other parties. 

 

 Section 12.13.  Captions.  The captions, headings, and arrangements used in this 

Agreement are for convenience only and shall not in any way affect, limit, amplify, or 

modify the terms and provisions hereof. 

 

 Section 12.14.  Number and Gender of Words.  Whenever herein the singular 

number is used, the same shall include the plural where appropriate, and words of any 

gender shall include each other where appropriate. 

   

 Section 12.15.  Invalid Provisions.  If any provision of this Agreement or any 

agreement contemplated hereby is held to be illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable under 

present or future laws effective during the term of such agreement; then: (i) such provision 

shall be fully severable; (ii) such agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such 

illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part of such 

agreement; and (iii) the remaining provisions of such agreement shall remain in full force 

and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision 

or by its severance from such agreement.  Furthermore, in lieu of such illegal, void, 

invalid, or unenforceable provision there shall be added automatically as a part of such 

agreement a provision as similar in terms to such illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable 

provision as may be legal, valid, and enforceable, whether or not such a substitute 

provision is specifically provided for in such agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

in the event any provision involving material consideration by the City for the benefit of 

the Developer shall be held illegal, void, invalid or unenforceable, then the Developer 

shall have the right to cancel this Agreement, and upon such cancellation, this Agreement, 

52



36  

in its entirety, shall be rendered null and void; however, in that event, Developer shall 

proceed as described in Section 11.2(d) of this Agreement. 

 

 Section 12.16.  Multiple Counterparts.  This Agreement has been executed in a 

number of identical counterparts, each of which is to be deemed an original for all 

purposes and all of which constitute collectively one agreement, but in making proof of 

this Agreement it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one such 

counterpart. 

 

 Section 12.17.  Authorization.  Each party hereto represents that prior to its 

execution hereof all necessary company, governmental or other appropriate action, as 

applicable, including without limitation resolutions of their governing boards or bodies, 

has been taken to authorize the execution of this Agreement and the performance by such 

party of its respective obligations hereunder. 

 

 Section 12.18.  Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence with respect to all 

matters described in this Agreement and related documents.  

 

 Section 12.19.  Survival.  Each provision of this Agreement shall survive the 

occurrence of the other provisions of this Agreement to the extent necessary to ensure full 

performance of said surviving provision. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly executed 

in its name and behalf by its Mayor and its seal to be hereunto duly affixed and attested by 

its City Clerk, and the Developer has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its 

name and behalf by its member, all on or as of the day first above written. 

 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

      By: _________________________________ 

              James P. Brown, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk      

       

53



37  

OWEN 5, L.L.C., 

an Iowa limited liability company  

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Rodney Joe Owen, Manager 

 

 

DEVELOPER 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ss.  

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2019, by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

     ______________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss. 

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2019, 

by Rodney Joe Owen, Manager, OWEN 5, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company. 

 

     ____________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 
 

54



38  

EXHIBIT A-1 

 

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 

 

 The Development Property is described as consisting of all that certain parcel or 

parcels of land located generally in the City of Cedar Falls, County of Black Hawk, State 

of Iowa, more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lot 16, Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I Addition, City of Cedar Falls, 

Black Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 3.90 acres more or less). 

 

 

  

55



39  

EXHIBIT A-2 

 

OPTION PROPERTY 

 

 

 The Option Property is described as consisting of all that certain parcel or parcels of 

land located generally in the City of Cedar Falls, County of Black Hawk, State of Iowa, 

more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lot 17, Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I Addition, City of Cedar Falls, 

Black Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 2.89 acres more or less). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

56



40  

EXHIBIT B 

 

MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 The Minimum Improvements shall consist of the construction of a Shop/Office 

Facility totaling at least 10,000 square feet of finished space, all as set forth in the 

Construction Plans and being as more particularly shown and in substantially the same 

configuration and scope as the Site Plans attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

 

 The Developer agrees to connect to the sanitary sewer, storm sewer, natural gas, 

electricity, water, underground telephone cable, internet and any other utilities services 

from their present locations to such location or locations on the Development Property as 

Developer deems appropriate, at its cost.  The Developer also agrees to construct any 

driveway approaches and other paving, at its cost, in accordance with City ordinances.  

 

 The Developer also agrees to perform or cause to be performed all necessary 

grading, land preparation and all necessary building improvements, landscaping, storm 

water detention, signage, and all other site improvements, in all respects in entire 

conformity with all applicable codes and ordinances of the City, all at the Developer's 

cost.  The submittal to City of plans for the construction of said improvements shall be in 

substantial conformity with the following schedule: 

 

Schedule of Performance 

 

Activity to be Completed    Completion Date 

 

Issuance of Building Permit   August 30, 2019 

 

Substantial Completion     August 31, 2020 

 

Issuance of Occupancy Permit   August 31, 2020 
 

 

57



 

41  

EXHIBIT C 

 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 

 

 WHEREAS, the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter 

called "City"), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the 

authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2015 (Chapter 403 

hereinafter called "Urban Renewal Act"); and OWEN 5, L.L.C.,  (hereinafter called the 

"Developer"), an Iowa limited liability company having its principal place of business at 

3318 Apollo Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613; did on or about the _____ day of 

_______________, 2019, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Agreement for 

Private Development (the "Agreement"), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in 

accordance with the terms of the Agreement, to develop and maintain certain real property 

located within the City and as more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lot 16, Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I Addition, City of Cedar Falls, 

Black Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 3.90 acres more or less). 

 

(the "Development Property"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Agreement incorporated and contained certain covenants and 

restrictions with respect to the development of the Development Property, and obligated 

Developer to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined therein) in accordance 

with the Agreement; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Developer performed said covenants and conditions insofar as they 

relate to the construction of said Minimum Improvements in a manner deemed by the City 

to be in conformance with the approved building plans to permit the execution and 

recording of this certification. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the Agreement, this is to certify that all covenants 

and conditions of the Agreement with respect to the obligations of Developer and its 

successors and assigns, to construct the Minimum Improvements have been completed 

and performed by Developer and are hereby released absolutely and forever terminated 

insofar as they apply to the land described herein.  The County Recorder of Black Hawk 

County is hereby authorized to accept for recording and to record the filing of this 

instrument, to be a conclusive determination of the satisfactory termination of the 

covenants and conditions of said Agreement with respect to the construction of the 

Minimum Improvements. 

 

58



 

42  

 All other provisions of the Agreement shall otherwise remain in full force and effect 

until termination as provided therein. 

 

 (SEAL)    THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

      By: ________________________________ 

             James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

By: _________________________________________ 

       Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA          ) 

                         )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK )  

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2019, by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

     ______________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

 

  

59



 

43  

EXHIBIT D 

 

MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 THIS MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT, dated as of this _________ day of 

______________, 2019, by and among the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, (the "City"), and 

OWEN 5, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company, (the "Developer"), and the COUNTY 

ASSESSOR for the County of Black Hawk, State of Iowa (the "Assessor"). 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

 WHEREAS, on or before the date hereof the City and Developer have entered into an 

Agreement for Private Development dated as of ______________________________, 2019 (the 

"Agreement") regarding certain real property located in the City legally described as: 

 

Lot 16, Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I, City of Cedar Falls, Black 

Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 3.90 acres more or less). 
 

(the "Development Property"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is contemplated that pursuant to said Agreement, the Developer will 

undertake the development of the Development Property, which is within the Cedar Falls Unified 

Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan; and 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 403.6(19) of the Code of Iowa, 2019, as amended, the 

City and the Developer desire to establish a minimum actual taxable value for the facilities 

thereon to be constructed by the Developer pursuant to the Agreement (defined therein as the 

"Minimum Improvements"); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City and the Assessor have reviewed the preliminary plans and 

specifications for the Minimum Improvements which it is contemplated will be erected. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the parties to this Minimum Assessment Agreement, in 

consideration of the promises, covenants and agreements made by each other, do hereby agree as 

follows: 

 

 1.   Upon substantial completion of construction of the above-referenced Minimum 

Improvements by the Developer, but no later than January 1, 2021, the minimum actual taxable 

value which shall be fixed for assessment purposes for the Minimum Improvements to be 

constructed on the Development Property by the Developer and the land that together comprise 

the Development Property, shall be not less than Seven Hundred Thousand Dollars and no/100 

Dollars ($700,000.00) (hereafter referred to as the "Minimum Actual Value") until termination of 

this Minimum Assessment Agreement.  The parties hereto expect that the construction of the 

above-referenced Minimum Improvements will be completed on or before August 31, 2020. 

 

60



 

44  

 Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive the Developer's rights under Iowa Code Section 

403.6(19) to contest that portion of any actual taxable value assignment made by the Assessor in 

excess of the Minimum Actual Value established herein, or any actual taxable value assignment 

made by the Assessor to the Minimum Improvements or to the 3.90 acres of land, which together 

comprise the Development Property.  In no event, however, shall the Developer seek to reduce 

the actual taxable value assigned below the Minimum Actual Value established herein during the 

term of this Agreement. 

 

 2.   The Minimum Actual Value herein established shall be of no further force and effect 

and this Minimum Assessment Agreement shall terminate on December 31, 2031. 

 

 3.   This Minimum Assessment Agreement shall be promptly recorded by the Developer 

with the Recorder of Black Hawk County, Iowa.  The Developer shall pay all costs of recording. 

 

 4.   Neither the preambles nor provisions of this Minimum Assessment Agreement are 

intended to, or shall be construed as, modifying the terms of the Agreement between the City and 

the Developer. 

 

 5.   This Minimum Assessment Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon 

the successors and assigns of the parties, and all holders of mortgages upon or security interests in 

the Development Property, including the land and the Minimum Improvements,   to secure any 

loans with respect to the Development Property, including the land and the Minimum 

Improvements. 

 

      THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

      By: ____________________________________ 

       James P. Brown, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

________________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

DEVELOPER: 

 

OWEN 5, L.L.C. 

An Iowa limited liability company  

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Rodney Joe Owen, Manager 

 

 

 
 

61



 

45  

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

       ) ss:   

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK   ) 

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2019, by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

     __________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA ) 

                       )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK  ) 

 

 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 

2019, by Rodney Joe Owen, Manager, OWEN 5, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability 

company. 

    

 

     ____________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

 

  

62



 

46  

 

CERTIFICATION OF ASSESSOR 

 

 The undersigned, having reviewed the plans and specifications for the Minimum 

Improvements to be constructed and the market value assigned to such Minimum 

Improvements, and being of the opinion that the minimum market value contained in the 

foregoing Minimum Assessment Agreement appears reasonable, hereby certifies as 

follows:  The undersigned Assessor, being legally responsible for the assessment of the 

property described in the foregoing Minimum Assessment Agreement, upon completion 

of Minimum Improvements to be made on it and in accordance with the Minimum 

Assessment Agreement, certifies that the actual taxable value assigned to such Minimum 

Improvements and the 3.90 acres of land on which such Minimum Improvements are to be 

constructed, which together comprise the Development Property, upon completion shall 

not be less than $700,000.00, until termination of this Minimum Assessment Agreement 

pursuant to the terms hereof. 

 

      _______________________________________ 

      County Assessor for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

      _______________________________________ 

      Date 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

                       )  ss. 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 Subscribed and sworn to before me by _______________________________, 

County Assessor for Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

 

      ______________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

      _______________________________________ 

      Date 
 

 

63



 

47  

EXHIBIT E 

 

FORM OF LEGAL OPINION 

 

City of Cedar Falls 

Attn: City Clerk 

City Hall 

220 Clay Street 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 

 

RE: Agreement for Private Development by and between the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa and OWEN 5, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company 

 

Gentlemen: 

 

 As counsel for OWEN 5, L.L.C.  (the "Developer"), and in connection with the 

execution and delivery of a certain Development Agreement (the "Development 

Agreement") between the Developer and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") dated 

as of ________________, 2019, we hereby render the following opinion: 

 

 We have examined the original certified copy, or copies otherwise identified to our 

satisfaction as being true copies, of the following: 

 

(a) The certificate of organization and operating agreement, together with 

all amendments thereto, of the Developer; 

 

(b) Resolutions of the members of the Developer at which action was 

taken with respect to the transactions covered by this opinion; 

 

  (c) The Development Agreement; 

 

and such other documents and records as we have deemed relevant and necessary as a 

basis for the opinions set forth herein. 

 

 Based on the pertinent law, the foregoing examination and such other inquiries as we 

have deemed appropriate, we are of the opinion that: 

 

 1. The Developer has been duly organized and is validly existing as a limited 

liability company under the laws of the State of Iowa and is authorized to do business in 

the State of Iowa.  The Developer has full power and authority to execute, deliver and 

perform in full the Development Agreement and the Minimum Assessment Agreement; 

and the Development Agreement and the Minimum Assessment Agreement have been 

64



 

48  

duly and validly authorized by action of the members, have been executed and delivered 

by an authorized manager of the Developer and, assuming due authorization, execution 

and delivery by the City, are in full force and effect and are valid and legally binding 

instruments of the Developer enforceable in accordance with their  terms, except as the 

same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws relating to or 

affecting creditors' rights generally. 

 

 2. The execution, delivery and performance by the Developer of the 

Development Agreement, the Minimum Assessment Agreement, and the carrying out of 

the terms thereof, will not result in violation of any provision of, or in default under, the 

certificate of organization and operating agreement of the Developer or any indenture, 

mortgage, deed of trust, indebtedness, agreement, judgment, decree, order, statute, rule, 

regulation or restriction to which the Developer is a party or by which it or its property is 

bound or subject. 

 

 3. To our knowledge and after inquiry to Developer, there are no actions, suits 

or proceedings pending or threatened against or affecting the Developer in any court or 

before any arbitrator or before or by any governmental body in which there is a reasonable 

possibility of an adverse decision which could materially adversely affect the business 

(present or prospective), financial position or results of operations of the Developer or 

which in any manner raises any questions affecting the validity of the Development 

Agreement, the Minimum Assessment Agreement, or the Developer's ability to perform 

its obligations thereunder. 

 

 

Very truly yours, 

 

DUTTON, BRAUN, STAACK & HELLMAN, PLC 

 

 

By:______________________________________ 

 Steve Daniels, Attorney at Law 

       3151 Brockway Road 

 Waterloo, IA 50701 

 

  

65



 

49  

EXHIBIT F 

 

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 WHEREAS, the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter 

called "City"), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the 

authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2019 (Chapter 403 

hereinafter called "Urban Renewal Act"); and OWEN 5, L.L.C.,  (hereinafter called the 

"Developer"), an Iowa limited liability company having its principal place of business at 

3318 Apollo Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613, did on or about the _____ day of 

______________, 2019, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Agreement for 

Private Development (the "Agreement"), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in 

accordance with the terms of the Agreement and the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 

Corridor Urban Renewal Plan (the "Plan"), to develop certain real property located within 

the City and within the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Area 

and as more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lot 16, Northern Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase I, City of Cedar Falls, Black 

Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 3.90 acres more or less). 

 

(the "Development Property"), and  

 

 WHEREAS, the term of the Agreement commenced on the ___ day of 

___________, 2019, and terminates on the 31st day of December, 2031, with respect to 

the Development Property, unless otherwise terminated as set forth in the Agreement; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Parties desire to record a Memorandum of the Agreement referring 

to the Development Property and their respective interests therein.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 1. That the recording of this Memorandum of Agreement for Private 

Development shall serve as notice to the public that the Agreement contains provisions 

restricting conveyance, development and use of the Development Property and the 

improvements located and operated on such Development Property, and contains 

provisions dealing with the dollar amount of the minimum taxable value of the 

Development Property for general property tax purposes, and the length of time during 

which said minimum assessed value continues in effect, as provided for in Section 

403.6(19), Code of Iowa. 

 

 2. That all of the provisions of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments 

thereto, if any, even though not set forth herein, are by the filing of this Memorandum of 

Agreement for Private Development made a part hereof by reference, and that anyone 

66



 

50  

making any claim against any of said Development Property in any manner whatsoever 

shall be fully advised as to all of the terms and conditions of the Agreement, and any 

amendments thereto, as if the same were fully set forth herein.   

 

 3. That a copy of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments thereto, if 

any, shall be maintained on file for public inspection during ordinary business hours in the 

office of the City Clerk, City Hall, Cedar Falls, Iowa.   

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Memorandum of 

Agreement for Private Development on the ______ day of _______________________, 

2019. 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

      By: _________________________________ 

               James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

By: _________________________________________ 

 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

 

OWEN 5, L.L.C. 

an Iowa limited liability company. 

 

By: ________________________________________ 

 Rodney Joe Owen, Manager 

 

 

  

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss: 

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 

2019, by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

     _________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

 

 

 

 

67



 

51  

STATE OF IOWA    )  

      )  ss: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK  ) 

 

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2019, 

by Rodney Joe Owen, Manager, OWEN 5, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company. 

 

     ____________________________________________ 

     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 
 

68



69



70



71



72



1 
 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2940 

AN ORDINANCE (1) REPEALING ARTICLE VI, DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT, INCLUDING DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, DIVISION 2, PLANNING AND 

COMMUNITY SERVICES DIVISION, DIVISION 3, ENGINEERING SERVICES DIVISION, 

DIVISION 4, INSPECTION SERVICES DIVISION, AND DIVISION 5, WATER RECLAMATION 

DIVISION, ALL OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF NEW ARTICLE VI, 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT, INCLUDING NEW DIVISION 1, 

GENERALLY, NEW DIVISION 2, PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SERVICES DIVISION, NEW 

DIVISION 3, VISITORS AND TOURISM/CULTURAL PROGRAMS DIVISION, NEW DIVISION 

4, INSPECTION SERVICES DIVISION, AND NEW DIVISION 5, RECREATION AND 

COMMUNITY PROGRAMS DIVISION; (2) REPEALING ARTICLE VII, DEPARTMENT OF 

MUNICIPAL OPERATIONS AND PROGRAMS, INCLUDING DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, 

DIVISION 2, PUBLIC WORKS AND PARKS DIVISION, DIVISION 3, VISITORS AND 

TOURISM/CULTURAL PROGRAMS DIVISION, AND DIVISION 4, RECREATION AND 

COMMUNITY PROGRAMS DIVISION, ALL OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, OF THE 

CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU 

THEREOF NEW ARTICLE VII, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS, INCLUDING DIVISION 1, 

GENERALLY, DIVISION 2, OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE DIVISION, DIVISION 3, 

ENGINEERING SERVICES DIVISION, AND DIVISION 4, WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 1.  Article VI, Department of Community Development, of Chapter 2, 

Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in 

its entirety, and a new Article VI, Department of Community Development, of Chapter 2, 

Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is enacted in lieu 

thereof, as follows: 

ARTICLE VI.  DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

Division 1.  Generally 

 

73



2 
 

Sec. 2-652.   Created. 

There is hereby established in the city the department of community development. The 
administration of the department shall be integrated into and made a part of the regular city 
administration, and shall be coordinated with all other departments.  

(Code 2017, § 2-436; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-653.   Duties. 

It shall be the duty of the community development department to plan, coordinate and assist in the 
safe and efficient development of the city by the public and private sectors. Duties shall include:  

 (1)  Professional planning services encompassing supervision of planning, architectural and 
landscape architectural consultants; zoning administration; capital improvements programming; 
subdivision design; and comprehensive planning including population projections, economic 
forecasts, land use planning and other special long range studies.  

(2)  Building, plumbing, electrical and mechanical inspection services for all construction types.  

(3)  Economic development coordination and assistance which expands the city's employment and 
tax base in a safe and efficient manner.  

(4)  Grantsmanship activities for all city departments and programs, including interstate 
substitution, community development block grants, federal or state rent assistance programs, 
federal or state rehabilitation programs and federal or state conservation programs.  

(5)  Operation and maintenance of public drainageways, storm sewers, catchbasins, dams, flood 
control properties and stormwater detention facilities.  

(6)  Operation and maintenance of other public structures, programs or facilities specifically 
assigned by the city administrator, mayor or city council.  

(7)  Adherence to the city's landlord accountability code (chapter 11, article II, division 5), 
maintenance and nuisance codes, and all other code-related enforcement.  

(Code 2017, § 2-437; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-654.   Director of community development—Generally. 

(a)  Appointment. The director of community development shall be recommended for appointment by 
the city administrator. The city administrator shall recommend this appointment to the mayor for city 
council approval.  

(b)  Powers and duties.  

(1)  The director of community development shall supervise, direct and manage the conduct of the 
following divisions:  

a.  Planning and community services.  

b.  Visitors and tourism/cultural programs.  

c.  Inspection services.  

d.  Recreation and community programs.  

(2)  The director is empowered to exert supervisory and management control over each division 
and is empowered to appoint a planning and community services manager, building official, 
visitors and tourism/cultural programs manager and recreation and community programs 

74



3 
 

manager to serve as division heads. The division heads are individually charged by the director 
to carry out all of the statutory duties mandated by federal, state and local regulations of their 
respective divisions. The director is responsible for the establishment of broad policies related 
to departmental conduct, procedures and operations, and the formation of programs which 
provide the citizens of the city with a full range of developmental services. The director may 
peremptorily suspend, demote or discharge any subordinate under his or her direction for any 
lawful reason.  

(3)  The director shall be responsible for the preparation and administration of the departmental 
work program and budgets to ensure that all statutory and subsidiary programs are 
implemented by the division responsible. All purchases initiated by any division for any 
operation or program shall be approved by the director prior to submission to the city council for 
payment.  

(4)  The director shall perform all duties assigned by the city administrator, mayor and city council 
and shall be under the direct administrative supervision of the city administrator.  

(Code 2017, § 2-438; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-655.   Director of community development—Duties relative to boards, 

commissions and committees. 

The director of community development or the director's designee shall meet regularly with and 
furnish such assistance and information to the following commissions, boards, committees and other 
organizations when necessary:  

(1)  Planning and zoning commission.  

(2)  Board of adjustment.  

(3)  Housing commission.  

(4)  Plumbing examiners, electrical examiners and board of appeals.  

(5)  Metropolitan transportation board.  

(6)  Waterloo airport zoning commission.  

(7)  Historic preservation commission.  

(8)  Iowa Northland regional council of governments.  

(9)  Cedar Valley partnership.  

(10)  City neighborhood organizations (such as Community Main Street, College Hill Partnership, 
Overman Park Neighborhood Association, and Northern Cedar Falls Neighborhood 
Association).  

(11)  Board of rental housing appeals.  

(12)  Waterloo airport commission.  

(13)  Art and culture board. 

(14)    Visitors and tourism board. 

(15)     Island Park Beach House board 

(16)    Any applicable federal and state agencies, such as the state department of natural resources, 
the state economic development authority, the state department of transportation, the United 
States Environmental Protection Agency, the United States Department of Housing and Urban 
Development, the United States Federal Emergency Management Administration, and the 
United States Federal Housing Authority. 

75



4 
 

 (Code 2017, § 2-439; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-656.   Acting director of community development. 

Whenever the director of community development is out of the city or unable to act on account of 
sickness or for any other reason, including those periods of time when the city administrator has not 
appointed a director of community development, the director of community development or city 
administrator shall appoint one of the division heads as the acting director of community development. 
This designee shall have and exercise all the powers and duties of the director.  

(Code 2017, § 2-440; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-657.   Authority of council. 

All final authority over the administration and policy of the department of community development 
shall be retained and exercised by the city council.  

(Code 2017, § 2-441; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

DIVISION 2.   PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SERVICES DIVISION 

 

Sec. 2-688.   Created. 

The planning and community services division of the department of community development for the 
city is hereby created.  

(Code 2017, § 2-461; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-689.   Duties. 

(a)  It shall be the duty of the planning and community services division of the department of community 
development to provide a full range of professional planning services for all city departments, public 
projects and citizens of the city.  

(b)  The division shall have the power to coordinate all long-range plans developed by any public entity 
in the city.  

(c)  It shall also be the duty of this division to coordinate municipal economic development and housing 
programs.  

(Code 2017, § 2-462; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-690.   Planning and community services manager. 

(a)  Appointment. A planning and community services manager shall be appointed by the director of 
community development and shall be directly responsible to the director of community development. 
The planning and community services manager shall act as the city planner and the city zoning 
administrator. Such appointment shall be in accordance with all statutory civil service procedures.  

76



5 
 

(b)  Duties. The planning and community services manager shall supervise, direct and manage the 
planning and community services division, composed of the planning, economic development, and 
community development sections. The manager's duties shall be as follows:  

(1)  Promulgating orders, rules and regulations for the conduct and guidance of the members of the 
planning and community services division within the parameters of departmental policy.  

(2)  Making an annual report of the activities of the division for each year, the report to be filed with 
the community development director.  

(3)  Assigning the personnel of the planning and community services division as deemed 
necessary to carry out the functions of the planning and community services division, and 
prescribing rules and regulations for the conduct and management of the division consistent 
with the department's policies.  

(4)  Performing or causing to be performed any other duties as directed by the director of 
community development.  

(5)  Working with federal, state and adjoining local governments in implementing the city's 
economic development and community development programs.  

(6)  Supervising and coordinating development and implementation of the city's comprehensive 
plan, subdivision and zoning ordinances, including the necessary research, analysis, plan 
preparation, design, program development and writing and editing of reports; supervising and 
coordinating development and implementation of the city's community development, economic 
development and redevelopment plans, including marketing, business development and 
financial assistance, and coordinating with other departments and agencies regarding the city's 
housing programs.  

(7)  Preparing and administering the division's work program and budget after consultation with the 
planning and zoning commission, assigning staff, determining schedules and reviewing 
progress on the work program.  

(8)  Working on economic development matters in cooperation with the city administrator, mayor, 
city council and metropolitan economic development committees, and appearing, either in 
person or by agent, before the council and committees.  

(9)  Administering the community development block grant program, including serving as contract 
compliance officer, monitoring outside contracted services to other departments and agencies 
and procuring and managing all necessary state and federal grants.  

(10)  Supervising, coordinating and reviewing work performed by professional consulting firms 
retained for planning, development and redevelopment studies.  

(11)  Supervising and coordinating analysis of the city's physical and socioeconomic characteristics 
and direct land use, population and economic forecasts.  

(12)  Acting as technical advisor on planning and development matters to the city administrator, 
mayor, city council and planning and zoning commission, and appealing, either in person or by 
agent before the council and commission to report or advise on major planning and community 
development projects, significant economic, housing, land use and population study findings, 
and new planning and development techniques being utilized in other communities.  

(13)  Working with all city departments in matters relating to planning and community development 
programs.  

(14)  Reviewing all public projects undertaken by city departments, special districts, the county and 
other governmental agencies to ensure they are compatible with city plans.  

(15)  Aiding the planning and zoning commission and city council in the development of the capital 
improvements program and other long-term financial plans.  

77



6 
 

(16)  Preparing educational and informational materials; consulting with developers, public officials 
and citizens on planning and development matters; and coordinating and reviewing work 
performed by professional consulting firms retained for planning and development studies.  

(17)  Supervising and having jurisdiction over the conduct of the zoning administrator and the 
enforcement of all zoning regulations enacted by the city.  

(18)  Coordinating metropolitan planning efforts related to transportation, economic development 
and other related activities with all other affected entities.  

(19)  Serving as the city representative on the metropolitan transportation board.  

(20)  Providing staff support to the city board of adjustment, city planning and zoning commission,   
housing commission and board of rental housing appeals.  

(21)  Supervising and managing the city’s housing programs, including rental assistance, rental 
rehabilitation, moderate rehabilitation, emergency repairs, housing rehabilitation, housing 
vouchers and others as these become available.  

(Code 2017, § 2-463; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-691.   Acting planning and community services manager. 

Whenever the planning and community services manager is out of the city, or is unable to act on 
account of sickness or for any other reason, including those periods of time when the director of 
community development has not appointed a planning and community services manager, the planning 
and community services manager or the director of community development shall appoint a designee 
who shall have and exercise all powers and duties of the planning and community services manager.  

(Code 2017, § 2-464; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

DIVISION 3.   VISITORS AND TOURISM/CULTURAL PROGRAMS DIVISION 

 

Sec. 2-715.   Created. 

The visitors and tourism/cultural programs division of the department of community development for 
the city is hereby created.  

(Code 2017, § 2-581; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-716.   Powers and duties. 

(a)  It shall be the duty of the visitors and tourism/cultural programs division of the department of 
community development to provide visitors and tourism programs and services for the visitors and 
tourists to the city, that promote overnight lodging, purchase of goods and services from city 
businesses, and promote special events, festivals, and attractions in the city; and to provide cultural 
programs for the citizens of the city, including fine arts, performing arts, spectator arts and crafts.  

(b)  The division shall have the power to operate and maintain the visitors and tourism/cultural programs 
services offices, in compliance with the operations and programming policy prescribed by the city 
visitors and tourism board, the director of community development, and the city council; and to 
operate and maintain the James and Meryl Hearst Art and Culture Center, in compliance with the 
operations and programming policy prescribed by the city art and culture board, the director of 
community development, and the city council.  

78



7 
 

(Code 2017, § 2-582; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-717.   Manager. 

(a)  Appointment. A visitors and tourism/cultural programs division manager shall be appointed 
by the director of community development. Such appointment shall be in accordance with 
all statutory civil service procedures.  

(b)  Powers and duties. The visitors and tourism/cultural programs division manager shall 
supervise, direct and manage the visitors and tourism/cultural programs division. The 
manager's powers and duties shall be as follows:  

(1)  To promulgate orders, rules and regulations for the conduct and guidance of the 
members of the visitors and tourism/cultural programs division within the parameters of 
city, departmental, visitors and tourism board policies, and art and culture board 
policies.  

(2)  To make an annual report of the activities of the division for each fiscal year, to be 
filed with the community development director, the visitors and tourism board, the art 
and culture board, and the city council.  

(3)  To assign the personnel of the visitors and tourism/cultural programs division as 
deemed necessary to carry out the functions of the visitors and tourism/cultural 
programs division, and to prescribe rules and regulations for the conduct and 
management of the division consistent with city and departmental policies, visitors and 
tourism board policies, and art and culture board policies.  

(4)  To perform or cause to be performed any other duties as directed by the director of 
community development.  

(5)  To manage the visitors and tourism offices, programs and projects in accord with 
operations and programming policies established by the city visitors and tourism board, 
the director of community development, and the city council; and to manage the James 
and Meryl Hearst Art and Culture Center, in compliance with operations and 
programming policies established by the city art and culture board, the director of 
community development, and the city council.  

(6)  To implement a full range of visitors and tourism programs for the city within the 
financial constraints and program offerings recommended by the visitors and tourism 
board and authorized by the city council.  

(7)  To implement a full range of art and cultural programs for the city within the financial 
constraints and program offerings recommended by the art and culture board and 
authorized by the city council.  

(8)  To maintain for the city visitors and tourism board and for the art and culture board:  

a.  Full and complete records of all proceedings.  

b.  Full and complete records of all receipts and disbursements in conjunction with 
the financial services division.  

c.  Full and complete records of all donations, devices and bequests received and 
disbursed, or placed in special accounts in conjunction with the financial services 
division.  

79



8 
 

d.  An inventory of all pictures, paintings, statues, relics, books, papers, journals, 
supplies, equipment, and other property held by the division in the city's name in 
conjunction with the financial services division.  

(Code 2017, § 2-583; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

 Sec. 2-718.   Acting manager. 

Whenever the visitors and tourism/cultural programs division manager is out of the city or is 
unable to act on account of sickness or for any other reason, including those periods of time 
when the director of community development has not appointed a visitors and tourism/cultural 
programs division manager, the visitors and tourism/cultural programs division manager, or the 
director of community development shall appoint a designee who shall have and exercise all the 
powers and duties of the visitors and tourism/cultural programs division manager.  

(Code 2017, § 2-584; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

DIVISION 4.   INSPECTION SERVICES DIVISION 

Sec. 2-742.   Created. 

The inspection services division of the department of community development for the city is hereby 
created.  

(Code 2017, § 2-501; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-743.   Duties. 

It shall be the duty of the inspection services division of the department of community development 
to provide for the inspection of all construction for its compliance with state, federal and local regulations.  

(Code 2017, § 2-502; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-744.   Building official. 

(a)  Appointment. A building official shall be appointed by the director of community development and 
shall be directly responsible to the director of community development. Such appointment shall be in 
accordance with all statutory civil service procedures.  

(b)  Duties. The building official shall supervise, direct and manage the inspection services division. The 
building official's duties shall be as follows:  

(1)  Promulgating orders, rules and regulations for the conduct and guidance of the members of the 
inspection services division within the parameters of departmental policy.  

(2)  Making an annual report of the activities of the division for each year, the report to be filed with 
the community development director.  

(3)  Assigning the personnel of the inspection services division as deemed necessary to carry out 
the functions of the inspection services division, and prescribing rules and regulations for the 
conduct and management of the division consistent with the department's policies.  

80



9 
 

(4)  Supervising and having jurisdiction over the conduct of the plumbing inspector, electrical 
inspector, building inspector and mechanical inspector of the city.  

(5)  Enforcing the International Residential Code, the International Building Code, Uniform 
Plumbing Code, National Electrical Code, and Uniform Mechanical Code in the form adopted by 
the city council as they relate to construction activity within the city.  

(6)  Coordinating enforcement activities with the department of public safety for all construction 
affected by the housing code, life safety code and minimum housing quality standards.  

(7)  Supervising the city’s code enforcement program.  

(8)  Supervising the design and construction of all city buildings and other structures. 

(9)     Managing and supervising the city’s stormwater management program in conjunction with the 
city engineer.  

(Code 2017, § 2-503; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-745.   Acting building official. 

Whenever the building official is out of the city, or unable to act on account of sickness or for any 
other reason, including those periods of time when the city council has not appointed a building official, 
the building official or director of community development shall appoint a designee who shall have and 
exercise all the powers and duties of the building official.  

(Code 2017, § 2-504; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

DIVISION 5.   RECREATION AND COMMUNITY PROGRAMS DIVISION 

Sec. 2-778.   Created. 

The recreation and community programs division of the department of community 
development for the city is hereby created.  

(Code 2017, § 2-601; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-779.   Powers and duties. 

(a)  It shall be the duty of the recreation and community programs division of the department of 
community development to provide active and passive leisure services for the citizens of 
the city.  

(b)  The division shall have the power to operate the city's recreation centers, swimming pools, 
recreational facilities and golf courses, and their associated programs.  

(Code 2017, § 2-602; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-780.   Manager. 

(a)  Appointment. A recreation and community programs division manager shall be appointed 
by the director of community development and shall be directly responsible to the director of 

81



10 
 

community development. Such appointment shall be in accordance with all statutory civil 
service procedures.  

(b)  Powers and duties. The recreation and community programs division manager shall 
supervise, direct and manage the recreation and community programs division, which is 
composed of the aquatic, golf, and recreation sections. The manager's powers and duties 
shall be as follows:  

(1)  To promulgate orders, rules and regulations for the conduct and guidance of the 
members of the recreation and community programs division within the parameters of 
departmental policy.  

(2)  To make an annual report of the activities of the division for each year, to be filed with 
the community development director.  

(3)  To assign the personnel of the recreation and community programs division as 
deemed necessary to carry out the functions of the recreation and community 
programs division, and to prescribe rules and regulations for the conduct and 
management of the division consistent with the department's policies.  

(4)  To oversee the contract with the golf pro in conjunction with the operations and 
maintenance manager.  

(5)  To provide a full range of active and passive recreational programs, available to all 
age groups, which provides social, educational and competitive enrichment to the 
participants.  

(6)  To maintain and operate the city's recreational center and public swimming pools.  

(7)  To provide a full range of aquatic programs, available to all age groups, which are 
coordinated with the public school system and private clubs to provide social, 
educational and competitive enrichment to all participants.  

(8)  To perform or cause to be performed any other duties as directed by the director of 
community development.  

(9)  To supervise the work and performance of all private concessionaires or private 
recreation service contractors authorized by the city council to have operation rights to 
city recreational facilities.  

(Code 2017, § 2-603; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-781.   Acting manager. 

Whenever the recreation and community programs division manager is out of the city, or 
unable to act on account of sickness or for any other reason, including those periods of time 
when the community development director has not appointed a recreation and community 
programs division manager, the recreation and community programs division manager or the 
community development director shall appoint a designee who shall have and exercise all the 
powers and duties of the recreation and community programs division manager.  

(Code 2017, § 2-604; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014) 

 

82



11 
 

       Section 2.  Article VII, Department of Municipal Operations and Programs, of Chapter 2, 

Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in 

its entirety, and a new Article VII, Department of Public Works, of Chapter 2, Administration, of 

the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:   

ARTICLE VII.  DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

Division 1.  Generally 

Sec. 2-808.   Created. 

There is hereby established in the city the department of public works. The administration of 
the department shall be integrated into and made a part of the regular city administration, and 
shall be coordinated with all other departments.  

(Code 2017, § 2-541; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-809.   Duties. 

It shall be the duty of the public works department to provide, operate and maintain:  

(1)  Public streets, bridges, parking lots, sidewalks and rights-of-way, exclusive of class I 
medians and sidewalks, including those maintained by private property owners in 
accordance with city ordinance.  

(2)  Collection and disposal of residentially generated refuse, commercial refuse collection 
and disposal specifically contracted by a commercial establishment and the city, and 
the operation of the city's refuse transfer station.  

(3)  City motor pool operations for all departments, including maintenance, purchase or 
lease of all motorized licensed vehicles and special equipment not specifically 
assigned to a department.  

(4)  All public buildings under city ownership except those controlled by Sartori Hospital or 
the city utilities.  

(5)  Traffic signs, signals and pavement markings.  

(6)  Other public structures, programs or facilities specifically assigned by the mayor or 
city council.  

       (7)   Professional civil engineering services encompassing supervision of engineering 
consultants; establishment of street grades and benchmarks; maintenance of field 
notes for all improvements installed; design of public improvements including the 
preparation of costs, plans and specifications; inspection of all public improvements 
constructed; and maintenance of official city maps, profiles, papers, books and 
surveys.        

       (8)  Public grounds maintenance in city parks, city golf courses, riverfront land, street 
medians and any other public lands assigned by the mayor and city council.  

(9)  All trees and shrubs in public places, and enforce all city regulations related to 
vegetation control within the city.  

(10)  Cemeteries, including interments and the keeping of all pertinent records.  

83



12 
 

(11)   Water reclamation. 

(12)   Operation and maintenance of public sanitary sewage collection and disposal 
facilities, including lift stations, force mains, treatment plants, sewer lines, manholes, 
detention basins and public septic tanks. 

 (Code 2017, § 2-542; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-810.   Director of public works—Generally. 

(a)  Appointment. The director of public works shall be recommended for appointment by the 
city administrator. The city administrator shall recommend this appointment to the mayor for 
city council approval.  

(b)  Powers and duties.  

(1)  The director of public works shall supervise, direct and manage the conduct of the 
following divisions and sections:  

a.   Operations and maintenance. 

b.   Engineering services. 

c.   Water reclamation.  

  

(2)  The director is empowered to exert supervisory and management control over each 
division and is empowered to appoint a city engineer, operations and maintenance 
manager, and a water reclamation manager. The managers are individually charged by 
the director to carry out all of the statutory duties mandated by federal, state and local 
regulations affecting their respective divisions. The director is responsible for the 
establishment of broad policies related to departmental employee conduct, procedures, 
operations and the formation of programs which maintain and operate public facilities 
and structures assigned to the department. The director may peremptorily suspend, 
demote or discharge any subordinate under his or her direction for any lawful reason.  

(3)  The director shall be responsible for the preparation and administration of the 
departmental work program and budgets to ensure that all statutory and subsidiary 
programs are implemented by the division responsible. All purchases initiated by any 
division for any operation or program shall be approved by the director prior to 
submission to the city council for payment.  

(4)  The director shall perform all other duties assigned by the city administrator, mayor 
and city council and shall be under the direct administrative supervision of the city 
administrator.  

(Code 2017, § 2-543; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 2-811.   Director of public works—Duties relative to boards and commissions. 

The director or designee shall meet regularly with and furnish such assistance and 
information to the following commissions, boards, committees and other organizations when 
necessary:  

(1)  Parks and recreation commission.  

84



13 
 

(2)  County solid waste management commission.  

(3)  Big Woods Lake Park and campground boards.  

(4)  Joint governance committee for the UNI demonstration area. 

(5)     Any applicable federal and state agencies.  

(Code 2017, § 2-544; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 2-812.   Acting director of public works. 

Whenever the director of public works is out of the city, or is unable to act for any reason, 
including those periods of time when the city administrator has not appointed a director of public 
works, the director of public works or city administrator shall designate an acting director. The 
acting director shall have and exercise all the powers and duties of the director.  

(Code 2017, § 2-545; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-813.   Authority of council. 

All final authority over the administration and policy of the department of public shall be 
retained and exercised by the city council.  

(Code 2017, § 2-546; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

DIVISION 2.   OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE DIVISION 

Sec. 2-835.   Created. 

The operations and maintenance division of the department of public works for the city is 
hereby created.  

(Code 2017, § 2-566; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-836.   Duties. 

It shall be the duty of the operations and maintenance division of the department of public 
works to construct, maintain and repair all streets, storm sewers and sanitary sewers; provide 
for refuse collection and disposal; maintain public buildings, maintain municipal vehicles and 
equipment, and provide public grounds maintenance in city parks, city golf courses, public 
riverfront land, class I street medians and rights-of-way and city-owned cemeteries, and public 
arboriculture.  

(Code 2017, § 2-567; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

85



14 
 

Sec. 2-837.   Manager of operations and maintenance. 

(a)  Appointment. The manager of operations and maintenance shall be appointed by and 
shall be directly responsible to the director of public works. Such appointment shall be in 
accordance with all statutory civil service procedures.  

(b)  Duties. The manager of operations and maintenance shall supervise, direct and manage 
the operations and maintenance division, composed of the refuse, street, traffic operations, 
public buildings, vehicle maintenance, parks, cemetery, and golf course maintenance 
sections. The manager's duties shall be as follows:  

(1)  Providing for the repair of all streets, sidewalks, bridges and parking lots to ensure 
that they are kept in a reasonably safe condition.  

(2)  Inspecting all sewers in operation in the city at frequent and regular intervals in a 
systematic manner to ensure that all parts of the system and its appurtenances are 
kept in working order. In case of any defect in the operation of any sewer due to 
stoppage or break, repairs shall be made without delay.  

(3)  Providing for the safe and sanitary collection and disposal of all residentially 
generated refuse and for the disposal of all refuse generated by private individuals or 
commercial enterprises who contract with the city for disposal.  

(4)  Maintaining all designated city vehicles and equipment through a central vehicle and 
equipment pool.  

(5)  Providing for snow removal, ice control and leaf collection on public streets.  

(6)  Operating and maintaining all public traffic signals.  

(7)  Providing and maintaining, in conformance with city ordinances and chapter 23, all 
traffic signs and pavement markings.  

(8)  Maintaining all public buildings assigned to the division, including janitorial activity.  

(9)  Designing all city parks and public landscaping in association with the needs of the 
director of public works and other public entities.  

(10)  Coordinating the city pesticide application program in conformance with state and 
federal regulations.  

(11)  Supervising the maintenance, compilation and preservation of accurate cemetery 
interment and lot sales records through supervision of the cemetery section.  

(12)  Coordinating the care and maintenance of all city arboricultural needs in 
conformance to city ordinance by serving as the city arborist, delegating specific duties 
to the arborist section.  

(13)  Managing all public grounds, including parks, cemeteries, golf courses, class I street 
rights-of-way and medians, public driveways, storm sewers, catchbasins, dams, flood 
control properties, and stormwater detention basins, riverfront lands and other property 
assigned by the mayor and city council.  

(14)  Promulgating orders, rules and regulations for the conduct and guidance of the 
members of the operations and maintenance division within the parameters of 
departmental policy.  

(15)  Making an annual report of the activities of the division to the public works director.  

86



15 
 

(16)  Assigning the personnel of the operations and maintenance division as deemed 
necessary to carry out the functions of the  division, and prescribing rules and 
regulations for the conduct and management of the division consistent with the 
department's policies.  

(17)  Performing or causing to be performed any other duties as directed by the director of 
public works.  

(c)  Powers. The manager of operations and maintenance shall have power to appoint, if 
necessary, supervisors for the following sections: streets, traffic , refuse, cemetery, parks, 
golf, and buildings.  

(Code 2017, § 2-568; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-838.   Acting manager of operations and maintenance. 

Whenever the operations and maintenance division manager is out of the city, or is unable 
to act on account of sickness or for any other reason, including those periods of time when the 
public works director has not appointed an operations and maintenance manager, the manager 
of operations and maintenance or the public works director shall appoint an acting manager who 
shall have and exercise all the powers and duties of the manager of operations and 
maintenance.  

(Code 2017, § 2-569; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-839.   Authority to impose restrictions on vehicle weight or temporarily close 

streets. 

(a)  Whenever any street within the city, by reason of deterioration, rain, snow or other climatic 
conditions, may be seriously damaged or destroyed unless the use of vehicles thereon is 
prohibited or the permissible weights thereof reduced, the operations and maintenance 
manager shall, without direction from the council, for a period not to exceed 90 days, 
prohibit the operation of vehicles or impose restrictions as to the weight of vehicles to be 
operated on any such street, and shall erect or cause to be erected and maintain signs 
giving notice of such restrictions at each end or portion of the street affected.  

(b)  Whenever signs are erected giving notice of such closures, no person shall disobey the 
restriction stated on such signs.  

(Code 2017, § 2-570; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-840.   Report of cost of improvements when cost charged to abutting property. 

In case any improvement is ordered by the council, and the cost thereof is to be charged to 
the abutting property, the operations and maintenance manager shall make an itemized report 
of the cost of such improvement to the council within ten days after completion of the 
improvements.  

(Code 2017, § 2-571; Ord. No. 2825, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

87



16 
 

DIVISION 3.   ENGINEERING SERVICES DIVISION 

Sec. 2-863.   Created. 

The engineering services division of the department of public works for the city is hereby 
created.  

(Code 2017, § 2-481; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-864.   Powers and duties. 

(a)  It shall be the duty of the engineering services division of the department of public works 
to provide a full range of professional engineering services for all city departments and 
public projects.  

(b)  The division shall have the power to design, inspect, survey and map all city 
infrastructures.  

(Code 2017, § 2-482; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-865.   City engineer. 

(a)  Appointment. A city engineer shall be appointed by the public works director and shall be 
directly responsible to the director of public works. Such appointment shall be in 
accordance with all statutory civil service procedures.  

(b)  Qualifications. The person appointed to the office of city engineer shall be a professional 
civil engineer licensed by the state and fully qualified to practice within the state. One 
hundred and eighty days shall be provided from the date of appointment to qualify as 
provided by law.  

(c)  Duties. The city engineer shall supervise, direct and manage the engineering services 
division. The city engineer's duties shall be as follows:  

(1)  Promulgating orders, rules and regulations for the conduct and guidance of the 
members of the engineering services division within the parameters of departmental 
policy.  

(2)  Making an annual report of the activities of the division to the public works director.  

(3)  Assigning the personnel of the engineering services division as deemed necessary to 
carry out the functions of the engineering services division, and prescribing rules and 
regulations for the conduct and management of the division consistent with the 
department's policies.  

(4)  Performing or causing to be performed any other duties as directed by the director of 
public works.  

(5)  Being in full charge of all public improvements ordered by the city council and 
preparing estimates of costs, plans and specifications and presenting such information 
to the council for approval, and supervising the construction of such improvements in 
accordance with the plans and specifications and, upon completion, preparing a final 

88



17 
 

report for the council giving in detail the itemized final costs and other pertinent facts of 
such improvements.  

(6)  Making all necessary surveys of streets, alleys, avenues and public squares, and 
other surveys when required by the council, showing the lines, dimensions, names of 
streets, lots and blocks and other pertinent facts.  

(7)  Taking the necessary levels and measurements of all streets, alleys or avenues 
where the measurements have not already been done, for the purpose of establishing 
street grades, and preparing the necessary profiles and drawings showing the existing 
surface and the grades proposed and submitting the proposed grades to the council for 
approval and proper establishment of the grades by ordinance.  

(8)  Creating a system so that notes of all surveys, levels, grades and other field work are 
kept in field notebooks. The notebooks shall be numbered in regular order and the 
notes entered in them in a manner which ensures that the work can be readily made 
out, and which shows in which part of the city the work has been done, giving the name 
of the street, number of the lot and block and exact location of lines or grades or 
whatever else pertains to the field work, that they may be clearly located on the 
ground. All calculations relating to the notes and surveys shall appear on the pages of 
the field books.  

(9)  Requiring that benchmarks are to be placed upon some solid and secure point readily 
reached from the adjoining streets which identify the levels and grades. These 
reference marks shall preserve the survey of the streets, blocks and lots, in a clear 
description made in field books.  

(10)  Assist with maintaining official city maps and keeping the maps in a correct and up-
to-date fashion showing new additions, streets, alleys, avenues, public squares, public 
buildings, bridges, streams and other pertinent objects.  

(11)  Preserving in the office all field notes, maps, plans, profiles, papers, books, writings, 
and records, and arranging and indexing the records in a manner which allows ready 
reference. All field books kept by the engineer and all necessary blanks for records, 
maps and plans used by the city engineer in the discharge of the official duties shall be 
furnished at the expense of the city, and such books, records and files shall be the 
exclusive property of the city, and at the expiration of the term of office or the 
resignation or removal of the city engineer he shall turn over the books, records and 
files to his successor, or to some person duly authorized to receive the books, records 
and files for the city.  

(11)  Carefully entering all construction data of all public improvements into the permanent 
office records. Such records shall include the location of extensions of sewer lines, 
streets and other public improvements.  

(12)  Reviewing all proposed subdivisions submitted for approval to the city planning and 
zoning commission and the council and examining such subdivisions carefully as to 
their compliance with good engineering practices and to the subdivision regulations, 
and informing the commission and the council in writing as to the findings and 
compliance with the subdivision regulations.  

(13)  Coordinating the design, inspection and construction of all road and street projects 
with the state, federal and local government authorities and the respective professional 
design and inspection consultants and contractors.  

89



18 
 

(14)  Managing and supervising the city's stormwater management program in 
conjunction with inspection services.  

(15)  Supervising the design and construction of all city infrastructure, including 
wastewater treatment facilities, force mains, levees, and lift stations.  

(Code 2017, § 2-483; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 2-866.   Acting city engineer. 

Whenever the city engineer is out of the city, or unable to act on account of sickness or for 
any other reason, including those periods of time when the public works director has not 
appointed a city engineer, the city engineer or director of public works shall appoint a designee 
who is qualified to exercise all the powers and duties of the city engineer.  

(Code 2017, § 2-484; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

DIVISION 4.   WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION 

Sec. 2-874.   Created. 

The water reclamation division of the department of public works for the city is hereby created.  

(Code 2017, § 2-521; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-875.   Duties. 

It shall be the duty of the water reclamation division of the department of public works to provide for 
the safe and sanitary treatment and disposal of sewage collected by public facilities.  

(Code 2017, § 2-522; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-876.   Water reclamation manager. 

(a)  Appointment. A manager of water reclamation shall be appointed by and shall be directly 
responsible to the director of public works. Such appointment shall be in accordance with all 
statutory civil service procedures. The manager will also serve as the superintendent of water 
reclamation.  

(b)  Duties. The manager of water reclamation shall supervise, direct and manage the water reclamation 
division. The manager's duties shall be as follows:  

(1)  Promulgating orders, rules and regulations for the conduct and guidance of the members of the 
water reclamation division within the parameters of departmental policy.  

(2)  Making an annual report of the activities of the division to the public works director.  

(3)  Assigning the personnel of the water reclamation division as deemed necessary to carry out 
the functions of the water reclamation division, and prescribing rules and regulations for the 
conduct and management of the division consistent with the department's policies.  

(4)  Operating and maintaining all public sewage treatment and pumping facilities, including septic 
tanks, lift stations, detention basins and the main plant, in conformance with state discharge 
permits and federal regulations.  

90



19 
 

(5)  Performing or causing to be performed any other duties as directed by the director of public 
works.  

(Code 2017, § 2-523; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 2-877.   Acting manager of water reclamation. 

Whenever the water reclamation manager is out of the city, or is unable to act on account of 
sickness or for any other reason, including those periods of time when the public works director has not 
appointed a water reclamation manager, the manager of water reclamation or the public works director 
shall appoint an acting manager who shall have and exercise all the powers and duties of the manager of 
water reclamation.  

(Code 2017, § 2-524; Ord. No. 2825, § 2, 6-23-2014) 

 

INTRODUCED:     May 6, 2019   

PASSED 1
ST

 CONSIDERATION:   May 6, 2019   

PASSED 2
ND

 CONSIDERATION:   May 20, 2019   

PASSED 3
RD

 CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

____________________________ 

       James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

91



1 
 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2941 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING THE FOLLOWING SECTIONS OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENANCTING IN LIEU 

THEREOF, NEW SECTIONS WITH THE SAME NUMERICAL DESIGNATION AS THOSE 

REPEALED:  (1).  SECTION 2-218, POWER AND DUTIES, OF DIVISION 3, RULES OF 

PROCEDURE, OF ARTICLE II, CITY COUNCIL, OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION; (2).  

SECTION 7-307, FILING OF CONSENTS TO ROUTE, SECTION 7-311, ISSUANCE, AND 

SECTION 7-312, DENIAL, OF DIVISION 3, PERMIT, ALL CONTAINED IN CHAPTER 7, 

BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS; (3).  SECTION 10-1, DEFINITIONS, 

SECTION 10-3, CONTAINERS; PLACEMENT FOR COLLECTION; PLACEMENT, 

SECTION 10-5, SERVICE CHARGES-ESTABLISHED, SECTION 10-8, UNSANITARY 

ACCUMULATIONS, UNSIGHTLY TRASH, REFUSE, YARD WASTE, OIL OR GREASE 

RECYCLING CONTAINERS OR DUMPSTERS, AND SECTION 10-13, PRIVATELY 

OWNED OR LEASED TRASH DUMPSTERS OR RECEPTACLES IN CITY PARKING 

LOTS, OF ARTICLE I, IN GENERAL, ALL CONTAINED IN CHAPTER 10, GARBAGE AND 

REFUSE; (4).  SECTION 15-83, GENERAL NOISES PROHIBITED, OF ARTICLE III, 

NOISE, OF CHAPTER 15, NUISANCES; (5).  SECTION 17-76, DUTIES OF CEMETERY 

SUPERVISOR AND SECTION 17-99, TRAFFIC REGULATIONS, BOTH OF DIVISION 3, 

CEMETERY SECTION, OF ARTICLE II, ARBORIST AND CEMETERY SECTIONS; AND 

SECTION 17-196, PUBLIC FACILITIES ESTABLISHED, MANAGEMENT, SECTION 17-

197, PERMITS, SECTION 17-199, MISCELLANEOUS PROHIBITED ACTS, SECTION 17-

200, TRAFFIC REGULATIONS, SECTION 17-201, CAMPING, SECTION 17-202, 

HUNTING, TRAPPING AND FISHING, SECTION 17-203, ADVERTISING, SECTION 17-

204, CONCESSIONS, SECTION 17-205, USE OF PUBLIC ADDRESS SYSTEMS AND 

AMPLIFYING DEVICES, SECTION 17-206, DISSEMINATION OF MATERIALS OR 

INFORMATION TO THE PUBLIC, SECTION 17-207, RESERVATION OF PARK AREAS 

AND FACILITIES, AND SECTION 17-208, POSSESSION OF BEER OR OTHER 

INTOXICATING LIQUOR, SECTION 17-209, AUTHORIZED OFF-LEASH DOG EXERCISE 

FACILITY AND SECTION 17-210, SPECIAL EVENTS IN GATEWAY PARK SPACE, OF 

ARTICLE V, PARK REGULATIONS; AND SECTION 17-246, NOXIOUS WEEDS 

PROHIBITED; EXCEPTIONS, AND SECTION 17-247, FAILURE TO DESTROY NOXIOUS 

WEEDS; RIGHT TO HEARING; DESTRUCTION BY CITY, OF ARTICLE VI, TREES AND 

SHRUBS; AND SECTION 17-275, RECREATIONAL TRAILS, OF ARTICLE VII, 

ARTIFICIAL LAKES AND RECREATIONAL TRAILS, ALL CONTAINED IN CHAPTER 17, 

92



2 
 

PARKS AND RECREATION; (6).  SECTION 19-73, STORAGE OF BUILDING 

MATERIALS, AND SECTIONS 19-74, CERTAIN COMMERCIAL USE OF PUBLIC 

SIDEWALKS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, AND SECTION 19-94, USE OF PUBLIC 

SIDEWALKS FOR SIDEWALK CAFES AND SECTION 19-97, REVIEW OF 

APPLICATION, OF DIVISION 2, SIDEWALK CAFES, OF ARTICLE III, OBSTRUCTIONS; 

AND SECTION 19-185, REMOVAL OF SNOW AND ICE, OF ARTICLE V, SIDEWALK 

CONSTRUCTION AND REPAIR, ALL CONTAINED IN CHAPTER 19, STREETS AND 

SIDEWALKS; (7).  SECTION 23-71, DUTY TO ERECT AND MAINTAIN SIGNS, SECTION 

23-72, AUTHORITY TO PLACE TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES, SECTION 23-73, 

PLACEMENT OF ONE-WAY STREET SIGNS, SECTION 23-74, MARKING OF TRAFFIC 

LANES, SECTION 23-75, MARKING OF TURN LANES, SECTION 23-76, PLACEMENT 

OF STOP SIGNS AT INTERSECTIONS, SECTION 23-77, ESTABLISHMENT OF 

CROSSWALKS AND SAFETY ZONES, SECTION 23-78, PLACEMENT OF STOP SIGNS 

AT SCHOOL ZONES, SECTION 23-79, ERECTION OF AUTOMATIC STOP SIGNALS AT 

SCHOOL ZONES, SECTION 23-80, PAINTING OF CURBS OR ERECTION OF SIGNS 

PROHIBITING PARKING OR STANDING, SECTION 23-81, REGULATION OF PARKING 

ADJACENT TO SCHOOLS, SECTION 23-82, ESTABLISHMENT OF TEMPORARY NO 

PARKING ZONES AND ONE-WAY STREETS, SECTION 23-83, MARKING OF PARKING 

SPACES, OF DIVISION 2, DEPARTMENT OF MUNICIPAL OPERATIONS AND 

PROGRAMS TRAFFIC STANDARDS, OF ARTICLE II, ADMINISTRATION AND 

OBEDIENCE; AND SECTION 23-388, PROHIBITED PARKING DURING SNOW 

REMOVAL, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND 

PARKING, ALL CONTAINED IN CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES; (8).  

SECTION 24-6, RELOCATION OF UTILITY FACILITIES UNDERGROUND, OF ARTICLE 

I, IN GENERAL, OF CHAPTER 24 UTILITIES; (9).  CONFORMING TITLES TO 

SUBSECTIONS, SECTIONS, DIVISIONS, AND ARTICLES ACCORDINGLY.            

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 1.  Section 2-218, Power and Duties, of Division 3, Rules of Procedure, of Article II, 

City Council, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety, and new Section 2-218 is enacted in lieu thereof, as 

follows: 

Sec. 2-218.   Power and duties. 

The city administrator shall be the chief administrative officer (CAO) of the city, responsible to the 
mayor and city council for the management of all city affairs placed in the administrator's charge by city 
ordinance. The city administrator shall:  

(1)  Direct and supervise the administration of all departments, offices and agencies of the city, 
except as otherwise provided by this Code or by law;  

(2)  Appoint and suspend or remove all city employees and appointive administrative officers 
provided for by or under this Code, except as otherwise provided by law, this Code or personnel 
policies adopted by the city council. The city administrator may authorize any administrative 
officer subject to the administrator's direction and supervision to exercise these powers with 
respect to subordinates in that officer's department, office or agency;  

93



3 
 

(3)  Attend all city council meetings. The city administrator shall have the right to take part in 
discussion but shall not vote;  

(4)  See that all laws, provisions of this Code, resolutions, ordinances and acts of the city council, 
subject to enforcement by the city administrator or by officers subject to the administrator's 
direction and supervision, are faithfully executed;  

(5)  Recommend to the mayor and council such measures as the administrator may deem 
necessary for good efficient government and the general welfare of the city;  

(6)  Have general supervision and direction of the administration of the following departments, 
offices, classifications, and services and be directly responsible to the mayor and council for the 
proper function of same:  

a.  Department of finance and business operations;  

b.  Department of public works;  

c.  Department of community development;  

d.  Department of public safety services;  

e.  Budget and capital improvements preparation and operation;  

f.  Purchasing, contracts and agreements as approved by council;  

g.  Administrative policies and procedures;  

h.  Personnel policies and procedures;  

i.  Labor agreements;  

j.  City legal representation and the prosecution of all code violations;  

k.  Risk management policies, procedures and claims resolution;  

l.  Economic development policies and procedures 

m.   All others as directed by council;  

(7)  Supervise the performance of all contracts for work and services to be done for the city except 
as specified otherwise in said construction or service program involved;  

(8)  Maintain an accounting of all obligations, agreements, commitments, and contractual 
franchises involving the city and report to the mayor and council any deviations from the exact 
terms as specified;  

(9)  Be authorized to direct the purchasing of all commodities, materials, supplies, capital outlay, 
and services for all departments of the city that have been budgeted and appropriated by a 
resolution of the council and enforce a program to determine that such purchases are received 
and are of the quality and character called for in the order;  

(10)  Require the taking of bids on all matters deemed advisable as required by law, or as directed 
by the council;  

(11)  Have the power to hire, suspend, or discharge any employee over which the manager has, by 
this article, authority to appoint or employ, subject to civil service provisions and Iowa Code ch. 
20 and city council concurrence where necessary;  

(12)  Have the authority to employ any person for emergency purposes as deemed necessary for 
the welfare of the city, but in no case shall said employment be extended after the first council 
meeting following the date of employment, unless otherwise approved by vote of the council;  

(13)  Supervise and manage all buildings, structures, and land under the jurisdiction of the council 
and shall also be charged with the care and preservation of all city-owned equipment, tools, 
machinery, appliances, supplies, and commodities under the control of employees or 
departments over which the city administrator has, by this division, specific authority;  

94



4 
 

(14)  Have the power to appoint, employ, transfer, promote, reclassify, recommend a rate of pay, 
discipline, or discharge all persons to city service, subject to civil service provisions and Iowa 
Code ch. 20 unless such power specifically assigned by law to another appointing authority;  

(15)  Review and comment on personnel actions made by the police and fire chiefs to the mayor 
and city council;  

(16)  Develop, administer, and enforce personnel rules and regulations for employees under the 
authority delegated to the office of city administrator;  

(17)  At all times, be responsible for the maintenance of accurate and current records of all affairs 
of the departments under the administrator's jurisdiction, and in a form acceptable by the 
council. Copies of such reports shall be available for public inspection;  

(18)  Assist the council committees in the execution of their reviews, investigations, reports and 
assignments, and perform in compliance with their directives; provided, same is not in conflict 
with established procedure governed by this division or not in conflict with existing city 
ordinances;  

(19)  Perform duties and have direct authority on all matters delegated by council action;  

(20)  Prepare and submit the annual budget and capital improvements program to the mayor for 
review based upon approved city council goals; implement the final budget as approved by city 
council;  

(21)  Submit to the city council and make available to the public a complete report on the finances 
and administrative activities of the city as of the end of each fiscal year;  

(22)  Make such other reports as the city council may require concerning operations;  

(23)  Keep the city council fully advised as to the financial condition and future needs of the city;  

(24)  Make recommendations to the city council concerning the affairs of the city and facilitate the 
work of the city council in developing policy;  

(25)  Provide staff support services for the mayor and councilmembers;  

(26)  Assist the council to develop long-term goals for the city and strategies to implement these 
goals;  

(27)  Encourage and provide staff support for regional and intergovernmental cooperation;  

(28)  Implement partnerships endorsed by the mayor and council that develop good public policy 
and the building of a sense of community;  

(29)  Perform such other duties as are specified in this Code, state statute or may be required by 
the city council; and  

(30)  Cooperate with, and give assistance requested by, the Sartori Memorial Hospital, Inc., board 
of directors, the board of trustees of the city public library, the city utilities board of trustees, or 
any other administrative agency, board, commission or committee of the city.  

(Code 2017, § 2-176; Ord. No. 2824, § 3, 6-23-2014) 

       Section 2.  Section 7-307, Filing of Consents to Route, Section 7-311, Issuance, and Section 

7-312, Denial, of Division 3, Permit, of Article VI, Moving of Buildings, of Chapter 7, Buildings 

and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are 

hereby repealed in their entirety, and new Sections 7-307, 7-311, and 7-312 are enacted in lieu 

thereof, as follows: 

95



5 
 

Sec. 7-307.   Filing of consents to route. 

With the application for a permit to move a building, there shall be filed the consents to the routing by 
the telephone company, the city utilities, the fire operations division, the police operations division and the 
public works department, and, where the route crosses railroad property, consent must be obtained from 
the railroad involved.  

(Code 2017, § 7-473)  

Sec. 7-311.   Issuance. 

Upon the filing of the application for a permit to move a building, payment of the fee therefor and 
filing of bond, and upon approval of the proposed move by the city arborist, chief of police and the director 
of public works, the permit sought shall be issued by the building official.  

(Code 2017, § 7-477)  

Sec. 7-312.   Denial. 

(a)  When, in the judgment of the police operations division, the city arborist or the director of public 
works, the proposed building movement will result in an undue hazard to traffic, or undue damage to 
streets, avenues, boulevards, thoroughfares, highways, curbs, sidewalks, trees or other public or 
private property, or where it is determined by the building official that the relocation of the building is 
not in the best interests of the surrounding property owners due to age of the structure or the 
structure's architecture not being compatible with the existing buildings, the permit sought shall be 
denied, and the reasons therefor endorsed upon the application.  

(b)  The permit to move a building shall also be denied if the structure will not comply with the provisions 
of this Code or other ordinances of the city or the laws of the state relating to electrical and plumbing 
requirements of new structures, unless the owner has obtained a permit to correct the violations, or if 
the power or telephone company refused to consent to the operations, or if the structure will not 
comply with the zoning chapters within the proposed location.  

(Code 2017, § 7-478)  

       Section 3.  Section 10-1, Definitions, Section 10-3, Containers; Placement For Collection; 

Placement, Section 10-5, Service Charges-Established, Section 10-8, Unsanitary 

Accumulations, Unsightly Trash, Refuse, Yard Waste, Oil Or Grease Recycling Containers Or 

Dumpsters, and Subsection 10-13, Privately Owned Or Leased Trash Dumpsters Or 

Receptacles In City Parking Lots, Of Article I, In General, of Chapter 10, Garbage and Refuse, 

of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby repealed in their entirety, 

and new Sections 10-1, 10-3, 10-5, 10-8 and 10-13 are enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 10-1.   Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Business units means each separate establishment for carrying on a gainful occupation.  

Garbage means solid waste consisting of animal, grain, fruit or vegetable matter used or originally 
intended for use as food.  

96



6 
 

Household units mean each dwelling unit as defined in section 11-30.  

One-sided collection area means a group of dwellings, trailers, apartments or business 
establishments that have been designated by the director of public works as beneficial for collection of 
publicly owned garbage and yard waste containers in a single pass.  

Person means each single person or head of each family occupying a separate dwelling unit, or 
each person, firm or corporation operating a separate business unit.  

Premises means the property occupied by a separate household or business unit, whether or not the 
property is separately owned.  

Refuse means all combustible inorganic waste material and rubbish such as papers, sweepings, 
rags, ashes, cinders and similar materials originating from ordinary household or business operations.  

Yard waste means organic debris such as grass clippings, leaves, tree limbs, bark, branches, 
flowers, etc., that is produced as part of commercial or residential yard or garden operation, development 
or maintenance. The term "yard waste" does not include:  

(1)  Tree stumps.  

(2)  Garbage.  

(3)  Floral and decorative products, manufactured or fabricated, or the waste byproducts incidental 
to their manufacture or fabrication, which include organic materials and other nonorganic 
wastes which are not practically separable. This exemption includes, but is not limited to, things 
such as flower arrangements, decorated potted plants, wreaths, bouquets, garlands and small 
bedding flats.  

(Code 2017, § 12-1; Ord. No. 2387, § 1, 6-24-2002; Ord. No. 2896, § 1, 3-6-2017)  

Sec. 10-3.   Containers; placement for collection; penalty for violation. 

(a)  Every owner or occupant of any private dwelling, trailer, apartment or business establishment shall 
have all garbage drained and bagged for deposit and placed in a publicly owned container, unless 
otherwise exempted from use of city collection service by the director of public works pursuant to 
section 10-2(3) and (4). All yard waste shall be placed in special publicly owned yard waste 
containers for automated pickup, except for leaves made available for a special fall leaf pickup on 
such schedule and in such manner as shall be determined by the city.  

(b)  Unless otherwise specified by the director of public works, publicly owned garbage and yard waste 
containers shall be placed in a neat and orderly manner in the front of the premises at or near the 
curb line so as to allow the most convenient collection. All privately owned garbage and refuse 
containers shall likewise be placed in a neat and orderly manner in the front of the premises at or 
near the curb line or at the rear of the premises or near the edge of an alley, as the case may be. No 
publicly or privately owned garbage container, and no publicly owned yard waste container, shall be 
so placed prior to 6:00 p.m. on the day preceding collection and the same must be removed not later 
than 8:00 p.m. on the day of collection or as otherwise directed by the director of public works.  

(c)  In areas designated by the director of public works as one-sided collection areas, all publicly owned 
garbage and yard waste containers shall be placed as provided for in subsection (b) of this section 
except that such containers shall be placed at or near the same curb line on the same side of the 
street or alley as indicated in the designation.  

(d)  The director of public works shall have the authority to designate the proper placement for 
collection, if other than as provided for in subsection (b) of this section, of publicly and privately 
owned garbage containers and publicly owned yard waste containers for every private dwelling, 
trailer, apartment or business establishment, provided that the owner or occupant is given at least 30 
days advance notice prior to the effective date of the designation. 

(Code 2017, § 12-3; Ord. No. 2656, § 1, 5-27-2008; Ord. no. 2896, § 2, 3-6-2017)  

97



7 
 

 

Sec. 10-5.   Service charges—Established. 

(a)  Household units. The expense of garbage and refuse service and automated yard waste service 
shall be a charge against the owner or occupant of every household unit within the city in the amount 
of:  

(1)  $13.00 per month for non-automated garbage truck routes. This base charge allows the 
placement of two garbage units for weekly pickup. A garbage unit may be either a plastic bag or 
a commercial manufactured garbage can with a lid. The maximum size for a garbage unit shall 
not exceed 33 gallons or weigh more than 60 pounds. Each garbage unit in excess of the two 
allowed each week must have a city garbage bag tag attached in order to be picked up.  

(2)  Automated garbage refuse collection fees shall be as follows: $9.00 per month for a city-issued 
32 gallon garbage container, $17.00 per month for a city-issued 68 gallon garbage container or 
$26.50 per month for a city-issued 95 gallon container. One additional garbage unit may be 
placed on top of the automated cart if said unit has a city garbage bag tag attached and meets 
the size limits defined in subsection (a)(1) of this section.  

(3)  Automated yard waste collection fees shall be as follows: $7.00 per container per dump for a 
city-issued 95 gallon yard waste container, increasing to $10.00 per container per dump 
effective on and after July 1, 2013; provided, however, that effective on and after January 1, 
2014, and during such time periods in the spring and fall of each year as shall be determined by 
the director of public works and announced to the public, such charge shall be one-half of the 
regular $10.00 per container per dump fee, that is, $5.00 per container per dump.  

(4)  Effective on and after July 1, 2013, bulk items left at the curb for city pick-up if the city is called 
for pick-up, shall be $5.00 per stop, plus the per-unit charge for appliances, CRT monitors, and 
automobile, truck and tractor tires and rims, as provided in the chart in subsection (g) of this 
section. There shall be no charge for bulk items, other than appliances, brought to the city 
transfer station, except that the per-unit charge for appliances, CRT monitors, and automobile, 
truck and tractor tires and rims, as provided in the chart in subsection (g) of this section, shall 
apply.  

(5)  The owner or occupant of any household unit within the city may request one additional city-
issued, 95-gallon yard waste container for such household unit, at a one-time, non-refundable 
fee of $50.00. Such additional yard waste container shall at all times remain the property of the 
city. No more than a total of two yard waste containers shall be allowed for any household unit 
in the city.  

(b)  Residential units. The expense of garbage and refuse service and automated yard waste service 
shall become a charge against the owner or occupant of every residential unit, at the same rate as is 
provided for household units in subsection (a) of this section, on a per-residential-unit basis or part 
thereof. A residential unit, for purposes of this subsection, shall consist of four people unrelated by 
blood, marriage or adoption.  

(c)  Churches and similar institutions. The expense of garbage and refuse service and automated yard 
waste service shall become a charge against each church or similar institution which uses the 
garbage and refuse service or the automated yard waste service of the city, at the residential unit 
rate as established in section 10-5(a).  

(d)  Penalty for late payment. There shall be assessed a penalty if the bill for garbage and refuse 
service or the automated yard waste service is not paid at the time indicated on the consumer's 
regular monthly utility bill. The penalty shall be in the same amount as authorized for municipal 
utilities under state law.  

(e)  Reduction for low-income households. The owner or occupant of every household unit which meets 
the low-income requirement, as set by the U.S. Government, contained in the Section 8 Housing 

98



8 
 

Assistance Program of the city, may apply annually to the director of public works for, and be 
granted, a 50 percent reduction in the monthly garbage and refuse service charges as established in 
subsection (a)(2) of this section.  

(f)  Collection of garbage and refuse at commercial or apartment buildings through the use of 
dumpsters. The dumping fee for the use of dumpsters used to collect garbage and refuse at 
commercial or apartment buildings shall be in the amount of $35.00 per dump.  

(g)  Garbage and refuse and yard waste service charges.  

Christmas tree tags purchased for disposal of trees for pick-up at curb  $1.25/each  

Appliances brought to the city transfer station  $7.50/each  

Cathode ray tube monitors (computer and television monitors)  $5.00/each  

Automobile tire  $2.50/each  

 
With rim  $5.00/each  

Truck or tractor tire  $6.50/each  

 
With rim  $9.00/each  

Purchase of empty bags for sand at the city transfer station  $0.50/each  

Yard waste containers (other than city-issued containers) brought to the 

city transfer station  
$0.75/each  

Garbage bag tags placed on top of cart at curb  $1.25/each  

Dumping of commercial or apartment dumpsters  $35.00/per dump  

Three yard containers  $35.00/per dump  

Solid waste disposal bags brought to the city transfer station  $0.75/each  

Demolition  $59.15/ton  

Solid waste  $57.50/ton  

Yard waste  $29.50/ton  

Scale charge  $3.00  

Cart delivery; exchanging automated carts (this charge will be 
$20.00  

99



9 
 

implemented if resident continues to change sizes)  

Leaf vacuum service  $50.00  

Asphalt shingles free of contaminants brought to shingle recycling site at 

city transfer station  
$30.00/ton  

Minimum tipping fees at the city transfer station:  

 
Solid waste up to 260 pounds  $7.00/dump  

 
Yard waste up to 400 pounds  $7.00/dump  

Demolition dumping at the city transfer station  $59.15/ton  

Asphalt shingles containing contaminants dumped at shingle recycling 

site at city transfer station  

$59.15/ton plus $10.00/ton 

service charge  

Additional yard waste container (no more than a total of two; non-

refundable fee)  
$50.00  

  

(h)  The placing of or failure to remove garbage or yard waste container within specified time limits. The 
placing of or failure to remove a garbage or yard waste container as required in section 10-3(b) shall 
result in a service charge of $5.00 per occurrence to be assessed to the owner or occupant of any 
private dwelling, trailer, apartment or business establishment, the same to be collected as provided 
in section 10-6.  

(i)  Asphalt shingle recycling. An asphalt shingle recycling site at the city transfer station shall be 
provided in order to accept asphalt shingles for recycling. Asphalt shingles which are free of 
contaminants which include, but are not limited to, wood, metal flashing, shingle wrappers, trash or 
other debris, shall be accepted for recycling at the city transfer station at a favorable tipping fee, as 
set forth in the table contained in subsection (g) of this section. However, asphalt shingles containing 
contaminants which are dumped at the shingle recycling site at the city transfer station shall be 
subject not only to the normal tipping fee for demolition dumping at the city transfer station, but shall 
also be subject to a $10.00 per ton service charge all as set forth in the table contained in subsection 
(g) of this section.  

(Code 2017, § 12-5; Ord. No. 2795, § 1, 6-24-2013; Ord. No. 2821, §§ 1, 2, 6-9-2014; Ord. No. 2840, §§ 
1, 2, 3-16-2015; Ord. No. 2896, § 4, 3-6-2017)  

Sec. 10-8.   Unsanitary accumulations, unsightly trash, refuse, yard waste, oil or grease recycling 

containers or dumpsters. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to permit to accumulate on any premises, improved or vacant, or 
on any public property in the city, such quantities of garbage and refuse, or of yard waste, either in 
containers or not, as shall, in the opinion of the county board of health, constitute a health or sanitation 

100



10 
 

hazard. All trash, refuse, yard waste must be kept entirely within an approved refuse container. It shall be 
unlawful for any person to permit to exist on any private premises, improved or vacant, or on any public 
property in the city, any trash, refuse, yard waste, or oil or grease recycling container, or trash dumpster, 
privately owned or publicly owned, in an unsightly condition, whereupon the director of public works or 
designee may, in his or her discretion, require such person to erect or construct an enclosure to screen 
such unsightly container or dumpster from public view.  

(Code 2017, § 12-8; Ord. No. 2387, § 1, 6-24-2002; Ord. No. 2880, § 1, 9-19-2016; Ord. No. 2896, § 5, 3-
6-2017)  

Sec. 10-13.   Privately owned or leased trash dumpsters or receptacles in city parking lots. 

(a)  Any person who desires to place a privately owned or leased trash dumpster or receptacle upon a 
space in a municipally owned or leased off-street parking lot within the city shall first file an 
application for a permit with the city clerk, and shall pay an annual permit fee therefor, in such 
amount as shall be determined from time to time by resolution of the city council. The application and 
an accompanying diagram or site plan shall be submitted by such person, and shall show the size of 
the trash dumpster or receptacle, and the location of the proposed placement of the trash dumpster 
or receptacle within the municipal parking lot.  

(b)  Issuance of an annual permit for a private trash dumpster or receptacle by the city clerk shall be 
subject to approval of the city director of municipal operations and programs. A permit issued under 
this section shall be issued for a period of one year, and may be renewed by the permit holder upon 
filing of an application for renewal of the permit before its expiration, and by payment of the required 
annual fee. The application for renewal shall state whether or not any of the terms of the original 
application or permit is proposed to be revised, and if so, the particulars of the proposed revisions.  

(c)  The city shall designate certain spaces or areas, within various municipally owned or leased off-
street parking lots within the city, upon which such trash dumpsters or receptacles may be placed. 
Such designation shall include appropriate painting on the parking lot surface and/or appropriate 
signage, delineating the area and use for such space. The city may limit the number and size of such 
spaces or areas within a particular lot or lots in the city, and the number of permits issued under this 
section, and may completely exclude provision for any such spaces or areas within a particular lot or 
lots, in its sole discretion, if deemed necessary to maintain adequate access, to safeguard 
pedestrian and traffic safety, to preserve the aesthetic quality of the municipal parking lot or the 
surrounding area, to preserve space for vehicular parking, or for any other valid public purpose or 
purposes.  

(d)  The director of public works or designee shall order the immediate removal of any trash receptacle 
or dumpster owned or leased by a permit holder, in the event that the permit for such trash dumpster 
or receptacle has expired, or the annual fee has not been paid to the city, or in the event such trash 
dumpster or receptacle is causing a hazard to public safety, health, or welfare, or is causing damage 
to public property, including damage to the surface or curbing of the parking lot or of any publicly-
owned fixtures located thereon, or is in any other manner interfering with proper maintenance of the 
parking lot, including removal of ice and snow from the municipal lot or other adjacent public 
property. If any such trash receptacle or dumpster is in an unsightly condition, the director of public 
works or designee may, in his or her discretion, require the permit holder to erect or construct an 
enclosure to screen such unsightly trash receptacle or dumpster from public view.  

(e)  The city shall have no responsibility regarding the depositing of trash within any privately owned or 
leased trash dumpster or receptacle which is placed on a municipal lot as provided in this section, 
shall have no responsibility for removal of the trash from such dumpster or receptacle (unless the 
permit holder has made arrangements for removal of such trash by the city as provided in this 
article), and shall have no responsibility for determining any arrangements for rental, use, 
maintenance, repair, or replacement of such dumpster or receptacle, all of which shall be the 
responsibility of either the permit holder or the private firm responsible for removal of the trash 
therefrom.  

101



11 
 

(f)  Any person who places, or causes to be placed, a privately owned or leased trash dumpster or 
receptacle in or upon any municipally leased or owned off-street parking lot within the city in any way 
contrary to the provisions of this section shall be deemed to have committed a municipal infraction, 
and shall be subject to a civil penalty as punishable as provided in section 1-9(a).  

(Code 2017, § 12-13; Ord. No. 2770, § 1, 7-9-2012; Ord. No. 2880, § 2, 9-19-2016; Ord. No. 2896, § 6, 3-
6-2017) 

       Section 4.  Section 15-83, General Noises Prohibited, Of Article III, Noise, of Chapter 15, 
Nuisances, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its 
entirety, and new Section 15-83 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 15-83.   General noises prohibited. 

(a)  Standards for determination of violation. It shall be unlawful for any person to permit, make, 
continue or cause any excessive or unusually loud noise or any noise which annoys, disturbs, injures 
or endangers the comfort, repose, health, peace or safety of reasonable people within the limits of 
the city. The standards which shall be considered in determining whether a violation exists shall 
include the following:  

(1)  The sound pressure level of the noise.  

(2)  Whether the origin of the noise is natural or manmade.  

(3)  The sound pressure level of the background noise.  

(4)  The proximity of the noise to residential sleeping facilities.  

(5)  The nature and zoning of the area within which the noise emanates.  

(6)  The time of the day or night the noise occurs.  

(7)  Whether the noise is recurrent, intermittent or constant.  

(b)  Specific acts or conditions prohibited. Each of the following acts, among others, is hereby declared 
to be in violation of this article and is prohibited. The following enumerated acts shall not be 
construed as limiting or precluding enforcement of any other provisions of this article:  

(1)  Unnecessary sounding of horns or signaling devices. The sounding of any horn or signaling 
device on any automobile, motorcycle, bus or other vehicle on any street or public place of the 
city, except as a danger or alerting signal, and the sounding of any such device for an 
unnecessary and unreasonable period of time.  

(2)  Loud operation of radios, phonographs, etc. The using, operating or permitting to be placed, 
used or operated of any radio receiving set, musical instrument, phonograph or other machine 
or device for the producing or reproducing of sound in such manner as to disturb the peace, 
quiet and comfort of reasonable people.  

(3)  Use of loudspeakers or amplifiers for advertising. The using, operating or permitting to be 
played, used or operated of any radio receiving set, musical instrument, phonograph, 
loudspeaker, sound amplifier or other machine or device for producing or reproducing of sound 
which is broadcast upon the public streets for the purpose of commercial advertising or 
attracting the attention of the public to any structure or event.  

(4)  Keeping noisy animals and fowl. The keeping, upon any premises owned, occupied or 
controlled by any person, of any animal or fowl otherwise permitted to be kept which, by any 
sound or cry, shall cause annoyance or discomfort to a reasonable person of normal 
sensibilities.  

102



12 
 

(5)  Operation of defective or improperly loaded vehicle. The use of any automobile, motorcycle or 
vehicle so out of repair or so loaded in such manner as to create loud and unnecessary grating, 
grinding, rattling or other noise.  

(6)  Excessive noise in loading or unloading. The creation of a loud and excessive noise in 
connection with loading or unloading any vehicle or the opening and destruction of bales, 
boxes, crates and containers.  

(7)  Creation of noise near schools, courts, churches or hospitals. The creation of loud and 
excessive noise on any street adjacent to any school, institution of learning, church or court 
while the school, institution, church or court is in use, or adjacent to any hospital, which 
unreasonably interferes with the workings of such institution or which disturbs or unduly annoys 
patients in the hospital.  

(8)  Use of drums or other instruments to attract attention. The use of any drum or other instrument 
or device for the purpose of attracting attention by creation of noise to any performance, show, 
sale or event. This subsection shall not apply to a drum used in an authorized parade in the city.  

(9)  Construction or repair of buildings, structures and streets during certain hours. The erection, 
including excavation, demolition, alteration or repair of any building, structure or street other 
than between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m., Monday through Saturday, except in case 
of urgent necessity in the interest of public health and safety, and then only with a permit from 
the director of community development or the director of public works or their authorized agent, 
which permit may be granted for a period not to exceed three days or less while the emergency 
continues, and which permit may be renewed for periods of three days or less while the 
emergency continues. If the director of community development or the director of public works 
or their authorized agent should determine that the public health and safety will not be impaired 
by the erection, demolition, alteration or repair of any building, or the excavation of streets and 
highways, within the hours of 10:01 p.m. and 6:59 a.m., and if he shall further determine that 
loss or inconvenience would result to any interested party, he may grant permission for such 
work to be done within the hours of 10:01 p.m. and 6:59 a.m., upon application being made at 
the time the permit for the work is awarded or during the progress of the work. This subsection 
will not apply to the performance of necessary emergency work.  

(10)  Operation of pile drivers, hammers, etc., during certain hours. Except as provided in 
subsection (b)(9) of this section, the operation between the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. of 
any piledriver, steamshovel, pneumatic hammer, derrick, power hoist or other construction 
equipment. Such equipment shall at all times be equipped with an effective muffling device.  

(11)  Repairing vehicle during certain hours. The repair or rebuilding of any motor vehicle within 
any residential area of the city between the hours of 9:00 p.m. and 8:00 a.m. in such a manner 
that a reasonable person of normal sensitivities residing in the area is caused discomfort or 
annoyance.  

(12)  Discharge of unmuffled exhaust. The discharge into the open air of the exhaust of any steam 
engine, internal combustion engine, motorboat or motor vehicle, or discharge of air or other 
gases, except through a muffler or other device which will effectively prevent loud or explosive 
noises therefrom.  

(13)  Unlawful use of buildings. No person owning or in possession of or in control of any building 
or premises shall use the building or premises, permit the use of the building or premises or rent 
the building or premises to be used for any business or employment or residential use, or for 
any purpose of pleasure or recreation, if such use shall by the noise generated therefrom 
exceed the noise limitations provided in section 15-85.  

(14)  Unnecessary use of engine brakes. The use of a Jacob brake or any other engine brake 
within the city limits, except as required for safety purposes.  

(15)  Use of stationary machinery producing excessive noise. It shall be unlawful for any person to 
operate any immobile machinery, equipment, pump, fan or similar mechanical device in any 
manner so as to create any noise which would cause the noise level at any portion of the 

103



13 
 

property line of any property to exceed the maximum noise levels in the use zones described in 
section 15-85(a), provided that this subsection shall not apply to temporarily placed equipment, 
which shall be subject to the levels outlined in section 15-81.  

(Code 2017, § 18-74) 

       Section 5.   Section 17-76, Duties of Cemetery Supervisor and Section 17-99, Traffic 
Regulations, of Division 3, Cemetery Section, of Article II, Arborist and Cemetery; and Section 

17-196, Public Facilities Established, Management, Section 17-197, Permits, Section 17-199, 

Miscellaneous Prohibited Acts, Section 17-200, Traffic Regulations, Section 17-201, Camping, 
Section 17-202, Hunting, Trapping and Fishing, Section 17-203, Advertising, Section 17-204, 
Concessions, Section 17-205, Use of Public Address Systems and Amplifying Devices, Section 
17-206, Dissemination of Materials or Information to the Public, Section 17-207, Reservation of 
Park Areas and Facilities, and Section 17-208, Possession of Beer or Other Intoxicating Liquor, 
of Article V, Park Regulations; and Section 17-246, Noxious Weeds Prohibited; Exceptions, and 
Section 17-247, Failure To Destroy Noxious Weeds; Right To Hearing; Destruction By City, of 
Article VI, Trees and Shrubs; and Section 17-275, Recreational Trails, of Article VII, Artificial 
Lakes and Recreational Trails, all contained in Chapter 17, Parks and Recreation, of the Code 
of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby repealed in their entirety, and new 
Sections 17-76, 17-99 17-197, 17-199, 17-200, 17-201, 17-202, 17-203, 17-204, 17-205, 17-
206, 17-207 and 17-208, 17-246, 17-247, and 17-275 are enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:   

Sec. 17-76.   Duties of cemetery supervisor. 

The supervisor of cemeteries shall:  

(1)  See that the rules and regulations concerning all cemeteries owned and operated by the city 
are enforced.  

(2)  Perform such duties as are required by ordinance and as the council and director of public 
works shall direct.  

(3)  See that the rules and regulations concerning all cemeteries are at all times strictly complied 
with and report to the director of public works any infractions of the rules and regulations on the 
part of an owner or any other person.  

(4)  Keep all lots, streets, paths and grounds in the occupied part of the cemeteries mowed during 
the entire growing season.  

(5)  Do all proper acts necessary to maintain the grounds set apart for the burial of the dead in a 
neat, clean and attractive condition at all times.  

(Code 2017, § 20-107; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 17-99.   Traffic regulations. 

No person in a cemetery shall:  

(1)  Operate a vehicle at a rate of speed exceeding ten miles per hour.  

(2)  Operate any vehicle on any area except the established cemetery roads or parking areas or 
such other areas as may be specifically designated by the director of public works or designee.  

(3)  Operate a snowmobile, all-terrain vehicle or similar equipment, unless operated by an 
employee or agent of a public or private agency for the purposes of providing emergency 

104



14 
 

services, rescue or maintenance, and as may be specifically designated by the director of public 
works or designee.  

(4)  Operate a vehicle at night without headlights or other similar lighting equipment.  

(5)  Operate any vehicle in disregard of any traffic sign indicating direction, caution or stopping, or 
any other sign posted for proper control and to safeguard life and property.  

(6)  Park a vehicle in other than established designated parking areas, or as directed by the 
cemetery supervisor or his designee.  

(7)  Leave a vehicle standing or parked during the hours when the cemetery is closed.  

(8)  Park a vehicle, or use a cemetery, for the purpose of repair or washing or maintenance of a 
vehicle.  

(Code 2017, § 20-129A; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 17-196.   Public facilities established; management. 

(a)  Free public playgrounds, parks and recreation and arts centers are hereby established in the city for 
the use of its inhabitants, under the proper rules and regulations for the government and 
management thereof.  

(b)  Such playgrounds and parks shall be managed by the department of public works and such 
recreation and arts centers shall be managed by the department of community development.   

(Code 2017, § 20-211)  

Sec. 17-197.   Permits. 

(a)  Application.  

(1)  Any person seeking the issuance of a permit required by this article shall file an application with 
the director of public works.  

(2)  The application shall state:  

a.    The name and address of the applicant. 

b.    The name and address of the person sponsoring the activity, if any. 

c.    The day and hour for which the permit is desired. 

d.    The park, or portion thereof, for which the permit is desired. 

e.     An estimate of the anticipated attendance. 

f.  Any other information which the director of public works shall find reasonably necessary to 
make a fair determination as to whether a permit should be issued under this section.  

(b)  Standards for issuance. The director of public works shall issue a permit required by this article 
when the director finds:  

(1)  That the proposed activity or use of the park will not unreasonably interfere with or detract from 
the general public enjoyment of the park.  

(2)  That the proposed activity and use will not unreasonably interfere with or detract from the 
promotion of public health, welfare, safety and recreation.  

(3)  That the proposed activity or use is not reasonably anticipated to incite violence, crime or 
disorderly conduct.  

105



15 
 

(4)  That the proposed activity will not entail unusual, extraordinary or burdensome expense to the 
city.  

(5)  That the facilities desired have not been reserved for other use at the day and hour required in 
the application.  

(c)  Revocation. The director of public works or designee shall have authority to revoke a permit 
required by this article upon a finding of violation of any rule or ordinance, or upon good cause 
shown. 

(d)     Compliance with applicable regulations.  A holder of a permit required by this article shall be bound 
by all park rules and regulations and all applicable ordinances as fully as though the rules, 
regulations and ordinances were inserted in such permit. 

(e)     Liability of permit holder. The holder of a permit required by this article shall be liable for any loss, 
damage or injury sustained by any person or the city arising out of or resulting from the negligence of 
the permit holder, his employees, servants or agents, or other persons entitled to the use of the park 
by the holder.  The holder, by acceptance of a permit, assumes full responsibility for and agrees to 
indemnify the city against and save it harmless from any liability arising out of or arising from the 
negligence of the holder, his employees, servants or agents, or other persons entitled to the use of 
the park by the holder. 

(Code 2017, § 20-212)   

Sec. 17-199.   Miscellaneous prohibited acts. 

No person in a park shall:  

(1)  Ride or lead a horse, except on designated bridal paths or established roads.  

(2)  Permit or allow a horse to graze or go unattended, or tie a horse to any rock, tree, shrub or 
fixed object.  

(3)  Swim, except in a specifically authorized area.  

(4)  Use any firearms.  

(5)  Picnic in unauthorized posted areas.  

(6)  Start or maintain a fire in other than a park stove, fireplace, charcoal grill or other designated 
area.  

(7)  Dump any type of refuse on park property, except in the designated receptacles provided for 
such use.  

(8)  Cut, pick or remove in any manner whatsoever any plant or plant material unless such removal 
is authorized by the director of public works or designee.  

(9)  Interfere with anyone using a park in a lawful manner.  

(10)  Land in or take off from a park with an ultralight aircraft, whether or not motorized, or any 
similar device. This subsection does not prevent emergency landings. 

(Code 2017, § 20-214)  

Sec. 17-200.   Traffic regulations. 

No person in a park, golf course or other public lands shall:  

(1)  Operate a vehicle at a rate of speed exceeding 15 miles per hour, or as posted for all other 
roadways.  

106



16 
 

(2)   Operate any vehicle on any area except the established roads or parking areas, or such other 
areas as may be specifically designated by the director of public works or designee. 

(3)  Operate a snowmobile, all-terrain vehicle or similar equipment, unless operated by an 
employee or agent of a public or private agency for the purposes of providing emergency 
services, rescue or maintenance, and as may be specifically designated by the director of public 
works or designee. 

(4)  Operate a vehicle at night without headlights or other similar lighting equipment.  

(5)  Operate any vehicle in disregard of any traffic sign indicating direction, caution or stopping, or 
any other sign posted for proper control and to safeguard life and property.  

(6)  Park a vehicle in other than established designated parking areas.  

(7)  Leave a vehicle standing or parked during the hours when the park, golf course, or public 
facility is closed.  

(8)  Park a vehicle, or use the public area, for the purpose of repair or washing or maintenance of a 
vehicle.  

(Ord. No. 2645, § 1, 1-14-2008)  

Sec. 17-201.   Camping. 

(a)  No person shall set up tents, shacks or other temporary shelters in the parks for the purpose of 
overnight camping.  

(b)  No person shall leave in any park after closing hours any movable structure or special vehicle to be 
used, or which could be used, for such purpose, such as a house trailer, camp trailer, camp wagon 
or the like, unless such person first obtains a permit from the director of public works or designee.  

(Code 2017, § 20-216)  

Sec. 17-202.   Hunting, trapping and fishing. 

No person in a park shall:  

(1)  Hunt or trap unless a special permit has been obtained from the director of public works, or 
unless the area is within a special deer management zone as described in section 16-15(b)(2).  

(2)  Fish in posted waters.  

(Code 2017, § 20-217; Ord. No. 2878, § 2, 9-19-2016)  

Sec. 17-203.   Advertising. 

No advertising of any kind shall be permitted in a park, except that necessary for the operation of a 
concession or advertising sponsored by governmental organizations as a service to the public. All 
advertising must be authorized by the director of public works or designee prior to the erection or 
placement of such advertising in a park.  

(Code 2017, § 20-218)  

107



17 
 

Sec. 17-204.   Concessions. 

(a)   Temporary concessions. Temporary concessions, meaning concessions for any period less than 
the normal seasonal concessions, are permitted in a park only if a permit for the concession has 
been obtained from the director of public works. In obtaining a permit, the permit holder must 
conform to all rules and regulations that the city council may require.  

 (b)  Commercial enterprises. Commercial enterprises are permitted in a park only if a permit for the 
enterprise has first been obtained from the city council. A permit for a commercial enterprise in the 
park shall be awarded to the bidders who submit to the city council the most acceptable bid. The 
permit holder shall be awarded a lease for a term approved by the city council. Upon the expiration 
of the lease, a new bid must be submitted in order to obtain a permit. The permit holder must 
conform to all rules and regulations that the city council may require.  

(Code 2017, § 20-219)  

Sec. 17-205.   Use of public address systems and amplifying devices. 

No person in a park shall use a public address system or any other method of amplifying sound 
unless a permit for such use has been granted by the director of public works or designee.  

(Code 2017, § 20-220)  

Sec. 17-206.   Dissemination of materials or information to public. 

No person shall use a park as a place of public assembly for the dissemination of information or 
material to the public without first obtaining a permit from the director of public works or designee.  

(Code 2017, § 20-221)  

Sec. 17-207.   Reservation of park areas and facilities. 

No person may be granted an exclusive use of park areas or facilities unless a permit for such 
exclusive use is first obtained from the director of public works or designee and unless specifically 
authorized by the city council. Only the following park areas and facilities may be so reserved:  

(1)  A golf course.  

(2)  A clubhouse.  

(3)  A specific picnic shelter.  

(4)  Special game facilities.  

(Code 2017, § 20-222)  

Sec. 17-208.   Possession of beer or other intoxicating liquor. 

(a)  It shall be unlawful for any person to bring in or use or have in their possession a keg or similar 
container for the purpose of dispensing beer or any other intoxicating liquor not otherwise prohibited 
by Iowa Code § 123.46, within any park, including any access area or wildlife habitat area under the 
jurisdiction of the city parks and recreation commission, unless either:  

(1)  Such use or possession is authorized by a liquor control license or beer permit approved by the 
city council, and issued by the state alcoholic beverages division under Iowa Code ch. 123, and 

108



18 
 

such use is confined to a shelter or other place within a park which constitutes a "licensed 
premises" within the meaning of state law and which is designated for group use; or  

(2)  Such use is arranged in advance with the director of public works and such use is confined to 
the Island Park Beach House located in Island Park in the city, or to the Celebration Shelter 
located in Gateway Park in the city.  

(b)  Any person desiring to use a shelter or building, where beer or an intoxicating liquor is to be 
dispensed from a keg or similar container as authorized in this section must make a prior shelter or 
building reservation, have a designated agent for contact responsibility, make advance payment of a 
reservation fee and submit a $100.00 minimum damage deposit. The parks and recreation 
commission has the right to retain any or all of the required deposit to cover damage to city park 
property. The holder of a shelter or building reservation shall be bound by and be responsible for 
enforcing all park rules and regulations and all applicable ordinances regarding the use of a keg, or 
similar container, or other rules and regulations set out in this article.  

(Code 2017, § 20-223; Ord. No. 2301, § 1, 5-22-2000; Ord. No. 2422, § 1, 3-10-2003)   

Sec. 17-209.   Authorized off-leash dog exercise facility. 

(a)  Establishment of facility. The director of public works or designee is hereby authorized to establish 
one or more authorized off-leash dog exercise facilities within the city which meet the requirements 
of this section. Each authorized off-leash dog exercise facility shall be hereinafter referred to as a 
"facility" or as an "authorized facility."  

(b)  Characteristics of authorized facility. Each authorized facility established under this section shall 
meet the following criteria:  

(1)  The facility shall be located within a public park in the city;  

(2)  The facility shall be appropriately and securely fenced and equipped with at least one self-
closing gate; and  

(3)  The rules and regulations for the use of the facility shall be posted on a sign at each entrance 
to the facility.  

(c)  Rules governing use of authorized facility. The following rules and regulations shall govern the use 
of each authorized facility established under this section:  

(1)  The facility shall be for the use of dogs only, and no other types of animals or pets shall be 
allowed to use the facility.  

(2)  The owner or other competent responsible person shall at all times accompany each dog 
inside the fenced area of the facility, and shall be responsible for the supervision of such dog at 
all times while it is in the facility.  

(3)  The facility shall be open for use during regular city public park hours as provided in section 17-
198(a).  

(4)  No person shall be authorized to use the facility unless the person has obtained a permit 
purchased from the city clerk of the city, for the use of the authorized facility or authorized 
facilities, at a fee to be established by resolution of the city council from time to time. A tag 
evidencing the issuance of such permit shall be furnished by the city clerk, and shall be affixed 
to the collar of the dog at all times while the dog is in such facility.  

(5)  No person shall be authorized to bring any dog into such facility unless the owner has a valid, 
current city license and rabies vaccination for the dog, and then only if the license and rabies 
tags are attached to and kept on a substantial collar on the dog at all times, all as required by 
chapter 6.  

109



19 
 

(6)  All other provisions of this Code shall apply to the use of each such authorized facility and to 
the presence and conduct of dogs in each such facility, including, but not limited to, the 
provisions of chapter 6, such as cleanup of animal droppings, and prohibiting a dog from 
attacking persons or animals.  

(7)  No dog which is a dangerous animal as defined in section 6-131 shall be allowed to use any 
such authorized facility at any time.  

(8)  No person shall bring more than two dogs into an authorized facility at any one time.  

(9)  A person using the authorized facility shall at all times carry a leash for each dog which is 
under his supervision.  

(10)  The following are prohibited in any authorized facility established under this section:  

a.  Dogs in heat.  

b.  Dogs under four months of age.  

c.  Food, bones or rawhide.  

d.  Prong or spike dog collars.  

(11)  No children under six years of age are allowed in any authorized facility. Children from six 
years of age to 16 years of age must be under the supervision of a competent responsible 
person at all times while in an authorized facility.  

(d)  Provision for other rules and regulations. The director of public works or designee is hereby 
authorized to adopt and enforce, from time to time, such other rules and regulations governing the 
use of each authorized facility as he deems appropriate, provided that such rules and regulations 
shall first be approved by the city council, and posted on a clearly visible sign at each entrance to 
each such authorized facility.  

(e)  Dog at-large. A person who brings a dog into an authorized facility and complies in all respects with 
the provisions of this section, including any rules and regulations established as provided in 
subsection (d) of this section, shall not be deemed to have permitted or allowed the dog to be at-
large within the city, within the meaning of chapter 6.  

(f)  Penalty for violation. Any violation of any of the provisions of this section, including any rules or 
regulations established under subsection (d) of this section and posted as required herein, shall 
constitute a municipal infraction, and shall be punishable as provided in section 1-9.  

(Code 2017, § 20-224; Ord. No. 2337, § 2, 6-11-2001)  

Sec. 17-210.   Special events in Gateway Park green space. 

(a)  Definitions. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this section, shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in this subsection, except where the context clearly indicates a different 
meaning:  

Director means the director of public works or designee.  

City council means the city council of Cedar Falls, Iowa.  

Property means the approximately 3.8 acres of green space to the east of Gateway Park, legally 
described as:  

GRAMS PLAT LOT 5 ALL LOT 18 EXC BEG AT SE COR LOT 18 TH N ALONG E LINE LOT 
18 DIST 231.43 FT TH SWLY 302.89 FT TO PT ON W LINE LOT 18 WHICH IS 215.42 FT N 
OF SW COR THEREOF TH S ALONG W LINE LOT 18 215.42 FT TO SW COR TH E 303.14 
FT ALONG S LOT LINE TO PT OF BEG; and  

110



20 
 

GRAMS PLAT ALL LOT 19 EXC BEG AT SE COR LOT 19 TH NLY ALONG E LOT LINE DIST 
215.42 FT TH NWLY 152.04 FT TO PT ON W LINE LOT 19 WHICH IS 222.63 FT NLY OF SW 
COR THEREOF TH SLY ALONG W LOT LINE 222.63 FT TO SW COR LOT 19 TH ELY 
ALONG S LOT LINE DIST OF 151.78 FT TO PT OF BEG.  

(b)  The director may adopt and enforce rules and regulations to protect and preserve the rights, 
privileges and property of the city or of its residents, and to preserve and improve the peace, safety, 
health, welfare, comfort, and convenience of its residents. The director may post signs on the 
property setting forth rules and regulations and directional signs.  

(c)  The director, upon receiving a completed application, shall provide a copy of the application to the 
fire chief and the police chief. The director shall issue a recommendation on the permit application, 
with written comments from the police operations and fire operations divisions, and evaluate the 
following:  

(1)  The applicant has complied with all of the requirements of this Code and any rules or 
regulations promulgated thereunder;  

(2)  The proposed event will not substantially or unnecessarily interfere with traffic in the area;  

(3)  The proposed event will not substantially or unnecessarily interfere with any publicly managed 
infrastructure project;  

(4)  The concentration of persons or things at the event will not prevent proper fire and police 
protection or ambulance service;  

(5)  That the proposed event or use of the property will not unreasonably interfere with or detract 
from the general public enjoyment of the property;  

(6)  That the proposed event and use will not unreasonably interfere with or detract from the 
promotion of public health, welfare, safety and recreation;  

(7)  That the property has not been reserved for other use at the time requested in the application;  

(8)  That the proposed event will not entail unusual, extraordinary or burdensome expense to the 
city;  

(9)  The applicant and group have complied with any required permits or licenses required for the 
activity on the property.  

(d)  The application for an overnight permit shall include, but not be limited to, the following information:  

(1)  Name and address of the group/organization requesting the permit;  

(2)  Name and address of the contact person for the group;  

(3)  Approximate number of people attending the event;  

(4)  Description of the event;  

(5)  Name of any vendors that may be on the property;  

(6)  Any requests for additional services such as garbage receptacles;  

(7)  Number of nights for the event, up to a maximum of 14 days.  

(e)  The director shall provide a written recommendation to the city council within seven days.  

(f)  The city council shall consider the application request at the next regularly scheduled city council 
meeting, with the application being acted upon no later than 21 days from the receipt of the 
application by the director. The city council may approve the application as requested, may approve 
the application with conditions or changes, or deny the application. The city council may approve a 
maximum of 14 for the event, and upon request by the applicant, the city council may approve an 
additional 14 day extension for the event.  

111



21 
 

(g)  Revocation of permit. The permit to use the property may be revoked without notice if the director, 
the chief of police, or fire chief have cause to believe anyone using the property has violated any 
local, state or federal laws, rules or regulations on the property.  

(h)  The group/organization and all individual participants shall be required to have been approved for 
any local, state or federal licenses or permits that are required for the activities intended to be 
conducted on the property.  

(i)  In addition to any other appropriate department, the department of public works is authorized to 
inspect the special event and may issue citations for any violation of this Code or any regulations 
pertaining to the operation of the special event.  

(j)  The director, after consultation with other appropriate departments, shall have the authority to 
promulgate such rules and regulations that he determines are necessary or desirable for the 
implementation of this section. The rules and regulations shall be available for inspection by the 
public.  

(k)  Liability of permit holder. The holder of a permit required by this article shall be liable for any loss, 
damage or injury sustained by any person or the city arising out of or resulting from the negligence of 
the permit holder, his employees, servants or agents, or other persons entitled to the use of the 
property by the holder. The holder, by acceptance of a permit, assumes full responsibility for and 
agrees to indemnify the city against and save it harmless from any liability arising out of or arising 
from the negligence of the holder, his employees, servants or agents, or other persons entitled to the 
use of the property by the holder.  

(Code 2017, § 20-225; Ord. No. 2763, § 1, 4-23-2012)  

Sec. 17-246.   Noxious weeds prohibited; exceptions. 

(a)  It shall be unlawful for the owner or person in possession or control of any land within the city to 
maintain, cause or permit a nuisance as defined in this section to exist upon such land. For purposes 
of this section, the term "nuisance" means noxious weeds, which shall include the following:  

(1)  Those defined in Iowa Code § 317.1A.  

(2)  Grass and weeds exceeding eight inches in height;  

(3)  Volunteer trees, bushes or other vegetation that have not been intentionally planted or which 
have spread through natural means into unsuitable or unsightly areas, such as in cracks or 
crevices along building foundations, driveways, retaining walls, sidewalks, or other similar 
improvements.  

(b)  Plantings in the following areas located on private property are hereby declared not to be a 
nuisance as defined in subsection (a) of this section:  

(1)  Prairie grass areas, wildflower planting areas, natural reserve and preserve areas, urban 
woodlots, wildlife refuge and conservation areas, wetlands and natural waterways, all as 
recognized and identified by a governmental agency, provided that setbacks shall be required 
as described in section 19-48.  

(2)  Land zoned agricultural under the zoning chapter, steep slopes, wooded areas, ravines and 
lots of the city exceeding three acres in size.  

(3)  Other conservation or natural areas deemed appropriate by the city council after consultation 
with the director of public works or designee.  

(Code 2017, § 20-262; Ord. No. 2653, § 1, 4-28-2008; Ord. No. 2883, § 1, 9-19-2016; Ord. No. 

2910, 9-5-2017)  

112



22 
 

Sec. 17-247.   Failure to destroy noxious weeds; right to hearing; destruction by city. 

(a)  If the owner or person in the possession or control of any land within the city fails or refuses to cut 
or otherwise destroy the grass, vines, bushes or weeds declared a nuisance as provided in section 
17-246 within seven days after notice in writing has been given to such owner and person in 
possession or control of land within the city, the owner or the person in possession or control of such 
land shall be deemed guilty of a violation of this article and punished accordingly. Such written notice 
to cut or otherwise destroy the vegetation declared a nuisance in this article shall be sent by ordinary 
mail to the owner of record and to the person in possession or control of the land in question. Such 
seven-day period to cut or otherwise destroy shall be deemed to commence on the date of mailing of 
the written notice.  

(b)  Each owner and each person in possession or control of any land within the city may request a 
hearing with the department of public works of the city to consider any objections and protests to the 
proposed cutting or otherwise destroying of the vegetation declared in this article to be a nuisance. 
The operations and maintenance division manager, acting under the direction of the director of public 
works, shall have full power and authority to enter upon any land within the city for the purpose of 
destroying a nuisance. The operations and maintenance division manager shall coordinate the 
removal of the nuisance with the public works director if necessary. Such entry may be made without 
the consent of the landowner or person in possession or control of the land.  

(c)  The actual cost and expense of cutting or otherwise destroying the vegetation, together with the 
cost of serving of notice, the cost of special meetings or proceedings, if any, and the cost of 
supervision and administration, shall be recovered by an assessment against the tract of land on 
which the vegetation was growing.  

(Code 2017, § 20-263; Ord. No. 2652, § 1, 4-28-2008; Ord. No. 2883, § 2, 9-19-2016; Ord. No. 

2907, 7-10-2017)  

Sec. 17-275.   Recreational trails. 

The following rules and regulations apply to all recreational trails within the city:  

(1)  Recreational trails shall be used and classified as trails for: foot traffic, bicycling, cross-country 
skiing, roller-blading and other special usage authorized by permit from the director of municipal 
operations and programs or designee.  

(2)  The use of motorized vehicles and snowmobiles is prohibited on recreational trails within the 
city, except for authorized emergency and maintenance vehicles.  

(3)  No person shall permit or allow a horse under their control to be on any recreational trail within 
the city. No person shall permit or allow a dog on said recreational trail unless said dog is under 
the control of said person and is on a leash of six feet or less in length. Said person shall pick 
up and dispose of any feces from the dog under that person's control. For the purposes of this 
article, the term "horse" means any equine animal including horses, mules, burros, donkeys, 
and all lamas or alpaca like animals. The term "dog" means all members of the canine species, 
male or female, whether altered or not.  

(4)  Special permits may be issued by the director of public works or designee for special events on 
specific dates utilizing golf carts or similar motorized transportation upon a recreational trail for 
elderly and/or persons with a disability.  

(Code 2017, § 20-279; Ord. No. 2060, § 1, 5-26-1994) 

       Section 6.   Section 19-73, Storage Of Building Materials, and Section 19-74, Certain 
Commercial Use Of Public Sidewalks, of Division 1, Generally; and Section 19-94, Use Of 
Public Sidewalks for Sidewalk Cafes, and Section 19-97, Review Of Application, of Division 2, 

113



23 
 

Sidewalk Cafes, of Article III, Obstructions; and Section 19-185, Removal of Snow And Ice, of 
Article V, Sidewalk Construction And Repair, of Chapter 19, Streets And Sidewalks, of the Code 
of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby repealed in their entirety, and new 
Sections 19-73, 19-74, 19-94, 19-97 and 19-185 are enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 19-73.   Storage of building materials. 

(a)  It shall be lawful for persons constructing buildings or making improvements permitted by the city 
ordinances to use a reasonable portion of the street or sidewalk adjacent to such building or 
improvement for a reasonable length of time, for depositing building materials, subject to the 
provisions in this Code governing such deposit and use. Such use shall be confined to one-third of 
the width of any street between the curbs thereof, and shall not continue longer than shall be 
necessary with reasonable diligence to supply the requirements of such construction and 
improvement.  

(b)  As a condition precedent therefor, a written permit shall be procured from the director of public 
works, which permit may provide for the erection and maintenance of a temporary sidewalk by the 
applicant for the permit as deemed necessary by the director of public works. A suitable roof or 
covering for the sidewalk shall be provided whenever deemed necessary by the director of public 
works. The person using such street must keep the gutters therein clear of all obstructions, and must 
maintain such street and surroundings free from anything dangerous or inconvenient for travel and 
traffic on account of such construction or improvement.  

(Code 2017, § 23-64)  

Sec. 19-74.   Certain commercial use of public sidewalks. 

(a)  Any person may use a maximum of three feet in width of the sidewalk next to and in front of his 
building in the city for the purpose of displaying samples of goods kept by him for sale, provided that 
the sidewalk is not less than 12 feet in width, and that nothing is used or set out on the sidewalk for 
such purposes which might endanger or injure the person or the dress of anyone who might pass on 
the sidewalk. Nothing in this section shall be construed as permitting the storing of goods on 
sidewalks.  

(b)  Temporary stands may be permitted to be erected on the streets of the city for the sale of goods or 
merchandise, such permits to be issued by the director of public works in his or her discretion, 
specifying the location thereof. Such permits shall be subject to revocation at any time, whereupon 
such stand shall be removed at once from the street.  

(c)  No person shall leave upon any sidewalk in front of his place of business any goods, wares or 
merchandise which may be left there by the person delivering or receiving the goods to or from the 
owner or occupant of any place of business for a longer period than six hours, nor occupy therefor a 
space exceeding three feet of the outer edge of the sidewalk.  

(d)  Tables, chairs and/or benches. Any proprietor of an establishment in those areas of the city that are 
zoned C-3 Commercial District under the zoning chapter, that sells food for consumption on or off the 
premises of such establishment may use that portion of the public sidewalk that is immediately 
adjacent to and that lies in between the side property lines, as extended to the curb, of the public 
sidewalk, for the purpose of providing tables, chairs and/or benches, for the convenience of and use 
by such proprietor's customers and others, with the following restrictions:  

(1)  Such proprietor and the proprietor's employees shall not at any time serve any food or 
beverages to customers or others seated at such tables, chairs and/or benches.  

(2)  There must be a minimum of five feet of unobstructed public sidewalk between any such 
tables, chairs and/or benches and the curb line of the public street, in order to allow for the free 
passage of pedestrian traffic on the public sidewalk, provided, however, that the city may, in 

114



24 
 

granting a permit under this subsection, require more than five feet of unobstructed public 
sidewalk clearance if, in the reasonable determination of the city, such additional clearance is 
necessary in the interests of public safety, health, or welfare, in light of the peculiar 
circumstances involved with the particular permit application, and the physical characteristics of 
the public sidewalk area in question.  

(3)  No such tables, chairs and/or benches shall be attached in any manner to the public sidewalk 
or to any public fixtures located on the public sidewalk. The proprietor shall be responsible for 
any damage to the public sidewalk or to any public fixtures located on the public sidewalk by 
said tables, chairs and/or benches.  

(4)  By the closing time of such establishment each night, all such tables, chairs and/or benches 
shall either:  

a.  Be moved inside the building that is adjacent to such establishment, restoring the public 
sidewalk to its normal condition as a pedestrian walkway; or  

b.  Be moved to a location on the public sidewalk that directly abuts the front of the building in 
which such establishment is located, stacked neatly, and secured by means of chains and 
locks or some other secure means approved by the city director of public works, and not 
attached in any manner to the public sidewalk or to any public benches. If the proprietor 
selects the alternative set forth in this subsection, the proprietor shall be responsible for 
insuring that such tables, chairs and/or benches do not cause damage to persons or 
property during the hours such establishment is closed.  

(5)  Before a proprietor of such an establishment may lawfully place any tables, chairs and/or 
benches on the public sidewalk in front of such establishment, the proprietor shall file an 
application for a permit with the city clerk of the city, on a form furnished by the city clerk, and 
shall pay a non-refundable annual permit fee therefor, in such amount as shall be determined 
from time to time by resolution of the city council. The application and an accompanying 
diagram or site plan shall show:  

a.  The dimensions, including the length and width, of the area of the public sidewalk that is 
adjacent to said establishment, as described in this subsection;  

b.  The five foot area of unobstructed public sidewalk adjacent to the curb which is to be 
reserved for pedestrian use;  

c.  The approximate location where the tables, chairs and/or benches shall be positioned, and 
the size and number thereof;  

d.  The location where the tables, chairs and/or benches shall be stored during the hours 
when such establishment is closed, in the event the establishment elects not to move said 
items inside the establishment each night;  

e.  The means by which such tables, chairs and/or benches shall be secured, as provided in 
this subsection;  

f.  A physical description of the tables, chairs and/or benches that will be used;  

g.  A minimum of a two foot clearance between any such tables, chairs and/or benches and 
each side of any doorway leading from the establishment onto the public sidewalk;  

h.  Proof that the applicant holds a valid license or permit to operate the establishment;  

i.  The written consent to the filing of said application from the owner of the building in which 
such establishment is located, if the applicant is not the owner of the building;  

j.  Proof of insurance and compliance with the indemnification requirements set forth in 
subsection (d)(14) of this section; and  

k.  Such other information and documentation as the city may require in order to comply with 
the requirements of this subsection.  

115



25 
 

(6)  The city clerk shall forward a copy of the proprietor's application, together with all other 
information and documentation required in connection with said application, to the city director 
of public works, and to either Community Main Street, Inc., for tables, chairs and/or benches to 
be located in the downtown Parkade area of the city, or to College Hill Partnership, for tables, 
chairs and/or benches to be located in the College Hill area of the city, for review as to 
compliance with the requirements of this subsection, compliance with the interests of public 
safety, health or welfare, and compliance with the aesthetics of the area. If the application is 
approved by both the city director of public works and either Community Main Street, Inc., or 
College Hill Partnership, as being in compliance with the requirements of this subsection, the 
city clerk shall issue a permit therefor to the applicant. If the application is not approved by both 
the city director of public works and either Community Main Street, Inc., or College Hill 
Partnership, the city clerk shall notify the applicant of the reason or reasons the application was 
not approved. The applicant shall be afforded a period of 30 days from the date of the city 
clerk's notice, within which to revise the application in an effort to comply with the requirements 
of this subsection and to correct the reasons for denial thereof. If the revised application is 
approved by both the director of public works and either Community Main Street, Inc., or 
College Hill Partnership, the city clerk shall issue a permit. If the revised application is not 
approved by both the city director of public works and either Community Main Street, Inc., or 
College Hill Partnership, the city clerk shall not issue a permit. In that event, the applicant shall 
have a period of 30 days from the date of notice of denial to appeal the denial to the 
administration committee of the city council. The administration committee shall conduct a 
hearing on the appeal of the denial of the application within 30 days, shall afford the applicant 
an opportunity to present information in support of the application, and shall issue a decision to 
either approve the application, which may be conditioned on one or more requirements, or to 
deny the application. The decision of the administration committee shall be final.  

(7)  Any permit issued under this subsection (d) of this section shall be issued for a period of one 
year, and may be renewed upon the filing of an application for renewal of the permit before its 
expiration by the proprietor, and by payment of the required annual fee. The application for 
renewal shall state whether or not any of the contents of the original application is being 
revised, failing which the contents of the application for renewal shall be deemed to be the 
same as contained in the original application.  

(8)  In the event that ownership of the establishment holding the permit is sold, conveyed or 
transferred to another person or entity, the permit shall not thereby be transferred, and the new 
owner shall be required to file a new and separate application for such a permit, as provided in 
this subsection.  

(9)  The city reserves the right to limit the number of permits issued under this subsection if 
necessary to maintain adequate pedestrian flow, to permit adequate access to building 
entrances, to safeguard pedestrian and traffic safety, to preserve the aesthetic quality of the 
surrounding area, or for any other valid public purpose. The city reserves the right to either deny 
an application which otherwise meets the requirements of this subsection, or to require the 
proprietor to meet additional terms and conditions for issuance of a permit beyond the 
requirements set forth in this subsection if, in the reasonable determination of the city, either 
granting the permit, or granting it without such additional terms and conditions, would not 
adequately protect and preserve the rights, privileges, and property of the city or of its residents, 
or would not adequately protect or preserve the peace, safety, health, welfare, comfort or 
convenience of the city's residents.  

(10)  The city director of public works may order the immediate removal of any or all of a permit 
holder's tables, chairs and/or benches in the event such items are causing a hazard to public 
safety, health or welfare, are interfering with the unobstructed passage of pedestrians, are 
unsightly in appearance or unsanitary in condition, are interfering with removal of ice and snow 
from the public sidewalks, or for any other reason affecting public safety, health or welfare.  

(11)  A permit issued under this subsection shall be revoked if the proprietor holding the permit 
does any of the following:  

116



26 
 

a.  Fails to maintain a valid license or permit covering the establishment adjacent to where the 
tables, chairs and/or benches are located;  

b.  Fails to either move the tables, chairs and/or benches inside the establishment, or fails to 
secure them, as required in subsection (d)(4) of this section;  

c.  Fails to pay the fee for issuance or renewal of the permit;  

d.  Fails to operate in strict compliance with all of the provisions of this subsection, of all other 
city ordinances, and of state law; or  

e.  Creates or allows to exist a safety hazard, health hazard, or public nuisance under state 
law or city ordinance, in connection with the placement or use of the tables, chairs and/or 
benches. Upon the occurrence of any of the events described in this subsection (d)(11) of 
this section, the city clerk shall give the proprietor of such establishment notice of 
revocation of the permit, and the permit holder shall thereupon immediately cease to place 
tables, chairs and/or benches on the public sidewalk adjacent to the proprietor's 
establishment.  

(12)  The permit holder may appeal the revocation of the permit by written notice of appeal mailed 
or delivered to the city clerk within ten days of the date of notice of revocation. The 
administration committee of the city council shall conduct a hearing within 20 days of the date of 
the notice of appeal. The permit holder shall be notified in writing of the time and place of 
hearing thereon, and shall be afforded an opportunity to present information to the committee, 
following which the committee shall issue a written decision within ten days of the date of the 
hearing, either affirming or reversing the revocation of the permit. The decision of the 
administration committee shall be final. During the pendency of the appeal, the permit holder 
shall not be allowed to place the tables, chairs and/or benches on the public sidewalk.  

(13)  The city shall retain the right to terminate any permit granted under this subsection upon 
seven days' written notice, and may require the removal of all tables, chairs and/or benches 
from the public sidewalk adjacent to an establishment, if the city council, after due 
consideration, determines that there is a reasonable and substantial need for the use of the 
public right-of-way being occupied by such tables, chairs and/or benches, for a valid public 
purpose. The determination of the city council shall be final, and there shall be no right of 
appeal from such decision.  

(14)  A permit shall not be issued under this subsection unless the applicant, at the time of filing an 
application for issuance or renewal of a permit, furnishes proof of insurance and indemnification 
of the city that meets the following requirements:  

a.  Commercial general liability insurance coverage in the amount of $1,000,000.00 per 
occurrence and $2,000,000.00 in the aggregate for bodily injury and property damage, with 
the city to be named as an additional insured on the policy, with an endorsement to be 
issued as part of the insurance policy, evidencing compliance with this requirement; and  

b.  An indemnification agreement on a form furnished by the city clerk, under which the 
proprietor agrees to indemnify and hold the city harmless from any liability for damages 
arising out of the placement of the tables, chairs and/or benches in the public right-of-way.  

(e)  Temporary movable signs on certain public sidewalks. Any proprietor of an establishment in those 
areas of the city that are zoned C-3 Commercial District under the zoning chapter, may use a portion 
of the public sidewalk that is immediately adjacent to and that lies in between the side property lines, 
as extended to the curb, of the public sidewalk, for the purpose of displaying one temporary movable 
sign for such establishment, with the following restrictions:  

(1)  The portion of the public sidewalk that may be used by the proprietor of such establishment for 
the display of such signs is the area of the public sidewalk that extends from the storefront of 
the establishment to the adjacent street curb and between the side property lines of the building 
in which the establishment is located, as such side property lines are extended to the adjacent 
street curb.  

117



27 
 

(2)  There must nevertheless be a minimum of five feet of unobstructed public sidewalk between 
such storefront and the edge of the sign closest to the storefront, or between the edge of the 
sign closest to the street and the inside edge of the street curb, in order to allow for the free 
passage of pedestrian traffic on the public sidewalk, provided, however, that the city may, in 
granting a permit under this subsection, require more than five feet of unobstructed public 
sidewalk clearance if, in the reasonable determination of the city, such additional clearance is 
necessary in the interest of public safety, health, or welfare, in light of the peculiar 
circumstances involved with the physical characteristics of the public sidewalk area in question; 
and provided, further, that all such temporary signs must in all events maintain at least a two-
foot setback from the outside edge of said sign to the inside edge of the street curb.  

(3)  No such temporary movable sign shall be attached in any manner to the public sidewalk, or to 
any public fixtures located on the public sidewalk, such as tables, chairs, or other fixtures, or on 
top of any temporary elevations such as fill material or snowbanks.  

(4)  No such temporary sign shall exceed 2.5 feet in width and five feet in height in outer frame 
measurements, with such height measured from the natural grade of the sidewalk surface 
adjacent to such establishment. No more than one such sign may be placed in front of any 
single store-front. All such signs must be well-maintained and kept in good repair.  

(5)  By the closing time of such establishment each day, each such sign shall be moved inside the 
building adjacent to which the sign is displayed, restoring the public sidewalk to its normal 
condition as a pedestrian walkway.  

(6)  Before the proprietor of any such an establishment may lawfully place any such temporary sign 
on the public sidewalk in front of such establishment, the proprietor shall file an application for a 
permit with the city clerk of the city, on a form furnished by the city clerk, and shall pay a 
nonrefundable annual permit fee therefor, in such amount as shall be determined from time to 
time by resolution of the city council. The application and an accompanying diagram or site plan 
shall show:  

a.  The dimensions, including the length and width, of the public sidewalk that is adjacent to 
said establishment, as described in this subsection;  

b.  The five-foot area of unobstructed public sidewalk which is to be reserved for pedestrian 
use, and the two-foot setback from the outside edge of said sign to the inside edge of the 
street curb;  

c.  The approximate location where the sign shall be positioned, and the size of said sign, 
including its outer dimensions;  

d.  Proof that the applicant holds a valid license or permit to operate the establishment;  

e.  The written consent to the filing of said application from the owner of the building in which 
such establishment is located, if the applicant is not the owner of the building;  

f.  Proof of insurance and compliance with the indemnification requirements set forth in 
subsection (e)(15) of this section; and  

g.  Such other information and documentation as the city may require in order to demonstrate 
that the proprietor complies with the requirements of this subsection.  

(7)  The city clerk shall forward a copy of the proprietor's application, together with all other 
information and documentation required in connection with said application, to the city planner 
for review as to compliance with the requirements of this subsection, and compliance with the 
interest of public safety, health, or welfare. If the application is approved by the city planner as 
being in compliance with the requirements of this subsection, the city clerk shall forward the 
application to the city council. Upon approval by the city council, the city clerk shall issue a 
permit therefor to the applicant. If the application is not approved by the city planner, the city 
clerk shall notify the applicant of the reason or reasons the application was not approved. The 
applicant shall be afforded a period of 30 days from the date of the city clerk's notice, within 
which to revise the application in an effort to comply with the requirements of this subsection 

118



28 
 

and to correct the reasons for denial thereof. If the revised application is approved by the city 
planner, the city clerk shall forward the application to the city council. Upon approval by the city 
council, the city clerk shall issue a permit. If the revised application is not approved by the city 
planner, the city clerk shall not issue a permit. In that event, the applicant shall have a period of 
30 days from the date of notice of denial to appeal the denial to the administration committee of 
the city council. The administration committee shall conduct a hearing on the appeal of the 
denial of the application within 30 days, and shall afford the applicant an opportunity to present 
information in support of the application, and shall issue a decision to either approve the 
application, which may be conditioned on one or more requirements, or to deny the application. 
The decision of the administration committee shall be final.  

(8)  Any permit issued under this subsection shall be issued for a period of one-year, and may be 
renewed upon the filing of an application by the proprietor for renewal of the permit before its 
expiration, and by payment of the required annual fee. The application for renewal shall state 
whether or not any of the contents of the original application are being revised, failing which the 
contents of the application for renewal shall be deemed to be the same as contained in the 
original application.  

(9)  In the event that ownership of the establishment holding the permit is sold, conveyed or 
transferred to another person or entity, the permit shall not thereby be transferred, and the new 
owner shall be required to file a new and separate application for such a permit, as provided in 
this subsection.  

(10)  The city reserves the right to limit the number of permits issued under this subsection if 
necessary to maintain adequate pedestrian flow, to permit adequate access to building 
entrances, to safeguard pedestrian and traffic safety, to preserve the aesthetic quality of the 
surrounding area, or for any other valid public purpose. The city reserves the right to either deny 
an application which otherwise meets the requirements of this subsection, or to require the 
proprietor to meet additional terms and conditions for issuance of a permit beyond the 
requirements set forth in this subsection if, in the reasonable determination of the city, either 
granting the permit, or granting it without such additional terms and conditions, would not 
adequately protect and preserve the rights, privileges, and property of the city or its residents, or 
would not adequately protect or preserve the peace, safety, health, welfare, comfort or 
convenience of the city's residents.  

(11)  The city planner may order the immediate removal of any such temporary sign in the event 
such sign is causing a hazard to public safety, health or welfare, is interfering with the 
unobstructed passage of pedestrians, is unsightly in appearance, is interfering with the removal 
of ice and snow from the public sidewalks, or for any other reason affecting public safety, health 
or welfare.  

(12)  A permit issued under this subsection shall be revoked by the city if the proprietor holding the 
permit does any of the following:  

a.  Fails to maintain a valid license or permit covering the establishment adjacent to which the 
sign is located;  

b.  Fails to move the sign inside the building by closing time of the establishment as required 
in this subsection;  

c.  Fails to pay the fee for issuance or renewal of the permit;  

d.  Fails to operate in strict compliance with all of the provisions of this subsection, of all other 
city ordinances, and of state law; or  

e.  Creates or allows to exist a safety hazard in connection with the placement of the sign.  

Upon occurrence of any of the events described in this subsection, the city clerk shall give the 
proprietor of such establishment seven days' written notice of revocation of the permit, and the 
permit holder shall thereupon immediately cease to place any such sign on the public sidewalk 
adjacent to the proprietor's establishment.  

119



29 
 

(13)  The permit holder may appeal the revocation of the permit by written notice of appeal mailed 
or delivered to the city clerk within ten days of the date of notice of revocation. The 
administration committee of the city council shall conduct a hearing within 20 days of the date of 
the notice of appeal. The permit holder shall be notified in writing of the time and place of 
hearing thereon, and shall be afforded an opportunity to present information to the committee, 
following which the committee shall issue a written decision within ten days of the date of the 
hearing, either affirming or reversing the revocation of the permit. The decision of the 
administration committee shall be final. During the pendency of the appeal, the permit holder 
shall not be allowed to place the sign on the public sidewalk.  

(14)  The city shall retain the right to terminate any permit granted under this subsection upon 
seven days' written notice, and may require the removal of the sign from the public sidewalk 
adjacent to an establishment, if the city council, after due consideration, determines that there is 
a reasonable and substantial need for the use of the public right-of-way being occupied by such 
sign, for a valid public purpose. The determination of the city council shall be final, and there 
shall be no right of appeal from such decision.  

(15)  A permit for a temporary movable sign shall not be issued under this subsection unless the 
applicant, at the time of filing an application for issuance or renewal of a permit, furnishes proof 
of insurance and indemnification of the city that meets the following requirements:  

a.  Commercial general liability insurance coverage in the amount of $1,000,000.00 per 
occurrence and $2,000,000.00 in the aggregate for bodily injury and property damage, with 
the city to be named as an additional insured on the policy, with an endorsement to be 
issued as part of the insurance policy, evidencing compliance with this requirement; and  

b.  An indemnification agreement on a form furnished by the city clerk, under which the 
proprietor agrees to indemnify and hold the city harmless from any liability for damages 
arising out of the placement of the temporary movable sign in the public right-of-way.  

(Code 2017, § 23-65; Ord. No. 2141, § 1, 4-22-1996; Ord. No. 2578, § 1, 6-12-2006; Ord. No. 

2647, §§ 1, 2, 2-25-2008; Ord. No. 2798, §§ 1, 2, 9-9-2013) 

Sec. 19-94.   Use of public sidewalks for sidewalk cafes. 

(a)  Sidewalk cafes shall only be permitted in those areas of the city which meet all of the following 
requirements:  

(1)  Are within the public right-of-way of the city;  

(2)  Are within those areas of the city that are zoned C-3 Commercial District under the zoning 
chapter;  

(3)  Are within an area of the public sidewalk where the public right-of-way directly abuts on a 
private building line; and  

(4)  Meet all of the other requirements of this division.  

(b)  The sidewalk cafe area must be adjacent to and contiguous with one side of the building it serves, 
and in which a restaurant is located and operating, and may not extend beyond the side property 
lines of such building as extended to the adjacent street.  

(c)  There must be a minimum of five feet of unobstructed public sidewalk between the boundary of the 
sidewalk cafe area and the curb line of the public street, free of any lampposts, public benches, 
planters, trees, tree grates, or other public fixtures located within the public sidewalk, in order to 
allow for the free passage of pedestrian traffic on the adjacent public sidewalk; provided, however, 
that the city may, in granting the sidewalk cafe permit, require more than five feet of unobstructed 
public sidewalk clearance for any sidewalk cafe if, in the reasonable determination of the city, such 
additional clearance is necessary in the interests of public safety, health, or welfare, in light of the 

120



30 
 

peculiar circumstances involved with the particular cafe permit application, the configuration of the 
proposed sidewalk cafe permit, and the physical characteristics of the public sidewalk, parking areas 
and streets adjacent thereto.  

(d)  The sidewalk cafe area shall maintain a minimum of a two-foot clearance on each side of any 
doorway leading from the building onto the public sidewalk.  

(e)  Any sidewalk cafe area that serves alcoholic beverages must be situated so that no part of the 
sidewalk cafe area is less than 300 feet from the boundary of any area of the city that is zoned 
residential under the zoning chapter.  

(f)  No part of the sidewalk cafe area shall be located within that portion of the public sidewalk lying 
between the lines formed by the extension of the exterior building lines to the adjacent intersecting 
streets, or within ten feet of any public alley.  

(g)  The sidewalk cafe area shall be delineated by, and the sidewalk cafe elements divided from, that 
portion of the adjacent public sidewalk lying outside of the sidewalk cafe area, by a barrier at least 
three feet in height, consisting of:  

(1)  Fencing or other rigid structure; or  

(2)  Ropes of a design or type approved by the director of public works and the design committee 
of the respective district.  

(h)  All sidewalk cafe elements must either:  

(1)  Be removed from the public right-of-way within 30 minutes of the closing time of the sidewalk 
cafe each night, restoring the sidewalk cafe to its normal condition as a pedestrian walkway; or  

(2)  Be orderly secured within 30 minutes after the closing time of the sidewalk cafe each night, by 
means of chains and locks or some other secure means, in such a way that such cafe elements 
cannot be used to cause damage to persons or property. If the proprietor attaches any sidewalk 
cafe elements to approved public property, the proprietor shall be responsible for restoring 
property to its original condition or condition of suitable agreement with the city, such as 
seasonal plugs, whenever the elements are removed per subsection (n) of this section. Upon 
completion of the repairs, the city will inspect for compliance.  

a.  The proprietor may select either of the above alternatives, provided that, if the proprietor 
selects the alternative set forth in subsection (h)(2) of this section, the proprietor shall be 
responsible for insuring that such sidewalk cafe elements do not cause damage to persons 
or property and do not inhibit or obstruct regular sidewalk maintenance including, but not 
limited to, ordinary repair and snow removal. Except as expressly provided for in 
subsection (h)(2) of this section, no property shall be stored on the public right-of-way.  

b.  Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (h)(2) of this subsection, if the proprietor 
elects to close the sidewalk cafe during certain times of the year, as provided for in section 
19-96(10), then all sidewalk cafe elements shall be removed.  

(i)  Sidewalk cafe elements may consist of tables, chairs, fencing, planters and plants, and umbrellas 
and awnings and similar fixtures if approved by the city as part of the sidewalk cafe permit process.  

(j)  A sidewalk cafe may not use or incorporate into the sidewalk cafe area any public fixtures such as 
benches, seats, planters, trash receptacles, lampposts, or any other publicly owned structures 
located in any part of the public right-of-way.  

(k)  Except as otherwise expressly provided in subsection (h)(2) of this section, stacking of chairs or 
tables in the sidewalk cafe area is not permitted at any time.  

(l)  Outdoor heaters are allowed if approved by the city as part of the sidewalk cafe permit process, or 
subsequently approved by the city in the same manner as the sidewalk cafe permit.  

(m)  No advertising or signage shall be permitted in a sidewalk cafe area except that the name of the 
establishment may be printed on chairs, tables, umbrellas or other amenities as approved by the city.  

121



31 
 

(n)   In the event of any damage to the surface of any part of the public sidewalk lying within or 
immediately adjacent to the confines or boundaries of the sidewalk cafe area, the proprietor of the 
sidewalk cafe and the adjacent restaurant shall repair the damage to the specifications of the director 
of public works of the city. If the proprietor fails or refuses to repair such damage within 30 days after 
written notice from the city to do so, the director of public works of the city shall cause the work to be 
done and billed to the proprietor. All costs, including administration and city staff time shall be 
computed and will be invoiced as part of the project. Any failure of the proprietor to reimburse the city 
for the cost of such work shall be grounds for termination of the proprietor's sidewalk cafe permit. 
Any such costs shall be deducted from the proprietor's cash deposit, and the balance may be 
collected from the proprietor by legal proceedings instituted by the city, including placing a lien on the 
property.  

(o)  The sidewalk cafe shall be equipped with an inside or outside water source to clean the sidewalk 
cafe area, as provided in section 19-95(5).  

(p)  No bottles, cans or pitchers shall be used to serve beverages.  

(q)  The city reserves the right to limit the number of permits issued for sidewalk cafes if necessary to 
maintain adequate pedestrian flow, to permit adequate access to building entrances, to safeguard 
pedestrian and traffic safety, to preserve the aesthetic quality of the surrounding area, or for any 
other valid public purpose.  

(Code 2017, § 23-68; Ord. No. 2827, § 2, 9-2-2014)  

Sec. 19-97.   Review of application. 

(a)  The city clerk shall submit a copy of the application and all accompanying documents to the 
following city staff for review and for either approval or denial:  

(1)  The city building official.  

(2)  The city fire chief.  

(3)  The city police chief.  

(4)  The city planning and community services manager.  

(5)  The city director of public works.  

(b)  Within 15 days after receipt of such documents, each such city official shall forward to the city clerk 
his approval or denial of the application, and in case of denial, the reason or reasons for denial. The 
applicant shall be notified of the results of the reviews and shall be afforded a period of 15 days to 
supplement, correct or modify the application to address the city officials' reasons for denial.  

(c)  If the city officials all approve the application, and the applicant has complied with all other 
requirements of this division, the city clerk shall issue a sidewalk cafe permit to the applicant, 
including the requirement for city council approval of a public right-of-way easement agreement.  

(d)  After 30 days from the date of filing of the application, if the applicant has not received all necessary 
city staff approvals, or if the application has been denied by one or more of such city officials, the 
application shall be considered denied. The applicant may file a written appeal of the denial to the 
administration committee of the city council within 45 days of the date of original filing of the 
application with the city clerk. The administration committee shall schedule a hearing within 20 days 
of the date of the notice of appeal. The applicant shall be notified in writing of the date, time and 
place of hearing. The committee shall afford the applicant the opportunity to present information to 
the committee in support of the application. Within ten days after such hearing, the administration 
committee shall issue its decision, which may either affirm or reverse the denial of the application, or 
affirm the application subject to certain conditions. The decision of the administration committee shall 
be final. No new application for a sidewalk cafe permit shall be submitted by the same applicant for 

122



32 
 

the same location for a period of six months from the date of the decision of the administration 
committee denying any application for a sidewalk cafe permit.  

(e)  If the application is granted by the city officials or by the administration committee after appeal, the 
city clerk shall issue the sidewalk cafe permit for a period of one year, or until the date for renewal of 
the applicant's liquor control license or wine or beer permit, whichever is less. Thereafter, the permit 
shall be applied for, and, if approved as provided herein, issued, for successive one-year periods 
that run concurrent with the applicant's liquor control license or wine or beer permit. If the application 
does not include a request to serve alcoholic beverages, the initial permit and all renewal permits 
shall be issued for a one-year period.  

(f)  The city reserves the right to either deny an application for a sidewalk cafe permit which otherwise 
meets the requirements of this division or to require the proprietor to meet additional terms and 
conditions for issuance of a permit beyond the requirements set forth in this division if, in the 
reasonable determination of the city, either granting the sidewalk cafe permit, or granting it without 
such additional terms and conditions, would not adequately protect and preserve the rights, 
privileges, and property of the city or of its residents, or would not adequately protect or preserve the 
peace, safety, health, welfare, comfort and convenience of the city's residents.  

(Code 2017, § 23-71; Ord. No. 2827, § 5, 9-2-2014)  

Sec. 19-185.   Removal of snow and ice. 

The abutting property owner is responsible for the removal of the natural accumulations of snow and 
ice from the sidewalks abutting the property owner's property within a reasonable amount of time. The 
abutting property owner shall be liable for damages caused by the failure of the abutting property owner 
to use reasonable care in the removal of the snow or ice. If the abutting property owner fails to remove 
the natural accumulations of snow or ice within a reasonable amount of time, the public works department 
may have the natural accumulations of snow or ice removed without notice to the property owner. Upon 
completion of the work, the public works director shall prepare and submit to the city council an itemized 
and verified statement of the costs and a legal description of the property, and the costs shall be 
assessed against the abutting property for collection in the same manner as a property tax. The 
assessment of such costs against the property does not relieve the abutting property owner of liability for 
damages imposed by this section. The city does not have a duty to remove natural accumulations of 
snow or ice from the sidewalks.  

(Code 2017, § 23-134; Ord. No. 2410, § 2, 1-13-2003)  

       Section 7.   Section 23-71, Duty to Erect  and Maintain Signs, Section 23-72, Authority To 

Place Traffic Control Devices, Section 23-73, Placement Of One-Way Street Signs, Section 23-
74, Marking Of Traffic Lanes, Section 23-75, Marking Of Turn Lanes, Section 23-76, Placement 
Of Stop Signs At Intersections, Section 23-77, Establishment Of Crosswalks And Safety Zones, 
Section 23-78, Placement Of Stop Signs At School Zones, Section 23-79, Erection Of Automatic 
Stop Signals At School Zones, Section 23-80, Painting Of Curbs Or Erection Of Signs 
Prohibiting Parking Or Standing, Section 23-81, Regulation Of Parking Adjacent To Schools, 
Section 23-82, Establishment Of Temporary No Parking Zones And One-Way Streets, Section 
23-83, Marking Of Parking Spaces, of Division 2, Department Of Municipal Operations And 
Programs Traffic Standards, of Article II, Administration and Obedience; and Section 23-388, 
Prohibited Parking During Snow Removal, of Division 1, Generally, of Article IV, Stopping, 

Standing And Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic And Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby repealed in their entirety, and new Sections 23-72, 23-
73, 23-74, 23-75, 23-76, 23-77, 23-78, 23-79, 23-80, 23-81, 23-82, 23-83 and 23-388 are 
enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

123



33 
 

DIVISION 2.  DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS TRAFFIC STANDARDS 

Sec. 23-71.     Duty to erect and maintain signs. 

       It shall be the duty of the department of public works to cause necessary and appropriate signs to be 
posted and maintained along the streets designated in this chapter, informing the general public of 
restrictions on parking, speed and other traffic restrictions. 

(Code 2017, § 26-62) 

 Sec. 23-72.   Authority to place traffic control devices. 

The department of public works may place and maintain such traffic control devices as it may deem 
necessary to guide or warn traffic.  

(Code 2017, § 26-63)  

Sec. 23-73.   Placement of one-way street signs. 

Whenever any ordinance of the city designates any one-way street or alley, the department of public 
works shall supervise the placing and maintaining of signs giving notice thereof, and no such regulation 
shall be effective unless such signs are in place. Signs indicating the direction of lawful traffic movement 
shall be placed at every intersection where movement of traffic in the opposite direction is prohibited.  

(Code 2017, § 26-64)  

Sec. 23-74.   Marking of traffic lanes. 

(a)  The director of the public works is hereby authorized to supervise the marking of the traffic lanes 
upon the roadway of any street or highway where a regular alignment of traffic is necessary.  

(b)  Where such traffic lanes have been marked it shall be unlawful for the operator of any vehicle to fail 
or refuse to keep such vehicle within the boundaries of any such lane, except when lawfully passing 
another vehicle, or preparatory to making a lawful turning movement.  

(Code 2017, § 26-65)  

Sec. 23-75.   Marking of turn lanes. 

The director of public works may cause markers, buttons or signs to be placed within or adjacent to 
intersections and thereby require and direct that a different course from that specified in section 23-325 
be taken by vehicles turning at intersections, and, when markers, buttons or signs are so placed, no 
driver of a vehicle shall turn at an intersection other than as directed and required by such markers, 
buttons or signs.  

(Code 2017, § 26-66)  

Sec. 23-76.   Placement of stop signs at intersections. 

Whenever any ordinance of the city designates and describes a through street, it shall be the duty of 
the department of public works to supervise the placing and maintenance of a stop sign on each and 
every street intersecting such through street or intersecting that portion thereof described and designated 

124



34 
 

as such by any ordinance of the city, unless traffic at any such intersection is controlled at all times by 
traffic control signals; provided, however, that at the intersection of two such through streets or at the 
intersection of a through street and a heavy traffic street not so designated, stop signs shall be erected at 
the approaches of either of such streets as may be determined by the department director upon the basis 
of a traffic study.  

(Code 2017, § 26-67)  

Sec. 23-77.   Establishment of crosswalks and safety zones. 

The director of public works is hereby authorized to:  

(1)  Designate and supervise maintenance, by appropriate devices, marks or lines upon the surface 
of the roadway, of crosswalks at intersections where in the opinion there is particular danger to 
pedestrians crossing the roadway, and at such other places as the director may deem 
necessary.  

(2)  Establish safety zones of such kind and character and at such places as the director may deem 
necessary for the protection of pedestrians.  

(Code 2017, § 26-68)  

Sec. 23-78.   Placement of stop signs at school zones. 

The department of public works shall conspicuously place stop signs bearing the words "Stop School 
Zone" at the places designated by the council. Such signs shall be of sufficient size to be easily readable 
at a distance of 100 feet by persons using such streets.  

(Code 2017, § 26-69)  

Sec. 23-79.   Erection of automatic stop signals at school zones. 

The department of public works may cause to be erected automatically controlled school stop signs 
in place of movable school stop signs, and all motor vehicles approaching such zone when the automatic 
signal is in operation and displaying a flashing red light or steady red light shall stop and proceed only 
when the automatically controlled school stop sign changes to flashing amber or green or yellow.  

(Code 2017, § 26-70)  

Sec. 23-80.   Painting of curbs or erection of signs prohibiting parking or standing. 

(a)  Where, because of restrictions for visibility and where standing or parked vehicles could constitute a 
hazard to moving traffic, the director of public works, as traffic conditions require, may cause 
curbings or portions of streets to be painted with a yellow or orange color, or erect "No Parking or 
Standing" signs prohibiting parking or standing, and it shall be unlawful for the operator of any 
vehicle to stand or park a vehicle in an area so painted or signposted.  

(b)  Immediately upon causing curbs to be painted or signs erected, the director shall notify the council 
in writing of the director's action, setting forth the area painted or posted and the reasons therefor. 
The council, at the next regular meeting, shall approve the actions of the director, or refuse to 
approve the actions and order the signs or the paint removed.  

(c)  The city council may also, on its own motion, by ordinance, as traffic conditions require, prohibit 
parking on certain streets; and when the council has so determined the director shall cause curbs to 
be painted or signs to be posted as directed.  

125



35 
 

(Code 2017, § 26-71)  

Sec. 23-81.   Regulation of parking adjacent to schools. 

(a)  The department of public works is hereby authorized to erect signs indicating no parking upon either 
or both sides of any street adjacent to any school property when such parking would, in its opinion, 
interfere with traffic or create a hazardous situation.  

(b)  When official signs are erected indicating no parking upon either side of a street adjacent to any 
school property as authorized in this section, no person shall park a vehicle in any such designated 
place.  

(Code 2017, § 26-72)  

Sec. 23-82.   Establishment of temporary no parking zones and one-way streets. 

(a)  The chief of police and director of public works, or persons designated by them, are hereby 
authorized to prohibit parking on streets within the city on a temporary basis and to establish 
temporary one-way traffic on streets to expedite traffic when a special event or unusual circumstance 
occurs in the city which creates an unusually large volume of traffic which, in the opinion of the chief 
of police, director of public works or others authorized by them, creates hazards to traffic and 
pedestrians.  

(b)  Whenever the chief of police, director of public works or persons authorized by them shall 
temporarily prohibit parking on a street or temporarily establish one-way traffic on a street, they shall 
cause appropriate notice to be given with a means of notice reasonably calculated to give notice to 
operators of motor vehicles of the prohibited parking or the one-way traffic movement. Such notice 
may be by special signs or by a temporary alteration of the existing signs or signing method which 
may be deemed appropriate, or by direction of individuals authorized by the chief of police to direct 
such traffic and such parking.  

(Code 2017, § 26-73)  

Sec. 23-83.   Marking of parking spaces. 

(a)  The department of public works is hereby directed and authorized to mark off individual parking 
spaces in parking meter zones designated and described in section 23-411, and in all other areas 
where parking in stalls is desired and authorized within the city. Such parking spaces shall be 
designated by lines painted or durably marked on the curbing or surface of the street.  

(b)  At each space so marked, it shall be unlawful to park any vehicle in such a way that such vehicle 
shall not be entirely within the limits of the space so designated.  

(Code 2017, § 26-74)  

Sec. 23-388.   Prohibited parking during snow removal. 

(a)  Whenever the mayor or director of public works or the director's designee finds on the basis of 
excess accumulation of snow, that weather conditions have created or are likely to create hazardous 
road and driving conditions which will impede or are likely to impede movement of fire, health, police, 
emergency or other vital vehicular traffic, the mayor or director of public works or the director's 
designee may declare a snow emergency, and declare that snow removal from priority streets shall 
begin and shall prohibit parking or stopping of vehicles on designated snow removal routes. While 
the snow emergency is in effect, no person shall park, abandon or leave unattended any vehicle 

126



36 
 

upon any snow removal route or portion of such route, as designated as such by subsection (d) of 
this section. Each street designated as a snow removal route shall be marked with signs displaying 
the words, "Emergency Snow Route." A snow removal parking ban shall continue from its 
declaration through the duration of the snow storm, and until the mayor or director of public works or 
the director's designee issues notice that the snow emergency is at an end. The public will be 
notified via local radio, television and newspaper when the snow emergency begins and is 
concluded. The parking prohibition on snow removal routes shall not go into effect until two hours 
after the snow emergency has been declared in accordance with this section. Termination of the 
parking prohibition shall be effective immediately upon the announcement that the snow emergency 
is at an end.  

(b)  When it is declared that snow removal operations are to begin, it shall be unlawful for the driver of 
any vehicle to impede or block traffic on designated snow removal routes.  

(c)  Any police officer of the city police operations division, including duly authorized volunteer officers, 
or the director of public works or the director's designee shall be authorized to cause the towing of 
vehicles blocking traffic or parking on designated snow removal routes during snow removal 
operations in violation of this section. The owner of the vehicle shall pay the costs of towing and 
storage occasioned by the removal of the vehicle as provided herein. In addition any police officer of 
the city police operations division, including duly authorized volunteer officers, the director of public 
works or the director's designee shall be authorized to issue parking tickets for violations of this 
section, parking on designated snow removal routes during snow removal operations.  

(d)  Priority snow removal routes are designated as follows:  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

Second Street  From State Street to Franklin Street  

Third Street  From State Street to Franklin Street  

Fourth Street  From State Street to Washington Street  

Fifth Street  From State Street to Washington Street  

Sixth Street  From State Street to Clay Street  

18th Street (West)  From College Street to Hudson Road  

23rd Street  From College Street to Merner Avenue  

Clay Street  From First Street to Sixth Street  

College Street  From University Avenue to 18th Street  

Division Street  From Eighth Street to 12th Street  

127



37 
 

Franklin Street  From Sixth Street to First Street  

Main Street  From First Street to Sixth Street  

Orchard Drive  From South Main Street to Cedar Heights Drive  

State Street  From First Street to Sixth Street  

Walnut Street  From First Street to 18th Street  

Washington Street  From First Street to Sixth Street  

  

(e)  Special penalty. Any person violating this parking ban shall be fined $25.00 for each offense, in 
addition to the costs of towing and storage.  

(f)  In any proceeding for violation of this section, the registration plates displayed on a motor vehicle 
involved in such violation shall constitute in evidence a prima facie presumption that the registered 
owner of such motor vehicle was the person who parked or placed such motor vehicle at the point 
where such violation occurred.  

(Code 2017, § 26-281; Ord. No. 2679, § 1, 3-9-2009; Ord. No. 2855, § 1, 10-19-2015)  

       Section 8.   Section 24-6, Relocation of Utility Facilities Underground, of Article I, In 
General, of Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is 
hereby repealed in its entirety, and new Section 24-6 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 24-6.   Relocation of utility facilities underground. 

(a)  Assessment of utilities.  

(1)  Upon adoption of the ordinance from which this article is derived and periodically thereafter, but 
at intervals of not more than four years, the director of public works of the city, in consultation 
with the general manager of the city utilities, shall assess the condition of aboveground electric, 
telephone, cable or video systems, internet or other telecommunications utilities facilities, 
including poles, guy wires, lines, and other aboveground infrastructure within the city.  

(2)  At intervals of not more than four years from and after adoption of the ordinance from which 
this article is derived, the general manager of the city utilities shall submit a proposed long-
range, underground and aboveground master plan or plans of the city utilities infrastructure to 
the director of public works of the city. Such plan or plans shall designate the locations within 
the city where then-existing and future planned city utilities infrastructure should be placed 
underground, or should remain or be placed overhead. Such plan or plans shall be based upon 
factors such as the age, size, type and condition of the then-existing and future planned utilities 
infrastructure; city and/or city utilities plans to reconstruct streets, sidewalks, sanitary and storm 
sewer facilities, and other public infrastructure along city streets; the age, size and condition of 
trees along the public right-of-way; whether the public right-of-way lies within the 500-year flood 
level; the available width of public right-of-way for installation and maintenance of city utilities 

128



38 
 

lines and service boxes; appropriateness of placement, installation and maintenance of high-
voltage and/or high-amperage electric lines and related facilities; the availability of federal or 
state disaster-related grants or funds to replace aboveground utilities infrastructure that may be 
conditioned upon such replacement infrastructure being placed either aboveground or 
underground; and other relevant factors, including, without limitation, matters relating to public 
safety, health, welfare, convenience, aesthetics, economy, energy conservation, and availability 
of services.  

(3)  After submission of such plan, consultation with the general manager of the city utilities 
regarding such plan, and such investigation as shall be determined appropriate by the director 
of public works of the city, said long-range plan or plans may be approved by the director of 
public works of the city, in whole or in part, or may be modified in whole or in part, as deemed 
appropriate by such directors. After such long-range plan or plans have been reviewed, 
approved, and/or modified, in whole or in part, such plan or plans shall serve as the guide for 
installation of city utility facilities and infrastructure either aboveground , or underground, as the 
case may be, within the city, for the subsequent four-year period.  

(b)  When the director of public works of the city reasonably determine that the aboveground utilities 
facilities in a particular block or blocks of the city should be relocated underground, by reason of the 
age and condition of the aboveground utilities infrastructure, city and/or city utility plans to 
reconstruct streets, sanitary and storm sewer facilities and other public infrastructure along streets, 
the age, size and condition of trees along the public right-of-way, or other relevant factors, including 
without limitation public safety, health, welfare, convenience, aesthetics, economy, energy 
conservation, and availability of services, the director of public works shall cause a written notice to 
be sent by certified mail to each public utility whose services make use of any of the aboveground 
utilities infrastructure in that particular block or blocks of the city. Such notice shall be given at least 
180 days prior to the date work installing such utilities facilities underground shall commence. The 
notice shall include an order that the identified facilities shall be removed from poles and placed 
underground as provided in this chapter. The notice shall provide a date certain by which time the 
facilities must be placed underground. The director of public works shall coordinate a meeting among 
all affected public utilities, to plan for the work necessary to install all such utilities facilities 
underground. To the maximum extent practicable, the city shall endeavor to cause all of such utilities 
providers to install their utilities facilities underground in a common trench, and at the same time, in 
order to minimize disruption in the public right-of-way, and to cause said utilities facilities to be 
installed underground in the most economically feasible manner for both the city and for all such 
public utility providers. Any facility not placed underground in a common trench must nonetheless be 
placed underground in a location consistent with city allocation of uses of the right-of-way as 
approved by the director of public works. In directing placement of facilities underground, the director 
may exempt facilities or portions of facilities that cannot be undergrounded safely or without 
adversely affecting the reliability or functionality of such facilities or portions of such facilities.  

(c)  The city director shall ensure that the decision to relocate the utility facilities underground in such 
area and any exemptions granted, are made in an open, comparable, non-discriminatory and 
competitively neutral basis among the public utility providers.  

(d)  If any utility provider objects to the determination of the city to cause said utilities' facilities to be 
installed underground, such utility provider shall file a written notice of appeal with the city council, by 
filing the notice of appeal with the city clerk, within 90 days of the date the notice to install the 
facilities underground is mailed to such utility provider. The city council, or the administration 
committee of the city council, as the case may be, shall hold a hearing on the petitioner's appeal 
within 60 days of the date of receipt of the notice of appeal. The petitioner may present written and 
oral evidence at the hearing in support of its appeal, and may be represented by counsel at its own 
expense. The city director of public works along with any other appropriate witnesses shall appear at 
the hearing, and shall present written and oral evidence in support of the notice to require the 
utilities' facilities to be installed underground, and shall be represented by the city attorney. At the 
conclusion of the hearing, the city council, or the administration committee of the city council, as the 
case may be, shall close the hearing, and shall issue a written decision on the appeal within 20 days 
of the date of closing of the hearing on the appeal.  

129



39 
 

(e)  In considering the appeal, the city council or administration committee, as the case may be, shall 
determine whether the decision of the director of public works complies with the purposes stated in 
this chapter, and if there is a reasonable factual basis for the determination of said official that the 
public utilities facilities in the area in question should, in the interests of public safety, health, welfare, 
convenience, aesthetics, economy, energy conservation, reliability of services and other relevant 
factors, be relocated underground; and whether the decision of said official regarding the relocation 
of the utilities facilities underground has been exercised in an open, comparable, non-discriminatory 
and competitively neutral basis among all such public utility providers.  

(Code 2017, § 27-6; Ord. No. 2717, § 1, 9-13-2010; Ord. No. 2791, § 1, 4-22-2013) 

 

INTRODUCED:     May 6, 2019   

PASSED 1
ST

 CONSIDERATION:   May 6, 2019   

PASSED 2
ND

 CONSIDERATION:   May 20, 2019   

PASSED 3
RD

 CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

____________________________ 

       James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

130



 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2942 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING THE FOLLOWING SECTIONS OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENANCTING IN LIEU 

THEREOF, NEW SECTIONS WITH THE SAME NUMERICAL DESIGNATION AS THOSE 

REPEALED:  (1).  SUBSECTION 15-2(20), NUISANCE DEFINED; CERTAIN ACTS, 

CONDITIONS DECLARED AS NUISANCES, OF ARTICLE I, IN GENERAL, OF CHAPTER 

15, NUISANCES;  (2).  SECTION 17-40, SUPERVISION; APPOINTMENT OF ARBORIST 

SUPERVISOR, SECTION 17-41, DUTIES OF ARBORIST SUPERVISOR, SECTION 17-

42, ACTING ARBORIST SUPERVISOR, OF DIVISION 2, ARBORIST SECTION; AND 

SECTION 17-75, SUPERVISION; APPOINTMENT OF CEMETERY SUPERVISOR, 

SECTION 17-86, CARE OF CEMETERY LOTS, SECTION 17-88, PLANTING OF TREES, 

SHRUBS, ETC., ON CEMETERY LOTS, AND SECTION 17-89, CUTTING OR REMOVAL 

OF TREES AND SHRUBS IN CEMETERIES, OF DIVISION 3, CEMETERY SECTION, OF 

ARTICLE II, ARBORIST AND CEMETERY SECTIONS, OF CHAPTER 17, PARKS AND 

RECREATION; (3).  SECTION 17-231, PERMIT FOR PLANTING, TRIMMING OR OTHER 

WORK, SECTION 17-232, TREE TRIMMER’S LICENSE, SECTION 17-236, FASTENING 

SIGNS, WIRES, ETC., SECTION 17-237, DEPOSIT OR STORAGE OF MATERIALS 

IMPEDING PASSAGE OF WATER AND AIR TO ROOTS, SECTION 17-245, FAILURE TO 

DESTROY INFECTED TREES OR WOOD; DESTRUCTION BY CITY, OF ARTICLE VI, 

TREES AND SHRUBS, OF CHAPTER 17, PARKS AND RECREATION; (4).  

CONFORMING TITLES TO SUBSECTIONS, SECTIONS, DIVISIONS, AND ARTICLES 

ACCORDINGLY.            

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 1.  Subsection 15-2(20), Nuisance Defined; Certain Acts, Conditions Declared As 

Nuisances, of Article I, In General, of Chapter 15, Nuisances, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and new Subsection 15-2(20) is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 15-2.   Nuisance defined; certain acts, conditions declared as nuisances. 

Whatever is injurious to the senses or an obstruction to the free use of property so as 
essentially to interfere with the comfortable enjoyment of life or property by the public or 

131



community shall be deemed a nuisance. Nuisances shall include, but shall not be limited to, the 
following:  

                                *                              *                            * 

(20)  Trees infected with infectious disease as identified by the city arborist or operations 
and maintenance division manager; or any dead, diseased or damaged trees or plant 
materials which may harbor serious insect or disease pests or disease injurious to 
other trees or plant materials, or any healthy tree in such a state of deterioration that 
any part of such tree is likely to fall and damage property or cause injury to persons. 
The stump of any tree that is removed must be cut flush with ground level, unless the 
stump is made into a decorative, tasteful yard element. 

 

       Section 2.  Section 17-40, Supervision; Appointment of Arborist Supervisor, Section 17-41, 
Duties Of Arborist Supervisor, Section 17-42, Acting Arborist Supervisor, of Division 2, Arborist 
Section; and Section 17-75, Supervision; Appointment Of Cemetery Supervisor, Section 17-86, 
Care of Cemetery Lots, Section 17-88, Planting of Trees, Shrubs, Etc., on Cemetery Lots and 
Section 17-89, Cutting or Removal of Trees and Shrubs in Cemeteries, of Division 3, Cemetery 
Section, of Article II, Arborist and Cemetery Sections, of Chapter 17, Parks And Recreation, of 
the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby repealed in their entirety 
and new Sections 17-40, 17-41, 17-42, 17-75, 17-86, 17-88, and 17-89 are enacted in lieu 
thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 17-40.  Supervision; appointment of arborist. 

The arborist section of the public works department, operations and maintenance division, 
shall be under the control of the arborist, who shall be appointed by the operations and 
maintenance manager of the public works department, and be directly responsible to the public 
works and parks supervisor.  

(Code 2017, § 20-91; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 17-41.   Duties of arborist . 

The arborist shall have the following duties and responsibilities under the supervision of the 
public works and parks supervisor:  

(1)  To cause, unless otherwise provided, the provisions of this division to be enforced.  

(2)  To direct, regulate and control the planting, caring for and removing of all trees and 
shrubs growing in the streets, parks or other public places in the city.  

(3)  To advise the owners and occupants of private property regarding the kind, culture, 
care and disposal of any tree or shrub within the city limits.  

(Code 2017, § 20-92; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014)  

132



Sec. 17-42.   Acting arborist. 

In the absence of the arborist, the duties and responsibilities of the arborist  enumerated in 
this division shall be those of a designee appointed by the operations and maintenance division 
manager.  

(Code 2017, § 20-93; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 17-75.   Supervision; appointment of cemetery supervisor. 

The cemetery section of the department of public works, operations and maintenance 
division, shall be under the control of the cemetery supervisor, who shall be appointed by the 
director of public works upon recommendation of the operations and maintenance division 
manager and be directly responsible to the operations and maintenance division manager.  

(Code 2017, § 20-106; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

Sec. 17-86.   Care of cemetery lots. 

(a)   Persons authorized to care for lots. No person, other than the owner or his heirs, or a near relative 
or intimate friend, working without compensation, shall be permitted to care for any cemetery lot; but 
all lots for the care of which no provision has been made by a deposit in the permanent care fund 
shall be properly cared for by the duly authorized cemetery supervisor under the direction of the 
operations and maintenance division manager.  

 (b)  Lots provided for by deposit for permanent care. All cemetery lots, the care of which is provided for 
by a deposit in the permanent care fund, shall be especially under the charge of the cemetery 
supervisor, who shall properly seed or sod the lots as often as required, keep them mowed during 
the entire growing season, cut all grass around any marker or monument, and at all times keep such 
lots in a clean and attractive condition.  

(c)  Special assessment. A special assessment in accordance with the rates adopted by the council by 
resolution therefor shall be made against each and every occupied cemetery lot in a cemetery, 
where no other provision has been made for the care of the lot, payable at the office of the city clerk, 
without notice, on or before May 1 of each year. Such assessment shall be delinquent on October 1 
following, at which date a penalty of 25 percent shall be added. No further burials shall be made on 
any lot on which an assessment is due until the assessment, with all penalties, has been paid in full.  

(Code 2017, § 20-117; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 17-88.   Planting of trees, shrubs, etc., on cemetery lots. 

No tree, vine, shrub or other living thing shall be planted on any cemetery lot, except under 
the supervision and with the permission of the cemetery supervisor or the operations and 
maintenance division manager. If planted without such permission, the tree, vine, shrub or other 
living thing may be removed by the cemetery supervisor without notice.  

(Code 2017, § 20-119; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014)  

133



Sec. 17-89.   Cutting or removal of trees and shrubs in cemeteries. 

No person shall cut down or remove any trees and shrubs naturally growing in a cemetery 
without the consent of the cemetery supervisor or the operations and maintenance division 
manager.  

(Code 2017, § 20-120; Ord. No. 2823, § 1, 6-23-2014)  

        Section 3.  Section 17-231, Permit For Planting, Trimming or Other Work, Section 17-232, 
Tree Trimmer’s License, Section 17-236, Fastening Signs, Wires, Etc., Section 17-237, Deposit 
or Storage of Materials Impeding Passage of Water And Air To Roots, Section 17-245, Failure 
To Destroy Infected Trees or Wood; Destruction By City, of Article VI, Trees And Shrubs, of 
Chapter 17, Parks And Recreation, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
are hereby repealed in their entirety and new Sections 17-231, 17-232, 17-236, 17-237 and 17-
245 are enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 17-231.   Permit for planting, trimming or other work. 

(a)  Required. No person shall plant, move, spray, fertilize, brace, trim, cut above or below 
ground or otherwise disturb any tree or shrub in any street, park or other public place in the 
city, or cause such action to be done by others, without first obtaining a written permit from 
the operations and maintenance division manager , who shall issue the permit if, in the 
judgment of the division manager, the desired work is necessary and the proposed method 
and workmanship thereof are of satisfactory nature; provided that a permit will not be 
required for the trimming or maintaining of shrubbery growing on any street, park or other 
public place if such shrubbery does not constitute a public nuisance.  

(b)  Bond. The operations and maintenance manager or arborist supervisor may demand the 
posting of bond or insurance before the permit is granted. Such bond or insurance shall be 
of sufficient amount to reasonably cover any damages that may occur to life or property 
while the provisions of the permit are being carried out.  

(c)  Contents. Every permit granted in accordance with this section by the operations and 
maintenance manager shall describe the work to be done and the estimated cost, define 
the species, sizes and locations of all trees and shrubs concerned, and contain a definite 
date of expiration.  

(d)  Violation of terms. Any permit may be declared void if the terms are violated.  

(Code 2017, § 20-248)  

Sec. 17-232.   Tree trimmer's license. 

(a)  Required; issuance. No person shall engage in the business of removing, cutting or trimming of 
trees or shrubbery in the city without first being granted a license as a tree trimmer. Such license 
shall allow the removing, cutting and trimming of shade trees over 30 feet in height standing in any 
street or other public or private place in the city, upon payment of an annual license fee of such 
amount as is established by resolution of the city council from time to time, which shall become due 
and payable on January 1 of each year.  

(b)  Bond. Any person, before engaging in the business or occupation of removing, cutting or trimming 
trees in the city, shall deposit with the city clerk a good and sufficient bond or evidence of insurance 
of such amount as is established by the city council from time to time, conditioned that such person 

134



will faithfully comply with the provisions of this article, and further conditioned to indemnify, save and 
keep harmless the city and its officers from any and all claims, damages and losses and actions by 
reason of any acts or things done under or by authority or permission granted in this section.  

(c)   Proof of workers' compensation. Any person, before engaging in the business or occupation of 
removing, cutting or trimming trees in the city, shall furnish satisfactory evidence to the arborist or 
operations and maintenance manager that the workers employed by him are covered by a suitable 
workers' compensation policy according to the laws of the state.  

(d)  Certificate of general liability insurance. Any person, before engaging in the business or occupation 
of removing, cutting or trimming trees in the city, shall file with the city clerk a certificate of general 
liability insurance written by a company authorized to transact business in the state, in limits for 
property damage and for a combined single limit for any person, in amounts established by the city 
council from time to time, said certificate to be written on a standard form and carrying an 
endorsement naming the city and its employees as additional insureds as its interest may appear 
and conditioned upon the faithful performance of all duties required of such contractor by any 
ordinances, rules and regulations of the city. It shall be a further condition of said certificate of 
insurance that the obligator will hold the city harmless from any and all damages sustained by 
reason of neglect or incompetency on the part of such contractor, his agents or employees in the 
performance of the work done under a license or permit issued upon the filing of said certificate. Said 
certificate of insurance shall be issued on or before engaging in the business or occupation 
described above and shall be refiled annually and kept in continuous full force and effect. That it is 
the intent and purpose of said certificate of insurance to also bind the individual, company, firm, 
association or partnership, whether it be trade name, corporation, or other business association or 
arrangement with which the principal is associated.  

(Code 2017, § 20-249; Ord. No. 2181, §§ 1, 2, 3-24-1997; Ord. No. 2421, § 1, 3-10-2003; Ord. 

No. 2443, § 1, 8-25-2003)  

Sec. 17-236.   Fastening signs, wires, etc. 

No person shall fasten any sign, box, wire, rope or other material to, around or through any 
tree or shrub in any street, park or other public place in the city, except by permission of the 
arborist or operations and maintenance manager, or when such materials are designed to 
preserve such tree or shrub and have been placed under a permit granted by the arborist.  

(Code 2017, § 20-253)  

Sec. 17-237.   Deposit or storage of materials impeding passage of water and air to 

roots. 

No person shall deposit, place, store or maintain upon any street, park or other public place 
in the city any stone, brick, sand, concrete or other material which will impede the free passage 
of water, air and fertilizer to the roots of any tree or shrub growing therein, except by the 
permission of the arborist or operations and maintenance division manager, or when such 
materials are designed for the construction of sidewalks, paving, gutters or other public 
improvements and have been placed under a permit granted by the city or some department 
thereof.  

(Code 2017, § 20-254)  

135



Sec. 17-245.   Failure to destroy infected trees or wood; destruction by city. 

(a)  Each day a nuisance shall continue, after notice from the operations and maintenance 
division manager or his designee to abate the nuisance within the period set forth in 
subsection (b) of this section, shall constitute a separate offense. Such notice shall be given 
and shall be deemed complete when delivered to such owner, lessee or other person in 
control of such lot or tract of land, or by sending such notice to the owner, lessee or other 
person in control of such lot or tract of land, by the United States registered mail, addressed 
to the owner, lessee or other person in control of such lot or tract of land at his last known 
address.  

(b)  If an owner, lessee or other person in control of a lot or tract of land upon which a 
nuisance exists fails to remove or destroy a tree or wood infected with Dutch elm disease or 
other disease or Elmwood with bark not removed, and the roots thereof, as directed by the 
operations and maintenance division manager, within ten days after notice from the 
operations and maintenance division manager to do so, the operations and maintenance 
division manager, without prejudice to the penalty provided in this article, shall effect 
removal at the expense of such person. The cost thereof shall be assessed in accordance 
with Iowa Code § 364.12(3)(b), (3)(h).  

(Code 2017, § 20-261)        

 

INTRODUCED:     May 6, 2019   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   May 6, 2019   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   May 20, 2019   

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

____________________________ 

       James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

136



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2943 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING THE FOLLOWING SECTIONS OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENANCTING IN LIEU 

THEREOF, NEW SECTIONS WITH THE SAME NUMERICAL DESIGNATION AS THOSE 

REPEALED:  (1).  SECTION 2-475, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, AND SECTION 2-537, 

INFORMATION SYSTEMS MANAGER, OF DIVISION 3, INFORMATION SYSTEMS 

DIVISION, OF ARTICLE V, DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS; 

AND SECTION 2-918, DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES—GENERALLY, OF 

DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, AND SECTION 2-987, FIRE CHIEF, OF DIVISION 3, FIRE 

OPERATIONS DIVISION, OF ARTICLE VIII, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY 

SERVICES, ALL CONTAINED IN CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION; (2).  SUBSECTION 

12-27(a), MEMBERSHIP; APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS; TERM OF OFFICE; AND 

QUALIFICATIONS, OF ARTICLE II, HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION, OF CHAPTER 12, 

HUMAN RELATIONS;  (3).  SECTION 15-80, ENFORCEMENT OF ARTICLE, OF 

ARTICLE III, NOISE, OF CHAPTER 15, NUISANCES; (4).  SECTION 17-140, POWERS 

AND DUTIES OF BOARD, OF ARTICLE III, ART AND CULTURE CENTER BOARD; AND 

SECTION 17-304, DIRECTOR OF MUNICIPAL OPERATIONS AND PROGRAMS TO 

SERVE AS EX-OFFICIO MEMBER OF BOARD AND SECTION 305, POWERS AND 

DUTIES OF BOARD, OF ARTICLE VIII, VISITORS AND TOURISM BOARD; AND 

SECTION 17-332, MEMBERSHIP OF BOARD; APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS, AND 

SECTION 17-337, POWERS AND DUTIES OF BOARD, OF ARTICLE IX, COMMUNITY 

CENTER AND SENIOR SERVICES BOARD, ALL CONTAINED IN CHAPTER 17, PARKS 

AND RECREATION; (5).  SECTION 23-41, COLLECTION AND DISPOSITION OF 

MONEY DEPOSITED IN PARKING METERS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF 

ARTICLE II, ADMINISTRATION AND OBEDIENCE, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND 

MOTOR VEHICLES; (6).  SECTION 24-38, WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION, AND 

SECTION 24-41, GENERAL RENTAL FEES, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE 

II, SEWERS AND SEWAGE DISPOSAL, AND SECTION 24-274, MONITORINIG OF 

DISCHARGES, OF ARTICLE IV, ILLICIT DISCHARGE DETECTION AND ELIMINATION, 

ALL CONTAINIED IN CHAPTER 24, UTILITIES; (7).  SUBSECTION 26-62(f), APPEALS, 

137



2 
 

OF DIVISION 2, BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT, OF ARTICLE II, ADMINISTRATION AND 

ENFORCEMENT; AND SECTION 26-190, P PUBLIC ZONING DISTRICT, OF DIVISION 2, 

SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF 

CHAPTER 26, ZONING; (8).  CONFORMING TITLES TO SUBSECTIONS, SECTIONS, 

DIVISIONS, AND ARTICLES ACCORDINGLY.            

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 1.  Section 2-475, of Division 1, Generally, and Section 2-537, Information Systems 

Manager, of Division 3, Information Systems Division, of Article V, Department of Finance And 

Business Operations; and Section 2-918, Director Of Public Safety Services—Generally, of 

Division 1, Generally, and Section 2-987, Fire Chief, of Division 3, Fire Operations Division, of 

Article VIII, Department of Public Safety Services, All Contained In Chapter 2, Administration, of 

the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby repealed in their entirety 

and new Sections 2-475, 2-537, 2-918 and 2-987 are enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-475.   Director of finance and business operations—Generally. 

(a)  Appointment. The director of finance and business operations shall be recommended for 
appointment by the city administrator. The city administrator shall recommend this appointment to 
the mayor for city council approval.  

(b)  Powers and duties.  

(1)  The director of finance and business operations shall be the chief finance officer (CFO) of the 
city and shall supervise, direct and manage the conduct of the following divisions:  

a.  Public records.  

b.  Financial services.  

c.  Legal services.  

d.  Information systems.  

The director of finance and business operations shall also supervise, direct, manage and act as 
liaison to, the library and community center/senior services division.  

(2)   The director is empowered to exert supervisory and management control over each division 
and is empowered to appoint a controller/city treasurer, and information systems manager, and 
a city attorney and to recommend to the city administrator, city council, and mayor a city clerk 
for yearly appointment as division heads.  Each division head is individually charged by the 
director to carry out all of the statutory duties mandated by federal, state and local regulations of 
his or her division.  The director is responsible for the establishment of broad policies related to 
departmental conduct, procedures and operations, and the formation of programs which provide 
the citizens of the city, the city administrator, the mayor, the city council and each department 
with a full range of support services.  The director peremptorily may suspend, demote or 
discharge any subordinate for any lawful reason.  

(3)  The director shall be responsible for the preparation and administration of the departmental 
work program and budgets to ensure that all statutory and subsidiary programs are 
implemented by the division responsible.  

(4)  The director shall perform all other duties assigned by the city administrator, mayor, and city 
council and shall be under the direct administrative supervision of the city administrator.  

138



3 
 

(Code 2017, § 2-308; Ord. No. 2825, § 1, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-537.   Information systems manager. 

(a)  Appointment. An information systems manager shall be appointed by the director of finance and 
business operations and shall be directly responsible to the director of finance and business 
operations. Such appointment shall be in accordance with all statutory civil service procedures.  

(b)  Duties. The information systems manager shall supervise, direct and manage the information 
systems division. The information systems manager's duties shall be as follows:  

(1)  Promulgating orders, rules and regulations for the conduct and guidance of the members of the 
information systems division within the parameters of departmental policy.  

(2)  Making an annual report of the activities of the division for each fiscal year, the report to be 
filed with the finance and business operations director.  

(3)  Assigning the personnel of the information systems division as deemed necessary to carry out 
the functions of the information systems division, and prescribing rules and regulations for the 
conduct and management of the division consistent with the department's policies.  

(4)  Providing computer maintenance and operations support to all departments through the city 
mainframe computer, fileservers, network infrastructure, personal computers and all related 
peripheral equipment.  

(5)  Coordinating the purchase and usage of all computer hardware and software in compliance 
with administrative policy to ensure system integrity.  

(6)  Managing the city's communications system, including voice mail system, telecommunications 
and computer communications.  

(7)  Coordinating a training program which provides employees with the type of education 
necessary for the functions performed.  

(8)  Coordinating the purchase and usage of video production equipment.  

(9)  Managing the city's government, educational, local origination and public access channels.  

(10)  Coordinating the production of video programs for the government access channel with all city 
departments.  

(11)  Coordinating the production of video programs for the government and educational access 
channels with institutions and community organizations outside of the city's operation.  

(12)  Performing or causing to be performed any other duties as directed by the director of finance 
and business operations.  

(13)  Maintaining and operating police computer and video systems. 

(14)   Maintaining official city maps and keeping the maps in a correct and up-to-date fashion 
showing new additions, streets, alleys, avenues, public squares, public buildings, bridges, 
streams and other pertinent objects. The collection of maps shall include, but not be limited to, 
the city street, plat, zoning, thoroughfare, sewer and ward and precinct maps.   

(Code 2017, § 2-353; Ord. No. 2825, § 1, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-918.   Director of public safety services—Generally. 

(a)  Appointment. The director of public safety services shall be recommended for appointment by the 
city administrator. The city administrator shall recommend this appointment to the mayor for city 

139



4 
 

council approval. Such appointment shall be in accordance with all applicable statutory civil service 
procedures.  

(b)  Powers and duties.  

(1)  The director of public safety services shall supervise, direct and manage the conduct of the 
following divisions:  

a.  Police operations.  

b.  Fire operations.  

(2)   The director is empowered to exert supervisory and management control over each division. 
The director may also serve as either the police chief or the fire chief. The director is 
empowered to recommend for appointment to the city administrator, and by the city 
administrator to the mayor, for city council approval, either a deputy director of police operations 
(police chief) or a deputy director of fire operations (fire chief), who are individually charged by 
the director to carry out all of the statutory duties mandated by federal, state and local 
regulations of his or her respective division.  

(3)  The director is responsible for the establishment of broad policies related to departmental 
conduct, procedures and operations, and the formation of programs which provide the citizens 
of the city with police and fire protection. Said policies and programs shall provide the latitude 
for each division chief to respond rapidly and effectively during emergencies within the scope of 
federal, state and local regulations.  

(4)   It shall be the duty of the director to cause the enforcement of the laws of the state and the 
ordinances of the city of which the department takes cognizance.  The director shall also be 
responsible for the control, direction, efficiency, and internal affairs of the department of public 
safety services and shall have the power and authority to establish and assign programs within 
the department as is deemed necessary to carry out the functions, objectives and goals of said 
department mandated by the city council, state or federal government of said department and to 
proscribe rules, regulations, policies and procedures for the conduct and management of that 
department as deemed necessary to implement said programs.  The director may peremptorily 
suspend, demote, or discharge any subordinate appointed by the director for any lawful reason.   

(5)  The director shall perform all other duties assigned by the city administrator, mayor, and city 
council and shall be under the direct administrative supervision of the city administrator.  

(Code 2017, § 2-628; Ord. No. 2825, § 4, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 2-978.   Fire chief. 

(a)  Appointment. If the director of the public safety services department is not the appointed fire chief, a 
deputy director of fire operations, also known as the fire chief, shall be recommended for 
appointment by the director of public safety services to the city administrator, and by the city 
administrator to the mayor, for city council approval. Said deputy director of fire operations shall be 
directly responsible to the director of public safety services. If the director of the public safety 
services department is the appointed fire chief, said director shall manage the fire operations 
division, and shall be directly responsible to the city administrator. All appointments of deputy 
directors shall be in accordance with all applicable statutory civil service procedures.  

(b)  Powers and duties. The fire chief shall supervise, direct and manage the fire operations division. 
The duties shall be as follows:  

(1)  To promulgate orders, rules and regulations for the conduct and guidance of the members of 
the fire operations division within the parameters of that department's policy.  

(2)  To keep a record of all fires, emergency responses or disaster assistance calls that occur 
during the fiscal year and file the same with the public safety services director.  

140



5 
 

(3)  To maintain records of all hazardous materials stored, processed and utilized by private and 
public entities in accordance with federal and state regulations.  

(4)  To assign the personnel of the fire operations division, as deemed necessary to carry out its 
functions; and to prescribe rules and regulations for the conduct and management of the 
division consistent with the department's policies.  

(5)  To peremptorily suspend, demote or discharge any subordinate for neglect of duty, 
disobedience, misconduct, or failure to properly perform the person's duty in accordance with 
law and the department's policy.  

(6)  To provide and coordinate training programs for the fire operations division related to the 
division's specialized functions.  

(7)  To maintain accurate and complete records for the fire operations division in accordance with 
federal, state and local regulations.  

(8)  To provide a coordinated community relations program which educates the general public with 
regard to fire prevention and hazardous materials storage, handling and disposal.  

(9)  To provide inspection and prevention programs which enforce the International Fire Code and 
Minimum Rental Housing Code.  

(10)  To prepare a fire operations division budget for the public safety services director's review 
and approval for the city administrator's, mayor's and city council's annual consideration.  

(11)  To perform or cause to be performed any other duties as directed by the director of public 
safety services.  

(12)  To make all appointments or promotions for positions in the fire operations division as 
provided by state statute.  

(13)  To administer the city's rental housing inspections program, including the Section 8 housing 
program, and commercial property inspections program.  

 (Code 2017, § 2-653; Ord. No. 2825, § 4, 6-23-2014)  

       Section 2.    Subsection 12-27(a), Membership; Appointment of Members; Term of Office; 

And Qualifications, of Article II, Human Rights Commission, of Chapter 12, Human Relations, of 

the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and 

new Subsection 12-27(a) is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 12-27.   Membership; appointment of members; term of office; and qualifications. 

(a)  The city human rights commission shall consist of 9 members, appointed by the mayor 
with the advice and consent of the city council. Appointees subsequent to the initial 
appointees shall serve for a term of three years, and thereafter until a successor has been 
appointed. Vacancies shall be filled within 60 days for the remainder of an unexpired term. 
Appointments shall take into consideration the various racial, religious, economic, cultural, 
sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, physical disability and social groups in the city.  

        

       Section 3.  Section 15-80, Enforcement of Article, of Article III, Noise, of Chapter 15, 

Nuisances, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its 

entirety and new Section 15-80 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

141



6 
 

Sec. 15-80.   Enforcement of article. 

It shall be the duty of the chief of police or designee to enforce the provisions of this article.  

(Code 2017, § 18-71)  

Section 4.  Section 17-140, Powers and Duties of Board, of Article III, Art and Culture 
Center Board, and Section 17-304, Director of Municipal Operations and Programs To Serve As 
Ex-Officio Member of Board; and Section 17-305, Powers and Duties of Board, of Article VIII, 
Visitors And Tourism Board; and Section 17-332, Membership of Board; Appointment of 
Members, and Section 17-337, Powers and Duties of Board, of Article IX, Community Center 
and Senior Services Board, All Contained in Chapter 17, Parks And Recreation, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby repealed in their entirety and new 
Sections 17-140, 17-304, 17-305, 17-332 and 17-337 are enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 17-140.   Powers and duties of board. 

The city art and culture board shall have and possess the following powers and duties and such 
other powers as may be incidental thereto as necessary, and such other powers as may be expressly 
conferred upon it by law:  

 (1)  To adopt rules and regulations governing the board's organization and procedure as may be 
deemed necessary. All bylaws, rules or regulations shall be consistent with state, federal and 
local statutes.  

(2)  To develop and provide an art and culture program for the citizens of the city based on the 
level of financial support provided by the city council and other entities.  

(3)  To determine the operations and programming policy for the city art and culture center, which 
will be administered by the department of community development through the visitors and 
tourism/cultural programs division manager.  

(4)  To participate, if requested by the director of community development, in the selection process 
of the visitors and tourism/cultural programs division manager.  

(5)  Jointly with the director of municipal operations and programs, to evaluate the performance of 
the visitors and tourism/cultural programs division manager on a yearly basis.  

(6)   To make recommendations to the city council regarding the disposition of all gifts, allocations, 
devices and bequests that may be made in the city for the purpose of establishing, increasing or 
improving the city art and culture program or the development of the art and culture center. 
However, when any such gift, donation, devise or bequest is conditioned on any act of the city, 
the city council must first determine whether such condition can be met.  

(7)  To serve as the city's review agency and coordinator of all outside agency and special group 
requests for city financial support related to the provision of art, theater, music or other cultural 
services.  

(8)  On behalf of the city, to accept gifts or works of art and select or make purchases of pictures, 
portraits, statuary and relics, and other objects of art, in the original and in replicas or copies, 
books, periodicals, papers and journals on the subject of art, and furniture, fixtures, stationery 
and supplies for such art.  

(9)   To recommend to the city council expenditures by the community development department on 
behalf of the city and board in conformance with the board's program policies. 

(Code 2017, § 20-163; Ord. No. 2823, § 2, 6-23-2014)  

142



7 
 

Sec. 17-304.   Director of community development  to serve as ex-officio member of 
board. 

The director of community development shall serve as an ex-officio member of the city 
visitors and tourism board, without voting privileges.  

(Code 2017, § 20-326; Ord. No. 2823, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

 Sec. 17-305.   Powers and duties of board. 

The city visitors and tourism board shall have and possess the following powers and duties and such 
other powers as may be incidental thereto as necessary, and such other powers as may be expressly 
conferred upon it by law:  

(1)  To adopt rules and regulations governing the board's organization and procedure as may be 
deemed necessary. All bylaws, rules or regulations shall be consistent with state, federal and 
local statutes and shall be subject to the approval of the city council.  

(2)  To develop and provide visitors and tourism programs for visitors to the city based on the level 
of financial support provided by the city council and other entities.  

(3)  To enhance the economic development of the city by promoting the city as a visitors 
destination and as a viable setting to hold meetings, conventions, special events and 
community attractions.  

(4)   To determine the operations and programming policy for visitors and tourism events, that will 
be administered by the department of community development through the manager of visitors 
and tourism/cultural programs division.  

(5)   To participate, if requested by the director of community development, in the selection process 
of the visitors and tourism/cultural programs division manager.  

 (6)  Jointly with the director of municipal operations and programs, to evaluate the performance of 
the manager of visitors and tourism/cultural programs division on a yearly basis. The board may 
recommend to the director that the manager of visitors and tourism/cultural programs division 
be dismissed for cause, incompetency, inattention to duties or failure to provide satisfactory 
program leadership, following a vote of two-thirds of the board members and compliance with 
the city's personnel policy and procedures.  

(7)  To serve as the city's review agency and coordinator of all outside agency and special group 
requests for city financial support related to the use of hotel/motel tax proceeds to support 
visitors and tourism services.  

(8)  To recommend to the city council the approval of grants, projects or programs when necessary 
and timely as a part of the city's annual budget process.  

(9)  To recommend to the city council for its approval guidelines and policies related to grant 
application processes, procedures and authorizations.  

(10)   To recommend to the city council expenditures by the community development department 
on behalf of the city and board in conformance with the board's program policies.  

 (Code 2017, § 20-327; Ord. No. 2823, § 3, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 17-332.   Membership of board; appointment of members. 

(a)   Subject to the provisions of subsection (e) of this section, the city community center and senior 
services board shall be composed of five members, who shall be citizens of the city.  

143



8 
 

(b)  The members shall be qualified by general knowledge or experience in matters related to senior 
activities and community social programs.  

(c)  Members shall not hold any elective position in the city.  

(d)  The members shall be appointed by the mayor, subject to approval of the city council.  

(e)  In order for the board to reduce to five members, members shall not be reappointed as their terms 
expire, except to achieve gender balance.  

(Code 2017, § 20-330; Ord. No. 2823, § 4, 6-23-2014)  

Sec. 17-337.   Powers and duties of board. 

The city community center and senior services board shall have and possess the following powers 
and duties and such other powers as may be incidental thereto as necessary, and such other powers as 
may be expressly conferred upon it by law:  

(1)  To adopt rules and regulations governing the board's organization and procedure as may be 
deemed necessary. All bylaws, rules or regulations shall be consistent with state, federal and 
local statutes and shall be subject to the approval of the city council.  

(2)   To recommend to the community center/senior services section of the department of finance 
and business operations community center and  senior services programs for senior citizens of 
the city based on the level of financial support provided by the city council and other entities.  

(4)   Along with the library director, the director of finance and business operations and the city 
council, determine the operations and programming policy for community center and senior 
events, which will be administered by the department of finance and business operations 
through the community center and senior services section.  

(5)  Jointly, if requested by the director of finance and business operations, to evaluate the 
performance of the community center and senior services section on a yearly basis.  

(6)  To recommend to the city council the approval of grants, projects or programs when necessary 
and timely as a part of the city's annual budget process for senior services or community center 
improvements.  

 (Code 2017, § 20-335; Ord. No. 2823, § 4, 6-23-2014)  

        

       Section 5.  Section 23-41, Collection and Disposition of Money Deposited In Parking 

Meters, of Division 1, Generally, of Article II, Administration and Obedience, of Chapter 23, 

Traffic And Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety and new Section 23-41 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 23-41.   Collection and disposition of money deposited in parking meters. 

It shall be the duty of the parking enforcement and administration section of the public 
records division of the department of finance and business operations to make regular 
collections of the money deposited in the parking meters of the city. It shall be the duty of such 
persons removing the coins to place them in the approved container and to deliver the container 
to the city's financial institution so that the funds may be counted and deposited in the city's 
account.  

(Code 2017, § 26-49; Ord. No. 2729, § 1, 2-14-2011)  

144



9 
 

       Section 6.  Section 24-38, Water Reclamation Division, and Section 24-41, General Rental 

Fees, of Division 1, Generally, of Article II, Sewers And Sewage Disposal; and Section 24-274, 

Monitoring of Discharges, of Article IV, Illicit Discharge Detection And Elimination, All Contained 

In Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby 

repealed in their entirety and new Sections 24-38, 24-41 and 24-274 are enacted in lieu thereof, 

as follows: 

Sec. 24-38.   Water reclamation division. 

The water reclamation division of the department of public works is hereby created. The 
water reclamation division shall be under the control of the water reclamation manager, who 
shall be appointed by and be directly responsible to the director of public works.  

(Ord. No. 2924, § 27-27, 6-4-2018)  

Sec. 24-41.   General rental fees. 

(a)  Monthly rental fee: determination.  

(1)  Subject to the exceptions hereinafter provided, each metered dwelling which uses city water, 
shall pay to the city a monthly sewer rental fee, the same to be determined by the amount of city 
water used, as follows: For up to and including the first 200 cubic feet of water used, hereinafter 
referred to as the "base rate," the monthly sewer rental fee shall be as shown in the column of 
the chart set forth below, entitled, "Base Rate," commencing on the date set forth in the 
corresponding row of the column entitled, "Date of Rate Change."  

(2)  For water uses over 200 cubic feet, hereinafter referred to as the "incremental rate," the 
monthly sewer rental fee shall be as shown in the column of the chart set forth below, entitled, 
"Incremental Rate," commencing on the date set forth in the corresponding row of the column 
entitled, "Date of Rate Change."  

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS  

SEWER RENTAL FEE SCHEDULE  

Date of  

Rate  

Change  

Base Rate  
Incremental  

Rate  

July 1, 2018  $18.52 per 200 cubic feet of water used  $3.32 per 100 cubic feet of water used  

July 1, 2019  $19.45 per 200 cubic feet of water used  $3.49 per 100 cubic feet of water used  

July 1, 2020  $20.42 per 200 cubic feet of water used  $3.66 per 100 cubic feet of water used  

July 1, 2021  $21.44 per 200 cubic feet of water used  $3.84 per 100 cubic feet of water used  

  

145



10 
 

(b)  Maximum fees for residential use. Residential sewer rental fees during the months of May through 
November shall not exceed the average amount charged for usage during the previous January 
through March period.  

(c)   Reduction for low-income households. Each payor of the monthly sewer rental fee who meets the 
low-income requirement, as set by the U.S. Government, contained in the Section 8 Housing 
Assistance Program of the city, may apply annually to the director of public works for, and be 
granted, a $3.00 per month reduction in the monthly sewer rental fee for the first 200 cubic feet of 
water used.  

(d)  Users without city water service. Each user of city sanitary sewer which does not have water 
provided and metered by the city utilities shall be charged a monthly sewer rental fee which is two 
times the base rate which is provided for in subsection (a) of this section. That user may, however, 
through certified metering of well water for residential use or provision of receipts from a recognized 
adjoining public water jurisdiction, provide to the director of community development documentation 
of actual water usage. If water usage can be verified, that user will be charged the monthly sewer 
rental fee as provided in subsections (a) and (b) of this section.  

(e)  Mobile home parks. Mobile home parks utilizing a central water metering system shall be charged 
the same monthly sewer rental fees for each dwelling unit connected to the public sewage disposal 
system as are provided for in subsection (a) of this section.  

(f)  Determination of multiple dwelling rental fees. Multiple dwellings using a single water meter shall pay 
at the same rates listed in subsection (a) of this section, with the usage for each individual dwelling 
unit determined by dividing the amount of water metered by the number of dwelling units, regardless 
of occupancy of said units.  

(g)  Determination of commercial, industrial rental fees. Commercial and industrial sewer rental fees 
shall be based on actual water usage, metered or unmetered, including water added to the sewage 
disposal system by the commercial or industrial users, at the same rates described in subsection (a) 
of this section. However, the director of community development may establish reduced sewer rental 
fees, to be reviewed on an annual basis, for commercial and industrial users which have unique 
discharges requiring very little actual treatment, such as the discharge of cooling water or boiler 
blowdown.  

(h)   Residential monthly fee for certain commercial, industrial users. Commercial and industrial users 
that use higher volumes of water in the months May through November each year exclusively for 
purposes such as watering lawns, and can demonstrate to the director of public works that said 
water does not enter the sanitary sewer system may have their sewer bills adjusted such that sewer 
user fees billed for usage May through November each year will not exceed the average bills for 
usage in the months December through April each year.  

(i)  Industrial surcharge. An industrial user, as defined in article II, division 2 of this chapter, shall be 
surcharged at the rate of $0.10 for each pound of both biochemical oxygen demand and total 
suspended solids, as defined in article II, division 2 of this chapter, for all discharges to the sanitary 
sewer system which exceed a concentration of 300 milligrams per liter.  

(j)  Inclusion of state sales tax. State sales tax is computed and included in the rates included in this 
section.  

(k)   Billing adjustments. Billing adjustments may be made for any residential, commercial or industrial 
users that can demonstrate to the director of public works that water used does not enter the sanitary 
sewer system. 

 (l)  Payment. All fees required to be paid by this section shall be paid at the same time the payment for 
city water service is made or on the first day of the month for those users of sewer service who do 
not use city water service. All required payments are to be made at the office of the municipal 
utilities.  

(m)  Sanitary sewer surcharge for discharge of stormwater to city sanitary sewer system. The owner of 
any property in the city who fails to comply with the provisions of section 7-201 or 7-202, relating to 

146



11 
 

discharge of stormwater or groundwater into the city sanitary sewer system, shall be assessed a 
surcharge fee, to be added to the property owner's city sewer bill, in the amount of $100.00 per 
month, as provided in section 7-203.  

(Ord. No. 2924, § 27-30, 6-4-2018)  

Sec. 24-274.   Monitoring of discharges. 

(a)  The city inspection services manager and/or city engineer, bearing proper credentials and 
identification, may enter and inspect properties within the city if there is reasonable cause to 
believe that an illicit discharge to the MS4 is occurring. These inspections may include 
investigations, monitoring, observation, measurement, enforcement, sampling, and testing, 
to determine if a suspected discharge is in fact illicit.  

(b)  The city inspection services manager or city engineer shall duly notify the owner of said 
property, or the representative of the owner or other responsible person on site, of the 
inspection at least 24 hours in advance of the inspection, except as provided in subsection 
(c) of this section. The inspection shall be conducted at reasonable times during the course 
of the business day, except as provided in subsection (c) of this section.  

(c)  In the event the city inspection services manager or city engineer reasonably believes that 
discharges from the property into the MS4 may cause an imminent and substantial threat to 
human health or the environment, the inspection may take place without notice to the owner 
of the property or a representative on site. The inspector shall present proper credentials 
upon reasonable request by the owner or the owner's representative when contacted.  

(d)  Upon refusal by any property owner to permit an inspector to enter a site or continue an 
inspection, the inspector shall terminate the inspection or confine the inspection to areas to 
which no objection is raised. The inspector shall immediately report the refusal, and the 
grounds of the refusal, to the inspection services manager or city engineer. The city 
inspection services manager or city engineer may seek appropriate compulsory process in 
accordance with law.  

(e)  The city inspection services manager and/or city engineer shall have the right to place 
such devices on the property as are reasonably necessary, in the discretion of the 
inspection services manager or city engineer, to conduct monitoring and/or sampling of 
discharges.  

(Code 2017, § 27-213; Ord. No. 2570, § 1, 2-13-2006)  

       Section 7. Subsection 26-62(f), Appeals, of Division 2, Board of Adjustment, of Article II, 
Administration And Enforcement; and Section 26-190, P Public Zoning District, of Division 2, Specific 
Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby repealed in their entirety and new 
Subsection 26-62 and new Section 26-190 are enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 26-62.   Appeals. 

(f)  In exercising the powers mentioned in this section, the board may, in conformity with the 
provisions of law, reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or modify the order, requirement, 
decision or determination as it believes proper, and to that end shall have all the zoning 
administration powers of the department of community development. The concurring vote of 
four members of the board shall be necessary to reverse any order, requirement, decision 

147



12 
 

or determination of the department, or to decide in favor of the applicant on any matter 
upon which it is required to pass under this chapter; provided, however, that the action of 
the board shall not become effective until after the resolution of the board, setting forth the 
full reason of its decision and the vote of each member participating therein, has been 
spread upon the minutes. Such resolution, immediately following the board's final decision, 
shall be filed in the office of the board, and shall be open to public inspection.  

(Ord. No. 2922, § 1(29-59), 5-7-2018) 

Sec. 26-190.   P Public Zoning District. 

The P Public Zoning District is reserved exclusively for structures and uses of land owned 
by the federal government, the state, the county, the city, and the Cedar Falls Community 
School District. Although such publicly-owned property is generally exempt from city zoning 
regulations and requirements, it is expected that such governmental authorities shall cooperate 
with the city's department of community services to encourage structures on and uses of public 
land which shall be compatible with the general character of the area in which such public 
property is located. The public zoning district classification also serves as notice to those 
owning or purchasing land in proximity to publicly-owned land, which is not generally subject to 
the regulations contained in this division.  

(Ord. No. 2922, § 1(29-169), 5-7-2018)  

 

INTRODUCED:     May 6, 2019   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   May 6, 2019   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   May 20, 2019   

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

____________________________ 

       James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

148



Prepared by Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319-273-8600 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2944 
 

       AN ORDINANCE (1) REPEALING SECTION 2-574, PARKING ENFORCEMENT AND 
ADMINISTRATION SECTION, OF DIVISION 4, PUBLIC RECORDS DIVISION, OF 
ARTICLE V, DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS, OF 
CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION 2-574, 
PARKING ENFORCEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION SECTION; AND (2) REPEALING 
SECTION 23-23, PENALTY FOR VIOLATION OF ARTICLE, OF DIVISION 1, 
GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, ADMINISTRATION AND OBEDIENCE, OF CHAPTER 23, 
TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW SECTION 23-23, 
PENALTY FOR VIOLATION OF ARTICLE. 

 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
       1.     Section 1.  Section 2-574, Parking Enforcement and Administration Section, of 

Division 4, Public Records Division, of Article V, Administration, of Chapter 2, 
Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 
repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-574, Parking Enforcement and Administration 
Section is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

 
Sec. 2-574. - Parking enforcement and administration section. 
  
(a)  The parking enforcement and administration section of the public records division of the 

department of finance and business operations for the city is hereby created.  

(b)  It shall be the duty of the parking enforcement and administration section of the public 
records division to provide a full range of parking enforcement and administration services 
dealing with parking enforcement equipment and other parking facilities, and related 
parking enforcement provisions.  

(c)  The duties of the parking enforcement and administration section shall be as follows:  

(1)  To provide for enforcement and collection of all parking enforcement equipment 
locations and other parking facilities, and repair of equipment.  

(2)  Subject to the approval of the council, the city clerk shall appoint parking enforcement 
personnel on a full-time or part-time basis, to be compensated from parking 
enforcement and administration section funds.  

(3)  To maintain all parking enforcement equipment and other parking facilities and related 
administration records, and handle all parking receipts and disbursements.  

(4)  To enforce and administer all of the provisions of division 2, parking enforcement 
districts, equipment, operations and facilities, of article IV, stopping, standing and 
parking, of chapter 23, traffic and motor vehicles, and any other duties and 
responsibilities assigned to said section by the director of finance and business 
operations or the city council.  

(Code 2017, § 2-375; Ord. No. 2825, § 1, 6-23-2014) 

149



2.      Section 2.  Section 23-23, Penalty for Violation of Article, of Division 1, Generally, of 

Article II, Administration and Obedience, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the 

Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a 

new Section 23-23, Penalty for Violation of Article, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

 Sec. 23-23.   Penalty for violation of article. 

(a)  It is a simple misdemeanor for any person to do any act forbidden or to fail to perform any 
act required by any of the provisions of this chapter.  

(b)  Every person convicted of a simple misdemeanor for a violation of any of the provisions of 
this chapter for which another penalty is not provided shall be punished as provided in 
section 1-8.  

(c)  The department of public works shall post signs informing motorists that the scheduled 
fine for committing a moving traffic violation on a road construction zone is doubled or is 
$100.00, whichever is less. Notwithstanding subsections (a) and (b) of this section, the 
scheduled fine for any moving traffic violation provided in this chapter shall be doubled or 
shall be set at $100.00, whichever is less, if the violation occurs within a road construction 
zone as defined in section 23-2.  

(Code 2017, § 26-31; Ord. No. 1943, § 23, 5-13-1991; Ord. No. 2036, § 2, 11-22-1993)  

 

INTRODUCED:     May 20, 2019   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   May 20, 2019   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

____________________________ 

       James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

150



1 
 

 

 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2945 

 AN ORDINANCE (1) REPEALING ARTICLE I, IN GENERAL, OF CHAPTER 23, 

TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF NEW ARTICLE I, IN 

GENERAL; AND     (2) REPEALING ARTICLE IV, STANDING, STOPPING AND 

PARKING, INCLUDING DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, AND DIVISION 2, PARKING 

METERS AND OTHER PARKING FACILITIES, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND 

MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF NEW ARTICLE IV STANDING, 

STOPPING AND PARKING, INCLUDING NEW DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, AND NEW 

DIVISION 2, PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, EQUIPMENT, OPERATIONS AND 

FACILITIES; AND (3) CONFORMING TITLES TO SUBSECTIONS, SECTIONS, 

DIVISIONS, AND ARTICLES ACCORDINGLY.           . 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

 

Section 1.     Article I, In General, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new 

Article 1, In General, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 

of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 23-1.   Purpose of chapter. 

The purpose of this chapter is to regulate traffic and the use of the streets of the city, and to provide 
for the enforcement of the traffic regulations.  

(Code 2017, § 26-2)  

Sec. 23-2.   Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Alley means a thoroughfare laid out, established and platted as such by the council.  

All-terrain vehicle means a motor vehicle designed to travel on three or more wheels and designed 
primarily for off-road recreational use but not including farm tractors or equipment, construction 
equipment, forestry vehicles, or lawn and grounds maintenance vehicles.  

151



2 
 

Authorized emergency vehicle means vehicles of the fire operations division, police vehicles, 
ambulances and emergency vehicles owned by the United States, this state or any subdivision of this 
state or any municipality therein, and such privately owned ambulances, rescue or disaster vehicles as 
are designated or authorized by the director of transportation under Iowa Code § 321.451.  

Bicycle means either of the following:  

(1)  A device having two wheels and having at least one saddle or seat for the use of a rider which 
is propelled by human power; or  

(2)  A device having two or three wheels with fully-operable pedals and an electric motor of less 
than 750 watts (one horsepower), whose maximum speed on a paved level surface, when 
powered solely by such a motor while ridden, is less than 20 miles per hour.  

Business district means the territory contiguous to and including a street or highway when 50 percent 
or more of the frontage thereon for a distance of 300 feet or more is occupied by buildings in use for 
business.  

Crosswalk means that portion of a roadway ordinarily included within the prolongation or connection 
of the lateral lines of sidewalks at intersections, or any portion of a roadway distinctly indicated for 
pedestrian crossing by lines or other markings on the surface.  

Curb loading zone means a space adjacent to a curb or reserved for the exclusive use of vehicles 
during the loading or unloading of passengers or materials.  

Driver's license means any license or permit issued to a person to operate a motor vehicle on the 
streets of this city or on the highways of this state, including, but not limited to, a temporary restricted or 
temporary license or intermediate license and an instruction, chauffer's instruction, commercial driver's 
instruction, or temporary permit.  

Electric personal assistive mobility device means a self-balancing, non-tandem two-wheeled device 
powered by an electric propulsion system that averages 750 watts and is designed to transport one 
person, with a maximum speed on a paved level surface of less than 20 miles per hour. The maximum 
speed shall be calculated based on operation of the device by a person who weighs 170 pounds when 
the device is powered solely by the electric propulsion system. The term "electric personal assistive 
mobility device" does not include an assistive device as defined in Iowa Code § 216E.1.  

Farm tractor means every motor vehicle designed and used primarily as a farm implement for 
drawing plows, mowing machines and other implements of husbandry.  

Frontage occupied by the building means the linear measure of the plot of ground upon which the 
building is located abutting upon the street or highway.  

Frontage on a highway for a distance of 300 feet or more means the total frontage on both sides of 
the highway for such distance.  

Intersection means the area embraced within the prolongation or connection of the lateral curb lines, 
or, if none, then the lateral boundary lines of the roadways of two streets or highways which join one 
another at, or approximately at, right angles, or the area within which vehicles traveling upon different 
streets or highways joining at any other angle may come in conflict.  

Laned highway means a highway, the roadway of which is divided into three or more clearly marked 
lanes for vehicular traffic.  

Light delivery truck, panel delivery truck or pickup means any motor vehicle designed to carry 
merchandise or freight of any kind not to exceed 2,000 pounds.  

Motor truck means every motor vehicle designed primarily for carrying livestock, merchandise, freight 
of any kind or over nine persons as passengers.  

Motor vehicle means every vehicle which is self-propelled and not operated upon rails.  

152



3 
 

Motorcycle means every motor vehicle having a saddle or seat for the use of the rider and designed 
to travel on not more than three wheels in contact with the ground, including a motor scooter, but 
excluding a tractor, an autocycle and a motorized bicycle.  

Motorized bicycle means a motor vehicle having a saddle or a seat for the use of a rider designed to 
travel on not more than three wheels in contact with the ground and not capable of operating at a speed 
in excess of 39 miles per hour on level ground unassisted by human power.  

New car means a car which has not been sold at retail, as the term "at retail" is defined in Iowa Code 
ch. 322.  

Nonresident means every person who is not a resident of the state.  

Official traffic control devices means all signs, signals, markings and devices not inconsistent with 
this chapter placed or erected by authority of a public body or official having jurisdiction, for the purpose 
of regulating, warning or guiding traffic.  

Official traffic control signal means any device, whether manually, electrically or mechanically 
operated, by which traffic is alternately directed to stop and to proceed.  

Operator or driver means every person who is in actual physical control of a motor vehicle upon a 
street or highway.  

Owner means a person who holds the legal title of a vehicle, or, if a vehicle is the subject of a 
security agreement with an immediate right of possession vested in the debtor, then such debtor shall be 
deemed the owner. Park means the standing of a vehicle, whether occupied or not, otherwise than 
temporarily for the purpose of and while actually engaged in loading or unloading.  

Parking enforcement personnel means a parking attendant, police officer, public safety officer, code 
enforcement personnel or any other person designated by the city council. 

Pedestrian means any person afoot.  

Period of a periodic quantity means the smallest increment of time for the function to repeat itself.  

Person means every natural person, firm, copartnership, association or corporation. Where the term 
"person" is used in connection with the registration of a motor vehicle, it shall include any corporation, 
association, copartnership, company, firm or other aggregation of individuals which owns or controls such 
motor vehicle as actual owner or for the purpose of sale or for renting, whether as agent, salesman or 
otherwise.  

Police officer means every officer of the city police operations division or any officer authorized to 
direct or regulate traffic or make arrests for violations of traffic regulations.  

Private road or driveway means every way or place in private ownership and used for vehicular 
travel by the owner and those having expressed or implied permission from the owner but not by other 
persons.  

Railroad means a carrier of persons or property upon cars operated upon stationary rails.  

Railroad sign or signal means any sign, signal or device erected by authority of a public body or 
official or by a railroad and intended to give notice of the presence of railroad tracks or the approach of a 
railroad train.  

Railroad train means an engine or locomotive with or without cars coupled thereto, operated upon 
rails.  

Residence district means the territory within the city contiguous to and including a street or highway, 
not comprising a business, suburban or school district, where 40 percent or more of the frontage on such 
street or highway for a distance of 300 feet or more is occupied by dwellings, or by dwellings and 
buildings in use for business.  

Right-of-way means the privilege of the immediate use of the street or highway.  

153



4 
 

Road construction zone means the portion of a street or highway which is identified by posted or 
moving signs as the site of construction, maintenance, survey, or utility work. The zone starts upon 
meeting the first sign identifying the zone and continues until a posted or moving sign indicates that the 
construction zone has ended.  

Road tractor means every motor vehicle designed and used for drawing other vehicles and not so 
constructed as to carry any load thereon, either independently or any part of the weight of a vehicle or 
load so drawn.  

Roadway means that portion of a highway or street improved, designed or ordinarily used for 
vehicular travel.  

Safety zone means the area or space officially set apart within a roadway for the exclusive use of 
pedestrians and which is protected or so marked or indicated by adequate signs as to be plainly visible at 
all times while set apart as a safety zone.  

School bus means every vehicle operated for the transportation of children to or from school, except 
vehicles which are:  

(1)  Privately owned and not operated for compensation;  

(2)  Used exclusively in the transportation of the children in the immediate family of the driver;  

(3)  Operated by a municipally or privately owned urban transit company for the transportation of 
children as part of or in addition to its regularly scheduled service; or  

(4)  Designed to carry not more than nine persons as passengers, are either school-owned or 
privately owned, and are used to transport pupils to activity events in which the pupils are 
participants or used to transport pupils to their homes in case of illness or other emergency 
situations. The vehicles operated under the provisions of this subsection (4) shall be operated 
by employees of the school district who are specifically approved by the local superintendent of 
schools for the assignment.  

School district means the territory contiguous to and including a street or highway for a distance of 
200 feet in all directions from a schoolhouse in the city.  

Semitrailer means every vehicle without motive power designed for carrying persons or property and 
for being drawn by a motor vehicle, and so constructed that some part of its weight and that of its load 
rests upon or is carried by another vehicle. Whenever the term "trailer" is used, it shall be construed to 
also include the term "semitrailer." A semitrailer shall be considered in this chapter separately from its 
power unit.  

Sidewalk means that portion of a street between the curb lines, or the lateral lines of a roadway, and 
the adjacent property lines, intended for the use of pedestrians.  

Special mobile equipment means every vehicle not designed or used primarily for the transportation 
of persons or property and incidentally operated or moved over the highways, including trailers and bulk 
spreaders which are not self-propelled having a gross weight of not more than six tons used for the 
transportation of fertilizers and chemicals used for farm crop production, and other equipment used 
primarily for the application of fertilizers and chemicals in farm fields or for farm storage, but not including 
trucks mounted with applicators of such products, road construction or maintenance machinery and ditch 
digging apparatus. The enumeration in this subsection shall be deemed partial and shall not operate to 
exclude other such vehicles which are within the general terms of the subsection; provided that nothing 
contained in this subsection shall be construed to include portable mills or corn shellers mounted upon a 
motor vehicle or semitrailer.  

Stop means a complete cessation of movement.  

Stop, stopping or standing means any stopping or standing of a vehicle whether occupied or not 
except when necessary to avoid conflict with other traffic or in compliance with the directions of a police 
officer or a traffic control sign or signal.  

154



5 
 

Street or highway means the entire width between the property lines of every way or place, of 
whatever nature, when any part thereof is open to the use of the public, as a matter of right, for purposes 
of vehicular traffic.  

Suburban district means all parts of the city not included in the business, school or residence district.  

Through street or through highway means every street or highway or portion thereof at the entrances 
to which vehicular traffic from intersecting streets and highways is required by law to stop before entering 
or crossing the street or highway, and when stop signs are erected as provided in this chapter or such 
entrances are controlled by a police officer or traffic control signal. The term "arterial" shall be 
synonymous with the term "through" or "thru" when applied to streets and highways.  

Traffic means pedestrians, ridden or herded animals, vehicles and other conveyances, either singly 
or together, while using any street or highway for purposes of travel.  

Trailer means every vehicle without motive power designed for carrying persons or property and for 
being drawn by motor vehicles, and so constructed that no part of its weight rests upon the towing 
vehicle.  

Trailer coach means either a trailer or semitrailer designed for carrying persons.  

Truck tractor means every motor vehicle designed and used primarily for drawing other vehicles and 
not so constructed as to carry a load other than a part of the weight of the vehicle and load so drawn. 
However, a truck tractor may have a box, deck, or plate for carrying freight, mounted on the frame behind 
the cab, and forward of the fifth-wheel connection point.  

Used motor vehicle or secondhand motor vehicle means any motor vehicle of a type subject to 
registration under the laws of this state which has been sold at retail, as the term "at retail" is defined in 
Iowa Code ch. 322, and previously registered in this or any other state.  

Vehicle.  

(1)  The term "vehicle" means every device in, upon or by which any person or property is or may 
be transported or drawn upon a highway.  

(2)  The term "vehicle" does not include:  

a.  Any device moved by human power.  

b.  Any device used exclusively upon stationary rails or tracks.  

c.  Any steering axle, dolly, auxiliary axle, or other integral part of another vehicle which in and 
of itself is incapable of commercially transporting any person or property but is used 
primarily to support another vehicle.  

d.  Any integral part of a truck tractor or road tractor which is mounted on the frame of the 
truck tractor or road tractor immediately behind the cab and which may be used to 
transport persons and property but which cannot be drawn upon the highway by the truck 
tractor or another motor vehicle.  

(Code 2017, § 26-3; Ord. No. 1943, § 1, 5-13-1991; Ord. No. 2036, § 1, 11-22-1993; Ord. No. 

2618, §§ 1, 2, 2-26-2007)  

 

Section 2.     Article IV, Standing, Stopping and Parking, including Division 1, Generally, 

and Division 2, Parking Meters and Other Parking Facilities, of Chapter 23, Traffic and 

Motor Vehicles, of The Code of Ordinances of The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety, and a new Article IV, Standing, Stopping And Parking, including 

new Division 1, Generally, and New Division 2, Parking Enforcement Districts, Equipment, 

155



6 
 

Operations and Facilities of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:   

ARTICLE IV.   STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING 

DIVISION 1.   GENERALLY 

 

 

Sec. 23-356.   Fines for parking violations. 

Except as otherwise provided in this article or by state law, the fine for a violation of this article shall 
be $10.00, payable to the city. If said fine is not paid within 30 days from the date of the notice of the 
violation, the fine shall be increased to $15.00.  

(Code 2017, § 26-251; Ord. No. 1922, § 5, 11-26-1990; Ord. No. 2035, § 1, 11-22-1993; Ord. 

No. 2057, § 1, 5-23-1994; Ord. No. 2445, § 1, 8-25-2003)  

Sec. 23-357.   Notice of parking violation. 

The parking enforcement personnel of the city shall attach to the vehicles in violation of this article a 
notice to the owner or operator thereof stating that such vehicle has been parked in violation of this article 
and informing the owner or operator of the amount of the fine, how the fine may be paid, and the penalty 
for failure to pay the fine within the time required in section 23-356.  

(Code 2017, § 26-252; Ord. No. 2705, § 1, 2-22-2010)  

Sec. 23-358.   Presumption regarding responsibility for illegal parking. 

In any proceeding charging any violation of any law or regulation governing the standing or parking 
of a vehicle, proof that a particular vehicle described in the information was parked in violation of any 
such law or regulation, together with proof that the defendant named in the information was at the time of 
such parking the registered owner of such vehicle, shall constitute in evidence a prima facie presumption 
that the registered owner of such vehicle was the person who parked or placed such vehicle at the point 
where, and for the time during which, such violation occurred.  

(Code 2017, § 26-253)  

Sec. 23-359.   Impoundment or immobilization of vehicles. 

(a)  Impoundment of vehicles. Parking enforcement personnel are hereby authorized to impound, that 
is, to remove, or have removed, a vehicle from a street, public alley, bridge, highway, municipally 
owned or controlled parking lot, facility or parking space, in the event of a violation of section 23-389, 
from private property, to a place of safety designated by the city whenever any such vehicle is 
parked in violation of this article.  

(b)  Immobilization of vehicles. As an alternative to impoundment under subsection (a) of this section, 
parking enforcement personnel are hereby authorized to immobilize a vehicle on a street, public 
alley, bridge, highway, municipally owned or controlled parking lot, facility or parking space, in the 
event of a violation of section 23-389, on private property, whenever any such vehicle is parked in 
violation of this article.  

156



7 
 

(c)  Payment. In addition to the penalty provided in this chapter, the owner or operator of any vehicle 
impounded or immobilized for violation of any of the provisions of this article shall be required to pay 
for all outstanding penalties, fines and fees owed for all parking citations, plus either all towing, 
storage and impoundment fees, or all immobilization fees, together with all administrative fees.  

(d)  Impoundment or immobilization for accumulated parking violations.  

(1)  Whenever it is determined that any vehicle has accumulated unpaid parking violations with 
fines totaling $30.00 or more, as defined in this Code, then, until such time as all fines for such 
accumulated parking violations have been paid, such vehicle may be either impounded, or, in 
the alternative, immobilized by installing a device which clamps and locks onto the wheel and 
impedes vehicle movement, subject to the following conditions:  

a.  Impoundment or immobilization shall occur only after notice and opportunity for an 
administrative hearing is sent to the last known registered owner of such motor vehicle.  

b.  Notice shall consist of the following: Written notification by first class mail to the last known 
address of the registered owner, stating the license number of the vehicle; the owner's 
name; and a brief description of the parking tickets issued to such vehicle. Said notice shall 
also state that the registered owner has the right to request an administrative hearing 
before impoundment or immobilization, if such request is made within ten days of the date 
of mailing of the notice; that the hearing shall determine the merits of whether to impound 
or immobilize such motor vehicle for unpaid parking violations; that failure to request a 
hearing in a timely manner, or failure to appear at such hearing, shall constitute a waiver of 
the right to a hearing; and that the owner shall be responsible for all charges and costs 
incurred in impounding or immobilizing such vehicle.  

c.  A request for an administrative hearing must be made in writing to the city clerk or the city 
clerk's designee. The request shall be reviewed to determine whether to impound or 
immobilize, as the case may be, the motor vehicle for unpaid parking violations.  

d.  The hearing shall be conducted before the police chief of the city or the police chief's 
designee, and shall be limited to a determination of whether such vehicle should be 
impounded or immobilized, as the case may be, for unpaid parking tickets. The owner may 
at that time pay for all outstanding fines for parking tickets.  

e.  Should the police chief or the police chief's designee determine that the vehicle shall be 
impounded or immobilized, as the case may be, said police chief or designee shall notify 
the owner, either orally at the conclusion of the hearing or by letter; however, no such 
notice need be given should the owner or a designated representative of the owner fail to 
appear at such hearing.  

f.  After the vehicle has been impounded or immobilized, the city shall notify the last known 
registered owner of such vehicle thereof, by certified mail if the name and address of such 
owner can be ascertained with reasonable diligence, unless the owner or operator has 
appeared and has made claim to the seized vehicle.  

(2)  Any vehicle that remains immobilized for a consecutive period of 48 hours or more, shall be 
subject to towing and impoundment as provided in this section.  

(3)  Any vehicle that is immobilized pursuant to this section shall not be issued any parking citations 
for the period during which the vehicle remains immobilized.  

(4)  It shall be unlawful for any person to remove or attempt to remove an immobilization device 
which has been attached to any vehicle as provided in this section, to damage the device, or to 
move the vehicle with the device attached. No person other than a member of the police 
operations division, a parking meter attendant, or their designees, shall remove the 
immobilization device.  

(5)  No vehicle shall be impounded by towing or immobilized, unless such vehicle is on a public 
street or other publicly owned or leased property, or, in the event of a violation of section 23-
389, is on private property.  

157



8 
 

a.  Entrance into impounded or immobilized vehicles. If it is necessary to enter a locked or 
unlocked vehicle in order to impound or immobilize such vehicle, such entrance must be 
made in the presence of a police officer. The police officer shall conduct such search of 
such vehicle as said officer deems necessary to protect the contents thereof. However, 
such search need not be a complete inventory of the contents of the vehicle.  

b.  Release of impounded or immobilized vehicles.  

1.  The registered owner or operator may reclaim any vehicle impounded or immobilized 
pursuant to the provisions herein by appearing before the police chief or the police 
chief's designee. At such time, the owner or the operator shall sign a certificate that he 
is the registered owner or operator of the impounded or immobilized vehicle, and at 
that time shall pay for all outstanding parking tickets, together with all costs of towing, 
storage and impoundment, or of immobilization, as the case may be. All charges and 
costs incurred in impounding the vehicle will be paid by the registered owner or 
operator to the towing service.  

2.  It shall be unlawful for any person to reclaim any vehicle impounded or immobilized 
pursuant to the provisions herein, contrary to the procedure set forth in this section.  

(e)  Charges. The charges for impoundment and immobilization shall be established by resolution 
adopted by the city council from time to time.  

(f)  Penalty for violations. Any violation of the provisions of this section shall constitute a municipal 
infraction, and shall be punished as provided in section 1-9.  

(Code 2017, § 26-254; Ord. No. 2705, § 2, 2-22-2010; Ord. No. 2813, § 1, 5-27-2014)  

Sec. 23-360.   Driver's responsibility when leaving motor vehicle unattended. 

A person driving or in charge of a motor vehicle shall not permit the vehicle to stand unattended 
upon any perceptible grade without effectively setting the brake and turning the front wheels to the curb or 
side of the street or highway  

(Code 2017, § 26-255)  

Sec. 23-361.   Lights on parked vehicles. 

(a)  Whenever a vehicle is lawfully parked at nighttime upon any street within a business or residence 
district, no light need be displayed upon such parked vehicle.  

(b)  Whenever a vehicle is parked upon a street outside of a business or residence district during the 
hours between one-half hour after sunset and one-half hour before sunrise, such vehicle shall be 
equipped with one or more lamps, which shall exhibit a white light on the roadway side which shall 
be visible from a distance of 500 feet to the front of the vehicle and a red light visible from a distance 
of 500 feet to the rear.  

(c)  Any lighted headlamps upon a parked vehicle shall be depressed or dimmed.  

(d)  The provisions of this section requiring the exhibition of a light shall not apply when an accident 
extinguishes the light and renders a vehicle incapable of use, and when the person in control of the 
vehicle erects, at the earliest opportunity after the accident, such proper light at or near the vehicle 
as will give warning of the presence of the vehicle.  

(Code 2017, § 26-256)  

158



9 
 

Sec. 23-362.   Parking not to obstruct traffic. 

No person shall park any vehicle upon a street, other than an alley, in such a manner or under such 
conditions as to leave available less than ten feet of the width of the roadway for free movement of 
vehicular traffic.  

(Code 2017, § 26-257)  

Sec. 23-363.   Manner of parallel parking. 

No person shall stand or park a vehicle in a street in any manner other than in the direction of the 
lawful traffic movement and with both wheels on one side of such vehicle parallel to and within 18 inches 
of the curb or edge of the street. Where individual stalls are designated by sign or line or marker, it shall 
be unlawful to park any vehicle across any line or marker of a particular parking space or in such position 
that the vehicle is not entirely within the area designated by such lines or markers.  

(Code 2017, § 26-258)  

Sec. 23-364.   Designation of streets for angle parking. 

(a)  The council shall determine upon which streets angle parking shall be permitted and shall mark or 
sign such streets, but such angle parking shall not be indicated upon a federal aid or state highway 
within the city unless the state department of transportation has determined, by resolution or order 
entered in its minutes, that the roadway is of sufficient width to permit angle parking without 
interfering with the free movement of traffic.  

(b)  Angle parking shall not be indicated or permitted at any place where passing traffic would thereby 
be caused or required to drive upon the left side of the street.  

(Code 2017, § 26-259)  

Sec. 23-365.   Obedience to angle parking signs or markers. 

Upon those streets which have been designated for angle parking, no person shall park or stand a 
vehicle other than at the angle to the curb or edge of the roadway indicated by such signs or markings.  

(Code 2017, § 26-260)  

Sec. 23-366.   Parking prohibited in specified places. 

(a)  No person shall stop, stand or park a vehicle, except when necessary to avoid conflict with other 
traffic or in compliance with the law or the directions of a police officer or traffic control device, in any 
of the following places:  

(1)  On a sidewalk.  

(2)  In front of a public or private driveway.  

(3)  Within an intersection.  

(4)  Within five feet of a fire hydrant.  

(5)  On a crosswalk.  

159



10 
 

(6)  Within ten feet upon the approach to any flashing beacon, stop sign or traffic control signal 
located at the side of a roadway.  

(7)  Between a safety zone and the adjacent curb or within ten feet of points on the curb 
immediately opposite the ends of a safety zone, unless the traffic division has indicated a 
different length by signs or markings.  

(8)  Within 50 feet of the nearest rail or a railroad crossing, except when parked parallel with such 
rail and not exhibiting a red light.  

(9)  Within 20 feet of the driveway entrance of any fire station, and on the side of a street opposite 
the entrance to any fire station, within 75 feet of such entrance, only when properly signposted.  

(10)  Alongside or opposite any street excavation or obstruction when stopping, standing or parking 
would obstruct traffic.  

(11)  On the roadway side of any vehicle stopped or parked at the edge or curb of a street.  

(12)  Upon any bridge or other elevated structure upon a highway or within a highway tunnel.  

(13)  At any place where official signs prohibit stopping or parking.  

(14)  Upon any street within the corporate limits of the city when parking is prohibited by a general 
ordinance of uniform application relating to the removal of snow and ice from the streets.  

(15)  In front of a curb cut or ramp which is located on public or private property, in a manner which 
blocks access to the curb cut or ramp.  

(16)  On that part of any street in the city between the curb line, if there be a curb, and the sidewalk 
line of the abutting property, nor shall any vehicle be parked on that part of any street not having 
a curb between the edge of the traveled portion of such street and the sidewalk line of the 
abutting property.  

(17)  On any street, municipally owned or controlled parking lot, facility or space in the city for a 
continuous period of more than 48 hours. A vehicle in violation of this subsection shall constitute 
a nuisance to be abated as provided by law, or parking enforcement personnel may impound 
such vehicle as provided in this article.  

(b)  Signs shall not be required to give notice to the public of the prohibited areas in this section.  

(c)  No person shall move a vehicle not lawfully under his control into any such prohibited area or away 
from a curb such distance as is unlawful.  

(Code 2017, § 26-261)  

Sec. 23-367.   Parking for purpose of selling, washing, greasing or repairing vehicle. 

No person shall park a vehicle upon a roadway for the principal purpose of displaying such vehicle 
for sale or washing, greasing or repairing such vehicle, except such repairs as are necessitated by an 
emergency.  

(Code 2017, § 26-262)  

Sec. 23-368.   Parking in alleys. 

No person shall stop, stand or park a vehicle within an alley except only for the period of 15 minutes 
to load or unload said vehicle, and no person shall stop, stand or park a vehicle within an alley in such a 
position as to block the driveway entrance to any abutting property.  

160



11 
 

(Code 2017, § 26-263; Ord. No. 2036, § 3, 11-22-1993)  

Sec. 23-369.   Parking near intersection. 

It shall be unlawful to park a vehicle within and up to a distance of 60 feet of any intersection where 
the curb is painted yellow or signs are posted prohibiting parking.  

(Code 2017, § 26-264)  

Sec. 23-370.   Persons with disabilities parking sign; persons with disabilities parking. 

(a)  Persons with disabilities parking sign. A persons with disabilities parking sign shall be displayed 
designating each person with disabilities parking space required by Iowa Code § 321L.5. The 
persons with disabilities parking sign shall have a blue background and bear the international symbol 
of accessibility in white. If an entity who owns or leases real property in the city is required to provide 
persons with disabilities parking spaces, the city shall provide, upon request, the signs for the entity 
at cost. The persons with disabilities parking sign shall be affixed vertically on another object so that 
it is readily visible to a driver of a motor vehicle approaching the persons with disabilities parking 
space. A persons with disabilities parking space designated only by the international symbol of 
accessibility being painted or otherwise placed horizontally on the parking space does not meet the 
requirements of this subsection.  

(b)  Persons with disabilities parking.  

(1)  A persons with disabilities parking permit shall be displayed in a motor vehicle as a removable 
windshield placard or on a motor vehicle as a plate or sticker as provided in Iowa Code § 
321L.2 when being used by a person with a disability, either as an operator or passenger. Each 
removable windshield placard shall be of uniform design and fabricated of durable material, 
suitable for display from within the passenger compartment of a motor vehicle, and readily 
transferable from one vehicle to another. The placard shall only be displayed when the motor 
vehicle is parked in a persons with disabilities parking space.  

(2)  The use of a persons with disabilities parking space, located on either public or private property 
within the city as provided in Iowa Code § 321L.5 by an operator of a motor vehicle not 
displaying a persons with disabilities parking permit; by an operator of a motor vehicle 
displaying a persons with disabilities parking permit but not being used by a person issued a 
permit or being transported in accordance with Iowa Code § 321L.2(1)b; or by a motor vehicle in 
violation of the rules adopted by the state department of transportation under Iowa Code § 
321L.8 constitutes improper use of a persons with disabilities parking permit, which is a 
misdemeanor for which a fine of $200.00 shall be imposed upon the owner, operator, or lessee 
of the motor vehicle or the person to whom the persons with disabilities parking permit is issued. 
Proof of conviction of two or more violations involving improper use of a persons with disabilities 
parking permit is grounds for revocation by the court or the state department of transportation of 
the holder's privilege to possess or use the persons with disabilities parking permit.  

(3)   Parking enforcement personnel shall have the authority to and shall enforce the provisions of 
this section on public and private property within the city.  

(Code 2017, § 26-265; Ord. No. 2006, § 9, 3-1-1993; Ord. No. 2263, § 1, 4-26-1999; Ord. No. 

2705, § 3, 2-22-2010; Ord. No. 2716, § 1, 9-13-2010)  

161



12 
 

 Sec. 23-371.   Loading and unloading on Main Street and College Street. 

From 9:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., on Main Street between First Street and Fifth Street and College Street 
from 22nd Street to 23rd Street on the east side, trucks and drays are prohibited from loading and 
unloading freight, goods and merchandise at all places, stores and buildings where it is feasible or 
possible to perform such work in the adjacent alley.  

(Code 2017, § 26-268)  

Sec. 23-372.   Parking of large trucks in streets and municipal parking lots. 

Except as otherwise provided, trucks of a gross capacity of one ton or more shall not park upon the 
streets or municipal parking lots of the city.  

(Code 2017, § 26-269)  

Sec. 23-373.   Parking prohibited on city property located adjacent to city hall and city 

hall annex. 

No person shall stand or park a vehicle, except a vehicle authorized by the city, in the municipally 
owned area lying adjacent to the city hall and city hall annex, such area being legally described as 
follows: Lots 3 and 4 and the east half of lot 8, all in block 9 in the original town plat of the city.  

(Code 2017, § 26-270)  

Sec. 23-374.   Parking prohibited on specific streets. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle at any time upon any of 
the streets or portions of streets enumerated in this section.  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

First Street (West)  On both sides between Main Street and the west city limits.  

Second Street (West)  On both sides between Walnut Street and Francis Street.  

 
On the north side between Francis Street and Hudson Road.  

Third Street (East)  
 

Third Street (West)  
 

 
On both sides of said street between Clay Street and Franklin Street on Saturday 

162



13 
 

mornings only commencing with the first Saturday of May of each year and 

continuing through the last Saturday of October each year during the hours of 

6:00 a.m. to 12:00 noon.  

 

On the north side of said street from the most westerly point of the flare-out of 

the driveway approach to the north-south alley located in the 200 block 

between Washington Street and Clay Street, west a distance of 143 feet to the 

east curb line of Clay Street, extended northerly, as such east curb line is located 

in the 300 block of Clay Street, on Saturday mornings only commencing with the 

first Saturday of May of each year and continuing through the last Saturday of 

October of each year during the hours of 6:00 a.m. to 12:00 noon.  

 

On the south side of said street from the most westerly point of the flare-out of 

the driveway approach to the north-south alley located in the 300 block 

between Washington Street and Clay Street, west a distance of 143 feet to the 

east curb line of Clay Street, extended northerly, as such east curb line is located 

in the 300 block of Clay Street, on Saturday mornings only commencing with the 

first Saturday of May of each year and continuing through the last Saturday of 

October of each year during the hours of 6:00 a.m. to 12:00 noon.  

 

On the south side of said street from the west curb line of Ellen Street west to 

the east curb line of Hudson Road.  

 

On the north side from the west curb line of Tremont Street west to the east 

curb line of Ellen Street.  

 
On the north side of said street from Cedar Crest Drive to Magnolia Drive.  

Fourth Street  On both sides from College Street to Hudson Road.  

 
On the south side between Franklin Street and College Street.  

Fourth Street (East)  
 

Fourth Street (West)  

On both sides from College Street to Hudson Road; on the north side from the 

west line of Main Street to a point 20 feet west thereof; on the north side from 

the west line of Cedar Crest Drive a distance of 30 feet west, and from the east 

line of Cedar Crest Drive a distance of 30 feet east; on the north side from the 

east line of Angie Drive to the west line of Hudson Road; on both sides of said 

street from the west line of Chateau Court to Hudson Road; on the south side 

163



14 
 

from the west line of Main Street to a point ten feet west thereof; on the south 

side between Washington Street and College Street.  

 

On the north side from the west line, extended north, of Jessica Lane to a point 

200 feet west thereof.  

Fifth Street (West)  On the north side from the west line of Main Street west a distance of 150 feet.  

 

On the south side from a point 48 feet east of the east line of Clay Street west to 

the alley between Clay Street and Franklin Street.  

 

On the north side from the west curb line of Franklin Street west to the east 

curb line of College Street.  

Sixth Street (East)  
On the north side from the east curb line of Main Street east a distance of 200 

feet.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Main Street east to the west curb 

line of State Street.  

Sixth Street (West)  

On both sides between Main Street and Franklin Street, except that on the 

north side of West Sixth Street, from a point 40 feet west of the west curb line 

of Washington Street to a point 144 feet west of the west curb line of 

Washington Street.  

 

On the north side from the east curb line of College Street east a distance of 150 

feet.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of College Street east a distance of 75 

feet.  

Seventh Street (East)  On the south side from State Street to the west line of Bluff Street.  

Seventh Street (West)  
On the north side from Washington Street to Clay Street, except Saturdays and 

Sundays.  

 

On the north side from the west curb line of Division Street west a distance of 

40 feet.  

 
On the north side from the east curb line of Division Street east a distance of 40 

164



15 
 

feet.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of Division Street west a distance of 

40 feet.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Division Street east a distance of 40 

feet.  

Eighth Street (East)  On the north side from Main Street to State Street.  

Eighth Street (West)  On the north side between Franklin Street and College Street.  

 
On the north side between Division Street and Ellen Street.  

 
On the south side between College Street and Pearl Street.  

 

On the south side from the centerline of Barrington Drive east a distance of 500 

feet.  

 

On the north side from the centerline of Barrington Drive east a distance of 110 

feet.  

 

On the north side from the centerline of Barrington Drive west a distance of 50 

feet.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of Catherine Street west a distance of 

40 feet.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Catherine Street east a distance of 

40 feet.  

Ninth Street (East)  On the north side from Bluff Street east to Grove Street, except Sundays.  

Ninth Street (West)  On the north side from Clay Street east 100 feet.  

 

On the north side from the west line of Tremont Street west to the east line of 

Catherine Street.  

 

On the north side from the west curb line of Catherine Street west a distance of 

40 feet.  

165



16 
 

 

On the south side from the west curb line of Catherine Street west a distance of 

40 feet.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Catherine Street east a distance of 

40 feet.  

Tenth Street (East)  
On both sides from a point 180 feet east of the east curb line of Grove Street to 

a point 250 feet east of the east line of Grove Street.  

 
On the north side from Main Street to Grove Street.  

Tenth Street (West)  
On the north side from the west curb line of Tremont Street west to the east 

curb line of Division Street.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of Iowa Street west a distance of 40 

feet.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of Catherine Street west a distance of 

40 feet.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Catherine Street east a distance of 

40 feet.  

11th Street (East)  On the north side from State Street to Grove Street.  

 
On the north side from Main Street to State Street.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of State Street east a distance of 40 

feet.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of Grove Street west a distance of 40 

feet.  

11th Street (West)  On the north side between Franklin Street and Walnut Street.  

 

On the north side from the west curb line of College Street west to the east curb 

line of Division Street.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of Catherine Street west a distance of 

40 feet.  

166



17 
 

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Catherine Street east a distance of 

40 feet.  

12th Street (West)  On both sides from Main Street to College Street.  

 
On the south side from the east line of Clark Drive east a distance of 40 feet.  

 
On the south side from the west line of Clark Drive west a distance of 40 feet.  

 
On both sides from Hudson Road to Union Road.  

13th Street (West)  On both sides from the east curb line of Walnut Street east a distance of 20 feet.  

 

On both sides from the west curb line of Walnut Street west a distance of 20 

feet.  

 

On the north side from the west curb line of Clay Street west to the east curb 

line of Franklin Street.  

14th Street (East)  On the south side between State Street and Waterloo Road.  

14th Street Court 

(East)  

On the north side from the east curb line of Bluff Street east to the end of the 

street.  

14th Street (West)  On the north side of said street from Main Street to Franklin Street.  

15th Street (West)  
On the north side of said street from the west curb line of Clay Street west to 

the east curb line of Franklin Street.  

16th Street (West)  
On the south side from the west curb line of Main Street to the east curb line of 

Franklin Street.  

18th Street (East)  On both sides from Main Street to Waterloo Road.  

18th Street (West)  
On both sides of the street from the west curb line of Main Street west to the 

east curb line of College Street.  

 

On the north side from the west curb line of College Street west to the east curb 

line of Hudson Road.  

167



18 
 

 

On the north side from the west line of Hudson Road west a distance of 200 

feet.  

 

On the north side from a point 455 feet west of the west line of Hudson Road 

west a distance of 101 feet.  

 

On the north side from a point 922 feet west of the west line of Hudson Road 

west a distance of 101 feet.  

 

On the south side from the west line of Hudson Road west a distance of 1,116 

feet.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of Summit Drive west a distance of 

100 feet.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Summit Drive east a distance of 100 

feet.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of Campus Street west a distance of 

20 feet.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Campus Street east a distance of 20 

feet.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of Merner Avenue west a distance of 

40 feet.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue east a distance of 

40 feet.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of College Street west a distance of 40 

feet.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Hudson Road east a distance of 40 

feet.  

19th Street (West)  
On the north side between College Street and Hudson Road, between 8:00 a.m. 

and 3:30 p.m., Mondays through Fridays.  

 
On the south side from the west curb line of College Street west to the east curb 

168



19 
 

line of Campus Street.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of Campus Street west a distance of 

30 feet.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Hudson Road east a distance of 30 

feet.  

 

On the north side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue east a distance of 

30 feet.  

 

On the north side from the west curb line of Merner Avenue west a distance of 

30 feet.  

20th Street (West)  
On the south side from the east curb line of Campus Street east to the west curb 

line of Main Street.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue east a distance of 

45 feet.  

 

On the north side from the east line of Merner Avenue east a distance of 45 

feet.  

 

On the north side from the west curb line of Campus Street east to the west 

curb line of Merner Avenue, between the hours of 1:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. daily.  

21st Street (West)  
On the south side from the west line of Franklin Street west to the east line of 

College Street.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of College Street west a distance of 40 

feet.  

 

On the north side from the west curb line of College Street west a distance of 40 

feet.  

 

On the north side from the east curb line of College Street east a distance of 40 

feet.  

22nd Street (West)  
On the north side from College Street to Campus Street from 1:00 a.m. to 5:30 

p.m., Monday through Saturday and from 1:00 a.m. to 8:00 a.m. on Sunday.  

169



20 
 

 
On the south side from College Street to Campus Street.  

 
On the south side between Main Street and Tremont Street.  

 

On the north side from the west curb line of Tremont Street west to the east 

curb line of College Street.  

23rd Street (West)  
On the north side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue east a distance of 

40 feet.  

 
On the north side between Campus Street and Hudson Road.  

 

On the south side from the west line of Minnesota Street, which belongs to the 

state, to the east line of Hudson Road.  

 

On both sides from the east curb line of Merner Avenue west to the west curb 

line of Campus Street.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of Campus Street west to the east 

curb line of Minnesota Street, one-hour parking is allowed between the hours of 

7:30 a.m. and 4:30 p.m., except on weekends and holidays.  

29th Street  

On the south side from 225 feet west of the centerline of College Street to 290 

feet west of the centerline of College Street, between the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 

5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.  

29th Street (West)  
On the north side from the east curb line of College Street east to the west curb 

line of Walnut Street.  

31st Street (West)  On both sides from Hudson Road to the west end of the street.  

Adams Street  
On the east side of said street from the north curb line of East 18th Street north 

to the end of the street.  

 
On both sides of said street from East 18th Street south.  

Alexis Boulevard  
On the south and west sides from the north line of West 12th Street northerly 

and westerly to the east edge of the cul-de-sac.  

 
On the east side from the north line of West 12th Street north a distance of 120 

170



21 
 

feet.  

Algonquin Drive  
On the north and east sides of the street from the east curb line of Ashworth 

Drive east and south to the north curb line of Amelia Drive, extended east.  

Balboa Street  
On the north side from the west line of South Main Street to a point 403 feet 

west of the west line of South Main Street.  

 

On the south side from the west line of South Main Street to a point 119 feet 

west of the west line of South Main Street.  

Barkwood Drive  
On the north side from the west curb line of Ironwood Drive west to the east 

curb line of Applewood Lane.  

Barnett Drive  
On the west side from the south curb line of Crescent Drive south to the north 

curb line of West Twelfth Street.  

 

On the east side from a point 150 feet north of the north curb line of West 

Fourth Street north to a point 50 feet north thereof.  

 

On the east side from the north curb line of West Twelfth Street north a 

distance of 60 feet.  

Barrington Drive  
On the west, south and east sides of Barrington Drive from the south line of 

West Eighth Street south, east and north to the south edge of the cul-de-sac.  

Bicentennial Drive  
On both sides of said street from Cedar Heights Drive west a distance of 500 

feet.  

Big Woods Road  On both sides from Independence Avenue to the north city limits.  

Birch Street  On the east side from Grand Boulevard to Rainbow Drive.  

Birdsall Drive (East)  On the north side from Birdsall Drive east to the end of the street.  

Blair Ridge Road  On the west side from Wild Horse Drive north to the end of the street.  

Bluegrass Circle  

Along the outside edge from the east curb line of the north intersection with 

Prairie Parkway to the east curb line of the south intersection with Prairie 

Parkway.  

171



22 
 

Bluff Street  
On the east side from the south curb line of East Ninth Street south to a point 70 

feet south of the south curb line of East 12th Street.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of East 13th Street to the north curb 

line of East 15th Street.  

 

On the west side from the north curb line of East 15th Street north a distance of 

40 feet.  

 

On both sides from the south curb line of East 15th Street south a distance of 40 

feet.  

Bonita Boulevard  
On the south side from the west line of South Lawn Road west a distance of 60 

feet.  

Boulder Drive  On both sides from University Avenue to Orchard Drive.  

Boxwood Drive  
On the north side from the west curb line of Ironwood Drive west to the east 

curb line of Applewood Lane.  

Brookside Drive  
On the north side from the east curb line of Hudson Road east to the west curb 

line of Starview Drive.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Hudson Road east to the southerly 

extension of the east curb line of Starview Drive.  

California Drive  
On the east side from the south curb line of Rainbow Drive south to the north 

curb line of Hawthorne Drive.  

Campus Street  
On the east side from the north curb line of West 18th Street north to the south 

curb line of West 16th Street.  

 

On the west side from the north curb line of West 18th Street north a distance 

of 40 feet.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West 19th Street south a distance 

of 40 feet.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of West 19th Street south a distance of 

40 feet.  

172



23 
 

 

On the east side from the north curb line of West 20th Street north a distance of 

40 feet.  

 

On the west side from the north line of the parking lot situated on the west side 

of the 2000 block of Campus Street, south a distance of 188 feet.  

 

On both sides from the south curb line of West 22nd Street south to the north 

curb line of West 23rd Street.  

Catherine Street  
On the west side from the south curb line of West First Street south a distance 

of 40 feet.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of West First Street south to the north 

curb line of West Fourth Street.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of West Eighth Street to the north curb 

line of West 12th Street.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West Eighth Street south a distance 

of 40 feet.  

 

On the west side from the north curb line of West Ninth Street north a distance 

of 40 feet.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West Ninth Street south a distance 

of 40 feet.  

 

On the west side from the north curb line of West Tenth Street north a distance 

of 40 feet.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West Tenth Street south a distance 

of 40 feet.  

 

On the west side from the north curb line of West 11th Street north a distance 

of 40 feet.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West 11th Street south a distance 

of 40 feet.  

 
On the west side from the north curb line of West 12th Street north a distance 

173



24 
 

of 40 feet.  

Cedar Heights Drive  On both sides from Rainbow Drive to University Avenue.  

Cedar Hills Road  
On both sides from the east curb line of Chadwick Road east to the west curb 

line of Cedar Heights Drive.  

Cedar Street  On the south side from Center Street to Vine Street.  

Center Street  On both sides from First Street to the north city limits.  

Chadwick Road  

On the west side from a point 10 feet north of the northwest edge of the cul-de-

sac at the south end of Chadwick Road, south to the northwest edge of said cul-

de-sac.  

 

From the northwest edge of the cul-de-sac at the south end of Chadwick Road, 

south, east and north to the northeast edge of said cul-de-sac.  

 

From the southwest edge of the cul-de-sac at the north end of Chadwick Road, 

north, east and south to the southeast edge of said cul-de-sac.  

 

On the east side from the southeast edge of the cul-de-sac at the north end of 

Chadwick Road, south to the northeast edge of the cul-de-sac at the south end 

of Chadwick Road.  

Clark Drive  
On the west side from the south line of West 12th Street south a distance of 40 

feet.  

 

On the east side from the south line of West 12th Street south a distance of 40 

feet.  

Clay Street  
On both sides between First Street and a point 35 feet south of the south line of 

First Street.  

 

On both sides of said street from the south curb line of West Third Street north 

a distance of 245 feet to the north line of the driveway entrance to the city 

police station parking lot, extended westerly, on Saturday mornings only 

commencing with the first Saturday of May of each year and continuing through 

the last Saturday of October of each year during the hours of 6:00 a.m. to 12:00 

noon.  

174



25 
 

 

On both sides of said street from the south curb line of West Third Street south 

a distance of 134 feet to the north line of the northerly driveway entrance to the 

Cedar Falls Women's Club parking lot, on Saturday mornings only, commencing 

with the first Saturday of May of each year and continuing through the last 

Saturday of October of each year during the hours of 6:00 a.m. to 12:00 noon.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of West Third Street south a distance 

of 35 feet.  

 

On both sides from the south curb line of West Fourth Street south a distance of 

48 feet.  

 

On the east side from the north curb line of West Fifth Street north a distance of 

32 feet.  

 

On the west side from the north curb line of West Sixth Street north a distance 

of 41 feet.  

 

On the east side from the north curb line of West Sixth Street north a distance 

of 41 feet.  

 
On the east side from 15th Street to 18th Street.  

 
On the west side between 15th Street and 18th Street.  

 
On both sides between 18th Street and Seerley Boulevard.  

College Street (North)  
On the west side from the north curb line of Higby Drive north to the end of the 

street.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of Higby Drive south a distance of 75 

feet.  

 

On the west side from the north curb line of West First Street north a distance 

of 120 feet.  

 

On the east side from the north curb line of West First Street north to the north 

end of the street.  

175



26 
 

College Street (South)  
On the east side from the south curb line of West Fifth Street south to the north 

curb line of West Sixth Street.  

 

On both sides from the south curb line of West Sixth Street south a distance of 

100 feet.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of West Eighth Street south to the 

north curb line of West 12th Street.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West 12th Street south to the north 

curb line of West 18th Street.  

 

On the east side from a point 50 feet north of the north curb line of West 18th 

Street south to the north curb line of West 20th Street.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West 18th Street south a distance 

of 80 feet.  

 

On the west side from the north curb line of West 19th Street north a distance 

of 50 feet.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West 19th Street south a distance 

of 50 feet.  

 

On the west side from the north curb line of West 20th Street north a distance 

of 50 feet.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West 20th Street south to the north 

curb line of West 22nd Street.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of West 21st Street south to the north 

curb line of West 22nd Street.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West 23rd Street south a distance 

of 60 feet.  

 

On the west side from a point 75 feet north of the westerly extension of the 

north curb line of West Seerley Boulevard south to a point 95 feet north of the 

north curb line of West 26th Street.  

 
On the east side from the south curb line of West 23rd Street south to the north 

176



27 
 

curb line of University Avenue.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West 26th Street south to the north 

curb line of University Avenue.  

 

On both sides from the south curb line of University Avenue south a distance of 

65 feet.  

Colorado Road  
On the south side from the west curb line of Tucson Drive west to the west end 

of the cul-de-sac situated about 250 feet west of Dallas Drive.  

Columbia Drive  
On the north and east sides of Columbia Drive from West 16th Street south and 

east to College Street.  

Cottage Lane  
On the west side from the south curb line of Columbia Drive to the north curb 

line of West 18th Street.  

Cottonwood Lane  On both sides from Garden Avenue east to the end of the street.  

Covey Court  On the north side from Quail Ridge Road west to the end of the street.  

 
On the north side from Quail Ridge Road east to the end of the street.  

Crescent Drive  
On the south side from the east curb line of Lakeview Drive east to the west 

curb line of Brentwood Drive  

Dallas Drive  
On the west side from the north curb line of Idaho Street north to the south 

curb line of University Avenue.  

 

On the east side from the north curb line of Idaho Street north a distance of 50 

feet.  

 

On the east side from a point 125 feet north of the north curb line of Idaho 

Street north to the south curb line of University Avenue.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of Idaho Street south a distance of 25 

feet.  

Division Street  On the west side from the driveway south of Tenth Street to 11 th Street.  

177



28 
 

 

On the east side of said street from the north line of West Eighth Street a 

distance of 120 feet north.  

 

On the west side from the north curb line of West Seventh Street north a 

distance of 40 feet.  

 

On the east side from the north curb line of West Seventh Street north a 

distance of 40 feet.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West Seventh Street south a 

distance of 40 feet.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of West Seventh Street south a 

distance of 40 feet.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West Eighth Street south a distance 

of 50 feet.  

Drury Lane  
On the west side from the south curb line of Columbia Drive to the north curb 

line of West 18th Street.  

Dunkerton Road  On both sides from Center Street to the east city limits.  

Eagle Ridge Road  

On the west and south sides of Eagle Ridge Road from the intersection of the 

west curb line of Eagle Ridge Road with the north curb line of Falcon Lane, in a 

northerly and westerly direction to the southeast edge of the cul-de-sac.  

 

Around the perimeter of the curb adjacent to the center island of the cul-de-sac 

located at the west end of Eagle Ridge Road.  

East Street  
On the west side of East Street from the south curb line of 19th Street a distance 

of 100 feet south  

Ellen Street  
On both sides between First Street and a point 35 feet south of the south line of 

First Street.  

 

On the east side from the south line of Parkway Avenue south to the north line 

of First Street.  

Erik Road  On the north side between the east curb line of Hudson Road east to the west 

178



29 
 

curb line of Norse Drive.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Hudson Road east a distance of 70 

feet.  

 

On the south side from the west curb line of Norse Drive west a distance of 25 

feet.  

Feather Ridge Drive  On the north side from Quail Run Lane to Feather Run Trail.  

Floral Court  On both sides of the radius of the cul-de-sac.  

 
On the north side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue to the cul-de-sac.  

 

On the south side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue to the cul-de-sac, 

from 1:00 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. each day.  

Forrest Road  
On the west side from the north curb line of South Park Road north to River 

Bluff Drive.  

Fox View Drive  
On the east side from the north curb line of Hunter Drive north to the end of the 

street.  

Francis Street  
On both sides between First Street and a point 35 feet south of the south line of 

First Street.  

Franklin Street  On both sides from First Street to Sixth Street.  

 
On both sides from First Street north to the north city limits.  

 
On the east side between 12th Street and Seerley Boulevard.  

 

On the west side from the north curb line of 18th Street north a distance of 100 

feet.  

Frontage roads along 

the south side of 

University Avenue  

On both sides of the frontage road from the east curb line of Boulder Drive east 

to the end of said frontage road near the east line of Black Hawk Village, near 

McClain Drive.  

 
On both sides of the frontage road from the east curb line of Cedar Heights 

179



30 
 

Drive east to the west curb line of Midway Drive.  

Frontage roads along 

the north side of 

University Avenue  

On both sides of said frontage road from the east curb line of Valley Park Drive 

east to the end of said frontage road at the entrance to the Holiday Inn Motel.  

 

On both sides of said frontage road from the west curb line of Ohio Street (UNI 

Institutional Road) west to the east curb line of Hudson Road.  

 

On both sides of the frontage road along the north side of University Avenue 

between Main Street and Tremont Street, from the most westerly curb cut on 

said frontage road, west to the end of said frontage road.  

Frontage road on the 

west side of Hudson 

Road  

On both sides from West 31st Street south to the end of the street.  

Galloway Avenue  On the east side from Grand Boulevard to Rainbow Drive.  

 

On the west side from Grand Boulevard a distance of 50 feet south, and from 

Rainbow Drive a distance of 50 feet north.  

Genevieve Street  
On both sides between First Street and a point 35 feet south of the south line of 

First Street.  

 

On both sides from the north right-of-way line of First Street north a distance of 

132 feet.  

 
On the northwest side from First Street north to the end of the street.  

Gibson Street  On the west side from Rainbow Drive to Grand Boulevard.  

Grand Boulevard  
On the south side from the east line of East Street east to the west line of Park 

Drive.  

 

On the north side from the west line of East Street east to the east line of 

Scoggin Street.  

 

On the north side from the west line, extended, of Schreiber Street east to a 

point 75 feet east of the east line, extended, of Schreiber Street.  

180



31 
 

 

On the north side from the west line, extended, of Birch Street east to a point 65 

feet east of the east line, extended, of Birch Street.  

 

On the north side from the east line of Belle Avenue east to the west line of Park 

Drive.  

 

On the north side from the east line of Edwards Street east a distance of 170 

feet.  

Green Creek Road  
On the north and west sides from the east line of Rownd Street east and north 

to the south line of Greenhill Road.  

Greenhill Drive  
On the south side from the east curb line of Rownd Street east to the west curb 

line of Veralta Drive.  

Grove Street  
On the east side from the south curb line of East Ninth Street to the north curb 

line of East 12th Street.  

Harvest Lane  

On the west, north and east sides of the street proceeding west from the 

eastern intersection of Harvest Lane with Autumn Ridge Road to the western 

intersection of Harvest Lane with Autumn Ridge Road.  

Hawthorne Drive  
On the north side from the east curb line of Waterloo Road to the west curb line 

of Victory Drive.  

 

On both sides of said street from the centerline of Willow Lane, west a distance 

of 50 feet.  

Hedgewood Circle  
On the east side from the north curb line of Boxwood Drive north to the 

southeast edge of the cul-de-sac.  

Heritage Road  
On the east and north sides from Bergstrom Boulevard in a southerly and 

easterly direction to the east end of Heritage Road.  

 

On the west side from the north line of West Gate Avenue north a distance of 

40 feet.  

 

On the west side from the south line of West Gate Avenue south a distance of 

40 feet.  

181



32 
 

Hickory Lane  
On the east side from the south curb line of Rainbow Drive south to the north 

curb line of Hawthorne Drive.  

Highland Drive  
On the east side from the south curb line of West First Street south a distance of 

89 feet.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West First Street south a distance 

of 54 feet.  

Highview Court  
On the east side from the south curb line of Rainbow Drive south to the north 

curb line of Parker Street.  

Holmes Drive  
On the east side between the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., Monday through 

Friday, from Fourth Street to the south end.  

Hudson Road  On both sides between First Street and the south city limits.  

Hunter Drive  
On the south side from the east line of Center Street east to the east end of the 

street.  

Ida Street  
On both sides of the street from the east curb line of North College Street east 

to the end of the street.  

Idaho Street  On the north side from Dallas Drive to Boulder Drive.  

 

On the south side of Idaho Street a distance of 25 feet west from the west curb 

line of Boulder Drive.  

Independence Avenue  On both sides from Lincoln Street to Big Woods Road.  

Iowa Highway 58/U.S. 

Highway 218  
On both sides of said Highway from Greenhill Road north to the north city limits.  

Iowa Street  
On both sides between First Street and a point 35 feet south of the south line of 

First Street.  

 
On the west side between West Third Street and West 11th Street.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of West Fourth Street south a distance 

of 40 feet.  

182



33 
 

 

On the east side from the north curb line of West Fourth Street north a distance 

of 40 feet.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of West 11th Street south a distance of 

40 feet.  

 

On the east side from the north curb line of West 11th Street north a distance of 

40 feet.  

 

On both sides from the south curb line of West 18th Street south a distance of 

40 feet.  

Ironwood Drive  
On the west side from the north end of Erik Road south and east to the 

northwest edge of the cul-de-sac.  

Irving Street  On the east side from 11th Street to 12th Street.  

Jaclyn Street  
On the west side from the north curb line of Lantz Avenue north to the end of 

the street.  

Kaspend Place  
On the east side from the south line of Pheasant Drive south to the north edge 

of the cul-de-sac.  

Lake Street  On both sides from Central Avenue to Leversee Road.  

Lantz (East)  On the north side from Center Street to Jackson Avenue.  

Laurie Avenue  
On the east side from the south curb line of Grand Boulevard south to the north 

curb line of Rainbow Drive.  

Leversee Road  On the west side from Lincoln Street to the north city limits.  

Lilac Lane  On the north side from Boulder Drive to Carlton Drive.  

Lincoln Street  On both sides from Main Street east to the city limits.  

Lone Tree Road  On both sides from Ford Road to Big Woods Road.  

Longview (West)  On both sides from Central Avenue to Center Street.  

183



34 
 

Madison Street  On the north side from Belle Avenue to Ashland Drive.  

 

On the south side from the intersection of Belle Avenue east for a distance of 

200 feet.  

Main Street  On both sides from First Street north to the north end of the river bridge.  

 

On both sides between Sixth Street and the south city limits, except that parking 

is allowed from Sixth to 14th Street on Sundays between 7:00 a.m. and 1:00 

p.m.  

Main Street (North)  
On the south side between the existing entrance of Calhoun Manufacturing 

Company and Second Avenue, between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.  

Mandalay Drive  
On the north and west sides of the street from the north curb line of Grand 

Boulevard north and east to the west curb line of Park Drive.  

Maplewood Drive  On both sides from Carlton Drive to Boulder Drive.  

McClain Drive  
On the east side from the south curb line of University Avenue south a distance 

of 77 feet.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of University Avenue south a distance 

of 647 feet.  

Meadow View Circle  
On the north side from the east curb line of Meadowlark Lane east to the 

northwest edge of the cul-de-sac.  

Meadowlark Lane  
On the east side from the south curb line of Erik Road south to the northeast 

edge of the cul-de-sac.  

Melrose Court  On both sides of the street for its entire length, including the entire cul-de-sac.  

Melrose Drive  On the north side from Linwood Drive west to Melrose Court.  

 

On the west side from Royal Drive to Seerley Boulevard from 7:00 a.m. to 5:00 

p.m., Monday through Friday.  

Merner Avenue  
On the east side from the south curb line of West 19th Street south to the north 

curb line of West 22nd Street.  

184



35 
 

 

On both sides from the south curb line of West 22nd Street south to the north 

curb line of West 23rd Street.  

 

On the west side from the north end of the bridge over Dry Run Creek south to 

the south end of the bridge.  

Nordic Drive  On both sides of said street from Viking Road north to the end of said street.  

 
On the east side from Viking Road south a distance of 610 feet.  

Norse Drive  
On the west side from the south curb line of Erik Road south a distance of 25 

feet.  

North College Street  On the west side from the south line of Higby Drive south 75 feet.  

Oak Avenue  
On the north side from the north curb line of Madison Street north and west to 

the east curb line of Ashland Avenue.  

Olive Street  
On the east side from the south curb line of West First Street south to the south 

curb line of West 12th Street.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of West 16th Street south to the north 

curb line of West 17th Street.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West 18th Street south to a point 

75 feet south of the south curb line of West 18th Street.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of West 18th Street south to the north 

curb line of West 21st Street.  

Orchard Drive  

On the south side from South Main Street Road to Rownd Street, between the 

hours of 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., on weekdays only, excluding the following 

holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, 

Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, or the days on which such holidays are 

observed.  

 
On the south side from Veralta Drive to Chapman Court.  

Panther Lane  On the east side from University Avenue to Starview Drive.  

185



36 
 

 

On the west side from the south curb line of University Avenue to the north curb 

line of the south leg of Starbeck Circle.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of Starview Drive south a distance of 

40 feet.  

Park Drive  On both sides from Rainbow Drive to Park Circle.  

Parker Street  On the south side from Belle Avenue to Victory Drive.  

Parrish Street  On the east side from Rainbow Drive to West Winter Ridge Road.  

Pearl Street  On the east side between First Street and Third Street.  

 

On the west side between First Street and a point 35 feet south of the south line 

of First Street.  

 

On the east side between the south curb line of West Eighth Street to the north 

curb line of West 11th Street.  

Pendleton Drive  
On the east and north sides from Quail Hollow Lane north and west to Lexington 

Drive.  

Pheasant Drive  
For a distance of 120 feet east of the centerline of the jog in Pheasant Drive and 

for a distance of 120 feet west of the center of the jog in Pheasant Drive.  

Quail Hollow Lane  On the north side from Quail Run Lane west to the end of the street.  

Quail Ridge Road  On the west side from West 12th Street south to Quail Hollow Lane.  

Quail Run Lane  On the west side from Quail Ridge Road south to Quail Hollow Lane.  

Rainbow Drive  On both sides from Waterloo Road to the east city limits.  

Ravine Drive  
On both sides from the north curb line of Forrest Road north to the south curb 

line of Willow Avenue.  

Ridgeway Lane  
On the west side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue east to the west curb 

line of Columbia Drive.  

186



37 
 

River Ridge Lane  
On the north side from the west curb line of River Ridge Road north and west to 

the northeast edge of the cul-de-sac.  

River Ridge Road  

On the east, north and west sides from the easterly intersection of River Ridge 

Road with Timberledge Drive, northwest, west, and south to the westerly 

intersection with Timberledge Drive.  

Rownd Street  On both sides from Rainbow Drive to Sunnyside Drive.  

 
On the east side from Sunnyside Drive to Greenhill Road.  

 

On both sides from Rainbow Drive to Sunnyside Drive except that parking is 

allowed from a point 60 feet south of Rainbow Drive on the west side of said 

street on Sundays between 8:00 a.m. and 1:00 p.m.  

 
On the east side from Sunnyside Drive to Greenhill Road.  

 

On the west side from the north line of Primrose Drive north a distance of 20 

feet.  

 

Anywhere within the vehicle drop-off lane located on the west side of Rownd 

Street adjacent to Orchard Hill School, from a point 141 feet north of the north 

curb line of Valley High Drive north to a point 365 feet north of the north curb 

line of Valley High Drive, except that parking is permitted in the angle parking 

area east of the raised curb which separates the vehicle drop-off lane from the 

traveled portion of Rownd Street.  

First Street (West)  On both sides between Main Street and the west city limits.  

 

On the west side from the south line of Primrose Drive south a distance of 40 

feet.  

Royal Drive  On both sides from Waterloo Road to Melrose Drive.  

Russell Drive  
On the east side from the south curb line of Sunnyside Drive south to the north 

curb line of Hawthorne Drive.  

Sandahlwood Circle  

From the intersection of the north curb line of Pheasant Drive with the west 

curb line of the east leg of Sandahlwood Circle, along such curb line of 

Sandahlwood Circle in a northerly, westerly and southerly direction to the 

intersection of the north curb line of Pheasant Drive with the east curb line of 

187



38 
 

the west leg of Sandahlwood Circle.  

Scenic Drive  On both sides from Cottonwood Lane north to the end of the street.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of Cadillac Drive south to the north 

curb line of Sunray Drive.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of Cadillac Drive south a distance of 

250 feet, from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. daily.  

Schreiber Street  
On the east side from the south end of the street north to the south curb line of 

Grand Boulevard.  

 
On the west side from the south end of the street north a distance of 70 feet.  

Scoggin Street  
On the east side from the north curb line of Newman Avenue north to the south 

curb line of Grand Boulevard.  

Seerley Boulevard  On both sides between Clay Street and Valley Park Drive.  

Shady Lane  
On the east side from the north curb line of Terrace Drive north and east to the 

south curb line of Loma Street.  

South Lawn Road  
On the east side from the north line of Bonita Boulevard south a distance of 200 

feet.  

 

On the west side from the south line of Bonita Boulevard south a distance of 60 

feet.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of Stanwood Drive south a distance of 

240 feet.  

Springbrook Drive  On the north side from Starview Drive east to Panther Lane.  

Spruce Hills Drive  
On the west and south sides, from the south curb line of Westgate Avenue to 

the west curb line of Estate Drive.  

Starbeck Circle  
From the intersection of the west right-of-way line, extended, of Panther Lane 

with the north leg of Starbeck Circle, along the north curb line of Starbeck Circle 

in a southwesterly, southerly, easterly and northeasterly direction to the 

188



39 
 

intersection of the west right-of-way line, extended, of Panther Lane with the 

south leg of Starbeck Circle.  

 

From the intersection of the west right-of-way line, extended, of Panther Lane 

with the north leg of Starbeck Circle, southwest along the south curb line of 

Starbeck Circle a distance of approximately 545 feet, between 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 

p.m. Monday through Friday.  

Starview Drive  
On the east side from the north curb line of Brookside Drive north to a point 240 

feet north of the north curb line of Springbrook Drive.  

 

On the north, northwesterly and west sides of the street from the west curb line 

of Panther Lane in a westerly, southwesterly and southerly direction to a point 

140 feet north of the north curb line of Springbrook Drive.  

State Street  
On the east side from the south curb line of East Seventh Street to the north 

curb line of East 18th Street.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of East Fourth Street to the north curb 

line of Waterloo Road.  

Summit Drive  
On both sides from the north curb line of West 18th Street north a distance of 

100 feet.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West 18th Street south to the north 

curb line of West 19th Street.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of West 18th Street south a distance of 

50 feet.  

 

On the east side from the north curb line of West 1 th Street north a distance of 

50 feet.  

Terrace Drive  
On the north side from Cedar Heights Drive to a point 400 feet west of Neola 

Street.  

 
On the south side a distance of 165 feet west of the west line of Neola Street.  

Timber Drive  
On the east and north sides from the north curb line of Grand Boulevard north 

and west to the south curb line of Greenwood Avenue.  

189



40 
 

Timberledge Drive  

On the north side from the east curb line of the westerly intersection of 

Timberledge Drive and River Ridge Road east to the west curb line of Westwood 

Drive.  

Timberledge Place  

On the east side from the west curb line of the easterly intersection of 

Timberledge Drive westerly to the north curb line of the westerly intersection 

with Timberledge Drive.  

Tremont Street  On east side between Seventh Street and Eighth Street.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of West 12th Street south to the north 

curb line of West 18th Street.  

 

On the east side of said street for a distance of 60 feet north of the curb line of 

18th Street (West).  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of West 18th Street south to the north 

curb line of West 22nd Street.  

Tucson Drive  On the west side from University Avenue to Arizona Road.  

 

On the east side from University Avenue to a point 40 feet south of the south 

right-of-way line of Idaho Road.  

Utility Parkway  
On the west and north sides from the east curb line of Waterloo Road northerly 

and easterly to the entrance to Washington Park.  

University Avenue  On both sides from the east city limits to the west city limits.  

Valley Park Drive  
On the west side from the north curb line of University Avenue north a distance 

of 110 feet.  

 
On the east side from University Avenue north to Waterloo Road.  

Victory Drive  
On the west side from the south curb line of Rainbow Drive south a distance of 

40 feet.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of Rainbow Drive south a distance of 

150 feet.  

190



41 
 

Viking Road  
On both sides from the east curb line of Highway 58 east to the west curb line of 

Cedar Heights Drive.  

 

On both sides from the west curb line of Highway 58 west to the east curb line 

of Hudson Road.  

 

On both sides from the west curb line of Hudson Road west to the west city 

limits.  

Vine Street cul-de-sac  
Around the entire length of the cul-de-sac a distance of 240 feet from the north 

line of the Cedar Street right-of-way.  

Virgil Street  
On the east side from the south curb line of Rainbow Drive south to the north 

curb line of Hawthorne Drive.  

Walnut Street  
On the west side from the north curb line of 18th Street north a distance of 80 

feet.  

 
On both sides from the north curb line of 13th Street north a distance of 40 feet.  

 

On the west side from the south curb line of 13th Street south a distance of 60 

feet.  

 

On the east side from the south curb line of 13th Street south a distance of 15 

feet.  

Washington Street  
On the west side from the north curb line of West Sixth Street north a distance 

of 35 feet.  

 
On the east side from 10th Street to 18th Street.  

 

On the east side from west Sixth Street to West 10th Street, except from 3:00 

p.m. Saturday to 1:00 p.m. Sunday.  

 
On the east side from the West First Street to West Sixth Street.  

 

On the west side from the north curb line of West Seventh Street north a 

distance of 100 feet.  

Waterloo Road  On both sides from the east curb line of Main Street east to University Avenue.  

191



42 
 

West Gate Avenue  On the south side from South Main Street to Heritage Road.  

 
On the north side from the west line of Heritage Road west a distance of 40 feet.  

Westminster Drive  On both sides of said street from Nordic Drive to the end of said street.  

Whiteway Drive  On both sides for the entire length of the street.  

Willow Avenue  
On the north side from the west curb line of Ravine Drive west to the east curb 

line of Westwood Drive.  

Winters Drive  
On the south side of the east-west portion of Winters Drive from the east edge 

of the enlarged semi-circular corner east to the east end of the street.  

 

On the east side of the north-south portion of Winters Drive from the south line 

of Hunter Drive south to the north edge of the enlarged semi-circular corner.  

  

(Code 2017, § 26-271; Ord. No. 2635, § 1, 11-12-2007; Ord. No. 2659, § 1, 5-12-2008; Ord. No. 

2662, § 2, 8-25-2008; Ord. No. 2664, § 3, 9-8-2008; Ord. No. 2666, §§ 1—4, 11-24-2008; Ord. 

No. 2667, § 1, 12-8-2008; Ord. No. 2670, § 1, 1-26-2009; Ord. No. 2684, § 1, 6-22-2009; Ord. 

No. 2686, § 1, 7-13-2009; Ord. No. 2689, § 1, 8-10-2009; Ord. No. 2692, § 1, 9-14-2009; Ord. 

No. 2710, § 1, 6-14-2010; Ord. No. 2720, § 1, 10-25-2010; Ord. No. 2733, §§ 1—10, 2-28-2011; 

Ord. No. 2739, §§ 1, 2, 3-28-2011; Ord. No. 2753, § 1, 8-29-2011; Ord. No. 2756, § 1, 12-12-

2012[11]; Ord. No. 2768, § 1, 6-11-2012; Ord. No. 2769, § 1, 6-11-2012; Ord. No. 2807, § 1, 3-

24-2014; Ord. No. 2811, §§ 1, 2, 5-12-2014; Ord. No. 2829, § 1, 10-6-2014; Ord. No. 2832, §§ 

1, 2, 12-1-2014; Ord. No. 2858, § 1, 11-16-2015; Ord. No. 2890, § 1, 12-5-2016; Ord. No. 2893, 

§ 1, 1-16-2017)  

Sec. 23-375.   Parking prohibited on Tuesday, Thursday or Saturday, 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 

p.m., south and west sides of street. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle on the south and west 
sides of the following streets or portions of streets during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 
or Thursday or Saturday:  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

Eighth Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Pearl Street to the east line of Division Street.  

192



43 
 

Ninth Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Catherine Street west to the east line of Division Street.  

11th Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Pearl Street to the east line of Division Street.  

19th Street 

(West)  
From the west side of Olive Street to the east line of College Street.  

22nd Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Tremont Street to the east line of College Street.  

23rd Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Tremont Street to the east line of Iowa Street.  

25th Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Olive Street to the east line of College Street.  

26th Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Tremont Street to the east line of College Street.  

28th Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Walnut Street to the east line of College Street.  

Brookside Drive  
From the southerly extension of the east curb line of Starview Drive east to the west 

curb line of Panther Lane.  

Campus Street  
From a point 248 feet south of the westerly extension of the south curb line of West 

20th Street south to the north curb line of West 22nd Street.  

College Street  
From a point 65 feet south of the south curb line of University Avenue south to the 

south curb line of West 29th Street.  

Division Street  From the north line of Eighth Street to the south line of Sixth Street.  

Ellen Street  From the south curb line of West 7th Street to the north curb line of West 12th Street.  

Floral Court  The entire length of the street except the radius of the cul-de-sac.  

Iowa Street  From the south line of West 21st Street to the north line of University Avenue.  

193



44 
 

 
From the south line of First Street to the north line of 11th Street.  

Merner Avenue  
From the south curb line of West 18th Street south to the north curb line of West 19th 

Street.  

 

From the south end of the bridge over Dry Run Creek south to the north line of West 

22nd Street.  

Olive Street  
From the south curb line of West 21st Street to the north curb line of University 

Avenue.  

 
From the south line of First Street to the north line of 12th Street.  

Pearl Street  From the south line of Eighth to the north line of 11th Street.  

Seerley 

Boulevard  
From the west line of Tremont Street to the east line of Olive Street.  

Tremont Street  From the south line of West 20th Street to the north line of University Avenue.  

Walnut Street  From the south line of West 18th Street to the north line of University Avenue.  

  

(Code 2017, § 26-272; Ord. No. 1960, § 1, 11-25-1991; Ord. No. 2078, § 2, 12-12-1994; Ord. 

No. 2101, § 1, 5-8-1995; Ord. No. 2130, § 2, 1-22-1996; Ord. No. 2240, § 1, 5-26-1998; Ord. 

No. 2252, § 1, 1-25-1999; Ord. No. 2257, § 2, 4-12-1999; Ord. No. 2277, § 1, 10-25-1999; Ord. 

No. 2288, § 1, 2-14-2000; Ord. No. 2290, § 1, 2-28-2000; Ord. No. 2328, § 1, 3-26-2001; Ord. 

No. 2401, §§ 1—3, 11-25-2002; Ord. No. 2418, § 1, 3-10-2003; Ord. No. 2466, § 1, 1-12-2004; 

Ord. No. 2489, § 1, 9-20-2004; Ord. No. 2565, § 1, 11-14-2005; Ord. No. 2592, § 1, 8-14-2006; 

Ord. No. 2636, § 1, 11-12-2007; Ord. No. 2664, § 1, 9-8-2008; Ord. No. 2670, § 2, 1-26-2009; 

Ord. No. 2757, § 1, 12-12-2012[11]; Ord. No. 2781, § 1, 10-22-2012; Ord. No. 2811, § 4, 5-12-

2014; Ord. No. 2834, § 1, 3-2-2015; Ord. No. 2866, § 1, 6-20-2016; Ord. No. 2897, § 1, 3-6-

2017)  

Sec. 23-376.   Parking prohibited on Tuesday, Thursday or Saturday, 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 

p.m., north and east sides of street. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle on the north and east 
sides of the following streets or portions of streets during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 
Thursday or Saturday:  

194



45 
 

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

Walnut Street  From the south line of University Avenue to the north line of West 29th Street.  

  

(Code 2017, § 26-272.1; Ord. No. 2867, § 1, 6-20-2016)  

Sec. 23-377.   Parking prohibited on Monday, Wednesday or Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 

p.m., north and east sides of street. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle on the north and east 
sides of the following streets or portions of streets during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Monday, 
or Wednesday or Friday:  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

Eighth Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Pearl Street to the east line of Division Street.  

Ninth Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Catherine Street west to the east line of Division Street.  

11th Street 

(West)  
From the east line of Pearl Street to the west line of Division Street.  

19th Street 

(West)  
From the west side of Olive Street to the east line of College Street.  

22nd Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Tremont Street to the east line of College Street.  

23rd Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Tremont Street to the east line of Iowa Street.  

25th Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Olive Street to the east line of College Street.  

26th Street From the west line of Tremont Street to the east line of College Street.  

195



46 
 

(West)  

28th Street 

(West)  
From the west line of Walnut Street to the east line of College Street.  

Brookside Drive  From the east curb line of Starview Drive east to the west curb line of Panther Lane.  

Campus Street  
From a point 248 feet south of the south curb line of West 20th Street south to the 

north curb line of West 22nd Street.  

College Street  
From a point 65 feet south of the south curb line of University Avenue south to the 

north curb line of West 29th Street.  

Division Street  
From a point 120 feet north of the north line of Eighth Street to the south line of Sixth 

Street.  

Ellen Street  
From the south curb line of West 7th Street to the north curb line of West 12th 

Street.  

Floral Court  The entire length of the street except the radius of the cul-de-sac.  

Iowa Street  From the south line of West 21st Street to the north line of University Avenue.  

 
From the north line of First Street to the south line of 11th Street.  

Merner Avenue  
From the south curb line of West 18th Street south to the north curb line of West 

19th Street.  

 

From the south end of the bridge over Dry Run Creek south to the north line of West 

22nd Street.  

Olive Street  
From the south curb line of West 21st Street to the north curb line of University 

Avenue.  

 
From the north line of First Street to the south line of 12th Street.  

Pearl Street  From the north line of Eighth Street to the south line of 11th Street.  

Seerley 

Boulevard  
From the west line of Tremont Street to the east line of Olive Street.  

196



47 
 

Tremont Street  From the south line of West 20th Street to the north line of University Avenue.  

Walnut Street  From the south line of West 18th Street to the north line of University Avenue.  

  

(Code 2017, § 26-273; Ord. No. 1960, § 2, 11-25-1991; Ord. No. 2078, § 3, 12-12-1994; Ord. 

No. 2101, § 1, 5-8-1995; Ord. No. 2130, § 3, 1-22-1996; Ord. No. 2240, § 2, 5-26-1998; Ord. 

No. 2252, § 2, 1-25-1999; Ord. No. 2257, § 3, 4-12-1999; Ord. No. 2277, § 1, 10-25-1999; Ord. 

No. 2288, § 2, 2-14-2000; Ord. No. 2290, § 2, 2-28-2000; Ord. No. 2328, § 2, 3-26-2001; Ord. 

No. 2401, §§ 4—6, 11-25-2002; Ord. No. 2418, § 2, 3-10-2003; Ord. No. 2466, § 2, 1-12-2004; 

Ord. No. 2489, § 2, 9-20-2004; Ord. No. 2565, § 2, 11-14-2005; Ord. No. 2592, § 2, 8-14-2006; 

Ord. No. 2637, § 1, 2, 11-12-2007; Ord. No. 2664, § 2, 9-8-2008; Ord. No. 2670, § 3, 1-26-2009; 

Ord. No. 2757, § 2, 12-12-2012[11]; Ord. No. 2781, § 2, 10-22-2012; Ord. No. 2811, § 5, 5-12-

2014; Ord. No. 2834, § 2, 3-2-2015; Ord. No. 2866, § 2, 6-20-2016; Ord. No. 2897, § 2, 3-6-

2017)  

Sec. 23-378.   Parking prohibited on Monday, Wednesday or Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 

p.m., south and west sides of street. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle on the south and west 
sides of the following streets or portions of streets during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on Monday, 
Wednesday or Friday:  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

Walnut Street  From the south line of University Avenue to the north line of West 29th Street.  

  

(Code 2017, § 26-273.1; Ord. No. 2867, § 2, 6-20-2016)  

Sec. 23-379.   Limited parking on specific streets. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle on the following streets 
or portions of streets for a period longer than the time limit specified in this section.  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Limited  

Third Street 

(West)   

197



48 
 

 

On the south side, beginning at a point 35 feet west of the west curb line of Franklin 

Street, then west 20 feet to the west curb line of Franklin Street, parking shall be marked 

off into stalls and shall be limited to a 30-minute period.  

23rd Street 

(West)  

On the north side, between the east line of Merner Avenue and the west side of Campus 

Street, parking shall be marked off in parking stalls and limited to a one-hour period.  

Clay Street  

On the east side, from the south line of West Second Street to a point 147 feet south of 

the south line of West Second Street, parking shall be marked off into parking stalls and 

parking shall be limited to a 30-minute period.  

 

On the east side from the intersection of Clay Street and West 3rd Street a distance of 102 

feet north, parking shall be marked off into parking stalls and limited to a 30-minute 

period.  

College 

Street  

On the east side, from the south curb line of West 20th Street south to the north curb line 

of 21st Street, parking shall be limited to a two-hour period.  

College 

Street 

(South)  

On the east side, from the south curb line of West 20th Street south to the north curb line 

of West 22nd Street, parking shall be limited to a two-hour period.  

 

On the west side, from the south curb line of West 20th Street to a point 40 feet north of 

the north curb line of West 22nd Street, parking shall be limited to a two-hour period.  

  

(Code 2017, § 26-274; Ord. No. 1922, §§ 3, 4, 11-26-1990; Ord. No. 1926, § 2, 1-2-1991; Ord. 

No. 2006, § 10, 3-1-1993; Ord. No. 2011, § 2, 4-12-1993; Ord. No. 2024, § 1, 8-23-1993; Ord. 

No. 2564, § 1, 11-14-2005; Ord. No. 2577, § 2, 6-12-2006; Ord. No. 2596, § 1, 9-11-2006; Ord. 

No. 2662, § 1, 8-25-2008; Ord. No. 2807, § 2, 3-24-2014)  

Sec. 23-380.   All-night parking prohibited on specific streets. 

No person shall park a vehicle on the following streets on any day between the hours of 2:00 a.m. 
and 6:00 a.m.:  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

198



49 
 

23rd Street 

(West)  
On both sides, between College Street and Merner Avenue.  

 
On the south side between Merner Avenue and Minnesota Street.  

31st Street (West)  
On the south side between Hudson Road and a point 1,300 feet west of Hudson 

Road.  

College Street  On both sides between 20th Street and 23rd Street.  

Main Street  On both sides between First Street and Fifth Street.  

 
On the west side between Fifth Street and Sixth Street.  

  

(Code 2017, § 26-275; Ord. No. 2690, § 1, 8-24-2009)  

Sec. 23-381.   Angle parking zones. 

No person shall park a vehicle on the following streets or portions of streets, which have been signed 
or marked for angle parking, other than within the lines so marked:  

Street  Portion Zoned  

Second Street 

(West)  
On the north side from State Street to Clay Street.  

 
On both sides between Franklin Street and Clay Street.  

Third Street 
On the south side between Washington Street to the west line of the Washington Street 

and Main Street alley. 

 
On the north side between the east line of the Washington Street and Main Street alley 

to the west line of Main Street. 

 
On the south side between the east line of Main Street to the west line of the Main 

Street and State Street alley. 

Fourth Street On the south side from the east curb line of State Street east to the end of the street.  

199



50 
 

(East)  

Eighth Street 

(West)  
On the north side between College Street and Pearl Street.  

11th Street 

(West)  

On both sides from Division Street west to a point 400 feet west of the west line of 

Division Street.  

Clay Street  On both sides between Second Street and Third Street. 

Division Street  On both sides between Eighth Street and 12th Street.  

Main Street  On both sides between First Street and Sixth Street.  

Pearl Street  On both sides between Seventh Street and Eighth Street.  

Rownd Street  
On the west side from a point 185 feet north from the north curb line of Valley High 

Drive to a point 307 feet north of the north curb line of Valley High Drive.  

State Street  
On the east side from the north curb line of Fourth Street north to the south curb line of 

Second Street. 

  

Sec. 23-382.   Loading zones on specific streets. 

The streets or portions of streets enumerated in this section, when properly signposted, are hereby 
declared to be loading zones at all times if unspecified in this section, or if specified in this section, only 
during the listed times . No vehicle shall park or stand in a loading zone other than while actually engaged 
in the loading or unloading of passengers or materials.  Time limits for loading or unloading in loading 
zones may be established by proper signpost.  Exceeding such posted time limits  shall be a violation of 
this section. 

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Limited  

Fourth Street 

(West) 

Loading zone: From a point 100 feet east of the centerline of Francis Street to a point 

east of the centerline of Francis Street.  

Seventh Loading zone: On the north side from the east curb line of Washington Street east a 

200



51 
 

Street (West)  distance of 112 feet during the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.  

Eighth Street 

(West)  

Loading zone: On the south side from the east line of Tremont Street to a point 65 feet 

east of the east line of Tremont Street.  

Eighth Street 

(West) 

Loading zone: On the north side from a point 203.5 feet east of the centerline of 

Barrington Drive, thence a distance of 150 feet east, from 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., 

Monday through Friday.  

Ninth Street 

(East)  

Loading zone: On the south side from a point 59 feet east of the east right-of-way line, 

thence east 40 feet.  

20th Street 

(West)  

Loading zone: On the south side, commencing at the east right-of-way line of College 

Street and extending 55 feet east.  

22nd Street 

(West)  

Loading zone: On the north side commencing 160 feet west of College Street and 

continuing west a distance of 81 feet.  

23rd Street 

(West)  

Loading zone: On the north side from the west line of College Street to a point 95 feet 

west thereof.  

Clay Street  
Loading zone: On the east side commencing at a point 63 feet south of the south curb 

line of Sixth Street and extending south 36 feet.  

Clay Street 
Loading zone: On the east side beginning at a point 77 feet north of the north line of 

Ninth Street and extending to a point 117 feet north of the north line of Ninth Street.  

Dallas Drive  
Loading zone: On the east side from a point 50 feet north of the north curb line of Idaho 

Street north a distance of 30 feet.  

Dallas Drive 
Loading zone: On the east side from a point 100 feet north of the north curb line of 

Idaho Street north a distance of 25 feet.  

Grand 

Boulevard  

Loading zone: On the south side commencing at a point 188 feet west of the centerline 

of Park Drive and extending to a point 245 feet west of the centerline of Park Drive.  

Main Street  
Loading zone: On the east side of said street from a point 145 feet south of the 

centerline on Ninth Street a distance of 50 feet south.  

201



52 
 

Rownd Street  

On the west side from a point 380 feet north of the north curb line of Valley High Drive 

to a point 520 feet north of the north curb line of Valley High Drive from 8:30 a.m. to 

9:00 a.m. Monday through Friday; from 3:15 p.m. to 3:45 p.m. on Monday, Tuesday, 

Thursday and Friday; and from 2:00 p.m. to 2:30 p.m. on Wednesday.  

Seerley 

Boulevard  

Loading Zone: On the north side from a point 133 feet west of the west line of Melrose 

Drive west a distance of 250 feet, from 6:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.  

Walnut Street  On the west side from the north curb line of 18th Street north a distance of 80 feet.  

Walnut Street 
Loading Zone: On the east side commencing at a point 15 feet south of the south curb 

line of West 13th Street south a distance of 45 feet.  

Washington 

Street  

Loading zone: On the west side commencing at a point 99 feet north of the north curb 

line of Eighth Street at its intersection with Washington Street and continuing north a 

distance of 46 feet.  

Washington 

Street 

Loading zone: One the west side commencing at the north curb line of Eighth Street at 

its intersection with Washington Street north a distance of 99 feet during the hours of 

7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday.  

  

(Code 2017, § 26-277; Ord. No. 1966, §§ 1, 3, 2-11-1992; Ord. No. 2002, § 4, 1-11-1993; Ord. 

No. 2048, § 1, 2-28-1994; Ord. No. 2069, § 1, 11-14-1994; Ord. No. 2090, § 2, 3-27-1995; Ord. 

No. 2094, § 1, 4-10-1995; Ord. No. 2124, § 1, 12-11-1995; Ord. No. 2172, § 2, 12-9-1996; Ord. 

No. 2228, § 1, 4-13-1998; Ord. No. 2247, § 1, 11-9-1998; Ord. No. 2268, §§ 3, 4, 7-12-1999; 

Ord. No. 2272, §§ 1, 2, 6-28-1999; Ord. No. 2285, § 2, 1-10-2000; Ord. No. 2471, § 1, 1-26-

2004; Ord. No. 2538, § 1, 8-8-2005; Ord. No. 2558, § 2, 11-14-2005; Ord. No. 2577, § 3, 6-12-

2006; Ord. No. 2606, § 1, 10-23-2006; Ord. No. 2610, § 2, 12-18-2006; Ord. No. 2734, § 2, 2-

28-2011; Ord. No. 2807, § 3, 3-24-2014; Ord. No. 2811, § 3, 5-12-2014)  

 (Code 2017, § 26-276; Ord. No. 2690, § 2, 8-24-2009; Ord. No. 2734, § 1, 2-28-2011)  

Sec. 23-383.   School bus loading and unloading zones. 

The streets or portions of streets enumerated in this section, when properly signposted, are hereby 
declared to be school bus loading or unloading zones. No vehicle other than a school bus shall park in 
any school bus loading or unloading zone.  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

202



53 
 

Lantz Avenue  
On the east side of said street from a point 50 feet south of the southeast corner of 

Lantz Avenue and Fern Street a distance of 61 feet south.  

Seerley 

Boulevard  

On the north side from a point 383 feet west of the west line of Melrose Drive west a 

distance of 100 feet, from 7:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m., Monday through Friday.  

 

On the south side, from a point 350 feet east of Grove Street to a point 525 feet east of 

Grove Street, from 7:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.  

Washington 

Street  

On the west side from a point 100 feet north of the north curb line of West Seventh 

Street north to a point 25 feet south of the south curb line of West Sixth Street, from 

7:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.  

  

(Code 2017, § 26-278; Ord. No. 2004, § 5, 2-8-1993; Ord. No. 2090, § 3, 3-27-1995; Ord. No. 

2215, § 1, 1-26-1998; Ord. No. 2285, § 3, 1-10-2000; Ord. No. 2510, § 1, 4-11-2005; Ord. No. 

2734, § 3, 2-28-2011)  

Sec. 23-384.   Restricting parking in a loading zone. 

The street or portions of streets or alleys or portions of alleys enumerated in this section, when 
properly sign posted, are hereby declared to be loading zones. No vehicle shall park in a loading zone 
other than while actually engaged in the loading or unloading of passengers or materials.  

Street or Alley  Loading Zone  

The east west alley between 

West 1st Street and West 

2nd Street.  

From the east line of the north south alley between West 1st Street and 

West 2nd Street, a distance of 73 feet east, during the hours of 8:00 a.m. 

to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Saturday.  

  

(Code 2017, § 26-279; Ord. No. 1991, § 1(158.2), 9-28-1992)  

Sec. 23-385.   Lamps on parked vehicles. 

Whenever a vehicle is parked or stopped upon a roadway or shoulder adjacent to the roadway, 
outside of a business district whether attended or unattended during the times mentioned in section 23-
517, such vehicle shall be equipped with one or more lamps which shall exhibit a white or amber light on 
the roadway side visible from a distance of 500 feet to the front of such vehicle and a red light visible from 
a distance of 500 feet to the rear. Any lighted headlamps upon a parked vehicle shall be depressed or 
dimmed.  

203



54 
 

(Code 2017, § 26-280; Ord. No. 1995, § 1(243A), 9-28-1992)  

Sec. 23-386.   Prohibited parking during snow removal. 

(a)  Whenever the mayor or director of municipal operations and programs or the director's designee 
finds on the basis of excess accumulation of snow, that weather conditions have created or are likely 
to create hazardous road and driving conditions which will impede or are likely to impede movement 
of fire, health, police, emergency or other vital vehicular traffic, the mayor or director of municipal 
operations and programs or the director's designee may declare a snow emergency, and declare 
that snow removal from priority streets shall begin and shall prohibit parking or stopping of vehicles 
on designated snow removal routes. While the snow emergency is in effect, no person shall park, 
abandon or leave unattended any vehicle upon any snow removal route or portion of such route, as 
designated as such by subsection (d) of this section. Each street designated as a snow removal 
route shall be marked with signs displaying the words, "Emergency Snow Route." A snow removal 
parking ban shall continue from its declaration through the duration of the snow storm, and until the 
mayor or director of municipal operations and programs or the director's designee issues notice that 
the snow emergency is at an end. The public will be notified via local radio, television and newspaper 
when the snow emergency begins and is concluded. The parking prohibition on snow removal routes 
shall not go into effect until two hours after the snow emergency has been declared in accordance 
with this section. Termination of the parking prohibition shall be effective immediately upon the 
announcement that the snow emergency is at an end.  

(b)  When it is declared that snow removal operations are to begin, it shall be unlawful for the driver of 
any vehicle to impede or block traffic on designated snow removal routes.  

(c)  Any police officer of the city police operations division, including duly authorized volunteer officers, 
or the director of municipal operations and programs or the director's designee shall be authorized to 
cause the towing of vehicles blocking traffic or parking on designated snow removal routes during 
snow removal operations in violation of this section. The owner of the vehicle shall pay the costs of 
towing and storage occasioned by the removal of the vehicle as provided herein. In addition any 
police officer of the city police operations division, including duly authorized volunteer officers, the 
director of municipal operations and programs or the director's designee shall be authorized to issue 
parking tickets for violations of this section, parking on designated snow removal routes during snow 
removal operations.  

(d)  Priority snow removal routes are designated as follows:  

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Prohibited  

Second Street  From State Street to Franklin Street  

Third Street  From State Street to Franklin Street  

Fourth Street  From State Street to Washington Street  

Fifth Street  From State Street to Washington Street  

Sixth Street  From State Street to Clay Street  

204



55 
 

18th Street (West)  From College Street to Hudson Road  

23rd Street  From College Street to Merner Avenue  

Clay Street  From First Street to Sixth Street  

College Street  From University Avenue to 18th Street  

Division Street  From Eighth Street to 12th Street  

Franklin Street  From Sixth Street to First Street  

Main Street  From First Street to Sixth Street  

Orchard Drive  From South Main Street to Cedar Heights Drive  

State Street  From First Street to Sixth Street  

Walnut Street  From First Street to 18th Street  

Washington Street  From First Street to Sixth Street  

  

(e)  Special penalty. Any person violating this parking ban shall be fined $25.00 for each offense, in 
addition to the costs of towing and storage.  

(f)  In any proceeding for violation of this section, the registration plates displayed on a motor vehicle 
involved in such violation shall constitute in evidence a prima facie presumption that the registered 
owner of such motor vehicle was the person who parked or placed such motor vehicle at the point 
where such violation occurred.  

(Code 2017, § 26-281; Ord. No. 2679, § 1, 3-9-2009; Ord. No. 2855, § 1, 10-19-2015)  

Sec. 23-387.   Fire lanes. 

(a)  Definitions. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this section, shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in this subsection, except where the context clearly indicates a different 
meaning:  

Building means any structure or portion of a structure which meet the following criteria:  

(1)  Privately owned commercial property zoned commercial under the zoning chapter of 
specifically zoned in the following commercial districts: S-1, C-1, C-2, and C-3.  

(2)  Privately owned residential property under the zoning chapter specifically zoned as RP.  

205



56 
 

Commercial vehicle means a motor driven car or truck which is designated by lettering on the 
vehicle's body indicating a commercial purpose or which has a commercial license plate attached and is 
duly registered to the vehicle.  

Fire lane means an opening not less than 20 feet of unobstructed width measured from the farthest 
building projection or walkway/curb, whichever is the greatest distance from the building wall, and shall 
have no vertical obstructions. The length of a fire lane shall be properly posted as set forth below.  

(b)  Violation. No person shall park a vehicle in any place designated by the fire operations division as a 
fire lane and posted as hereinafter provided, whether such fire lane be upon publicly owned property 
or right-of-way, or upon privately owned property. Any person violating this section shall be guilty of a 
municipal infraction and subject to punishment as provided in section 1-9. In addition, members of 
the police t operations division or parking meter attendants, or their designees, may remove such 
vehicle to a storage place as provided by ordinance.  

(c)  Signs. A fire lane shall be posted with metal signs reading "No Parking—Fire Lane Violators Subject 
to Towing and Citation under code section 23-389 of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa" at least every 50 
linear feet thereof.  

(d)  Presumption. When an area is posted as a fire lane as provided in subsection (c) of this section, a 
presumption shall arise that said area was designated as a fire lane by or with the authority of the fire 
operations division.  

(e)  Maintenance and construction expense. Fire lanes shall be constructed and maintained at the 
owner's expense, which shall include the purchase of properly marked signs.  

(f)  Free and clear of all obstructions. Fire lanes shall at all times be free and clear of all obstructions, 
with the following exceptions:  

(1)  Normal movement of vehicular traffic.  

(2)  Actively loading and unloading of commercial vehicles. Commercial vehicles shall be limited to 
a period of not more than 30 minutes' obstruction of the fire lane.  

(Code 2017, § 26-282; Ord. No. 2232, § 2, 4-27-1998; Ord. No. 2705, §§ 4, 5, 2-22-2010)  

Secs. 23-388—23-406.   Reserved. 

DIVISION 2.   PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, EQUIPMENT, OPERATIONS  AND 

FACILITIES 

Sec. 23-407.   Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this division, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Municipal parking lot means any parking area, not including streets or highways, designated as a 
public parking lot.  

Operator means every individual who operates a vehicle as the owner thereof, or as the agent, 
employee or permittee of the owner, or who is in actual physical control of a vehicle.  

Park or parking means the standing of a vehicle, whether occupied or not, upon a street or municipal 
parking lot, other than temporarily for the purpose of and while actually engaged in receiving or 
discharging passengers or loading or unloading merchandise, or in obedience to traffic regulations, signs 
or signals, and other than an involuntary stopping of a vehicle by reason of causes beyond the control of 
the operator of such vehicle.  

206



57 
 

Parking meter/pay station means any mechanical device or meter not inconsistent with this division 
that is placed or erected for the regulation of parking by authority of this division. Parking meters/pay 
stations installed shall indicate the legal parking time and pay for parking rate established by the city, and 
at the expiration of such period shall indicate illegal or overtime parking.  

Parking space means any space within a parking enforcement district, which is duly designated for 
the parking of a single vehicle by lines painted or otherwise durably marked on the curb or on the surface 
of the street or municipal parking lot.  

Parking enforcement district means a defined district comprised of restricted street parking and 
regulated municipal parking lots and facilities where parking is enforced..  

Person means any individual, firm, copartnership, association or corporation.  

Street means any public street, avenue, road, alley, highway, lane, path or other public place located 
in the city and established for the use of vehicles.  

Vehicle means any device in, upon or by which any person or property is or may be transported 
upon a highway, except a device which is operated upon rails or tracks.  

(Code 2017, § 26-291)  

Sec. 23-408.   Rights reserved by city. 

Nothing contained in this division shall be construed as prohibiting the city from providing for bus 
stops and for other matters of a similar nature, including the loading or unloading of trucks, vans or other 
commercial vehicles.  

(Code 2017, § 26-293)  

Sec. 23-409.   Supervision of parking operations. 

The council shall be responsible for the regulation, control, operation, maintenance and use of 
parking operations in the city.  

(Code 2017, § 26-294)  

Sec. 23-410.   Use of parking enforcement district for loading and unloading. 

Commercial trucks may park on the street or in municipal parking lots in parking enforcement 
districts to load and unload merchandise where no facilities are available to load or unload in alleys or 
loading/unloading zones. Such parking shall not exceed 15 minutes, and parking beyond such time limit 
shall be considered a violation of this division.  

(Code 2017, § 26-296)  

207



58 
 

Sec. 23-411 – Parking districts described. 

The following named and described districts, lying within the corporate limits of the city, 

shall constitute a parking enforcement district. 

(a) Downtown parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in Sec. 

26-189, Central Business District (CBD) overlay zoning district. 

(b) College Hill parking enforcement district, being the boundaries described in Sec. 

26-181, College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) overlay zoning district.   

Sec. 23-412.   Drop off/Pick up zones on specific streets in a parking enforcement 

district. 

The streets or portions of streets enumerated in this section, when properly signposted, are hereby 
declared to be drop off/pick up zones. No vehicle shall park or stand in a drop off/pick up zone other than 
while actually engaged in the loading or unloading of passengers or materials. In no event shall any 
vehicle be parked or stand in a drop off/pick up zone for more than 15 minutes. 

Street  
Portion Where  

Parking Limited  

Second Street 

(East)  

Drop off/ Pick up Zone: On the north side 55 feet east of the Main Street line to a point 

65 feet east of the Main Street line. 

Second Street 

(West) 

Drop off/ Pick up Zone: On the north side 30 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 

40 feet west of the Main Street line. 

Third Street 

(East) 

Drop off/ Pick up Zone: On the north side 35 feet east of the Main Street line to a point 

55 feet east of the Main Street line. 

Third Street 

(West)  

Drop off/ Pick up Zone: On the north side 65 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 

75 feet west of the Main Street line. 

Third Street 

(West) 

Drop off/ Pick up Zone: On the north side 20 feet west of the Washington Street line to 

a point 40 feet west of the Washington Street line. 

Fourth Street 

(East)  

Drop off/ Pick up Zone: On the north side 50 feet east of the Main Street line to a point 

70 feet east of the Main Street line. 

Fourth Street Drop off/ Pick up Zone: On the north side 40 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 

208



59 
 

(West)  50 feet west of the Main Street line. 

Fifth Street 

(West) 

 Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the north side 50 feet west of the Main Street line to a point 

70 feet west of the Main Street line. 

Sixth Street 
Drop of/ Pick up Zone: On the north side from the east line of Clay Street to the east 150 

feet to the west line of the Alley. 

Clay Street 
Drop off/ Pick up Zone: On the east side 30 feet north of the north line of 6th Street to a 

point 120 feet north of the north 6th Street line. 

Clay Street 
Drop off/ Pick up Zone: On the west side 30 feet north of the north line of 6th Street to 

a point 120 feet north of the north 6th Street line. 

Main Street 
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the west side 25 feet south of the south line of First Street to 

a point 90 feet south of the south line of First Street. 

State Street 
Drop off/Pick up Zone: On the west side from a point 20’ south of the south line of 

Second Street to 40’ south of the south line of Second Street. 

 

Sec. 23-413.   Parking time limits in parking enforcement districts. 

 

(1)  Parking is prohibited in a municipal lot unless the operator of the vehicle is permitted to do so by 
purchasing a city issued permit or pays for parking at or by means of a parking meter/pay station. :  

 (2) When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited and enforced between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m., Monday through 
Saturday. The provisions of this section shall not apply on the following named holidays: New Year's 
Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day. 

 (3) Rates for paid parking in a parking enforcement district shall be adopted by resolution by the city 
council and appropriately posted giving notice of said rates.  

 (Code 2017, § 26-298; Ord. No. 1926, §§ 3, 4, 1-2-1991; Ord. No. 2006, § 11, 3-1-1993; Ord. 

No. 2206, § 1, 10-13-1997; Ord. No. 2342, § 1, 8-13-2001; Ord. No. 2559, § 1, 10-24-2005; Ord. 

No. 2705, § 7, 2-22-2010)  

Sec. 23-414.   Use of funds collected from parking operations and enforcement. 

(a)  Funds derived from the operation and enforcement of parking shall be used for the following 
purposes and none other:  

209



60 
 

(1)  Payment of the cost of acquisition, installation, maintenance, repair and operation of 
equipment, signs and other devices to regulate and enforce parking laws.  

  (2)  Payment of the cost of acquiring, by purchase, lease or similar arrangement, parking lots, 
facilities or other off-street parking areas, including operation, enlargement or improvement 
thereof or the facilities thereof, and widening or altering the streets to provide additional parking 
facilities.  

(3)  Retirement of revenue bonds.  

(b)  All revenues derived from parking enforcement operations not required for the payment of costs 
under subsection (a) of this section shall be expended for the improvement of existing facilities or the 
acquisition and improvement of additional off-street parking areas, provided that such funds may be 
retained and accumulated for such purpose for such length of time and in such amount as may be 
reasonably necessary to effectuate such program of acquisition of parking lots or other off-street 
parking areas.  

(Code 2017, § 26-302)  

Sec. 23-415.   Parking violations. 

It shall be unlawful and a violation of the provisions of this division for any person to:  

(1)  Cause, allow, permit or suffer any vehicle registered in the name of or operated by such person 
to be parked overtime or beyond the period of legal parking time established or purchased.  

(2)  Permit any vehicle to remain or be placed in a parking space beyond the period prescribed for 
such parking space.  

 (3)  Park any vehicle across any line or marking of a parking space or in such position that the 
vehicle is not entirely within the area designated by such lines or markings. Where angle or 
straight-in parking is provided, a vehicle must be parked entirely between the lines or markings 
with one of the front wheels of the vehicle touching the bumper block or curb, if one exists.  

(4)  Deface, injure, tamper with, open or willfully break, destroy or impair the usefulness of any 
parking equipment or device installed under the provisions of this division. Violation of this 
provision shall be considered a simple misdemeanor as provided for in Section 23-23.  

  (Code 2017, § 26-303; Ord. No. 2006, § 12, 3-1-1993)  

Sec. 23-416.   Notice of parking violation. 

Parking enforcement personnel of the city shall attach to the vehicles in violation of this division a 
notice to the owner or operator thereof stating that such vehicle has been parked in violation of this 
division and informing the owner or operator of the amount of the fine, how the fine may be paid, and the 
penalty for failure to pay the fine.  

(Code 2017, § 26-304)  

Sec. 23-417.   Report of parking violations. 

It shall be the duty of the parking enforcement personnel of the city, acting in accordance with 
instructions issued by the city clerk and as approved by the council, to report the following:  

(1)  The location of the vehicle that is or has been parking in violation of any of the provisions of 
this division.  

210



61 
 

(2)  The state license number of such vehicle.  

(3)  The time during which such vehicle is parking in violation of any of the provisions of this 
division.  

(4)  Any other facts which are necessary to a thorough understanding of the circumstances 
attending such violation.  

(Code 2017, § 26-305; Ord. No. 2583, § 3, 6-12-2006)  

 (Code 2017, § 26-306)  

Sec. 23-418.   Fines for parking violations. 

(a)  Except as otherwise provided in this article or by state law, the fine for a violation of this article shall 
be $10.00, payable to the city. If said fine is not paid within 30 days from the date of the notice of 
violation, the fine shall be increased to $15.00.  

 (Code 2017, § 26-307; Ord. No. 2722, § 1, 12-13-2010)  

  Sec. 23-419.   Parking permits for municipal parking lots or parking facilities. 

(a)  Generally. The owner or operator of a motor vehicle may obtain a parking permit for use in the off-
street municipal parking lots or facilities. Parking permits may be assigned to a specific parking lot or 
facility, and may vary in price. Parking permit fees shall be established from time to time by 
resolution of the city council. The parking permit is to be displayed in the lower left-hand corner of the 
windshield of the vehicle unless the owner or operator of the vehicle has registered the license plate 
of the vehicle with the parking enforcement agency designated by the city. The purchase and proper 
display of a parking permit, as required in this subsection shall entitle the motor vehicle to be parked 
in the designated off-street municipal parking lot or facility for a period of up to 48 consecutive hours 
without penalty for overtime parking.  

 (Code 2017, § 26-311; Ord. No. 2771, § 1, 7-9-2012)  

Sec. 23-420.   Two-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces on certain streets. 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of two hours of parking between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 
p.m., except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, 
Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the following streets or portions of streets 
within the city:  

 (1)  Main Street from First Street to Sixth Street.  

(b) Each consecutive two-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally parked 
in a designated space as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct offense. The 
first offense shall terminate two hours after the time a citation charging the offense is issued, which time 
shall be noted on the citation, and a separate and new offense shall occur during each two-hour period 
thereafter.  

 (c)  The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of this section shall be the fines as 
stated in section 23-421(a).  

(Code 2017, § 26-312; Ord. No. 2722, § 4, 12-13-2010; Ord. No. 2874, § 1, 8-1-2016)  

211



62 
 

Sec. 23-421.   Three-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces on certain streets. 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a 

designated parking space shall be limited to a total of three hours of parking between the 

hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m., except on the following named holidays: New Year's 

Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, 

on the following streets or portions of streets within the city:  

(1)  Second Street from State Street to Clay Street.  

(2)  Third Street from State Street to Clay Street.  

(3)  Fourth Street from State Street to Washington Street.  

(4)  Fifth Street from State Street to Washington Street.  

(6)  State Street from Second Street to Fourth Street.  

(7)  Washington Street from First Street to Sixth Street.  

(8)  Sixth Street from Washington Street west to the alley between Clay Street and 

Washington Street. 

Each consecutive three-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains 

illegally parked in a designated space as provided in this subsection shall constitute a 

separate and distinct offense. The first offense shall terminate three hours after the time 

a citation charging the offense is issued, which time shall be noted on the citation, and a 

separate and new offense shall occur during each three-hour period thereafter.  

 (c)  The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of this section shall 

be the fines as stated in section 23-421(a). 

 

Sec. 23-422.   Two-hour limit on parking in municipal lots G, M and N and on certain 

portions of College Street and 23rd Street. 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of two hours for each vehicle on each weekday between the hours of 
9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, 
Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, in the following places:  

(1)  Anywhere within municipal lots G, M and N.  

212



63 
 

(2)  23rd Street from that portion of said street adjacent to 1019 West 23rd Street west to Merner 
Avenue.  

Each consecutive two-hour minute period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally 
parked in a designated space as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and 
distinct offense. The first offense shall terminate two hours after a citation charging the offense 
is issued, which time shall be noted on the citation, and a separate and new offense shall occur 
during each two-hour period thereafter.  

 (b)  The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of this section shall be $10.00, 
payable to the city. If the fine is not paid within 30 days from the date of the notice of the violation, 
such fine shall be increased to $15.00.  

(Code 2017, § 26-313; Ord. No. 2691, § 2, 7-27-2009; Ord. No. 2705, §§ 5, 8, 2-22-2010)  

Sec. 23-423.   One-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces on certain portions of 

23rd Street and College Street. 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of one hour of parking for each vehicle on each weekday between 
the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, 
Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the 
following portions of streets within the city:  

(1)  23rd Street from College Street west to and including that portion of West 23rd Street adjacent 
to 1009 West 23rd Street.  

(2)  College Street from 22nd Street to 23rd Street.  

Each consecutive one-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally parked in 
a designated space as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and distinct 
offense. The first offense shall terminate one hour after the time a citation charging the offense 
is issued, which time shall be noted on the citation, and a separate and new offense shall occur 
during each one-hour period thereafter.  

 (b)  The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of this section shall be $10.00, 
payable to the city. If the fine is not paid within 30 days from the date of the notice of the violation, 
such fine shall be increased to $15.00.  

(Code 2017, § 26-314; Ord. No. 2691, § 3, 7-27-2009)  

Sec. 23-424.   One-hour limit on parking in municipal lot O. 

(a)  When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a designated parking 
space shall be limited to a total of one hour of parking for each vehicle on each weekday between 
the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, 
Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the 
following portions of streets within the city:  

(1)  Anywhere within municipal lot O.  

(2)  Each consecutive one-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains illegally 
parked in a designated space as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and 
distinct offense. The first offense shall terminate one-hour after the time a citation charging the 
offense is issued, which time shall be noted on the citation, and a separate and new offense 
shall occur during each one-hour period thereafter.  

213



64 
 

 (b)  The schedule of fines for violations described in subsection (a) of this section shall be $10.00, 
payable to the city. If the fine is not paid within 30 days from the date of the notice of the violation, 
such fine shall be increased to $15.00.  

(Code 2017, § 26-315; Ord. No. 2691, § 4, 7-27-2009)  

Sec. 23-425.   Parking prohibited in portions of municipal lot G during certain hours. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle shall be prohibited in the 
20 angled parking spaces located in the northeast leg of municipal lot G on Thursday afternoons only 
commencing with the first Thursday of June of each year and continuing through the last Thursday of 
October of each year during the hours of 2:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m.  

(Code 2017, § 26-316; Ord. No. 2833, § 1, 12-1-2014; Secs. 23-425—23-458.   Reserved. 

 
INTRODUCED:     May 20, 2019   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   May 20, 2019   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

____________________________ 

       James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

214



   MAYOR JIM BROWN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Office of the Mayor 
  

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Jim Brown 

 DATE: May 30, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Appointment/Reappointments 

 

I am recommending the following appointment and reappointments: 

 

Name: Board/Commission: Term Ending: 
   
Kate Brennan Hall Art & Culture Board (reappointment) 07/01/2023 
Matthew Wilson Art & Culture Board (reappointment) 07/01/2023 
Lauren Finke Art & Culture Board (fills vacancy) 07/01/2021 
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

   
 

 
 

215



216



217



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

May 20, 2019 
 

The Committee of the Whole met in the Council Chambers at 6:10 p.m. on May 20, 
2019, with the following Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Jim Brown, Tom 
Blanford, Frank Darrah, Susan deBuhr, Rob Green, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and David 
Wieland.   Staff members attended from all City Departments.  Tom Nelson with the 
Waterloo Courier and Andy Meessmann with Snyder and Associates also attended as 
well as members of the community.  

Mayor Brown called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda, 
Downtown Parkade and Streetscape.  Stephanie Houk Sheetz Director of Community 
Development reviewed the Downtown Streetscape plan.  She stated we have secured a 
Black Hawk County Gaming Grant.  She stated the current downtown brick landscaping 
is about 15 years old and is showing deterioration and material aging.  She explained 
the project will be done in phases and will start in 2020 and the landscaping and brick 
sidewalk will expand to the adjoining side streets.   Ms. Sheetz introduced Andy 
Meessmann with Snyder and Associates.  Mr. Meessmann reviewed three different 
options; (1) Peel and Replace the existing pattern of the brick landscaping; (2) 
Traditional and Contemporary blend; or (3) Celebrate the River concept.  He stated the 
recommendation is option two which ties very well with the downtown brick facades; a 
traditional and contemporary blend of red, two gray tones, and tan paver bricks.   He 
reviewed a slide which exhibited the transition from Main Street to a side street using 
three of the colors and concrete. Ms. Sheetz stated they had a meeting with Community 
Main Street and a public information meeting on May 7, 2019. She reviewed the 
comments from these meetings.  She reviewed the next steps which are to finalize the 
construction plans and have the bid letting in January 2020.     

Mayor Brown opened it up for discussion. Mark Miller motioned for staff to proceed with 
developing construction plans utilizing Option 2: Traditional and Contemporary with four 
paver brick colors on Main Street transitioning to three paver brick colors with concrete 
on the side streets. Frank Darrah seconded the motion.  After a brief discussion, Tom 
Blanford amended the motion to carry the same brick pattern with the four colors of 
paver bricks to the side streets. Daryl Kruse seconded the motion.  Ms. Sheetz stated 
the recommended idea was to make the Parkade a main focus, but to have a 
connection with the side streets, showing the walkability.  Carol Lilly with Community 
Main Street, stated extending the same brick pattern to all the side streets was not part 
of the discussion when they met with City staff.  Mr. Meessmann confirmed the cost will 
be higher if the same pattern is used on the side streets as Main Street.  Council 
discussion was held concerning the additional cost of the brick pavers. Ms. Sheetz 
answered questions from council and stated better estimates can be provided during 
the construction planning for the side streets using concrete or full brick pavers.  Mr. 
Meessmann reviewed the expected life of the new bricks and stated a sealant can be 
applied and there will be a suggestion to what type of salt should be used in the winter 
season.   The Mayor put the question on the motion.  The motion to amend carried 
unanimously.    Ms. Sheetz stated signage is not part of the current project.    

218



Mayor Brown opened it up for comments from the public.  Tim Schilling, downtown 
property owner, commented he liked the concept of the project and said there is the 
option of colored concrete with accent pavers.  The Mayor put the question on the 
amended motion.  The motion carried unanimously as amended.   

Mayor Brown introduced the final item on the agenda, bills and payroll. Daryl Kruse 
moved to approve the bills as presented, Tom Blandford seconded the motion.  The 
motion carried unanimously.  

There being no further discussion, Mayor Brown adjourned the meeting at 6:52 p.m.  

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Brown and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  May 30, 2019 

Re:  Special Event Related Requests 

Police Operations has received the following special event related requests and 
recommends approval:  

a) Parking variances, College Hill Arts Festival, June 21-22, 2019. 

b) Street closures, Sturgis Falls Celebration, June 26-30, 2019. 

c) Parking variance, Teacher Festival, July 25, 2019. 

294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Brown and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  May 30, 2019 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Kwik Star, 2019 College Street, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal. 

b) Kwik Star, 7500 Nordic Drive, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal. 
 

c) Chuck E. Cheese's, 5911 University Avenue, Class B beer - renewal. 

d) Los Cabos Mexican Restaurant, 112-114 Main Street, Class C liquor & outdoor 
service - renewal. 

e) Montage, 222-224 Main Street, Class C liquor, Class B wine & outdoor service - 
renewal. 

f) The Other Place, 2214 College Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 

g) Target, 214 Viking Plaza Drive, Class E liquor - renewal. 

h) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class A liquor & outdoor service - temporary 
expansion of outdoor service area. (June 15-16, 2019 & June 28-30, 2019) 

 

303



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Mayor Brown & City Council Members  

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: May 30, 2019 

 SUBJECT: FY2020 Payroll Resolution 

 
Please find attached the following items that cover the period from June 29, 2019 to 
June 26, 2020: 

 FY2020 Payroll Resolution 

 FY2020 Pay Plan and Pay Grade Schedules 

 FY2020 Workshop/Session/Event Pay Plan 

 The pay schedules for the three union groups   
 
The payroll resolution implements the 3% across the board increase for the third year of 
the 5-year contract as negotiated with the Parks/Public Works Union, the Police union, 
and the Fire Union.  You may recall that the third-year increase is based on the average 
of the CPI over the past 12 months + .75%, but no less than 2% and no more than 3%. 
Therefore, the union wage increase is 3% based on the CPI calculation.  
 
The resolution also implements the merit awards for the non-union group.  These 
increases are based on a pool that is equivalent to the weighted average of the three 
bargaining groups, each employee’s performance evaluation, and their respective pay 
band classification. The resolution also authorizes the pay for the PSO and Paid-On-
Call (POC’s) not covered under union contract.       

 
 
 

 
 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me.  
 
 

304



NAME POStTtON BAND

Ron Gaines

Shane Graham

Amanda Huisman

FINANCIAL SERVICES DIVISION

City Administrator
Longevity

Economic Development Coordinator
Longevity, December 21 , 2019

Communication Specialist

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS

Director of Finance & Business Operations
Longevity

Financial Clerk (Part-Time)

Personnel Specialist
Longevity
Longevity, September 22, 2019

Financial Clerk (Part-Time)

Payroll/HR Technician
Longevity
Longevity, May 13,2020

Accountant

Financial Clerk
Longevity

Financial Technician (Part-Time)

Controller/Cily Treasurer
Longevity
Longevity, March 1, 2020

Administrative Assistant (Part-Time)

Administrative Assistant (Part-Time)

City Clerk
Longevity
Longevity, December 27, 2019

87.780
0.260

37.695
0.087

412

409 32.212

ADMINISTRATION DIVISION

Jennifer Rodenbeck

Heidi Andersen

Brenda Balvanz

77 .168
0.433

306

306

307

18.7',t 5

'18.882

32.500

F

Patricia Freese

Katherine Kelly

PUBLIC RECORDS DIVISION

Laura Aukstolis

Marcie Breitbach

Robyn Cusmano

Jacqueline Danielsen

21 .117
0.087
o.144

'19.463

0.087

305

30s

305

413

45.298
0.260
0.317

29.s61

18.694
0.087

1 6.61 0

42.381
0.548
0.606

PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2O2O

June 29, 2019 - June26,2020
FY2020

HOURLY

Paul Kockler

Andrea Ludwig

Cathy Niebergall

Lisa Roeding

Administrative Assistant
Longevity, April 1, 2020

420

409

306

308

414

41 .268
0.375
0.433

16.610

305



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2O2O

June 29, 2019 - June 26, 2020
FY2020
NAME POSITION BAND HOURLY

Amy Eggleston

Courtney Fisher

Joanne Goodrich

Karen Kuba

Lisa Reiter

Mandy Thurm

Scott Ameling

Denny Bowman

Shelby Gappa

Cory Hines

Dan Jaeger

Kim Kerr

Angela Lindley

Michael Mennan

Jeremy Ott

Julia Sorensen

Pat Williams

LEGAL SERVICES DIVISION
Kevin Rogers

Administrative Assistant

Administrative Assistant (Part-Time)

Administrative Assistant
Longevity

Administrative Assistant

Administrative Assistant
Longevity

Administrative Supervisor
Longevity

lnformation Systems Technician I

Cable Television & Telecommunications Supervisor
Longevity

Production Assistant ll (Part-Time)

GIS Analyst
Longevity, December 9, 2019

Administrative Assistant - Lead
Longevity

Graphic OesignerAy'Ueb Maint. Technician (Part-Time)

Video Production Specialist

Video Production Supervisor
Longevity

lnformation Systems Manager

Network Administrator
Longevity
Longevity, April 16, 2020

City Attorney

Personnel Specialist
Longevity
Longevity, July 12, 2019

305

305

305

17.593

18.105

22.527
0.31 7

305

305

409

306

412

22.578
o.144

26.056
o.144

16.926

19.000

13.000

38.777
0.260

308 POC

016

41',l 35.050
0.087

29.079
0.260

22.374
0.202

20.956

24.520

30.590
0.087

307

308

311

415

4',11

44.180

41 .379
0.317
0.375

69.045

34.686
0.202
0.260

Colleen Sole

419

309

INFORMATION SYSTEMS DIVISION

lnformation Systems Technician ll
Longevity

306

306



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2O2O

June 29, 2019 - June 26,2020
FY2020
NAME POStTtON BAND HOURLY

PARKING

Jillane Conradi

Victoria Satterlee

LIBRARY

Jessica Bamford-Love

William Boelts

Jennifer Brannan

Lexi Byrnes

Ayoko Condon

Timothy Daniels

Bryony Diaz

Aimee Erne

Dawn Groskurth

Nancy Hasenwinkel

Rebecca Hosford

Neal Jacobs

Mary Kabel

Nona Kanago

David Keiser

Robert LaFountain

Renae Loomis

Chelsea McNamee

Dan Meier

PT - Parking Meter Attendant

PT-Parking Metter Attendant

Library Assistant
Longevity, September 13, 2019

Library Assistant (Part-Time)

lntern I (Part-Time)

lntern I (Part-Time)

Shelver (Part-Time)

Library Administrative Assistant

Library Assistant (Part-Time)

Library Page (Part-Time)

Library Page (Part-Time)

Library Assistant (Part-Time)

Youth Services Senior Librarian

Library Assistant (Part-Time)

Library Education Coordinator (Part-Time)

Library Page (Part-Time)

Library Page (Part-Time)

Facility Assistant (Part-Time)

Library Assistant
Longevity

Library Assistant (Part-Time)

Library Assistant
Longevity
Longevity, October 7, 2019

lntern I (Part-Time)

PT-1 H

PT-1 H

305

305

011

01 'l

010

306

305

301

301

305

412

305

308

301

30.1

013

305

305

305

18.670

18.670

Cecilia Mitchell 011

17 .076
0.087

16.740

8.692

8.692

7 .622

17 .620

't7 .101

10.270

10.526

16.740

31.250

20.009

26.224

11 .37 5

s.917

23.O48
0.663

16.564

21.388
0.087
o.144

8.692

307



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2O2O

June 29, 20'19 - June26,2020
FY2020
NAME POSITION HOURLY

Katherine Nedwick

Laura Pagel

Ambri Refer

Mary Kaye Roberts

Kelly Stern

Amy Stuenkel

Tiana Taylor

Erin Gitchell Thompson

Julie Tilton

Michael Welch

Julia Wehr

Miranda Wheeler

Debra Wilkinson

Library Assistant (Part-Time)

Library Assistant
Longevity, April 4, 2020

Librarian (Part Time)

Library Assistant
Longevity

Library Director
Longevity
Longevity, May 17 ,2020

Senior Librarian
Longevity

Library Assistant (Part-Time)

Technology Librarian

Librarian (Part-Time)

Librarian (Part Time)

Library Assistant (Part-Time)

Intern I (Part-Time)

Library Assistant
Longevity

305

305

409

305

4',|7

412

17 .281
0.087

17 .281

25.116

17.101
0.087

45.673
0.144
0.202

35.211
0.087

15.980

26.204

2s.388

25.',t 16

16.91 8

8.692

21 .234
0.606

62.9s5
0.087

305

409

409

409

305

011

305

OEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

ADMINISTRATION DIVISION

Stephanie Houk Sheetz Director of Community Development
Longevity

PLANNING & COMMUNITY SERVICES DIVISION

Lisa Ahern Planner I

Karen Howard Planning & Comm Serv. Manager

lris Lehmann Planner ll
Longevity

Planner lll
Longevity
Longevily, April 6, 2020

307

415

410

29.966

49.'1 16

0.087

David Sturch 412 43.O24
0.375
0.433

BAND

420

308



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2O2O

June 29, 2019 - June26,2020
FY2020
NAME POSITION BAND HOURLY

INSPECTION SERVICES DIVISION

Jamie Castle lnspection Services Mgr.

John Henderson lnspector
Longevity
Longevity, August 10, 2019

Jason Mai lnspector

Gregory Rekward Code Enforcement Officer

Mark Sturm lnspector
Longevity

Joel Wardell lnspector

Beniamin Wilkens lnspector
Longevity

Craig Witry lnspection Services Mgr.
Longevity
Longevity, February 6, 2020

V&T/CULTURAL S RVICES DIVISION

414 39.974

309 34.083
0.144
0.202

309

307

309

27 .588

23.000

35.088
0.202

Bonita Cunningham

Emily Drennen

Travis Gingerich

Abby Haigh

Angela Hickok

Maggie Hines

Sheri Huber-Otting

Debra Lewis

Kimberly Manning

Linda Maughan

Heather Skeens

Lea Stewart

Ana Verastegui

Oflice Assistant (Part-Time)

Hearst Coordinator (Part-Time)

Hearst Lab Technician (Part-Time)

Offlce Assistant (Part-Time)

Education Coordinator (Part-Time)

Hearst Assistant (Part-Time)

Program Coordinator (Part-Time)

Office Assistant (Part-Time)

Visitors & Tourism/Cultural Programs Manager
Longevity

Office Assistant (Part-Time)

Cultural Programs Supervisor

Sr. Service Coordinator (Part-Time)

Offi ce Assistant (Part-Time)

309

309

4',t4

304

308

015

304

308

013

307

304

413

zb.55J

32.424
0.'t44

53.670
0.433
0.490

14.873

26.902

10.831

15.702

23.008

9.635

20.930

15.380

47 .868
0.317

'15.534

29.92s

't8.4',t2

15.380

304

411

305

304

309



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2O2O

June 29, 2019 - June 26,2020
FY2020
NAME POStTtON BAND HOURLY

Rebekah Wagner V&T Coordinator (Part-Time)

RECREATION & MUNICIPAL PROGRAMS DIVISION

Christine Anderson Recreation Program Coordinator (Part-Time)

Peggee Frost Administrative Assistant - Lead
Longevity
Longevity, May 14,2020

Brock Goos Recreation Program Supervisor
Longevity
Longevity, January 14, 2020

Chris Schoentag Recreation Program Supervisor
Longevity
Longevity, December 7, 20'19

Bruce Verink Recreation & Community Programs Manager
Longevity

Megan Wilmot Fitness Coordinator (Part-Time)

ADMINIS N DIVISION

307

305

21 .156

27 .578309

306

415

4',t1

41',|

413 M

409

420

24.434
0.317
0.375

38.055
0.375
0.433

30.544
0.317
0.375

53.669
0.663

26.855

Mark Ripplinger

Julia Donahue

Brian Heath

Jane Tangen

ENGINEERING DIVISION

Brett Armstrong

Darwin Bentley

Benjamin Claypool

Nicholas Erickson

Director of Public Works
Longevity

Administrative Assistant (Part-Time)

Public Works & Parks Manager
Longevity

Administrative Assistant
Longevity

Civil Engineer I

Engineering Technician ll
Longevity

Civil Engineer ll

Engineering Technician ll
Longevity, June '13, 2020

67.308
0.548

23.1 86

4',10

309

25.949
0.663

26.442

33.740
U,OOJ

29.808411

309 POC 27 .363
0.087

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

59.387
0.663

310



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2O2O

June 29,2019 - June 26,2020
FY2020
NAME BAND HOURLY

Brad Foulk

J. Cody Hager

Jeffrey Helland

Kevin Niebuhr

Terra Ray

Chase Schrage

Matthew Tolan

CEMETERY SECTION

Jeremiah Hook

Trevor Johnson

Brett Morris

PARK SECTION

Kim Armstrong

Robert Conrad

Kevin Cross

Devon Dyer

Cameron Frederick

Greg Miller

Ryan Rieger

Harold Runkle

Engineering Technician ll

Engineering Technician ll
Longevity

Land Surveyor

Engineering Technician ll
Longevity

Engineering Technician ll
Longevity
Longevity, November 16, 2019

Principal Engineer
Longevity
Longevity, January 2, 202Q

Civil Engineer ll

Equipment Operator

Laborer (Part-Time)
May 16, 2020

Public Works & Parks Supervisor

Laborer (Part-Time)
March 27 , 2020

Laborer (Part-Time)
June 24,2020

Public Works & Parks Supervisor
Longevity

Laborer (Part-Time)
September 6, 2019

Laborer (Part-Time)
July 9, 2019

Laborer (Part-Time)

Arborist

Senior Groundskeeper
Longevity

17H

8D
8E

411

27 .387

'16.082

16.564

29.925

25.411

37.818411

309 31 .777
0.663

309

413

411

411 POC

32.038
0.144
0.202

39.467
0.087
0.144

32.691

8D
8E

16.082
16.564

8F 17.059
17.572

40.650
0.202

8D
1 5.61 1

16.082

8B
8C

8H

308

't7 H

18.281

26.860

15.156
15.61 1

POSITION

309

309 34.385
0.260

27 .387
0.663

311



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2O2O

June 29,2019 - June 26,2020
FY2020
NAME POStTtON BAND HOURLY

Joel Sires

Tobias Sires

BUILOING MAINTENANCE SECTION

Matthew Buck

REFUSE OPERATIONS SECTION

Jeff Bass

Christopher Blohn

Stephanie Camargo

Richard Christensen

Lisa Conrad

Chris Finke

Laborer (Part-Time)
Aptll 2,2020

Laborer (Part-Time)
Oclobet 22 , 2019
Aptll 22,2020

Bldg. Maintenance Supervisor
Longevity

Maintenance Worker (Part-Time)
October 8, 2019

Maintenance Worker
May 23,2020

Maintenance Worker (Part-Time)
September 18, 201 9

l/arch 18, 2020

lvlaintenance Worker (Part-Time)
October 8, 2019

lvlaintenance Worker (Part-Time)
October 8, 2019

Ivlaintenance Worker
October 7, 2019

Maintenance Worker (Part-Time)
October 8, 2019

Maintenance Worker

Maintenance Worker (Part-Time)
October 8, 2019

Maintenance Worker (Part-Time)
September 18, 2019
March 18, 2020

8C
8D

1 5.61 1

16.082

8A
8B
8C

14.708
15.156
15.6'11

35.404
0.144

20.755
21 .381

15 E
'15 F

22.673
23.360

15A
15 B
15 C

20.150
20.755
zt J6t

15 B
'15 c

20.7 55
21 .38',1

15 B
15 C

20.755
21 .381

15 G
15 H

24.061
25.032

't5 B
15 C

20.7 55
2',t .381

411 POC

15 H 25.032Scott Goodenbour

Robert Martin

Mike Ravn

Brett Riley

15 B
'15 C

20.7 55
21 .381

15 B
'15 C

20.7 55
21 .381

15A
15 B
15 C

20.150
20.7 55
21 381

Doyle Smith 4'11 34.825
0.375

Darwin Fleshner

Maintenance Worker (Part-Time)
December 26, 2019

Public Works & Parks Supervisor
Longevity

15 B
15 C

312



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2O20

June 29, 2019 - June 26,2020
FY2020
NAME POStTtON BAND HOURLY

Kevin Tegtmeier Maintenance Worker
Longevity

Roy Trenkamp Mainlenance Worker

WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION

Ryan Bonjour Maintenance Worker

Tyler Griffin

15 H

15 H

25.032
0.663

25.032

25.032

John Koch

Keith Lewis

Jeremy Northrup

Michael Nyman

Water Reclamation Supervisor
Longevity
Longevity, March 10, 2020

Waste Water Operator I

Aptil22,2O2O

Waste Water Operator I

Waste Water Operator I

Water Reclamation Manager
Longevity

18 H

18 H

16 F
16 G

16 H

16 H

4't4

26.182

26.',t82

POC 43.848
0.548

28.639

POC 35.125
0.144
0.202

24.436
25.166

28.639
0.548

26.182
0.606

Chris Robinson

Rodney Smith

Equipment Mechanic

Waste Water Operator ll
Longevity

Danny Sunatt Waste Water Operator I

Longevity

Kelly Tegtmeier Maintenance Worker
Longevity

Ted Timson Maintenance Worker
July 7 , 2019

Patricia Tometich Laboratory Technician
May 23,2020

SANITARY SEWER SECTION
Larry Camarata Maintenance Worker

Josh Timmerman Equipment Operator

Adam Burg Equipment Operator
April 8, 2020

16 H

15 H 25.032
0.663

15 F
15 G 24 061

'18 E
18 F

25.952
26.735

15 H

17H

25.032

27 .387

17F
17G

25.558
26.330

Virgil Butterfield lvlaintenance Worker (Part-Time) 15 G

POC

24 061

15 H

411

STREET CONSTRUCTION SECTION

313



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2O2O

June 29, 2019 - June26,2O2O

NAME POSITION BAND

Jacob Clark

Jason Clay

Scott CraMord

James Dietz

Dennis Douglas

Rick Ehmen

Royce Eiklenborg

Mark Forrester

Kathy Gaede

Thomas Hallman

Robert Henry, Jr.

Andrew Hoyer

Cody Kayser

Ken Lewis

Mike Soppe

Maintenance Worker
October 1 , 2019

Maintenance Worker
October 1 1, 2019

Maintenance Worker
August 31 , 2019

Equipment Operator

Maintenance Worker

Maintenance Worker

Equipment Operator
Longevity

Mainlenance Worker (Part-Time)
February 13,2020

Equipment Operator

lvlaintenance Worker

Equipment Operator
July 21 ,2020

Equipment Operator
July 1 8, 2019

15 B
'15 c

20.755
2',t .381

15A
15 B
'15 c

20.150
20.755
21 .381

15 D
15 E

22.018
22.673

15 E
15 F

22.673
23.360

17H

15 H

15 H

17H

27 .387

25.O32

25.032

27 .387
0.663

15 C
15 D

21 .381
22.018

17H

15 H 25.O32

't7 B

17D
17E

15 H

411

24.089
24.818

Public Works & Parks Supervisor
Longevity
Longevity, July 14, 2019

Travis Schlamp Equipment Operator

Joe Tegtmeier lvlaintenance Worker
June 30, 2019

Jason Yearous Public Works & Parks Supervisor

Carl Yokem Maintenance Worker

TRAFFIC OPERATIONS SECTION

17H

15 F
15 G

411

15 H

30.226
0.260
0.317

27 .387

23.360
24.061

29.487

25.O32

Brian Graham Maintenance Worker 15 H POC 25.032

FY2020
HOURLY

Maintenance Worker
October 15, 2019
April 15,2020

lMaintenance Worker

27 .387

22.707
23.385

25.032

314



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2020
June 29, 2019 - June 26, 2020

FY2020
NAME POSITION BAND HOURLY

Matthew Lukehart Traffic Operations Supervisor

Shannon Willett Maintenance Worker
August 28, 2019

VEHICLE MAINTENANCE SECTION

Derek Gearhart Equipment Mechanic
April 30,2020

Karl Kramer

411

411

15 B
15 C

18 C
18 D

104
10 B
'10 c

10 c
10 D

30.685

20.755
21 .381

24.464
25.203

16.094
'16.578

17 .07 5

17.075
17 .587

Andrew Lee

Dustin Rawdon

Robert Richardson

Brian Steinlage

FIRE DIVISION

John Bostwick

Derek Brown

Michael Buhrow

Chris Copp

Scott Dix

Jason Dolf

Asst. Equipment Mechanic (Part-Time)
November 15, 2019
May 15, 2020

Asst. Equipment Mechanic (Part-Time)
Aptil 1 , 2020

Fleet Maintenance Supervisor
Longevity

Equipment Mechanic

Equipment Mechanic

PUBLIC FETY SERVICES DEPARTMENT

Asst. Director of Public Safety Serv./Fire Chief
Longevity

Fire Captain
Longevity

Fire Captain
Longevity

Public Safety Offlcer
August 26, 2019
Longevity

Firefighter
Longevity
Longevity, January 9, 2020

Firefighter (Part-Time)
August 2, 2019

Firefighter
Longevity

PSO-2-V
PSO-2-V t

416

411

411

F,I F

F-1 P-D
F-1 P-E

F,l E

40.353
0.375

40.174
0 663

35.833
36.728
0.202

18 H

18 H

28.639

28.639

36.1 83
0.202

59.4',t4
0.663

30.554
0.433
0.490

15.063
16.427

Kurt Eichelberger 30.251
0.260

315



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2O2O

June 29, 2019 - June26,2020
FY2020
NAME POStTtON BAND HOURLY

Curtis Hildebrand

Jack Johnson

Matt Krueger

Zachary Ladage

Shea McNamara

Troy Purdy

Casey Schares

Rick Schmidt

Kurt Schreiber

Samual Shafer

Rick Sharp

Brad Sherwood

Ryan Siems

Battalion Chief
Longevity

Firefighter
Longevity
Longevity, July '18, 2019

Public Safety Officer
August 26, 2019
Longevity

Public Safety Supervisor-Lieutenant
Longevity
Longevity, January 2, 2020

Firefighter
Longevity

Firefighter
Longevity
Longevity, July 18, 2019

Battalion Chief
Longevity

Police Lieutenant
Longevity

Public safety officer
October 6, 2019
Longevity

Firefighter
Longevity
Longevity, July 18, 2019

Fire Captain
Longevity

Firefighter
Longevity

Public Safety Supervisor-Captain
Longevity

30.554
0.317

PSO-2-V
PSO-2-V

PSO-2-V t

PSO-2-tX
36.728
37 .741

0.202

45.399
0.433

36.728
37.741
0.202

413

F1 F

412 PSO

Fl F

F1 F

413

412 PSO

411

F1 E

41.97'l
0.375

30.554
0.433
0.490

42.001
0.087
o.144

0.375

30.554
0.433
0.490

41.639
0.375

30.554
0.433
0.490

35.613
o.317

30.251
0 .144

Timothy Smith 414 PSO 52.029
0.260

Shawn Koenen Firefighler
Longevity

Public Safety Officer
March 20, 2020
Longevity

F1F

35.833
36.728

0.202

PSO-2-V
PSO-2-tX

F1 F

316



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2020
June 29, 2019 - June 26,2020

FY2020
NAME POSITION BAND HOURLY

Todd Taylor

Bobby Wright

John Zolondek

POLICE DIVISION

Jeffrey Olson

Marissa Abbott

Jesse Aitchison

Thomas Baltes

Carson Barron

Dixie Beard

Martin Beckner

[/atthew Belz

Craig Berte

Michael Briggs

Battalion Chief
Longevity
Longevity, July 1, 20.19

Firefighter
Longevity
Longevity, January 15, 2020

Fire Captain
Longevity

Public Safety Supervisor-Lieutenant
Longevity

Director of Public Safety Services/Police Chief
Longevity
Longevity, F ebtuary 3, 2020

Public Safety Officer
January 2,2020

Community Service Officer I (Part-Time)

Public Safety Officer
January 3, 2020

Public Safety Officer
Longevity, April 1 1, 2020

Crossing Guard (Part-Time)

Public Safety Supervisor-Lieutenant
Longevity
Longevity, January 15, 2020

Police Officer
Longevity

Police Officer
Longevity
Longevity, August 7, 20'19

Asst. Director of Public Safety Serv./Asst. Police Chief
Longevity

Police Officer
Longevity

413

F1 E

411

412 PSO

420

42.744
0.490
0.548

30.251
o.202
0.260

38.517
0.375

42.001
o.202

PSO-2.I
PSO-2-[

012

PSO-2-l
PSO-2-I

PSO-2- t

28.970
31.982

9.3s4

47 .522
0.3't7
0.37s

28.970
31.982

32.625
0.087

Pr-2

412 PSO

P2-tX

P?-tX

416

P2-tX

33.848
0.31 7

59.272
0.548

33.848
0.548

Daniel Brown Police Lieutenant
Longevity

412 42.840
U ObJ

Roger Stensland

Ryan Bellis

75.452
0.606
0.663

15.',t79

33.848
0.202
0.260

317



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2O2O

June 29,2019 - June 26,2020
FY2020
NAME POStTtON BAND HOURLY

Kaleb Bruggeman

Katie Burkhardt

Gavin Carman

Madison Cornwell

Jovan Creighton

Paula Czarnetzki

Cedric Danilson

Dusanka Devic

Scott Dougan, Jr.

Clinton Ferguson

Steve Ferguson

Thomas Fey

Christina Flores-Henriquez

Dee Gallaher

Joshua Gelz

Jonathan Gezema

Kathy Gill

Dennis Gilroy

Michael Haislet

Public Safety Officer
January 2,2020

Public Safety Officer
Longevity

Community Service Officer I (Part-Time)

Public Safety Officer
February 18,2020
Longevity
Longevity, F eb(uary 1 8, 2O2O

Crossing Guard (Part-Time)

Public Safety Officer
Aptil 23,2020

Public Safety Officer

Public Safety Officer
October 22, 2019

Public Safety Officer

Crossing Guard (Part-Time)

Public Safety Oflicer

Community Service Officer I (Part-Time)

Crossing Guard (Part-Time)

Community Service Officer I (Part-Time)

Public Safety Officer
Longevity

Computer Operator - Police
Longevity
Longevity, January 23. 2020

Crossing Guard (Part-Time)

Police Lieutenant
Longevity
Longevity, January'l 5, 2020

37.741
0.260

PSO-2-V
PSO-2-V r

35.833
36.728
o.202

PSO-2-tV
PSO.2-V

33.278
33.946

0.087
0.'t44

PSO-2-tX

012

PT-2

PSO-2-I
PSO-2- t

PSO-2-

PSO-2-[
PSO-2- t

PSO-2- t

Pr-2

PSO-2- t

012

Pr-2

012

PSO-2-V

c1-H

28.970
31 .982

'15.179

31 .982
32.625

32.625

32.625

15.179

32.625

9.6 35

15.179

9.354

3.1.982
32.62s

33.946
0.144

25.990
0.317
0.375

15.179Pr-2

412 PSO 40.505
0.317
0 375

Public Safety Otficer
August 26, 2019
Longevity

PSO-2-l
PSO-2-

9.968

318



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2020
June 29, 2019 - June 26,2020

FY2020
NAME POSITION BAND HOURLY

Gene Haller

Adam Hancock

Jeff Harrenstein

Michael Hayes

Kevin Hernandez

Brooke Heuer

Morgan Hoeft

Hannah Hoffa

Mark Howard

Brian Johannsen

Brennan Kohls

Austin Lechlenberg

Robert Lee

Tyler Lenox

Branden Madsen

Kyle Manternach

Michael Marcotte

Javier Mercado

Crossing Guard (Part-Time)

Public Safety Officer
January 30,2020

Police Captain
Longevity

Police Captain
Longevity

Public Safety Officer

Public Safety Supervisor-Lieutenant
Longevity
Longevily, December 4, 2019

Community Service Officer I (Part-Time)
October 17, 2019

Public Safety Officer
January 3, 2020

Public Safety Supervisor-Captain
Longevity
Longevity, January 8, 2020

Public Safety Officer
August 29, 2019
Longevity

Community Service Officer I (Part-Time)

Public Safety Officer
Oclobet 22,2019

Crossing Guard (Part-Time)

Public Safety Officer
August 21 , 2019

Public Safety Officer
January 2,2O2O

Public Safety Officer

Public Safety Officer
Longevity
Longevity, January 7 , 2O2O

PSO-2-
PSO-2- t

PT-2

PSO-2-[
PSO-2- t

414

414

31 .982
32.625

49.260
0.548

51 .442
0.606

't5.179

32 625

48.676
0.317
0.375

9.104
9.354

PSO-2-m

412

0'12
012

PSO

PSO-2-t
PSO-2-

PSO-2-V
PSO-2-V

Pr-2

PSO-2-t
PSO-2-

PSO-2-I
PSO-2-It

PSO-2-It

414 PSO

28.970
31.982

3'l .982
32.625

PSO-2-
PSO-2-It

31 .982
32 625

53.394
o.202
0.260

35.833
36.728

0.202

9.899

15.179

32.625

33.946
0.087
0.144

PSO-2.V

Public Safety Officer
January 3,2020

28.970
31.982

31 .982
32.625

012

319



PAYROLL RESOLUTION FY 2O2O

June 29, 2019 - June?6,2020
FY2020
NAME POSITION BAND HOURLY

Collin l\4onroe

Stephanie Moore

Brooke Neymeyer

Dennis O'Neill

Nicholas Puls

Liesel Alexandria Reimers

Preston Russell

Dominic Schmalz

Jeffrey Schullz

Kendall Schwan

Jeffrey Sitzmann

Kaylee Stevenson

Tami Taber

Eric VanHorn

Kelli Yates

Nolan Young

F- Frozen Pay
M - Maximum pay
POC - Paid-On-Call
PSO - Public Safety Officer

Community Service Officer I (Part-Time)
August 9, 2019

Public Safety Officer
Longevity
Longevity, January 2, 2020

Public Safety Officer
August 21, 2019

Public Safety Supervisor-Lieutenant
Longevity

Police Offlcer
Longevity

Public Safety Officer
January 3, 2020

Public Safety Supervisor-Lieutenant
Longevity

Public Safety Officer
April 23,2020

Public Safety Officer
October 30, 2019

Community Service Officer I (Part-Time)

Public Safety Officer

Public Safety Officer

Police Captain
Longevity

Communaty Service Officer I (Part-Time)

Office Assistant (Part-Time)

Public Safety Officer
January 2,2020

Public Safety Supervisor-Lieutenant
Longevity

Public Safety Officer
January 29, 2020

012
012

9.1 04
9.354

412 PSO

P2-tX

412 PSO

PSO-2-r
PSO-2-

28.970
31.982

PSO-2-tX

PSO-2-
PSO-2-

PSO-2-
PSO-2- t

PSO-2-
PSO-2- I

012

PSO-2-

PSO-2- t

414

37 .741
0.260
0.317

31.982
32.6?5

48.3?3
0.375

33.848
0.260

41.603
0.317

31.982
32.625

31.982
JZ_OlA

9.635

32.625

32.625

9.63 5

15.524

49.244
0.433

012

304

PSO-2-
PSO-2- t

412

31.982
32.625

48.124
0.317

PSO

3'1.982
JZ.OZ5

Tyler Putney

Kari Rea

PSO-2-
PSO-2- t

320



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

SPECIAL PURPOSE & SEASONAL SALARY SCHEDULE

EFFECTIVE JUNE 29, 2019

FLSA HOURLY WAGE

CLASS TITLES STATUS BAND # MIN. MAX.

 Concession Stand Attendant NE 010 7.400      10.100    

 Garden Assistant

 Intern I

 Library Shelver

 Recreation Division Aid

 Swimming Lesson Aid

 Swimming Pool Maintenance NE 011 8.827      10.900    

 Community Service Officer I NE 012 9.104      11.900    

 Life Guards

 Swimming Instructors

 Ballfield Maintenance NE 013 9.327      12.900    

 Child Care

 Coaches

 Counselors

 Facility Assistant

 Head Life Guard

 Head Swimming Instructor

 Rec Center Receptionist

 V & T/Hearst Assistant

 Laborer NE 014 9.766      13.900    

 Office Assistant

 Swimming Pool Assistant Manager

 Community Service Officer II NE 015 10.235    15.000    

 Hearst Lab Technician

 Hearst Program Assistant

 Hearst Special Purpose

 Intern II

 Library Special Purpose

 Recreation Program Coordinator I

 Swimming Pool Manager

 Production Assistant I NE 016 11.003    16.100    

 Intern III NE 017 11.774    17.350    

 Production Assistant II

 Recreation Program Coordinator II

321



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

NON-EXEMPT SALARY SCHEDULE

EFFECTIVE JUNE 29, 2019

FLSA HOURLY WAGE

CLASS TITLES STATUS BAND # MIN. MAX.

 Library Page NE 301 9.297      15.109    

NE 302 11.542    18.747    

NE 303 13.776    22.386    

 Office Assistant NE 304 14.873    24.170    

 Administrative Assistant NE 305 15.980    25.974    

 Library Assistant

 Senior Services Coordinator

 Administrative Assistant - Lead NE 306 17.620    28.639    

 Administrative Assistant - Library

 Financial Clerk

 Information Systems Technician I

 Code Enforcement Officer NE 307 19.824    32.216    

 Engineering Technician I

 Graphic Designer

 Payroll/HR Technician

 Planner I

 Program Coordinator

 V & T Coordinator

 Arborist NE 308 22.027    35.793    

 Education Coordinator

 Financial Technician

 Hearst Coordinator

 Information Systems Technician II

 Video Production Specialist

 Engineering Technician II NE 309 24.231    39.381    

 Inspector

 Personnel Specialist

 Rec Program Specialist

 Storm Water Specialist

322



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

NON-EXEMPT SALARY SCHEDULE

EFFECTIVE JUNE 29, 2019

FLSA HOURLY WAGE

CLASS TITLES STATUS BAND # MIN. MAX.

NE 310 26.425    42.937    

 Video Production Supervisor NE 311 28.628    46.515    

NE 312 30.832    50.102    

NE 313 33.026    53.669    

NE 314 35.240    57.257    

NE 315 37.423    60.813    

NE 316 39.627    64.401    

NE 317 42.927    69.762    

NE 318 47.335    76.916    

NE 319 51.722    84.050    

NE 320 56.191    91.317    

323



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

EXEMPT SALARY SCHEDULE

EFFECTIVE JUNE 29, 2019

FLSA HOURLY WAGE

CLASS TITLES STATUS BAND # MIN. MAX.

E 401 9.297      15.109    

E 402 11.542    18.747    

E 403 13.776    22.386    

E 404 14.873    24.170    

E 405 15.980    25.974    

E 406 17.620    28.639    

E 407 19.824    32.216    

E 408 22.027    35.793    

 Accountant E 409 24.231    39.381    

 Administrative Supervisor

 Commications Specialist

 Fitness Coordinator

 Librarian

 Technology Librarian

 Civil Engineer I E 410 26.425    42.937    

 Planner II

 Building Maintenance Supervisor E 411 28.628    46.515    

 Civil Engineer II

 Cultural Programs Supervisor

 Fire Captain

 Fleet Maintenance Supervisor

 GIS Analyst

 Land Surveyor

 Network Administrator

 Public Works & Parks Supervisor

 Recreation Programs Supervisor

 Traffic Operations Supervisor

 Water Reclamation Supervisor

324



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

EXEMPT SALARY SCHEDULE

EFFECTIVE JUNE 29, 2019

FLSA HOURLY WAGE

CLASS TITLES STATUS BAND # MIN. MAX.

 Cable TV & Telecommunications Supervisor E 412 30.832    50.102    

 Economic Development Coordinator

 Planner III

 Police Lieutenant 

 Police Lieutenant  - PSO

 Public Safety Supervisor - Lieutenant

 Senior Librarian

 City Clerk E 413 33.026    53.669    

 Fire Battalion Chief

 Principal Engineer

 Recreation & Community Programs Manager

 V & T/Cultural Manager

 Controller/City Treasurer E 414 35.240    57.257    

 Inspection Services Manager

 Police Captain

 Public Safety Supervisor - Captain

 Water Reclamation Manager

 Information Systems Manager E 415 37.423    60.813    

 Planning & Community Services Manager

 Public Works & Parks Manager

 Asst Public Safety Director/Asst Chief - Police E 416 39.627    64.401    

 Asst Public Safety Director/Chief - Fire

 City Engineer E 417 42.927    69.762    

 Library Director

E 418 47.335    76.916    

 City Attorney E 419 51.722    84.050    

 Director of Community Development E 420 56.191    91.317    

 Director of Finance & Business Operations

 Director of Public Safety Services

 Director of Public Works

325



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS Effective 7/1/2019

Final Control Point

80.0% 100.0% 130.0%

Grade Job Title Department Minimum Control Point Maximum FLSA

20 DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CD-ADMIN $56.19 $70.24 $91.32 E

DIRECTOR OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS FINANCE ADMIN E

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS PUBLIC WORKS ADMIN E

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES PUBLIC SAFETY ADMIN E

19 CITY ATTORNEY LEGAL $51.73 $64.66 $84.05 E

18 VACANT $47.33 $59.16 $76.91

17 CITY ENGINEER ENGINEERING $42.93 $53.66 $69.76 E

LIBRARY DIRECTOR LIBRARY E

16 ASST PUBLIC SAFETY DIRECTOR/ASST CHIEF - POLICE POLICE $39.63 $49.54 $64.40 E

ASST PUBLIC SAFETY DIRECTOR/CHIEF - FIRE FIRE E

15 INFORMATION SYSTEMS MANAGER INFORMATION SYSTEMS $37.42 $46.78 $60.82 E

PUBLIC WORKS & PARKS MANAGER PUBLIC WORKS ADMIN E

PLANNING & COMMUNITY SERVICES MANAGER PLANNING E

14 WATER RECLAMATION MANAGER WATER RECLAMATION $35.24 $44.04 $57.26 E

INSPECTION SERVICES MANAGER INSPECTION SERVICES E

CONTROLLER/CITY TREASURER FINANCIAL SERVICES E

POLICE CAPTAIN POLICE E

PUBLIC SAFETY SUPERVISOR - CAPTAIN PUBLIC SAFETY E

13 PRINCIPAL ENGINEER ENGINEERING $33.03 $41.29 $53.67 E

RECREATION & COMMUNITY PROGRAMS MANAGER RECREATION E

V & T/CULTURAL MANAGER V & T E

CITY CLERK PUBLIC RECORDS E

FIRE BATTALION CHIEF FIRE E

12 CABLE TV & TELECOMMUNICATIONS SUPERVISOR CABLE TV $30.83 $38.54 $50.10 E

PLANNER III PLANNING E

SENIOR LIBRARIAN LIBRARY E

POLICE LIEUTENANT POLICE E

POLICE LIEUTENANT - PSO FIRE POLICE E

PUBLIC SAFETY SUPERVISOR - LIEUTENANT PUBLIC SAFETY E

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR ADMIN E

11 BUILDING MAINTENANCE SUPERVISOR PUBLIC BUILDINGS $28.63 $35.78 $46.52 E

FLEET MAINTENANCE SUPERVISOR VEHICLE MAINTENANCE E

PUBLIC WORKS & PARKS SUPERVISOR STREETS E

LAND SURVEYOR ENGINEERING E

TRAFFIC OPERATIONS SUPERVISOR TRAFFIC E

RECREATION PROGRAM SUPERVISOR RECREATION E

VIDEO PRODUCTION SUPERVISOR CABLE TV NE

WATER RECLAMATION SUPERVISOR WATER RECLAMATION E

GIS ANALYST PLANNING E

CULTURAL PROGRAMS SUPERVISOR CULTURAL E

CIVIL ENGINEER II ENGINEERING E

NETWORK ADMINISTRATOR INFORMATION SYSTEMS E

FIRE CAPTAIN FIRE E

10 PLANNER II PLANNING $26.42 $33.03 $42.93 E

CIVIL ENGINEER I ENGINEERING E

9 ACCOUNTANT FINANCIAL SERVICES $24.23 $30.29 $39.38 E

LIBRARIAN LIBRARY E

FITNESS COORDINATOR RECREATION E

ADMINISTRATIVE SUPERVISOR PUBLIC RECORDS E

TECHNOLOGY LIBRARIAN LIBRARY E

COMMUNICATIONS SPECIALIST ADMIN E

STORMWATER SPECIALIST ENGINEERING NE

PERSONNEL SPECIALIST LEGAL NE

REC PROGRAM COORDINATOR RECREATION NE

ENGINEERING TECHNICIAN II ENGINEERING NE

INSPECTOR INSPECTION SERVICES NE

FY20 GRADE ORDER LIST: OPEN PLAN

326



8 FINANCIAL TECHNICIAN FINANCIAL SERVICES $22.03 $27.53 $35.79 NE

INFORMATION SYSTEMS TECHNICIAN II INFORMATION SYSTEMS NE

EDUCATION COORDINATOR CULTURAL NE

HEARST COORDINATOR CULTURAL NE

ARBORIST PARKS NE

LIBRARY EDUCATION COORDINATOR LIBRARY NE

VIDEO PRODUCTION SPECIALIST CABLE TV NE

7 PROGRAM COORDINATOR CULTURAL $19.83 $24.78 $32.22 NE

PLANNER I PLANNING NE

GRAPHIC DESIGNER INFORMATION SYSTEMS NE

V & T COORDINATOR V & T NE

PAYROLL/HR TECHNICIAN FINANCIAL SERVICES NE

ENGINEERING TECHNICIAN I ENGINEERING NE

CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICER INSPECTION SERVICES NE

6 ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT - LIBRARY LIBRARY $17.62 $22.03 $28.64 NE

INFORMATION SYSTEMS TECHNICIAN I INFORMATION SYSTEMS NE

ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT - LEAD RECREATION NE

ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT - LEAD PUBLIC RECORDS NE

ADMINISTRATIVE CLERK - FINANCIAL CLERK FINANCIAL SERVICES NE

5 LIBRARY ASSISTANT LIBRARY $15.98 $19.98 $25.97 NE

SENIOR SERVICES COORDINATOR CULTURAL NE

ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT PUBLIC RECORDS NE

ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT PUBLIC WORKS NE

ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT NE

4 OFFICE ASSISTANT CULTURAL $14.87 $18.59 $24.17 NE

OFFICE ASSISTANT V & T NE

3 VACANT PLANNING $13.78 $17.22 $22.39

2 VACANT $11.54 $14.42 $18.75

1 LIBRARY PAGE LIBRARY $9.30 $11.62 $15.11 NE

327



WORKSHOP/SESSION/EVENT

PAY PLAN

Effective June 29, 2019 - June 26, 2020

RANGE CLASSIFICATION DURATION PAY RANGE & MODE

I Workshop Instructors Days Per Workshop

     1 Total Contact Hour $15.00

     1.5 Total Contact Hours $25.00

     2 Total Contact Hours $35.00

     3 Total Contact Hours $50.00

     4 Total Contact Hours $65.00

     6 Total Contact Hours $95.00

   II Session Instructors 2 or more weeks  Per Session

     30 Minutes     $6.00-19.00

     1 Hour     $9.50-25.00

     1.5 Hours    $12.50-39.00

     2  Hours    $15.00-40.00

     3  Hours    $21.00-55.00

     4  Hours    $30.00-60.00

     5  Hours    $37.50-65.00

     Golf Instructor    $30.00-50.00

     Library Instructors $80.00-120.00

  III Event Supervisors & Officials Various      Per Event

     Basketball - Non-Registered          $12.00 -20.00

     Basketball - Registered         $15.00-28.00

     Youth League (Umpire)            $9.50-30.00

     Umpires - Adult Softball         $15.00-30.00

     Senior Citizen         $17.00-35.00

     Basketball & Volleyball League         $17.00-35.00

     Adult Softball League Supervisor        $45.00-75.00

     Specialty Class Trainer              $16.00-35.00

     Fitness Equipment Repair    $25.00-55.00

  IV Cable Division Events Various      Per Event

    Sports Commentators              $75.00-250.00

    Camera Operators              $60.00-250.00

    Director              $100.00-250.00

    Video Replay/Scorebug Operator              $60.00-250.00

    Field Producer/Stage Manager              $50.00-100.00

    Time Out Coordinator              $50.00-150.00

    Show Hosts              $50.00-150.00

    Announcers for Videos or Commercials              $25.00-150.00

workshop-session-event.xls 328



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA
PAY PLAN

PUBLIC WORKS/PARKS
BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES
FULL-TIME/PART-TIME

FY20 Pay Plan: Contract Erhibit "A"
3.00% Across-the-Board

Effective June 29, 2019 - June 26, 2020

RANGE CLASSIFICATION STEP A STEP B STEP C STEP D STEP E STEP F STEP G STEP H

A
M

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

3

$23,356.32
$1,946.36

$898.32
$'t't.229

$24,427.52
$2,035.63

$939.52
$11 .7 44

$2s,554.88
$2,'.129.57

$982.88
$12.286

$26,728.00
s2.227.33
$1,028.00

$12.850

$27,963.52
$2,330.29
$1,075.52

$13.M4

$29,246.88
$2,437.24
$1,124.88

$14.061

$24,051.04
$2,004.25

s925.04
$11.563

$2s,159.68
$2,096.64

$967.68
$12.096

$26,322.40
$2,193.s3
$1,012.40

$12.655

$27,537.12
$2,294.76
$1,059.12

$13.239

$28.797.60
$2.399.80
$1,107.60

$13.845

$30,120.48
$2,510.04
$1,158.48

$14.481

$24,779.O4

$2,064.92
$953.04
$1 1.913

$25,912.64
$2,'r 59.39

$996.64
$12.458

$27,114.88
$2,259.57
$1,042.88

$13.036

s28,358.72
$2,363.23
$1,090.72

$13.634

$29,658.72
$2,471.56
$1,140.72

$14.259

$31,033.60
$2,586.13
$1,193.60

$14.920

$25,525.76
$2,127.15

$981.76
$12.272

$26,698.88
$2,224.9'.|
$1,026.88

$'12.836

$27,926.08
$2,327.'.t7
$1,074.08

$13.426

$29,211.52
$2,434.29
$1,123.52

$14.044

$30.s53.12
$2,s46.09
$1.175.',tz

$14.689

$3'r,961.28
$2,663.44
$1,229.28

$15.366

$26,287-04
$2,190.59
$1,011.04

$12.638

$27,491.36
$2,290.95
$1,057.36

$'t3.217

$28,766.40
$2,397.20
$1,106.40

$13.830

$30,085.12
$2,507.09
$1,157.12

$14.464

$31,470.40
$2,622.53
$1,210.40

$'15.130

$32,913.92
$2,742.83
$1,265.92

$15.824

$27,071 .20

$2,255.93
$1,041.20

$13.015

$27,884.48
$2,323.71
$1,072.48

$13.406

$29,169.92
$2,430.83
$1,121.92

$14.024

$30,515.68
$2,542.97
$1,173.68

$14.671

$31,921.76
$2,660.15
$1,227.76

$15.347

$33,381.92
$2,781.83
$1,283.92

$16.049

$34,9'19.04
$2,909.92
$1,343.04

$16.788

$29,009.76
$2,417.48
$1 ,1 15.76

$13.947

$30,340.96
$2,528.41
$1,166.96

$14.587

$31,747.04
$2,645.59
$1,221.O4

$15.263

$33,203.04
$2,766.92
$'1,277.O4

$15.963

$34,736.00
$2,894.67
$1,336.00

$16.700

$28,323.36
$2,360.28
$1,089.36

$13.617

5

4 Custodian I

6 Cuslodian ll

$29,62s.44
$2,468.79
$1,139.44

$'t4.243

$30,987.84
$2,s82.32
$1,191.84

$14.898

$32,416.80
$2,701.40
$l,246.80

$15.585

$33,906.08
$2,825.51
$1,304.08

$16.301

2

$36,33s.52
$3,027.96
$1,397.52

$17.469

7

329



PAY PLAN BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES
FULL-TIME/PART-TIME

FY20 Pay Plan: Contract Exhibit "A"
3.00% Across-the-Board

Effective June 29, 2019 - June 26, 2020

RANGE CLASSIFICATION STEP A STEP B STEP C STEP D STEP E STEP F STEP G STEP H

A
M

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

9

8 Laborera

10 A$istant Equipment Mechanic
Transfer Statlon Laborer

11

12

13

$30,592.64
$2,549.39
$1,176.64

$14.708

$32,002.88
$2,666.91
$1,230.88

$15.386

$33,475.52
$2,789.63
$1,287.s2

$16.094

$35,012.64
$2,917.72
$1,346.64

$16.833

$36,618.40
$3,051.53
$1,408.40

$17.605

$38,305.28
$3,192.11
$'l,473.28

$18.416

$3'1,524.48
$2,627.O4
$1,212.4A

$15.156

$32,963.84
$2,746.99
$1,267.84

$15.848

$34,482.24
$2,873.52
$'1,326.24

$16.578

$36,06s.12
$3,005.43
$1,387.12

$17.339

$37.722.88
$3,143.57
$1,450.88

$18.136

$39,453.44
$3,287.79
$1 ,517.44

$18.968

$32,470.88
$2,705.91
$1,248.88

$15.6'll

$33,947.68
$2,828.97
$1,305.68

$'16.321

$35,516.00
$2,959.67
$1,366.00

$17.075

$37,'r42.56
$3,09s.21
$1,428.56

$17.857

$38,854.40
$3,237.87
$1,494.40

$18.680

$40,643.20
$3,386.93
$1,563.20

$19.540

$33,450.56
$2,787.55
$1,286.56

$'16.082

$34.962.72
$2,913.56
$1.344.72

$'16.809

$36,580.96
$3,048.41
$1,406.96

$17.587

$38,263.68
$3,188.64
$1,471.68

$18.396

$40,017.12
$3,334.76
$1,539.12

$19.239

$41,8s7.92
$3,488.16
$1,609.92

$20.124

$34,453.12
$2,871.09
$1,325.12

$16.564

$36,006.88
$3,000.57
$1,384.88

$17.31'l

$37,672.96
$3,139.41
$1,448.96

$18.1 12

$39,413.92
$3.284.49
$1,515.92

$18.949

$41.215.20
$3,434.60
$1,585.20

$19.815

$43,114.24
$3,592.85
$1,6s8.24

$20.728

$35,482.72
$2,9s6.89
$1,364.72

$17.059

$37,088.48
$3,090.71
$1,426.48

$17.831

$38,800.32
$3,233.36
$1,492.32

$18.654

$40,593.28
$3,382.77
$1,561.28

$19.516

$42,452.80
$3,537.73
$'1,632.80

$20.410

$s6,549.76
$3,045.81
$1,405.76

$17.572

$38,20't.28
$3,183.44
$1,469.28

$18.366

$39,967.20
$3,330.60
$1,s37.20

$19.215

$41,803.84
$3,483.6s
$1,607.84

$20.098

$43,729.92
$3,644.16
$1,681.92

$21.024

$45,751.68
$3,812.64
$1,759.68

$21.996

$38,024.48
$3,'168.71

$1,462.48
$18.281

$39,742.56
$3,311.88
$1,528.56

$19.107

$41,s72.96
$3,464.41
$1,598.96

s'19.987

$43,492.80
$3,624.40
$1,672.80

$20.910

$45,491.68
$3,7S0.97
$1,749.68

$21.871

$47,592.48
$3,966.04
$'r,830.48

$22.881

A
M

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

$44,405.92
$3,700.49
$1,707.92

$21.349

330



PAY PLAN

STEP A STEP B STEP C STEP D STEP E s F STEP G STEP H
RANGE emslFtcATroN

14

17

18

15

16 WWTP Operator I

Groundskeeper
Maintenance Worker
WWTP Assistant

Carponter
Equipment Operator
Senior Groundskeeper

Equlpment Mechanic
Laboratory Tochnician
vlrwTP Operator ll

A
M

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

$40,075.36
$3,339.61
$1,541.36

$19.267

$41,912.00
$3,492.67
$1,612.00

$20.150

$43,840.16
$3,653.35
$1,686.16

$21.077

$45,855.68
$3,821.31
$1,763.68

$22.046

$47,9s6.48
$3,996.37
$1,844.48

$23.056

$41,277.60
$3,439.80
$1,587.60

$19.845

$42,511.04
$3,542.59
$1,635.04

$20.438

$43,788.16
$3,649.01
$1,684.16

$21.052

$4s,094.40
$3,757.87
$1,734.40

$21.680

$46,448.48
$3,870.71
$1,786,48

$22.331

$47,837.92
$3,986.49
$1,839.92

$22.999

$49,768.16
$4,147.35
$1,914.16

$23.927

$43,170.40
$3,s97.s3
$1,660.40

$20.755

$45,1s6.80
$3,763.07
$1,736.80

$21 .7'10

$47,230.56
$3,935.88
$1,816.56

$22.707

$49,402.08
$4.116.84
$1,900.08

$23.751

$44,472.48
$3,706.04
$1,710.48

$21.381

$46,506.72
$3,875.56
$1.788.72

s22.359

$48,640.80
$4,053.40
$1,870.80

$23.385

$50,885.12
$4,240.43
$1,957.12

$24.464

$45,797.44
$3,816.45
$1,761.44

$22,018

$47,906.56
$3,992.21
$1,842.s6

$23.032

$50,105.12
$4,17s.43
$'t,927.12

$24.089

$52,422.24
$4,368.52
$2,016.24

$25.203

$47,159.84
$3,929.99
$1,813.84

$22.673

$49,345.92
$4,1 12.16

$1,897.92
$23.724

$51,621.44
$4,301.79
$1,985.44

$24.818

$53,980.16
$4,498.3s
$2,076.16

$25.952

$48,588.80
$4,049.07
$1,868.80

$23.360

$50,826.88
$4,235.57
$1,954.88

$24.436

$53,'160.64
$4,430.0s
$2,044.64

$25.558

s55,608.80
$4,634.07
$2,138.80

$26.735

$50,046.88
$4,170.57
$1,924.88

$24.061

$52,345.28
$4,362.11
$2,013.28

$25.166

$54.766.40
$4,563.87
$2,106.40

$26.330

$57,266.s6
$4,772.2',1

$2,202.56
$27.532

$52,066.56
$4,338.88
$2,002.56

$25.032

$54,458.56
$4,538.21
$2.094.56

$26.182

$56,964.96
$4,747.O8
$2,190.96

$27.387

$59,569.12
$4,964.09
$2,291.12

$28.639

A
M

BW
H

* An omployee Barving in the Fire or Police POC program shall bo paid at the rate of time and one'half of the regular wage for the paid'on'call houG'

BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES
FULL.TIME/PART.T'ME

FY20 Pay Plan: Contract Exhibit "A"
3.00% Across-the-Board

Effective June 29, 2019 - June 26, 2020

331



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA
PAY PLAN

PUBLIC WORKS/PARKS
BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES
FULL.TIMHPARI.TIME

FY20 Pay Plan: Contract Exhibit "A-1"
3.00o/o Across-the-Board wlth Extra Job Clas3ification

Effective Juno 29, 2019 - June 26, 2020

RANGE CLASSIFICATION STEP A STEP B STEP C STEP D STEP E STEP F STEP G STEP H

2

3

7

8

H

H

H

H

H

H

H

H

H

H

$16.229 $16.563 $16.9'13 $17.272 $17.638 $18.015 $18.406 $18.947

s16.744 $17.096 $17.458 $17.836 $18.217 $18.617 $19.024 $19.587

4 Custodian l/Fircfi ghter
Custodian l/Police Officer

Custodian lUFirefi ghter
Custodian ll/Police Officer

Laborer8/Firefighter
Laborers,/Police Offi cer

Asslst Equip Mech/Firefi ghter
Asslst Equip M€ch/Police Officer
Trans St Laborer/Fircfi ghter
Trans St LaborcriPolice Omcor

11

$17.286 $17.655 $18.036 $18.426 $18-830 $19.243 $19.671 $20.263

$17.850 $18.239 $18.634 $19.044 $19.464 $19.898 $20.347 $20.963

$18.444 $18.845 $19.259 $19.689 $20.130 $20.585 $21.049 $2'1.700

$19.061 $19.481 $19.920 $20.366 $20.824 $21.301 $21.788 $22.469

$19,708 $20.156 $20.611 $21.082 $21.564 $22.059 $22.572 $23.281

$20.386 $20.848 $21.32',t $21.809 $22.311 $22.831 $23.366 $24.107

'10

9

$21.094 $21.578 $22.075 $22.587 $23.112 $23.654 $24.215 $24.987

$21.833 $22.339 $22.857 $23.396 $23.949 $24.s16 $25.098 $25.910

$22.605 $23.136 $23.680 $24.239 $24.81s $25.410 $26.024 $26.87112 H

5

6

332



PAY PLAN BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES
FULL.TIME]PART.|'ME

FY20 Pay Plan: Contract Exhibit "A-1"
3.00o/o Across-the-Board with Extra Job Classilication

Eff6ctive June 29, 2019 - June 26, 2020

RANGE CLASSIFICATION STEP A STEP B STEP C STEP D STEP E STEP F STEP G STEP H

'13

14

'15

17

18

H

G roundskeeper/F lIGfig hier
Groundskeeper/Pollcc Officol
Malnt Worker/Firetighter
Maint Worker/Pollco Officer
WWTP AssistanUFlr6lighter
WWTP AssistanuPolice Omcer

WWTP Operator l/Firefi ghtor
WWTP Operator UPolice Officer

Carp€nter/Firotlghter H

Carpenter/Polico Officer
Equipment Oper/Firelighter
Equlpment Oper/Police Offi c6r
Senior Groundske€per/Firofighler
sonior Groundskeeper/Polics Offi cer

$23.416 $23.968 $24.540 $25.124 $25.728 $26.349 $26.996 $27.881

H $24.267 $24.845 $25.438 $26.052 $26.680 $27.331

H

H

$27.999 $28.927

$25.150 $25.755 s26.381 $27.018 $27.673 $28.360 $29.061 $30.032

$26.077 $26.710 $27.3s9 $28.032 $28.724 $29.436 $30.166 $31.182

$27.046 $27.707 $28.385 $29.089 $29.818 $30.558 $31.330 $32.387

Equip Mechanic/Firefi ghter
Equip Mechanic/Police Officer
Laboratory Tech/Firefi ghter
Laboratory Tech/Police Ofticer
WWTP Operator ll/Firefighter
wwTP Operator ll/Police Oflicsr

$28.056 $28.751H $29.464 $30.203 $30.952 $31.735 $32.532 $33.639

. An employee soMng in the Fir€fighter or Police Officerjoint classitication will receive the applicable hourly rate listed abovo for that classification while
porforming firBlighter or polico officer iob duties.

333



CITY OF CEOAR FALLS, IOWA
PAY PLAN

PUBLIC WORKS'PARKS
BARGAINING UNIT EMPLOYEES
SEASO'VAL

FY20 PAY PLAN: Exhibit "B"
3.00% Across-the.Board

Effectivr December 28, 2019 - December 25, 2020

RANGE CLASSIFICATION STEP A STEP B STEP C STEP D STEP E STEP F STEP G STEP H

2 Buildings & Grounds Maint. I

4 Buildings & Grounds Maint. ll

8 Laborer

A
M

$22,424.4A
$1,868.71

$862.48
$10.781

$29,371.68
$2,447.U
$1,129.68

$14.121

$23,100.48
$1,925.04

$888.48
$11.106

$23,786.88
$1,982.24

$914.88
$11.436

$31,172.96
$2,597.75
$1,198.96

$14.987

$24,500.32
$2,041.69

$942.32
$1 1.779

$26,809.12
$2,234.09
$1,031,12

$12.889

$25.236.64
$2,'103.05

$970.64
$12.133

$27,61A.24
$2,301.s2
$1,062.24

$13.278

$25,997.92
$2,166.49

$999.92
$r2.499

$26,782.08
$2,231.A4
$'l,030.08

$12.876

$29,294.72
$2,441.23
$'tj26.72

$14.084

$27.572.48
$2,297.71
$1,060.48

$13.256

$30,182.88
$2,515.24
$1,160.88

$14.511

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

A
M

BW
H

$24,533.60
$2,044.47

$943.60
$11.795

$26,027.04
$2,'168.92
$1,001,04

$12.513

$28,446.08
$2,370.51
$1,094.08

$13.676

$25,272.00
$2,106.00

$972.00
$12.150

$30,268.16
$2,522.35
$1,164.16

$14.552

$32,111.04
$2,675.92
s1.235.04

$15.438

$33,078.24
$2,7s6.52
$1,272.24

$15.903

$34,066.24
$2,838.85
$l,310.24

$16.378

$3s,091.68
$2,924.3',1
$1,349.68

$'16.871

$36,144.16
$3,012.01
$1,390.16

$17.377

334



EXHIBIT "C'
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

POLICE DEP'T. . UNION
FY2O POLICE OFFICER PAY PLAN

3.0% FOR STEPS P.zl - P-2lX
Effectiw: June 29, 20tg - June 26, 2020

STEP I STEP II STEP III STEP IV STEP V STEP VI STEP VII STEP VIII STEP IX

P-2 Police Officer

P-2 P

M
BW
H

M
BW
H
H(24',t

$54,042.56
$4,s03.55
$2,078.56

$25.982

$54,042.56
$4,503.55
$2,078.56

$25.982

$60,2s7.45
$5,021.45
$2,317.59

$28.970
$21.910

$59,660.64
$4,971.72
$2,294.64

$28.683

$60,860.80
$5,071.73
$2,340.80

$29.260

$62,079.68
$5,173.31
$2,387.68

$29.846

$63,325.60
$5,277.13
$2,435,60

$30.445

$64,s90.24
$5,382.52
$2,484.24

$31.053

$66,844.96
$5,570.4't
$2,570.96

$32.137

$68,515.20
$5,709.60
$2,635.20

$32.940

$76,394.45
$6,366.20
$2,938.25

$36.728
$27.778

$70,403.84
$5,866.97
$2,707.83

$33.848

$78,500.28
$6,541.67
$3.0'19.23

$37.741
$28.s43

$18.655 $20.594 $21.009 $21.429 $21.860 $22.296 $23.074 $23.651 $24.303Police Offlcer/
Part time

H

M
BW

PSO-1 Public Safety
Officer

PSG2 Public Safety
Officer

H

$59,660.64
$4,971.72
$2,294.64

$28.683

$66,521.61
$5,543.47
$2,s58.52

$31.982
$24.188

$60,860.80
$5,071.73
$2,340.80

$29.260

$67,859.79
$5,6s4.98
$2,609.99

$32.625
$24.674

$69,218.84
$5,768.24
$2,662.26

$33.278
$25.168

$70,608.04
$5,884.00
$2,715.69

$33.946
$25.674

$72,O',t8.12
$6,001.51
$2,769.S3

$34.624
$26.186

$74,532.13
$6,211.0'1
$2,866.62

s35.833
$27.100

comp time per day while performing FTO duties.

335



EXHIBIT "A"

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA
POLICE DEPARTMENT . UNION

FY2O PAY PLAN
3.OO% PARKING METER RANGE P-1

3.OO% SENIOR POLICE OFFICERS RANGE P-3

Effective: June 29, 2019 - June 26,2020

RANGE CLASSIFICATION STEP A STEP B STEP C STEP D

P-1 Prkg Meter Atdt.

P-3 Sr. Police Officer

BW
H

A
M

A
M

BW
H

$36,739.04
$3,061 .59
$1 ,413.04

$17.663

$61,632.48
$5,136.04
$2,370.48

$29.631

$38,269.92
$3,189.16
$1 ,471.92

$18.399

$64,457.12
$5,371.43
$2,479.12

$30.989

$39,900.64
$3,325.05
$1,534.64

$19.183

$67,340.00
$5,611.67
$2,590.00

$32.37s

$41,315.04
$3,442.92
$1 ,589.04

$19.863

$70,403.84
$5,866.99
$2,707.84

$33.848

336



EXHIBIT'8"

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA
POLICE DEPARTMENT. UNION

FY20 PAY PLAN: 3.00o/o FOR RANGES C-1, C-2, P-Tl AND P-T2
Effective: June 29,2019 - June 26,2020

RANGE CLASSIFICATION STEPA STEPB STEPC STEPD STEPE STEPF STEPG STEPH

c-1

c-2

A
M

BW
H

M
BW

H

Account Clerk
Computer Operator
Radio Dispatcher

Records & Computer
Services Supervisor

$43,958.72
$3,663.23
$1,690.72

$21 .134

$46,165.60
$3,847.13
$1,775.60

$22.195

$45,273.28
$3,772.77
$1 ,741.28

$21.766

$47,540.48
$3,961.71
$1,828.48

$22.856

$46,639.84
$3,886.6s
$1,793.84

$22.423

$48,975.68
$4,081.31
$1,883.68

$23.546

$48,031.36
$4,002.61
$1,847.36

$23.092

$50,440.00
$4,203.33
$1,940.00

$24.250

$49,479.04
$4,123.25
$1,903.04

$23.788

$s1,962.56
$4,330.21
$1,998.56

$24.982

$50,966.24
$4,247.19
$1,960.24

$24.503

$53,503.84
$4,458.65
$2,057.84

$25.723

$52,497.12
$4,374.76
$2,019.12

$25.239

$55,'l 17.92

$4,593.16
$2,1 19.92

$26.499

$54,059.20
$4,504.93
$2,079.20

$25.990

$56,771.52
$4,730.96
$2,183.52

$27.294

P-T ,I P-T Dispatchers
P-T Meter Attendants
P-T Clerical

P-f 2 Crossing Guards H $15.179

H $15.179 $15.633 $16.098 $16.586 $17.080 $17.595 $18.122 $18.670

337



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA
FIRE DEPARTMENT - UNION

FY20 PAY PLAN: CONTRACT EXHIBIT'A"

FIREFIGHTERS: Steps A-F = 3.00%

Effective June 29, 2019 - June 26, 2020

STEPA STEP B STEP C STEP D STEP E STEP FRANGE

F-l

CLASSIFICATION

Firefighters A
M

BW
H 124)
H (40)

$46,280.00
$3,856.67
$1,780.00

$16.828
$22.250

$48,28s_12
$4,023.76
$1,8s7.12

$17.s57
$23.214

$s0,275.68
$4,189.64
$1,933.68

$18.281
$24.171

$s7,697.12
$4,808.09
$2,219.12

$20.979
$27 .739

$62,922.08
$5,243.51
$2,420.O8

$22.879
$30.2s1

$63,552.32
$5,296.03
$2,444.32

$23.108
$30.554

F-1 P Firefighters/
Part time

H $12.083 $12.606 $13.126 $15.063 $16.427

CONTRACT EXHIBIT '8"

ln addition to the pay presented in Exhibit'A', employees shall receive longevity pay as follows:

YEARS SERMCE 9/UONTH

Beginning 0
Beginning 5
Beginning I
Beginning 11

Beginning '14

Beginning 17
Beginning 20
Beginning 23
Beginning 26
Beginning 29
Beginning 32
Beginning 35

through 4 years
through 7 years
through '10 years
through 13 years
through 16 years
through 19 years
through 22 years
through 25 years
through 28 years
through 31 years
through 34 years
years and over

None
$15.00
$2s.00
$3s.00
$4s.00
$55.00
$65.00
$75.00
$8s.00
$95.00

$ 105.00
$115.00

338



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Brown & City Council Members 

 FROM: Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

 DATE: May 30, 2019 

 SUBJECT:  Updated Purchasing Manual 

 
Attached is the Accounting Policies and Procedures and Purchasing Manual.  The 
manual has been updated to incorporate the following language revisions: 
 

 job titles have been updated throughout the manual 

 various procurement recommendations by our external auditors Eide Bailly, 
with regards to Uniform Guidance procurement standards have been 
updated 

 thresholds to the change order policy on formal contracts have been updated 

 public improvement bidding threshold requirements as set by the State of 
Iowa have been updated 

 cell phone allowance amounts have increased 

 forms of cash receipt payments has been updated 

 addition of Conflict of Interest threshold for benefiting officer or employee in 
goods and services purchase contract language per Iowa Code 362.5(3)(j)  

 the Continuing Disclosure Policy Exhibit A Listed Changes per the Securities 
and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12 have been updated 

 
If you have any questions regarding the manual, please feel free to contact me.  
 
CC: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
 

339



 i 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
AND 

PURCHASING MANUAL 
 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 
SECTION 1 PURCHASING RESOLUTION ........................................................ 1 
 
SECTION 2 INTRODUCTION ............................................................................. 2 
 
SECTION 3 ORGANIZATION AND AUTHORITY 

3.01 Organization ......................................................................... 3 
3.02 Authority and Duties ............................................................. 5 

 
SECTION 4 RELATIONSHIP OF FINANCIAL SERVICES TO CITY 
  DEPARTMENTS IN THE PURCHASING PROCESS 

4.01 Cooperative Relationship ..................................................... 7 
4.02 Financial Services Division Responsibilities ......................... 7 
4.03 Departments’ Responsibilities .............................................. 7 
4.04 Purchase Orders .................................................................. 8 
4.05 Element and Object Number ................................................ 8 
4.06 Project Number .................................................................... 9 
4.07 Signatures ........................................................................ 910 
4.08 Purchasing Process Overview ............................................ 10 

 
SECTION 5 SPECIFICATIONS 

5.01 Definition ............................................................................ 11 
5.02 Requirements for Specifications ......................................... 11 
5.03 Types of Specifications....................................................... 11 
5.04 Requesting Department’s Responsibilities ......................... 12 

 
SECTION 6 REQUISITIONS FOR PURCHASE FORM AND BUDGET 

AMENDMENT FORMS 
6.01 Requisition for Purchase Form ........................................... 14 
6.02 Budget Amendment Request ............................................. 16 

 
SECTION 7 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
  7.01    Introduction ........................................................................ 20 

7.02 Procedure ........................................................................... 20 
7.03 Routing ............................................................................... 21 
7.04 Approval ............................................................................. 24 
7.05 Electronic Funds Transfers (EFT) ...................................... 25 

340



 ii 

7.06 Bank Reconciliations .......................................................... 26 
7.07 Accounting for Debt Service Payments .............................. 26 
7.08 General Ledger Financial Activity ....................................... 26 

 
SECTION 8 PURCHASE ORDER 
  8.01    Purchase Order .............................................................. 2829 

8.02 Routing ........................................................................... 2930 
8.03 Safety Boots ................................................................... 2930 

 
SECTION 9 BLANKET CONTRACTS 

9.01 Definition ........................................................................ 3132 
9.02 Areas of Responsibility ................................................... 3132 
9.03 Purchase and Payment .................................................. 3233 

 
SECTION 10 EMERGENCY AND RAPID NEED PURCHASES 

10.01 Emergency Purchases ................................................... 3334 
10.02 Rapid Need Purchases................................................... 3435 
10.03 Payment of Emergency or Rapid Need Purchases ........ 3436 

 
SECTION 11 QUOTATIONS AND BIDS 

11.01 Basis for Quotations ....................................................... 3637 
11.02 Public Improvement Bidding Procedures........................ 3738 
11.03 Highway, Bridge, and Culvert Bidding Procedures ......... 4041 
11.04 Written Quotations .......................................................... 4243 
11.05 Competitive Negotiations................................................ 4344 
11.06 Professional Consultants ................................................ 4344 
11.07 Special Evaluation Criteria ............................................. 4748 
11.08 Change Order Policy – Formal Contracts ....................... 4849 
11.09 Appraisal Contracts ........................................................ 4950 
11.10 Lease-Purchase and Rental Agreements ....................... 5051 
11.11 Payments and Retention from Payments on Formal 

Contracts  ....................................................................... 5051 
 
SECTION 12 RECEIVING, INSPECTION, AND TESTING 

12.01  Inspection ....................................................................... 5253 
12.02 Testing............................................................................ 5253 
12.03 Completion of Receiving Report ..................................... 5253 

 
SECTION 13 MATERIALS MANAGEMENT 

13.01 Inventory ......................................................................... 5354 
13.02 Small Equipment Inventory ............................................. 5354 

 
SECTION 14 SURPLUS PROPERTY 

14.01 Definition ........................................................................ 5556 
14.02 Responsibilities .............................................................. 5556 
14.03 Methods of Disposal ....................................................... 5556 

341



 iii 

14.04 Disposal of Police and Public Safety Badges ................. 5657 
 
 
SECTION 15 FOLLOW-UP AND EXPEDITING 

15.01 Follow-up ........................................................................ 5758 
15.02 Expediting ....................................................................... 5758 
15.03 Requesting Department Responsibilities ........................ 5758 
15.04 Financial Services Division Responsibilities ................... 5758 

 
SECTION 16 REIMBURSEMENTS FROM PETTY CASH 

16.01 Description ..................................................................... 5859 
16.02 Request for Reimbursement Procedure ......................... 5859 

 
SECTION 17 TRAVEL AND EDUCATION REPORTS 

17.01 Travel and Education Reports ........................................ 6061 
17.02 Reimbursement Procedure ............................................. 6364 
17.03 Employee Reimbursement Report ................................. 6465 
           Missing Meal Receipt Form ............................................ 6667 

 
 
SECTION 18 EQUIPMENT PURCHASE, VEHICLE MAINTENANCE, 
  AND DATA PROCESSING 

18.01 Specifications ................................................................. 6768 
18.02 Requisition for Purchase ................................................ 6768 
18.03 Solicitation of Bids and/or Quotations ............................. 6768 
18.04 Purchase ........................................................................ 6869 
18.05 Asset Status of Equipment ............................................. 6869 
18.06 Computer Hardware and Software ................................. 6970 
18.07 Requisition for Purchase ................................................ 6970 
18.08 Solicitation of Bids and/or Quotations ............................. 6970 
18.09 Purchase ........................................................................ 6970 
18.10 Capital Asset Purchase – Capital Assets ....................... 7071 
18.11 Depreciation ................................................................... 7778 

Sample Capital Asset Input Data Collection Forms ........ 7980 
Bid Quotation/Selection Summary Form ........................ 8687 

 
SECTION 19 CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

19.01 Policy .............................................................................. 8788 
19.02 Compliance .................................................................... 8788 

 
SECTION 20 UNIFORMS 

20.01 Definition ........................................................................ 8991 
20.02 Uniforms ......................................................................... 8991 
20.03 Safety Equipment ........................................................... 8991 

 
 

342



 iv 

SECTION  21 CELL PHONE ALLOWANCES 
21.01 Purpose  ......................................................................... 9092 
21.02 Cell Phones  ................................................................... 9092 
           Cellular Telephone Authorization Form .......................... 9294 

 
SECTION  22 PROCUREMENT CARD PROGRAM 

22.01 Purpose .......................................................................... 9496 
22.02 Roles and Responsibilities ............................................. 9496 
22.03 Application and Card Issuance Process ......................... 9698 
22.04 Security .......................................................................... 9799 
22.05 Transaction Dollar Limits and Excluded Items ................ 9799 
22.06 Use of Card and Transaction Records ......................... 98100 
22.07 Reconciliation of Charges ........................................... 100102 
22.08 Program Violations ..................................................... 101103 

Application/Enrollment and Account Change Form .... 103105 
Cardholder Agreement Form ...................................... 104106 
Missing P-Card Receipt Form .................................... 105107 
Written Statement for Unallowable Purchase Form .... 106108 
 

SECTION 23 CASH RECEIPTS 
23.01 Introduction ................................................................. 107109 
23.02 Procedure  ................................................................... 107109 

 
SECTION 24 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

24.01 Introduction ................................................................. 108111 
24.02 Procedure .................................................................... 108111 

 
SECTION 25 PAYROLL 

25.01 Introduction ................................................................. 113116 
25.02 Department Responsibilities ........................................ 113116 
25.03 Financial Services Responsibilities ............................. 113116 

 
SECTION 26 LOANS 

26.01 Economic Development Loans .................................... 115118 
26.02 CEBA Loans ................................................................ 115118 

 
SECTION  27 Tax Increment Financing (TIF) POLICIES 

27.01 Purpose ...................................................................... 116119 
27.02 Tax Increment Financing ............................................ 116119 
27.03 Tax Increment Financing Incentives ........................... 116119 
27.04 Incentive Negotiations ................................................ 117120 

 
SECTION  28 OUTSIDE AGENCY FUNDING 

28.01 Purpose ...................................................................... 118121 
28.02 Application Procedure ................................................ 118121 
28.03 Funding Sources ........................................................ 118121 

343



 v 

 
SECTION  29 DEBT MANAGEMENT 

29.01 Purpose ....................................................................... 120123 
29.02 Definitions ................................................................... 120123 
29.03 Debt Planning Guidelines ............................................ 120123 
29.04 Debt Administration Policies ........................................ 122125 
 

SECTION  30 CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 
30.01 Purpose ....................................................................... 132134 
30.02 Background ................................................................. 132134 
30.03 Obligations Subject to the Rule ................................... 132134 
30.04 Definitions ................................................................... 132134 
30.05 Disclosure Coordinator ................................................ 133135 
30.06 Responsibilities ........................................................... 133135 
30.07 Review and Approval of Official Statements ............... 134136 
30.08 Submissions of Official Statements ............................. 135137 
30.09 Annual Report Filings Overview .................................. 135137 
30.10 Disclosure of Listed Events ......................................... 136138 
30.11 Documents to be Retained .......................................... 137139 
30.12 Education and Training ............................................... 137139 
30.13 Public Statements Regarding Financial Information .... 137139 
Exhibit A – Listed Events ............................................................ 141 
Exhibit B – Suggested Practices in Submitting Annual Financial 
Information to EMMA* ................................................................. 143 

 
SECTION  31 APPRAISAL OF PROPERTY AND THE ESTABLISHMENT OF                                             
  JUST COMPENSATION 
  31.01 Purpose ....................................................................... 143145 

31.02 Appraisals or Compensation Estimates to be Utilized to                         
Determine the Value of Property or Property Interests Being 
Involuntarily Acquired for City Projects .................................. 143145 
31.03 Establishment of Fair Market Value for Property Interests 
Being Involuntarily Acquired for City Projects ....................... 144146 
31.04 Release of Appraisals, Compensation Estimate, or Appraisal 
Information ............................................................................ 145147 

 

344



  1 

SECTION 1 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. ________ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

345



  2 

SECTION 2 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
 
This accounting procedures and policies and purchasing manual is a description and  
explanation of procedures that the departments in the City of Cedar Falls government 
must follow in the procurement of supplies and contractual services, and accounting for 
the purchases.  Although primarily a manual of instruction to employees in ordering 
departments, it also includes the procedures and responsibilities of the Financial 
Services Division and explains purchasing policy and the relationships of the Financial 
Services Division and requesting departments. It also explains the accounting 
procedures performed by the Financial Services Division. 
 
The objective of coordinated purchasing between departments is the procurement of 
supplies and contractual services at the lowest possible cost consistent with the quality 
needed to meet the required standards. It involves both the using department and 
Financial Services personnel and requires their complete cooperation. 
 
The goal of this manual is to assist using departments in the City's procurement  
process, maintain certain controls, and eliminate unnecessary paperworkand ensure 
that sound business judgement is utilized in all procurement transactions and that 
goods and services are obtained efficiently and economically and in compliance with 
applicable federal and state laws and to ensure that all procurement transactions will be 
conducted in a manner that provides full and open .competition.    
 
It is essential for all concerned to have a clear definition and understanding of the aims  
and purposes of this manual. The purpose of this manual is to point out City policies 
with respect to purchasing and accounting, and to serve as a guide for consistent 
purchasing and accounting operations. The policies and procedures outlined are always 
in conformity with the City's ordinances and resolutions. 
 
Requests and suggestions for changes to this manual may be submitted to the 
Financial Services Division by Department Directors at any time.  When it appears that 
a proposed change may be inconsistent with state law or local ordinance, the matter 
shall be submitted to the City Attorney for opinion. All changes in this manual shall be 
approved by City Council resolution to be effective. When changes are implemented, 
new pages covering such changes will be sent to all recipients of the manual. Those 
who have copies shall keep them up to date by replacing the old pages with the change 
supplements. 
  

  

346



  3 

SECTION 3 
 

ORGANIZATION AND AUTHORITY 
 
 
3.01 ORGANIZATION: 
 

The Financial Services Division is organized and maintained as a division of the  
Finance & Business Operations Department and is under the direction of the 
Director of Finance & Business Operations and managed by the Controller/City 
Treasurer. In the absence of the Controller/City Treasurer, the Director of 
Finance & Business Operations, or his/her designee, shall act as Controller/City 
Treasurer under the terms of this manual. 
 

 
 
 

347



  4 

 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa

Finance & Business Operations

Payroll/HR

Technician

Financial
Clerk

Financial

Clerk

Part-Time

Financial

Clerk

Part-time

Financial Technician

Part-Time

Personnel

Specialist

Controller

City Treasurer

Info. Sys. Tech. II

Info. Sys. Tech. I

Network/Support

Specialist

Video Production

Specialist

Administrative

Asst. - Lead

Production

Supervisor

Cable TV &

Telecommunications

Supervisor

Graphic Designer/

Web Maint. Tech.

GIS

Analyst

Manager

Information Systems

City

Attorney

Personnel
Specialist

Legal

Services

Parking

Attendants

Administrative

Assistant

Administrative

Assistant

Administrative

Assistant

Administrative

Assistant

Administrative

Assistant

Part-Time

Administrative

Assistant

Administrative

Assistant

Part-Time

Administrative

Supervisor

City Clerk

Director of Finance

& Business Operations

Comment [LR1]: Chart will be updated by Cathy 
N Landscape. 

348



  5 

 
 
3.02 AUTHORITY AND DUTIES: 
 

1. The Department of Finance & Business Operations is empowered by Ordinance 
No. 2825 to function as the City purchasing, budgeting and financial authority.  
Under this authority, it is the responsibility of the Department to ensure that  
all purchases comply with the policies established by the City Council. 

 
Specifically, Ordinance No.2825 prescribes that the Department of Finance & 
Business Operations function as the City's purchasing agent for all purchases 
made by the City.  All City Departments shall furnish the Finance & Business 
Operations Department with purchase specifications, bids or other information 
deemed helpful to the purchasing agent making the final purchase. 

 
2. A full-fledged purchase order system is not currently cost-effective due to  

limited staffing. The following set of procedures is established to ensure that  
the requested purchase is budgeted, quotes have been received, and  
mayoral and City Council approval granted when necessary prior to purchase  
or contract acceptance. 

 
3. A City Department making a purchase over $10,000.00 in value not associated  

with a larger project which has been previously endorsed by City Council through 
the budget, CIP, or vehicle replacement process, shall submit a requisition for 
purchase to the Financial Services Division for evaluation. 

 
The Department of Finance & Business Operations shall determine whether  
appropriate quotation or bid procedures were conducted by the requesting  
department, determine if there are sufficient funds to make the requested  
purchase and the appropriateness of the purchase according to State law  
and the City ordinances. 

 
4. Using Agencies: Except as provided herein (refer to Sections 7 and 10) it  

shall be unlawful for any City officer or employee to order the purchase of any  
supplies or make any contract in excess of ten thousand dollars ($10,000.00)  
until approval has been obtained from the Department of Finance & Business 
Operations, and any purchase order or contract made contrary to the provisions 
hereof may be disapproved by the City, and the City shall not be bound thereby. 

 
5.  It is the City Council’s responsibility to approve all contracts entered into by the                   

City.  The approved contracts shall be signed by the Mayor and City Clerk. 
However, contracts that are a continuation of current services and do not change 
the terms of the contract, other than the service period, may be signed by the 
Department Director responsible for that service, unless otherwise provided for in 
this manual.  Examples of these types of contracts may be insurance renewals, 
benefit administration, and professional services.   If the monetary terms of the 

349



  6 

contract change, the contract shall be approved by the City Council unless 
special circumstances apply.  In that case, staff shall notify City Council members 
of the change.  If a majority of Council members desire that the contract be 
reviewed, they may request it to be placed on the next City Council agenda.  

350



  7 

SECTION 4 
 

RELATIONSHIP OF FINANCIAL SERVICES TO CITY DEPARTMENTS  
IN THE PURCHASING PROCESS 

 
 
4.01 COOPERATIVE RELATIONSHIP: 
 

The Financial Services Division is a service and support agency for all other  
departments of the City, and to gain maximum efficiency and economy requires  
the cooperation of all departments. All personnel involved in procuring supplies  
and services, whether in the Financial Services Division or in the requesting  
department, must have a thorough understanding of these procedures. It is  
recommended that new employees, such as Department Directors, Division  
Managers, and supervisors receive, as part of their orientation, instructions on  
purchasing procedures. 

 
4.02 FINANCIAL SERVICES DIVISION RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 

1. The Financial Services Division shall receive requisitions for purchases of  
non-budgeted items over $10,000.00 from the Departments and approve  
requisition for purchase based on the following criteria: 

 
a. The item is an appropriate purchase for a municipality to make. 
 
b. The purchasing department has the money remaining in the budget to  

make the purchase. 
 
c. The appropriate quotation or bid procedures were conducted by the  

requesting department. 
 

2. Financial Services shall process requisitions in a timely manner . 
 
4.03 DEPARTMENTS’ RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 

1. Follow appropriate quotation or bid procedures as described in Section 11 of  
this manual. 

 
2. Requesting Departments shall provide full and accurate descriptions of  

requested items, and work with the Financial Services Division in the  
preparation of requisitions. 
  

2.3. Departments/Division should strive to be good stewards of public funds by 
obtaining the “best value” for the City, and provide a process based on “best 
practice” using market knowledge, innovation and efficiency.   

 

Formatted: List Paragraph,  No bullets or
numbering, Widow/Orphan control, Adjust
space between Latin and Asian text, Adjust
space between Asian text and numbers

351



  8 

3.4. After the Financial Services Division approves the requisition,  
the requesting department shall contact the vendor and make the purchase. 

 
4.5. Departments shall plan in advance to avoid unnecessary rush requests or 

acquisition of duplicative items.. 
 

5.6. Departments shall communicate with the Financial Services Division, 
either  
orally or in writing, the results of purchases, which are unfavorable. Specific  
problems should be documented in writing.  This includes both product and  
vendor performance. 
 

6.7. Provide copies of all bids to the Financial Services Division for all 
purchases made.  This is applicable to all purchases that are made and bids are 
received, excluding contracts that have gone through the formal bid process 
through the City Council.   

 
4.04 PURCHASE ORDERS: 
 

Even though a purchase order system is not utilized by the City, occasionally 
purchase orders are necessary.  Purchase orders are computer-generated forms 
and are sequentially numbered.  The Financial Services Division maintains the 
purchase order file and is the only division with access to the file. 
 
A Purchase Order is issued to a vendor by the Financial Services Division only 
when required by the vendor.  In that case, the requesting department must 
contact the Controller/City Treasurer or Director of Finance & Business 
Operations to request a purchase order stating the amount, vendor name, vendor 
address, quantity, and shipping address.  The purchase order is then used as the 
order document.  The Financial Services Division retains a copy of all open 
Purchase Orders. 

 
4.05 ELEMENT AND OBJECT NUMBER: 
 

The City shall use a system of element and object or "line-item” account 
numbers. The purpose of these numbers is to provide an accounting basis upon  
which expenditures can be classified and monitored, as well as to provide a  
means for forecasting and budgeting future expenditures. 

 
1. It shall be the responsibility of the Financial Services Division to maintain all 

element and object numbers.  It shall be the responsibility of the Financial 
Services Division to determine and assign the most appropriate element and 
object number for each item or service purchased. 

 
2. Element and object numbers are divided into five (5) groupings, each of  

which contains a discreet category or class of line-item expenditures. These  

352



  9 

groupings are as follows: 
 

a. Transfers (5000 series): This element includes all transfers.  This series is 
generally reserved for Financial Services Division use only and should not 
be used by operating departments without Financial Services 
authorization. 

 
b. Personal Services (6000 series): This element includes all  

expenditures related to the salaries, wages, and fringe benefits of City  
employees. This series is reserved for payroll expenses only. 

 
c. Commodities (7000 series): This element represents the various  

materials, parts, and supplies (i.e. tangible goods) used for the general  
and continuing operations of the City. Items purchased as commodities  
are never capitalized, and generally have a short life expectancy and  
low unit cost. 

 
d. Services and Charges (8000 series): This element includes all work  

and services performed for the City by others. These include (by order  
of most common occurrence): 

 
1) Services performed by outside individuals, businesses and  

organizations. 
 
2) Services performed by City departments for other City  

departments. 
 
e. Capital Outlay (9000) series): This element represents items, either  

original or replacement, which are of a significant value and which have  
a useful life expectancy extending beyond one (1) year, "Significant  
Value" is defined as an item or an aggregate of related units,  the total 
cost of which is $5,000.00 or more. 

 
4.06 PROJECT NUMBER: 
 

The City shall use a system of project numbers and payroll task codes. The 
purpose of these numbers is to provide an efficient tracking system of all costs 
associated with a project or a payroll task.  This will aid in the grant 
reimbursement process and provide documentation to departments on time 
spent on various services of the City. It will be the responsibility of the Financial 
Service Division to determine and assign the most appropriate project number or 
payroll task code.  
 

4.07 SIGNATURES: 
 

1. Department directors shall assign who is responsible for approving and signing 

353



  10 

requests for each division within the department. 
 

2. The manager or supervisor who is authorized to approve requests should have 
authorization from a department director if making a request for himself/herself. 

 
  

354



  11 

4.08  PURCHASING PROCESS OVERVIEW: 
 

 

Purchasing Flow Diagram Purchasing Flow Diagram

(Purchases under $10,000) (Purchases over $10,000)

Request by Request by

Department/Division Department/Division

Approval by Approval by

Department Director Department of Finance

or Designee & Business Operations

Purchase Approval by 

Made Department Director

or Designee

Invoice Purchase

Processed Made

Approval by Invoice 

City Council Processed

Approval by

City Council

355



  12 

SECTION 5 
 

SPECIFICATIONS 
 
5.01 DEFINITION: 
 

Specifications are a detailed and exact statement of the requested material and/or  
service. Specifications must be written in such a manner as to describe the  
physical, functional, or performance characteristics of the material and/or service  
requested. 

 
5.02 REQUIREMENTS FOR SPECIFICATIONS: 
 

Regardless of the type of specification used, certain guidelines must be followed in  
order to achieve the required end result. 
 
1. Specifications must clearly state the minimum requirements of the requested  

materials and/or services. 
 
2. The requirements must allow for competitive bidding except in cases of sole- 

source requests. 
 
3. Specifications shall include evaluation criteria including provisions for 
consideration of materials and/or services that exceed the minimum criteria.  

 
5.03 TYPES OF SPECIFICATIONS: 
 

There are five (5) basic types of specifications used: 
 
1. Brand Name or Equal Specifications: This type of specification describes a  

commodity, and states a manufacturer and catalog number, which meets the  
specifications and has been determined as acceptable. Approval of another  
manufacturer and catalog number will be given if the alternate can be proved  
equal to the item named in the specification. Alternate "equal" will be  
evaluated by the Financial Services Division and the requesting department  
to determine acceptability and/or equivalency. 

 
2. Specifications for Common Use Items: This type of detailed specification lists  

all physical, functional and performance requirements. These commodities  
are normally not of a technical nature, and an item meeting the requirements  
as stated would be acceptable. 

 
3. Brand Name Only Specifications: This type of specification describes a 

commodity, and states a manufacturer and catalog number. This type of 
specification calls for a highly technical commodity for which there is no 
acceptable equivalent. 

356



  13 

4. Design Specification: This type of specification states the requirements for  
material to be used, and a detailed description of the required end result.  
This type of specification is used for items and/or projects which are not  
readily available on the open market, but which are built-to-suit according to  
the specifications. 

 
5. Performance Specifications: This type of specification emphasizes the  

functional or performance criteria. Physical description and design  
requirements are limited. The bidder's response is usually in the form of  
proposal. It is normally the bidder's option to determine the item and/or  
service required to achieve the required end result. 

 
5.04 REQUESTING DEPARTMENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 

Specifications for commodities and/or services of a technical nature shall be  
supplied by the requesting department. 
 
1. Specifications for motor vehicles and fleet equipment are to be submitted by  

the Public Works/Parks Manager. 
 
2. Specifications for technical electrical materials and/or services are to be  

supplied by the Public Works/Parks Manager.   
 
3. Specifications for technical materials and/or services for use in the Water and  

Waste Water facilities are to be supplied by the Water Reclamation Manager or 
City Engineer. 

 
4. Specifications for computer hardware and software are to be supplied by the  

Information Systems Manager. 
 

5. Specifications for building and construction projects and other public 
improvement projects will be furnished by Inspection Services Manager or an 
independent architect/engineer obtained by the requesting department.  
Specifications for these projects will be prepared by a licensed engineer or 
architect when required by the Code of Iowa, or when determined to be in the 
best interest of the City.  
 

6. Specifications and/or descriptions for repair and maintenance work will be 
furnished by the requesting department or an independent architect/engineer 
obtained by the requesting department.  Specifications for these projects will be 
prepared by a licensed engineer or architect when required by the Code of Iowa, 
or when determined to be in the best interest of the City. 

 
7. Statements of work for professional services will be furnished by the requesting 

department or an independent architect, engineer, or other consultant.  
 

357



  14 

8. Other specifications required from departments will be requested after receipt of 
the approved Requisition for Purchase. 

 

358



  15 

SECTION 6 
 

REQUISITIONS FOR PURCHASE FORM AND BUDGET AMENDMENT FORMS 
 
 
6.01 REQUISITION FOR PURCHASE FORM: 
 

A memo to the Financial Services Division that includes the following information 
shall be submitted for the request of purchases greater than $10,000.00. 
 
1. The request should be far enough in advance to permit the department to obtain 

competitive prices, and to allow vendors sufficient time to make deliveries.  
 
2. All items listed on the request shall be of a related nature, which would normally 

be supplied by a single vendor. 
 
3. All requests should be typed or legibly printed. 
 
4. The following information must be included on the request: 
 

a. Date and proper budgetary account number(s) or outside billing information. 
If more than one account number is involved, then a simple breakdown by 
percentage or item should also be given. 

 
b. The quantity of each item requested. 
 
c. A clear description of the item desired as to size, color, type, grade, etc.  If 

the purchase is of a technical nature, specifications should accompany the 
requisition (see section 5). If the item cannot be described, except with a 
great amount of detail, a brief description should be given, followed by the 
trade name and model of an acceptable item, "or equal." 

 
d. The estimated UNIT PRICE of the item. 
 
e. Delivery date required. If the delivery date has been quoted by the vendor, or 

if you know an estimated delivery time, this date should be shown. 
 

f. Other special instructions. 
 
g. Delivery point (shipping address) and person to be notified. 
 
h. The name(s) and address(es) of possible or proposed vendors of the  

requested items or services. 
 
i. Department and signature(s). All requests must be signed or countersigned 

by the department head or his/her designee. 

359



  16 

 
5. Routing:  All requests shall be sent by the initiating department to the Financial 

Services Division for processing. Requests shall be processed as expeditiously 
as possible. 

 
a. In processing departmental requests, the Financial Services Division shall 

verify the completeness and correctness of the following areas: 
 

1) Account number(s) assigned. 
 
2) Availability of funds. 
 
3) Authorization signatures. 
 
4) Appropriateness of purchases. 

 
b. An administrative clerkFinancial Clerk in the Financial Services Division, or 

the Controller/City Treasurer, will contact the requesting department and 
attempt to resolve questions concerning any of the following: 

 
1) Assignment of incorrect account number(s) including element and  

object numbers. 
 
2) Lack of funds in the indicated account number(s). 
 
3) Lack of authorized signature. 
 
4) Illegal or inappropriate purchase proposed. 

 
c. If the criteria as stated in Section 6.01 5a are not met, the request may be 

returned by the Financial Services Division to the head of the originating 
department with an explanation of the reason for disapproval. 

 
d. Controller/City Treasurer or Director of Finance & Business Operations shall 

sign and date the request.  The requesting department shall retain a copy for 
their files. 

 
6. Receiving:  The requesting department shall instruct the vendor to deliver the  

merchandise to their specific location. Upon receipt of the merchandise, the  
receiving department shall document the following: 

 
a. Date the merchandise was received. 

 
b. Number of pieces received.  

 
c. Signature of the individual who checked in the merchandise. 

360



  17 

 
d. Indicate whether the merchandise complied with the order. 
 
e. For all budgeted purchases and other purchases of less than $10,000.00  

information regarding receipt of item should be noted on the invoice.  
 

6.02 BUDGET AMENDMENT REQUEST: 
 

Annually mid-year operations or capital budget adjustments may be necessary due 
to unforeseen or unusual circumstances. The budget amendment request ensures 
that the City's central financial authority coordinates adjustments through a formal 
authorization process. This ensures that the City Council's legislative intent is 
adhered to or amendments are made upon recommendation of the Department of 
Finance & Business Operations. 

 
1. All Departments are mandated by Federal, State, and local laws to adhere to  

the spending limitations enacted by the City Council in the form of the City's  
spending resolutions. This resolution addresses all operation, personnel, and  
capital expenditures. 

 
2. Periodically unforeseen or unusual circumstances will necessitate an  

adjustment in the amount of funds appropriated to a particular capital project,  
program, fund, Department, Division, budgetary series or series line item.  
Over-expenditure will not be permitted unless the respective spending entity  
has first received written approval from the Department of Finance & Business 
Operations.  (The City's financial computer system is automatically set to  
display warning messages to key entry personnel who reject any bill  
submitted for payment, which overspends appropriated amounts.) 

 
Depending on the type and amount of over-expenditure, the Department will  
determine the type of corrective action necessary to comply with the intent of  
the City Council and State laws. The course of action will be clearly outlined  
by the Department of Finance & Business Operations through the authorization 
or  
 rejection of the expense, in writing, to the requesting entity. 

 
3. Unauthorized over-expenditure by any entity will be noted.  Entities or individuals 

which have violated this policy or the City Council's spending resolution may be 
cited or prosecuted as mandated by chapter 8.38 of State Code and sections 1-8 
and 2-7 of City Code. 

 
4. Generally, line items will be allowed to be over or under-expended by minor 

amounts as determined acceptable by the Controller/City Treasurer. 
 

5. In the administration of the budget, it is ordinarily found that numerous 
circumstances arise which make adjustments in the adopted budget desirable. 

361



  18 

 
a. The most frequent method of adjustment of the budget during the  

budget year is through transfers of appropriations by action of the (1)  
department head, (2) the Department of Finance & Business Operations, (3)  
Mayor, and (4) City Council. 

 
There are legal requirements relating to transfer of appropriations in Iowa. 
 
Legal requirements specifically designate the types of modification, which 
require council action (supplemental appropriations).  Transfers, which may 
be effected with administrative action, are limited by Iowa law to 
appropriation transfers within programs controlled by internal auditing.  
Provisions for informal (administrative) amendments of budget 
appropriations and a transfer procedure allowing administrative action is 
controlled by administrative policy. 
 
All modifications of budget appropriations require council action if the 
transfer is between programs, funds or departments, while transfers between 
line-items or major objects of expense within a department can be made by 
documented administrative action in compliance with administrative policy. 
 

b. A supplemental appropriation is distinguished from a transfer appropriation 
by the fact that the supplemental appropriation may be made without 
providing for a corresponding diminution of an appropriation already made to 
some other operating unit or class of expense. A supplemental appropriation 
acts to increase not only the spending authorization of the unit to which it is 
made but also to increase the total of all authorizations for the budget year. 

 
Restrictions of state law limit the grand total of appropriations, which can be 
made for a budget year to the total amount in the original budget approved 
for the year. Authority does exist for appropriations to meet emergencies not 
foreseeable at the time of the adoption of the budget and certain types of 
grants-in-aid, gifts, or certain kinds of receipts are sufficient justification for 
permitting the original grand total to be exceeded. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls has the broad authority to make supplemental 
appropriations during the course of the budget year provided that either: (1) 
surplus from prior years becomes available, or (2) revenue for the budget 
year is found to be exceeding the budgeted revenue in amounts sufficient to 
finance the supplemental appropriations. 
 
The manner of implementing supplemental appropriations follows the same 
basic procedure as initial budget approval including public hearings and City 
Council endorsement. 

 
6. There are only a few circumstances in which administrative transfers of 

362



  19 

appropriations are desirable. Illustrative of these are: 
 

a. Distribution of appropriations to achieve a specific purpose when it has not 
been feasible to make such distribution at the time of the adoption of the 
budget. Thus, if a general salary adjustment is contemplated, time may not 
permit prior determination of the specific amount required by each budget 
unit. Or, if appropriations are made under which the Financial Services  
Division may make certain selected pay adjustments in the course of the 
year to facilitate critical recruitment or meet serious inequities, executive 
discretion is indicated as the most desirable method. 

 
b. Transfers of appropriations to accompany the transfer of functions between 

departments or budget units.  In the course of a budget year it may be 
desirable to transfer a function from one unit of the government to another, 
e.g., certain data processing operations or the performance of certain 
inspection functions. If the executive has the authority to make such 
transfers of functions, they should logically also have the power to transfer 
the appropriations, which pertain to their performance. 

 
Except for transfers made by executive order to achieve one of the foregoing 
kinds of purposes, both transfers and supplemental appropriations should be 
subjected to rigorous review by both the executive and legislative branches 
of the government. This is especially true in the case of transfers or 
supplemental appropriations, which provide the basis for a permanent 
modification in the level of expenditures or services. 

 
7. In the review and approval of such appropriations, a full analysis of the work 

program and fiscal impact of the proposed actions for both the current budget 
year and for succeeding budget years is made. Moreover, departments are put to 
a much heavier proof of the need for such changes in appropriations than in the 
regular budget - primarily to discourage the misuse of the adjustment route when 
good planning would have resulted in presentation of the request in the course of 
regular budget preparation. 

 
a. At the time a department originates a request for either a budget transfer  

of the type indicated or a supplemental appropriation, it is required to  
disclose whether this matter was covered in the regular budget requests  
for the present or any recent year. It is required to justify why conditions  
now warrant the item when it was not approved in the course of regular  
budget consideration. 

 
b. The request must be clearly set forth whether the request is for a  

nonrecurring purpose, e.g., replacement of a roof, or for a purpose that  
is likely to be recurring. 

 
c. If the purpose for which the new authorization is sought is not in the  

363



  20 

original budget requests, a detailed explanation is required as to why it  
was omitted earlier but now becomes of such pressing importance that it  
cannot go over until the next budget year. The department proposing  
the supplemental appropriation or transfer must complete a budget  
amendment request. 

 
8. No expenditure of funds will be permitted unless an unencumbered balance 

exists in the appropriation and the allotment against which the expenditure is 
proposed to be made.  The information to be provided on the request includes: 

 
a. An indication of whether or not this item was included in the department's 

original budget request. 
 
b. Identification of the item as a recurring or nonrecurring expenditure. 
 
c. An indication of the type of adjustment requested. 
 
d. The account number and account title from which the adjustment is to be 

taken and the amount of the adjustment. 
 
e. Certification from the Financial Services Division of the unencumbered 

balance in each account before the adjustment. 
 
f. The account number and account title to which the adjustment is to be added 

and the amount of the adjustment. 
 
g. Certification from the Financial Services Division of the unencumbered 

balance in each account after the adjustment. 
 
h. An explanation of the reasons for the adjustment request. 

364



  21 

SECTION 7 
 

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 
 
 
7.01 INTRODUCTION: 
 

It is the responsibility of the Department of Finance & Business Operations to ensure 
that all bills that are paid comply with the policies established by the City Council. All  
bills against the City must be endorsed by the City Council, and it is the 
responsibility of the Department of Finance & Business Operations to ensure the 
accuracy of the bill information presented to the Council for approval. 

 
7.02 PROCEDURE: 
 

1. When preparing a bill for payment, the purchasing department has the 
responsibility to perform the following procedures. 

 
a. Determine that the invoice is addressed to the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
b. Compare the invoice to the merchandise to determine if the merchandise 

was received and that the City is paying the correct amount for what was 
received. 

 
c. Take all available discounts and deduct taxes that were added to the invoice 

(if applicable). 
 
d. Compare prices on the invoices to contract amounts (if applicable). 
 
e. Enter the invoice data into the financial system ensuring that the following 

data is entered correctly: 
 

1) Vendor Name. 
 
2) Vendor Number. 
 
3) Invoice Number. 
 
4) Invoice Date. 
 
5) Total amount to be paid. 
 
6) Description of purchase. 

 
7) Account number or numbers from which payment should be made.  If 

payment is to be made from more than one account number, each 

365



  22 

account and the appropriate amount to be charged must be listed. 
 
8) Project number of appropriate project to be charged. 
 

f. Obtain proper approval from the Department Director or his designee. 
 
g. Perform a math check. 

 
h. Capital asset tag number if the invoice is for an equipment item of greater                  

than $5,000.00 and with a life in excess of one year;  or land, building, or 
infrastructure capital item greater than $5,000.00 and with a life in excess of 
one year. 

 
i. With the exception of items outlined in 7.03 4  invoices will be processed for 

the next appropriate Council date unless unusual circumstances require 
payment by a specified date. If it is necessary for an invoice to be issued 
with a daily check, requests must be received in the Financial Services 
Division one day prior to the date needed. 

 
7.03 ROUTING: 
 

Initiating departments shall send the entered invoice batches to the Financial 
Services  
Division for processing. 
 
1. In processing invoices, the Financial Services Division shall verify the  

completeness and correctness of the entered invoice  with particular emphasis 
on the  
following: 

 
a. After the bill is received by the Financial Services Division, an Administrative 

ClerkFinancial Clerk has the responsibility to perform the following 
procedures. 

 
1) Determine that the invoice is addressed to the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
2) Take all available discounts and deduct taxes that were added to the 

invoice (if applicable). 
 
3) An accurate description has been entered in the system  
 
4) Correct dollar amounts have been entered in the system  
 
5) Perform a math check. 
 
6) Proper approval has been obtained. 

366



  23 

 
7) Bid/Quotation form is attached to invoice if item is a capital asset for 

equipment that has a value greater than $5,000 and with a life 
expectancy of greater than one year.  

 
 

b. The Controller/City Treasurer or Director of Finance & Business Operations 
is responsible for the following duties: 
1) Check for the appropriateness of the purchase. 
 
2) Determine whether the purchasing department has the money in their 

budget for the purchase. 
 

3) Determine if the purchase was budgeted. 
 
4) Check the capital asset number. 

 
5) Verify the account number. 
 
6) Review the invoice batch  for proper approval. 

 
7) Spot check the following: 

 
(a) Tax was not paid and all discounts were taken. 
(b) The invoice was addressed to the City. 
(c) Perform a math check. 

 
2. After approval for payment, a check group is created by the Administrative 

ClerkFinancial Clerk. 
 

a. A list of the checks goes to Council for approval and must be signed by a 
minimum of three Council members. 

 
b. After Council approval is received, an Administrative ClerkFinancial Clerk 

prints the checks with the appropriate signatures.  
 

1) The blank check stock is kept in a locked cabinet in the vault. 
 
2) Checks cannot be printed or signed until the Administrative 

ClerkFinancial Clerk has signed onto the laser check software.  
  

3) The Controller/City Treasurer or his/her designee reviews the check 
register disbursement total and compares this to the list of checks 
approved by the Council, assuring these amounts match. 
2)  

 

Formatted: List Paragraph,  No bullets or
numbering, Widow/Orphan control, Adjust
space between Latin and Asian text, Adjust
space between Asian text and numbers, Tab
stops: Not at  1.19"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.19",  No bullets or
numbering

367



  24 

c. Accounts Payable. 
 

1) When an invoice is entered into the computer, it is automatically 
charged to the appropriate account and is reflected on the financial 
statements. 

2) At the end of the fiscal year, the Controller/City Treasurer reviews all 
invoices and determines which fiscal year the item was received or 
service was performed. The invoices are then coded to be reflected in 
the correct fiscal year. 

 
3. The criteria for approval and routing of disapproved Payment Requests are the 

same as outlined in Section 6.01 5c. 
 
4. The use of daily checks, which are preapproved items, shall be limited to the 

following character and object accounts: 
 

a. Personal Services.  For Financial Services use only. 
 
b. Employee reimbursements, including but not limited to travel and training. 
 
c. Postage. 
 
d. Recording fees. 
 
e. Refunds for cancelled programs. 
 
f. Library invoices. 
 
g. Housing assistance payments. 
 
h. Interfund transfers. 
 
i. Easements and right-of-way. 
 
j. Landfill payment. 
 
k. Debt Service payments. 
 
l. Phone and utility payments. 
 
m. Demolition contract payments. 
 
n. CDBG – Housing rehab payments. 
 
o. Items which have already been approved by the City Council, including but 

not limited to liability claims. 

368



  25 

  
p. Claim settlements less than $25,000, with approval of Risk Management 

Committee. (see Administrative Policy No. 3) 
o.  
 
p.q. Worker compensation payments.  

  
 
 
7.04 APPROVAL: 
 

As described in Section 3.02 3, a city department making a purchase over 
$10,000.00 in value which is not associated with a larger project which has been 
previously endorsed shall submit the request to the Director of Finance & Business 
Operations or his duly authorized representative for evaluation.  Listed below are 
examples of items over $10,000.00, which may be purchased without the pre-
authorization of Finance & Business Operations. They include: 

 
1. Capital Projects: Approval of individual bills for labor, materials and supplies is 

not required for capital projects which have been approved by the City Council in 
the Capital Improvements Program, operating budget, and are programmed by 
the Department of Finance & Business Operations in the City's Cash 
Management schedule. 

 
Authorizations to proceed with any capital projects must be secured from the 
Department of Finance & Business Operations, which will advise the project-
managing department, whether bids or quotes are required and confirm the 
timing for release of funds to complete the project. This authorization should be 
received prior to the occurrence of any bill for the capital project. 
 
All bills related to a specific capital project should be labeled as such when the 
invoices are submitted to the Department of Finance & Business Operations for 
approval and payment. 

 
2. Operating supplies and services: Items purchased under supply contract, such 

as linens, fuel, utilities, telephone, office supplies, professional services, or 
uniforms may be purchased at any time by a department, assuming the 
purchases comply with purchases from an authorized contractor. 

 
3. In-house billings and grant payments:  Items such as printing, vehicle repair,  

health insurance, life insurance, long term disability insurance, F.I.C.A.,  
I.P.E.R.S., Workers' Compensation benefits., postage, Section 8 
reimbursements, and Rental Rehab. Grants may be authorized and forwarded for 
payment to the Department of Finance & Business Operations without pre-
authorization. 

 

Formatted: List Paragraph,  No bullets or
numbering, Widow/Orphan control, Adjust
space between Latin and Asian text, Adjust
space between Asian text and numbers, Tab
stops: Not at  0.81"

369



  26 

4. Dues, Memberships & Travel:  All dues, memberships, and travel which have  
been pre-approved by the Mayor, in compliance with other administrative  
policies, need not have a second authorization if the expense is over $10,000  
in value. 

 
5. Repairs and Maintenance Supplies:  Items required for the repair and  

maintenance of City equipment, buildings, and structures, such as lumber,  
vehicle parts, computer parts, hardware, equipment rentals, and safety  
supplies are not subject to the $10,000.00 requirement. 

 
6. Emergency/Rapid need purchases:  In compliance with Ordinance No.2825, a  

department may make a purchase over $200.00 for an emergency or rapid need 
purchase, if it is deemed necessary by the Controller/City Treasurer, and the 
Controller/City Treasurer can first obtain approval of two members of the City 
Council  to approve the purchase. 

 
In summary, the major items which are subject to pre-authorization by the Finance & 
Business Operations Department will normally occur in each department's 9000 
series, Capital Operating Budgets.  Typically, these will include capital items such as 
equipment and vehicles; however, vehicle purchases that have been programmed 
as a part of the City's Cash Management Plan, timed for purchase, and have 
obtained the proper quotations, can be placed for Council consideration without 
authorization. 
 
The procedures in Section 3.02 do not preempt or provide for the purchase of items, 
which are unbudgeted. If an item is proposed to be purchased, which is unbudgeted, 
it is necessary to go through the procedures outlined in Section 3.02, which 
mandates Appropriations Resolution Compliance. This policy mandates that an 
amendment form be filed by the requesting department with the Department of 
Finance & Business Operations for the appropriate approvals to make budgetary 
adjustments or transfers as may be required. 

 
7.05 ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFERS (EFT): 
 

Electronic Funds Transfers are used to make payments for debt service, retirement 
plans,  insurance claims, sales tax payments, merchant account point of sale fees, 
miscellaneous bank fees, and payroll tax  payments. 

 
1. Financial Services Responsibilities 

 
a. An Administrative clerkFinancial Clerk compiles the necessary data to make 

the Electronic funds transfer, and receives approval from the Controller/City 
Treasurer or his/her designee for all EFT transfers. 

 
b. The Controller/City Treasurer or his/her designee initiates the transfer by 

entering the information into the computer. 

370



  27 

 
c. The Controller/City Treasurer or his/her designee confirms and approves the 

information to be transferred. 
 
d. Maximum amounts have been established for all types of electronic funds 

transfers. The employees are unable to make transfers in excess of the 
maximum limits. 

 
 
 

2. Bank's Responsibilities 
 

a. Receive the information from the City. 
 
b. Resolve any questions that arise. 
 
c. Send the payment to the correct agency by the effective date. 

 
7.06 BANK RECONCILIATIONS: 
 

1. The bank delivers the bank statements to the City by the fifth working day of the 
month. 

 
2. An Administrative clerkFinancial Clerk who does not otherwise perform accounts 

payable or accounts receivable transactions evaluates the statements and 
investigates any discrepancies between the City's books and the bank 
statements, such as: 

 
a. Any revenues that were deposited directly into the bank, without notification 

in Financial Services. 
 
b. Incorrect service charges. 

 
3. The City's financial records are then reconciled with the bank statement by the 

Administrative clerkFinancial Clerk under the direction of the Controller/City 
Treasurer. 

 
7.07 ACCOUNTING FOR DEBT SERVICE PAYMENTS: 
 

1. Principal and interest payments for general obligation bonds are made from the 
Debt Service Fund.  Property taxes are levied in the Debt Service Fund to make 
the general obligation bond payments for principal and interest.  Payments are 
made by Electronic Funds Transfers described in Section 7.05. 

 
2. Principal and interest payments for revenue bonds are made from the Debt 

Service Fund. Transfers are made from the appropriate funds, such as Sewer 

371



  28 

Rental, Refuse, and Hospital to make the revenue bond debt service payments. 
Payments are made by E.F.T. as described in Section 7.05. 

 
7.08 GENERAL LEDGER FINANCIAL ACTIVITY: 
 

1. Journal Entries: Journal entries are prepared by an Administrative clerk various 
Financial Services personnel, approved by the Controller/City Treasurer or 
Director of Finance & Business Operations, and entered by another 
Administrative clerkFinancial Clerk. 

 
a. Bank Statement: At the end of every month the Administrative clerkFinancial 

Clerk who prepares the Bank Reconciliation reviews the bank statements 
and prepares journal entries for any bank activity that the City has not 
entered into their general ledger. Examples of these entries are: 

 
1) Interest earned on the account. 
 
2) Direct deposit of revenues from parking, golfinspection services, 

cultural, aquatic, recreation, police, public records, and library. 
 
3) Debt Service payments that are wired from the bank. 

 
4) Federal or state funds directly deposited into bank account.  

 
b. Corrections: Any errors made during the month are corrected by journal 

entry or account correction. A detailed list of the monthly financial activity is 
reviewed by the Controller/City Treasurer to determine the accuracy of the 
list and journal entries are written to correct any errors found during that 
review. 

 
c. Payroll: EFT checks are written for any payments that are wired directly from 

the bank. Examples of these are the state tax payment and the police and 
fire retirement payments to the state retirement system. 

 
2. Month-End Close:  An Administrative clerkFinancial Clerk runs the month-end 

close procedure on the computer by the 15th day of the next month. 
 

3. Year-End Close: After it is determined that all activity for a fiscal year has been 
completed, the year-end procedure is run on the computer. 

 
4. Year-End Procedures: The Controller/City Treasurer has certain year-end 

procedures to perform prior to the annual financial audit being performed.  These 
procedures include: 

 
a. Balance capital assets. 
 

372



  29 

b. Inventory observation in certain divisions. 
 
c. Prepare workpapers for accounts receivables,  payables, and other accrued 

items in all funds. 
 
d. Prepare year-end journal entries using the information from the workpapers. 
 
e. Prepare and balance the balance sheets and income statements for all funds 

of the City. 
 
f. Compile the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 

 

373



  30 

SECTION 8 
 

PURCHASE ORDER 
 
 

8.01 PURCHASE ORDER: 
 

A written purchase order is an offer to buy, an acceptance of an offer to sell, or a  
confirmation between two or more competent parties. The Purchase Order is a  
legal document and; upon acceptance by a vendor, becomes a contract. 

 
1. It is issued only when requested by the purchasing department. Only  

Financial Services is authorized to originate this document. 
 

2. In generating a purchase order, Financial Services must include the following  
information: 

 
a. Date originated. 
 
b. Vendor's name, address, and vendor number. 
 
c. Department to receive supplies or service, with address. 
 
d. Requisition number. 
 
e. Quantity required. 
 
f. Unit (each, box, etc.). 
 
g. Description of supplies or service. 
 
h. Unit price(s) if applicable. 
 
i. Quotation/Bid amount if applicable. 
 
j. Scheduled delivery, if known. 
 
k. Shipping instructions. 
 
l. Any additional information to clarify intent or needs of the City, or to  

prevent possible misunderstanding. 
 
m. Authorized signatures with date. 

 

374



  31 

8.02 ROUTING 
 

1. The Financial Services Division will be responsible for expeditiously resolving 
any difficulties, which arise in processing. After approval, the purchase order will 
be returned to requesting department for distribution. 

 
2. Two (2) copies of the purchase order are distributed as follows: 

 
a. One copy goes to the vendor as a contractual order. 
 
b. One copy is retained by an Administrative ClerkFinancial Clerk in the 

Financial Services Division. 
 
8.03 SAFETY BOOTS 
 

1. Certain Municipal Operations & Programs and Community Development 
employees are required to wear safety boots when working for the City of Cedar 
Falls.  The City is required by contract to pay for each pair of safety boots in an 
amount set by contract. 

 
2. The supervisors in the Municipal Operations & Programs and Community 

Development departments shall determine if an employee requires a new pair of 
boots.  After that determination is made, the supervisor contacts the Financial 
Services Division for a purchase order. 

 
3. The Financial Services Division issues the purchase order to the requesting 

supervisor, maintaining a record of the purchase orders that have been issued. 
 

4. The employee uses the purchase order to purchase boots from pre-approved 
vendors. 

 
5. The employee is responsible for paying the vendor the amount in excess of the 

amount stated in the union contract.  
 

6. The vendor sends the bills and copies of the purchase orders to the Financial 
Services Division for payment. 

 
7. An Administrative clerkFinancial Clerk checks the purchase orders for accuracy 

and a check is issued following the procedures in Section 7.02. 
 

375



  32 

 
 
 

376



  33 

SECTION 9 
 

BLANKET CONTRACTS 
 
 
9.01 DEFINITION: 
 

Blanket Contracts shall be awarded on the basis of normal quotation procedures as 
described in Section 11 when materials and/or services can be specified and are 
determined to be of a competitive nature. A Blanket Contract is an order used for 
either of the following types of purchases: 

 
1. Routine purchases of materials and/or services of a relatively minor nature, 

necessary for the day-to-day operation of the City, which are purchased on a 
regular basis.  This would include office supplies, uniforms, paper products, linen  
services, and pest control. 

 
2. Specific materials and/or services to be purchased over a specified period of 

time.  This would include gasoline, gravel, fuel, sand, salt, lease payments, etc.  
These Blanket Contracts are normally awarded as a result of telephone 
quotations or written competitive quotes. 

 
3. Insurance Requirements: Proof of insurance may be required prior to issuance of 

a Blanket contract for services to be performed on City property.  The amount of 
coverage required shall be based on risk factor and determined by the City’s Risk 
Management Committee. 

 
9.02 AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY: 
 

1. Financial Services. 
 

a. Identify the need to have a blanket contract through examination of past  
purchasing records. 

 
b. Solicit quotes from qualified local suppliers if there is more than one  

accessible supplier. 
 
c. Select vendor by evaluating the quality of product, quality of service, and  

cost. 
 
d. Inform the using departments which vendor was chosen. 
 
e. Process the vendor invoice for payment. 
 

377



  34 

 
 
f. Resolve problems that arise between vendors and using departments. 
 
g. Maintain a Blanket Contract file for each current contract. Along with the  

contract, this file shall contain any documents related to the contract. 
 

2. Using Department. 
 

a. Purchase the particular supplies from the chosen vendor only. 
 
b. Receive the merchandise and compare to invoice and quotes. 
 
c. Process the vendor invoice for payment. 

 
9.03 PURCHASE AND PAYMENT: 
 

Invoices shall be processed in the manner described in 7.01. 
 

1. The Financial Services Division shall verify the validity of account numbers on all 
invoices and Amendment forms, and shall have the authority to approve or 
disapprove the request, based on the availability of funds. A request, which has 
been disapproved by the Financial Services Division, will be returned to the 
requesting Department Director. 

 
2. The Financial Services Division shall verify the accuracy of all account numbers 

shown for expenditure on the invoice batch submitted by departments.  
 

3. The Financial Services Division shall have the authority to approve or disapprove 
all non-conforming expenditures against Blanket Contracts. The approval or 
disapproval shall be based on the availability of funds, the accuracy of the 
account number shown for expenditure, compliance of the purchase with 
Purchasing Procedures and Policies, and any restriction placed on the Blanket 
Contract at the time of award. An invoice disapproved by the Financial Services 
Division will be returned to the originating department. 

 

378



  35 

  
SECTION 10 

 
EMERGENCY AND RAPID NEED PURCHASES 

 
 
10.01 EMERGENCY PURCHASES: 
 

1. Definition:  An emergency purchase is justified when a situation or occurrence, 
which is of a serious nature, develops suddenly and unexpectedly and demands 
immediate action. This is applicable only to supplies and/or services whose 
immediate procurement is essential to prevent delays, which may vitally affect 
the life, safety, and health of citizens, or serious loss or injury to the City. 

 
2. Prior Planning:  Failure to exercise reasonable diligence and foresight in 

anticipating departmental requirements is not justification for using Emergency 
Procedures.  

 
3. Emergency Purchase During Regular Business Hours:  Such purchases will  

be made by the requesting department using the following procedures: 
 

a. Notify the  Controller/City Treasurer by telephone that an emergency 
purchase must be made describing the situation and the purchase to be 
made. 

 
b. Competitive quotations shall be solicited where possible and deemed 

appropriate by the  Controller/City Treasurer.  However, the purchase will be 
made where available in emergency situations, with consideration of delivery 
schedule a paramount consideration. 

 
c. If the purchase is less than the $25,000, the emergency purchase shall be 

recorded by the Controller/City Treasurer, and shall be open to public 
inspection 

 
d. If the purchase is equal to or in excess of $25,000.00 but less than $50,000, 

the Controller/City Treasurer shall forward all related documents to the 
Director of Finance & Business Operations.  The Director will contact the City 
Administrator  for approval to proceed and the documentation shall be open 
to public inspection. 

 
e. If the purchase is equal to or in excess of $50,000 , the Controller/City 

Treasurer shall forward all related documents to the Director Finance & 
Business Operations who will forward to the City Administrator.  The City 
Administrator will forward to the Mayor, Mayor Pro Tem, or the 
Administration Committee Chair for approval to proceed and the 
documentation  shall be open to public inspection. 

379



  36 

 
4. Emergency Purchase during other than regular business hours:  Emergency 

purchases may be made by a Department Director during other than regular 
business hours.  A Division Manager may be authorized in advance by a memo 
submitted by the Department Director. 

 
a. A written explanation of the emergency purchase shall be furnished to the 

Financial Services Division no later than the following work day. Any attempt 
to solicit competitive prices should be included in this statement. 

 
b. If the purchase is less than $25,000.00, a record of the emergency purchase 

shall be kept on file by the Controller/City Treasurer and shall be open to 
public inspection. 

b.  
c. If the purchase is equal to or in excess of $25,000.00, but less than $50,000, 

the Controller/City Treasurer shall forward all related documents, including a 
report from the requesting Department Director, to the Director of Finance & 
Business Operations and to the City Administrator. . 

 
d. If the purchase is equal to or in excess of $50,000, the Controller/City 

Treasurer shall forward all related documents, including a report from the 
requesting Department Director, to the Director of Finance & Business 
Operations and the City Administrator for presentation to the City Council. 

 
5. Emergency Repairs of Public Improvements:  Emergency repair of public 

improvements shall be in accordance with the Code of Iowa. 
 
10.02 RAPID NEED PURCHASES: 
 

CAUTION: Rapid need requests will be closely scrutinized to prevent abuse. A rapid 
need purchase is justified when the need for the requested materials and/or services 
could not have been predicted. These materials and/or services must be procured in 
less than the normal allotted time span in order to continue a vital service to the 
community. 

 
1. Rapid need purchase procedure: 

 
a. The request may be telephoned to the Financial Services Division, with, a 

written explanation to follow within one (1) workday. 
 
b. If the situation warrants such action, authorization for purchase may be given 

by the Controller/City Treasurer, at the time of the telephone request, 
provided the total expenditure will not be in excess of $25,000.00. 

 
c. The requesting department shall solicit either written or telephone quotations 

or bids, if deemed appropriate. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Tab stops: 
0.81", List tab + Not at  1"

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering, Tab
stops:  0.81", List tab + Not at  1"

380



  37 

 
d. If the purchase is in excess of $25,000.00, the Department Director shall 

forward all related documents to the Director of Finance & Business 
Operations for presentation to the City Council. If the City Council waives the 
requirement for formal bidding procedures, the requesting department shall 
make the purchase based on quotations or bids received. 

 
10.03 PAYMENT OF EMERGENCY OR RAPID NEED PURCHASES: 
 

1. In all situations the invoice will need to be reviewed and entered following  the 
procedures outlined in Section 7. 

 
2. In circumstances where a check in excess of $200.00 must be written 

immediately that should have Council approval, the Controller/City Treasurer 
shall contact two members of the  Cedar Falls City Council. After approval is 
received, the Controller/City Treasurer shall attach a written statement explaining 
the situation and the approvals received. 

381



  38 

SECTION 11 
 

QUOTATIONS AND BIDS 
 
 
11.01 BASIS FOR QUOTATIONS OR BIDS: 
 

When a department determines a need to purchase an item, that department will 
seek a source of the requested materials and/or services. 

 
1. Requirements for solicitation of bids and quotations: The material and/or services 

requested and approved for purchase are of significant value and/or  
of a competitive nature. 

 
2. Exemptions from competitive quotation and bidding procedures: 

 
a. Repair parts of a sole source nature shall be exempt from competitive 

quotation and bidding procedures. 
 
b. Specialized services shall be exempt from the competitive quotation and 

bidding process, as deemed appropriate by the Director of Finance & 
Business Operations except as required by State Law. 

 
c. Specialized items of a technical nature shall be exempt from competitive  

quotation and bidding procedures, except as required by State Law. 
 

d. Utilization of State of Iowa, General Services Administration (GSA), National 
IPA, OMINIA Partners, US Commodities Communities, or other state or 
federal joint purchasing cooperations.  Competitively bid State of Iowa or 
other state or federal contracts available to political subdivisions may be 
utilized in lieu of soliciting written bids or verbal quotation for the purchase of 
commodities and services.   

 
3. Special Conditions: 

 
a. Proof of insurance: Proof of insurance may be required for public 

improvement projects, services to be performed on City property, or other 
contracts for equipment or services.  The amount of coverage required shall 
be based on risk factors and determined by the City’s Risk Management 
Committee. 

 
b. Affirmative Action compliance:  The City of Cedar Falls adheres to Local, 

State, and Federal Laws which require that businesses providing goods and 
services to the City of Cedar Falls are Equal Opportunity Employers. Any 
contract entered into by the City of Cedar Falls in accordance with this policy 
ensures that disadvantaged business enterprises will be afforded full 

382



  39 

opportunity to submit bids in response to request for bids.  They will not be 
discriminated against on the grounds of race, color, or national origin in 
consideration of the contract award.  

  
b.c. The responsible bid requirement focuses on the bidder, which means the bid 

is submitted by a bidder who has the financial and technical ability to perform 
and complete the required work. The responsive bid requirement focuses on 
the bid and is a check to ensure the bidder agrees to all that is required in 
the plans, specifications and other requirements of the project. 

 
4. Unique Requirements of Government Contracts 

 
The unique nature of governmental contracts often requires contractors to 
assume obligations and subject themselves to restrictions not ordinarily present 
in commercial contracts. The City’s contracts related to federal awards must 
contain the applicable provisions described in PART 200—UNIFORM 
ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS, COST PRINCIPLES, AND AUDIT 
REQUIREMENTS FOR FEDERAL AWARDS, including Appendix II to 2 CFR 
200—Contract Provisions for non-Federal Entity Contracts Under Federal 
Awards.  

a. All purchases funded through a State or Federal grant must follow all 
additional procedures required by the grantor. All bid specifications for a 
purchase that is funded through a State or a Federal grant must list all 
additional specifications for the goods or services that are required by the 
grantor. Any contract funded through a federal grant shall comply with 2 CFR 
200.318 through 200-326 and Appendix II to Part 200. 
  

b. Contractors must be evaluated when bids are received on their ability to 
meet State or Federal requirements. The City will not award a federally 
funded contract to a party listed as debarred, suspended, or otherwise 
excluded in the System for Award Management (SAM). www.sam.gov  

 
In addition, no purchases to be covered by a grant can be made prior to the 
execution of the grant agreement unless approved by the grantor. 
 

 
11.02 PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT (VERTICAL INFRASTRUCTURE) BIDDING 

PROCEDURES:  
 

Formal bidding procedures will be used exclusively for public improvement projects  
in excess of the minimum threshold amount as determined by the State of Iowa.  
($135139,000 1/1/1519) and in accordance with Chapter 26 of the Code of Iowa.  A 
public improvement project is defined as a building or construction work which is 
contracted under the control of a governmental entity and is paid for in whole or in 
part with funds of the governmental entity, including a building or improvement 
constructed or operated jointly with any other public or private agency, but excluding 

Formatted: List Paragraph,  No bullets or
numbering, Widow/Orphan control, Adjust
space between Latin and Asian text, Adjust
space between Asian text and numbers, Tab
stops: Not at  0.81"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Hanging: 
0.31", Tab stops: Not at  0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.81",  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

383



  40 

urban renewal demolition and low-rent housing projects, industrial aid projects 
authorized under chapter 419, emergency work or repair or maintenance work 
performed by employees of a governmental entity, and excluding a highway, bridge, 
or culvert project, and excluding construction or repair or maintenance work 
performed for a city utility under chapter 388 by its employees or performed for a 
rural water district under chapter 357A by its employees.   For highway, bridge, and 
culvert projects please refer to section 11.03 below.  

 
1. A "Notice of Request for Bids" shall be published in one (1) official designated 

City newspaperposted in three separate places (as noted below)  not less than 
four (4)thirteen (13)  nor more than forty-five (45) days prior to the taking of 
bidsbefore the bid filling deadline. 
   

 A relevant contractor plan room service with a statewide circulation 

 A relevant construction lead generating service with state wide circulation 

 An Internet site sponsored by either a governmental entity or a statewide 
association that represents the governmental entity. 
  

1. , and the hearing onThe notice  the plans and specifications is required 
and shall contain the following information:  

 
a. The time and place for filing sealed bids. 
 
b. The time and place sealed bids will be opened and considered on behalf of 

the City. 
 
c. The general nature of the public improvement on which bids are requested. 
 
d. In general terms when the work must be commenced and completed.   

 
e. That each bidder shall accompany the bid with a bid security as defined in 

section 26.8 and as specified by the City.  
 
f. Any further information, which the City deems pertinent. 

 
2. A public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract, and 

estimated cost has been held in compliance with Chapter 26 of State of Iowa.  A 
notice of the public hearing shall be published in one (1) official designated City 
newspaper not less than four (4) nor more than twenty (20) days prior to the date 
of the hearing.  

 
3. Preparation of contract documents will include preparation of the Notice to 

Bidders as required by the Code of Iowa.  The notice will be furnished to the City 
Clerk with the preliminary plans and specifications and the City Clerk will arrange 
for the publication of the notice.  

 

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Comment [LR2]: This is from Iowa Code Ch 

26.3 

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 
0.75" + Indent at:  1"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1",  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or
numbering

384



  41 

4. Unsuccessful bidders shall be entitled to the return of bid bonds. A  
successful bidder shall forfeit any surety required upon failure to enter into a  
contract within the time span specified. 

 
5. Disposition of Bids and Bid Bonds: 

 
a. Bids shall be opened at the time and place specified in the "Notice of  

Request for Bids." 
 
b. A Tabulation of bids received shall be made and shall be available for  

public inspection. 
 
c. A summary of all bids shall be retained in the Financial Services Division. 

 
d. One (1) copy of the original offer and award form shall be forwarded to the 

City Clerk after the opening of the bids. 
 
e. The requesting department will consult with the Director of Finance & 

Business Operations before the final recommendation for award is submitted 
by the requesting department to the City Council if the project is not included 
in the budget or capital improvements program or if the bid received is in 
excess of the budgeted amount. 

 
f. The City Council shall award all formal contracts. 
 
g. The City Attorney shall review the standard contract to be used.  If there are 

modifications to the standard contract, the City Attorney will review the 
contract before it is approved by Council.  

 
h. The City Council shall approve all performance bonds for construction  

contracts. 
 
i. Following the City Council's award of contract, and approval of the  

performance bond when required, the requesting department shall  
award the contract. 

 
j. The responsible department shall return bid bonds to unsuccessful bidders 

following the award of contract by the City Council, and the approval of the  
performance bond when required. 

 
k. The City Clerk shall prepare contract documents when necessary, and  

shall forward completed contract documents to the successful bidder as  
awarded by the City Council. 

 
6. If a public improvement is less than the threshold as determined by the State of 

Iowa ($139135,000 1/1/1519) and more than the threshold as determined by the 

385



  42 

State of Iowa ($5557,000 1/1/1915), formal bidding procedures are not 
necessary.  However, competitive quotations must be received.  When 
competitive quotations are required the City shall make a good faith effort to 
obtain quotations for the work from at least two (2) contractors regularly engaged 
in such work prior to the letting of a contract.   

 
a. The quotes shall be solicited by the appropriate department. 
 
b. After quotes are received the department determines the lowest bid. 
 
c. The summary of quotes are to be provided to Financial Services where 

they will be kept on file.  
 
d. A contract for the improvement shall than be approved by City Council. 

 
7. If a public improvement falls under the minimum threshold as determined by the 

State of Iowa ($5557,000 1/1/1519), neither formal bidding procedures nor 
competitive quotations are necessary.    

 
a. The department responsible for the project should make an effort to 

receive a fair and reasonable price for the project. 
 
b. If a contract is needed for the project, it shall be approved by the City 

Council. 
 

8. All public improvements in excess of $25,000 must have a resolution passed by                               
City Council authorizing the expenditure of funds.  

 
  

386



  43 

11.03 HIGHWAY, BRIDGE, AND CULVERT (HORIZONTAL INFRASTUCTURE) 
BIDDING PROCEDURES: 

 
1. If a horizontal infrastructure project is more than the threshold as determined by 

the State of Iowa ($4748,000 1/1/1719). Formal bidding procedures are required 
as described in section 11.02. 

 
2. If a horizontal infrastructure project is less than the threshold as determined by 

the State of Iowa ($4748,000 1/1/1719), formal bidding procedures and 
competitive quotations are not required.  

 
 

a. The department responsible for the project should make an effort to 
receive a fair and reasonable price for the project.  

 
b. If a contract is needed for the project, it shall be approved by the City 

Council. 
 

 
 
 
 

387



  44 

Public Improvement Bidding Procedures

Bidding Procedures

are not necessary

Yes

Formal Bidding

Procedures

are Required

Yes

Only Informal

Bidding

Procedures

are Required

No

Is the Project

Over $48,000?

Yes

Formal Bidding

Procedures

are Required

Yes

Competitive

Quotations

are Required

Yes

Only Informal

Bidding

Procedures

are Required

No

Is the Project

Over $57,000?

No

Is the Project

Over $139,000?

No

Is the Project a

Highway (Street),

Bridge or Culvert?

No

Does the project meet an exception

to bidding procedures

under Chapter 26?

 
 
 
 

Comment [LR3]: Chart is updated for new values 

388



  45 

11.04 WRITTEN QUOTATIONS: 
 

Requests for the purchase of equipment, commodities and/or services with an 
estimated value of $25,000 or greater shall receive written quotations.  All requests 
in excess of $25,000 must have a resolution passed by City Council authorizing the 
expenditure of funds, unless as described in Section 7.04(6) under vehicle 
purchases that have been programmed as a part of the City’s Cash Management  
Plan. A purchase of equipment, commodities and/or services with a total of less than 
$25,000.00 shall be evaluated by the requesting Department Director to determine if 
the material and/or services requested meet the requirements for requesting 
quotations. 

 
1. 10-30 days should be allowed from receipt of an approved Requisition and  

any required specifications to award of purchase. 
 

2. Telephone quotations must be taken by the requesting department on purchases 
of equipment, commodities, and/or services in excess of $5,000.00 and less than 
$25,000.00. 

 
3. If it is determined to be in the best interest of the City, written quotations will be 

requested by the using department. 
 

4. Awards of formal or informal bids on the purchase of equipment, commodities, 
and/or services shall be made by the requesting department director. Award  
shall be based on the lowest and best bid as determined by the requesting  
department.   

 
5. The bids and quotations shall be filed with the Financial Services Division. 

Purchasing Flow Chart

Equipment, Commodities and/or Services

Quotes Not

Required

Yes

Yes, Telephone

Quotes Required

Note: If Public

Improvement

Public Improvement

Process Must Be Followed

No, Written

Quotes Required

Less Than

$25,000

No

Less Than $5,000

 

389



  46 

11.05 COMPETITIVE NEGOTIATIONS: 
 

If under $25,000.00 and if deemed appropriate by the Director of Finance & 
Business Operations, competitive negotiations may be used rather than competitive 
sealed bids or quotations. If over $25,000.00, City Council approval is required prior 
to  
commencing competitive negotiations. 

 
1. A Negotiating Team shall be formed consisting of representatives of the Finance 

& Business Operations Department and the requesting department.  Technical 
advisors may also be included if applicable. 

 
2. Prospective bidders will be supplied with a request for a proposal. This request 

will state in general terms the materials and/or services to be purchased, and will 
include the evaluation criteria. 

 
3. The Negotiating Team will review the proposals received and will then negotiate 

with bidders to procure the materials and/or services required. 
 
 
11.06 PROFESSIONAL CONSULTANTS: 
 

These procedures will assist in identifying prospective consultants, selecting the 
most qualified consultant for the project, and developing a consultant contract that 
will best protect the City's interest. These procedures shall not conflict with federal or 
state rules or regulations as they relate to professional consultants. 

 
1. The following procedures should be utilized whenever consultant work in excess 

of $50,000.00 is required. When consultant work of less than $50,000.00 is 
required, procedures (c) through (i) concerning the need to make a consultant 
selection from among several prospective consultants may be eliminated. Staff 
may then negotiate a contract with a consultant qualified to perform the work 
desired.  If the consultant work is in excess of $50,000, however, the work is an 
extension of an existing or prior project, please see 11.06 2.  

 
a. Establish a selection team consisting of appropriate City staff and other City 

officials as designated. Technical advisors may also be included if 
applicable. The selection team should be involved in all phases of the 
selection process. 

 
b. Identify in writing the preconceived needs of the City, including a general 

statement of what City staff perceives the scope of services to be. The City's 
scope of services may be adjusted after the consultant interviews due to 
information provided by prospective consultants in the interviews that results 
in an alteration of the work plan. 

 

390



  47 

c. Send out a Request for Proposal to pre-qualified consultants who have been 
identified as performing professional services similar to the needs of the City.  
It will be the responsibility of the selection team to determine who the 
qualified consultants are.  Ideally, requests for qualifications should be sent 
to three to seven consultants depending on the number of consultants 
available to perform the type of work desired. The scope of services of the 
City should be included in the letter sent to prospective consultants. In 
addition, the letter should include a brief community profile, the contact 
information for the selection team, and any other information, which may be 
useful to prospective consultants.  In some instances, the request should 
also contain the information in item (g) below. 

 
d. The following should be considered in order to obtain a list of at least three 

consultants from which to send requests for proposals: 
 

1) Always include all the local consultants that appear to have the 
expertise necessary to perform the desired work. 

 
2) Contact state and national professional consulting associations and 

other communities who have utilized consultants to perform this type of 
work in the past. 

 
3) If it is necessary to reduce the list to a manageable size, preference 

should be given to those consultants which are located in the closest 
proximity to Cedar Falls along with those firms which the City may know 
are exceptionally qualified to perform the desired work. 

 
e. The request for proposal should ask each candidate to submit: 

 
1) A general profile of their firm. 
 
2) The qualifications of the personnel to be used on this project, the 

projects which the consultant and those individuals have performed of a 
similar nature, and their availability to perform the desired work within 
the time frame specified by the City. 

 
f. The selection team should meet to review the qualifications of the 

consultants, which submit letters of interest to determine those consultants 
who appear to be qualified and can meet the City's time frame. Check the 
past work record of those consultants with entities who have utilized their 
services in the past to perform similar projects and determine their level of 
satisfaction with the consultant's work. Based on this review, reduce the list 
to three or more consultants from which to interview, if that many consultants 
can demonstrate expertise for furnishing services. 

 
g. Ask each interviewee to submit, prior to the interview, a preliminary scope of 

391



  48 

services for the project, the company organization, and the name of the 
project coordinator/manager who will be utilized for this project. Request that 
the project coordinator/manager be present at the interview session.  This 
consultant should also submit information concerning the availability of 
personnel to be assigned to the project, a typical form of contract that they 
have used on similar projects, and a sample of a written report, which they 
have developed on a similar assignment. Set a time for the interview and 
inform the consultant of the amount of time to be allowed for the consultant’s 
formal presentation. 

 
h. Interview Session: 

 
1) The selection team will conduct all interview sessions, which are to be 

held in private. The selection team should meet prior to conducting the 
interviews to develop a list of questions to ask the interviewees and to 
establish weighting criteria to evaluate the consultants. The weighting 
criteria should include both cost and quality factors such as those 
identified in h.(2) and (3) below: 

 
2) Ask each consultant to make a formal presentation within the 

predetermined time limit describing their credentials and how they 
would solve the needs of the City.  Consultants should also indicate 
how they have solved similar assignments for other communities. 

 
3) Following the formal presentation, interaction with the interviewee 

should take place with questions covering the following topics and 
others which may be appropriate: 

 
a) Question the personal credentials if not properly identified during 

the formal presentation (license to practice, etc.). 
 
b) Question the availability of the consultant to perform the work 

(particularly if their present work load appears to be substantial) 
and how successful they have been in completing other projects 
on time. Also ask if the work to be accomplished is with present 
staff or through additions to the consultant’s staff. 

 
c) Ask each consultant to define how they see the problem and what 

they see as the City's goals and objectives in using their 
consultant's services. 

 
d) Ask questions concerning the procedures and methods the 

consultant proposes to use to solve the problem and attempt to 
challenge the problem. Also, attempt to challenge the consultant 
to provide innovations they would use to solve this problem. Also, 
attempt to obtain the consultant's knowledge of the state-of-the-

392



  49 

art technology in this field. 
 
e) Ask for a budget range, which the consultant expects to expend to 

conduct this project. 
 
f) Ask the consultant about the facilities and equipment they either 

own or have access to for use on this project, including computer 
equipment, reproduction and communication equipment, 
laboratory and testing equipment, and other specialized 
equipment applicable to this project. 

 
g) Ask each consultant if any of his or her professional services for 

this project are to be subcontracted. Also, ask if any of their 
services are to be performed as a joint venture with another firm.  
If the project is receiving federal aid, the consultant shall provide 
proof of adhering to federal aid guidelines for subcontractors.  

 
h) Discuss the typical form of contract used for this service on this 

type of project or alternative forms of contract. 
 

i. Selection Process: 
 

1) The selection team should meet to evaluate each consultant, utilizing 
the team's previously established weighting criteria. Conduct phone 
interviews with references provided by the consultant to determine 
those entities' satisfaction with the consultant’s past performance. In 
addition, the selection team should attempt to contact other entities that 
have utilized the consultant other than those entities provided as 
references by the consultant. If desirable, conduct an on-site 
examination of the consultant's facilities and equipment to better 
determine the consultant's ability to perform the assignment. 

 
2) Cedar Falls and Iowa consultants should be given preference if equal 

proposals are received from more than one consultant, unless 
prohibited by Federal Law. 

 
3) Make a selection. 

 
j. Negotiate with the consultant selected as first choice and develop a contract.  

The following (1) through (6) identify provisions, which should be included in 
consultant contracts. Examples of these and other contract provisions can be 
obtained by contacting the City Clerk's Office, which has actual 
City/consultant contracts on file. 

 
1) Agree to the details of each scope of service to be provided including 

initiation and completion dates for the entire project and major phases 

393



  50 

of the project as necessary. 
 
2) Determine the basis for charges, always including a maximum dollar 

limit not to be exceeded. 
 
3) Include a provision that the consultant will notify the City in writing if 

he/she feels that the City is directing the consultant to perform work 
beyond the scope of services. This notification will include an estimate 
of the cost, which the consultant proposes for the additional work. Any 
work to be performed by the consultant beyond the scope of services 
must be preceded by written authorization from the City requesting such 
work. 

 
4) If it is anticipated that this contract will result in additional phases of 

work, negotiate the method of payment to be employed for future 
contract(s). 

 
5) Include termination provisions in the contract. 
 
6) Include in the contract a provision that the City will assume possession 

of the final report, documents, and drawings/renditions produced in the 
course of the project, which are desired by the City. 

 
k. If the negotiations are unsatisfactory, terminate the negotiations and utilize 

the procedure outlined in item j) above to negotiate a contract with the 
interview committee’s second choice. 

 
2. If a project is an extension of a current or prior contract, the same consultant may 

be selected without utilizing the procedures outlined above.  Examples of an 
extension of a contract may include:  projects where there are multiple phases 
and a consultant was selected for an earlier phase, a consultant was selected for 
a project whose geographical location and project components are contiguous to 
the upcoming project, or if on a joint private-public project a consultant was 
selected by the private party and it is cost-effective for the public party to utilize 
the same consultant.  If the consultant work meets these contract extension 
criteria, staff may negotiate a fair and reasonable price with the consultant.  

 
3. If a consultant is needed for select studies that are legally confidential, a 

consultant may be selected by staff after council has directed the staff to proceed 
with the study.   
 

11.07 SPECIAL EVALUATION CRITERIA: 
 

1. Local Preference 
 

a. In cases where two or more bids, formal or informal, are equal in all aspects, 

394



  51 

preference shall be given to the local (Cedar Falls business) bidder. 
 
b. In cases where two or more bids, formal or informal, are equal in all aspects, 

preference shall be given to the Iowa vendor if one of the equal bids is not a 
Cedar Falls business. 

 
c. A City department making a purchase request may recommend to the 

Director of Finance & Business Operations purchase of an item from a Cedar 
Falls business if it is slightly higher than the lowest bid or quotation and if the 
item's total cost is within the constraints of the line item budget.  The 
selection of a slightly higher quotation must be supported with written 
documentation that maintenance, accessibility, or service benefits make the 
purchase financially advantageous in the long run. This policy should only 
apply to items, which may be purchased by quotation and does not apply to 
contract for professional services or construction projects, which require bids 
or other select processes. 

 
2. Total Cost of Ownership 

 
a. Life cycle cost formulas shall be used where applicable. 
 
b. Factors such as service, location and availability, warranty, maintenance 

records, etc. shall be considered where applicable. 
 

3. Vendor performance records shall be considered where applicable. 
 

4. In Resolution #8170 the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls supported the 
development of City-wide recycling projects and the effort of area recyclers, and 
the City also adopted a recycling policy to guide its own actions, which included 
the use of recyclable and recycled paper products whenever appropriate to the 
need and available at a reasonable rate. 

 
11.08 CHANGE ORDER POLICY - FORMAL CONTRACTS: 
 

1. Field Changes and Unit Changes: this type of change order consists of those 
items, which are necessary to carry out the intent of the original contract. 

 
a. The Department Director or designee serving as "project manager" shall 

have the authority to approve individual field and unit changes which when 
combined in total do not exceed 10% of the original contract value, or  up to 
$1200,000 and when the combined total of all field and unit changes does 
not exceed 15% of the original contract whichever is less, subject to the 
budget provisions in 11.08(1)(d). 

 
b. When an individual field and unit changes combined in total exceed 10% of 

the original contract orexceeds  $1200,000 or the combined total  of all field 

395



  52 

and unit changes exceeds 15% of the original contractwhichever is less, the 
"project manager” must submit a Change Order Expansion Request to the 
Department of Finance & Business Operations for approval of the City 
Council. Prior to City Council action the Department of Finance & Business 
Operations shall determine the potential sources of funding for the change 
order overage. 

 
c. It will be the responsibility of the "project manager" to keep a running total of 

change orders for each contract and ensure individual  total change orders 
are under do not exceed $200,000 or the combined total of all field and unit 
changes does not exceed1015% of the original contract or $100,000 
whichever is less. 

 
d. Total change orders when totaled with the original contract shall not exceed 

the projects budgeted appropriations previously approved by the City 
Council. 

 
2. Scope of Work or Project Boundary Change Orders: This type of change order 

consists of those items, which are outside the scope of the original contract. 
 

a. When a "project manager" requests a scope of work or project boundary 
change they must submit the proposal to the Department of Finance & 
Business Operations for City Council endorsement. 

 
b. The Department of Finance & Business Operations will determine if funds 

are available in the Capital Projects Fund, operating capital account, or Bond 
Fund.  

 
c. Once financial options are determined the Department of Finance & 

Business Operations shall submit the change to the City Council for 
endorsement and amendment of the project budget. 

 
 
11.09  APPRAISAL CONTRACTS: 
 

1. Through the course of purchasing or selling property, the City will need to obtain 
appraisals to determine the fair and reasonable value of a property.   

 
2. The City shall solicit Request for Proposals (RFPs) for appraisal services.   
 

a. The requests will be sent to at least three appraisal firms. 
  
b. The proposals shall be evaluated by the Departments of Community 

Development and Finance & Business Operations and a selection made. 
 

3.  As an alternative, the City may elect to do an annual RFP for appraisal services.  

396



  53 

The same procedures listed in 11.09 2 shall be utilized and then the firm will 
have a one-year contract to perform all appraisals for the City during that year.  
The City may elect, however, at any time during the year to seek new RFPs for 
select appraisals if advantageous to the City.   

 

397



  54 

11.10  LEASE-PURCHASE AND RENTAL AGREEMENTS: 
 

1. Lease-Purchase: 
 

a. An agreement that conveys the right to use property, plant or equipment, 
usually for a stated period of time, that meets one or more of the criteria set 
forth in SFAS No.13 for lease capitalization.  The criteria are: 

 
1) The lease transfers ownership by the end of the lease term. 
 
2) The lease contains a bargain purchase option. 
 
3) The lease term is equal to 75 percent or more of the estimated 

economic life of the leased property. 
 
4) The present value of the minimum lease payments equal or exceed 90 

percent of the fair value of the lease property. 
 

b. An evaluation shall be made by the department making the purchase to 
determine if lease-purchase or cash purchase of a piece of equipment is 
more cost effective. 

 
c. If a lease-purchase is considered the most cost effective method of obtaining 

property, the purchase shall be made in accordance with other provisions in 
this manual and shall be approved by Finance & Business Operations 

 
2. Rental Agreement: 

 
a. A rental agreement is any lease agreement that does not meet the criteria for 

capitalization set forth in SFAS No.13 and described in Section 11.09 1a. 
 
b. An evaluation shall be made by the department making the purchase to 

determine if rental of equipment or a cash purchase is more cost effective. 
 
c. Rental agreement for all vehicles or for equipment with a fair market value 

greater than $5,000.00 requires prior approval of the Finance & Business 
Operations Department. 

 
11.11 PAYMENTS AND RETENTION FROM PAYMENTS ON FORMAL CONTRACTS  
 

1. Department's responsibilities: 
 

a. Process the bills from contractors and withhold 5% of retainage on each 
contractor payment.  

 
b. Receive final acceptance of the project from the City Council. 

398



  55 

 
c. Process the bill that will pay the five percent retainage and notify the  

Financial Services Division that the payment must be held for thirty  
days. 

 
d. Provide to Financial Services the appropriate contractor information prior to 

the start of the project for registration of sales tax exemption certificates.  
 

2. Financial Services Responsibilities: 
 

a. Write and deliver the checks making monthly pay estimates to the  
contractors. 

 
b. Hold the final payment for thirty days after final acceptance by Council. 
 
c. Register the project and contractors with the State on-line system at the 

beginning of the project for sales tax exemption certificates.  
 

3. Early Release of Retainage: 
 

a. At any time after all or any part of the work on the formal contract is 
substantially completed, the contractor may request the release of all or part 
of the retained funds owed.  The request by the contractor shall be 
accompanied by a sworn statement of the contractor that, ten calendar days 
prior to the filing of the request, notice was given to all known 
subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, and suppliers. 

 
b. A project is considered substantially complete if the project has been 

substantially completed in general accordance with the terms and provisions 
of contract; if the project is substantially complete so that the City can occupy 
or utilize the public improvement for its intended purpose; if the public 
improvement has been designated substantially complete by the architect or 
engineer on the project; or if the project is considered substantially complete 
because the City is occupying or utilizing the public improvement for its 
intended purpose.  

 
c. After receiving the request, if the contractor has met the requirements noted 

above, the City must release the retainage within thirty (30) days.  
 
d. The City does reserve the right to withhold 200% of the value of the 

uncompleted work as determined by the City.  
 

 

399



  56 

SECTION 12 
 

RECEIVING, INSPECTION, AND TESTING 
 
 
12.01 INSPECTION: 
 

The using department has the responsibility of inspecting all supplies delivered  
and services received to determine compliance with the specifications and 
contracts. The using department shall take such action as necessary to obtain  
the proper supplies or services from the vendor. Shipments must also be 
inspected for possible loss or damage, which may have occurred in transit. Any  
such loss or damage must be noted on the freight company waybill, signed by  
the delivering carrier and the City employee that inspected the shipment. The  
waybill and any other pertinent information shall be filed with Financial Services.  
An Administrative clerk in Financial Services will match the waybill with the 
invoice when received. 

 
12.02 TESTING: 
 

The testing of materials should be performed when necessary to assure the  
using department that purchases are satisfactory.  The importance of adequate  
inspection and testing cannot be over-emphasized. It has the following effects: 

 
1. It prevents the direct loss accruing from acceptance of and payment for  

defective supplies. 
 
2. It has the salutary effect on vendors since the knowledge that supplies will 

be carefully inspected and may be tested deters the shipment of inferior  
supplies. 

 
3. It discloses those manufacturers whose supplies consistently conform to  

specifications, as well as those who habitually take full advantage of the  
maximum tolerance permitted. 

 
4. It calls to the attention of the vendor imperfections in the products, which the  

vendor may be voluntarily willing to remedy. 
 
12.03 COMPLETION OF RECEIVING REPORT: 
 

When it is determined that materials or services have been received in good  
condition and in compliance with the order, the necessary receiving information 
for capital assets must be forwarded to the Financial Services Division in 
accordance with the instructions in Section 6 of this manual. 

  

400



  57 

  
SECTION 13 

 
MATERIALS MANAGEMENT 

 
 
13.01 INVENTORY: 
 

1. Using Department's Responsibilities: 
 

a. Each department is responsible for stocking their own frequently-used 
inventory items and for maintaining control over those items. 

 
b. On June 30 of every year each department must make a physical count 

of the inventory they have on hand that day. 
 

1) Inventory items are operating supplies that are expected to be used 
within a year. 
 

2) The list of inventory on hand on June 30 must include the name of 
the item, the number on hand, the cost per unit, and total cost. 

2. Financial Services’ Responsibilities: 
 

a. Acquire from each of the departments their inventory lists to be included 
in the audit.  

 
b. On June 30 spot-check the department inventory listing to ensure 

accuracy.   
 
 
13.02 SMALL EQUIPMENT INVENTORY: 
 

1. Using Department's Responsibilities: 
 

a. Each department is responsible for tracking their small equipment 
inventory.  These items may include, but are not limited to, calculators, 
small hand tools, rakes, shovels, and office furniture.  

 
b. Annually, each department must make a physical count of the small 

equipment inventory that they have. 
 

c. Include the cost per unit for each inventory item.  
 

 
2. Financial Services’ Responsibilities: 

 

401



  58 

a. Acquire from each of the departments their small equipment inventory list.  
 

b. Annually spot-check the departments as they identify their small 
equipment inventory.  

 

402



  59 

  
SECTION 14 

 
SURPLUS PROPERTY 

 
 
14.01 DEFINITION: 
 

Surplus property is that City-owned property which is no longer required or has 
no practical use by the City.  City property shall not be appropriated for private 
purposes.  Surplus property having value will be disposed of in accordance with 
this Section.  

 
14.02 RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 

The using department shall be responsible for the disposal of all surplus property 
except as indicated below: 

 
1. Items that have no practical salvage value shall be taken to the Transfer 

Station. 
 
2. Items that are found at City locations that have not been claimed after a 

reasonable time and that have nominal or no value will be destroyed or 
donated.  

 
3. Real estate or any interest in land can only be disposed of by resolution of 

the City Council after published notice and public hearing. (See Section 
364.7 Code of Iowa) 

 
4. Items seized, confiscated, or found by the Police Department shall be 

handled and disposed of in accordance with applicable Federal, State, and 
local requirements. 

 
5. Items purchased with grant funds shall be disposed of in accordance with 

applicable grant requirements.  
 
6. If the disposal is a capital asset item, the using department shall prepare a 

disposal record to be entered into the Capital Asset System. 
 
14.03 METHODS OF DISPOSAL: 
 

It shall be the responsibility of using departments to notify the Financial Services 
Division of surplus property in their possession. The method of disposal shall be 
determined by the Director of Finance & Business Operations. 

 
1. Transfer to other departments: Transfer may be made if a need for the 

403



  60 

property exists in other departments of the City. The Financial Services 
Division shall be notified of the transfer of any item, which has been 
assigned a capital asset number. 

 
2. Trade-in:  Materials may be used in trade if determined by the using 

department to provide maximum return for the City. 
 
3. Public Auction:  The using department may sell surplus property at public 

auction, provided that the quantity and types of surplus property on hand 
warrant such action. Any expense incurred in conducting the auction shall be 
deducted from the auction receipts. Each department shall be informed of 
the net auction receipts credited to their accounts. 

 
4. Sale:  Quotations may be solicited for the sale of surplus property having a 

sale value of less than $25,000.00. Formal bids must be solicited for property 
with a sale value in excess of $25,000.00. 

 
5. Cannibalizing:  Items may be disassembled and used for parts provided that 

this method is determined by the using department to provide a maximum 
return for the City. 

 
6. Property, other than land, which has no practical use by the City, but may 

have value to another governmental body, may be donated to that 
governmental body for their use. 

 
7. No surplus or obsolete property shall be given to or salvaged by employees 
 
8. Surplus property having a very small nominal value may be sold to 

employees through an open and fair process.  
 
14.04 DISPOSAL OF POLICE AND PUBLIC SAFETY BADGES: 
 

Since public safety badges are evidence of the holder’s apparent law 
enforcement authority, special procedures should be used when disposing of 
these items. 

 
1. If an officer does not want to receive his or her badge upon termination of 

employment, competitive bidding process should be used as described in 
Section 14.03 4. 

 
2. Before the badge is sold to an outside party or before being given to the 

officer, it shall be embedded in acrylic or in some other manner rendered 
incapable of being misused as police or public safety identification. 

404



  61 

SECTION 15 
 

FOLLOW-UP AND EXPEDITING 
 
 
15.01 FOLLOW-UP: 
 

The requesting department will attempt to reconcile shipment and/or delivery 
problems with the vendor. In all cases of damaged materials, the carton and 
materials must be held for inspection by the freight company in order to file claim 
for damages incurred during shipment. 

 
15.02 EXPEDITING: 
 

IF A SHIPMENT IS NOT RECEIVED within a reasonable amount of time, the 
requesting department should contact vendors in an attempt to expedite 
shipments. 

 
15.03 REQUESTING DEPARTMENT RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 

It is the responsibility of the using department to plan in advance. Requests for 
rush deliveries add to the cost of materials and/or services. 

 
Requisition for Purchase forms should be submitted with sufficient time allowed 
for: 

 
1. Solicitation of bids or quotations. 
 
2. Evaluation of bids or quotations. 
 
3. Receipt of order by the vendor. 
 
4. Delivery, either from vendor's stock or from the manufacturer. 

 
15.04 FINANCIAL SERVICES DIVISION RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 

Financial Services has the responsibility to process requisitions as quickly as 
possible. 

 

405



  62 

SECTION 16 
 

REIMBURSEMENTS FROM PETTY CASH 
 
 
16.01 DESCRIPTION: 
 

A Petty Cash Fund will be maintained by various departments and divisions as 
authorized by the Financial Services Division. Valid requests for reimbursement 
will be made from this fund. The fund will be reimbursed after supporting 
documentation for the petty cash expenditures have been submitted to the 
Financial Services Division. 

 
16.02 REQUEST FOR REIMBURSEMENT PROCEDURE: 
 

A Request for Reimbursement – Documentation should be prepared to 
reimburse City employees for the purchase of minor non-inventory items in an 
amount not to exceed $25.00 per incident. 

 
1. Valid petty cash requests: City employees shall be reimbursed through the 

Petty Cash Fund for items such as small office supplies, postage, minor 
automobile and equipment parts and services, and small miscellaneous 
items. 

 
2. A supplier's cash receipt must be submitted to the departmental employee 

assigned to the Petty Cash Fund  in order for a City employee to be 
reimbursed from the Petty Cash Fund. No reimbursement will be made 
without a supplier's cash receipt. 

 
3. Request for Reimbursement – The documentation  will be completed by the 

departmental employee assigned to the Petty Cash Fund : The following 
information will be included on the documentation: 

 
a. Date of request. 
 
b. Date of actual purchase. 
 
c. Complete account number to be expensed. 
 
d. Name of supplier. 
 
e. Supplier's receipt number, if given on the receipt. 
 
f. Quantity and brief description of each item purchased. 
 
g. Approved signature on file of person requesting the reimbursement. 

406



  63 

 
h. The documentation  should be retained with the Petty Cash Fund and 

submitted to Financial Services when a request to reimburse the Petty 
Cash Fund is requested.  

 
4. Supplier's receipt: The following information must be included on the 

supplier's original receipt which is attached to the documentation: 
 

a. Supplier's name. 
 
b. Each item purchased. 
 
c. Total amount paid. 
 
d. Indication that supplier was paid cash. 

 
5. All reimbursements will be signed as received; reimbursements will not be 

sent through inter-office or regular mail. 
 
6. Nonvalid Petty Cash requests: City employees will not be reimbursed through 

the Petty Cash Fund for any of the following items: 
 

a. Travel and travel expenses (exception: fees for parking with no other 
related travel expenses). 

 
b. Conference expense.  
 
c. Training fees and related expense. 
 
d. Meals, whether or not associated with travel, conferences, training or 

overtime (exception: food items that are purchased for City related 
business meetings may be reimbursed through the Petty Cash Fund.) 

 
e. Purchase of capital items. 
 
f. Inventory stock items purchased by blanket contract, such as office 

supplies. 
 

The departmental employee responsible for the Petty Cash Fund shall reimburse 
the employee after the Request for Reimbursement has been completed and 
presented along with the supplier's cash receipt. 

 

407



  64 

  
SECTION 17 

 
TRAVEL AND EDUCATION REPORTS 

 
 
17.01 TRAVEL AND EDUCATION REPORTS: 
 

The City Council approves by resolution annually an operating budget, which 
includes an 8300 series line item providing for travel and education of 
employees. 

 
1. Purpose:  The purpose of this policy is to establish the procedures for 

approving travel and education requests and the monitoring of said requests. 
 
2. Procedure: 

 
a. Travel Policy 

 
1) Employees holding jobs that require travel are expected to travel as 

a condition of employment.  For all other jobs, travel is considered 
only an incidental function of the position, but may be required. 

 
2) All in-state and out-of-state travel requests are approved by the 

Mayor, or in the absence of the Mayor, the Mayor Pro Tem.  All 
non-budgeted travel requests are approved by the Mayor and 
Controller/City Treasurer.  Travel request forms are available from 
the Financial Services  Division and must be completed and 
approved prior to travel. 

 
3) Department Directors and their Assistants are encouraged to attend 

National, State, and local events that are within the range of 
responsibilities of that particular Department.  Active participation 
such as holding offices in National and State organizations is also 
encouraged. 

 
4) Upon completion of the career development experience out-of-

state, each employee shall complete a “Travel Assessment Report” 
that shall be attached to the request for travel form. 

 
5) The travel assessment report will be scanned in with the request for 

travel form and the Mayor and council members may request from 
the Financial Services Division to review the report. 

 

408



  65 

6) All travel requests are to be reviewed by the Department Director 
using the following described travel guidelines as a basis for 
approval or disapproval of the request:  

 

a) Federal, State or local mandated training:  Required training for 
licensing, certification, or other qualifications. 

 
b) Preparatory Training:  Applies where an employee's future job 

responsibilities, in all probability, will incorporate and require 
new or little used skills, which can be readily acquired only by 
outside training. 

 
c) Legislative/Intergovernmental:  Meetings that appear to hold 

high potential for long-term positive or negative effect(s) upon 
the City and/or Department. 

 
d) National, Regional, or State conferences and workshops:  

Attendance contingent upon quality of workshop/conference as 
this relates to staff member's current job responsibilities. 

 
e) Officer in Professional Organization:  Employee serves as an 

officer in their respective professional organization.  (Requires 
prior approval and encouragement by the Mayor, and 
Department, where applicable.) 

 
7) Under normal circumstances, employees should make all travel 

arrangements for transportation and lodging.  In addition, all 
mileage or usage credits awarded by transportation, credit card, 
and other travel service companies are to be assigned to the City. 

 
8) The City may issue guidelines specifying or restricting travel 

booking requirements.  Under normal circumstances, employees 
should use the most expedient mode of transportation available, 
book the least expensive fares, and stay in and eat at moderately 
priced establishments.  Also, key employees who are traveling 
together should try to schedule transportation and lodging 
separately to minimize risks from accidents.  

 
9) Employees must provide their supervisor with a copy of their 

itinerary before leaving on business travel. 
 

b. Travel Finance 
 

1) Employees who travel and request payment from the City for 
travel expense must comply with the following: 
a. Travel expenses, such as lodging, parking, and meals will be 

409



  66 

paid by the employee at the time of the travel, and the City 
will reimburse the employee after receiving bona fide 
receipts and the completion of a “Request for Travel and 
Statement of Expenses” form by the employee. The bona 
fide receipt turned in must reflect the itemized purchased 
items, and it shall not be a charge slip that only reflects the 
total amount charged.  The Controller/City Treasurer shall 
determine the appropriate documentation regarding parking, 
automobile expenses, lodging, and meals.  

 
b. The federal approved maximums for reimbursement of meal 

expenses shall be used as a guideline.  Employees must 
submit their receipts to the Financial Services Division for 
authorization of reimbursement.  An exception to the above 
limits would be a meal that is included as part of a meeting 
or seminar.  The total amount of the meal will be paid in that 
case.  If a meal is included in the price of a meeting or 
seminar and the employee chooses to purchase a meal 
elsewhere, the employee shall be responsible for the 
expense of that meal unless medical reasons require that 
the employee separately purchase a meal. 

 
c. Pre-billed expenses, such as airfare, lodging and 

registrations will be prepaid to the vendor if advance 
payment is requested by the employee and the City is billed 
by the vendor.  Mileage will be reimbursed, when 
appropriate, at the current Federal rate for mileage 
reimbursement. 

 
d. If airfare would be more economical than driving a vehicle, 

but the employee chooses to drive their personal vehicle, the 
employee may be reimbursed the expense of the airfare with 
approval of the Department Director.   

 
e. The employee shall submit to the Department Director within 

30 days bona fide original receipts for all travel and 
education expenses, including meals.  Photocopies of 
receipts will not be allowed, unless approved by 
Controller/City Treasurer. The employee shall not be 
reimbursed by the City for any expense not documented by 
receipt, unless an exception report is signed by the 
employee, the supervisor, and the Controller/City Treasurer.  
The form can be provided for by the Financial Services 
division. 

 
f. The Department Director and Controller/City Treasurer shall 

410



  67 

be responsible for determining cash receipts’ authenticity 
and eligibility for reimbursement.  An adjustment to the meal 
expense may be made at this time upon the approval of the 
Controller/City Treasurer. 

 
g. State regulations prohibit reimbursement for liquor expenses 

associated with meals.   
 

h. If determined by the Department of Finance & Business 
Operations that a per diem system for travel finances is a 
more cost effective approach, it will be implemented by 
Finance & Business Operations and departments will be 
notified.  If implemented, the per diem system will be 
administered in accordance with IRS regulations.  

 
2) Employees traveling on City business and driving a City vehicle 

may appropriately use the City vehicle for incidental purposes 
while not on City business when traveling out-of-town.   

 
3) Travel expenses of a spouse, or other dependent, will not be 

paid or reimbursed and are the employee's personal 
responsibility.  Further, non-City employees and the employee's 
spouse or other dependent, are not authorized to drive or be a 
passenger in City vehicles without the prior approval of the 
Department Director.  Immediate family members may be 
allowed to travel with an employee in a City vehicle provided a 
waiver of liability form (available from the Legal Services 
Division) is signed and with the approval of the Department 
Director. 

 
17.02 REIMBURSEMENT PROCEDURE: 
 

All employees are urged to use discretion and to seek economic and convenient 
lodging, transportation and meals.  Employees are required to complete a Travel  
and Expense report for each conference and/or training session. Any expense 
not listed in this section shall be  
excluded from reimbursement. 

 
1. A Travel and Expense form is to be filed with the Financial Services Division 

within 30 days after returning. The Financial Services Division will audit all 
Travel and Expense reports within 48 hours of receipt. 

 
2. The Travel and Expense form shall have valid original receipts attached for 

all reimbursable expenses. 
 
3. The Travel and Expense form should contain the following information (see 

411



  68 

sample form): 
 

a. Name of person incurring expense. 
 
b. Job position title of person incurring expense. 
 
c. Department. 
 
d. Address to which reimbursement, if due, is to be mailed. 
 
e. Purpose of travel, i.e. name of conference or training course and 

location of conference or training session. 
 
f. Dates of conference, training session. 

 
g. Amount of expense, by date and type of expense. 
 
h. Total amount of each type of expense (include total number of miles, if 

mileage reimbursement is requested). 
 
i. Total amount of expense by date. 
 
j. Grand total of expenses. 
 
k. Amounts of prepaid expenses. 
 
l. Total of prepaid expenses. 
 
m. Amount due employee as reimbursement; or amount due City. 
 
n. Classification of claimant. 
 
o. Signature of claimant. 
 
p. Department Head signature. 
 

 
17.03 EMPLOYEE REIMBURSEMENT REPORT:  
 

This form is to be used by City employees, elected officials and appointed 
officials who, on a regular basis, use their personal vehicle to conduct City 
business and do not have access to a city vehicle.  This form is not to be used to 
report mileage, which would more properly be recorded, on a Travel and 
Expense report.  This form may also be used to report miscellaneous 
reimbursable expenses not associated with a conference or travel.   The form 
instructions are as follows: 

412



  69 

 
1. For mileage, each trip should be recorded by date. 
 
2. The report is to be forwarded to the Financial Services Division for 

processing and payment in accordance with section 7 of this manual.  
 
3. Other expenses should be recorded by date and a description of the 

expense should be noted.  
 
4. The miles and expense columns should be totaled. 
 
5. The account number that the expenses should be charged to should be 

recorded on the reimbursement form. 
 
6. Mileage shall be reimbursed at the maximum allowable rate under federal 

internal revenue service rules per mile. 
 

7. The form should be signed by the claimant and the claimant’s supervisor. 
 
 
 

413



  70 

 

414



  71 

  
SECTION 18 

 
EQUIPMENT PURCHASE, VEHICLE MAINTENANCE,  

AND DATA PROCESSING 
 
 
18.01 SPECIFICATIONS: 
 

For any vehicle with a value of $5,000.00 or greater which is to receive a capital 
asset tag number, the Manager of the  Public Works/Parks Division or his/her 
designee shall be responsible for the development and codification of 
specifications. 
 
1. Specifications are to be developed within the defined goals of the Vehicle 

Maintenance Section. 
 
2. It is anticipated that there will be a high degree of involvement of the 

appropriate using department head. 
 
3. The Director of Finance & Business Operations shall be involved in final 

approval of specifications. 
 
4. Specifications shall be approved and signed by the Manager of the  Public 

Works/Parks Division, the using Department Director, and the Director of 
Finance & Business Operations, with the option for City Administrator 
approval if deemed necessary due to conflict between the above individuals. 

 
18.02 REQUISITION FOR PURCHASE:  
 

1. The Manager of the Public Works/Parks Division shall initiate a Requisition 
for Purchase and forward to the Financial Services Division, along with the 
specifications.  If the Requisition for Purchase is initiated by the using 
Department Director or the Financial Services Division, it must be submitted 
to the Manager of the Public Works/Parks Division for approval before further 
action can be taken. 

 
2. Budget approval shall be performed by the Financial Services Division.  

Variations from budget shall be referred to the Director of Finance & 
Business Operations for final approval with Budget Amendment Form, if 
required. 

 
18.03 SOLICITATION OF BIDS AND/OR QUOTATIONS: 
 

1. Formal bids and/or informal quotations shall be solicited by the Vehicle 
Maintenance Section in accordance with purchasing procedures. 

415



  72 

 
 
2. Bids and/or quotations shall be reviewed by the Director of Finance & 

Business Operations in consultation with the Manager of the Public 
Works/Parks Division and the using department head to secure the 
appropriate equipment at the most favorable cost. Life Cycle Cost Analysis 
shall be used if appropriate. 

 
3. If consensus cannot be reached by the Manager of the Public Works/Parks 

Division, the using department head, and the Director of Finance & Business 
Operations, final approval shall be required from the City Administrator. 

 
18.04 PURCHASE: 
 

1. After all required criteria have been met, the Vehicle Maintenance Section 
shall be responsible for placing the order with the selected vendor. 

 
2. The Vehicle Maintenance Section shall be responsible for monitoring the 

delivery schedule. There shall be established a system whereby a weekly 
contact is made based upon agreed delivery. 

 
3. Upon receipt and acceptance of the vehicle, the Manager of the Public 

Works/Parks Division will sign the receiving copy of the Requisition and 
forward to Financial Services for payment procedures. 

 
18.05 ASSET STATUS OF EQUIPMENT: 
 

Newly purchased equipment will be an asset of the using department. 
 

1. Capital asset tags shall be assigned to every piece of equipment with a value 
of $5,000 or greater and a life expectancy of greater than one year.  It is also 
recommended that a capital asset tag be assigned to inventory with a value 
between $500 - $4,999 or as needed by the department. 

 
2. It is the responsibility of the using departments to attach the capital asset tag 

to the equipment, complete an Input Data Collection Form and return the 
form to the Financial Services Division for entry into the Capital Asset 
program. 

 
3. Collection of "Depreciation" for Replacement of Vehicles. 

 
a. Replacement funds will be collected by the Vehicle Maintenance Section 

for the replacement of equipment during a later budget year.  The intent of 
this process is to accumulate replacement funds for a given piece of 
equipment over the anticipated life of that equipment. 

 

416



  73 

b. Each department will be charged an annual fee that will be paid to the 
Vehicle Maintenance Fund for maintenance on and replacement of 
vehicles. 

 
18.06 COMPUTER HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE: 
 

For any computer item, which is to receive a capital asset tag number, the 
Information Systems Manager, or his/her designee, shall be responsible for the 
development and codification of specifications. 

 
1. Specifications are to be developed within the defined goals of the Information 

Systems Division. 
 
2. It is anticipated that there will be a high degree of involvement of appropriate 

using department head. 
 
3. Specifications shall be approved and signed by the using Department 

Director, the Information Systems Manager, and the Director of Finance & 
Business Operations. 

 
18.07 REQUISITION FOR PURCHASE: 
 

1. The Information Systems Manager shall initiate a Requisition for Purchase 
and forward to the Financial Services Division along with the specifications.  
If the Requisition for Purchase is initiated by the using Department Director 
or the Financial Services Division, it must be submitted to the Information 
Systems Manager for approval before further action can be taken. 

 
2. Budget approval shall be performed by the Financial Services Division.  

Variations from budget shall be referred to the Director of Finance & 
Business Operations for final approval with the Budget Amendment form, if 
required. 

 
18.08 SOLICITATION OF BIDS AND/OR QUOTATIONS: 
 

1. Formal bids and/or informal quotations shall be solicited by the Information 
Systems Division in accordance with purchasing procedures. 

 
2. Bids and/or quotations shall be reviewed by the Director of Finance & 

Business Operations to secure the appropriate equipment at the most 
favorable cost.  Life Cycle Cost Analysis shall be used if appropriate. 

 
18.09 PURCHASE: 
 

1. After all required criteria have been met, the Information Systems Division 
shall be responsible for placing the order with the selected vendor. 

417



  74 

 
2. The Information Systems Division shall be responsible for monitoring the 

delivery schedule. There shall be established a system whereby a weekly 
contact is made based upon agreed delivery. 

 
3. Upon receipt and acceptance of the computer equipment, the Information 

Systems Manager will sign the receiving copy of the Requisition and forward 
to Financial Services for payment procedures. 

 
4. Collection of "Depreciation" for Replacement of Computer Equipment. 

 
a. Replacement funds will be collected by the Information Systems 

Division for the replacement of computer equipment during a later 
budget year.  The intent of this process is to accumulate replacement 
funds for a given piece of equipment over the anticipated life of that 
equipment. 

 
b. Each department will be charged an annual fee that will be paid to the 

Data Processing Fund for maintenance on and replacement of 
computers. 

 
c. The Information Systems Division will be responsible for assigning 

Capital asset tag numbers for all computer equipment with a dollar 
value of  $5,000 or greater owned by the City, completing the 
Depreciation Record, and entering the information in the computer.  It is 
also recommended that a capital asset tag be assigned to inventory 
with a value between $500-$4,999, or as needed by the department. 

 
d. Maintenance on all computer equipment must be coordinated with the 

Information Systems Division. 
 
18.10 CAPITAL ASSET PURCHASE - CAPITAL ASSETS: 
 

1. Each department is responsible for the purchase of capital purchases other 
than vehicles and computer software and hardware for their department. 

 
2. A capital purchase is defined as equipment with a value of $5,000 or greater 

or a purchase of land, land improvements, buildings or infrastructure with a 
value of $5,000 or greater and an expected life of greater than one year. 

 
3. Each piece of equipment purchased with a value of $5,000 or greater or 

land, land improvements, building or infrastructure with a value of $5,000 or 
greater and an expected life greater than one year requires a capital asset 
tag.  It is also recommended that a capital asset tag be assigned to inventory 
with a value between $500-$4,999 for equipment and $1,000-$4,999 for 
land, land improvements, building or infrastructure. 

418



  75 

 
4. It is the responsibility of the purchasing department to attach the capital 

asset tag to the equipment, complete an Input Data Collection Form and 
return the form to the Financial Services Division for entry into the Capital 
Asset program. 

 
a. Input Data Collection Form: 

 
1) Item Tag:  The item tag is the two-character plus five-digit number 

preprinted on aluminum tags. You must enter the leading zeros in 
the number.   Example, AS00001, not AS1; PW00025, not PW25. 

 
CAUTION: Once an item tag is entered into the system, IT 
CANNOT be changed.  It can only be deleted and a new entry 
made. 
 

2) Item Description:  The item description is a brief description of the 
capital asset.  Be consistent. (29 characters) 
 

3) Item Class:  The item class must be chosen from the following list 
of choices: 
 
A/V 
ARTWRK 
BOOKS 
BRIDGE 
BUILD  
COMPUT  
FURN  
IMPROV  
INFRAS  
LAND  
MACHIN  
MECHAN  
PUBSAF  
ROADEQ  
SHOPEQ  
SIGNAL 
STORM 
STREET 
TRAIL 
VEHICL 

Audio/visual Equipment 
Artwork 
Books 
Bridges 
Buildings 
Computers and related  
Office furniture 
Land improvements  
Infrastructure 
Land 
Office machines 
Mechanical equipment 
Public Safety 
Road maintenance equipment  
Shop equipment 
Traffic Signal 
Storm Water 
Streets 
Trail 
Cars and road vehicles

 
4) Item Type:  The item type must be selected from the following list: 

419



  76 

FA – Capital Asset- of $5,000 or more 
IN – Inventory item 
IS – Infrastructure -     Sewer 

 
5) Department:  Enter the identification for the department 

(department name prior to 2014 Reorganization) that owns  
this item, taken from the following list: 

 
AS  
DS  
HL 
LI  
PS  
PW 
VM 
 

Administrative Services  
Developmental Services  
Human and Leisure Services 
Library  
Public Safety 
Public Works 
Vehicle Maintenance

6) Serial Number:  Enter the item's serial number, if one exists. (20 
characters) 

 
7) Manufacturer/Make:  Enter the name of the manufacturer, or the 

item's make, if applicable. (14 characters) 
 
8) Model:  Enter the item's model, if applicable. (14 characters) 
 
9) Model Year:  Enter the item's model year, if applicable. (4 digits) 

 
10) Condition Code:  Enter the code that best describes the item's 

condition, taken from the following list: 
 

1 New (up to one year old)  
2  Good 
3  Fair 
4  Poor 
5  Unusable Junk 
6  Mixed 
7 Not applicable 
8 Undeveloped Land 
9 Developed Land 
 

11) Owning Fund:  Enter the number identifying the fund that owns this 
item: 

 
01 –  General Fund 
06 – Street 
09 – Data Processing 
15 – Hospital 

420



  77 

17 – Section-8 
23 – Block Grant 
51 – Refuse 
52 – Sewer 
54 – Cable 
55 –  Storm Water 
58 – Parking 
61 – Visitor & Tourism 
62 – Community Center  
85 – Vehicle Maintenance 

 
12) Site:  The Division that owns or is responsible for the asset: 

 
ADM 
CC 
CEM 
CHE 
COM 
CTV 
DP 
ED 
ENG 
FIRE 
GOLF 
HRST 
II 
INS 
LIB 
PB 
PM 
POL 
PRK 
PRNT 
REC 
REF 
STR 
STW 
SW 
TO 
V&T 
VM 
WR 

Administration 
Community Center 
Cemetery 
City Hall Expansion 
Community Development 
Cable TV 
Data Processing 
Economic Development 
Engineering 
Fire 
Golf 
Hearst Center 
Infrastructure – Sewer 
Inspections 
Library 
Public Building 
Parking Fund 
Police 
Parks 
Print Shop 
Recreation 
Refuse 
Street 
Storm Water 
Sewer 
Traffic 
Visitor & Tourism 
Vehicle Maintenance 
Water Reclamation

 
13) Insurance:  This code identifies the type of insurance coverage the 

City has for this item, taken from the following list: 
 

421



  78 

BLNK  
ITEM  
SLFI  

Blanket insurance coverage  - All Assets 
Itemized insurance coverage  
Self-insured

 
14) Type:  This code identifies the fund and type of property.  Financial 

Services will complete this field. 
 

EQDP 
EQEN 
EQGB  
EQGF  
EQGL  
EQLI 
EQRF 
EQSB 
EQSI 
EQSR 
EQST 
EQTR 
EQVH 

Data Processing 
Engineering 
General building  
General equipment  
General land  
Library 
Refuse 
S.R. building 
Sewer infrastructure 
Sewer rental 
Street infrastructure 
Trails 
Vehicle maintenance 

 
15) Optional Code C:  This code identifies the cost range that the item 

falls into, taken from the following table: 
 

A  
B  
C  
D 

$25,001 and over cost  
$10,001 -$25,000 cost  
$  1,001 -$10,000 cost  
$     501 -$  1,000 cost

 
16) Base Cost:  Enter the base cost of the item. (10 digits, including 2 

decimals) 
 
17) Freight Cost:  Enter the freight cost if there was one. (10 digits, 

including 2 decimals) 
 
18) Accessory Cost:  Enter accessory costs, if any. (10 digits, including 

2 decimals) 
 
19) Other Cost:  Enter any other costs involved in the acquisition.  You 

may want to enter the amount of a trade-in here as a negative 
number. (10 digits, including 2 decimals) 

 
20) Unit of Measure: Enter the unit of measure for this item from the  

following list: 
 

422



  79 

ACRE  
EACH  
FEET  
SOFT  
OTHR 
Acres of land 
Each separate item  
Linear feet 
Square footage  
Other 

 
21) Acquisition Type: Enter the type of acquisition, taken from the 

following list: 
 
CONF  
CONS  
EDOM  
FORC  
GIFT 
INST  
LEAS  
LPUR  
OTHR  
PURC  
TAXF  
TRAP  
UNKN 

Confiscation  
Constructed  
Eminent domain  
Foreclosure 
Gift 
Installment purchase  
Leased  
Lease-purchase  
Other 
Outright purchase  
Tax forfeiture 
Trade 
Unknown

 
22) Acquisition Date:  Enter the date the item was acquired. 
 
23) Total Cost:  Total cost of asset including freight, accessories, 

installation and any other costs. 
 
24) Quantity:  Enter the quantity acquired.  This will usually be a 

quantity of one. (5 digits) 
 
25) Source of Funds: Enter the four-digit number for the source of 

funds for the purchase, taken from the following list: 
 

3000  
3010  
3020  
3030 
3040 
3050 
3060 

3070 
3080 
Charges for services 
Property taxes 
Block grant 
Section 8 housing 
Federal revenue sharing 

423



  80 

State grant 
Endowment 

Gift 
Tax Levy

 
26) Vendor Name:  Enter the name of the vendor that the item was 

acquired from. (24 characters) 
 
27) Invoice Number:  Number from the invoice. 
 
28) PO Number:  Purchase order number, if used. 
 
29) Check and Date:  Enter the number of the check that paid for the 

item, and the check date, if known. 
 

30) Purchase Account:  Enter the general ledger account number that 
the item was paid from, in the format xxx-xxxx-xxx-xx.xx. 

 
31) Fund of Purchase:  Enter the number of the fund from which the 

purchase was made. (2 digits; same list as used for #11) 
 

b. Disposal Record:  A disposal record must be added for each asset as it 
is disposed of. A given asset may have up to nine disposal records.  
The dollar fields on the disposal record are for record and reporting 
purposes only and do not enter into any calculations. The sample 
screen on the following page shows all the fields to be completed for 
each disposal. 

 
1) Item Tag:  The item tag is re-displayed from the master record. 
 
2) Item Class:  The item tag is re-displayed from the master record. 
 
3) Quantity:  The quantity field in the disposal screen is pre-supplied 

with a quantity of one.  This number may be changed to any 
appropriate amount. If a partial disposal or multiple disposals exist 
for a single asset, it may be appropriate to indicate a zero quantity 
on a disposal record. (6 digits) 

 
4) Disposal Date: Enter the date of the disposal. This is a mandatory 

field. (4 digits) 
 
5) Disposal Type: Enter the four-character code for the type of 

disposal, taken from the following list: 
 

DISC  
GIFT  
LOSS 
OTHR  

RETN  
SOLD  
TRAD 
Discarded or junked  

424



  81 

Given as a gift 
Theft, Vandalism, 
Lost 
Other 

Returned to owner  
Sold 
Traded in

 
6) Disposal Reason: Enter the four-character code for the reason for 

the disposal, taken from the following list: 
 

COST    No longer cost effective 
END     End of lease 
LOSS     Casualty loss 
LOST     Misplaced 
OBSO    Obsolete  
OTHR    Other reason 
THEF     Theft or vandalism 
WORN    Worn out 
 

7) Disposed To:  Enter the name of the vendor, person, or agency the 
asset was disposed to. (14 characters) 

 
8) Traded For:  If the item was traded, enter a description of what 

exactly it was traded for. 
 
9) G/L Account For Disposal:  Enter the general ledger account 

number that is affected by the disposal, in the format xx-xxx-xxxx. 
 
10) Receipt: Enter the receipt number, if cash was received. (6 digits) 
 
11) Amount Of Proceeds: Enter the amount of cash received. (10 digits, 

including 2 decimals) 
 

 
 
18.11 DEPRECIATION: 
 

Depreciation on capital assets will be computed using the straight-line method 
over the useful lives of the assets.  The estimated useful lives for categories of 
assets will be as follows: 

 
Computer Equipment 
Equipment 
Office Equipment 
Vehicles 
Parking Lots 
Furniture 
Large Vehicles 

Traffic Signals 
Streets 
Buildings 
Land Improvements 
Storm Water 
Bridges 
Lift Stations 

425



  82 

Sewer 
Historic Buildings  
5 years 
10-30 years 
10-30 years 
10-20 years 
15 years 
20 years 
20-40 years 

20 years 
30 years 
40 years 
40 years 
40 years 
45 years 
50 years 
50 years 
100 years

 
 

426



  83 

 
 
 

427



  84 

428



  85 

 

429



  86 

430



  87 

431



  88 

432



  89 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DISPOSAL RECORD Date

By

Item Tag __ __ __  __ __ __ __

Item Class __ __ __ __ __ __

Split Count __

Quantity __ __ __ __ __

Disposal Date __  -  __  __ - __ __ __ __

Disposal Type __ __ __ __

Disposal Reason __ __ __ __

Disposed To

Traded For

G/L Account __ __ __ - __ __ __ __ - __ __ __ - __ __ __ __

Receipt __ __ __ __ __ __ __ __

Amount of Proceeds __ __ __ __ __ __ __ __

Gain or Loss (Finance will calculate) __ __ __ __ __ __ __ __

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

FIXED ASSETS

INPUT DATA COLLECTION FORM

433



  90 

 

 
 

434



  91 

SECTION 19 
 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
 
 
19.01 POLICY: 
 

It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to prohibit its elected officials and all 
employees (except seasonal) from engaging in any activity, practice, or act that 
unlawfully conflicts with, or appears to conflict with, the interests of the City.  To 
comply with State law, the City of Cedar Falls requires all employees and City 
officials to sign an annual declaration of compliance with this Conflicts of Interest 
Policy.  Since it is impossible to describe all of the situations that may cause or 
give the appearance of an unlawful conflict of interest, the prohibitions included in 
this policy are not intended to be exhaustive and only include some of the more 
clear-cut examples. (See also Outside Employment Policy and Conflicts of 
Interests Policy in the City of Cedar Falls Personnel Manual, and Iowa Code 
Chapter 68B) 

 
19.02 COMPLIANCE: 
 

1. Employees are expected to represent the City in a positive and ethical 
manner.  Thus, employees have an obligation to avoid conflicts of interest 
and to refer questions and concerns about potential conflicts to their 
supervisor.  Employees and City officials are required to sign a form 
containing a special statement acknowledging their understanding of and 
adherence to this policy on an annual basis.  This form must be returned to 
the Financial Services  Division by January 1st of every year.  Employees 
failing to return the form in a timely manner shall be subject to disciplinary 
action. 

 
2. Employees are not to engage in, directly or indirectly either on or off the job, 

any conduct that is disloyal, disruptive, or damaging to the City.  Such 
prohibited activity also includes any illegal acts in restraint of trade. 

 
3. Employees, other than off-duty police officers, are not to accept any 

employment relationship with any organization that does business with the 
City.  This prohibition on employment includes serving as an advisor or 
consultant to any such organization, unless that activity is conducted as a 
representative of the City. (See also Outside Employment Policy and 
Conflicts of Interest Policy in the City of Cedar Falls Personnel Manual, 
and Iowa Code Chapter 68B)  Employees must discuss any outside 
employment and potential conflicts of interest with their Department Director 
and City Attorney for a determination of appropriateness of the outside 
activity or employment prior to the employee engaging in the activity. 

 

435



  92 

4. Employees must disclose any financial interest they or their immediate family 
have in any firm, business or organization that does business with the City.  
The City may require divestiture of such interest if it deems the interest to be 
in conflict with its best interests. 

  
5. Iowa Code 362.5 states, “A city officer or employee shall not have an 

interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or job of work or material or the 
profits thereof or services to be furnished or performed for the officer’s or 
employee’s city. A contract entered into in violation of Section 11 is void. The 
provisions of this section do not apply to contracts not otherwise permitted by 
this section for the purchase of goods or services by a city having a 
population of more than two thousand five hundred, which benefit a city 
officer or employee, if the purchases benefiting that officer or employee do 
not exceed a cumulative total purchase price of six thousand dollars in a 
fiscal year.” It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls that, when the $6,000 
threshold is reached in any fiscal year (July 1 through June 30), any further 
potential purchases or contracts must be as a result of competitively bidding. 

 
Finance and Business Operations will review vendor payments for potential 
conflict of interest and if the $6,000 threshold is met during a fiscal year, it 
shall be a breach of ethical standards for any employee to participate directly 
or indirectly in a procurement when the employee knows that: 

  
a. The employee or any member of the employee’s immediate family has 

a financial interest pertaining to such procurement. 
b. A business organization in which the employee, or any member of the 

employee‟s immediate family has a financial interest pertaining to such 
procurement. 

c.  Any other person, business, or organization with which the employee 
or any member of the employee‟s immediate family is negotiating or 
has an arrangement concerning prospective employment is involved in 
such procurement. 
 

4.  
 
5.6. Employees and their immediate family are not to accept gifts or services, 

except those of nominal value, or any special discounts or loans from any 
person or firm doing, or seeking to do, business with the City.  The meaning 
of gifts for purposes of this policy includes the acceptance of entertainment, 
free long-distance travel and lodging, and objects or produce with a value of 
$3.00 or higher. 

 
6.7. Employees are not to give, offer, or promise, directly or indirectly, anything of 

value to any citizen, representative of a customer, of a potential customer, 
business entity, organization, or of a financial institution in connection with 
any transaction or business that the City may have with such citizen, 

Formatted: List Paragraph,  No bullets or
numbering, Widow/Orphan control, Adjust
space between Latin and Asian text, Adjust
space between Asian text and numbers, Tab
stops: Not at  0.81"

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering, Tab
stops: Not at  0.81"

436



  93 

customer, potential customer, business entity, organization or financial 
institution. 

 
7.8. Employees may learn or become aware of information about the City that, if 

known to the public, might affect the decision of a reasonable investor to 
buy, sell, or hold securities issued by the City.  Employees are prohibited 
from misusing such material inside information prior to public disclosure by 
purchasing or selling the City’s securities for their own account or for 
accounts of members of their immediate family.  In addition, employees are 
not to disclose inside information to anyone, either inside or outside the 
organization, who does not have a lawful right to know it. 

 
9. Any conflict or potential conflict of interest must be disclosed in writing to the 

City.  Failure to do so will result in discipline, up to and including termination. 
  

8.  
  

Formatted: List Paragraph,  No bullets or
numbering, Widow/Orphan control, Adjust
space between Latin and Asian text, Adjust
space between Asian text and numbers, Tab
stops: Not at  0.81"

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering, Tab
stops: Not at  0.81"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Hanging: 
0.31", Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Tab after:  0.5" + Indent
at:  0.5", Tab stops:  0.81", List tab + Not at 
0.5"

437



  94 

SECTION 20 
 

UNIFORMS 
 
 
20.01 DEFINITION: 
 

Certain employees may be required to wear certain uniforms for safety and 
identification purposes.  In addition, an employee may be required to wear 
specified safety gear, including but not limited to, safety shoes, boots and safety 
glasses. 

 
20.02 UNIFORMS: 
 

1. If an employee is required to wear a specific uniform, the uniforms will be 
paid for by the City according to union contract or departmental policy.  This 
excludes employees covered under the Police Union Contract. 

 
2. All uniforms that are purchased by the City for an employee shall be worn 

during all work hours by the employee. 
 
3. Uniforms will be purchased by blanket contracts per Section 9 of this 

manual. 
 

4. For employees covered under the Police Union Contract, a uniform 
allowance will be provided in accordance with their uniform policy. 

 
20.03 SAFETY EQUIPMENT: 
 

1. All safety equipment purchased will be in accordance with union contracts or 
departmental policy and in accordance with Section 8 of this manual. 

 
2. All safety equipment purchased by the City will be worn at all times by the 

employee while performing his/her job duties. 
 
 
 
 

438



  95 

  
SECTION 21 

 
CELL PHONE ALLOWANCES 

 
 
 

21.01 PURPOSE: 
 

To establish a policy for the management and use of cellular telephones for City 
employees. 

 
21.02 CELL PHONES: 
 

1. The City recognizes a need for the use of cellular telephones by City 
employees in the performance of their duties.  Department Directors will 
determine which employees in their department require the use of cellular 
telephones.  It will be the responsibility of the Director to justify and budget for 
the cellular phone allowance.  

 
2. The City will supply a City-owned cellular telephone to some designated 

areas including, public works shift supervisor personnel and certain other shift 
employees.  Other than these defined areas, the City will not provide a City-
owned cellular telephone to the employees designated by the Department 
Directors but rather will provide the employee a monthly allowance in their 
paycheck to offset the expense of a personal cellular telephone.  The cellular 
telephone they use will be their personal property and therefore the employee 
will be responsible for the capital cost of the phone and the decision whether 
to carry insurance on the phone at their own expense. The employee at his or 
her own expense, may add extra services or equipment features as desired.  

 
3. For the Mayor, all Department Directors, all Division Managers, and all 

Supervisors that have been designated by the Director as required to carry a 
cellular telephone, the monthly allowance shall be $3545.  This includes a $5 
monthly equipment allowance as described below.  These management 
employees must be on call 24 hours, 7 days a week unless on authorized 
vacation.  If a management employee who is provided a cell phone allowance 
chooses to turn the phone off on off-duty hours or chooses to not answer the 
phone, they may lose their allowance and discipline may occur. 

 
4. Specified positions, other than management employees that have been 

designated by the Department Director, that are required to carry a cellular 
telephone due to the fact that they are heavy daily user of cellular phones,  
will also receive the allowance.  This allowance may range from $10 15 to 
$3545, depending on the employee’s job requirements. This will also include 
the $5 monthly equipment allowance as described below.  These positions 

439



  96 

will be required to have the phone on at all times for City business while at 
work and “if” on call 24 hours, 7 days a week.  If they do not have the phone 
on or choose to not answer the phone, they may lose their allowance and 
discipline may occur.  

 
5. Neither in the case of the management employees, or non-management 

employees, shall the allowance amount exceed the actual cost the employee 
is paying for their cellular telephone service.  If the amount is not over $3040, 
the employee will only be reimbursed up to the actual amount paid. 

 
6. The equipment allowance for each employee will be $5 a month.  This 

equipment allowance can be used by the employee for the cost of the phone 
or the cost of accessories (charges, belts, clips, etc). 

 
7. Employees will be allowed to make and receive personal calls on the cellular 

phone since it is the employee’s personal property.  However, these personal 
calls shall not interfere with work as already provided by city policy. 

 
8. A cellular telephone authorization form shall be completed by the employee 

and reviewed and signed by Division Manager (if applicable) and Department 
Director.  The completed form shall then by forwarded to the Controller/City 
Treasurer. 

 
9. The allowance shall continue until the Controller/City Treasurer is notified in 

writing by Department Director to discontinue the allowance or at a time that 
the employee terminates employment with the City. 

 
10. The employee must notify his or her own department and the Controller/City 

Treasurer each time the cellular phone number or cellular phone provider is 
changed.  

 
11. Initially,  the employee will be required to submit documentation verifying the 

cellular telephone number and the cost of the plan to ensure that the 
allowance does not exceed the allowance amount.  . If an employee changes 
their number, they shall be required to notify Financial Services immediately 
and provide the appropriate documentation.  

 
12. The $35 45 allowance has been determined to cover the cost of a basic  plan.  

On a periodic basis, the Financial Services Division will review the allowance 
amount to ensure that it is a reasonable and fair allowance.  The allowance 
will be added to the second payroll of each month.  

 
 
 
 
 

440



  97 

 
 
 

Cellular Telephone Authorization Request/Change Form 

 
 New Application/Enrollment  Change in Enrollment 

 

Employee Name       

Job Title       

Department/Division       

Work Phone       

Cell Phone Number       

Cell Phone Provider       

 
 
Certification & Approvals 

 
I certify that the above allowance will be used toward expenses I incur for cellular phone usage 
and that I am responsible for the payment of any cost that exceeds the approved City 
allowance.  I also understand that I am responsible for keeping my cellular phone service 
operational as long as I receive this allowance.  I confirm that I will utilize the City Cellular 
Phone Allowance Request/Change Form to notify City departments of changes to my cellular 
phone number or provider.  I understand and intend to comply with the City’s Cellular Phone 
Policy and Procedures.  I understand that that contract provisions of any communication service 
plan entered into user this program are my personal responsibility. 
 
 
Employee Signature: _______________________________________   Date:  _____________ 

 
 
 
Requested by: ____________________________________________   Date:  _____________ 

Dept./Div. Manager/Supervisor 
 
 

Approved by: _____________________________________________   Date:  _____________ 
Department Director 

For Administration Use: 

Begin Date: Amount: 

441



  98 

 
 
 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
CELLULAR TELEPHONE JUSTIFICATION 

 

Below are justifications for the required cellular telephone.  Please answer all areas that apply to 
you: 

1. Are you required to be on call 24 hours a day, 7 days a week?  If yes, please explain.  
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________ 

2. Does your position require you to spend a significant amount of time during your 
workday outside your office or work area?  If yes, please explain. 
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________ 

3. Does your position require you to travel frequently outside of the Cedar Falls area?  If 
yes, please explain. 
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________ 

4. Does your position require you to supervise or oversee several different work sites at 
various locations?  If yes, please explain. 
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________ 

5. Does your position require you to be contacted frequently for critical decisions?  If yes, 
please explain. 
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 

Date Processed: By: 

Formatted: Left, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" + Tab
after:  0.5" + Indent at:  0.5"

442



  99 

 
 
 

SECTION 22 
 

PROCUREMENT CARD PROGRAM 
 
 

22.01 PURPOSE:   

It is the intent of the procurement card program to provide users with an effective 
and efficient way to simplify and expedite the process of paying numerous 
vendors for approved purchases while insuring compliance with purchasing 
policies and the policies and procedures of other internal service providers. 

1. The program is intended to provide documentation of purchases at the 
department level. 

2. The program is intended to eliminate record keeping for vendors and expedite 
payment for purchases. 

3. The program is intended to eliminate numerous credit application forms and 
related records required to set up and maintain charge accounts with 
infrequently used vendors. 

4. The use of procurement cards shall be in compliance with all other city 
policies.  It is the responsibility of each cardholder to comply with these 
policies. 

 

22.02 ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES: 

1. The conduct of all City employees must meet the highest ethical standards, 
and that standard is a part of the City’s procurement card program.  All 
participants in the program are responsible for conducting themselves in such 
a way as to exemplify the public trust that they hold. 

2. Financial Services: 

a. It is the responsibility of Financial Services to handle issues with the card 
provider and cardholders regarding compliance with program policies.  

b. It is the responsibility of Financial Services to provide policy and 
procedure revisions to each Department Administrative ClerkAssistant. 

c. It is the responsibility of Financial Services to recommend appropriate 
action in the event of unauthorized use of a card. 

d. It is the responsibility of Financial Services to coordinate the card 
application process and keep a record of all cardholders.  

e. It is the responsibility of Financial Services to coordinate training sessions 
and keep a record of those who have completed training. 

443



  100 

f. It is the responsibility of Financial Services to handle issues with the card 
provider and cardholder regarding changes in cardholder status. 

g. It is the responsibility of Financial Services to handle questions 
concerning payment procedures and transaction reports. 

h. It is the responsibility of Financial Services to process payments in 
accordance with the program policies and the contract between the City 
and the card provider, once the payment has been entered by the 
department. 

 

3. Department Administrative Clerk Assistant:  Each work area including a 
cardholder shall have a purchasing card Department Administrative 
ClerkAssistant appointed by the Department Director.  

a. The Department Administrative ClerkAssistant is the primary contact 
person for Financial Services, and the card provider for all accounts in 
the department/division that he or she represents. 

b. It is the responsibility of the Department Administrative ClerkAssistant to 
ensure that the cardholders review their statement and submit their 
receipts. 

c. It is the responsibility of the Department Administrative ClerkAssistant to 
ensure that all costs are allocated and documentation is returned to 
Financial Services as soon as possible after the cycle cutoff. 

d. The Department Administrative ClerkAssistant will work with cardholders 
within their departments to ensure the resolution of disputes in accounts 
within his or her department/division.    

e. It is the responsibility of the Department Administrative ClerkAssistant to 
report any discrepancies including disputes between the transaction 
report and transaction receipts, including disputed items to Financial 
Services within three business days after receipt of the report. 

f. It is the responsibility of the Department Administrative ClerkAssistant to 
notify Financial Services when a cardholder in his or her 
department/division is no longer eligible for the program or will no longer 
be participating in the program. 

g. It is the responsibility of the Department Administrative ClerkAssistant to 
report any variances from program policies to Financial Services. 

 

4. Cardholder: 

a. It is the responsibility of each cardholder to know and to comply with 
Procurement Card program policies and procedures, as well as ensure 
purchases are made in accordance with the City’s Purchasing policies, 
including bidding requirements.  

444



  101 

b. It is the responsibility of each cardholder to ensure that funds have been 
properly budgeted and are available to pay for the items and/or services 
being purchased. 

c. It is the responsibility of each cardholder to keep informed about policy 
and procedure revision information. 

d. It is the responsibility of each cardholder to verify that the quantity and 
quality of the items and/or services purchased are in compliance with the 
agreement, whether verbal or written, with the vendor. 

e. It is the responsibility of each Cardholder to ensure that all disputes are 
resolved in accordance with the program guidelines. 

f. It is the responsibility of each cardholder to notify the vendor, when 
applicable, that the purchase is tax exempt and to ensure that such taxes 
are not added to the prices of items and/or services purchased. 

g. It is the responsibility of each cardholder to instruct the vendor to include 
the required information on the shipping document. 

h. It is the responsibility of each cardholder to work with the Department 
Administrative ClerkAssistant and resolve any discrepancies between the 
transaction report and transaction receipts within three business working 
days after receipt of the report. 

i. It is the responsibility of each cardholder to report any variances from 
program policies to Financial Services. 

 

22.03  APPLICATION AND CARD ISSUANCE PROCESS: 

1. Specific Full or Part time regular City employees may be designated by their 
Division Manager or Department Director to be issued a procurement card by 
submitting a completed application for procurement card to Financial 
Services.  Where special circumstances warrant, a temporary/seasonal 
employee may be granted a procurement card following the special request of 
a Department Director.  

a. City employees will relinquish current city issued credit cards for the city 
issued procurement cards. 

b. Application must be approved by employee’s supervisor, Department 
Director, and the Controller/City Treasurer. 

c. If the applicant is a Department Director, the Controller/City Treasurer 
must approve the application. 

2. The applicant will attend the next Procurement Card training session. 

3. Applicants shall attend a training session prior to issuance of a card.  Each 
card applicant will be provided with a copy of the policies at the mandatory 
training session. 

445



  102 

4. After completion of training and submission of the agreement form, the card 
will be given to the employee. 

5. Seasonal employees that return are required to attend the training session 
biennially.  

 

22.04 SECURITY: 

1. Procurement cards are the property of the City of Cedar Falls. 

2. It is the responsibility of the cardholder to keep the card in a safe location. 

3. Carrying cards permanently with personal cards is discouraged because of 
the possibility of its use in place of a personal credit card. 

4. Cards are to be used only by the employees assigned to the card.  The 
authorized cardholder can make a purchase for another employee, but should 
not “loan” his or her card to anyone. 

5. Lost or stolen cards shall be immediately reported to Financial Services and 
the credit card company. 

6. Cardholders shall return cards to the Department Administrative 
ClerkAssistant or Financial Services when employment with the City is 
terminated. 

7. Cardholders will refrain from any use of the procurement card upon providing 
notice of separation of employment, unless authorized by Department 
Director. 

 

22.05 TRANSACTION DOLLAR LIMITS AND EXCLUDED ITEMS: 

1. Purchases are limited to the pre-determined dollar amount established by the 
City’s Policy at the time of application. Limits will include single card 
transaction limit, per day limit, and per billing cycle limits. 

a. Circumventing the transactions limit is not allowed.  This means a 
cardholder cannot have a merchant split a transaction into two or more 
transactions that are less than single card transaction limit in order for the 
purchases to be made with a procurement card.  In the event that a 
purchase cannot be processed through the normal disbursement process, 
where a check is issued through accounts payable, there is an option 
available that complies with the City’s purchasing policy.  A cardholder 
may request that the single card transaction limit is waived for a specific 
purchase.  For this limit to be waived the cardholder must complete a 
Procurement Card Program Application/Enrollment and Account Change 
Form, clearly mark “Procurement Card Limit Increase” and the reason for 
the increase in the Comment Section of the form.  The Application/Change 
form is required to have approval from the Department Director and 
Controller/City Treasurer.  Once all of the required approvals are obtained, 

446



  103 

the Application/Change form should be sent to Financial Services and 
they will contact the credit card company to have the single transaction 
limit increased to an appropriate dollar amount for a short time period to 
allow the purchase to be processed.  After the purchase has been made 
Financial Services will contact the credit card company and change the 
single transaction limit back to the original limit.  A cardholder that 
chooses to use this method for a purchase must have the completed 
Application/Change form to Financial Services one week before the 
purchase is made, in order to allow time for the changes to be made with 
the credit card company.     

2. The procurement card shall not be used for the following: 

a. Cash Advance. 

b. Purchase of gift cards/gift certificates. 

c.b. Purchase of alcoholic beverages. 

d.c. Travel-related expenses related to spouses or other non-
covered persons. 

e.d. Items for personal use that would not be reimbursable by the 
City of Cedar Falls. 

f.e. Video rentals, “On Your Honor” bar purchases provided in hotel rooms. 

g.f. Rental or lease of land or buildings. 

h. Rental or lease of motor vehicles. 

i.g. Entertainment 

3. The procurement card may be used on a limited basis for the purchase of gift 
cards/gift certificates for prizes for wellness committee, fire prevention week, 
library programs/events and visitor & tourism events. 

3.4. The City procurement card shall not be used for personal identification or 
as personal credit references. 

4.5. Procurement cards should not be used at business where discounts are 
offered on in house charge accounts. 

5.6. Hardware, software, and services related to the City’s computer systems 
or telephone systems should not be purchased with a procurement card 
except by the Information Systems Division. 

 

22.06 USE OF CARD AND TRANSACTION RECORDS: 

1. Receipts & Invoices:  An original receipt or invoice from the vendor must 
support each purchase transaction.  Photocopies of receipts are not allowed.  

a. If the vendor sends receipts/invoices separately from the goods being 
purchased, the invoice/receipt should be sent directly to the cardholder’s 
department. 

447



  104 

b. If for some reason the cardholder does not have documentation of a 
transaction, he or she shall attach an explanation that includes the 
required information along with a statement of missing receipt/invoice 
form. 

2. Each receipt shall include the following information: 

a. Vendor name. 

b. Date of transaction. 

c. Amount of transaction. 

d. Itemized descriptions of the items and services purchased. 

1) If the procurement card receipt only includes the total purchase 
amount, the cardholder shall attach a detailed invoice, packing slip, or 
other vendor document with detailed information. 

2) If an itemized receipt is not available, the cardholder shall attach a 
written statement of missing receipt/invoice form for the items and 
services purchased. 

3. Bids and Quotes:  For purchases requiring bids or quotes from vendors that 
are made with procurement cards, cardholders must attach this 
documentation to their receipts and corresponding statement.  See Section 
11 of this manual for bid and quote requirements. 

4. Internet Transactions:  Cardholders shall confirm the security of proposed 
Internet order sites prior to placement of orders. 

a. Cardholders shall obtain a confirmation receipt and/or detailed 
documentation of each Internet transaction. 

b. Cardholders shall furnish receipts and records of Internet transactions with 
transaction reports. 

5. Conference, Training, and Travel Transactions:  Cardholders shall confirm 
budget approval prior to using cards for conference, training, or travel 
purposes as specified in Section 17 of this manual.  Prior to submitting any p-
card travel transactions,  travelers must be authorized by the cardholder’s 
Department Director and the Controller/City Treasurer.  Upon approval a 
travel card profile may be established.  

6. Telephone or Fax Orders:  Cardholders shall confirm the security of proposed 
telephone or fax orders prior to placement of orders. 

a. Cardholders shall obtain a receipt and/or a detailed documentation of 
each telephone or fax transaction. (i.e. packing slip from product 
shipment, ask for receipt to mailed after order is placed, original 
registration documentation) 

b. Cardholders shall furnish receipts and records of telephone or fax 
transactions with transaction reports. 

448



  105 

7. Pickup/In-Person Orders:  Cardholders may use cards in accordance with 
these policies at places of business accepting the cards. 

a. Cardholders shall obtain a receipt and/or a detailed documentation of 
each transaction. 

b. Cardholders shall furnish receipts and other records of transactions with 
transaction reports. 

8. Food Items:  Cardholders may use cards for food items in accordance with 
purchasing policies and the policies of this program.   

a. Cardholders shall obtain a detailed receipt or documentation of each 
transaction.  If a detailed receipt is not available, the cardholder must 
complete a “No Detailed Meal Receipt” form in lieu of the receipt and 
obtain the necessary approvals.  

b. Cardholders shall furnish receipts and other records of transactions with 
transaction reports. 

c. Transaction reports for food items must indicate the purpose for which the 
food was purchased. 

d. The name and affiliation of any non-employees or officers must be 
documented unless the food is purchased for an official reception or 
similar event where more than twenty people are expected to be in 
attendance. 

e. Incidental beverages and snacks are not an allowable expense under City 
policy. 

f. Cardholders shall not add more than 15% gratuity to a meal transaction.  

g. Cardholders are prohibited from purchasing alcoholic beverages with a 
procurement card, per state regulations.  

 

22.07 RECONCILIATION OF CHARGES: 

1. A weekly reminder will be sent to the Department Administrative 
ClerkAssistant, stating that the transactions are available for processing.  At 
the end of the billing cycle, an additional reminder is sent to reconcile the 
remaining transactions.  

2. Department Administrative ClerkAssistant will review their department 
transactions for the billing period.  When charges are reconciled, the 
transactions will be allocated to the correct general ledger account, and 
receipts will be attached. The Department Administrative ClerkAssistant will 
print the approval report, and it must be signed by the cardholder and 
Department Director (or other authorized signer).  These signatures verify 
receipt of the materials and/or services shown on the approval report.  No one 
is authorized to sign in place of the cardholder, unless the employee has left 
employment before the end of the cycle. 

449



  106 

3. Each Department Administrative ClerkAssistant will obtain the approval 
reports, receipts, and other documents from the cardholders in his or her 
department/division. 

4. Disputed Charges:  It is the responsibility of each cardholder to resolve any 
discrepancies between the transaction report for his or her card and 
transaction receipts.  All discrepancies shall be reported to the cardholder’s 
Department Administrative ClerkAssistant along with the reason for the 
discrepancy, who was contacted to resolve the discrepancy, when they were 
contacted, and the resolution.  If the dispute cannot be resolved before the 
processing deadline, the items in dispute should be expensed to the 
department, and the following procedures followed: 

a. It is the cardholder’s responsibility to make an attempt to correct the error 
with the vendor. 

b. In the event a charge is in one month, and a credit is received in the next 
billing cycle, the cardholder must submit documentation  for the current 
billing cycle. 

c. Attach a copy of the documentation to the statement. 

d. The cardholder is responsible to pursue the resolution with the assistance 
of his or her Department Administrative ClerkAssistant.  If the dispute is 
not resolved, the cardholder shall provide Financial Services with 
documentation of his or her efforts to resolve the dispute.  Updated reports 
will be filed monthly until the dispute is resolved. 

e. Card administrators shall have the authority to resolve disputes on behalf 
of cardholders in their respective work areas.  This is intended to ensure 
timely resolution of disputes. 

f. If an item was returned to the vendor, but the credit not received during 
the same billing cycle as the charge, the item must be expensed to the 
department during the current period; the charge should be reversed when 
the credit appears. 

5. Each Department Administrative ClerkAssistant will submit the 
department/division approval reports, complete the on line cost allocation, 
and return the approval report with authorized signatures to Financial 
Services for payment. 

6. Financial Services will process payments in accordance with the program 
policies and the contract between the City and the card provider.  

7. Sales Taxes:  Purchases on the Procurement Card are tax-exempt.  

a. If sales tax is charged in error, the cardholder should request a credit back 
to the card from the vendor in the amount of the sales tax. 

8. Credits and Return:  All credits and returns will be credited back to the 
Purchasing card.  NO cash is to be returned to the cardholder. 

 

450



  107 

22.08 PROGRAM VIOLATIONS: 

1. Types of Violations: 

a. Unallowable purchases:  Reference Section 22.05. 

b. Unacceptable Documentation:  Each transaction shall be documented by 
an itemized invoice or record including the required information 
(Reference Section 22.06.2). 

c. Late submission of Procurement Card Reconciliation or Authorization for 
Payment (Reference Section 22.07):  Timely completion of reconciliation 
documents and authorization for payment documents is critical to the 
success of this program.  The contract between City and the card provider 
requires payment to be made as scheduled. 

d. Unresolved Item Disputes (Reference Section 22.07):  Disputed charges 
are paid, and then credited if the dispute is resolved in favor of the 
cardholder.  Failure to resolve disputed charges therefore results in 
excess costs to departments. 

e. Standards of Conduct Violations:  Failure to act in accordance with 
expected standards of conduct jeopardizes the public trust held by City 
employees. 

f. Security Violations: Reference Section 22.04. 

2. Consequences of Program Violations: 

a. Unallowable purchases:  The cardholder will provide a written statement of 
explanation. 

b. Unacceptable Documentation:  The cardholder will provide required 
documentation upon notification by Financial Services.   

c. Late Submission of Procurement Card Reconciliation Documents and 
Failure to Resolve Disputes:  Late submissions and/or failure to resolve 
disputes may result in temporary de-activation of the card. 

d. Standards of Conduct Violations:  Conduct not complying with City 
standards will be reported to the City Attorney.  In addition to card 
revocation, violations may result in disciplinary action up to and including 
termination of City employment. 

3. Repeated program violations will be reviewed by Financial Services and the 
City Attorney.  In addition to temporary de-activation of the card, 
consequences of violation may include card revocation, payroll deduction for 
unallowable purchases and expenses that were not reconciled, and/or 
disciplinary action, which may include termination. 

 

 

 

451



  108 

 

     PROCUREMENT CARD PROGRAM 
APPLICATION/ENROLLMENT AND ACCOUNT CHANGE 

FORM 

Permanent City Employees are Eligible for this Program 

 New Application/Enrollment  Change in Enrollment 

First Name**       
Emp. 
No. 

      

Middle 
Name** 

      
Employee 
Birthdate**: 

      

Last Name**       

** Full legal name and date of birth is required per the United States Secrecy Act and USA PATRIOT Act, as well 
as with Canada’s Proceeds of Crime and Terrorist Financing Act & Criminal Code in the fight against the funding 
of terrorism and money launderings activities. 

Job Title       Dept./Div.       

Work 
Telephone No. 

      

Work Email 
Address 

      

Dept/Div. 
Admin. Clerk 

      

               

Account Authorization and Limits (to be completed by Department Head or designee) 

Travel Authorized?  (Airfares & Hotels) 
   Yes     No 

Single Purchase 
Limit                           $       

Merchant Category Code Group Exclusions 
(indicate group codes): 

Billing Cycle  
Limit                           $       

CASH             
 
Comments:      

   

   

 
 

Requested by:________________________________  _______________________ 
                        Dept./Div. Manager/Supervisor    Date    
 
Approved by:________________________________  _______________________ 
                        Department Director     Date    
 
Approved by:________________________________  _______________________ 
                        Controller/City Treasurer     Date    

452



  109 

 

For Card Issuer/Program Administration Use: 

Training Session Attended Purchasing Card Ordered 

Date: By: Date: By: 

Cardholder Account No. Last 4-Digits  

Cardholder Agreement Form on reverse 

453



  110 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
PROCUREMENT CARD PROGRAM 

CARDHOLDER AGREEMENT 
 
The undersigned agrees to the following terms and conditions of the City of Cedar Falls 
Procurement Card Program: 
 
1. I am acting as an agent for the City of Cedar Falls and will follow all applicable 

federal, state, and City policies and procedures when using the procurement 
card. 

2. I understand that this program is only for purchases for official City use. 

3. I will strive to obtain the best value for the City. 

4. I will coordinate purchases with the Department/Division Administrative Assistant 
to assure that budgetary and other fiscal requirements are met. 

5. I will turn in receipts to the Department/Division Administrative Assistant for all 
transactions purchased with the Card.  If I should return an item that was 
purchased with the Card, the return will be credited to the Card and I will turn in 
the credit receipt to the Department/Division Administrative Assistant. 

6. I will notify the vendor, when applicable, that the purchase is tax exempt and will 
ensure that such taxes are not added to the prices of items and/or services 
purchased. 

7. I understand and agree to follow the policies and procedures of the City of Cedar 
Falls Procurement Card Program. 

8. I have fully reviewed and understand and agree to the terms and conditions as 
provided by the Card Issuer. 

9. I understand that I am personally responsible for the Card issued to me.  I accept 
full and complete responsibility for the use of this card in accordance with this 
Agreement.  I understand that I may be held personally liable, including possible 
discipline, for any unauthorized use or abuse of the Card by me or by others with 
my permission or knowledge.  See Section 22 Procurement Card Program of the 
Accounting Policies and Procedures and Purchasing Manual. 

10. I authorize my Department/Division Administrative Assistant to act on my behalf 
in resolution of disputed charges. 

11. I will report a missing or stolen card within 24 hours of discovery of loss, to 
USBank and to Financial Services. 

12. I will surrender my card when requested by the Financial Services or upon 
separation from employment with the City. 

 

Employee: ________________________________   ______________________ 
   Signature           Date  

454



  111 

   

 ________________________________ 

   Printed Name 

 
 
 
 

Written Statement for Missing P-Card Receipt/Invoice 

 

I acknowledge that I have not provided a receipt/invoice in accordance with City 

Procurement Card Policy 22.06.  I understand that the City uses receipts to document the 

type of expense, the appropriateness of the expense, and the reasonableness of the expense.  

In lieu of the required receipt, I will attest with my signature below that the item(s) 

purchased or service provided was a City business expense and that there were no 

prohibited purchases included in the purchase.   

 

Description of Purchase (detailed): _________________________________________ 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Date of Purchase: ________________Amount of Purchase: $_____________________ 

 

Signature of Employee: _________________________________________________ 

 

Printed Name of Employee:______________________________________________ 

 

Supervisor Approval:   _________________________________________________ 

 

Controller/City Treasurer Approval:    ______________________________________ 

 

Date:______________________________________________________________ 

 
 

Violation to Procurement Card Program 

Written Statement for Unallowable Purchases 

Procurement Card Policy Sec 22.08.2(a)  

 

455



  112 

I acknowledge that I have purchased unallowable item(s) on my City of Cedar Falls Procurement 

card in violation of Procurement Card Policy 22.05 Transaction Dollar Limits & Excluded Items: 

“Items for personal use that would not be reimbursable by the City of Cedar Falls.”    

My explanation of what happened is as follows (attach additional sheet if needed): 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

I will attest with my signature below that the item(s) purchased or service provided was not a 

City business expense and that I have reimbursed the City  $___________ for these items (copies 

of receipts attached).  I also understand that for future, repeated violations of the policy could 

result in disciplinary action, which may include termination.  

 

Date of Purchase: ______________________ Amount of Purchase: ______________________ 

 

Description of Purchase: _________________________________________________________ 

 

Signature of Employee: __________________________________________ Date: ___________ 

 

Printed Name of Employee: _______________________________________________________ 

 

Supervisor Approval:  ____________________________________________Date:___________ 

 

Controller/City Treasurer Approval:  _______________________________ Date: ___________ 

 

 

456



  113 

 
 

457



  114 

 
 

458



  115 

 

459



  116 

 
 
 

460



  117 

SECTION 23 
 

CASH RECEIPTS 
 
 
23.01 INTRODUCTION: 
 

All divisions of the City of Cedar Falls that receive cash different forms of 
payment for goods and/or services  
are required to comply with certain Internal Controls to safeguard cashthese 
payments. The division may accept the following forms of payment: 

 Cash 

 Bank checks 

 Money orders 

 Cashier checks 

 Credit Cards (VISA, MasterCard, Amercian Express and Discover 
credit cards) 
 

Divisions are not allowed to establish GoFundMe, PayPal or other online 
payment accounts to accept payments for goods and/or services.  Divisions may 
submit a request to Finance and Business Operations and if deemed necessary 
the account shall be established through their office. 
 

23.02 PROCEDURE: 
 

1. For every cash payment transaction, pre-numbered receipts must be issued. 
 
Copy 1 - Customer 
Copy 2 - Division retains 
Copy 3 -  Sent to Financial Services Division with the cash deposit 
 
A copy of a computer generated cash receipts list can be sent to Financial 
Services if your particular receipts do not have three (3) copies. 

 
2. The employee accepting the cash payment must sign the receipt. 
 
3. Divisions must balance cash payments daily. 
 
4. Cash Payments and the corresponding receipts must be deposited in 

Financial Services daily.  If a division does not accumulate $100 daily, they 
may make deposits to Financial Services following the natural cycle of that 
division's receipts. 

 
5. The Financial Services employees must balance the cash payments with the 

receipts on a daily basis. 
 

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 
1.25" + Indent at:  1.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5"

461



  118 

6. The Financial Services Division must deposit cash receipts in the bank daily. 
 
7. The Financial Services Division must keep on file in numerical order their 

copy of the Division's receipt. 
 
8. On a random basis, a representative from the Financial Services Division 

may audit the cash receipt process, count cash on hand, and balance cash 
to receipts for that day.  Applicable inventory will also be counted. 

 

462



  119 

  
SECTION 24 

 
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

 
 
24.01 INTRODUCTION: 
 

The City of Cedar Falls bills individuals for the use of the transfer station,  
garbage dumpster pick-up, fire inspections, building inspections, engineering 
inspections, and other miscellaneous services provided by the City. 

 
24.02 PROCEDURE: 
 

1. Department Responsibilities: 
 

a. The individual departments that charge citizens of Cedar Falls for 
miscellaneous services will provide Financial Services with the 
information needed to bill their customers. 

 
1) The departments will provide a list of customers, customer number, 

date and services rendered, and amount due.  Each list will be 
approved and signed by an authorized individual. 

 
2) All other departments and divisions will complete the accounts 

receivable charge form.  
 
3) Departments will provide Financial Services with new customer 

information and changes to existing customers. 
 

b. Financial Services Division will print aged accounts receivable listings 
monthly to check for outstanding bills and provide that to departments. 

 
c. Financial Services with the coordination of the departments will collect 

overdue bills. 
 
d. It is the department's responsibility to avoid duplicate billings and make 

sure that if a customer pays for the service with cash that a bill is not 
sent for the same service. 

 
2. Finance & Business Operations responsibilities: 

 
a. Financial Services will recompute the lists and charge forms and check  

for appropriate signatures. 

463



  120 

 
b. Financial Services will enter the customer and charge information in the 

computer. 
 
c. Financial Services will print the invoices monthly and mail to the 

customers. 
 
d. Financial Services will receive payments in the mail, post the cash 

receipts, and credit accounts receivable to remove the bill from the 
outstanding accounts receivable list. 

 
e. Financial Services will run and mail monthly statements to all 

customers. 
 
f. A late charge of 1 1/2% per month will be charged any bill that is older 

than 30 days. 
 
g. If a department determines they cannot collect an overdue bill within 

120 days, Financial Services will submit the bill to a collection agency or 
the State of Iowa Department of Administrative Services (DAS) Income 
Offset Program, in accordance with Iowa Code chapter 8A.504 and 11 
Iowa Administrative Code (IAC) 40. 

 

1) Financial Services will give written notice to the debtor that the City 
intends to submit the debt owed by the debtor to a collection 
agency or (DAS) Income Offset Program. The notice must: 

i. Explain the basis for the City’s claim to the debt;  

ii. Inform the debtor that the City intends to send the debt to a 
collection agency or DAS Income Offset Program;  

iii. Inform the debtor that the debtor has 30 days (after the date 
the City mailed the notice of the proposed action to the 
debtor) to contact the City Financial Services Division to 
contest the debt owed the City;  

iv. Inform the debtor that failure to contact City Financial 
Services Division within the required time will result in the 
debt being turned over to the collection agency or DAS 
Income Offset Program.  

2) Once a bill has been submitted to the collection agency or DAS 
Income Offset Program, City employees in the affected divisions 
will no longer negotiate with the customer without contacting 
Financial Services Division. 

3) All questions from customers whose accounts have been submitted 
to the collection agency or DAS Income Offset Program must be 

464



  121 

referred to the Financial Services Division.  If a customer contacts 
divisions about such an account, the divisions must contact 
Financial Services. 

4) The Controller/City Treasurer has the authority to void outstanding 
bills based on information received from the divisions. 

5) The Controller/City Treasurer will contact the collection agency or 
DAS with the authorization to void outstanding bills. 

6) State of Iowa Department of Administrative Services (DAS) Income 
Offset Program: 

i. City will receive notification from DAS when a debt is 
identified to match a Social Security number or Federal 
Employer Tax Identification number payments issued by 
State of Iowa to debtor. Upon notification, City must send 
written notice to the debtor that the City intends apply the 
debtor’s State tax refund or other State of Iowa payment 
against the debt;  

ii. The notice shall consist of the following in accordance with 
11 Iowa Administrative Code 40.4(4) :  

a. Written notification by first class mail explaining the 
basis for the City’s claim to the debt.  

b. Inform the debtor that the City intends to apply the 
debtor’s State tax refund or other State of Iowa 
payment against the debt.  

c. Inform the debtor they have the right to contest the 
matter by requesting an administrative hearing with 
the City.  That the hearing shall determine the merits 
of whether to withhold the debtors State tax refund or 
other State of Iowa payment. 

d. If such request is made, it must be within 15 days of 
the date of the mailing of the notice.  

e. Inform the debtor that failure to request an 
administrative hearing within the required time, or 
failure to appear at such hearing, shall constitute a 
waiver to the right to a hearing and will result in 
income setoff of the debt against the debtor’s State 
tax refund or other State of Iowa payment.  

iii. A request for an administrative hearing must be made in 
writing to the City Clerk or designee.  The request shall be 
reviewed to determine whether to apply the debtors State tax 
refund or other State of Iowa payment towards the debt. 

iv. Notice of Hearing after Request by Debtor in accordance 

465



  122 

with Iowa Code chapter 17A shall: 

a) Inform the debtor of the time, date and the place for the 
hearing.  

b) Inform the debtor the hearing shall be conducted before 
the Director of Finance and Business Operations or 
designee, and shall be limited to a determination of 
whether to apply the debtors State tax refund or other 
State of Iowa payment towards the debt.  

c) Provide the debtor with a pre-hearing contact person.  

d) Inform the debtor that after the hearing, the City will 
mail to the debtor a written decision as to whether the 
debt is owed and the amount;  

e) However, no such notice need be given should the 
debtor or a designated representative of the debtor fail 
to appear at such hearing. 

v. Post Hearing Procedure:  

a) Advise the debtor of the hearing decision.  

b) Inform the debtor that if the debtor disagrees with the 
decision of the Director of Finance and Business 
Operations or designee, the debtor may file a petition 
for a contested case under Iowa Code chapter 
17A.12(3).  

c) Inform the debtor that the petition for a contested case 
must be filed within 15 days after the debtor receives a 
copy of the City’s decision. 

vi. Notice of Petition after Request by Debtor in accordance 
with Iowa Code chapter 17A.12(3) shall:  

f) Inform the debtor of the time, date and the place for the 
petition hearing.  

g) Inform the debtor the petition hearing shall be 
conducted before the Administrative Committee. The 
Administrative Committee will take the necessary steps 
to review and investigate the petition and will issue a 
written, final, and binding decision. 

h) Provide the debtor with a pre-hearing contact person.  

i) Inform the debtor that after the petition hearing, the City 
will mail to the debtor a written final decision as to 
whether the debt is owed and the amount;  

j) However, no such notice need be given should the 
debtor or a designated representative of the debtor fail 

466



  123 

to appear at such hearing. 

vii. City shall notify via facsimile DAS Income Offset Program 
within 45 days of receiving notification in 24.02.2g(6(i)), the 
amount required to satisfy the debtor’s debt or to release the 
funds to the debtor. DAS Income Offset will make offset, if 
applicable, and refund any balance due to debtor.  
 

 

 

467



  124 

SECTION 25 
 

PAYROLL 
 
 
25.01 INTRODUCTION: 
 

The City of Cedar Falls collects time worked by employees and processes payroll 
on a bi-weekly basis. 

 
25.02 DEPARTMENT RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 

1. Each department is responsible for keeping track of the time worked by their 
employees. 

 
2. Each pay period the employee completes a time sheet and signs it.  It then is 

signed by  the authorized supervisor for that department.  The timesheet 
should include the time spent each day by the employee on certain payroll 
tasks codes as developed by their department.  

 
3. The time sheets are entered into the payroll system by the departments and 

copies of the timesheets shall be delivered to Financial Services. 
 
4. All new employees must complete personnel action sheets and provide the 

Financial Services  Division with new employee information before they can 
be entered into the computer to receive a paycheck. 

 
25.03 FINANCIAL SERVICES RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 

1. A Financial Services employee scans the time sheets and checks them for 
compliance with City policies and procedures. 

 
2. A Financial Services employee enters any employee changes into the 

computer. 
 
3. Financial Services employees check the changes for accuracy. 
 
4. After it is determined that the information is correct, the direct deposit 

transfer is done and checks are printed.  The controls listed in Section 7.03 
2b that exist over the regular checks also exist over paychecks. 

 
5. Financial Services employees electronically sign the checks and stuff them 

into envelopes. The Financial Services employees also print the direct 
deposit stubs and stuff them into envelopes.  

 
6. The envelopes with the checks and direct deposit stubs are stored in the 

468



  125 

locked vault until Friday morning of payroll when the Controller/City 
Treasurer or his/her designee distributes the checks to the pre-approved 
departmental employee who then distributes the checks to the employees. 

 
7. The Controller/City Treasurer or designee transmits the direct deposit to the 

bank. 
 
8. Financial Services employees complete all tax forms, write the checks or 

electronically transmit the funds for taxes, FICA, insurance, etc., using the 
Accounts Payable System described in Section 7. 

 

469



  126 

SECTION 26 
 

LOANS 
 
 
26.01 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT LOANS: 
 

1. The Planning & Community Services Division periodically recommends to 
the City Council consideration of loans to businesses in an effort to promote 
economic development and job creation/retention in the City of Cedar Falls. 

 
2. The loan agreement is completed and approved by the City’s legal counsel 

prior to presentation to the City Council for approval. 
 
3. After the City Council approves the loan agreement, the check is processed 

following the procedures in Section 7.02. 
 
4. Loan repayment schedules are prepared by Financial Services, and principal 

and interest payments are monitored by Financial Services. 
 
26.02 IOWA ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY PROGRAM LOANS: 
 

1. The Planning & Community Services Division periodically assists businesses 
in Cedar Falls in acquiring loans from the various programs through the Iowa 
Economic Development Authority . 

 
2. The Planning & Community Services Division coordinates preparation of  the 

loan application documents, acquires all the appropriate signatures, and 
presents all the documents to Council for approval. 

 
3. After the Council approves the application documents, they are submitted to  

the State of Iowa.  The state sends the loan to the City, the City deposits the 
loan in the Economic Development Fund, and then a check is written to the 
applicant.   The check is processed following the procedures in Section 7.02. 

 
4. Repayments of principal and interest are the responsibility of the applicant 

and are paid by the applicant.  For applicant loan funds, loan payments are 
made to the City of Cedar Falls, and the City pays the State following the 
procedures in Section 7.02. 

 
5. The payments made by the applicant are monitored by the Planning & 

Community Services Division. 
 

 
 
 

470



  127 

 
 
 

SECTION 27 
 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING (TIF) POLICY 
 
 
27.01 PURPOSE:  
 

1. The City may create Urban Renewal Areas in accordance with Chapter 403 
of the Code of Iowa. 

 
2. When it deems appropriate, City Council may approve Tax Increment 

Financing (TIF) for a public or private project in accordance with the 
applicable adopted Urban Renewal Plan guidelines.   This policy sets forth 
the procedures and policies to be used for TIF.   

 
27.02 TAX INCREMENT FINANCING: 
 

1. When an urban renewal area is legally created, all of the tax dollars on the 
incremental value of the district will flow to the City, excluding the debt 
services requirements by each taxing body.   

2. These funds may  be used to pay for improvements and/or land acquisitions 
within that urban renewal area or other allowable uses as outlined in Iowa 
Code Chapter 403 and as identified in each adopted Urban Renewal Plan .  

3. Annually, the Director of Finance & Business Operations must certify to the 
County Auditor the amount of debt in each of the TIF areas and the amount 
of property tax dollars collected in that area.  The Director of Finance & 
Business Operations must also submit to the Iowa Department of 
Management the required annual TIF reports.    

 
27.03 TAX INCREMENT FINANCING INCENTIVES:  
 

1. In an effort to provide incentives for commercial development, the City 
Council adopted a policy to encourage large-scale commercial/retail 
development. 
a. The minimum taxable valuation of the development must be 

$15,000,000.   
b. The City can provide the developer a 45% tax rebate (incentive) for up to 

five years 
c. The rebate would be used by the developer to pay infrastructure or other 

eligible costs associated with the project.  
d. The tax rebate will not exceed the actual cost of the infrastructure.  

2. For industrial and office development, a tax abatement or rebate incentive 
may be provided if approved by the Council.  

471



  128 

a. The abatement or rebate schedule would generally be in the amount of 
75% the first year, 60% the second year, 45% the third year, 30% the 
fourth year, and 15% the fifth year.   

b. After the fifth year of abatement/rebate, zero tax dollars would be 
abated/rebated.  

3. As special development projects are proposed to the City, the City Council 
may decide to provide increased incentives, subject  to the terms of an 
approved Developmental Agreement.  

 
27.04 INCENTIVE NEGOTIATIONS: 
 

1. If a developer is interested in pursuing a project in the City of Cedar Falls, 
the initial contact is with the Planning & Community Services Division.  

2. The Departments of Community Development and Finance & Business 
Operations will then negotiate with the developer on the amount of incentives 
the City may be willing to provide, subject to City Council approval.   

3. Once a tentative agreement is made between the City staff, including the 
City Administrator,  and the developer, a development agreement is 
prepared by the City’s legal counsel. 

4. This agreement is then approved by the City Council following applicable 
legal proceedings.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

472



  129 

  

473



  130 

SECTION 28 
 

OUTSIDE AGENCY FUNDING 
 

 
28.01 PURPOSE: 
 

1. On annual basis outside agencies may apply to the City of Cedar Falls for 
funding.   

2. The funding amount will be presented to the City Council for approval 
through the annual budget process. 

3. Funding for outside agencies will not be provided for under the General 
Fund, unless determined to be associated with a City operation funded in the 
General Fund.  

 
28.02 APPLICATION PROCEDURE: 
 

1. The agency applying for funding should contact Finance & Business 
Operations to determine which avenue they should pursue to request 
funding.  

2. The Director of Finance & Business Operations and Controller/City Treasurer 
along with other applicable staff from other departments will determine 
whether the agency should apply under the Tourism & Visitors Fund,  the 
Health Trust Fund, Economic Development Fund, Community Betterment 
Fund, Community Block Grant Fund, or any other special fund.   

3. Under special circumstances funding for large community capital projects 
may occur under the City’s Capital Projects Fund or other unique funding 
sources. 

4. Project requests associated with the University of Northern Iowa (UNI) 
should be directed to Finance & Business Operations from the University’s 
Office of the Vice President of Administration and Finance or the Special 
Assistant to the President for Board and Governmental Relations.  
 

28.03 FUNDING SOURCES: 
1. Health Trust Funding – Applications are submitted to the Health Trust Fund 
Board in October of each year.  The Board uses a formula based on the interest 
income derived off of trust assets to determine the amount of funding available to 
be distributed.  They present their recommended funding model in February to 
the City Council as part of the annual budget process. 
 
2. Economic Development Funding – Applications are submitted to the Economic 
Development Committee in November of each year.  The Committee uses a 
formula based on hotel/motel tax revenue to determine the amount of funding 
available each year.  They present their recommended funding model in 
February to the City Council as part of the annual budget process.  
 

474



  131 

3. Community Betterment Funding – Applications are submitted to the Visitors & 
Tourism Board in November of each year.  The Board uses a formula based on 
hotel/motel tax revenue to determine the amount of funding available each year.  
They present their recommended funding model in February to the City Council 
as part of the annual budget process.  
 
4. Community Block Grant Funding – Applications are received by the Planning & 
Community Services Division each year.  The amount of funding is determined 
by the annual federal appropriate through the Block Grant program. This funding 
is then presented to the City Council as part of the annual budget process.  
 

 

475



  132 

SECTION 29 
 

DEBT MANAGEMENT 
 
 
29.01 PURPOSE: 
 

The City of Cedar Falls continues to have capital outlay needs across the 
organization.  In order to finance those capital outlays, the City of Cedar Falls 
may issue long-term obligations. The purpose of this policy is to assist in 
managing those debt issuance needs and to ensure proper procedures are 
followed throughout the debt issuance process and thereafter in regards to spend 
down of proceeds and compliance reporting. 

 
29.02 DEFINITIONS: 

 
“Advisors” means the City’s bond counsel, financial advisor, paying agent, and/or 
rebate analyst. 
 
“Code” means Sections 103 and 141 through 150 of the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986, as amended. 
 
“Credit Ratings” are independent ratings of the City’s financial capacity and 
insight into City’s organizational strengths and weaknesses as they pertain to 
providing municipal services.  Moody’s currently rate City of Cedar Falls debt.  
 
“General Obligation Debt” typically referred to as G.O. debt is backed by the full-
faith and credit of the City which requires that sufficient tax revenue is generated 
each year to pay all debt service on such debt.  There is no statutory limit on the 
amount of annual taxes that can be raised for payment of municipal debt service. 
 
“Revenue Debt” means debt issued for purpose of City Enterprise Funds such as 
Sanitary Sewer, Stormwater, and Refuse.  Revenue debt is secured by the 
annual revenues of the individual Enterprise Fund and therefore carries a riskier 
credit rating and higher interest rates than the City’s General Obligation debt.  
Reserve funds and proof of excess annual payment capacity (debt service 
coverage) are required when issuing Revenue Debt. 
 
“Rules” means Sections 103 and 141 through 150 of the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986, as amended, and the U.S. Treasury Regulations promulgated 
thereunder. 

 

29.03 DEBT PLANNING GUIDELINES: 
 

1. Capital Financing Strategy - The City will seek to use current revenues (cash) 
for capital outlays if the useful life of the improvement/equipment is less than five 

476



  133 

years.  Traditional debt will be utilized for capital improvements that are expected 
to retain value and efficient functionality beyond five-ten years.  This approach 
will achieve a fair allocation of costs upon the current and future 
beneficiaries/users of the capital investments. 
 

If the financial environment stabilizes and alternative revenue sources become 

available, the length of debt can be shortened and more capital outlays can shift 

to current revenue resources to reduce interest costs. 

 

Whenever possible, the City will leverage grant opportunities without straying 

from pursuing the most essential capital projects. 

 

The City will use Revenue Debt to fund Enterprise capital outlays if the 

associated credit rating is strong and interest costs are only marginally higher 

than a G.O. borrowing.  See credit discussion below. 

2. Credit Rating Strategy - The City seeks to maintain the highest possible credit 
rating for its long-term General Obligation and Revenue debt that can be 
reasonably achieved without compromising the delivery of basic City services. 
 

The City’s current ratings are as follows.  

Type of Debt Moody’s Rating 

General Obligation Aa1 

Sanitary Sewer Aa2 

  

 

 

The City recognizes that access to the broad municipal debt markets is essential 

to maintaining affordable interest costs for capital outlays.  As municipal bond 

market and credit agency requirements and expectations change, so too will the 

City’s policies and procedures associated with debt issuances and administrative 

compliance.  The City will keep this program and council-directed policies 

updated. 

3. Debt Limit Calculation - Article XI, Section 3 of the State of Iowa Constitution 
limits the amount of debt outstanding at any time of any county, municipality or 
other political subdivision to no more than 5% of the actual value of all taxable 
property within the corporate limits, as taken from the last state and county tax 
list.  The debt limit can be further restricted if a municipality so chooses. 
 

 
 
 
 

477



  134 

 
 
 
29.04 DEBT ADMINISTRATION POLICIES: 

1. Responsible Parties:  

a. The Director of Finance and Business Operations shall be the party 

primarily responsible for ensuring that the City of Cedar Falls successfully 

carries out its tax compliance requirements under applicable provisions of 

the Rules with regard to all obligations associated with debt issuance.  

The Director of Finance and Business Operations shall be assisted by the 

Controller/City Treasurer and other staff and officials when appropriate 

and at the Director’s discretion.  Advisors may be engaged during the time 

the bonds are outstanding for assistance in carrying out post-issuance tax 

compliance requirements. 

 

b. The Director of Finance and Business Operations shall be responsible 

for assigning post-issuance tax compliance responsibilities to other staff 

and to the Advisors. The Director of Finance and Business Operations 

shall utilize such other professional service organizations as are 

necessary to ensure compliance with the post-issuance tax compliance 

requirements of the City of Cedar Falls.  The Director of Finance and 

Business Operations shall provide training and educational resources to 

staff responsible for ensuring compliance with any portion of the tax 

compliance requirements of this policy. 

2. Tax Exempt Debt Compliance 

 

The City of Cedar Falls tax-exempt governmental bonds must comply with 

federal tax rules pertaining to expenditure of proceeds for qualified costs, 

rate of expenditure, use of bond financed property, investment of 

proceeds in compliance with arbitrage rules, and retention of records.  As 

an issuer of such bonds, the Governing Body of the City of Cedar Falls is 

required by the terms of Sections 103 and 141 through 150 of the Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the U.S. Treasury Regulations 

promulgated thereunder, to take certain actions subsequent to the 

issuance of the bonds to ensure the continuing tax-exempt status of such 

bonds.  Further, Section 6001 of the Code and Section 1.6001-1(a) of the 

Treasury Regulations impose record retention requirements on the City of 

Cedar Falls with respect to its tax-exempt governmental bonds. This policy 

478



  135 

is designed to ensure that the City of Cedar Falls complies with its tax 

compliance obligations under applicable provisions of the Rules. 

 

a. Expenditure of Bond Proceeds Process:  The Director of Finance and 

Business Operations shall review the resolution authorizing issuance for each 

tax-exempt obligation, and shall: 

 

i. obtain a computation of the yield on such issue from the City’s financial 

advisor;   

ii. create a separate Project Fund (with as many sub-funds as shall be 

necessary to allocate proceeds among the projects being funded by the 

issue) into which the proceeds of issue shall be deposited;  

iii. review all requisitions, draw schedules, draw requests, invoices and bills 

requesting payment from the Project Fund;  

iv. determine whether payment from the Project Fund is appropriate, and if 

so, make payment from the Project Fund (and appropriate sub-fund if 

applicable);  

v. maintain records of the payment requests and corresponding cancelled 

checks showing payment; 

vi. consult with the Advisors to ensure that such expenditures are within the 

sixty (60) day period prior to the date in which the City of Cedar Falls 

made a “declaration of intent” to reimburse such costs or are preliminary 

expenditures under the Code, in the event the City of Cedar Falls seeks to 

utilize bond proceeds for costs that were incurred prior to the issuance of 

the bonds; 

vii. maintain records showing the earnings on, and investment of, the Project 

Fund; 

viii. ensure that investments acquired with proceeds are purchased at fair 

market value; and 

ix. identify bond proceeds or applicable debt service allocations that must be 

invested with a yield-restriction and monitor the investments of any yield-

restricted funds to ensure that the yield on such investments does not 

exceed the yield to which such investments are restricted. 

 

479



  136 

b. Rate of Expenditure: The Director of Finance and Business Operations shall 

ensure that the expenditure of bond proceeds will be monitored against the 

expenditure expectations represented in the tax compliance certificate for such 

bond issue to ensure that: 

i. Five percent (5%) of the net sale proceeds were spent or committed 

within six (6) months of the issue date; 

ii. Eighty-five percent (85%) of the net sale proceeds were spent within 

three (3) years of the issue date; and 

iii. The City of Cedar Falls proceeded with due diligence to complete the 

project and fully spend the net sale proceeds.  

 

Failure to meet the expected expenditure expectations represented in the tax 

compliance certificate for such bond issue shall be documented and retained by 

the City Clerk in the records for the bond issue. 

 

c. Arbitrage Rules and Rebate Requirements: The Director of Finance and 

Business Operations shall review the tax compliance certificate for each tax-

exempt obligation, and the expenditure records, and shall: 

i. monitor and ensure that proceeds of each such issue are spent within 

the temporary period set forth in such certificate;  

ii. if the “small issuer” exception does not apply, monitor and ensure that 

the proceeds are spent in accordance with one or more of the 

applicable exceptions to rebate as set forth in such certificate; 

iii. not less than sixty (60) days prior to a required expenditure date confer 

with bond counsel if it appears expenditures will fail to meet the 

applicable temporary period or rebate exception expenditure 

requirements of the Tax-Exemption Certificate;  

iv.  in the event of failure to meet a temporary period or rebate exception: 

a. procure a timely computation of any rebate liability and, if 

rebate is due, file a Form 8038-T and arrange for payment of 

such rebate liability;  

 

b. arrange for timely computation and payment of “yield 

reduction payments” (as such term is defined in the Code and 

Treasury Regulations), if applicable; 

480



  137 

 

v. ensure that the investment of bond proceeds is made only in 

permitted investments of the City of Cedar Falls as outlined in 

Iowa Code chapters 12B and 12C, and in the City’s 

administrative policies, 

 

vi. consult with the Advisors to ensure that the investment of bond 

proceeds is performed in compliance with the arbitrage rules 

and rebate requirements; 

 

vii. consult with the Advisors to identify bond proceeds that must be 

yield-restricted and shall monitor the investments of any yield-

restricted funds to ensure that the yield on such investments 

does not exceed the yield to which such investments are 

restricted; 

 

viii. contact the Rebate Analyst (and, if appropriate, bond counsel) 

prior to the fifth anniversary of the date of issuance of each 

issue of bonds of the City of Cedar Falls and each fifth 

anniversary thereafter to arrange for calculations and reports of 

the rebate requirements with respect to such bonds; and 

 

ix. if a rebate payment is required to be paid by the City of Cedar 

Falls, the Director of Finance and Business Operations shall 

prepare or cause to be prepared the appropriate form to be filed 

with the IRS (Form 8038-T). 

 

 

 

d. Filings with Internal Revenue Service : The Director of Finance and Business 

Operations, with assistance from bond counsel, shall ensure that each issuance 

of bonds is properly reported with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) as required 

by Section 149(e) of the Code.  On the issue date of each series of bonds, the 

Director of Finance and Business Operations shall consult with the Advisors to 

identify the deadline to file the requisite IRS form for such issue. 

 

e. Reporting the Issuance of Tax-Exempt Bonds 

The original issuance of a tax-exempt bond issue with an issue price of one 

hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) or greater shall be reported on Form 8038-

G.  The original issuance of a tax-exempt bond issue with an issue price less 

481



  138 

than one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) shall be reported on Form 8038-

GC. 

 Forms 8038-G and 8038-GC shall be filed by the City Clerk or bond counsel 

no later than the 15th day of the 2nd calendar month following the quarter in 

which the bonds were issued.  

 The City Clerk shall consult with the Advisors to ensure the Form 8038-G is 

accurately filled out.   

 

f. Rebate Reporting Requirements  

The Director of Finance and Business Operations shall contact the rebate analyst 

prior to the 5th anniversary of the issue date on each series of bonds and each 

5th anniversary thereafter to arrange for calculations of the rebate requirements 

with respect to such bonds.  If a rebate payment is required to be paid, the 

Director of Finance and Business Operations shall prepare or cause to be 

prepared a Form 8038-T, and submit such Form 8038-T to the IRS with the 

required rebate payment. 

If the City of Cedar Falls is authorized to recover a rebate payment previously 

paid, the Director of Finance and Business Operations shall prepare or cause to 

be prepared a Form 8038-R, with respect to such rebate recovery, and submit 

such Form 8038-R to the IRS. 

 

g. Use of Bond-Financed Property 

The Director of Finance and Business Operations shall monitor the use of all 

bond-financed facilities in order to determine whether private business uses of 

bond-financed facilities have exceeded the limits set forth in Section 141(b) of the 

Code (generally 10% of bond proceeds) as a result of leases and subleases, 

licenses, management contracts, research contracts, naming rights agreements 

or other arrangements that provide special legal entitlements to nongovernmental 

persons.   

 

To this end, the Director of Finance and Business Operations shall:   

i. maintain appropriate records and a list of all bond financed assets.  

Such records shall include the actual amount of proceeds (including 

investment earnings) spent on each of the bond financed assets;  

ii. with respect to each bond financed asset, the Director of Finance 

and Business Operations will monitor and confer with bond counsel 

with respect to all proposed: 

a. management contract 

b.  service agreements, 

c.  research contracts, 

482



  139 

d. naming rights contracts,  

e. leases or sub-leases,  

f. joint venture, limited liability or partnership 

arrangements,  

g. sale of property,  

h. any other change in use of such asset, or 

i. output contracts (including retail and wholesale 

requirements contracts 

     

 

iii. maintain a copy of the proposed agreement, contract, lease or 

arrangement, together with the response by bond counsel with 

respect to the proposal for at least three (3) years after retirement 

of all tax-exempt obligations issued to fund all or any portion of 

bond financed assets, or obligations issued to refund those 

obligations; 

 

iv. provide training and educational resources to any staff member that 

has the primary responsibility for the operation, maintenance, or 

inspection of bond-financed facilities with regard to the limitations 

on the private business use and on the private security or payments 

with respect to bond-financed facilities; 

 

v. ensure that no item of bond-financed property will be sold or 

transferred to a nonexempt party without advance arrangement of a 

“remedial action” under the applicable Treasury Regulations 

and the Director of Finance and Business Operations shall consult 

with bond counsel prior to the sale or transfer of any bond-financed 

property; and 

 

vi. In the event of an action with respect to a bond financed asset, 

which may cause the private business tests or private loan 

financing test to be met, the Director of Finance and Business 

Operations shall contact bond counsel for advice and ensure timely 

remedial action under IRS Regulation Sections 1.141-12. 

 

h. Advance Refundings 
The Director of Finance and Business Operations shall be responsible for the 
following current, post issuance and record retention procedures with respect to 
advance refunding bonds: 

 

483



  140 

      i.  Identify and select bonds to be advance refunded with advice from internal 

financial personnel, the City's financial advisor and bond counsel. 

 
ii. The Director of Finance and Business Operations shall identify, with advice 

from the City's financial advisor and bond counsel, any possible federal tax 

compliance issues prior to structuring any advance refunding. 

 

iii. The Director of Finance and Business Operations shall review the structure 

with the input of the City's financial advisor and bond counsel, of advance 

refunding issues prior to the issuance to ensure (i) that the proposed 

refunding is permitted pursuant to applicable federal tax requirements if there 

has been a prior refunding of the original bond issue; (ii) that the proposed 

issuance complies with federal income tax requirements which might impose 

restrictions on the redemption date of the refunded bonds; (iii) that the 

proposed issuance complies with federal income tax requirements which 

allow for the proceeds and replacement proceeds of an issue to be invested 

temporarily in higher yielding investments without causing the advance 

refunding bonds to become “arbitrage bonds”; and (iv) that the proposed 

issuance will not result in the issuer’s exploitation of the difference between 

tax exempt and taxable interest rates to obtain an financial advantage nor 

overburden the tax exempt market in a way that might be considered an 

abusive transaction for federal tax purposes. 

 

 
iv. The Director of Finance and Business Operations shall collect and 

review data related to arbitrage yield restriction and rebate 

requirements for advance refunding bonds. To ensure such 

compliance, the Director of Finance and Business Operations shall 

engage the City's rebate consultant to prepare a verification report in 

connection with the advance refunding issuance. Said report shall 

ensure said requirements are satisfied.  

 
v. The Director of Finance and Business Operations shall, whenever possible, 

purchase SLGS to size each advance refunding escrow. The City's financial 

advisor and rebate consultant shall be included in the process of subscribing 

SLGS. To the extent SLGS are not available for purchase, the Director of 

Finance and Business Operations shall, in consultation with bond counsel, 

comply with IRS regulations. 

 
vi. To the extent the City of Cedar Falls elects to purchase a guaranteed 

investment contract, the Director of Finance and Business Operations shall 

484



  141 

ensure, after input from bond counsel, compliance with any bidding 

requirements set forth by the IRS regulations. 

 
vii. In determining the issue price for any advance refunding issuance, the 

Director of Finance and Business Operations shall rely on the issue price 

certification by the purchasing underwriter at closing. 

 

viii. After the issuance of an advance refunding issue, the Director of Finance and 

Business Operations shall ensure timely identification of violations of any 

federal tax requirements and engage bond counsel in attempt to remediate 

same in accordance with IRS regulations. 

 

3. Record Retention 

 

Management and retention of records related to bond issues shall be supervised 

by the City Clerk.  Records and documents pertaining to cancellation, transfer, 

redemption or replacement of City of Cedar Falls bonds shall be preserved by 

the City of Cedar Falls or its agent for a period of not less than eleven (11) years, 

as set forth in Iowa Code Section 76.10.  The transcript prepared by bond 

counsel and the bond financing record prepared by an independent financial 

advisor shall be retained for ten (10) years beyond the final maturity or the full 

defeasance due to a refunding; whichever occurs first.  Other records shall be 

retained during the period in which the bonds remain outstanding (plus any 

refunding bonds) plus three (3) years. Records may be in the form of documents 

and electronic copies of documents, appropriately indexed to specific bond 

issues and compliance functions. 

 

The Director of Finance and Business Operations in conjunction with the City 

Clerk shall collect and retain the following records with respect to each issue of 

bonds of the City of Cedar Falls and with respect to the facilities financed with the 

proceeds of such bonds: 

 

 audited financial statements of the City of Cedar Falls; 

 appraisals, demand surveys, or feasibility studies, if any, with respect to the 

facilities to be financed with the proceeds of such bonds;  

 publications, brochures, and newspaper articles, if any, related to the bond 

financing; 

 trustee or paying agent statements; 

 records of all investments and the gains (or losses) from such investments; 

485



  142 

 paying agent or trustee statements regarding investments and investment 

earnings; 

 reimbursement resolutions, if any, and expenditures reimbursed with the 

proceeds of such bonds;  

 allocations of proceeds to expenditures (including costs of issuance) and the 

dates and amounts of such expenditures (including any requisitions, 

expenditure/draw schedules, expenditure/draw requests, invoices, bills, and 

cancelled checks with respect to such expenditures; 

 contracts entered into for the construction, renovation, or purchase of bond-

financed facilities; 

 an asset list or schedule of all bond financed depreciable property and any 

depreciation schedules with respect to such assets or property;  

 records of the purchases and sales of bond-financed assets;  

 private business uses of bond-financed facilities that arise subsequent to the 

date of issue through leases and subleases, licenses, management contracts, 

research contracts, naming rights agreements, or other arrangements that 

provide special legal entitlements to nongovernmental persons and copies of 

any such agreements or instruments; arbitrage rebate reports and records of 

rebate and yield reduction payments, if any; resolutions or other actions, if 

any, taken by the Governing Body subsequent to the date of issue with 

respect to such bonds; 

 formal elections authorized by the Code or Treasury Regulations that are 

taken with respect to such bonds; 

 relevant correspondence relating to such bonds; 

 documents related to guaranteed investment contracts or certificates of 

deposit, credit enhancement transactions, and financial derivatives entered 

into subsequent to the date of issue; 

 copies of the bond financing record provided by an independent financial 

advisor; 

 copies of any and all forms filed with the IRS for each series of bonds 

including, as applicable, Form 8038-G or Form 8038-GC; and 

 the official transcript prepared by bond counsel with respect to each series of 

bonds of the City of Cedar Falls. 

4. Identification of Violations and Corrections 

 

If, during the period the bonds remain outstanding, it is determined that a 

violation of federal tax requirements may have occurred, the Director of Finance 

and Business Operations shall immediately consult with the Advisors to ensure 

that corrective or remedial action is taken.  In consultation with bond counsel, the 

Director of Finance and Business Operations shall become acquainted with the 

486



  143 

remedial actions under Treasury Regulations, Section 1.141-12, to be utilized in 

the event that private business use of bond-financed facilities exceeds the limits 

under Section 141(b)(1) of the Code. In consultation with bond counsel, the 

Director of Finance and Business Operations shall become acquainted with the 

Tax Exempt Bonds Voluntary Closing Agreement Program, described in Notice 

2008-31, 2008-11 I.R.B. 592, to be utilized as a means for an issuer to correct 

any post-issuance infractions of the Rules with respect to its outstanding bonds. 

5. Other Post-Issuance Actions 

 

If, in consultation with the Advisors, the Director of Finance and Business 

Operations determines that any additional action not identified in this policy must 

be taken by the Director of Finance and Business Operations to ensure the 

continuing tax-exempt status or “qualified” status of any issue of the City of 

Cedar Falls’ bonds, the Director of Finance and Business Operations shall take 

such action if the Director of Finance and Business Operations has the authority 

to do so. If, after consultation with the Advisors, the Director of Finance and 

Business Operations determines that this policy shall be amended or 

supplemented to ensure the continuing tax-exempt status or “qualified” status of 

any issue of the City of Cedar Falls’ bonds, the Director of Finance and Business 

Operations shall follow the appropriate City of Cedar Falls policy or procedure 

that this document be so amended or supplemented. 

487



  144 

SECTION 30 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE POLICY 
 
 

 
Section 30.01  PURPOSE: 
 
 This Continuing Disclosure Policy of the City of Cedar Falls is intended to ensure that 
the City efficiently carries out its continuing disclosure obligations with respect to 
securities it issues or guarantees pursuant to Rule 15c2-12, as amended (the "Rule"), 
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  
 
Section 30.02  BACKGROUND: 
 
 The Rule prohibits underwriters from offering bonds unless the issuer provides an 
official statement and contractually promises to provide specified disclosures as 
required in the Rule.  To facilitate compliance with the Rule, each issuer must enter into 
a continuing disclosure agreement with the purchaser or underwriter in connection with 
each new issuance of obligations which fall within the Rule, thereby creating a 
contractual promise on behalf of the issuer to provide the market with these disclosures. 
The City is responsible for ensuring that all disclosure documents contain accurate 
information.  The SEC has asserted that, under Rule 10b-5, disclosure documents used 
by municipal issuers, such as official statements, are subject to the prohibition against 
false or misleading statements of material facts, including the omission of material facts 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances in which they 
were made, not misleading." 

 
Section 30.03  OBLIGATIONS SUBJECT TO THE RULE:   
 
Various offerings are fully or partially exempt from the continuing disclosure provisions 
under the Rule.  Offerings with an aggregate original principal amount of less than $1 
million ("Small Offerings"), offerings sold prior to July 3, 1995 ("Old Offerings") and 
offerings sold by an issuer directly to investors without using a broker, dealer, or 
municipal securities dealer as an underwriter or placement agent ("Direct Offerings") are 
fully exempt from all continuing disclosure provisions under the Rule, unless the City 
voluntarily agrees to provide continuing disclosures for an otherwise exempt Obligation.  
SRF loans are considered "Direct Offerings" and therefore are not subject to this Policy. 
 
Section 30.04  DEFINITIONS: 
 
In addition to the terms defined above, the following capitalized terms shall have the 
following meanings: 
 
"Annual Reports" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 30.09 of this Policy. 

 

488



  145 

“City” means the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
"Disclosure Coordinator" means the individual designated in Section 30.05 of this 
Policy. 
 
"Disclosure Counsel" means legal counsel (which may be bond counsel for a series of 
Obligations) engaged for the purpose of assisting the City in meeting its primary and 
secondary market disclosure obligations. 

 
"Financial Advisor" means a municipal advisor engaged for the purpose of assisting with 
the City's structuring and sale of Obligations. 

 
"Fiscal Year" means the fiscal year of the City, beginning on July 1 and ending on the 
following June 30.  

 
"EMMA" means the Electronic Municipal Market Access system of the MSRB.  
Information regarding submissions to EMMA is available at http://emma.msrb.org/.   

 
"Employee" means any person who, as part of his or her employment with the City, has 
regular responsibility for the administration of matters related to Obligations.  

 
"Listed Event" means any of the events listed in Exhibit A of this Policy. 

 
"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board or any other board or entity 
which succeeds to the functions currently delegated to the Municipal Securities 
Rulemaking Board by the Rule. 

 
"Obligations" means any securities issued by, or whose payment is guaranteed by the 
City, that are subject to the Rule. 

 
"Official Statement" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 30.06 of this Policy. 

 
"SEC'' means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. 
  

 
Section 30.05  DISCLOSURE COORDINATOR:  
 
By adoption of this Policy, the City hereby appoints the Director of Finance and 
Business Operations to act as the Disclosure Coordinator of the City. 
 
Section 30.06  RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 
 The Disclosure Coordinator is responsible for the following tasks: 

 
1.  reviewing and approving all preliminary and final official statements 

relating to the City's securities, together with any supplements, for which a 

489



  146 

continuing disclosure undertaking is required (each, an "Official 
Statement"), before such documents are released, in accordance with 
Article III below; 

 
2. reviewing annually the City's status and compliance with its continuing 

disclosure undertakings, including filings of disclosure documents and 
compliance with this Policy, in accordance with policies listed below; 

 
3.  serving as a "point person" for personnel to communicate issues or 

information that should be or may need to be included in any disclosure 
document; 

 
4. recommending changes to this Policy to the City Council as necessary or 

appropriate; 
 
5. communicating with third parties, including coordination with outside 

consultants assisting the City, in the preparation and dissemination of 
disclosure documents to make sure that assigned tasks have been 
completed on a timely basis and making sure that the filings are made on 
a timely basis and are accurate;  

 
6. in anticipation of preparing disclosure documents, soliciting "material" 

information (as defined for purposes of federal securities law) from 
identified City Employees;  

 
7. maintaining records documenting the City's compliance with this Policy; 

and 
 
8. ensuring compliance with training procedures as described below. 
 

The responsibilities of the Disclosure Coordinator to make certain filings with the MSRB 
under Sections Annual Report Filings and Listed Event Filings may be delegated by 
contract to a dissemination agent, under terms approved by the City Council. 
 
Section 30.07 REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF OFFICIAL STATEMENTS: 
 
 Whenever the City issues Obligations, an Official Statement may be prepared.  Each of 
these Official Statements contains information relating to the City's finances.  The 
Disclosure Coordinator, along with any retained Disclosure Counsel and/or Financial 
Advisor, shall have primary responsibility for ensuring that all such information is 
accurate and not misleading in any material aspect.  The Official Statement may also 
include a certification that the information contained in the Official Statement regarding 
the City, as of the date of each official statement, does not contain any untrue statement 
of material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the information 
contained in the Official Statement, in light of the circumstances under which it was 

490



  147 

provided, not misleading.  When undertaking review of a final or preliminary Official 
Statement, the Disclosure Coordinator shall: 

 
1. review the Official Statement to ensure that there are no material 

misstatements or omissions of material information in any sections, that 
the information relating to the City that is included in the Official Statement 
is accurate, and that when necessary the information relating to the City 
has been reviewed by a knowledgeable Employee or other appropriate 
person;   

 
2. draft, or cause to be drafted, for the Official Statement descriptions of (i) 

any material current, pending or threatened litigation, (ii) any material 
settlements or court orders and (iii) any other legal issues that are material 
information for purposes of the Official Statement; and 

 
3. report any significant disclosure issues and concerns to Disclosure 

Counsel and/or Financial Advisor.  
 
Section 30.08 SUBMISSION OF OFFICIAL STATEMENTS TO CITY COUNCIL FOR 
APPROVAL:  
 
 The Disclosure Coordinator shall submit all Official Statements to the City Council for 
review and approval.  The City Council shall undertake such review as deemed 
necessary by the City Council, following consultation with the Disclosure Coordinator, to 
fulfill the City Council's responsibilities under applicable federal and state securities 
laws.  

 
 

Section 30.09 ANNUAL REPORT FILINGS OVERVIEW: 
 
 Under the continuing disclosure undertakings the City has entered into in connection 
with certain of its debt offerings, the City is required each year to file Annual Reports 
with the EMMA system in accordance with such undertakings.  Such Annual Reports 
are generally required to include: (1) certain updated financial and operating 
information, and (2) the City's audited financial statements.  The documents, reports 
and notices required to be submitted to the MSRB pursuant to this Policy shall be 
submitted through EMMA in an electronic format, and shall be accompanied by 
identifying information, in the manner prescribed by the MSRB, or in such other manner 
as is consistent with the Rule.  A description of the format and information presently 
prescribed to be filed with EMMA is included in Exhibit B.  To facilitate the City's 
continuing disclosure undertakings the Disclosure Coordinator shall: 
 

1. maintain a record of all continuing disclosure obligations of the City using 
a chart which shall identify and docket all continuing disclosure deadlines;   

 

491



  148 

2. schedule email reminders on the EMMA website for each Obligation to 
help ensure timely filing of financial disclosures; 

 
3. ensure that preparation of the City's Annual Reports commences as 

required under each specific continuing disclosure undertaking; and 
 
4. comply with the City's obligation to file Annual Reports by submitting or 

causing the required (i) annual financial information and operating data 
and (ii) audited financial statements to be submitted to the MSRB through 
EMMA.   
 

(a) If the event the City does not have audited financial 
statements available by the filing deadline imposed by the 
continuing disclosure agreement, the Disclosure Coordinator 
shall instead submit the City's unaudited financial 
statements, and shall file a "failure to file notice" in 
accordance with the Rule.  The failure to file notice shall 
include information describing the nature and/or cause of the 
failure to meet the contractual deadline and, if available, an 
approximate timeframe for when the complete annual 
financial information is expected to be submitted. Audited 
financial statements shall be filed as soon as available.  

 
(b) All documents submitted to the MSRB through EMMA that 

are identified by specific reference to documents already 
available to the public on the MSRB's Internet website or 
filed with the SEC shall be clearly identified by cross 
reference. 

 
 
Section 30.10 DISCLOSURE OF LISTED EVENTS:  
 
Pursuant to Rule 15c2-12(b)(5)(i)(C), the City is obligated to disclose to the MSRB 
notice of certain specified events with respect to the City's securities (a "Listed Event").  
All Employees shall be instructed to notify the Disclosure Coordinator if he or she 
becomes aware of any of the Listed Events listed in the City's continuing disclosure 
undertakings.  The Disclosure Coordinator may consult with Disclosure Counsel, or the 
Financial Advisor, to discuss the event and to determine whether a filing is required or is 
otherwise desirable.  If such a filing is deemed necessary, the Disclosure Coordinator 
shall cause a notice of the Listed Event (a "Listed Event Notice") that complies with the 
Rule to be prepared, and the Disclosure Coordinator shall file the Listed Event Notice as 
required by the Rule as follows: 
 

1. The Disclosure Coordinator shall monitor and periodically review the 
Listed Events identified in Exhibit A, in connection with outstanding 

492



  149 

obligations to determine whether any event has occurred that may require 
a filing with EMMA.  

 
2. The Disclosure Coordinator shall file, in a timely manner, a notice of the 

occurrence of any Listed Event or Events with the MSRB via EMMA with 
respect to any Obligations to which the Listed Event or Events are 
applicable, in a timely manner not in excess of ten (10) business days 
after the occurrence of the Listed Event.  

 
3. The Disclosure Coordinator shall subscribe to any available ratings 

agency alert service regarding the ratings of any Obligations. 
 
 
 
Section 30.11 DOCUMENTS TO BE RETAINED:  
 
The Disclosure Coordinator shall be responsible for retaining records demonstrating 
compliance with this Policy.  The Disclosure Coordinator shall retain an electronic or 
paper file ("Transcript") for each continuing disclosure Annual Report that the City 
completes.  Each Transcript shall include final versions of documents submitted to the 
MSRB through EMMA.  The Transcript shall be maintained for the period that the 
applicable Obligations are outstanding, with a minimum of three [3] years from the date 
the Annual Report is posted on EMMA. 
 
Section 30.12 EDUCATION AND TRAINING:  
 
The City shall conduct periodic training to assist the Disclosure Coordinator, all 
Employees and the City Council in understanding and performing their responsibilities 
under this Policy.  Such training sessions may include a review of this Policy, the City's 
disclosure obligations under applicable federal and state securities laws, including the 
Listed Events in Exhibit A, and the disclosure responsibilities and potential liabilities of 
members of City staff and members of the City Council.  Such training sessions may 
include meetings with Disclosure Counsel, teleconferences, attendance at seminars or 
conferences where disclosure responsibilities are discussed, and/or recorded 
presentations.  

 
Section 30.13 PUBLIC STATEMENTS REGARDING FINANCIAL INFORMATION:  
 
Whenever the City makes statements or releases information relating to its finances to 
the public that is reasonably expected to reach investors and the trading markets 
(including, without limitation, all Listed Event notices, statements in the annual financial 
reports, and other financial reports and statements of the City), the City is obligated to 
ensure that such statements and information are accurate and complete in all material 
aspects.  The Disclosure Coordinator shall assist the Mayor and City Council in 
ensuring that such statements and information are accurate and not misleading in any 
material aspect.  Investment information published on the City's website may include a 

493



  150 

cautionary statement at the request of the Disclosure Coordinator, substantially as 
follows:  
 

"The only information on this website that is posted with the intention of 
reaching the investing public, including bondholders, rating analysts, 
investment advisors, or any other members of the investment community, 
is located on the "investor information" web pages.  Other than the specific 
information presented in the investor information web pages, no other 
information on the City's website is intended to be the basis of or should 
be relied upon in making an investment decision.  Because each security 
issued by the City or its related entities may involve different sources of 
payment and security, you should refer for additional information to the 
official statement and continuing disclosure filings for the particular 
security.  The information posted in the investor information web pages 
speaks only as of its date." 

 

494



  151 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LISTED EVENTS 
 
The Disclosure Coordinator should periodically review this list to determine whether any 
event has occurred that may require a filing with EMMA.  
 
The following material events will For securities (subject to Rule 15c2-12) issued on or 
after December 1, 2010, or for variable rate demand bonds that are converted from a 
mode currently exempted from rule 15c2-12 to a mode not so exempted on or after 
December 1, 2010, the following events automatically trigger a requirement to file on 
EMMA within ten (10) business days of their occurrence, without regards to the 
materiality of the event: 
 
1.  principal and interest payment delinquencies 
 
2.  non-payment related defaults, if material 
 
32.  unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulty 
 
43.  unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulty 
 
54.  substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform 
 
65.  adverse tax opinions or material events affecting the tax-exempt status of the 
security 
 
76.  bond calls, if material, and tender offers 
 
8.  modifications to the rights of security holders, if material 
 
97.  defeasances 
 
10.  release, substitution or sale of property securing repayments of the securities, if 
material 
 
118.  rating changes 
 
129.  bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Issuerobligated person 
 
13.  the merger, consolidation, or acquisition, sale of all issuer assets, if material 
 
14.  appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a 
trustee, if material 
 

495



  152 

150.  incurrence of a financial obligation of the issuer or obligated person, if material, or 
agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar 
terms of a financial obligation of the issuer or obligated person, any of which affect 
security holders, if materialfailure to provide in a timely manner notice to provide 
required annual financial information by the date specified in any continuing disclosure 
undertaking 
 
16.  default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other 
similar events under the terms of the financial obligation of the issuer or obligated 
person, any of which reflect financial difficulties 
 
The following events trigger a requirement to file notice of their occurrence on EMMA 
within a reasonable period of time after their occurrence, once they are determined to 
be material by the Disclosure Coordinator: 
 
1.  non-payment related defaults 
 
2.  modifications to the rights of security holders 
 
3.  bond calls  
 
4.  release, substitution or sale of property securing repayments of the securities 
 
5.  the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an obligated 
person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person, other 
than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to 
undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any 
such actions, other than pursuant to its terms 
 
6.  appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee 
 

496



  153 

EXHIBIT B 
 

Suggested Practices in Submitting Annual Financial Information to EMMA* 
 
Annual Financial Information is to be submitted to EMMA as follows: 
 

 through the EMMA Dataport; 
 

 in one or more electronic word-searchable portable document format files 
configured to permit documents to be saved, viewed, printed and retransmitted 
by electronic means ("properly formatted pdf file"); and 

 

 indexed by the submitter as "Annual Financial Information and Operating Data" – 
this EMMA indexing category should be used for all submissions consisting of 
one or both parts of an annual financial information submission. A submission 
should be indexed in EMMA by the submitter as "Annual Financial Information 
and Operating Data" if it consists of complete annual financial information 
(including audited financial statements and/or the CAFR). 

 
If the audited financial statements have not been prepared in time to meet the 
deadline: 

 

 file unaudited financial statements with a notice to the effect that the 
unaudited financial statements are being provided pending completion of 
audited financial statements and that the audited financial statements will 
be submitted to EMMA when they have been prepared. 

 
If annual financial information is provided by reference to other submitted 
documents file: 
 

 a notice that includes specific reference to a document available on the 
EMMA website or the SEC (such as, but not limited to, an official 
statement), to the extent that such document in fact includes the 
information required to be include in the annual financial information; and 

 

 the submitter should confirm that such document in fact is available from 
the EMMA website or the SEC and should include in such notice (A) a 
textual description of the document that includes the required information, 
with sufficient detail for a reasonable person to determine the precise 
document being referenced, and (B) an active hyperlink to the pdf file of 
such document as then posted on the EMMA website or to the SEC's 
EDGAR system; further, if such document includes audited financial 
statements, the submitter should also index such submission as "Audited 
Financial Statements or CAFR" in addition to (but not instead of) "Annual 
Financial Information and Operating Data" unless the submitter submits 
such audited financial statements separately to EMMA. 

497



  154 

 
Failure to file notices are to be submitted to EMMA as follows: 
 

 through the EMMA Dataport; 
 

 as an electronic word-searchable and properly formatted pdf file; and 
 

 indexed by the submitter as "Failure to Provide Annual Financial 
Information." 

 
* Procedures subject to change 
 

 
 

498



  155 

SECTION 31 
 

APPRAISAL OF PROPERTY AND THE ESTABLISHMENT OF JUST 
COMPENSATION 

 
 
31.01 PURPOSE: 
 

Section 6B.54(2) of the Iowa Code provides that an acquiring agency may 
prescribe a procedure to waive the requirement for an appraisal “in cases 
involving the acquisition of property with a low fair market value.”  This policy 
prescribes those procedures.  

 
31.02 APPRAISALS OR COMPENSATION ESTIMATES TO BE UTILIZED TO 

DETERMINE THE VALUE OF PROPERTY OR PROPERTY INTERESTS 
BEING INVOLUNTARILY ACQUIRED FOR CITY PROJECTS: 

 
1. When the City of Cedar Falls intends to acquire private property or an 

interest in private property by purchase or condemnation, and when the total 
anticipated compensation for said property or property interest, as 
determined by the Department of Community Development, is estimated to 
be in excess of $10,000, the valuation of such property or property interest 
shall be determined through the preparation of an appraisal. 

 
2. When the City of Cedar Falls intends to acquire private property or an 

interest in private property by purchase or condemnation, and when the total 
anticipated compensation for said property or property interest, as 
determined by the Department of Community Development, is estimated to 
be $10,000 or less, the valuation of such property or property interest may, in 
the discretion of the Director of Community Development, be determined 
through either the preparation of an Appraisal or of a Compensation 
Estimate. 

 
3. For purposes of this policy, the following terms shall have the following 

definitions: 
 

Appraisal means a written report, prepared by an appraiser in conformance 
with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP), 
indicating the fair market value to be paid for the acquisition or taking of 
private property, and/or of the damages to be paid for the acquisition or 
taking of an interest in private property or of a part of such property. 
 
Compensation Estimate means a valuation, prepared by an acquisition 
agent and reported on the appropriate form, indicating the fair market value 
to be paid for the acquisition or taking of private property, and/or of the 
damages to be paid for the acquisition or taking of an interest in private 

499



  156 

property or of a part of such property.  A compensation estimate shall include 
a breakdown of the valuation and/or damages.  A compensation estimate is 
not an appraisal.  

 
31.03 ESTABLISHMENT OF FAIR MARKET VALUE FOR PROPERTY OR 

PROPERTY INTERESTS BEING INVOLUNTARILY ACQUIRED FOR CITY 
PROJECTS: 
 

 

1. City Council to Establish Fair Market Value for the Acquisition of Property or 
Property Interests in Excess of $10,000 in Value. 

 
  In those instances in which the compensation to be paid for a property or 

property interest, as determined by appraisal, is in excess of $10,000, the 
Department of Community Development shall prepare for Council 
consideration a resolution establishing the fair market value of the property 
or property interest at its appraised value.  The City Council may in its 
discretion, as to a particular property, delegate to the Director of Community 
Development the authority to establish the fair market value of such property 
in excess of $10,000 pursuant to appraisal. 

 
2. Director of Community Development to Establish Fair Market Value for the 

Acquisition of Property or Property Interests up to $10,000 in Value. 
 
 In those instances in which the compensation to be paid for a property or 

property interest, as determined by compensation estimate, is $10,000 or 
less, the Director of Community Development shall by written memorandum 
directed to the City Administrator establish the fair market value of the 
property or property interest at the value shown in the compensation 
estimate.  In those instances in which the fair market value was established 
by the Department of Community Development pursuant to a Compensation 
Estimate, an appraisal will not be required to support an administrative 
settlement in excess of $10,000. 

 
3. In making an offer to purchase a property or property interest, the 

Department of Community Development shall not offer less than the fair 
market value approved by the City Council or Director of Community 
Development. 

 
4. This policy does not apply to final purchase offers made immediately prior to 

the condemnation of property.  Final offers made prior to condemnation are 
to be made by the attorney handling the condemnation, and are to be made 
with the prior concurrence of, or subject to the approval of, the City Council, 
and with the prior concurrence of the department with programmatic 
responsibility for the project for which the property is being acquired. 

 

500



  157 

5. All transactions involving the City’s purchase of property or property interests 
shall be subject to approval by the City Council, regardless whether or not 
the property or property interest is acquired at the fair market value 
established as herein provided, except as may otherwise be provided by City 
ordinance or council policy. 

 
31.04 RELEASE OF APPRAISALS, COMPENSATION ESTIMATE, OR APPRAISAL 

INFORMATION: 
 

1. Provision of Appraisal or Compensation Estimate to Property Owner Prior to 
Commencement of Negotiations to Acquire the Property or Property Interest. 

 
Section 6B.45 of the Iowa Code now requires that the acquiring agency mail 
“a copy of the appraisal in its entirety”…”to the person, corporation, or entity 
whose property or interest in the property is to be taken….at least ten days 
prior to the date” of contact with the property owner. 
 
The purchase offer for a property or property interest, together with the 
appraisal or compensation estimate prepared by or on behalf of the City in 
connection with the City’s proposed acquisition of that property or property 
interest, shall be mailed to the person(s), corporation(s), or entity(ies) who 
own or have an interest in the property by ordinary mail at their last known 
addresses not less than 10 days before the City’s acquisition agent contacts 
the property owner or other interest holders to commence negotiations for 
the purchase of that property or property interest.  The offer shall be 
accompanied by a cover letter to the property owners and interest holders, in 
which the Department of Community Development shall advise the property 
owners or interest holders of the pendency of the 10 day waiting period 
before the City’s acquisition agent may contact them to begin negotiations, 
and shall advise them of their right to waive the 10 day waiting period. 

 
2. Release of Appraisal or Appraisal Information Under Chapter 22 of the Iowa 

Code, Open Records Law. 
 

Chapter 22 of the Iowa Code, the Open Records Law, provides that “every 
person shall have the right to examine and copy public records.”  
Section 22.7 of the Code outlines 36 exemptions to this requirement, 
identifying documents which are to be kept confidential unless otherwise 
ordered by the court or by the custodian of the records.  Section 22.7 makes 
appraisals or appraisal information confidential in the following described 
circumstance: 
 
Appraisals or appraisal information concerning the sale or purchase of real 
or personal property for public purposes, prior to the sale or the execution of 
any contracts for such sale or the submission of the appraisal to the property 
owner or other interest holders as provided in Iowa Code Section 6B.45. 

501



  158 

 
The City will not provide copies of appraisals, compensation estimates, or 
appraisal information to other parties for examination or copying prior to the 
execution of any contract for such sale or the submission of the appraisal to 
the property owner or other interest holders.  City staff shall consult with the 
City Attorney to ensure compliance with Chapter 22 of the Iowa Code. 

 

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

502



503



504



1 

   CEDAR FALLS DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor and Council 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  May 30, 2019 

Re: All-Terrain Vehicle use on City Streets 

As you may recall the Western Home Communities made a request one year ago for the 
use of all-terrain vehicles on streets surrounding their community. The primary purpose 
was for the use of utility vehicles for maintenance reasons for all their buildings and 
facilities. The state code does allow the city to grant this request. The Council granted 
their request for a one year period which expires on June 17. The resolution restricts the 
use to 25 mph, to certain streets, requires insurance and has other restrictions.  

The first year has worked well with no problems. Attached is a resolution granting their 
request on a permanent basis. I am recommending approval of their request. 

505



1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _____________ 
 

       WHEREAS, Section 26-154(a)(6) of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls 

allows for the operation of all-terrain vehicles on the streets and highways in the City in 

accordance with Iowa Code Section 321I.10(3); and 

       WHEREAS, Iowa Code Section 321I.10(3), and by reference, Iowa Code Section 

321.234A, allow registered all-terrain vehicles, including off-road utility vehicles, to be operated 

by persons with a valid driver’s license at speeds of 35 miles per hour or less on streets 

designated by the City; and 

       WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 21,168 the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

designated certain streets for operation of off-road utility vehicles for limited purposes upon 

certain conditions for a period of one year from adoption on June 18, 2018; and 

       WHEREAS, such designation of streets has been complied with by the public and has 

brought no additional need for law enforcement resources or additional City expenditures; and 

       WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that extending for an indefinite period of time 

the designation of streets for operation of off-road utility vehicles in the same streets in the City 

of Cedar Falls, for the same limited purposes and upon the same conditions as stated in 

Resolution No. 21,168, is appropriate  

       NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to 

designate certain streets in the City of Cedar Falls for operation of off-road utility vehicles as 

follows: 

       A.  Designation of Streets.  The following streets located in the City of Cedar Falls are 

hereby designated for the operation of off-road utility vehicles upon the terms and conditions 

stated herein: 

            1.  Iris Drive 
            2.  Rosemary Drive 
            3.  Parsley Drive 
            4.  Hyacinth Drive 
            5.  Bluebell Road (4900 – 5100 blocks only) 
            6.  Sage Road 
            7.  Thyme Road 
            8.  Caraway Lane 
            9.  Shooting Star Way 
            10. Sweet Basil Lane 
            11. Prairie View Road (700 – 1000 blocks only) 
            12. South Main Street (5000 – 5600 blocks only) 
 
This street designation is depicted on the map attached as Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein. 

       B.  Vehicles.  Only off-road utility vehicles as defined in Iowa Code Section 321.1(47A) are 

included in this designation.  Such vehicles shall be registered as required by Iowa law, and 

506



2 
 

shall be equipped with headlights of sufficient intensity to reveal persons and vehicles at a 

distance of at least 350 feet ahead, brake lights and turn signals capable of being plainly seen 

at a distance of at least 500 feet from the vehicle, a horn, rear view and side view mirrors, roll 

over protection, and seat belts for the driver and all passengers.  Such vehicles shall not be 

operated with more persons on the vehicle than the vehicle is designed to carry and for which 

seat belts are provided.  

       C.  Purpose.  The operation of off-road utility vehicles on the City streets included in this 

designation shall be limited in purpose to performing repair and maintenance to buildings and 

facilities adjacent to the streets within the designation, hauling materials and equipment for 

such repair and maintenance, and transportation of residents between and among homes and 

facilities adjacent to the streets within the designation. 

       D.  Operators.  All operators of off-road utility vehicles on the City streets within this 

designation shall have a valid driver’s license. 

       E.  Speed Limit.  Off-road utility vehicles within this designation shall be operated at a 

maximum speed of 25 miles per hour or, if the posted speed limit is less, no faster than the 

posted speed limit. 

       F.  Insurance.  Off-road utility vehicles operating within this designation shall be insured 

for liability purposes with minimum limits of at least $300,000.00 combined single limit. 

       G.  Traffic Laws.  Operators of off-road utility vehicles on the City streets within this 

designation shall abide by all City and state traffic laws, regulations and ordinances. 

       H.  Revocation.  The City reserves the right to modify or revoke any or all parts of this 

street designation at any time, by Resolution of the City Council. 

        I.  Term.  This street designation is made for an indefinite period of time, subject to 

revocation as provided in paragraph H above. 

        J.  Violation.  If an operator violates any of the terms and conditions of this designation 
the operator shall be considered to be unlawfully operating an off-road utility vehicle on City 
streets.  Depending upon the circumstances, violation of other traffic laws may also occur.  
Such violations are simple misdemeanors, punishable as provided in Cedar Falls Code of 
Ordinances Section 1-8. 

 
ADOPTED this _______ day of _____________, 2019. 

 
 

_________________________ 
 James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk      

507



508



509



510



   DEPARTMENT OF MUNICIPAL OPERATIONS & PROGRAMS 

 

PUBLIC WORKS/PARKS DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PARKWAY 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 

     M E M O R A N D U M

 TO: Mayor James P. Brown and Cedar Falls City Council 

 FROM: Mark Ripplinger, Director, Municipal Operations & Programs 

 DATE: May 29, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Youth Pollinator Program – North Cedar Natural Resource Project 

 
 At the May 6, 2019 City Council meeting, the council approved a “Youth 
Pollinator Habitat Project” in Police Officers Memorial Park. The purpose of the program 
is to plant prairie species that provide habitat for insects and other wildlife. It is 
envisioned that this could be a multi-year partnership to establish prairie on lots that are 
currently being maintained in turf. Targeted areas would be vacant lots and those that 
were part of the flood buyout program. A second location has recently been planted in 
the North Cedar Natural Resource Project. 
 A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) also needs to be approved for this 
project. It outlines areas of responsibility regarding planting and maintenance. The 
terms of MOU related to maintenance are agreeable by the Public Works & Parks 
Division. As the program moves forward, it will reduce ongoing turf maintenance. 

The Department of Municipal Operations and Programs recommends that the 
memorandum of understanding be approved. Please let me know if you have any 
questions. 

511



Youth Pollinator Habitat Project
North Cedar Natural Resource Project

Pollinator
Area

Longview Street

C
e
n

te
r 

S
tr

e
e
t

512



/ S:f .*-'
"J:K"

"rEltrOI-IAILW0" L.'''"

Youth Pollinator Habitat Project

Memorandum of Understanding

North Cedar Resource Project (project name) is a joint effort betwesl Black Hawk County

Pheasants Forever & Quail Forever Chapter 4n6 the City of Cedar Falls (School/Park/Lar,d
Owner,/Tenant ect). The objectives of this project is to increase awareness about decreasing
pollinator populations, educate the general public on the importance of habitat for pollinators, and
to establish quality pollinator }:.abital. The results of this project will not only benefit pollinators by
providing quality foragrng and nesting habitat, but it will provide opportunities for youth/adults to
get outside and gain an appreciation for wildlife and conservation.

Comrnitmentu

City of Cedar Falls is responsible for: controlling noxious weeds on project site.

is responsible for: maintaining pro.iect for a minimum of 5 years after
establishment date. May not be grazed, hayed or mowed.

Black Hawk County Pheasants Forever iS reSpOnSible fOr: eStabliShing One ,,

posted on each project.

Black Hawk County Pheasants Forever

City of Cedar Falls

project date

Black Hawk County Pheasants Forever

property

Project Details

Address 2106 Woodlawn Ave, Cedar Falls, lA 50613

Pheasants Forever planted by " sign

is responsible for: covering cost of outreach activities occurring on the

is responsible for: providing [ability coverage for event occurring on the

Phone Number 319-242-1748

Project Location (Latitude/Longitude)
Acres 0.2

Establishment Date 05t11t2019

42.555255, -92.454675

MOU Terms

This is an "at-will" MOU ad may be modified by mutual consent of authorized representatives from
both parties. The MOU becomes effective upon signature by both parties and remains in effect for

\ e A*-, \1
D;--'-

Date

or mail to Pheasants Forever
54932 Emerald Lane
Glenwood IA, 51534

one year from date ofsr

Pheasants Forever,/ Quail Forevbr Offi cer Signature

School/Parkllandowner ect Signature

Once completed send to : aswerc zek@pheasantsforever. org

513



514



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Building Inspection Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Jim Brown and City Council 

 

 FROM: Craig Witry, Building Official  

   

 DATE: May 24, 2019 

 

 SUBJECT: 4418 University Ave. / Univ. Ave. Reconstruction Project-Phase II 

  Partial Demolition & Exterior Wall Rebuild - Project No. RC-000-3114 

  Final Acceptance 

 

 

The project consists of the demolition of the west 24’-8” of the building located at 4410 

University Ave and the installation of a new store front on the west end. The project was initiated 

to construct the intersection of University Ave and Cedar Heights Drive. The project has been 

substantially completed to include the demo of the new store front, new outside entry landing 

and handicap ramp with railing, rough wiring inside, the installation and new painting of new 

soffit and fascia, gutter and drop. Concrete for two new parking spaces was striped and handicap 

signage was installed. Work that cannot be completed due to concerns of the property owner 

include the completion of the roofing on the west end, drywall of the ceiling inside the new store 

front, drywall on the new framed wall for the store front and electrical interior finish.  

 

The contractor has been compensated for the materials and labor to this point in the project. The 

project was started in the summer of 2017 and due to pending litigation there has been no 

activity in 2018 or 2019. The contractor has requested the project be closed. Considering the 

situation and the owner’s concerns, I recommend the project be closed at this time.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Craig Witry 

Building Official 

 

 

 

 

 

515



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Terra Ray, Engineer Technician II 
 
 DATE: May 29, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement 
  Project Number BR-106-3152 
 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is planning to reconstruct the Walnut Street Box Culvert, 
University Branch of Dry Run Creek. The project will require the acquisition of 
temporary easements and permanent easements along the corridor. Plans for the 
project shows the need for acquisitions from approximately four (4) properties. 
 
We recommend that the Council approve and execute Parcel 4 Easement Agreement 
and record at the black hawk county courthouse.  
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 

516



517



518



519



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  
 
 FROM: Ben Claypool, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: May 28, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement 
  Project No. BR-106-3152 
  Contract Documents 
 
Attached for your approval are the Form of Contract, the Performance, Payment, and 
Maintenance Bonds, Certificates of Insurance, and Form of Proposal with Peterson 
Contractors Inc. for the construction of the Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement. 
 
The Department of Community Development recommends approving and executing the 
contract with Peterson Contractors Inc. for the construction of the Walnut Street Box 
Culvert Replacement. This project will replace the box culvert crossing Walnut Street 
between 20th and 21st street. Additional work includes the replacement of the 
underground utilities and the concrete roadway over the length of the entire block, 
including new sidewalks and roadway access. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz,  Director of Community Development 
  
 
 
 
 

520



521



522



523



524



525



526



527



528



529



530



531



532



533



534



535



536



537



538



539



540



541



542



543



544



545



546



547



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  
 
 FROM: Ben Claypool E.I., Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: May 24, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: 100 Block Alley Reconstruction Project 
  Project No. RC-039-3154 
  Contract Documents 
 
Attached for your approval are the Form of Contract, the Performance, Payment, and 
Maintenance Bonds, Certificates of Insurance, and Form of Proposal with Lodge 
Construction Inc. for the construction of the 100 Block Alley Reconstruction Project. 
 
The Department of Community Development recommends approving and executing the 
contract with Lodge Construction Inc. for the construction of the 100 Block Alley 
Reconstruction Project. This project will reconstruct the existing alleyway with new 
P.C.C. pavement, undergo extensive underground utility work, widen the alley, and 
involve associated visual improvements, such as landscaped area and decorative 
bollards. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz,  Director of Community Development 
  
 
 
 
 

548



549



550



551



552



553



554



555



556



557



558



559



560



561



562



563



564



565



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: May 30, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement, Snyder & Associates, Inc.   
   2019 Engineering Services 
   Supplemental Agreement No. 6 
   Clay Street Park Water Quality Improvements 
   City Project No. ST-077-3146 
 
Please find attached Supplemental Agreement No. 6 to the Professional Services Agreement between 
the City of Cedar Falls and Snyder & Associates, Inc. for 2019 Engineering Services. This supplemental 
agreement will provide design for two bioretention cells and a permeable alley in Clay Street Park as 
outlined in the accepted Resource Enhancement and Protection (REAP) grant. The agreement will 
provide topographic survey of the project site and provide design services for the storm water 
management improvements to the park. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls entered into a Professional Services Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. 
for the 2019 Engineering Services on December 3, 2018.  Funding for the Supplemental Agreement #6 
will be provided by the Storm Water: Clay Street Park Drainage Fund in the amount of $24,157.00. This 
project is included in the City of Cedar Falls’ Capital Improvements Program (#57). 
 
The Department of Community Development requests your consideration and approval of this 
Supplemental Agreement No. 6 with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for the Clay Street Park Water Quality 
Improvement Project.  
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me. 
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz,  Director of Community Development 
 Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 

 
 

566



567



568



DEPARTMENT OF DEVELOPMENTAL SERVICES 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  
 
 FROM: Chase Schrage, Principle Engineer 
 
 DATE: May 28, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: 2019 Street Construction Project 
  City Project Number RC-000-3153 
  Union Road – Change Order 
  

The City of Cedar Falls has awarded the 2019 Street Construction Project to Peterson 
Contractors, Inc. of Reinbeck, Iowa. This contractor will be reconstructing/repairing 
portions of fourteen (14) streets as a part of this project.  
 
Locally Cedar Falls suffered a severe 2018 winter in which a portion of Union Road has 
deteriorated to a point of major repair. This project would involve the removal and 
replacement of existing pavement, subgrade compaction, and subdrain. This section of 
Union Road is between West 27th Street and University Avenue. I have attached a plan 
sheet, location map, and some photos for your review. 
 
This change order also reflects challenges with utility repair, early construction, and 
ground moisture conditions. Recent record rainfall and snowfall has occurred over the 
last year and created unsuitable backfill material. This has forced the need for additional 
suitable material to be placed and compacted as outlined in the contract documents.  
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this change order is $403,683.20 with 
funding from the Local Option Sales Tax, Sewer Rental Fund, and Cedar Falls Utilities. 
 
It is anticipated that with these additional funding expenditures, a street will be removed 
from the 2019 Street Construction Project to help cover some of the expenses in this 
change order. At this time, Holmes Drive was planned to have maintenance performed 
as part of this project. This has recently been reviewed and determined to be one of the 
few streets that will be able to endure another year of traffic prior to repair.  
 
The Department of Community Development recommends approving and executing the 
change order with Peterson Contractors, Inc. for 2019 Street Construction Project.  
 
 

xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development  
  

569



570



571



572



573



574



 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

  

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: David Sturch, Planner III 

 DATE: May 30, 2019 

 SUBJECT: MET Transit Main Street Shuttle Service  
 
In cooperation with the Mayor’s on-going effort to alleviate the parking concerns in downtown 
Cedar Falls, city staff has been working with MET Transit to provide a shuttle service for a 
three month period beginning on June 6th through August 31st. The service will be on 
Thursday, Friday and Saturday nights from 6 pm to 9 pm. 
 
The cost for the weekend service is $6,451.93. This is based on MET’s operational fee of 
$42.87 per hour. This fee does not include overtime for Thursday, July 4th. If the City decides 
to run the shuttle on the 4th of July, an additional charge of $150.00 will be added to the total 
cost. Since this is a trial service for the next three months, the cost will be provided through 
the city’s general operating fund. If this service is continued next summer, the city will discuss 
a cost share arrangement with Community Main Street. 
 
This route is a shuttle service from downtown Cedar Falls to the Gateway Park parking lot 
and surrounding streets. MET has timed this route for a 15 minute loop using Washington 
Street, W. 6th Street and Main Street. This route can be adjusted, however, turning 
movements and stop locations must be considered. There is no cost to the riders who wish to 
use this shuttle service.     
 
Hopefully this information will help. Call me if you have any questions or need additional 
information. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, City Administrator 
 Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance and Business Operations 

575



576



 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Planning & Zoning Commission 

 FROM: David Sturch, Planner III 

 DATE: May 30, 2019 

 SUBJECT: College Hill Neighborhood Site Plan Review – 2119 College Street 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Request to approve a College Hill Neighborhood District Site Plan Review for 
a new mixed-use building at 2119 College Street. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Slingshot Architecture 
 

LOCATION: 
 

2119 College Street, 925 W 22nd Street, and 1003 W 22nd Street 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
It is proposed to demolish the existing multi-family dwellings currently located at 2119 College 
Street and 1003 W 22nd Street, in order to construct a new 5-story mixed-use building, which will 
include a commercial retail space on the first floor and 31 residential units on the second 
through fifth floors.  
 

 
 
 

Building view from corner of College Street and W 22nd Street. 

577



 

BACKGROUND 
The two multi-family dwellings on the property (2119 College and 1003 W. 22nd) were 
constructed in 1900. The commercial property at 925 W. 22nd Street was demolished earlier this 
year. The developer has owned the multi-family dwellings since 2016, and the commercial 
building since 2012. The two remaining multi-unit residential buildings will be demolished and a 
new 5-story mixed-use building will be constructed in its place. In the last year, the Planning & 
Zoning Commission has considered two other development proposals for this site, but neither 
was approved. This is a new submittal for a mixed-use building at 2119 College Street with a 
parking lot at 925 and 1003 W. 22nd Street. 
 
Recently, the City Council approved a zoning ordinance amendment that defines and 
establishes parking and design standards for mixed-use buildings in the College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District. The amendment was created to provide clear and 
objective standards in the code to facilitate consistent review and approval of development in 
the College Hill Overlay. Promoting mixed-use development, maintaining commercial “street 
level” uses, retail expansion and having a variety of housing types conveniently located next to 
commercial and civic uses are goals listed in the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
The definition of a mixed-use building is a building designed for occupancy by a minimum of two 
different uses. Uses generating visitor or customer traffic (such as retail, restaurants, and 
personal services) are typically located on the ground floor facing the street, whereas uses 
generating limited pedestrian activity (such as office or residential uses) are typically located on 
upper floors or behind street-fronting commercial uses. 
 
The parking requirements for a mixed-use building in the C-3 district of the College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay District new requires one parking stall per bedroom, but not less than 
one stall per dwelling unit, except as follows. For mixed-use buildings constructed prior to 
January 1, 2019, parking is not required for existing dwelling units.  In addition, for mixed-use 
and commercial buildings constructed prior to January 1, 2019, parking is not required for upper 
floor space that is converted to residential use. This provision allows existing mixed-use 
buildings to remain as-is and requires new mixed-use buildings to provide one parking stall per 
bedroom. This also allows the redevelopment of existing upper story spaces into residential 
units without the need for on-site parking. One other feature for this ordinance amendment is the 
visitor parking is not required for mixed-use buildings in the College Hill Overlay C-3 district.     
 
ANALYSIS 
The property is zoned C-3, High Density Commercial District and is located within the College 
Hill Neighborhood Overlay District. Projects within this district require a site plan review by the 
Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council, based on the following elements: 
 

1) Proposed Use: The proposed building is designed with commercial space on the main 
floor with four upper floors containing 31 residential dwelling units with a total of 47 
bedrooms. A mixed-use building with commercial on the main floor and residential 
dwellings on the upper floors is allowed in the C-3 District and College Hill Neighborhood 
Overlay District, subject to site plan approval by the Planning & Zoning Commission and 
City Council. The proposed mixed-use building is allowed. 

 
2) Building and Parking Lot Setbacks: The property is zoned C-3 Commercial District. There 

are no setbacks for a mixed-use building in the C-3 district. The site plan shows the 
building having a varied front setback from College Street, with the closest façade being 5 

578



 

feet from the front property line. A 6-foot building setback is proposed from the north lot 
line and a 5-foot building setback from the south lot line. The parking lot situated along W. 
22nd Street provides a 7-foot setback along all property lines. The minimum parking lot 
setback in the C-3 commercial district is 5 feet. Building and parking lot setbacks are 
satisfied. 
 

3) Parking: As previously mentioned, the zoning ordinance was recently amended to clarify 
the on-site parking standards for a mixed-use building in the C-3 district of the College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay District. The proposed building will have four upper floors 
containing 31 residential dwelling units with a total of 47 bedrooms. The site plan shows 
47 off-street parking stalls behind the building with a driveway onto W. 22nd Street. 
Parking satisfied. 

 

4) Open Green Space: For commercial buildings in the C-3 District there are no open green 
space area requirements, since the goal is to encourage commercial buildings to be 
located close to the street to create a walkable, mainstreet character to the College Hill 
business district. 

 

The provided site plan does show some open space along the north and south side of the 
building and around the parking lot, where grass and landscape plantings will be provided. 
Within the front setback area along College Street there is an outdoor plaza illustrated on 
the site plan as an outdoor service area.  No open green space is required, but some 
open space is provided on the site. 

 
5) Landscaping: The College Hill Neighborhood Overlay District requires landscaping along 

the periphery of the parking area and internal to the parking area.  
 

A landscaping plan has been submitted, which shows plantings along W 22nd Street and 
along the periphery of the parking lot. The plans include additional landscaping in front of 
the building on College Street with an extra tree and grate in the sidewalk. The existing 
driveway into 2119 College Street will be removed and reconstructed as sidewalk area. 
There are also trees and plantings planned within the parking area and street trees and 
screening proposed along the 22nd Street frontage that will provide a buffer between the 
parking area and the public sidewalk. Landscaping plan meets the requirements of the 
code. 
 

6) Building Design: The College Hill Neighborhood Overlay District states that the 
architectural character, materials, and textures of all buildings shall be compatible with 
those primary design elements on structures located on adjoining properties and also in 
consideration of said design elements commonly utilized on other nearby properties on 
the same block or within the immediate neighborhood. Comparable scale and character in 
relation to adjoining properties and other nearby properties in the immediate neighborhood 
shall be maintained by reviewing several design elements. These are noted below with a 
review on how each element is addressed.  

oLife  

 
Maintaining Similar Roof Pitch: 
 

Flat roofs are used in this area. The proposed building also uses a flat roof. 
 

Maintaining Similar Building Height, Building Scale and Building Proportion: 

579



 

 

Most of the buildings in this immediate area are either one-story or two-story in height. 
The proposed building will be 5 stories in height, which would replace two existing two-
story structures that are currently on the property. The property is zoned C-3 Commercial 
District, which has a building height limitation of 165 feet or three times the width of the 
road that the building faces. In this case College Street is 40 feet in width, meaning that 
the maximum building height allowed would be 120 feet (40 feet x 3). As this structure 
would be 61 feet 6 inches in height, it would meet the height requirement of the Zoning 
Ordinance. This property is also located within the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay 
Zoning District. This overlay district does not have a specific height limitation for buildings, 
but it does call for reviewing the scale of a proposed building in relation to adjoining 
properties and other nearby properties within the immediate neighborhood. 
 
The applicant has provided a diagram which shows several other buildings within a 2-3 
block area that are taller than the proposed building (see attached diagram for building 
locations). In the diagram, it shows the proposed building with a height of approximately 
62 feet. Other buildings in the area and their heights include the St. Stephen Catholic 
Student Center on W 23rd Street at 40 feet in height, Bartlett Hall on the UNI campus on 
W 23rd Street at 49 feet in height, the UNI parking garage on W 23rd Street at 35 feet in 
height, and Dancer Hall on Campus Street on the UNI campus at 159 feet in height. Also, 
the applicant has provided a side elevation diagram which shows the street section of 
buildings located on College Street and their height comparison to the proposed building. 
Based on the diagrams presented below, staff feels that the building scale and height will 
not be out of character for the area, as there are other structures within the neighborhood 
that are comparable in scale and height to the proposed building.  

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Use of Materials Comparable and Similar to Other Buildings on Nearby Properties in the 
Immediate Neighborhood: 
 
Most of the buildings in this immediate neighborhood are constructed with brick materials.  
The proposed building will have a more modern look, as it will be constructed with a mix 

Building Height Comparisons 

Street Section along College Street 

580



 

of metal paneling (with a contrasting color and design), brick and glass openings. The 
colors include charcoal/black for the entry masses at the front and rear of the building with 
off-white as the metal panel along the larger north and south portions. The brick is 
planned to be a neutral tan/gray with brick detailing similar to the image shown at key 
locations. Each of the four sides of the building will have a slightly different design in 
relation to the amount and type of materials used. Please see the table below which 
breaks down the use of materials by building side. 

 

Side of Building Brick Metal Paneling Openings 

North 25% 54% 21% 

South 34% 52% 14% 

East (College St) 47% 30% 23% 

West 32% 52% 16% 

 

 
 

 
In addition to the design of the building, the overlay district looks at building scale, in that 
the maximum width of the front facade shall not be wider than 40 feet. If a building were 
to have a larger width than 40 feet, the facade of the building must be broken into 
modules that give the appearance of smaller, individual buildings. 

 
 Each individual module should adhere to the following guidelines, in order to give the 

appearance of separate, individual buildings: 
1. Each module shall be no greater than 40 feet and no less than 10 feet in width. 
2. Each module should have a corresponding change in roof line for the purpose of 

architectural identity. 
3. Each module should be distinguished from the adjacent module by at least one of the 

following means: 
a. Variation in material colors, types and textures 
b. Variation in the building and/or parapet height 
c. Variation in the architectural details such as decorative banding, reveals, stones 

or tile accent 
d. Variation in window pattern 
e. Variation in the use of balconies and recesses 

 
 The building has a width of 45 feet as viewed from College Street, but is broken into three 

modules, distinguished by changes in building material, wall plane, colors, and textures. 
The sides and rear of the building are also broken into modules with similar changes in 

East Elevation South Elevation 

 

581



 

material, color, and changes in the wall plane that helps to break up the mass of the 
building from all vantage points. 

 
 As part of the recent ordinance amendment for commercial and mixed-use buildings 

additional design standards for street facing facades and maximum setbacks are 
reviewed. This amendment was introduced into the ordinance to foster an active street 
frontage to promote outdoor plazas and sidewalk activity. 

 
For commercial and mixed-use buildings, street-facing facades shall be comprised of at 
least 30% brick, stone, or terra cotta. The proposed east elevation includes a combination 
of brick, glass and metal panel materials. According to the table above the entire east 
elevation is made up of 47% brick, 30% metal panels and 23% glass. At the base of the 
building, the northeast projection is completely enclosed with glass panels along with the 
front entry at the southeast corner of the building. The center portion of the building is a 
brick material. Also, on street-facing facades, a minimum of 70% of the ground level floor 
shall consist of clear and transparent storefront windows and doors that allow views into 
the interior of the store. The proposed ground level facade is approximately 71% glass 
and 29% brick. 
 
Finally, the setback requirements are established at a minimum of 0 feet and maximum of 
15 feet from street-side lot lines. The northeast corner of the building is approximately 5 
feet from the east lot line along College Street. The front entry is 12 feet and the center 
section is 15 feet from the east lot line. A minimum ground floor ceiling height shall be at 
least 14 feet and the proposed building will have a 15.8’ ceiling height. Staff finds that 
the proposed building design meets the previous and new design standards.  

 
7) Trash Dumpster Site: The site plan shows a dumpster enclosure contained within the 

parking area at the northwest corner of the lot. The 8’-0” tall trash enclosure is constructed 
with a brick wall to match the building with metal doors. The landscaping plan shows trees, 
shrubs and ornamental grasses along the north and west side of the enclosure. Trash 
enclosure is acceptable. 
 

8) Lighting: The C-3 District and College Hill Neighborhood 
Overlay District regulations do not have specific lighting 
design guidelines. A lighting plan has been submitted, 
which details the exterior lighting to be placed along the 
faces of the building along College Street. This lighting will 
light up the faces of the building, highlighting the masonry 
materials without producing light spill onto other properties. 
The LED lighting in the parking areas will be oriented to 
prevent shining into the residential windows of the 
neighboring properties. Lighting plan is acceptable. 

 

9) Signage: Wall signs are illustrated on the building renderings 
along the east side of the building facing College Street. These 
signs will indicate the name of the development. The proposed 
wall signs appear to be well within the District limitations of no 
larger than 1/3rd of the surface area of the single wall area to 
which the wall sign is attached, however this will be reviewed in 

 
Parking Lot Light Fixture 

 
Wall Mount Fixture 582



 

detail at the time a sign permit is requested. Signage is acceptable, subject to detailed 
review with a sign permit. 

 
10) Sidewalks: A minimum 5 foot paved sidewalk exists in front of the property along both 

College Street and W 22nd Street. The site plan shows additional pedestrian plaza area 
along College Street and additional decorative paving located near the entrance on the 
west side of the building. There is a change in grade along College Street that will need to 
be addressed.  The staff will work with the applicant to make sure that areas are 
accessible and maintain a pedestrian-oriented frontage to coincide with the public 
sidewalk. Sidewalk requirements are met. 
 

11) Bike Racks: There are 2 bike racks located on College Street 
next to the tree grates and bike racks by the rear entrance. These 
are a black powder coated rack for five bikes. Additional bike 
racks should be placed behind the building next to the parking lot. 

 
12) Storm Water Management: Storm water will be collected on site via an underground 

detention area underneath the parking lot and piped along the north side of the building to 
the storm sewer along College Street. City Engineering Staff has indicated that they will 
need to see the final details on the system once they are designed by the developer’s 
engineer. Stormwater requirements will need to be reviewed and approved once 
final design is completed. 

 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, have few comments on the 
proposed item. The developer will be responsible to extend all utilities to the site. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Community Development Department recommends approval of the College Hill 
Neighborhood District Site Plan for a new mixed-use building at 2119 College Street with the 
following stipulations: 
 

1) Any additional comments or direction specified by the Planning & Zoning Commission. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion 
11-28-18 

Chair Oberle introduced the site plan for 2119 College Street Mr. Sturch provided 
background information. He explained that the project consists of three lots near the 
Great Wall building (2119 College Street, 925 W. 22nd Street, and 1003 W. 22nd 
Street) and is located in the C-3, Commercial District. It is proposed to demolish the 
existing multi-family dwellings and construct a new 5-story mixed-use building. He 
discussed the code with regard to property use and noted that staff feels that this is 
an appropriate project for this area. He spoke about the parking requirements and 
plans, provided building renderings from different perspectives and building 
materials. Mr. Sturch also noted that staff received a letter from an attorney provided 
a copy to the commission members.  
 
Ms. Oberle asked if there has been any notification sent to neighbors in the area. Mr. 
Sturch noted that notifications were sent out and there was not a great deal of 
response. Mr. Leeper stated that he would feel more comfortable moving the item to 
the next Planning and Zoning meeting when there are more clarifications that can be 
presented to the Commission. Chair Oberle cautioned that the Commission that it is 

 

583



 

not correct to tie this application to what changes they would like to see in the code. 
Ms. Howard agreed that the votes for this item need to be separate from the 
discussion regarding what the Commission would like to change the code to say.  
 
The item will be continued at the December 12, 2018 meeting. 
 

Discussion/Vote 
12-12-18 

The first item of business was a College Hill Neighborhood Overlay District Site Plan 
Review for 2119 College Street. Acting Chair Holst introduced the item and Mr. 
Sturch provided background information. He explained that the item was previously 
brought before the Commission on November 28th for introduction and stated that the 
property is near the northwest corner of College and 22nd Streets. He provided the 
Commission with letters received from citizens. He discussed the breakdown of unit 
types and bedrooms, as well as parking stalls, and the code with regard to 
requirements. He displayed renderings of the proposed building and explained 
changes that were made per recommendations. He also showed building materials, 
as well as height comparison and scale. He spoke to additional site plan review 
elements and showed the landscaping plan, and noted that staff recommends 
approval of the building with the following recommendations: the building conforms to 
all city staff recommendations and technical requirements; a parking agreement be 
developed and executed for the project; and any comments from the commission. 
 
There were several individuals in the audience to speak in favor of and in opposition 
of the project. After the public comments, the Commission discussed the project. 
 
Mr. Wingert noted that the reason he is no longer abstaining from the vote is because 
he has not been included in this project with the developer and the City Attorney said 
there is no need to recuse himself. 
 
Mr. Leeper stated that the City is not serving one particular developer and the 
Commission is volunteering their time to do what they believe is in the best interest of 
the city. He believes that the code is fairly old and it wasn’t updated at a time when 
these kinds of projects weren’t considered. This has created the need to interpret the 
code as it is. Mr. Holst noted that he supports the project, but still has an issue with 
the parking code and feels it should be changed before approving the project. 
 
Project developer Brent Dahlstrom stated that he understands if the project is tabled 
at this time and time is allowed for changes and clarification. 
 
Ms. Saul believes that the job of the Commission is to make decisions based on the 
code, and doesn’t believe, at this time, that the project agrees with the code. While 
she loves the project, she feels the item should be tabled at this time. 
 
Ms. Giarusso made a motion to table the item until the code is changed. Ms. Saul 
seconded the motion. The motion was denied with 3 ayes (Adkins, Giarusso, Saul), 4 
nays (Larson, Hartley, Leeper, Wingert) and 1 abstention (Holst). 
 
Mr. Wingert made a motion to defer the item to the January 9, 2019 meeting. Mr. 
Wingert seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 6 ayes 
(Adkins, Giarusso, Hartley, Larson, Leeper, and Wingert), 1 nay (Saul) and 1 
abstention (Holst). 
 

584



 

Discussion/Vote 
1-9-19 

The Commission continued the discussion on a College Hill Neighborhood Overlay 
District Site Plan Review for 2119 College Street. Mr. Holst introduced the item and 
Mr. Wingert noted that he will not be abstaining from the vote as he has no conflict of 
interest in the matter. Mr. Sturch provided a brief summary of the project, including 
the number of units, parking, building design, and landscaping.  
 
 Dan Drendel, Slingshot Architecture, feels that the project will provide the density 
called for in the Comprehensive Plan and work well with the constraints of the site.  
 
 Kamyar Enshayan, 1703 Washington Street, stated that the College Hill Partnership 
board unanimously supports the project. 
 
 Eashaan Vajpeyi, 3831 Convair Lane, feels that approving the project based on the 
assumption that the council will approve the code amendment is putting the train 
ahead of the engine. Once the project is completed, it’s too late to undo the work. He 
also commented on Mr. Wingert’s statement that he would not be recusing himself 
from voting, stating that it is important to avoid even the appearance of impropriety. 
 
 Howard clarified that the proposed site plan should be considered on its own merits 
under the current code and should not be tied to code amendments that have not yet 
been approved. She noted that the Commission, at its discretion could vote on the 
matter under the current code or defer it to a future meeting.  
 
 Ms. Saul made a motion to defer action until the Council considers the zoning code 
amendments discussed previously. Ms. Giarusso seconded the motion. The motion 
was approved unanimously with 6 ayes (Adkins,Giarusso, Hartley, Holst, Leeper, and 
Saul), and 1 nay (Wingert). 

Discussion/Vote 
5-22-19 

The Commission continued the discussion on the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay 
District site plan at 2119 College Street. Chair Holst introduced the item and Ms. 
Howard provided background information. She explained that the item was delayed 
until the College Hill Overlay Ordinance was updated. As the new standards are now 
approved by City Council, the item is being brought before the Commission again for 
consideration. Ms. Howard explained that it is proposed to replace the current 
building located at 2119 College with a mixed-use building with storefronts on the 
ground floor and residential units on the upper floors and presented the changes 
between the previous code requirements and the current code standards. She noted 
that the building meets requirements for mixed-use buildings and the new parking 
requirements for mixed-use buildings.  She displayed renderings of the proposed 
buildings and break-down of the proposed exterior building materials. She presented 
a comparison of building heights in the area, landscaping plan, dumpster enclosure, 
underground detention and bike racks. She noted that the proposed building is 
consistent with the comprehensive plan goal to encourage additional storefront 
mixed-use development to tie the lower Hill and upper Hill together into a more 
cohesive business district.  The current older residential building is not consistent with 
character envisioned in the Comprehensive Plan. She stated that Staff recommends 
approval of the proposed site plan as it is complies with the requirements in the 
zoning ordinance.  
 
Kathryn Sogard, Executive Director of the College Hill Partnership, stated that the 
Partnership supports the development. The Partnership believes the project will grow 
College Hill, offer additional jobs near campus, encourage walkability and link the 
upper and lower hill. 
 
Eashaan Vajpeyi, 3831 Convair Lane, stated that this shouldn’t be seen as old 

585



 

business and feels that the item should be deferred until the parking study is 
completed. He is concerned with the possibility that the parking study will not agree 
with the project upon completion. He doesn’t believe the project needs to be 
approved right now. He also voiced his issue with the fact that Mr. Wingert has not 
recused himself from the matter. 
 
Dave Diebler, President of the College Hill Partnership, is in support of the project. He 
believes infilling will create responsible growth. He feels the project should move 
forward at this time. 
 
Mr. Holst asked for clarification of the parking study and whether it is looking at 
private parking. Mr. Howard stated that the study is focused primarily on the policies 
for the public parking system. The parking study will not give any specific 
recommendations with regard to the requirements for private, off-street parking. She 
noted that the parking impact analysis currently being completed by the parking 
consultant will provide information about how a project of this type may affect the 
public parking available in the area, but similar to the parking impact analysis 
completed for the recent downtown projects, will not provide a recommendation for 
whether the project should be approved. 
 
Mr. Hartley stated that he likes the proposal and is happy with the compromise with 
the parking. Mr. Leeper stated that he is in support of the project as well. Ms. Saul 
stated that she struggles with the decision, but feels that it meets the current 
ordinances and it’s not fair to make the developer wait. Mr. Wingert noted his concern 
that UNI has lost enrollment and believes that projects like these help UNI and the 
community grow and compete with other communities. Mr. Holst believes that it’s time 
to move forward with the project. 
 
There were no other comments and all Commission members present recommended 
approval of the site plan at 2119 College Street. 

 

586



Dry
Run

Creek (Univ)

University
of Northern

Iowa

Ol
ive

 St

Iow
a S

t

Wa
lnu

t S
t

W
isc

on
sin

St

W 26th St

W 22nd St

W 21st St

W 20th St

Ca
mp

us
 St

W 23rd St

Mauker Dr

Floral Ct

W 25th St

W Seerley Blvd

Me
rne

r A
ve

Co
lle

ge
 St

University Ave

R-3

C-3

R-4

R-4
R-2

R-2

P

R-3

College Hill Neighborhood Overlay
District Site Plan Review

University
of Northern

Iowa

W Viking
Industrial

Park

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Black
Hawk
Park

Cedar Falls

Hu
ds

on
Rd

Ce d a
rH

eig
hts

Dr

Waterloo Rd Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

V ikin

gRd

W 18th St

Greenhill Rd

Center St

E Dunkerton Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St
Ma

in 
St

W 1st St

W 12th St

University Ave

Un
ion

 R
d

E 1st St

W 27th St

NUnion Rd

Lincoln St

E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ve

r se
eR

d

®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63
£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

Cedar Falls Planning & Zoning Commission
May 22, 2019

587



COLLEGE HILL
SITE PARKING 

COLLEGE HILL  //  12/7/18

11

5

9

PARKING
(47 STALLS)

10

5

TRASH
BIKE

7

LOBBY

CO+LAB BREWERY

N

SCALE: 1"   = 30'

GROUND LEVEL PARKING PLAN

588



COLLEGE HILL
ELEVATIONS 

COLLEGE HILL  //  12/7/18

±0"
1 LEVEL 1

+13'-4"
2 LEVEL 2

+24'-8"
3 LEVEL 3

+36'-0"
4 LEVEL 4

+47'-4"
5 LEVEL 5

+58'-8"
6 ROOF

+63'-8"
7 T/PARAPET

B A

±0"
1 LEVEL 1

+13'-4"
2 LEVEL 2

+24'-8"
3 LEVEL 3

+36'-0"
4 LEVEL 4

+47'-4"
5 LEVEL 5

+58'-8"
6 ROOF

+63'-8"
7 T/PARAPET

B A

2

4

13

±0"
1 LEVEL 1

+13'-4"
2 LEVEL 2

+24'-8"
3 LEVEL 3

+36'-0"
4 LEVEL 4

+47'-4"
5 LEVEL 5

+58'-8"
6 ROOF

+63'-8"
7 T/PARAPET

A B B B B

±0"
1 LEVEL 1

+13'-4"
2 LEVEL 2

+24'-8"
3 LEVEL 3

+36'-0"
4 LEVEL 4

+47'-4"
5 LEVEL 5

+58'-8"
6 ROOF

+63'-8"
7 T/PARAPET

B A B B B A

(1) EAST ELEVATION

(3) WEST ELEVATIONKEY PLAN (4) NORTH ELEVATION

(2) SOUTH ELEVATION METAL PANEL - 52%
BRICK - 34%

OPENINGS - 14%

METAL PANEL - 54%
BRICK - 25%

OPENINGS - 21%

METAL PANEL - 52%
BRICK - 32%

OPENINGS - 16%

METAL PANEL - 30%
BRICK - 47%

OPENINGS - 23%

(A) METAL PANEL (B) METAL PANEL BRICK BRICK DETAILING

589



COLLEGE HILL
CORNER OF COLLEGE AND 22ND 

COLLEGE HILL  //  12/7/18590



COLLEGE HILL
FRONT VIEW 

COLLEGE HILL  //  12/7/18591



COLLEGE HILL
COLLEGE STREET VIEW 

COLLEGE HILL  //  12/7/18592



COLLEGE HILL
COLLEGE RESIDENTIAL ENTRY 

COLLEGE HILL  //  12/7/18593



COLLEGE HILL
FLOOR LEVELS 

COLLEGE HILL  //  12/7/18

STUDIO 01
495 SF

STUDIO 03
447 SF

STUDIO 02
466 SF

4 BR
1,223 SF

2 BR
1,049 SF

STUDIO 04
500 SF

STUDIO 02
466 SF

STUDIO 02
466 SF

APARTMENT RENTABLE SQURE FOOTAGE

UNIT TYPE QTY. UNIT SQ FT. TOTAL SQ 
FT.

STUDIO 01 4 495 1,980

STUDIO 02 12 466 5,592

STUDIO 03 4 447 1,788

STUDIO 04 3 500 1,500

2 BEDROOM 4 1,049 4,196

4 BEDROOM 4 1,223 4,892

TOTAL 31 19,948

TOTAL BEDS 47

ON-SITE 

PARKING

        47 (2 ACCESSIBLE STALLS)

�1

AMENITY
SPACE 1

STUDIO 01
495 SF

STUDIO 03
447 SF

STUDIO 02
466 SF

4 BR
1,223 SF

2 BR
1,049 SF

AMENITY
373 SF

STUDIO 02
466 SF

STUDIO 02
466 SF

LOBBY

CO+LAB BREWERY

GROSS FLOOR AREAS

LEVEL 1 LOBBY + RETAIL 6,488 sq ft

LEVEL 2 RESIDENTIAL 6,233 sq ft

LEVEL 3 RESIDENTIAL 6,233 sq ft

LEVEL 4 RESIDENTIAL 6,233 sq ft

LEVEL 5 RESIDENTIAL + 
AMENITY

6,084 sq ft

TOTAL 31,271 sq ft

�1

SCALE: 1/32" =    1'-0"

RESIDENTIAL 2-4 FLOORS

SCALE: 1/32" =    1'-0"

RESIDENTIAL 5 FLOOR PLAN

SCALE: 1/32" =    1'-0"

RETAIL 1 FLOOR

LEGEND

RESIDENTIAL UNITS

CIRCULATION

RETAIL/AMENITY

594



595



596



T

M

M

T

M

M

M

M
M

M

T

T

T

M

T
T

M
M

T

W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D) W(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)G(D)

G(D)

San(D)
San(D)

San(D)
San(D)

San(D)
San(D)

San(D)
San(D)

San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D)
San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D) San(D)

StS(D)
StS(D)

StS(D)StS(D)StS(D)
StS(D)

StS(D)
StS(D)StS(D)StS(D)StS(D)

StS(D)
StS(D)

G(D)
G(D)

G(D)
G(D)

G(D)
G(D)

G(D)
G(D)

G(D)
G(D)

G(D)

G(D) G(D) G(D)

StS(D)
StS(D)

StS(D)

T T T T T T T T T T T T T T

T
T

T
T

E(D)
E(D)

E(D)
E(D)

E(D)E(D)E(D)E(D)E(D)E(D)E(D)E(D)E(D)E(D)E(D)E(D)E(D)E(D)

E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D)

E(D)

StS(D)

StS(D)
StS(D)

StS(D)
StS(D)

StS(D)
StS(D)

6" CI W

6"
 C

I W8"
 V

SP
 S

AN

8" VSP SAN

SAN MH
RIM=892.64
IE=884.98

SAN MH
RIM=893.58
IE=886.04

(BUILDING)

(BUILDING)

(ACC)

(P
CC

)

(PCC)

CS

F HYD
BM #2

NE BOLT
EL=894.63

EX TRANS

EX TRANS

TELE PED GAS MTR
TELE PED

TELE PED

RETAINING WALL

INTAKE
GRATE=888.12

StS(D)

18
"

ST MH
RIM=892.18

ST MH
RIM=892.87
IE=887.81

INTAKE
RIM=892.69

ST MH
RIM=889.60
IE=883.64

ST MH
RIM=887.89
IE=882.82

INTAKE
GRATE=887.75
IE=884.67

12" PVC

GV

GAS MTR
TELE PED

T
T

T T T T T T T T T T T T

INTAKE
GRATE=893.44
IE=888.49

INTAKE
GRATE=893.86

IE=889.22

INTAKE
GRATE=893.08

IE=890.54

18"

18"
18"

INTAKE
RIM=894.88

IE=890.02

12
"

INTAKE

W
AL

K

WALK (PCC) WALK (PCC)

INTAKE
GRATE=886.09

IE=883.09

18
"

EX TRANS
TELE PED
TELE PED

ST MH
RIM=893.64

PP

6" CI W

ACRES
0.69 ACRES

(BUILDING)

(BUILDING)

(BUILDING)

WALK (BRICK)

StSStSStSStSStSStSStSStS

StS StS StS

StSStSStS

22ND STREET

SOD

4-GT 1-GT

PROPERTY LINE

PR
O

PE
RT

Y 
LI

N
E

28-CS

2-CA

2-CA
4-GB

2-CA
2-CA

PROPOSED
MULTI-USE BUILDING

SOD

PROPERTY LINE

2-CA
2-CA

SOD SOD

PLAN ENLARGEMENT; SEE INSET 2

PLAN ENLARGEMENT; SEE INSET 3

SOD

3-GB

2-CA
2-CA

2-CA

2-CA

2-CA
2-CA

2-CA
2-CA

CO
LL

EG
E 

ST
RE

ET

4-UA

29-CS

1-AF

1-AF

1-GT

2-CA

2-CA

2-CA
2-CA

2-CA
2-CA

2-CA
2-CA

18-CS

1-AF
13-SH

13-SH

28-CS 28-CS

12-CS

E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D)

GAS MTR
T T T T T T T T T T T

StSStSStSStSStSStSStSStSStS

StS StS

St
S

StSStS

PROPOSED MIXED-USE BUILDING

PROPERTY LINE

SOD

PROPERTY LINE
1-GB

2-CA

2-CA8-CS

ACCENT BAND PAVERS,
SEE SHEET L2.0
LITTER RECEPTACLE

VERTICAL BIKE STORAGE: THREE (3) 45° BIKE WALL
RACK BY CYCLE SAFE. FOLLOW MANUFACTURER
INSTALLATION RECOMMENDATIONS.

M

T
T

M

M

T
T

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

W
(D)

San(D)
San(D)

San(D)
San(D)

San(D)
San(D)

San(D)
San(D)

San(D)

StS(D)
StS(D)

StS(D)
StS(D)

StS(D)

G(D)
G(D)

G(D)
G(D)

G(D)
G(D)

G(D)
G(D)

G(D)

G(D)
G(D) G(D) G(D) G(D) G(D)

StS(D)

T
E(D)

E(D)
E(D)

E(D)

E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D) E(D)

E(D)
E(D)

E(D)

StS(D)

(P
CC

)

INTAKE
GRATE=888.12

StS(D) StS(D)

ST MH
RIM=889.60
IE=883.64

GV

T
T

T
T

T

T T T T T T

18
"

EX TRANS

TELE PED

TELE PED

(BUILDING)

WALK (BRICK)

StSStSStSStSStSStS

COLLEGE STREET PAVERS TO MATCH HERRINGBONE PATTERN
AND DOUBLE SOLDIER COURSE AT BACK OF CURB DIRECTLY

ADJACENT TO THE SOUTH. TIE INTO EXISTING STREETSCAPE AT
SOUTH EDGE OF EXISTING DRIVE.

IRON TREE GRATE WITH 4"
PCC BAND. SEE DETAILS FOR
TYPICAL INSTALLATION.

1-TC

17-CS

5-SH

PROPERTY LINE

PROPOSED MIXED-USE BUILDING

PROPERTY LINE

CO
LL

EG
E 

ST
RE

ET

PROTECT EXISTING TREE. SALVAGE AND
REINSTALL EXISTING TREE GRATES AS
REQUIRED FOR UTILITY IMPROVEMENTS.

BIKE RACK; SEE SHEET L2.0

BIKE RACK; SEE SHEET L2.0

OUTDOOR
SERVICE AREA

FENCE PARTITION;
SEE ARCHITECTURAL

SOD

SOD

LANDSCAPE PLAN
L1.0

SHEET

 B
ol

to
n 

&
 M

en
k,

 In
c.

 2
01

8,
 A

ll 
Ri

gh
ts

 R
es

er
ve

d
c H:

\S
LI

N
GS

HO
_P

R\
T6

21
16

61
4\

CA
D\

C3
D\

Sh
ee

ts
\1

16
61

4_
LN

D.
dw

g 
11

/1
9/

20
18

 1
0:

19
:4

3 
AM

DESIGNED

DRAWN

CHECKED

CLIENT PROJ. NO.

REVISION DATENO.

R

309 E 5TH STREET,  SUITE 202
DES MOINES, IOWA  50309

Phone: (515) 259-9190
Email: DesMoines@bolton-menk.com

www.bolton-menk.com

COLLEGE HILL
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

SJK

NMW

SJK

XXXXXXXXXX

MASTER PLANT SCHEDULE
QTY. SYM. SCIENTIFIC NAME COMMON NAME UNIT SIZE SPACING REMARKS

TREES AND SHRUBS
3 AF Acer x freemani 'Jeffersred' AUTUMN BLAZE MAPLE EA 2.5" CAL. B&B SEE PLAN
8 GB Ginkgo biloba 'Princeton Sentry' PRINCETON SENTRY GINKGO EA 2.5" CAL. B&B SEE PLAN
6 GT Gleditsia triacanthos f. inermis 'Skycole' SKYLINE HONEYLOCUST EA 2.5" CAL. B&B SEE PLAN
1 TC Tilia cordata LITTLELEAF LINDEN EA 2.5" CAL. B&B SEE PLAN
4 UA Ulmus americana 'Princeton' PRINCETON ELM EA 2.5" CAL. B&B SEE PLAN

SHRUBS, PERENNIALS & GRASSES
48 CA Calamagrostis acutiflora 'Karl Foerster' FEATHER REED GRASS EA 1 GAL. SEE PLAN

168 CS Cornus stolonifera 'Farrow' P.P. #18,523 ARCTIC FIRE RED TWIG DOGWOOD EA 1 GAL. SEE PLAN
31 SH Sporobolus heterolepis 'Tara' TARA PRAIRIE DROPSEED EA 1 GAL. 18" O.C.

SCALE: 1"=10'-0"
COLLEGE STREET (EAST) ENTRANCE3

FEETSCALE

10 200

SCALE: 1"=10'-0"
WEST ENTRANCE PLAZA2

FEETSCALE

10 200

SCALE: 1"=10'-0"
PLANTING PLAN1

FEETSCALE

20 400

597



COLLEGE HILL
STREET SECTION 

COLLEGE HILL  //  11/2/18598



COLLEGE HILL
ELEVATION STUDY 

COLLEGE HILL  //  11/2/18

±0"
1 LEVEL 1

+13'-4"
2 LEVEL 2

+24'-8"
3 LEVEL 3

+36'-0"
4 LEVEL 4

+47'-4"
5 LEVEL 5

+58'-8"
6 ROOF

+63'-8"
7 T/PARAPET

B A B B B A 61'-6"

599



COLLEGE HILL
TRASH ENCLOSURE 

COLLEGE HILL  //  12/7/18

11'-5 1/4"

3
A.201

1

2

3

16'-9 1/4"

8
'-

0
"

(3) NORTH ELEVATIONTRASH ENCLOSURE PLAN

(2) EAST/WEST ELEVATION(1) SOUTH ELEVATION

BRICK(A) METAL PANEL

600



 

5136 Lovers Lane, Suite 200, Kalamazoo, MI 49002   t: 269.381.2222   f: 269.349.4656   www.WGInc.com 

 

 

Parking Impact Analysis for the Mixed-Use Development 

2119 College Street, College Hill Neighborhood, Cedar Falls, IA 

Draft 5/30/2019 

 

The 2119 College Street mixed-use project is located on the west side of College Street in the College Hill 

neighborhood of Cedar Falls. The neighborhood is primarily a University of Northern Iowa (UNI) student 

residential and commercial area approximately four blocks north to south and two blocks east to west. 

The project site is currently a multi-unit apartment building facing College street and an unused parking 

lot along 22nd Street. The parking lot area is currently in disrepair and blocked from use. 

 

The proposed five-story building will include ground level retail and 31 residential units on the upper 

levels. The residential units include 23 one-room studio units, four two-bedroom apartments and four 

four-bedroom apartments. The current plan for the lower level commercial space includes an elevator 

lobby for the residential units and production and customer service space for a brewery. The brewery 

space is planned for 2,116 SF of beverage service area and 3,006 SF of brewing and production space. 

The site plan provides 47 parking spaces for resident 

parking only. Because the subject property is in a C-3 

zoning district, there is no requirement for on-site 

parking for commercial uses. 

  

601



2 

 

Estimated Parking Demand 

 

In estimating parking demand that will likely result from this project, we considered recommended 

parking ratios published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE); and shared demand modeling 

as published by the Urban Land Institute (ULI). The ITE and ULI recommended parking ratios are listed 

below for each land use. 

 

Recommended Parking Ratios 

Residential    ITE Parking Ratio 

     1.5 spaces / Unit (regardless of bedrooms) 

     ULI Parking Ratio (2019 Draft for Suburban Areas) 

Studio     .85 spaces + .10 visitor 

One Bedroom    .9 spaces + .10 visitor 

Two Bedroom    1.5 spaces + .10 visitor 

3+ Bedroom    2.5 spaces + .10 visitor  

 

Commercial 

Production / Light Industrial  1.2 employee spaces per 1,000SF 

Restaurant    15.25 customer spaces + 1.5 employee = 16.5 spaces per 1,000SF 

 

Residential Peak Parking Demand 

The ITE parking ratios for residential land uses are “one-size fits all” regardless of the number of 

bedrooms. The recent draft recommendations from ULI better address parking demand based on the 

number of bedrooms in each unit. Utilizing the more detailed ULI ratios, the apartment units will create 

peak demand for 40 parking spaces.  

 

We understand that a few property owners in the area are concerned that the rental rates for the 

proposed apartments are significantly higher than other rates in the area, and that the units will house 

more than one person per bedroom. They believe this will create a higher parking demand than simply 

applying the ULI ratios or the City requirement of one parking space per bedroom. The model assumes 

that a small percentage of residents will not have a vehicle. 

Type Units ULI Ratio Projected Parking Demand

Studio 23 0.95 22

2 Bedroom 4 1.6 7

4 Bedroom 4 2.6 11

ULI Projected Parking Demand 40

602



3 

 

Commercial Space Peak Parking Demand 

To reflect the mixed-use aspect of this project located in a moderate-density collegiate setting, we used 

a captive market reduction factor of 40% for our shared demand modeling. In other words, we are 

assuming that 40% of the parking demand generated by the first-floor commercial space will be residents 

or visitors already parked in the area. The demand model projects the peak parking demand as 7 pm on 

a weekend (Friday or Saturday) evening. Peak demand at that time is 26 parking spaces 

 

Brewery Customer Service Area  22 parking spaces 

 Brewery Production Area (staff)  4 parking spaces 

 Total Peak Parking Demand   26 parking spaces 

 

Comparing Estimated Parking Demand Against Observed Parking Occupancies 

Residential Parking Impact 

 

Based on the ITE and ULI Parking Ratios, the proposed parking lot is adequate for the 31 rental units 

within the development. We agree that the potential exists for the apartments to have more than one 

resident per bedroom. However, quantifying the number of residents in the 31 units is not possible with 

the information provided. If every studio unit had double occupancy there would need to be parking for 

62 vehicles, a shortage of 15 spaces. If half the studio units had double occupants, then there would be 

approximately 4 vehicles without parking spaces. These parkers would have a couple of choices: 

 

• Compete with the other residential students parking on; Campus St., Merner Ave., 20th St., Olive 

St., Walnut St. and the cross streets. 

• Purchase a permit from the University to park in the residential parking areas on campus. 

 

The City currently provides hundreds of on-street parking spaces in College Hill for daytime and overnight 

parking. Some of the spaces are regulated with time of day or day of week restrictions. However, the 

spaces and the opportunity to park a residential vehicle for free exist, if the owner is willing to jockey the 

car around to avoid parking citations. 

 

  

603



4 

 

Commercial Space Parking Impact 

 

For the commercial space (brewery) the parking demand modeling indicates a maximum peak parking 

demand of 26 spaces. To determine the level of public parking available to support this proposed 

development, we analyzed the parking occupancy data collected. Four public parking lots totaling 173 

parking spaces are located within the impact area. Additionally, there are 186 on-street parking spaces 

(with various use times and regulations) within impact area. Notably, 22nd Street is available for parking 

from 5:30 pm - 1 am M-S and 8 pm – 1am on Sunday. We anticipate peak time for the brewery to be 

after 5:30 pm most days.  

 

We utilized occupancy data collected during evening peak demand on Wednesday May 1, and Thursday, 

May 2, 2019. Our analysis includes public parking in the parking impact area shown below, to include on-

street public parking and off-street public lots G, N, J and O.  

Project Impact Area 

2119 College  

604



5 

 

 

 

Comparing the estimated peak parking demand of 26 parking spaces against the available open public 

parking spaces in the project impact area of 105 parking spaces, we project there is sufficient public 

parking availability to support the commercial area of 2119 College. Also, there is public parking available 

in the following locations: 

 

• 21 metered spaces (free after 7pm) at the campus bookstore across the street from the proposed 

development. 

• 100 metered parking spaces in the UNI transit garage. 

• Additional on-street public parking supply within two to three blocks walking distance of the 

proposed development.  

Supply 

Off-Street public parking 173 141 32

On-Street public parking 186 113 73

Total Available Spaces 105

Peak 

Occupancy

Available 

Spaces

2119 College Impact Area Parking Supply and Demand

Parking Occupancy Map – Evening of May 2, 2019  

605



6 

 

 

Residential and Commercial Parking Demand 

 

For the analysis, we intentionally considered the impact of residential parking and parking associated with 

the commercial space separately. The parkers and the parking spaces they use have different 

characteristics. Commercial parkers mostly come for a short period and leave. Residential parkers need 

overnight parking, even though they may use their vehicles several times per week. The key to keeping 

parking available for all user groups is good policy and regular enforcement.  

 

Summary 

 

This analysis was developed considering the operational and regulatory parking environment currently 

existing in the College Hill neighborhood. If the time of day, overnight, No Parking or other regulations 

were modified, the parking patterns, occupancy levels and availability would undoubtedly change. 

 

Under the current conditions, the development at 2119 College would accommodate much of the parking 

demand generated by the residential units in the building. There could potentially be a shortage of 4 – 

15 parking spaces for the residents if there were more than one person per bedroom. Parking for those 

vehicles could be accommodated on Campus St., Merner Ave., Olive St., and Walnut St., although the 

vehicle owners would have to move the cars regularly to avoid parking citations. A more costly, but less 

prone to violation option would be to buy a permit for overnight parking on the UNI campus. 

 

The first-floor commercial space could generate parking demand for approximately 26 parking spaces 

during peak times. The public parking lots and time limited on-street parking spaces in the area should 

accommodate the parking needs on typical days (events or other extraordinary times notwithstanding).  

 

The proposed development will likely increase density and parking occupancy levels in the College Hill 

neighborhood. Higher parking occupancy levels require regular (although not overbearing) enforcement 

of both the daytime and overnight parking regulations. 

606



607



608



609



610



611



612



613



614



615



616



617



618



619



620



621



622



623



624



625



626



627



628



629



630



631



632



633



634



635



636



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: David Sturch, Planner III 

 DATE: May 30, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Lot 2 Pinnacle Ridge First Site Plan 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Request to approve an MU District Site Plan for a Two and Three Unit 
Dwelling 

PETITIONER: 
 

JT&S LLC – owner 

LOCATION: 
 

Lot 2 Pinnacle Ridge First, 0.88 acres southwest corner of Oster Parkway and 
Faithway Drive 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to build one (1) two-unit 
residential building and one (1) three-unit 
residential building on Lot 2 of the Pinnacle Ridge 
First subdivision.  
 
BACKGROUND 
In 2004, the rezoning of over 600 acres to a MU 
district started the Pinnacle Prairie development 
along Greenhill Road. As development continued 
along the western portions of Pinnacle Prairie 
(Business Center North, Business Center South, 
Western Home, and the updated Pinnacle Prairie 
Master Plan), the Final Plat for Pinnacle Ridge 
First was approved by the City Council in the 
winter of 2017. This plat includes a mixture of 
single unit homes (Lots 3-45) along with 
condos/townhomes (Lots 1-2) and 
professional/commercial uses along the north side 
of Faithway Drive (Lot 46) and Lot 1 of the 
Pinnacle Prairie Townhomes Phase I development. 
 
In the spring of 2016 the Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan and design guidelines were updated to 
include a more refined street layout as well as current and planned projects and subdivisions. 
The land near the intersection of Greenhill Road and Oster Parkway opened up the 

 

637



development for the Whispering Pines townhomes, Green Creek Third Addition and the 
Pinnacle Ridge subdivision. The Pinnacle Ridge subdivision mostly comprised of single family 
homes with the exception of the larger lots at the north end on Faithway Drive. The two lots on 
the south side are reserved for condos/townhomes and the two lots on the north side are 
reserved for professional office/service use. In order to be consistent with the Pinnacle Prairie 
Master Plan and the MU district requirements, a site plan review by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and City Council approval is necessary on these four lots. The future property 
owners of these dwellings under this review must realize that there will be some sort of 
commercial development across street along the north side of Faithway Drive. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The property in question is located within the MU, Mixed Use Residential, zoning district. 
Development in an MU zoning district requires a detailed site plan review to ensure that the 
development site satisfies the standards of the comprehensive plan, recognizes principles of 
civic design, land use planning, landscape architecture, and building architectural design that 
are set out for the district. Attention to details such as parking, open green space, landscaping, 
signage, building design, and other similar factors help to ensure orderly development. The 
following is a review of the zoning ordinance requirements: 
 
Use: The intent of the MU district is to 
encourage a variety of housing types and 
neighborhood commercial land uses for the 
purpose of creating viable, self-supporting 
neighborhood districts. The Future Land Use 
map to the right identifies this area as planned 
development. This corresponds to the Pinnacle 
Prairie Master Plan that identifies this area 
along the south side of Faithway Drive for 
condo/townhome style development. As part of 
the master plan, the general design guidelines 
convey the vision and character of Pinnacle 
Prairie. The design guidelines allow several 
types of condos/townhome plans ranging 
from alley loaded units, to the traditional style 
of street loaded units. The proposed 
development of Lot 2 is the traditional street 
located driveways from each unit.   
 
The proposed use is permitted in this area. 
 
Building Location: In the MU Zoning District a 
setback area consisting of open landscaped 
green space must be established around the 
district. The Pinnacle Ridge First requires the following setbacks on Lot 2: north side 25 feet; 
west side 20 feet; east side 30 feet and south side 30 feet. The locations of the two buildings 
meet or exceed the standards of the district. 
 
Parking: The parking requirement for multi-unit dwellings in Cedar Falls is two parking spaces 
per dwelling unit, plus one additional parking space for each bedroom in each dwelling unit in 
excess of two bedrooms. The applicant is proposing to build one (1) two-unit dwelling and one 

 

 
 

638



(1) three-unit dwelling. Each unit will have three bedrooms. Per the city code the development 
will need to provide each dwelling unit a minimum of three parking spaces. The plan includes 
two and three stall garages and driveways for each unit to accommodate the parking 
requirements. The parking requirement is met.   
 
Open Green Space/Landscaping: The MU District requires that open green space be provided 
at the rate of 10% of the total development site area excluding the required district setbacks. 
The development site is 0.88 acres or 38,270 square feet. The perimeter setback area equals 
12,620 square feet. The open space is calculated by deducting the lot area from the perimeter 
setback or 25,650 ft² (38,270 - 12,620 = 25,650). 10% of 25,650 equal 2,565 ft² of open space. 
Excluding the perimeter setback, the property has approximately 11,000 ft² of open space. The 
open green space requirement is met. In addition to the greenspace requirement, the MU 
district has a landscaping requirement of 0.02 landscaping points per square foot of total 
development site area. For a 38,270 square foot lot, 765.4 landscaping points are needed. The 
proposed landscaping plan proposes 770 landscaping points. The landscaped areas will be 
distributed throughout the development site. Of these plantings the MU District requires 0.75 
landscaping points for street trees per linear foot of public street frontage. This development is 
required to provide 420 (560 feet x 0.75) landscaping points worth of street trees. The applicant 
is proposing to provide five overstory street trees which equates to 450 landscaping points. 
Other plantings include 320 points of conifers and shrubs. Landscaping satisfied.  
 
Building Height: The maximum building height allowed in this district is 35 feet or three stories, 
whichever is less. Building height is measured from the lowest point of the grade. It is proposed 
to construct single story structures that are well below the district height limits. The building 
height requirement is met.  
 
Building Design: The MU District requires a design review of various elements to ensure 
architectural compatibility to surrounding structures within the MU District. Below are a set of 
images showing the character of neighboring buildings and developments within the MU District.  
 

Proportion: The relationship between the width and height of the front elevations of 
adjacent buildings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building; the 
relationship of width to height of windows and doors of adjacent buildings shall be 
considered in the construction or alteration of a building. 
 
The proposed two and three unit dwellings are approximately 109 feet and 141 feet wide 
respectively with 1550 square feet of living space on the main floor. These are common 
designs found in other structures in the nearby area. The area to the south of the 
petitioner’s lot is being developed with single unit detached structures. The property to 
the east is the Whispering Pines development with an assortment of 1, 2, 3, and 4 unit 
condos/townhomes that offer a similar design as the proposed buildings described in this 
report. The area to the west is a church and the area to the north is reserved for 
commercial/office use. Criterion met. 
 
Roof shape, pitch, and direction: The similarity or compatibility of the shape, pitch, and 
direction of roofs in the immediate area shall be considered in the construction or 
alteration of a building. 
 
All neighboring residential developments have pitched roofs. The proposed two buildings 
incorporate the same roof shape, pitch, and direction. Criterion met. 

639



 
Pattern: Alternating solids and openings (wall to windows and doors) in the front facade 
and sides and rear of a building create a rhythm observable to viewers. This pattern of 
solids and openings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. 
 
The two proposed buildings are 
symmetrical in design. The two unit 
building will have three stall garages at 
each end. The three unit building will 
have a three stall garage on one end 
with two double garage stalls for the 
other two units. All garages will be 
served with a double wide driveway 
that is separate from one another to 
provide ample open green space for 

the front yard. Each entry 
is recessed from the front 
line of the garage portion 
of the units to add 
additional depth to the 
front facade. Windows are 
added around all sides of 
the building to create 
visual interest and rhythm. Criterion met. 
 
Materials and texture: The similarity or compatibility of existing materials and textures on 
the exterior walls and roofs of buildings in the immediate area shall be considered in the 
construction or alteration of a building. A building or alteration shall be considered 
compatible if the materials and texture used are appropriate in the context of other 
buildings in the immediate area. 
 
The front of each building includes a combination of brick, vinyl lapboard siding and 
shake siding. The brick will cover the lower portions of the facade and the shake siding 
will cover the peak above the brow of the roof eave. Vinyl lap board siding will cover the 
sides and back of the buildings. The applicant is proposing to use standard asphalt 
shingles to cover the roof. The proposed materials are consistent with materials used 
within the district. Criterion met. 
 
Color: The similarity or compatibility of existing colors of exterior walls and roofs of 
buildings in the area shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. 
 
The proposed buildings will be covered with shades of gray brick/siding, and topped with 
a dark gray roof. The use of a neutral color is consistent with the area. Criterion met. 
 
Architectural features: Architectural features, including but not limited to, cornices, 
entablatures, doors, windows, shutters, and fanlights, prevailing in the immediate area, 
shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. It is not intended that 
the details of existing buildings be duplicated precisely, but those features should be 
regarded as suggestive of the extent, nature, and scale of details that would be 
appropriate on new buildings or alterations. 

 

Two unit design 

 

 
Three unit design 

640



 
Each unit will have a deck off the back of the building and a brow across the front peak to 
break up the brick and shake siding. The roof line is broken up and the front and side 
walls are setback in places to create both visual horizontal and vertical breaks. The 
architectural elements of these two buildings can be found in the residential development 
to the south and east. Criterion met. 

 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, has reviewed the proposed 
plat. All utility services are available to the site. There is an existing 8” diameter water service 
line that will need to abandoned and disconnected from the existing 12” water main on the north 
side of Faithway Drive. New water services will need to be provided to each unit from the water 
main on Faithway Drive. The westerly driveway on the site must provide a 50-foot clearance 
from the easterly curbline of Prairie Dock Road 

A courtesy notice to adjoining property owners for this site plan was mailed on May 15, 2019. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion 
& Vote 
5/22/2019 

Chair Holst introduced an MU District Site Plan Review for Lot 2 of Pinnacle Ridge 
1st Addition and Mr. Graham provided background information. The property is 
near the intersection of Faithway Drive and Oster Parkway, just south of Greenhill 
Road within the Pinnacle Prairie development. One two-unit and one three-unit 
dwelling are proposed at this location and site plan review is required. Building 
and landscaping requirements are met. Mr. Graham provided a rendering of the 
proposed building design for the units, and showed photos of comparable building 
designs. Staff recommends approval with conformance to any comments or 
direction from the Commission. 
 
Sam Runyan, developer, (4010 W. 1st Street), stated that the project is very 
straightforward and would be available for any questions. 
 
There were no other comments and the Commission recommended approval of 
the site plan on Lot 2 of Pinnacle Ridge First Addition. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Community Development Department recommends approval of the site plan on Lot 2 
Pinnacle Ridge First Addition.   

641



Briarwood Dr

Green Creek Rd

Prairie View Rd

Greenhill Dr

P
ra

ir
ie

D
o

ck
Rd

P
ra

irie
C

t

D
e

e
n

a
 D

r

D
a

in
a

 D
r

C
re

s
tv

ie
w

 D
r

C
a

rl
to

n
 D

r

M
a

ry
h

ill
 D

r

J
e

n
n
if
e

r 
L
n

K
n
o

ll 
R

id
g

e
 D

r

O
rc

h
a

rd
H

ill
D

r B
ria

rw
o

o
d

H
i lls

D
r

Faithway Dr
O

ster P
kw

y

Wild Flow
e
r

L
n

R
o

w
n

d
 S

t

W
hispering Pines C

i r

Greenhill Rd

R-4

R-2R-1
R-1

A-1

MU

MU District Site Plan Review on Lot 2
Pinnacle Ridge First

W Viking
Industrial

Park

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

H
u

d
s
o

n
R

d

C
e

d
a

r
H

e
ig

hts

D
r

P
r
a

irie
P

k
w

y

WRidg

eway Ave

University Ave

W
aterloo

R
d

Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

Vik
in

gRd

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Greenhill Rd

C

ente
r

S
t

S
 M

a
in

 S
t

M
a

in
 S

t

W 1st St

W 12th St

U
n

io
n
 R

d

E 1st St

W 27th St

Lincoln St

N

U
nion

R
d

E Lone Tree Rd

L
e

v
e

rs
e

e
R

d

®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63
£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

Cedar Falls City Council
June 3, 2019

642



Faithway Dr
P

ra
ir
ie

D
o

c
k

R
d

O
s
te

r
P

k
w

y

25’
25’

20’20’
30’

37’
37’

320’

1
2

0
’

O
s

te
r

P
k

w
y

P
ra

ir
ie

D
o

c
k

R
d

Greenhill Rd

Faithway Dr

Location Map

Project Site

Residential Condo/Tomehome Development

Developer:

Contractor:

Location:

Lot Area:

Zoning:

JT&S LLC
2122 W. 1st Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Runyan Properties LLC
2122 W. 1st Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

Lot 2 Pinnacle Ridge First

38,270 SF

MU

Landscaping: Open space = 10% of total
site excluding setback area.
Lot area = 38,270 SF
Setback area = 12,620 SF
Remaining area = 25,650 SF
10% = 2,565 sf
Open space = 11,150 SF

Plantings = 0.02 points per
square foot of total site
Site = 38,270(0.02) = 765.4 points
Points provided = 770 points

QTY
5
6

16

TYPE
3” Overstory Trees

5’ Tall Conifers
5 Gallon Shrubs

POINTS/EACH
90
40
5

Total Points

TOTAL
450
240
80

770

4
’w

id
e

s
id

e
w

a
lk

50’

3 Gar 3 Gar
3 Gar2 Gar2 Gar

Deck Deck Deck Deck Deck

643



Residential Development on Lot 2 Pinnacle Ridge First

Front Elevation

Back Elevation

Side Elevation

Asphalt shingles

Brick Vinyl lap board siding

Shake siding

Wood deck

644



Residential Development on Lot 2 Pinnacle Ridge First

2 Unit Design

3 Unit Design (with 2 double garages and 1 triple garage)

Note: These photos are existing dwellings that are a compatible design for the proposed dwellings on Lot 2

645



1 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: May 30, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Highway-1 District Site Plan Review 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Site plan approval for a new Dairy Queen restaurant and a convenience 
store/gas station/automobile service station. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Martin Rouse (developer); Fehr-Graham (engineer); Peters Construction 
(contractor); AHTS Architects (architect) 
 

LOCATION: 
 

Lot 2 of Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The developer, Martin Rouse, is requesting approval of 
a site plan to construct a new DQ Grill and Chill 
restaurant and a convenience store/automobile service 
station on Lot 2 of Gateway Business Park at Cedar 
Falls I, which is located at the northeast corner of 
Hudson Road and W. Ridgeway Avenue (highlighted 
lot on the image to the right). The lot will have one 
main access from Cyber Lane, with a secondary 
access coming via an access easement from Lot 1 to 
the north (Holiday Inn & Suites Hotel). No access to 
the site will be gained directly from W. Ridgeway 
Avenue or Hudson Road.  
 
BACKGROUND 
Lots 1 and 2 of Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls 
I, along with the stormwater detention basin parcel, 
were platted in June of 2018. Currently, a Holiday Inn 
& Suites Hotel and conference center is under 
construction on Lot 1. Cyber Lane, which was also 
approved as part of the plat, will be completed in 2019.   

Lot 2 – Proposed Project Location 

646



2 
 

ANALYSIS 
The property is zoned HWY-1, Highway Commercial District, which is intended to promote 
general services commercial uses intended to serve a broader market area (i.e. City-wide or 
regional customer base). The property is also located within the Highway 20 Overlay District, 
which provides enhanced development guidelines for commercial uses located within this 
corridor. The ordinance requires detailed site plan review in order to ensure that the 
development site satisfies a number of basic aesthetic standards. Attention to details such as 
parking, open green space, landscaping, signage, building design and other similar factors help 
to ensure orderly development in the entire area. Following is a review of the zoning ordinance 
requirements: 
 

1) Use: A restaurant is listed as a permitted use within the Highway 20 Commercial Corridor 
Overlay District. A gas station/convenience store can also have a regional customer base, 
thus fitting within the permitted uses of the Highway 20 Commercial Corridor Overlay 
District. A service station is listed as a conditional use within the Highway 20 Commercial 
Corridor Zoning District. A conditional use may be permitted within this district subject to 
approval by the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council. Factors to be evaluated 
in consideration of allowing such a use involve the site location relative to key entry points 
into the city (i.e. in the vicinity of the Hudson Road and Highway 58 intersections with W. 
Ridgeway Avenue). It is recommended that conditional uses be located on properties at 
least 300 feet from the Hudson Road and Highway 58 right-of-way lines. The service 
station use of this development is located approximately 475 feet from the right-of-way line 
of Hudson Road. The restaurant and convenience store are permitted uses. The 
service station is a conditional use, and exceeds the recommended setback 
guidelines from Hudson Road. 
 

2) Setbacks: 20-ft. setbacks are required along the edge of the district and along any internal 
streets/principal access ways. These areas must be landscaped. Open space and 
landscaping is shown on the plan within these areas. Both the restaurant and convenience 
store/service station buildings meet the setback requirements. Building setbacks are 
satisfied. 
 

3) Parking/Access: A restaurant is required to provide 1 parking space for every 100 square 
feet of gross floor area, plus 1 parking space for every 2 employees with a minimum of 5 
parking spaces for employee parking. A convenience store is required to provide 1 parking 
space for every 100 square feet of retail floor space, plus 1 parking space for every 2 
employees. There is no specific definition of service stations in the parking section, 
however the ordinance indicates that the number of parking spaces shall be that of a 
similar use as determined by staff. In looking at the parking space use requirements, the 
closest comparison would be that of a fuel service center, which requires 2 parking spaces 
for each service stall. Staff feels that since the service center would have bays for cars, 
that the parking requirements for a fuel service center would be comparable. 
 

Based on the above requirements, the total site would be required to provide 78 parking 
spaces. As you can see from the chart below, the property is providing 115 parking 
spaces, 37 more spaces than what is required. Please reference the chart below to see 
the breakdown of required and provided parking by uses. 
  
 

647



3 
 

Use Required Provided 

Restaurant 17 85 (shared with convenience store) 

Convenience Store 49 85 (shared with restaurant) 

Service Station 12 30 

Total 78 115 

 
Access to the property will be gained from two different locations. There will be one main 
access from Cyber Lane at the northeast corner of the property. There is also a 65’ wide 
access easement provided from Lot 1 (Holiday Inn & Suites Hotel) to allow access to this 
site at the northwest corner of the property. If using this access, access can be gained 
onto Hudson Road through a right-in right-out on the hotel site.  
 
The main area in front of the convenience store/gas station near the gas canopy does 
appear to have a large quantity of concrete, as there is 39’ from the parking area at the 
west end of the site to the gas canopy, and 42’ from the parking lane in front of the 
building to the gas canopy. Staff had previously questioned if the pavement area could be 
reduced, but the developer indicated at the Planning & Zoning Commission meeting that 
the area is needed for maneuvering of larger vehicles or vehicles that tow boats or trailers. 
In addition, the underground gasoline storage tanks are located to the south of the gas 
canopy, so area is needed for trucks to deliver the fuel.  
Overall, the submitted parking lot and access plan is satisfied.  

 

4) Open Green Space: This property is located within the Highway 20 Commercial Corridor 
Overlay Zoning District. This overlay district requires that open green space/landscape 
area be provided at the rate of 15% of the development site. Following is a summary from 
the landscape plan that details how this provision is met.   
 
 
 

Development Site 190,358 SF  

Required Open/Green Space 28,554 SF 15% 
Provided Open/Green Space 52,708 SF 27.7% 

 
Landscaping is shown throughout the site, both within the green space areas in the 
parking lot and around the buildings and along the street frontages. The open green 
space exceeds the minimum requirement and is well distributed. 
 

5) Landscaping: The Highway 20 Commercial Corridor Overlay District requires landscaping 
at the rate of 0.02 points per sq. ft. of total development site area. Following are the 
requirements for the convention center site and new hotel site and what is proposed. 
 

Description Required Proposed 
Development Lot 

190,358 * .02 
3,808 pts. 4,734 pts. 

Parking lot trees 
115/15 = 8 trees @ 80 pts. 

640 pts. 1,520 pts. 

Street Tree Planting 
(.75 points per linear foot → 1,330’ on 
Hudson Rd, W. Ridgeway Ave and Cyber 
Ln) 

998 pts. 1,606 pts. 

 5,446 pts 7,860 pts 

648



4 
 

 
As detailed in the table, trees are required in the vehicular use area at the rate of one tree 
per 15 parking spaces. With a total buildout of 115 parking spaces, 8 trees would be 
required. The landscape plan shows a total of 19 trees within the parking area, which 
would exceed the requirement. 
 
In addition to parking lot trees, there are trees located along the street frontages, and trees 
located along the north property line to screen the site from the storm water detention 
basin and hotel to the north. In total, there will be 59 trees and 572 shrubs and grasses 
planted on the site. 
 
In order to help screen the automobile service station use from the surrounding properties 
and roadway, the landscaping to the south and east of the building along W. Ridgeway 
Avenue and Cyber Lane will be constructed on top of a small berm. This berm will add an 
additional form of screening from the building and parking area of the service station in 
addition to the landscape plantings. Landscaping requirements are met. 
 

6) Sidewalks/Recreational Accommodations: A new 10-foot wide recreational trail will be 
installed along Hudson Road and W. Ridgeway Avenue. This will be completed by the 
current owner of the property (also the owner of the Holiday Inn & Suites Hotel). A 
connection from this trail to the property is shown near the northwest corner of the 
property. This will allow pedestrian access to the DQ Grill and Chill. There is another 
connection from the trail to the property along the south side of the property. This will 
allow pedestrian access to the convenience store. Also, a new 5’ wide sidewalk will also 
be installed along Cyber Lane, and would have a connection point to the site at the 
entrance to the property along Cyber Lane. Trail/sidewalk plan satisfied. 

 

 

7) Building Design: The HWY-1, Highway Commercial District states that all structures 
established within the district shall be reviewed for architectural compatibility with 
surrounding structures. Below is a review on the elements that are to be addressed. 

  

 
Proportion: The relationship between the width and height of the front elevations 

of adjacent buildings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a 
building; the relationship of width to height of windows and doors of adjacent 
buildings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. 
 

The scale and proportion of both of the proposed buildings will be 
similar to existing buildings in the area, except for the hotel located 
adjacent to the north, which will be 4 stories in height, and the 
proposed buildings will only be one story. However, many of the 
office buildings located within the technology park nearby to the 
north are single-story buildings. 

 

Roof shape, pitch, and direction: The similarity or compatibility of the shape, 

pitch, and direction of roofs in the immediate area shall be considered in the 
construction or alteration of a building. 

 

The design of both buildings includes a flat roof with a parapet wall. 
The hotel to the north, as well as a number of industrial and office 

649



5 
 

uses nearby utilize flat roofs as well, so this roof design will not be 
out of character with the area.      

 
Pattern: Alternating solids and openings (wall to windows and doors) in the front 

facade and sides and rear of a building create a rhythm observable to viewers. 
This pattern of solids and openings shall be considered in the construction or 
alteration of a building. 
 

 The restaurant building was designed with a brick base around the 
entire building, with cultured stone veneer being located over the 
entrance, drive through window and front of the building. The top 
portion of the south and west facing sides of the building will also 
have metal accent panels. This horizontal pattern of brick, coupled 
with the vertical pattern of the cultured stone veneer, provides 
some visual interest to the building. The convenience 
store/automobile service station building was similarly designed 
with a brick base, and like the restaurant building, the entrances to 
this building will have that brick material extend to the top of the 
wall as well. In addition, brick materials extend near the roof line in 
each corner of the building to add detail to those areas, while 
allowing the main entrances of the building to stand out more with 
the brick materials going to the top of the wall.       

 
 The primary façade (south and west sides) of the restaurant has an 

alternating pattern of windows and a main entrance feature that 
provide views and openings into the building. Decorative awnings 
are also found above the windows and entrances along the primary 
facades. Above the windows is a decorative canopy with metal 
accent panels above, which go to the roof line. These elements 
provide a visually interesting rhythm to the primary façade. The rear 
and drive through side of the store (east and north sides of the 
building) will feature mainly the brick base, EIFS, and cultured 
stone veneer over the drive through window. There are no windows 
on these sides of the building, as they encompass the employee 
and storage areas of the interior of the building. It should be noted 
that the enhanced facades of the building are facing the public 
streets. 

  
 The primary façade (west and north sides) of the convenience 

store/automobile service station has a similar alternating pattern of 
windows and main entrance features to provide views and 
openings into the building. Decorative awnings are found over the 
windows on this building, similar to the ones found on the 
restaurant building. These features provide a visually pleasing main 
entrance into the building. The east side of the building is made up 
of 6 service bay doors for vehicles, which are made up of nearly all 
glass. The south side of the building has brick columns at the 
corners, and a service door which leads to the trash enclosure, 

650



6 
 

however there are windows and awnings found near the corner of 
the building where the convenience store portion is located.  

 
 The buildings were created with a contemporary design approach 

to meet the standards of the restaurant company while also 
adapting to local conditions resulting in a more custom design for 
the building. Exterior materials were designed with a strong 
masonry base, such as the brick and stone, with a consistent 
pattern at the entrances and a defined top with an enhanced 
cornice. 

 
Materials and texture: The similarity or compatibility of existing materials and 

textures on the exterior walls and roofs of buildings in the immediate area shall be 
considered in the construction or alteration of a building. A building or alteration 
shall be considered compatible if the materials and texture used are appropriate in 
the context of other buildings in the immediate area. 

 
 The front of the restaurant (south facing side) will feature brick, 

cultured stone, EIFS, metal accent panels and glass. These 
materials are commonly found on other buildings within the area. 
The metal accent panels will be orange in color, while the other 
materials will be in several different earth tone colors. The 
restaurant’s name and logo will be located in front of the building 
and above the main entrance.  

 
 The convenience store/automobile service station will also feature 

brick, EIFS, and glass. Brick material will be a darker earth tone, 
with a lighter tone stone cap. The EIFS material will also be lighter 
earth tone in color. Signage will be located above the main 
entrances and windows of the north and west sides of the building. 
As with the restaurant building, these types of building materials are 
commonly found on other buildings in this area. 

  
Color: The similarity or compatibility of existing colors of exterior walls and roofs of 

buildings in the area shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a 
building. 
 

Many of the existing buildings in this area utilize a neutral color 
exterior, which include brown, tan, and cream. Some buildings also 
utilize red or gray tones as well. The restaurant building will include 
a darker brown shade of brick, along with a lighter shade of 
cultured stone and EIFS to provide contrast. Awnings above the 
windows will be red in color. Metal accent panels along the upper 
portion of the front and side of the building will be orange in color. 
Staff feels that the amount of red and orange that is incorporated 
into the building does not take away from the overall look of the 
development and provides additional visual interest to the facades. 
 

651



7 
 

The convenience store/automobile service station building will also 
include a darker brown shade of brick, along with a lighter shade of 
EIFS to provide contrast, just like the restaurant building. Awnings 
above the windows on this building will be purple in color. Just like 
the restaurant building, staff feels that the amount of purple that is 
incorporated into the building does not take away from the overall 
look of the development and provides additional visual interest to 
the facades. 
 

Architectural features: Architectural features, including but not limited to, cornices, 

entablatures, doors, windows, shutters, and fanlights, prevailing in the immediate 
area, shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. It is not 
intended that the details of existing buildings be duplicated precisely, but those 
features should be regarded as suggestive of the extent, nature, and scale of details 
that would be appropriate on new buildings or alterations. 
 

Architectural features of the restaurant include fabric awnings over 
each of the windows, as well as a cornice that is located at the very 
top of the cultured stone wall at the front of the building. The 
building also incorporates orange metal accent panels on the upper 
portions of the front and side walls. The convenience store/auto 
service station will also have fabric awnings located over the 
windows like the restaurant building, as well as a cornice that is 
located above the main facades of the north and west walls.  

 

Overall, the design of the proposed restaurant and convenience 
store/gas station/auto service station is architecturally compatible with 
other buildings in the surrounding area.  

 
8) Trash Dumpster Site: Two trash enclosures will be located on the site; one for the 

restaurant and one for the convenience store/service station. The trash enclosure for the 
restaurant will be located at the southeast corner of the property and will be fully enclosed 
with a gate on the front. This enclosure will also have landscaping around it to help screen 
it from view. The trash enclosure for the convenience store and service station will be 
located on the south side of the building. This enclosure will look like it is part of the rear of 
the building, as the wall of the building will extend out and enclose the dumpster area, thus 
completely screening it from view. Dumpster enclosure plan is acceptable. 

 
 
9) Lighting Plan: The HWY-1 District regulations do not have 

specific lighting design guidelines. The site plan shows the 
location of light poles throughout the site. The parking lot 
lights will be mounted atop a 25’ tall light pole with a 3’ 
concrete base. The fixtures will be housed in a die-cast 
aluminum housing with LED lights. Also, recessed LED 
lighting will be provided under the gas canopy to provide 
light to the customers who are fueling their vehicles. 
Lighting plan is acceptable.  

 

LED Parking Lot Fixture 
652



8 
 

10) Signage: There are three signs illustrated on the site plan: 
one at the southwest corner of the property near the 
intersection of Hudson Road and W. Ridgeway Avenue, 
one at the southeast corner of the property near the 
intersection of W. Ridgeway Avenue and Cyber Lane, and 
one near the northeast corner of the property at the main 
entrance to the property along Cyber Lane. The main sign, 
located at the southwest corner of the property, will be 25 
feet in height and 198 square feet in area. This sign will sit 
atop a 3 foot brick base.  
 

Two smaller 6’ tall, 70 square foot signs will be located at 
the southeast corner of the property near the intersection of 
W. Ridgeway Avenue and Cyber Lane, and one near the 
northeast corner of the property at the main entrance to the 
property along Cyber Lane. These signs will also sit atop a 
brick base like the main sign.  
 
It should be noted that the property is located within the 
Highway 20 Commercial Corridor Overlay Zoning District. 
The signage requirements in this district state that one 
freestanding sign may be allowed that does not exceed 25 
feet in height and 200 square feet in area. 
The main monument sign would meet 
those requirements. The ordinance goes 
on to state that smaller monument signs, 
measuring no more than 15 feet in height 
and 150 square feet in area, are permitted, 
with a maximum of two such signs per 
parcel. The parcel would have two such 
signs, at a size of 70 square feet each. 
 
The proposed wall signs appear to be well within the District limitations of no larger than 
20% of the wall area to which the wall sign is attached. However, this will be reviewed in 
detail at the time a sign permit is requested. Signage plan generally meets the 
standards, pending a detailed review at the time a sign permit is requested. 

 

11) Storm Water Management: A storm water detention basin is located at the north end of 
the property to collect the storm water runoff from the site. The water runoff from the 
building and parking areas will be collected via intakes within the parking area and 
transferred via piping to the detention basin. Also, an oil skimmer will be provided within 
the intake near the fueling area in order to help stop any fuel or oil from reaching the 
detention basin. Stormwater Management Plan has been reviewed and approved by 
the Engineering Division. 

 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
Water, electric, gas, and communications utility services are available to the site in accordance 
with the service policies of Cedar Falls Utilities. The property owner/contractor is responsible to 
extend all utility services to the building. These utility extensions will be reviewed by CFU 

Secondary Monument Signs 

Main Monument Sign 

653



9 
 

personnel as part of the building plan review. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning & Zoning Commission and City Staff recommend approval of the HWY-1 District 
Site Plan for the new proposed commercial development. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion 
5/8/2019 

Mr. Graham explained that the lot is at the northeast corner of Hudson Road and 
West Ridgeway Avenue and is approximately four acres. He displayed the site 
plan and discussed the entrances to the proposed businesses, as well as the 
storm water detention basin, sidewalks, trail connections and trash enclosures. 
He also presented the landscape plan and noted that all requirements are not 
only met, but exceeded. The signage plan includes three monument signs that 
also meet requirements. The storm water management plan appropriately 
manages water runoff and meets all requirements. Mr. Graham provided an 
overall site layout and discussed building design proposal. Mr. Graham noted that 
staff requests that the south side of the convenience store building that faces W. 
Ridgeway Avenue also include the cornice feature along the roof line, as that side 
of the building faces a heavily traveled street and would give that side of the 
building a more pleasing look like the main facades of the building. He noted staff 
concerns with the significant amount of pavement around the gas canopy at the 
gas station and stated that staff would like to see that reduced, if possible. At this 
time the item is just before the Commission for discussion and is proposed to 
come back to the next meeting for a vote. 
 

Martin Rouse, 902 13th Street, Grundy Center, Iowa, introduced himself as the 
developer of the project. Brad Best, 1212 Oak Park Boulevard, stated that he is 
representing Peters Construction, as the general contractor, and is available for 
any questions. Jennifer Rude, American Dairy Queen Corporation, 8331 Norman 
Center Drive, Bloomington, Minnesota, 55437, stated that she is pleased to see 
the newest prototype of Dairy Queen coming to Cedar Falls.  
 
Jon Biederman, Civil Engineer for the project, stated that they have additional 
parking spaces as they believe they will need them. He also addressed the 
additional pavement around the gas canopy, noting that many times people will 
have larger vehicles or trailers that will need the extra room to maneuver. He also 
discussed parking and open space requirements, as they would like to replace a 
small green space near the northwest corner of the convenience store building 
with pavement.  
   
Mardy Holst, AHTS Architects, spoke to the cornice on the side of the building 
that staff would like to see added. He explained that they have not shown a 
cornice as they are typically reserved for the entry of the building. As there are no 
entries at that side they were not added to that side.  
 
Ms. Prideaux asked about the two open space islands. Mr. Leeper stated that the 
cornice wasn’t really an issue for him, as well as the islands. He did note that he 
would encourage reducing the paving, but it is not essential. 
 

654



10 
 

Mr. Larson felt it made sense to leave the additional pavement and he was okay 
with the cornice and the removal of the islands.  
  
Mr. Wingert also noted that he believes that the cornice is good as it is, and that 
he understands the need for the additional paving.  
 

Vote 
5/22/2019 

Mr. Leeper introduced the item and Mr. Graham provided background 
information. He explained that this is a continued discussion for the HWY-1 
District Site Plan Review for Lot 2 of the Gateway Business Park at the northeast 
corner of West Ridgeway Avenue and Hudson Road. He provided renderings that 
displayed the elements of the site plan, including entrances, the proposed Dairy 
Queen, and the service and convenience stores. He also discussed the 
stormwater detention basin, trash enclosure, trail connections and sidewalks. He 
presented the landscape, signage, and stormwater management plans, noting 
that all requirements have been met or exceeded. Mr. Graham showed the 
overall layout of the site and building design for the proposed buildings. He noted 
that there was discussion regarding a landscape island that the developer asked 
to remove and he stated that staff recommends that it not be removed. Staff 
recommends approval with any additional comments from the Planning and 
Zoning Commission. 
  
Brad Best of Peters Construction and Aaron Lee of US Oil came forward to speak 
on behalf of the project. Mr. Best formerly requested that the island be removed 
from the project, as well as the cornice on the south side of the building. They feel 
that the island may create pedestrian issues. Mr. Lee added that US Oil supplies 
roughly 650 independent gas stations throughout the Midwest. Market studies 
have showed that there is a need for fueling station at that location.  
 
Mr. Wingert stated that he has no issues with the proposed modifications. Ms. 
Saul, Mr. Larson and Ms. Giarusso agreed. Mr. Graham stated that staff would 
like an updated landscaping plan before the project goes to City Council so points 
can be recalculated for an accurate staff report. 
  
Mr. Wingert made a motion to approve with modifications. Mr. Hartley seconded 
the motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 5 ayes (Giarusso, 
Hartley, Holst, Larson, Leeper, Saul and Wingert), 2 abstentions (Holst and 
Leeper) and 0 nays. 
 

 
 

655



S Prairie
Lake

Dry

Run
Cre ek

(S)

W Viking
Industrial

Park

Technology
Park

Industrial
Park

Central
River AEA

Prairie
Lakes
Park

Technology Pkwy

Pr
inc

eto
n A

ve

Richmond St

Montclair St

Scranton St

Columbia St

Concord St

Saratoga St

Camden St

Le
xin

gto
nB

lvd

Ch an cel lorDr

Waterway Ave (Planned)

C yber Ln (Planned)

Hu
ds

on
 R

d

W Ridgeway Ave
R-4

M-1
M-1

PC-2

HWY-1

BR

A-1

A-1

W Viking
Industrial

Park

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

Hu
ds

on
Rd

Ce d a
rH

eig
hts

Dr

University Ave

Waterloo Rd Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

V ikin

gRd

W 18th St

Greenhill Rd

Center St

E Dunkerton Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St
Ma

in 
St

W 1st St

W 12th St

Un
ion

 R
d

E 1st St

W 27th St

NUnion Rd

Lincoln St

E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ve

r se
eR

d

®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63
£¤20

£¤218

Location
Map

^

DQ Grill & Chill/Convenience 
Store/Auto Service Station
Hwy-1 Site Plan Review

Cedar Falls City Council
June 3, 2019

656



LOT 2, GATEWAY BUSINESS PARK SITE PLAN

657



LOT 2 GATEWAY BUSINESS PARK
DEVELOPMENT SITE PLAN

658



LOT 2 GATEWAY BUSINESS PARK
DEVELOPMENT SIGHT TRIANGLE

659



660



661



662



663



664



665



666



667



668



669



32
7 

E
as

t F
ou

rth
 S

tre
et

S
ui

te
 2

04
W

at
er

lo
o,

 Io
w

a 
50

70
3

D
ra

w
in

gs
 a

nd
 S

pe
ci

fic
at

io
ns

, i
de

as
,

de
si

gn
s,

 a
nd

 a
rr

an
ge

m
en

ts
 re

pr
es

en
te

d
ar

e 
an

d 
sh

al
l r

em
ai

n 
th

e 
pr

op
er

ty
 o

f t
he

ar
ch

ite
ct

 a
nd

 n
o 

pa
rt 

sh
al

l b
e 

co
pi

ed
 o

r
di

sc
lo

se
d 

to
 o

th
er

s,
 o

r u
se

d 
in

 c
on

ne
c-

tio
n 

w
ith

 a
ny

 w
or

k 
or

 p
ro

je
ct

 o
th

er
 th

an
th

e 
sp

ec
fie

d 
pr

oj
ec

t f
or

 w
hi

ch
 th

ey
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

pr
ep

ar
ed

 w
ith

ou
t t

he
 w

rit
te

n
co

ns
en

t o
f t

he
 a

rc
hi

te
ct

.  
Vi

su
al

 c
on

ta
ct

w
ith

 th
es

e 
pl

an
s 

an
d 

sp
ec

ifi
ca

tio
ns

 s
ha

ll
co

ns
tit

ut
e 

co
nc

lu
si

ve
 e

vi
de

nc
e 

of
ac

ce
pt

an
ce

 o
f t

he
se

 re
st

ric
tio

ns
.

C
   

 C
op

yr
ig

ht
 2

01
9

May 24, 2019

P
h.

: 3
19

-2
33

-1
16

3
Fa

x:
 3

19
-2

33
-9

86
3

/V
ol

um
es

/P
ro

je
ct

 D
oc

s/
20

18
-0

05
0 

R
ou

se
 C

on
ve

ni
en

ce
 S

to
re

 - 
P

et
er

s/
3.

 C
on

su
lta

nt
s/

La
nd

sc
ap

e/
04

-1
6-

20
19

 p
la

nt
in

g.
pl

n

R
ou

se
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

C
ed

ar
 F

al
ls

, I
ow

a
R

id
ge

w
ay

 A
ve

nu
e

968 sq ft

917 sq ft

5,309 sq ft

1,169 sq ft

161 sq ft

1,355 sq ft

72 sq ft

1,150 sq ft
13,091 sq ft

258 sq ft

246 sq ft

246 sq ft

1,225 sq ft

4,205 sq ft

238 sq ft

3,088 sq ft

576 sq ft

2,753 sq ft

17,937 sq ft

347 sq ft

890 sq ft

6,342 sq ft

S

S

DRIVE
THRU

DRIVE
THRU

D
R

IV
E

TH
R

U

928

930

940

938

936

934

932

946

944

942

944

94
2

940

942

958

946

940

930

944

92
8

926

932

934

93
6

938

944

946 948

950

952

95
4

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

LAWN

PLANT LIST

 Overstory Trees
12   - 2" caliper/80 pts = 960pts.-  Acer Plat."columnaire" 50x15 wide
2   - 2" caliper/80 pts = 160pts. - Gleditsia T. "Skyline" Honeylocust 40x40 wide
14   - 2" caliper/80 pts = 1,220pts. - Ginko Biloba 5x30 wide
31   - 6' ht. / 80 pts =  2,480pts.  -  Pinus Strobus "White Pine" 60x30 wide

35 - 5 GAL/10 pts = 350 pts.   HYDRANGEA P. LIMELIGHT
324 - 2 GAL./5 pts = 1620 pts.    KARL FOERSTER GRASS
96 - 2 GAL/5 pts = 480 pts      HEMEROCALLIS DAYLILY "HAPPY RETURNS"
96 - 2 GAL/5 pts = 480 pts.   Rudbekia G. VAR "Sullivanti"
21 - 5 GAL/10 pts = 210 pts.   Juniperus communis var. depressa
Total points provided = 7,860
Total points required = 4,668
Notes:
Rudbekia and Daylilies to be interplanted at high visibility areas in mulch beds.

Mulch areas to receive weed fabric and 2" depth of River rock mulch.

Lawn areas to receive sod or seed provide alternate bids.

Large stone out crop grouping @ 4 Locations
Berm areas to be 3' Ht.

PROVIDE 20" DEPTH OF APPROVED BLACK DIRT IN ALL PLANTING AREAS.

H

W

K
H

D

Quantity- Size/Points- Variety

GB

M

HHGB
GB

GB

GB

GB

GB

GB

GBW

M

W

W

W

W

W

W

W W W
W W

W
W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W
W W

W
W

W

W

W

W

GB GB GBGBGBGB

M M M
MM

HH
H

HH
H

HH
H

HH
H

HH
H

HH
H

HH
H

HH
H

K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K

K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K K

K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K

K
K
K
K
K
K
K

K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K
K

M
M

M

MM

not ALL shown
include in bid

KKK
KKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKKK

K
J

J
R

JJ J J J

JJ

KKK
H

RR
R
R

RRRR
RR

DDDDD

H
H
H

HHHH
H

DD
D
D

D

DDD

DDD

DDD

DDD

DDD

J
J

J
J
J

J

R
R
R

RRRRRRRR
RD

D
D

D
D
D

H H H H H H
H H H

H H H H H H

H
H H

M M

KKKKKKKKKKKK

KKKKKKKKKKKK

1,555 sq ft

Sq ft

Sq ft

North

SCALE: 1"   = 50'
Planting Plan P-1

670



671



672



673



674



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: May 30, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Preliminary and Final Plat of a Replat of Lot 16 and Tract “B” of West Viking Road 
Industrial Park Phase IV 

 
 

REQUEST: 
 

Approve the preliminary and final plat of the replat of Lot 16 and Tract “B” of 
West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
 

LOCATION: 
 

South side of Technology Parkway, west of Production Drive in the West 
Viking Road Industrial Park 
 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The City of Cedar Falls is proposing 
to replat Lot 16 and Tract “B” of 
West Viking Road Industrial Park 
Phase IV into two new parcels. 
Parcel “A” (2.70 acres) would 
become a new, larger buildable lot 
than the previous Lot 16, while 
Parcel “B” (0.01 acre) would be 
merged into Tract “C of West Viking 
Road Industrial Park Phase III, 
which is a storm water detention 
basin located adjacent to the east.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The Final Plat for West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV was approved by the City Council 
in 2013. This plat included 22 buildable lots, and was the last phase of the West Viking Road 
Industrial Park development that started developing in 2004.  
 
ANALYSIS 
The City of Cedar Falls currently owns the land in question, which is zoned M-1,P planned light 
industrial district. The purpose of the M-1,P district is to permit the establishment of industrial 
parks and to provide for the orderly planned growth of industries on large portions of land. This 

675



industrial park area was developed over four phases beginning in 2004, which were created as 
the park continued to grow and expand.  
 
City staff has been in discussions with a local business who currently leases building space in 
the industrial park about acquiring a lot from the City in order to build their own building to 
expand their business. Lot 16 was identified by the business as the preferred lot due to the size 
and dimensions. Directly to the east of Lot 16 is Tract “B”, which was originally platted for street 
purposes, even though no street currently exists there today. The business owner inquired if a 
street was ever going to be built in that location, as they expressed an interest in adding that 
area to Lot 16 so that they could use it as an entrance drive for their truck traffic. 
 
The idea at the time this area was platted was that a street would extend to the south in the 
future if the industrial park expanded. However, just south of the industrial park on private 
property there would appear to be a large area of wetlands, which would make it difficult and 
costly to extend the street southward. Also, approximately ¼ mile to the west, Development 
Drive is shown to extend to the property to the south as well, which would allow for traffic to get 
from this area of the industrial park to the south if that area is ever developed in the future. 
There would not appear to be any issues for this road to extend to the property to the south for 
future development. Therefore, staff does not have an issue with merging a majority of Tract “B” 
with Lot 16 to create a larger buildable lot for the company.    
 
This property is not located in the 100 year floodplain district. All submittal requirements have 
been met. A courtesy notice has been sent to property owners within 200 feet of this plat. 
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, have reviewed the replat. 
Water, electric, gas, and communications utility services are available in accordance with the 
service policies of CFU. The lot already has sanitary sewer and water service stubbed to the 
site, which will not change based on the new lot. There was a 10’ wide utility easement located 
along the east side of original Lot 16, however there are no utilities located in it and will no 
longer be needed once Lot 16 and Tract “B” are combined, so the replat removes this easement 
from the new lot.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning & Zoning Commission and City Staff recommend approval of the preliminary and 
final plat of the Replat of Lot 16 and Tract “B” of West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV. 

 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion/Vote 
5/22/2019 

Mr. Graham provided background information. The property is located along 
Technology Parkway west of the intersection with Production Drive. The 
replat will combine the lot and tract into one lot. A company is interested in 
this lot and has indicated the need for the additional land for a driveway for 
truck traffic. Staff recommends approval of the project. 
 
Mr. Leeper made a motion to approve. Mr. Wingert seconded the motion. 
The motion was approved unanimously with 7 ayes (Giarusso, Hartley, Holst, 
Larson, Leeper, Saul and Wingert), and 0 nays. 

 

676



W Viking
Industrial

Park

Venture Way

Poplar Hollow Ln

Capital Way

Technology Pkwy

Tec
hn

olo
gy

PlDe
ve

lop
me

nt 
Dr

Product ion Dr

Viking Rd

M-1M-1-P

MURPA-1

A-1

A-1

Preliminary and Final Plat of the Replat
of West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV

W Viking
Industrial

Park

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

Hu
ds

on
Rd

Ce
da

rH
eig

hts

Dr

Pra irie Pkwy

WRidgeway Ave

University Ave

Waterloo Rd

Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

Vikin

gRd

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Greenhill Rd

CenterS t

S M
ain

 St
Ma

in 
St

W 1st St

W 12th St

Un
ion

 R
d

E 1st St

W 27th St

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd

E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ve

rse
eR

d

®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63
£¤20

£¤218

^
Location

Map

Cedar Falls City Council
June 3, 2019

677



10' UTILITY EASEMENT
25' BUILDING SETBACK

N89°21¾'E
166.0'

N89°20½'E  324.9'

N0
0°

38
'03

"W
  2

66
.75

'

S89°21'W  441.0'

21
6.8

'
S0

0°
40

'E

S0
0°

40
'E

  2
66

.8'

PARCEL "A"
117,630 SQ. FT.

PARCEL "B"
540 SQ. FT.

SOUTH LINE OF "WEST VIKING ROAD
INDUSTRIAL PARK PHASE IV
NORTH LINE OF S 1/2 N 1/2 SE 1/4

A = 78.49'
R = 50.0'
Δ = 89°56¾'
C = S44°22¼'W  70.7'

WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST

ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

SS

SS

SS
SSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS

ST

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

ST

ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST ST

W

SS
W

15"Ø RCP STORM SEWER
18"Ø RCP STORM SEWER

24"Ø RCP STORM SEWER

15"Ø RCP
STORM
SEWER

STORM SEWER
INTAKE (TYPICAL)

SANITARY SEWER
MANHOLE (TYPICAL)

ROAD BARRICADE
SIGNS

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G
GGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

G

G

G

G

UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE
UE

UE

UE

UE

115.95'

54"Ø RCP STORM SEWER

8"Ø SANITARY SEWER SERVICE
8"Ø WATER SERVICE

94094094
094595
0 93994194294
3

944946947948948948949

31' WIDE P.C.C. PAVEMENT

955

953 954

945
950

955

946947948949949949951952953954

36"Ø RCP STORM SEWER

42"Ø RCP
STORM SEWER

South West

So
ut

h
Br

an
ch

D
ry

R
un

lac

H
aw

k

k

B

k

Cr

ee

20

58

27

20

SSSS EXISTING SANITARY SEWER
EXISTING STORM SEWER
EXISTING WATER MAIN
EXISTING GAS MAIN
EXISTING UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC

STST

WW

GG

UEUE

I hereby certify that this land surveying document was prepared and the
related survey work was performed by me or under my direct personal
supervision and that I am a duly licensed Land Surveyor under the laws
of the State of Iowa.

________________________________  Date:  ___________________
Jeffrey P. Helland, L.S.                   Iowa License No. 16264
My license renewal date is December 31, 2019.
Pages or Sheets covered by this Seal:
__________________________________________________________

TECHNOLOGY PARKWAY
(66' R.O.W.)

PRELIMINARY PLAT
OF

"REPLAT OF LOT 16 AND TRACT "B", WEST VIKING ROAD INDUSTRIAL PARK PHASE IV"
CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA

APRIL 2019

"UNPLATTED"
S 1/2 N 1/2 SE 1/4

SEC. 34-T89N-R14W

DESCRIPTION OF "REPLAT OF WEST VIKING ROAD INDUSTRIAL PARK PHASE IV"
Lot No. 16 and Tract "B" of West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV in the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk
County, Iowa.
Contains 2.71 acres.

N

S

EW

Feet

SCALE:  1" = 100'

2001000

50

LOT 15

"REPLAT OF LOT 16 & TRACT "B"
WEST VIKING ROAD INDUSTRIAL
PARK PHASE IV"

OWNER/DEVELOPER
City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

LAND SURVEYOR
Jeffrey P. Helland PLS
City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

ZONING
"M-1-P" Light Industrial Planned (Current)
No change requested

FLOODPLAIN
Not in 100 Year or 500 Year Floodplain
Unshaded Zone X
FIRM 19013C0276F
Effective date July 18, 2011

WETLANDS
No wetlands per US Fish & Wildlife Service
National Wetlands Inventory

TRACT "C"
"WEST VIKING ROAD INDUSTRIAL PARK PHASE III""WEST VIKING ROAD INDUSTRIAL PARK

PHASE IV"
CEDAR FALLS

SHEET 1 OF 1

DRAWN BY: JPH
DATE DRAWN: 05-08-19

LEGEND

EXISTING
RETENTION POND

HUDSON ROAD

NATURE & EXTENT OF TOPOGRAPHIC CHANGES
NONE AT THIS TIME

VICINITY MAP (NOT TO SCALE)

CEDAR FALLS CITY LIMITS

678



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: May 30, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Preliminary and Final Plat of a Replat of Lot 16 and Tract “B” of West Viking Road 
Industrial Park Phase IV 

 
 

REQUEST: 
 

Approve the preliminary and final plat of the replat of Lot 16 and Tract “B” of 
West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
 

LOCATION: 
 

South side of Technology Parkway, west of Production Drive in the West 
Viking Road Industrial Park 
 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The City of Cedar Falls is proposing 
to replat Lot 16 and Tract “B” of 
West Viking Road Industrial Park 
Phase IV into two new parcels. 
Parcel “A” (2.70 acres) would 
become a new, larger buildable lot 
than the previous Lot 16, while 
Parcel “B” (0.01 acre) would be 
merged into Tract “C of West Viking 
Road Industrial Park Phase III, 
which is a storm water detention 
basin located adjacent to the east.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The Final Plat for West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV was approved by the City Council 
in 2013. This plat included 22 buildable lots, and was the last phase of the West Viking Road 
Industrial Park development that started developing in 2004.  
 
ANALYSIS 
The City of Cedar Falls currently owns the land in question, which is zoned M-1,P planned light 
industrial district. The purpose of the M-1,P district is to permit the establishment of industrial 
parks and to provide for the orderly planned growth of industries on large portions of land. This 

679



industrial park area was developed over four phases beginning in 2004, which were created as 
the park continued to grow and expand.  
 
City staff has been in discussions with a local business who currently leases building space in 
the industrial park about acquiring a lot from the City in order to build their own building to 
expand their business. Lot 16 was identified by the business as the preferred lot due to the size 
and dimensions. Directly to the east of Lot 16 is Tract “B”, which was originally platted for street 
purposes, even though no street currently exists there today. The business owner inquired if a 
street was ever going to be built in that location, as they expressed an interest in adding that 
area to Lot 16 so that they could use it as an entrance drive for their truck traffic. 
 
The idea at the time this area was platted was that a street would extend to the south in the 
future if the industrial park expanded. However, just south of the industrial park on private 
property there would appear to be a large area of wetlands, which would make it difficult and 
costly to extend the street southward. Also, approximately ¼ mile to the west, Development 
Drive is shown to extend to the property to the south as well, which would allow for traffic to get 
from this area of the industrial park to the south if that area is ever developed in the future. 
There would not appear to be any issues for this road to extend to the property to the south for 
future development. Therefore, staff does not have an issue with merging a majority of Tract “B” 
with Lot 16 to create a larger buildable lot for the company.    
 
This property is not located in the 100 year floodplain district. All submittal requirements have 
been met. A courtesy notice has been sent to property owners within 200 feet of this plat. 
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, have reviewed the replat. 
Water, electric, gas, and communications utility services are available in accordance with the 
service policies of CFU. The lot already has sanitary sewer and water service stubbed to the 
site, which will not change based on the new lot. There was a 10’ wide utility easement located 
along the east side of original Lot 16, however there are no utilities located in it and will no 
longer be needed once Lot 16 and Tract “B” are combined, so the replat removes this easement 
from the new lot.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning & Zoning Commission and City Staff recommend approval of the preliminary and 
final plat of the Replat of Lot 16 and Tract “B” of West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV. 

 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion/Vote 
5/22/2019 

Mr. Graham provided background information. The property is located along 
Technology Parkway west of the intersection with Production Drive. The 
replat will combine the lot and tract into one lot. A company is interested in 
this lot and has indicated the need for the additional land for a driveway for 
truck traffic. Staff recommends approval of the project. 
 
Mr. Leeper made a motion to approve. Mr. Wingert seconded the motion. 
The motion was approved unanimously with 7 ayes (Giarusso, Hartley, Holst, 
Larson, Leeper, Saul and Wingert), and 0 nays. 

 

680



W Viking
Industrial

Park

Venture Way

Poplar Hollow Ln

Capital Way

Technology Pkwy

Tec
hn

olo
gy

PlDe
ve

lop
me

nt 
Dr

Product ion Dr

Viking Rd

M-1M-1-P

MURPA-1

A-1

A-1

Preliminary and Final Plat of the Replat
of West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV

W Viking
Industrial

Park

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

Hu
ds

on
Rd

Ce
da

rH
eig

hts

Dr

Pra irie Pkwy

WRidgeway Ave

University Ave

Waterloo Rd

Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

Vikin

gRd

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Greenhill Rd

CenterS t

S M
ain

 St
Ma

in 
St

W 1st St

W 12th St

Un
ion

 R
d

E 1st St

W 27th St

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd

E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ve

rse
eR

d

®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63
£¤20

£¤218

^
Location

Map

Cedar Falls City Council
June 3, 2019

681



10' UTILITY EASEMENT
25' BUILDING SETBACK

N89°21¾'E
165.95'

(N89°20'29"E  325.00')
N89°20½'E  324.9'

(N
00

°3
9'2

8"
W

  2
66

.74
')

N0
0°

38
'W

  2
66

.75
'

(S89°20'41"W  441.00')
S89°21'W  441.0'

(S
00

°3
9'2

8"
E 

 21
6.7

7')

21
6.8

'
S0

0°
40

'E

(N89°20'29"E  166.00')

S0
0°

40
'E

  2
66

.8'

N89°20½'E  1211.0'
(N89°20'29"E  1211.00')

CALCULATED
RECORDED DISTANCE

FOUND CUT "X" IN
PAVEMENT

21
1.7

5'
55

.0'

PARCEL "A"
117,630 SQ. FT.

PARCEL "B"
540 SQ. FT.

SOUTH LINE OF "WEST VIKING ROAD
INDUSTRIAL PARK PHASE IV"
NORTH LINE OF S 1/2 N 1/2 SE 1/4

A = 78.5'
R = 50.0'
Δ = 89°56¾'
C = S44°22¼'W  70.7'

115.95'

(ASSUMED BEARING)

(78.54')

(S44°20'30"W  70.71')

SW CORNER OF LOT 16 FALLS
IN LARGE GRANITE BOULDER

(UNABLE TO SET, SET WITNESS
MONUMENT NORTH ON WEST

LINE OF LOT 16)

50.0'

THIS REPLATTING VACATES THE
UTILITY EASEMENT & BUILDING
SETBACK LINE ALONG THE EAST LINE
OF LOT 16

South West

So
ut

h
Br

an
ch

D
ry

R
un

lac

H
aw

k

k

B

k

Cr

ee

20

58

27

20

(00.00')RECORDED AS

FOUND NO. 4 REBAR w/YPC #8505

SET NO. 4 REBAR w/ORANGE PLASTIC CAP #16264
(TO BE SET BY 12/31/2019)

I hereby certify that this land surveying document was prepared and the
related survey work was performed by me or under my direct personal
supervision and that I am a duly licensed Land Surveyor under the laws
of the State of Iowa.

________________________________  Date:  ___________________
Jeffrey P. Helland, L.S.                   Iowa License No. 16264
My license renewal date is December 31, 2019.
Pages or Sheets covered by this Seal:
__________________________________________________________

TRACT "C"
"WEST VIKING ROAD INDUSTRIAL PARK PHASE III"

FINAL PLAT
OF

"REPLAT OF LOT 16 AND TRACT "B", WEST VIKING ROAD INDUSTRIAL PARK PHASE IV"
CEDAR FALLS, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA

APRIL 2019

"UNPLATTED"
S 1/2 N 1/2 SE 1/4

SEC. 34-T89N-R14W

VICINITY MAP (NOT TO SCALE)

"REPLAT OF LOT 16 & TRACT "B"
WEST VIKING ROAD INDUSTRIAL
PARK PHASE IV"

CEDAR FALLS CITY LIMITS

OWNER/DEVELOPER
City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

LAND SURVEYOR
Jeffrey P. Helland PLS
City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

AREA OF ADDITION
2.71 Acres

FLOODPLAIN
Not in 100 Year or 500 Year Floodplain
Unshaded Zone X
FIRM 19013C0276F
Effective date July 18, 2011

UNADJUSTED ERROR OF CLOSURE
Boundary: Less that 1 in 10,000
Lots: Less than 1 in 5,000

SEE SHEET 2 FOR DESCRIPTIONS OF PARCEL "A" & "B"

Feet

SCALE:  1" = 100'

2001000

50

TECHNOLOGY PARKWAY
(66' R.O.W.)

LOT 15

LOT 16

TRACT "B"

"WEST VIKING ROAD INDUSTRIAL PARK
PHASE IV"

CEDAR FALLS

SHEET 1 OF 2

DRAWN BY: JPH
DATE DRAWN: 05-08-19

LEGEND

HUDSON ROAD

N

S

EW

LOT 14

"WEST VIKING ROAD INDUSTRIAL PARK PHASE IV"

LOT 9LOT 8 LOT 10

LOT 5
"WEST VIKING ROAD INDUSTRIAL PARK PHASE III"

TECHNOLOGY
PARKWAY

PRODUCTION DRIVE

682



DESCRIPTION OF PARCEL "A"
All of Lot No. 16 and that part of Tract "B" of "West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV" in the City of Cedar
Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa, described as follows:

Beginning at the Southeast corner of said Tract "B", point being a found ½" rebar with license #8505;
thence along the South line of said Tract "B" and said Lot No. 16 South 89°21' West a distance of 441.0

feet to the Southwest corner of said Lot No. 16;
thence along the West line of said Lot No. 16 North 00°38' West a distance of 266.75 feet to the

Northwest corner of said Lot No. 16, point being a found ½" rebar with license #8505;
thence along the North line of said Lot No. 16 North 89°20½' East a distance of 324.9 feet to the

Northwesterly corner of said Tract "B", point being a found ½" rebar with license #8505;
thence along the North line of said Tract "B" North 89°21¾' East a distance of 115.95 feet to the Northerly

extension of the East line of said Tract "B", point being a set ½" rebar with license #16264;
thence along said extension and along the East line of said Tract "B" South 00°40' East a distance of

266.8 feet to the point of beginning.  Containing 117,630 sq. ft.
Subject to restrictions, easements, covenants, ordinances and limited access provisions of record and not of
record.
Note: The South line of said Lot No. 16 is assumed to bear South 89°21' West for this description.

DESCRIPTION OF PARCEL "B"
All of Lot No. 16 and that part of Tract "B" of "West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV" in the City of Cedar
Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa, described as follows:

Beginning at the Southeast corner of said Tract "B", point being a found ½" rebar with license #8505;
thence along the East line of said Tract "B" North 00°40' West a distance of 216.8 feet to a point of

curvature, point being a found ½" rebar with license #8505, also being the point of beginning;
thence continuing along the Northerly extension of the East line of said Tract ""B" North 00°40' West a

distance of 50.0 feet to the North line of said Tract "B", point being a set ½" rebar with license #16264;
thence along said North line North 89°21¾' East a distance of 50.0 feet to the Northeasterly corner of said

Tract "B", point being a found cut "X" in P.C.C. pavement;
thence along the Easterly line of said Tract "B" 78.5 feet Southwesterly along a curve concave

Southeasterly having a radius of 50.0 feet, a central angle of 89°56¾' and a long chord of South 44°22¼' West
70.7 feet to the point of beginning.  Containing 540 sq. ft.
Subject to restrictions, easements, covenants, ordinances and limited access provisions of record and not of
record.
Note: The South line of said Lot No. 16 is assumed to bear South 89°21' West for this description.

Parcel letters approved by County Auditor's Office.

SHEET 2 OF 2

DRAWN BY: JPH
DATE DRAWN: 05-08-19

683



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Brown & City Council 

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: May 29, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Extension of Professional Services Agreement, Snyder & Associates, Inc. 
  2019 Engineering Services 
  Supplemental Agreement No. 7 
  Project Number: EN-000-3174 
    
 

In December 2018 the City entered into a general engineering services contract.  The 
contract was prompted by continued staffing challenges.  The purpose was to be able to 
continue design and engineering analyses for projects listed in the City’s CIP.  This type of 
work requires Professional Engineers and trained staff to complete.  The contract expressly 
stated services would be provided as needed, up to six months.  Staff anticipated being 
able to hire the professionals needed within that timeframe.  Engineering Services does not 
have a licensed Professional Engineer on staff.  This is needed to review and sign 
construction plans.  We also continue to have an open City Engineer position.  Therefore, 
an extension of the general engineering services contract is requested.  The contract would 
continue to be limited to the original amount: $300,000.  At the writing of this memo, 
services paid under the general contract totaled just under $118,000. 
 
A Snyder employee has been housed at City Hall for staff’s convenience.  We plan to 
phase this out over the coming month.  Going forward this would be utilized as needed, 
primarily to help in the training of our new junior-level staff and as summer projects warrant.  
Several other projects will continue under Snyder, as provided by supplemental 
agreements specific to that project. 
 
Projects and work would continue to be directed by Chase Schrage or Stephanie Sheetz, 
based on staffing and project needs. 
 
Please contact me with any questions.  Thank you. 
 
Attachment: Supplemental Agreement No. 7 
  Professional Services Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. (December 2018) 
 
 CC: Ron Gaines, PE, City Administrator 
 Chase Schrage, CIP Projects Supervisor 

684



685



686



687



688



689



690



691



692



693



694



695



696



697



698



699



700



701



702



703



704



705



706



707



708



709



710



711



712



713



714



715



716



717



718



719



720



721



722



723



724



725



726



727



728



729



730



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Terra Ray, Engineer Technician II 
 
 DATE: May 29, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Cyber Lane, 2018 Street Construction Project 
  Project Number RC-000-3141 
 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is planning to construct Cyber lane from Technology Parkway 
south approximately 400’. The project will require the acquisition of a temporary 
construction easement from one property for this project. 
 
Iowa law requires that the City Council hold a public hearing to authorize proceeding 
with the project, including the purchase of right of way.  The public hearing offers an 
opportunity for the public, especially those from whom the easements will be purchased, 
to comment on the project. 
 
We recommend that the Council schedule a Public Hearing for June 17, 2019, to be 
held at the regularly scheduled City Council meeting. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 

731



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON A PROPOSAL TO UNDERTAKE A PUBLIC 
IMPROVEMENT PROJECT FOR THE CYBER LANE, 2018 STREET CONSTRUCTION 
PROJECT AND TO AUTHORIZE ACQUISITION OF PRIVATE PROPERTY FOR SAID 

PROJECT 
 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that on the 17th day of June, 2019, at 7:00 o’clock p.m. in the 
Council Chambers of the City Hall of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, a Public Hearing will be held by the City Council of said City on the proposal to undertake 
a public improvement project for the Cyber Lane, 2018 Street Construction Project and to 
authorize acquisition of private property for the project. 
 
Written objections to the proposal may be filed with City Clerk on or before the date of hearing, 
and all objections will be heard at the time of said hearing. 
 
This notice is given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, on the 3rd   
day of June, 2019. 
 
 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

732



733



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Iris Lehmann, Planner II 

 DATE: May 29, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request – 2600 Grove Street 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Rezone property from R-3, Multiple Residence District to C-2, Commercial 
District. (Case #RZ19-004) 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

City of Cedar Falls 

LOCATION: 
 

2600 Grove Street 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
Through the review of a mobile merchant application, it was brought to City Staff’s attention that 
the property at 2600 Grove Street was incorrectly zoned R-3, Multiple Residence District in 
1970. To correct this mapping error staff is requesting to rezone this property to C-2, 
Commercial District. 
 
BACKGROUND 
2600 Grove Street has been zoned R-3, 
Multiple Residence District since the 
adoption of the Zoning Ordinance in 1970. 
2600 Grove Street is a pole frame metal 
warehouse built in 1969 that services the 
businesses at 6912 University Avenue 
located directly to the south. The C-2, 
Commercial district boundary follows this 
property’s western and southern property 
lines.  See map to the right, the purple lines 
indicate the zoning district boundaries and 
the property in question is shaded in yellow. 
The building is a non-conforming use under 
the R-3 zoning standards but would be a 
conforming use in C-2 zoning. As the use 

734



was in place before the zoning boundaries were drawn in 1970, staff can only assume that an 
error was made when the boundaries of the districts were determined. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The R-3, Multiple Residence District is a zoning district meant for medium density residential 
development. This district also allows for religious, educational, or philanthropic institutions, 
hospitals, and private clubs. A pole frame metal warehouse servicing commercial uses does not 
fall into the intended uses of this district.  
 
This 0.39 acre property has commercial development to the south and west. Peet Junior High 
School is directly north and east of this property. No portion of this parcel is located in the 
floodplain. There are no sensitive areas within this rezoning request. 
 
Rezoning considerations normally involve evaluation of three main criteria: 
 

1) Is the rezoning request consistent with the Future Land Use Map and the Comprehensive 
Plan? 
Yes. The Future Land Use Map 
designates this property, outlined in yellow 
in the map to the right, as a “Commercial 
Corridor”, area shaded in red. This 
designation is consistent with a 
commercial zoning designation and the 
rezoning request to C-2.  

 
2) Is the property readily accessible to 

sanitary sewer service?  
Yes, all utilities are readily available to the 
site.  
 

3) Does the property have adequate roadway 
access?  
Yes, the property currently has access to Grove Street which can be accessed from either 
University Avenue or E Seerley Boulevard.    

 
As part of the technical review of this proposal, Cedar Falls Utilities personnel, have no 
concerns with the proposed rezoning request.  
 
A notice was mailed to property owners within 300 feet of the parcel under consideration on 
April 30, 2019 regarding this rezoning request. A notice for the May 22nd public hearing was 
published in the Courier on Wednesday, May 15th, 2019. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning and Zoning Commission and Staff recommend that City Council set a public 
hearing date for June 17, 2019 to formally consider the rezoning request of the property at 2600 
Grove Street. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
5/8/19 

Planner Lehmann noted that staff is only introducing the item at this time and 
asks that comments are gathered and a date for public hearing be set for the next 

735



meeting on May 22, 2019.  There were no public comments. 
 

Public 
Hearing 
and Vote 
5/22/19 

Karen Howard presented the proposed zoning change at 2600 Grove Street. 
There were no public comments. The Planning and Zoning Commission felt that 
this request was a straight forward case. The rezoning request for 2600 Grove 
Street was approved unanimously.  

 

736



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Iris Lehmann, Planner II, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO._____________ 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 26-118,  

DISTRICT BOUNDARIES OF DIVISION I GENERALLY  

OF ARTICLE III DISTRICT AND DISTRICT  

REGULATIONS OF CHAPTER TWENTY-SIX (26) 

ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES, OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND RE-ENACTING 

SAID SECTION 26-118 OF SAID ORDINANCE, AS 

AMENDED, SO AS TO APPLY AND INCLUDE THE  

CHANGE IN THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF  

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AS PROVIDED BY THIS 

ORDINANCE 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

finds that the rezoning is consistent with the adopted Comprehensive Plan of the City of Cedar 

Falls and therefore has recommended to the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that 

2600 Grove Street as described as follows shall be removed from R-3, Multiple Residence 

District and added to the C-2, Commercial District, 

 

FAIRVALLEY ADDITION LOT 30 

 

And 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to the best 

interests of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that said proposal be made and approved; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the said Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 

Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-six (26), Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, attached thereto, is incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance; 

 

 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment; now, therefore, 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA: 

 

737



 Section 1.  That the following described real estate: 

 

FAIRVALLEY ADDITION LOT 30 

 

Be and the same is hereby removed from the R-3, Multiple Residence District and added to the 

C-2, Commercial District. 

 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is 

hereby amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the C-2, 

Commercial District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

 Section 3. That said Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 

Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-six (26), Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby repealed and hereby re-

enacted in the identical language as the same now is, in order that the same shall apply to and 

include the change hereby made in the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

 

INTRODUCED: __________________________________________ 

 

PASSED 1
ST

 CONSIDERATION: ____________________________ 

 

PASSED 2
ND

 CONSIDERATION: ____________________________ 

 

PASSED 3
RD

 CONSIDERATON: ____________________________ 

 

ADOPTED: ______________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________ 

                                                                          James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

738



 

RESOLUTION NO. ______________ 

 

RESOLUTION FIXING DATE OF HEARING ON PROPOSED 

AMENDMENT TO CHAPTER 26, ZONING, CODE OF ORDINANCES  

OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND DIRECTING  

PUBLICATION OF NOTICE OF SAID PUBLIC HEARING 

 

 

 WHEREAS, a proposal was submitted to the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning 

Commission to change the zoning of 2600 Grove Street from R-3, Multiple Residence District to 

C-2, Commercial District as described below, and 

 

 WHEREAS, said Planning and Zoning Commission has recommended approval of said 

change, and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is desired to submit the same for consideration to the City Council to have 

a public hearing on the same as provided by law; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, that there shall be a public hearing on a proposed amendment to 

Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article III Districts and District 

Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-six (26), Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, by removing 2600 Grove Street from the R-3 Multiple Residence District, and 

placing the same in the C-2, Commercial District as described below: 

 

FAIRVALLEY ADDITION LOT 30 

 

And that said public hearing shall be held on the 17
th

 day of June, 2019, at 7:00 o’clock P.M., in 

the Council Chambers in the City Hall of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.  The City Clerk is hereby 

authorized and directed to publish notice of said hearing the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier, said 

notice to be published at least seven (7) days prior to the hearing date. 

 

 INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 3rd day of June, 2019. 

 

 

_________________________ 

                                                                            James P. Brown, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

        

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

739



 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE 

DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER TWENTY-SIX (26), ZONING, 

OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA BY 

REMOVING 2600 GROVE STREET FROM THE R-3 MULTIPLE RESIDENCE DISTRICT 

AND PLACING SAID REAL ESTATE IN THE C-2 COMMERICAL DISTRICT 

 

 

To Whom It May Concern: 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City Planning and Zoning Commission has 

recommended to the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, an amendment To Section 26-118, 

District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of 

Chapter Twenty-six (26), Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

and known as the Zoning Ordinance and that the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

proposes to amend said Ordinance by removing 2600 Grove Street from the R-3 Multiple 

Residence District, and placing the same in the C-2, Commercial District as described below: 

 

FAIRVALLEY ADDITION LOT 30 

 

There will be a public hearing on said proposed change on the 17
th

 day of June, 2019, at 7:00 

o’clock P.M., in the Council Chambers. Documents amending said Section are now on file in the 

office of the City Clerk in the City Hall in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and are available for 

reference and inspection by the public. Public comments on the proposed change in said 

Ordinance may be made in writing at any time prior to the public hearing as set forth herein and 

oral objections will be heard at said hearing. 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

740



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 

 TO: Mayor Brown, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: May 29, 2019 

 SUBJECT:  Parking Ordinances 
 
 
On the agenda for the Council meeting on June 3, 2019, are several ordinances under 
consideration.  Ordinances related to City reorganization (Ordinances 2940, 2941, 2942 
& 2943) are being considered at third reading and final passage.  Ordinances related to 
downtown parking (Ordinances 2944 & 2945) are being considered at second reading. 
 
There are amendments of two Code of Ordinance sections that are still necessary as 
part of the downtown parking changes.  Sec. 23-41 related to Collection and Disposition 
of Parking Receipts and Sec. 23-83 related to the Marking of Parking Spaces are being 
submitted for consideration at this time.  The reason that these amendments were not 
submitted as part of Ordinances 2944 or 2945 is that these two Sections were already 
being amended by the reorganization ordinances.  Therefore, consideration of these 
amendments had to await final passage of the reorganization ordinances, which is 
happening on June 3, 2019. 
 
The bottom line is that these further amendments of Sections 23-41 & 23-83 had to 
await adoption of the initial amendments of these same Sections brought about by 
reorganization.  
 
City staff recommends that the further amendments to Sec. 23-41 & Sec. 23-83 be 
approved for passage as part of the downtown parking changes. 
 
Thank you. 

741



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

AN ORDINANCE (1) REPEALING SECTION 23-41, COLLECTION AND DISPOSITION OF 

MONEY DEPOSITED IN PARKING METERS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF 

ARTICLE II, ADMINISTRATION AND OBEDIENCE, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND 

MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA, AND ENANCTING IN LIEU THEREOF, A NEW SECTION 23-41, 

COLLECTION AND DISPOSITION OF MONEY DEPOSITED IN PAYSTATIONS/METERS,  

OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, ADMINISTRATION AND OBEDIENCE, OF 

CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA; AND  (2)  REPEALING SECTION 23-83, MARKING 

OF PARKING SPACES, OF DIVISION 2, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS TRAFFIC 

STANDARDS, OF ARTICLE II, ADMINISTRATION AND OBEDIENCE, OF CHAPTER 23, 

TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENANCTING IN LIEU THEREOF, A NEW SECTION 23-83, 

MARKING OF PARKING SPACES, OF DIVISION 2, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

TRAFFIC STANDARDS, OF ARTICLE II, ADMINISTRATION AND OBEDIENCE, OF 

CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA.          

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 1.  Section 23-41, Collection and Disposition of Money Deposited in Parking 

Meters, of Division 1, Generally, of Article II, Administration and Enforcement, of Chapter 23, 

Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety and a new Section 23-41, Collection and Disposition of Money Deposited 

in Pay Stations/Meters is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

 

 

742



2 
 

Sec. 23-41. Collection and disposition of money deposited in parking meters pay 

stations/meters. 

     It shall be the duty of the parking enforcement and administration section of the public 

records division of the department of finance and business operations to make regular 

collections of money deposited in the parking meters pay stations/meters of the city.  It shall be 

the duty of such persons removing the coins to place them in the approved container and to 

deliver the container to the city’s financial institution so that the funds may be counted and 

deposited in the city’s account. 

(Code 2017, § 26-49; Ord. No. 2729, § 1, 2-14-2011) 

 

     Section 2.  Section 23-83, Marking of Parking Spaces, of Division 2, Department of Public 

Works Traffic Standards, of Article II, Administration and Obedience, of Chapter 23, Traffic and 

Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is hereby repealed in 

its entirety and a new Section 23-83, Marking of Parking Spaces, is enacted in lieu thereof, as 

follows: 

Sec. 23-83.  Marking of parking spaces. 

 (a)    The department of public works is hereby directed and authorized to mark off individual 

parking spaces in parking enforcement districts meter zones designated and described in 

section 23-411, and in all other areas where parking in stalls is desired and authorized within 

the city.  Such parking spaces shall be designated by lines painted or durably marked on the 

curbing or surface of the street. 

(b)     At each space so marked, it shall be unlawful to park any vehicle in such a way that such 

vehicle shall not be entirely within the limits of the space so designated. 

(Code 2017, § 26-74)  

743



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

AN ORDINANCE (1) REPEALING SECTION 23-41, COLLECTION AND DISPOSITION OF 

MONEY DEPOSITED IN PARKING METERS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF 

ARTICLE II, ADMINISTRATION AND OBEDIENCE, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND 

MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS, IOWA, AND ENANCTING IN LIEU THEREOF, A NEW SECTION 23-41, 

COLLECTION AND DISPOSITION OF MONEY DEPOSITED IN PAYSTATIONS/METERS,  

OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, ADMINISTRATION AND OBEDIENCE, OF 

CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA; AND  (2)  REPEALING SECTION 23-83, MARKING 

OF PARKING SPACES, OF DIVISION 2, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS TRAFFIC 

STANDARDS, OF ARTICLE II, ADMINISTRATION AND OBEDIENCE, OF CHAPTER 23, 

TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENANCTING IN LIEU THEREOF, A NEW SECTION 23-83, 

MARKING OF PARKING SPACES, OF DIVISION 2, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

TRAFFIC STANDARDS, OF ARTICLE II, ADMINISTRATION AND OBEDIENCE, OF 

CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA.          

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 1.  Section 23-41, Collection and Disposition of Money Deposited in Parking 

Meters, of Division 1, Generally, of Article II, Administration and Enforcement, of Chapter 23, 

Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby 

repealed in its entirety and a new Section 23-41, Collection and Disposition of Money Deposited 

in Pay Stations/Meters is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 23-41. Collection and disposition of money deposited in pay stations/meters. 

     It shall be the duty of the parking enforcement and administration section of the public 

records division of the department of finance and business operations to make regular 

collections of money deposited in the parking pay stations/meters of the city.  It shall be the duty 

of such persons removing the coins to place them in the approved container and to deliver the 

744



2 
 

container to the city’s financial institution so that the funds may be counted and deposited in the 

city’s account. 

(Code 2017, § 26-49; Ord. No. 2729, § 1, 2-14-2011) 

 

     Section 2.  Section 23-83, Marking of Parking Spaces, of Division 2, Department of Public 

Works Traffic Standards, of Article II, Administration and Obedience, of Chapter 23, Traffic and 

Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is hereby repealed in 

its entirety and a new Section 23-83, Marking of Parking Spaces, is enacted in lieu thereof, as 

follows: 

Sec. 23-83.  Marking of parking spaces. 

 (a)    The department of public works is hereby directed and authorized to mark off individual 

parking spaces in parking enforcement districts designated and described in section 23-411, 

and in all other areas where parking in stalls is desired and authorized within the city.  Such 

parking spaces shall be designated by lines painted or durably marked on the curbing or surface 

of the street. 

(b)     At each space so marked, it shall be unlawful to park any vehicle in such a way that such 

vehicle shall not be entirely within the limits of the space so designated. 

(Code 2017, § 26-74)  

 

INTRODUCED:     June 3, 2019   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

____________________________ 

       James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

745


	Top
	1. Regular Meeting of May 20, 2019
	190520MINUTES.docx

	2. PH-Agreement & Conveyance-Owen 5, LLC
	1_Public Hearing Memo to Council for June 3, 2019.docx
	2_Owen 5, LLC Site Map.pdf
	3_Authorizing Resolution for Owen 5, LLC 06-03-19.docx
	4_FINAL Owen 5, LLC DA with Option.docx
	5_Quit Claim Deed - Groundwater Hazard Statement.pdf

	3. Res-Agreement for PD-Owen 5
	4. Ord. 2940-Reorganization
	2940-Reorg-CD-PW Exchange of Divisions.docx

	5. Ord. 2941-Reorg MOPS to PW
	2941-Reorganization-MOPS to PW.docx

	6. Ord. 2942-Reorganization-PW Mgr to OM Mgr
	2942-Reorganization-Rename PW Mgr to OM Mgr.docx

	7. Ord. 2943-Reorganization-Misc
	2943-Reorganization-Misc.docx

	8. Ord. 2944-DT Parking terminology
	2944-DT Parking-terminology.docx

	9. Ord. 2945-DT Parking Regulations
	2945-DT Parking Regulations.docx

	10. Appts 6/03/19
	1-Appointments Council Memo.docx
	2-Art &amp; Culture - Finke 5-22-19.pdf

	11. Committee of the Whole Minutes 5/20/19
	Comm of the Whole 05 20 19.docx

	12. April Departmental Report
	Monthly Report - April 2019.pdf

	13. Special Events 6/03/19
	1-Special Event Request Council Memo.docx
	2-Parking Var - CHAF.pdf
	3-Street Closures - Sturgis.pdf
	4-Parking Var - Teacher Festival.pdf

	14. Tobacco Permits 6/03/19
	06032019 Tobacco Applications.pdf

	15. Liquor Licenses 6/03/19
	Liquor Beer 6-3-19.docx

	16. FY20 Payroll Resolution
	1-council resolution.mem.docx
	2-FY20 Payroll Resolution.pdf
	3-PAYPL20.pdf
	4-Grade Order Listing FY20.pdf
	5-20WORKSHOP-SESSION-EVENT.pdf
	6-FY20 ParksPW pay sched.pdf
	7-FY20 Police pay sched.pdf
	8-FY20 Fire pay sched.pdf

	17. Accounting Policies and Procedures and Purchasing Manual Update
	Acct &amp; Pur Manual Council Memo 062019.docx
	AccountingPurchasing Manual 2019 redlined.docx

	18. Fire Rescue, EMS1 Training Subscription, Contract
	Fire Rescue, EMS1 Training Subscription, Contract.pdf

	19. Western Home Communities All-Terrain Vehicle Use On City Streets and Street Designation Resolution
	Western Home Communities All-Terrain Vehicle Use On City Streets.docx
	Res-ATV Street Designation.docx
	Exhibit A-Map.pdf

	20. Sturgis Falls Celebration and Cedar Basin Jazz Festival Date Designation
	Designating Sturgis Dates.pdf

	21. MOU-Youth Pollinator Habitat
	1_MOP_Pollinator_NCNR.pdf
	2_NC_Pollinator_Map.pdf
	3_North Cedar Resource MOU.pdf

	22. Pavement Sealing Equipment Purchase Authorization
	Pavement Seal equipment CC.pdf

	23. Final Acceptance of Partial Demo & Wall Rebuild-4418 University Ave.
	CC Memo.4418 University Ave.5.24.19.docx

	24. Easement-Walnut Street Box Culvert
	1. Memo-Easement Agreement.docx
	2.0066_001.pdf

	25. Walnut Box Culvert - Contract Documents
	1. Walnut Street Box Culvert Replacement Memo.docx
	2. Contract.pdf
	3. Bonds.pdf
	4. Insurance.pdf
	5. Form of Proposal.pdf

	26. 100 Block Alley - Contract Documents
	1. 100 Block Alley Reconstruction Project Contract Memo.docx
	2. Form of Contract.pdf
	3. Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond.pdf
	4. Certificate of Insurance.pdf
	5. Form of Proposal.pdf

	27. Supplemental No. 6-Snyder-Clay Street Park
	1. SA6 Engineering Services.docx
	2-Supp Agrmt No 6.pdf

	28. Change Order-2019 Street Construction Project
	1. Union Road - Change Order.docx
	2. Change Order - Union Road.pdf

	29. MET agreement for DT shuttle
	CC memo on downtown shuttle agreement 5-30-19.docx
	0077_001.pdf

	30. CHN Site Plan - 2119 College Street
	1 CC Staff report for site plan review at 2119 College Street on 5-30-19.docx
	2_ZoningLocationMap.pdf
	3_2119 College Site Plan.pdf
	4-2119 College Parking Impact Analysis.final.pdf
	5-public correspondence.pdf

	31. MU district site plan-Lot 2 Pinnacle Ridge First Addition
	1 CC Staff report Site Plan for Lot 2 Pinnacle Ridge First.docx
	2 ZoningLocationMap.pdf
	3 Lot 2 site plan.pdf
	4 Lot 2 building elevations.pdf
	5 building photos.pdf

	32. Highway-1 District Site Plan Review
	1_Rouse Development Site Plan staff report to CC on 06-03-19.docx
	2_ZoningLocationMap.pdf
	3_Site Plan 2019-05-24.pdf
	4_Exterior Perspectives.pdf
	5_Landscaping Plan 05-29-19.pdf
	6_Signage Plan.pdf

	33. Preliminary Plat of the Replat of Lot 16 and Tract B of West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV
	1_CC Staff Report for Replat of Lot 16 WVRIP Phase IV 06-03-19.docx
	2_ZoningLocationMap.pdf
	3_WVR INDUSTRIAL PARK PHASE IV REPLAT-PRELIMINARY PLAT.pdf

	34. Final Plat of the Replat of Lot 16 and Tract B of West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV
	1_CC Staff Report for Replat of Lot 16 WVRIP Phase IV 06-03-19.docx
	2_ZoningLocationMap.pdf
	4_REPLAT OF WEST VIKING ROAD INDUSTRIAL PARK PHASE IV-FINAL-S.1.pdf
	5_REPLAT OF WEST VIKING ROAD INDUSTRIAL PARK PHASE IV-FINAL-S.2.pdf

	35. Supplemental No. 7-Snyder-Extension of General Engineering Services
	1-Council memo-General Eng. Serv Extension 6-3-19.docx
	2-Supp Agrmt No 7.pdf
	Contract.pdf

	36. Set PH-Cyber Lane-2018 Street Construction
	1. Memo-Council Pubic Hearing.docx
	2. PH.docx
	3.0064_001.pdf

	37. Set PH on Rezoning: 2600 Grove Street
	1. CC staff Report on 2600 Grove 5-29-19.docx
	Ordinance Rezoning 2600 Grove Street.docx
	CC Resolution Setting Public Hearing rezoning.docx
	CC notice.docx

	38. Parking Ordinance-conform with regulations
	1-Memo to Mayor, Council, 23-41, 23-83, new format.docx
	2-Parking Ord-redline-23-41 23-83.docx
	3-Ord-Final Parking-23-41, 23-83.docx

	39. Allow Bills and Payroll of June 3, 2019
	Bottom

